Environmental and Microbial Biotechnology

Inamuddin Mohd Imran Aha<mark>me</mark>d Ram Prasad *Editors*

Recent Advances in Microbial Degradation



Environmental and Microbial Biotechnology

Series Editor

Ram Prasad, Department of Botany, Mahatma Gandhi Central University, Motihari, Bihar, India

Innovative and novel advances in microbial biotechnology are providing great understandings in to the machineries of nature, presenting fascinating prospects to apply principles of biology to different arenas of science. Sustainable elucidations are emerging to address the concerns on improving crop productivity through microbes, depleting natural resources, environmental pollution, microbial degradation of pollutants, nanomaterials, nanotoxicity & safety issues, safety of food & agricultural products etc. Simultaneously, there is an increasing demand for natural bio-products of therapeutic and industrial significance (in the areas of healthcare, environmental remediation, microbial biotechnology). Growing awareness and an increased attention on environmental issues such as climate change, energy use, and loss of non-renewable resources have carried out a superior quality for research that provides potential solutions to these problems. Emerging microbiome approaches potentially can significantly increase agriculture productivity & human healthcare and henceforth can contribute to meet several sustainable development goals.

The main objectives have provided an impetus for research on plants and microorganisms that produce novel bio-products with variable properties and understanding their mechanisms of action at cellular and molecular level. Hence, research activities of the environmental and microbial Biotechnology are comprehensively focused up on major sectors viz., bioresources, biorefining, bioremediation of organic and inorganic pollutants, environmental risk analysis of microorganisms, environmental assessment using microbiological indicators, enzymes for environment, food & industrial applications, nanomaterials & nanotoxicity, sustainable ecobiotechnology, biofertilizer, biocontrol agents for agriculture improvement and natural products for healthcare applications.

This book series is a state-of-the-art for a wide range of scientists, researchers, students, policy makers and academician involve in understanding and implementing the knowledge on environmental and microbial biotechnology to develop biologics for proper health care to continue life in smooth and sustainable strategy without any adverse effect.

More information about this series at http://www.springer.com/series/16324

Inamuddin • Mohd Imran Ahamed • Ram Prasad Editors

Recent Advances in Microbial Degradation



Editors Inamuddin Department of Applied Chemistry, Zakir Husain College of Engineering and Technology, Faculty of Engineering and Technology Aligarh Muslim University Aligarh, India

Ram Prasad Department of Botany Mahatma Gandhi Central University Motihari, Bihar, India Mohd Imran Ahamed Department of Chemistry, Faculty of Science Aligarh Muslim University Aligarh, India

 ISSN 2662-1681
 ISSN 2662-169X
 (electronic)

 Environmental and Microbial Biotechnology
 ISBN 978-981-16-0517-8
 ISBN 978-981-16-0518-5
 (eBook)

 https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-0518-5
 ISBN 978-981-16-0518-5
 ISBN 978-981-16-0518-5
 ISBN 978-981-16-0518-5

© The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are solely and exclusively licensed by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors, and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. The registered company address is: 152 Beach Road, #21-01/04 Gateway East, Singapore 189721, Singapore

Contents

1	Microbial Degradation of Aflatoxin . Sabrina Baleixo da Silva, Jhonatas Rodrigues Barbosa, Luiza Helena da Silva Martins, Vinicius Sidonio Vale Moraes, Carissa Michelle Goltara Bichara, Fernanda Rafaele Santos Sousa, Estela Sousa da Cruz, and Alessandra Santos Lopes	1
2	Microbial Degradation of Polymers	19
3	Microbial Degradation in the Biogas Production of Value-Added Compounds	47
4	Microbial Degradation of Disinfectants	91
5	Application of Microalgae Consortia/Cocultures in WastewaterTreatmentVinícius Zotti dos Santos, Karem Rodrigues Vieira,Pricila Pinheiro Nass, Leila Queiroz Zepka, and Eduardo Jacob-Lopes	131
6	Microbial Degradation of Food Products Jhonatas Rodrigues Barbosa, Sabrina Baleixo da Silva, Luiza Helena da Silva Martins, Fernanda Wariss Figueiredo Bezerra, Lucas Cantão Freitas, Maria Caroline Rodrigues Ferreira, and Raul Nunes de Carvalho Junior	155
7	Microbial Degradation of Xenobiotic Compounds Deepali T. Marghade, Anup D. Chahande, Manishkumar S. Tiwari, and Pravin D. Patil	173

8	Microbial Degradation for the Production of Value-Added Compounds: Biohydrogen from Dark Fermentation and Microbial Electrolysis Cells	219
9	Microbial Degradation of Lipids Moises Bustamante-Torres, David Romero-Fierro, Jocelyne Estrella-Nuñez, and Emilio Bucio	251
10	Microbial Degradation of Steroids	273
11	Microbial Degradation of Phenol and Phenolic Compounds Milan Malhotra, Divya Gupta, Jeetendra Sahani, and Sanjay Singh	297
12	Microbial Degradation of Chlorophenolic Compounds Charles Oluwasun Adetunji, Olugbemi Tope Olaniyan, Bright E. Igere, Temitope C. Ekundayo, Osikemekha Anthony Anani, Ruth Ebunoluwa Bodunrinde, Frances N. Olisaka, Abel Inobeme, Eseosa Oluwadamilare Uwadiae, Omoregbe Nosa Obayagbona, Wadzani Palnam Dauda, and Inamuddin	313
13	Microbial Degradation of Proteins Moises Bustamante-Torres, David Romero-Fierro, Jocelyne Estrella-Nuñez, and Emilio Bucio	351
14	Microbial Degradation of Microplastics	373
15	Microbial Degradation of Antibiotics from Effluents	389
16	Microbial Degradation of Oils Emmanuel Kweinor Tetteh, Mark Opoku-Amankwa, and Sudesh Rathilal	405
17	Microbial Degradation of Biowaste for Hydrogen Production Ouahid El Asri, Soufiane Fadlaoui, Mohamed Ramdani, and Sanae Errochdi	431
18	Microorganisms and Soil Bioremediation: An Environmental Approach	449
19	Applications of Microbes in Bioremediation of Water Pollutants Sinem Diken Gür, Monireh Bakhshpour, and Adil Denizli	465

About the Editors

Inamuddin is an assistant professor at the Department of Applied Chemistry, Aligarh Muslim University, Aligarh, India. He has extensive research experience in multidisciplinary fields of analytical chemistry, materials chemistry, electrochemistry, renewable energy, and environmental science. He has published about 186 research articles in various international scientific journals, 18 book chapters, and 143 edited books with multiple well-known publishers. His current research interests include ion exchange materials, a sensor for heavy metal ions, biofuel cells, supercapacitors, and bending actuators.

Mohd Imran Ahamed received his Ph.D. degree on the topic "Synthesis and characterization of inorganic-organic composite heavy metals selective cation-exchangers and their analytical applications" from Aligarh Muslim University, Aligarh, India, in 2019. He has published several research and review articles in the journals of international recognition. He has also edited various books which are published by Springer, CRC Press Taylor & Francis Asia Pacific, and Materials Science Forum LLC, USA. He has completed his B.Sc. (Hons) in chemistry from Aligarh Muslim University, Aligarh, India, and M.Sc. (Organic chemistry) from Dr. Bhimrao Ambedkar University, Agra, India. His research works include ion-exchange chromatography, wastewater treatment and analysis, bending actuator, and electrospinning.

Ram Prasad is currently working as an Associate Professor at the Department of Botany, Mahatma Gandhi Central University, Motihari, Bihar, India. Dr. Prasad previously served as an Assistant Professor at Amity University, Uttar Pradesh, India; Visiting Assistant Professor at Whiting School of Engineering, Department of Mechanical Engineering at Johns Hopkins University, USA; and Research Associate Professor at the School of Environmental Science and Engineering, Sun Yat-sen University, Guangzhou, China. Dr. Prasad has more than 150 publications to his credit, including research papers, review articles and book chapters; has edited or authored several books; and has five patents issued or pending. His research interests include applied microbiology, plant–microbe interactions, sustainable agriculture, and nanobiotechnology.



Microbial Degradation of Aflatoxin

Sabrina Baleixo da Silva, Jhonatas Rodrigues Barbosa, Luiza Helena da Silva Martins, Vinicius Sidonio Vale Moraes, Carissa Michelle Goltara Bichara, Fernanda Rafaele Santos Sousa, Estela Sousa da Cruz, and Alessandra Santos Lopes

Abstract

Aflatoxins are low-molecular-weight lipophilic compounds widely distributed in nature. Long-term aflatoxin exposure can lead to several consequences, including carcinogenic effect and it can affect all body systems, causing immune system dysfunction and impaired growth in humans. The literature describes 20 types of aflatoxins. Diseases caused by the consumption of aflatoxin are known as aflatoxicosis. Seeds that suffer stress, such as prolonged drought, short irrigation time, damage caused by insects, and use of seeds in areas that do not favor their cultivation, have high rates of contamination by fungi that produce aflatoxins, such as *Fusarium* and *Aspergillus*. Post-harvest contamination occurs worldwide where there are environmental conditions for the proliferation of aflatoxicogenic fungi, such as inadequate storage, improper drying of grains, and plant species not adapted to the climate. An alternative that has been growing in the recent years is

S. B. da Silva $(\boxtimes) \cdot A$. S. Lopes

J. R. Barbosa

LABEX/FEA (Faculty of Food Engineering), Graduate Program in Food Science and Technology, Federal University of Pará, Belém, Pará, Brazil

L. H. da Silva Martins · C. M. G. Bichara

ISPA (Institute of Animal Health and Production), Federal Rural University of Amazonia, Belém, Pará, Brazil

V. S. V. Moraes

LAPOA/FEA (Faculty of Food Engineering), Graduate Program in Food Science and Technology, Federal University of Pará, Belém, Pará, Brazil

F. R. S. Sousa · E. S. da Cruz

LAFAMI/FEA (Faculty of Food Engineering), Graduate Program in Food Science and Technology, Federal University of Pará, Belém, Pará, Brazil

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 Inamuddin et al. (eds.), *Recent Advances in Microbial Degradation*, Environmental and Microbial Biotechnology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-0518-5_1

LABIOTEC/FEA (Faculty of Food Engineering), Graduate Program in Food Science and Technology, Federal University of Pará, Belém, Pará, Brazil

the use of microorganisms for degradation of aflatoxin, where researches have been showing the use of several bacterial and fungal species in this control. It is noteworthy that the biological degradation of mycotoxins has shown promise because it is effective and environmentally friendly. The aim of this chapter is to understand the microbial degradation of aflatoxin and its effects on human health are addressed such as foods with a higher incidence of aflatoxin contamination and quality control.

Keywords

Intoxication · Microbiology · Food safety · Mycotoxins

1.1 Introduction

Aflatoxins are defined as low-molecular-weight lipophilic compounds that are widely distributed in nature. When they are ingested, the intestine absorbers them, and soon those toxins can reach the bloodstream, causing risks to human health. When aflatoxin is exposed in long term it can lead to several consequences, including carcinogenic effect, and it can affect all body systems, causing dysfunction of the immune system and impaired growth in humans (Wu et al. 2014; WHO 2018).

From the discoveries of the twentieth century, mycotoxins were reported to be present with greater intensity around the world. Mycotoxins are configured as a serious problem for countries, both economically and for the health of animals and humans. These compounds are detected in contaminated raw materials, food, and feed, causing annual losses of agricultural commodities, food, and livestock industries worldwide (Ismail et al. 2018).

The World Health Organization data estimate that about 25% or more of the world's food crops are destroyed annually due to aflatoxin contamination (WHO 2018). This contamination can occur due to intense cultivation and decreased genetic diversity in cereal crops, which contribute to the formation of fungi that generate as aflatoxins in vegetables (Tola and Kebede 2016). A fungal infection can occur during the stages of cultivation, harvesting, transportation, storage and without processing (Chulze 2010).

Animals can also accumulate aflatoxins in their bodies, for example, ruminants when eating food contaminated with aflatoxin B1. Aflatoxin B1 is absorbed in the gastrointestinal tract and metabolized in the liver by microsomal cytochrome P450, producing aflatoxin M1, a metabolite as toxic as aflatoxin B1, and these metabolites are excreted in the urine and milk of animals (de Roma et al. 2017).

Aflatoxin M1 is considered one of the main xenobiotic compounds in pasteurized and sterilized milk, yogurt, cheese, and other dairy products due to its high stability in various thermal processes, such as pasteurization and treatment in ultra-high temperature (UHT), freezing, or others dairy industry procedures. When present in raw milk, the M1 aflatoxin molecule cannot be inactivated, and it can contaminate the entire milk production chain (de Roma et al. 2017).

For this reason, research aiming to control aflatoxins mitigating their biosynthetic sources, whether in processed foods or their raw materials, has been growing steadily in the recent years. In agricultural commodities, the total absence of mycotoxins cannot be 100% guaranteed due to the complexity of the food chain, so decontamination procedures such as physical treatments can be applied including washing, polishing, mechanical screening, and separation (Patel et al. 2015).

In addition, some strategies can be adopted to prevent aflatoxins in food, such as the use of ultrasound technologies. Gamma irradiation is found to combat food contamination. Another proposal considered effective is the use of fungi and bacteria in this control, eliminating, inactivating, or reducing aflatoxins levels in food products.

The purpose of this chapter is to understand the microbial degradation of aflatoxin. The chapter is structured as follows: First, the main characteristics of aflatoxins and their effects on human health are addressed, followed by foods with a higher incidence of aflatoxin contamination, quality control, and use of microbial degradation as a measure of aflatoxin contamination control.

1.2 Aflatoxins and Their Effects on Human Health

Aflatoxins are oxygenated heterocyclic compounds produced by *Aspergillus* genus fungi. The presence of fungi combined with poor conditions of harvest, processing, and environmental factors, such as high relative humidity, trigger favorable conditions for the mycotoxin biosynthesis in food (Patel et al. 2015). The literature describes 20 types of aflatoxins, the most frequent being B1, B2, G1, G2, M1, and M2, as they are detected at significant levels and more often in foods.

The biosynthesis of aflatoxins (Fig. 1.1) is complex and involves a series of enzymes that transform the acetate and malonyl CoA components into hexanoil, the initial unit formed by the synthesis of a fatty acid, which is converted into norsolorinic acid, the first compound stable in the polyketide pathway and metabolite. After successive enzymatic reactions, the formation of versicolor B occurs, from which point the pathway divides (Sweeney and Dobson 1999). A route forms Versicolor A to later produce dimethylesterigmatocystin, then sterigmatocystin, and, finally, *o*-methylesterigmatocystin, generating aflatoxins B1 and G1 (Roze et al. 2013). The other route is responsible for the formation of B2 and G2 aflatoxins from dihydromethylterigmatocystin (Sweeney and Dobson 1999).

The term mycotoxin was used in 1962, after an incident near London, England, which caused the death of approximately 100,000 turkeys. When this mysterious disease was associated with the consumption of peanuts contaminated by secondary metabolites of *Aspergillus flavus*, this incident reinforced the importance of conducting research on fungal metabolites and, especially, the risks involved (Bennett and Klich 2003).

In 1993, the World Health Organization (WHO) and the International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) classified aflatoxins as carcinogens. The IARC also classified aflatoxin B1, B2, G1, and G2 as "group 1" toxins, causing carcinogenic



Fig. 1.1 Aflatoxin biosynthesis

effects in humans (WHO and IARC 1993a, b). Aflatoxin B1 is the most potent natural carcinogen known and is generally the main aflatoxin produced by toxigenic strains. The level of toxicity associated with aflatoxin varies with the types present, with the order of toxicity being the aflatoxins B1 > G1 > B2 > G2 (Jaimez et al. 2000).

Diseases caused by the consumption of aflatoxin are known as aflatoxicosis. Acute aflatoxicosis results in death, and chronic aflatoxicosis results in cancer, immune suppression, and other pathological conditions (Zain 2011). Aflatoxins act at the molecular level, altering important biochemical processes that lead to mutagenicity and carcinogenicity (Van Egmond et al. 2007). However, the veracity of the disease depends on the mechanism of action of each type of aflatoxin, the time of exposure, and the age and nutritional status of the patient (Ajani et al. 2014).

According to Marchese et al. (2018), liver is the main affected organ; the damage caused by aflatoxins is divided into two categories, acute intoxication, resulting from a short exposure, and a large number of toxins, which causes severe damage to the liver, among other problems, including death and chronic sublethal intoxication. Also, it affects the capacity for immunosuppression, causes nutritional disorders, and cancer.

Liu and Wu (2010) have noted the relationship between presence of aflatoxins in the appearance of liver cancer; on the other hand, Gong et al. (2002) identified that aflatoxin impairs growth and weight gain in children. Aflatoxins are also associated with many chronic diseases, including immunosuppression; digestive, blood, and nervous defects; reproductive problems; anemia; and jaundice (Ajani et al. 2014).

Aflatoxin B1, in comparison to the others, is a highly toxic and carcinogenic agent (Patel et al. 2015), and this problem is associated with high thermal stability and a wide possibility of food contamination (Xue et al. 2019). In addition, before forming an aflatoxin B1, the metabolite Versicolor A is formed, which presents a dihydrobisfurane ring (Gauthier et al. 2020), a double bond 2,3, present in the ring, oxide in the body, making the compound highly reactive and carcinogenic (Roze et al. 2013).

According to Caceres et al. (2020), the production group is complex and requires the presence of a series of enzymes. Dohnal et al. (2014) explain that type B1 aflatoxins are produced by means of enzymes and various metabolites, among them cancerous hepatocellular agents, and these metabolites are generated through oxidative, enzymatic, and hydrolytic reductions, unleashing the separation of molecules into more hydrophilic products and conjugation reactions between molecules or their metabolites with other nucleophilic molecules.

The organism contaminated with aflatoxin B1 can generate Aflatoxin M1 (Patel et al. 2015). This conversion takes place in the liver, where the compound undergoes processes involving the cytochrome P450 monooxygenase enzymes for the production of aflatoxin M1, and this metabolite is dangerous for health because it is a potential carcinogenic agent with contamination established mainly by the consumption of contaminated milk (Yabe et al. 2012) and its derivatives. Contamination by aflatoxins is worldwide. The exposure in children is very serious and needs to be studied, since the degree of risk is greater due to biological and exposure factors (Marchese et al. 2018), requiring monitoring of these foods (Er et al. 2014).

1.3 Aflatoxins in Food

Every year, millions of people fall victims to the consumption of contaminated food (Martins et al. 2020), with the main contaminant responsible for affecting human health being aflatoxins. These are found in foods such as milk, corn, spices, peanuts, nuts, pistachios, or indirectly through foods of animal origin, such as egg, meat, and dairy products (Kumar et al. 2016). Contamination in agricultural products occurs during growth, harvesting, storage, or transportation (Cotty 2006). Fungal contamination in food results in loss of food products and health problems for consumers (Kedia et al. 2014). Therefore, knowing the main foods exposed to contamination, monitoring and preventing aflatoxin contamination in these foods are important issues worldwide (Chen et al. 2013). The following topic addresses the main foods with an incidence of aflatoxin contamination.

1.3.1 Peanut (Arachis hypogaea L.)

Peanut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.) is a source of vegetable protein appreciated worldwide (Yang et al. 2020), has high nutritional value, and is rich in essential amino acids, unsaturated fatty acids, and antioxidant vitamins, making this food important in maintaining human health (de Sousa et al. 2011; Yang et al. 2020). Peanuts are eaten fresh, roasted, and products such as peanut butter, peanut oil, and creams for application in cakes, and they are well accepted in the consumer market (Mohammed et al. 2016; Ayelign and de Saeger 2020).

Although peanuts are nutritionally rich, there are concerns about its safety, as they are legumes that are highly susceptible to aflatoxin contamination, which can occur at all stages of its production chain. The water stresses that the plants go through, due to drought, high soil temperatures before harvest, and damage caused by insects to peanuts in the development period, compatible with oilseeds, provide favorable conditions for the growth of fungi *A. flavus* and *A. parasiticus*, leading to contamination by aflatoxins, mainly type B1 (Gong et al. 2016).

During water stress, the plant's natural defenses are affected, resulting in loss of metabolic activity, reduction of water activity, and imbalance of soil microflora, thereby reducing the growth of competing bacteria and fungi and favoring the growth of the *A. flavus* and *A. parasiticus*, as they grow easily under conditions of low water activity (Pitt et al. 2013).

1.3.2 Corn (Zea mays L.)

Corn (*Zea mays* L.) is one of the most important cereal crops in the human diet and animal feed (Wu and Guclu 2013). The high level of corn production makes this raw material influential in the national economy, playing a significant role in the industry and food security (Xu et al. 2019). This cereal is rich in nutrients, such as fiber, minerals (Mg, P, and K), vitamins (A, B, E, and K), phenolic acids, ferulic acid, coumaric acid, synergic acid, vanillic acid, serum acid, ferulic acid, coffee, carotenoids, and flavonoids, and its consumption confers health benefits, as it reduces the risk of chronic degenerative diseases (Sheng et al. 2018).

The use of corn in food is diverse and can be used as a basis for industrial products, oil, syrup, starch, animal feed, and ethanol production (Xu et al. 2019). However, corn is highly susceptible to aflatoxin contamination, since the fungi *A. flavus* and *A. parasiticus* are often found in corn and its derivatives (Kebede et al. 2012).

Regions with high temperatures, humidity, and irregular rainfall contribute to the development of aflatoxins in the cultivation of corn. Contamination can occur during cultivation, harvesting, and transportation (Rasheed et al. 2019; Sserumaga et al. 2020). When there is low-quality control in the processing of corn, the fungus colonizes the tissues of the style, grows and reaches the grains, and produces aflatoxins (Accinelli et al. 2014).

Corn-derived products occupy an important position in human and animal nutrition, and it is important to recognize that even in countries with the supervision of these products, in developing countries, the irregular marketing of corn is still common. Therefore, consumers are at high risk of exposure to aflatoxin contamination, and it is necessary to educate consumers and make food entrepreneurs aware of the damage caused by the consumption of food contaminated by aflatoxins (Cheng et al. 2019).

1.3.3 Nuts (Juglans regia L)

Nuts contain essential unsaturated and monounsaturated fats, including linoleic and linolenic fatty acids, vitamins, and essential amino acids. Also, they are considered a source of vitamin E, vitamin B2, folate, fibers, and essential minerals, such as magnesium, phosphorus, potassium, copper, and selenium (Sabaté and Wien 2013; Hidalgo-Ruiz et al. 2019). Nuts are eaten as toast, appetizers, and dessert; dried fruits are widely used in traditional bakery and confectionery products; as flavoring agents in drinks and ice cream; and they are also used as soup thickeners (Jubeen et al. 2020).

Fungal contamination of nuts is influenced by factors such as high temperature, humidity, poor storage conditions, and inadequate harvesting practices that cause mechanical damage to nuts and play a vital role in the growth of fungi and production of aflatoxins, especially in the drying stages, storage, and transportation (Nkwonta et al. 2015; Asghar et al. 2017). The resulting effect of this biological and environmental interaction and the deterioration of nuts affects the nutritional and sensory qualities and imposes health risks on those who consume them (Rodrigues et al. 2012).

1.3.4 Milk

Milk is a nutrient-rich food, as it is a source of fatty acids, proteins such as casein and albumin, lactose, minerals and vitamins, and vitamins for the growth, development, and maintenance of human health. However, raw milk or dairy products can also be sources of contamination by microorganisms and, consequently, aflatoxins especially for infants and children due to the high consumption of milk and dairy products in their diet (Iqbal et al. 2015a). Aflatoxin M1 is one of the most dangerous metabolites of aflatoxin B1, and this product is excreted in the milk of animals and humans causing the same damage as aflatoxins B1, such as carcinogenicity, teratogenesis, genotoxicity, mutagenesis, and immunosuppression (Min et al. 2020).

When milk is not handled in hygienic sanitary conditions, it loses quality. The main contaminants found in milk and its derivatives include pesticide residues, heavy metals, and M1-type aflatoxins (Awasthi et al. 2012). Contamination of milk by aflatoxins occurs when animals are fed with feed, cereals, harvest by-products, and silage contaminated with aflatoxin B1, which is more abundant in contaminated food and feed. Contamination of livestock feed occurs due to conditions of conservation and adequate storage, mainly in tropical and hot regions with high humidity (El Marnissi et al. 2012).

Moschini et al. (2006) found that in lactating cows fed 5 mg of aflatoxin B1 bolus, plasma concentrations of aflatoxin B1 transformed to aflatoxin M1 are detected

15 min after ingestion. This indicates the rapid absorption and biotransformation of aflatoxin B1 in M1 (Moschini et al. 2006). Several studies in different countries have reported high and low levels of contamination by aflatoxin B1 and aflatoxin M1 in different categories of milk, such as UHT, pasteurized, raw milk, cottage cheese, yogurt, and butter (Xiong et al. 2018; Tadesse et al. 2020).

1.4 Regulation and Quality Control

Preharvest contamination occurs in temperate and tropical regions. Seeds that suffer stress, such as prolonged drought, short irrigation time, damage caused by insects, and use of seeds in areas that do not favor their cultivation, have high rates of contamination by fungi that cause aflatoxins, such as *Fusarium* and *Aspergillus* (Tola and Kebede 2016). Post-harvest contamination occurs worldwide where there are environmental conditions for the proliferation of aflatoxicogenic fungi, such as inadequate storage, improper drying of grains, and plant species not adapted to the climate (Tola and Kebede 2016).

The species of aflatoxins type B, G, and M have risk classification, as carcinogenic, group 1 (Smoke and Smoking 2004). In case of accidental ingestion of aflatoxins, the liver metabolizes the toxin, forming other types of carcinogenic metabolites, usually causing liver cancer (Wang et al. 2018). In addition to being carcinogenic compounds, they are genotoxic; therefore, the amount of acceptable intake is minimally possible. For example, the maximum levels of aflatoxins established by Codex Alimentarius in nuts, grains, dried figs, and milk are between 0.5 and 15 μ g/kg, a fact that made the European Union establish that the level consumed should be as low as possible (Authority 2007).

Codex alimentarius, to prevent and reduce the amount of toxins in cereals, nuts, and other products, has already created several good habits manuals. The creation and good acceptance of the manual developed by Codex designed a uniform orientation for all countries in an attempt to minimize the effects of mycotoxins in food so that it can have an effect, and countries must adapt the manuals according to their climate, culture, and socioeconomic conditions. The recommendations were divided into two: good manufacturing practices and recommended practices based on good agricultural practices (Kabak et al. 2006).

1.4.1 Aflatoxin Prevention Strategies in Vegetables

The control in the preharvest of vegetables, in order to avoid contamination by aflatoxins, must take into account agronomic and environmental factors that influence the infection of the plant from the seed to the pod. Such factors can vary considerably from one location to another and even at the same location at different seasons. Particularly, some environments can be favorable to fungal infection and subsequent aflatoxin contamination, and it is necessary to take into account whether the location has climatic and agronomic conditions for the proper development of the

chosen culture. However, for most of these cases, agricultural practices can be used to minimize the effects of aflatoxins (Commission 2004).

Another example of walnut is pistachio, which is a fruit composed of a single grain protected by a thin and showy shell, which in turn is surrounded by a hull. The biggest problem found in pistachios is the immature division of the shell and hull. The husk divides into several parts at least one month before harvest, and usually the husk and the hull remain intact after division. However, a small percentage of pistachios, the peel, and the hull are still divided and adhered to the fruit, thus causing a rupture and a direct access route, from the fungus to the fruit (Commission 2003).

Insects are responsible for the spread of fungal spores, such fungi installed in areas damaged by insects, the flower and silk present in corn, for example, can be the gateway for fungi in the plant, which increases the levels of mycotoxins in the product. However, corn can be recovered in distilleries in the production of alcohol due to the high starch content (Tola and Kebede 2016). Fumigants, essential oils, and alternative solutions, such as the use of ozone, were applied as control measures against insect attacks and, consequently, a decrease in aflatoxins in corn was observed (Chulze 2010).

Before planting, the producer should seek the city hall or agricultural extension service to verify the viability of cultivation in the region and to check the availability of seeds resistant to attacks by insects, fungi, and microbes that can impair the quality of the fruits (Commission 2004).

The use of biological and chemical agents prevents the growth of aflatoxicogenic fungi and, consequently, aflatoxins. The inoculation of non-aflatoxicogenic competitive strains of *A. flavus* and *A. parasiticus* showed a steep drop in aflatoxin contamination in peanut, rice, corn, and cotton seeds, notably due to the production of inhibitory metabolites and competition for substrate (Kabak et al. 2006).

Intensive cultivation of the same species of nuts in the same location can lead to an increase in the population of *A. flavus* and *A. parasiticus* fungi in the soil, which increase the chances of infection in the next plantations. There are reports that different types of soil contribute or not to fungal development. The heavier soil, with more water availability, drastically reduces the amount of fungi due to the decrease in water stress, which can be a partial cause of the infestation. However, in dry and sandy soils, fungi are favored and multiply rapidly in the plant due to the water stress that the plant has suffered (Kabak et al. 2006).

1.4.2 Care in Harvesting and Transportation

At harvest, the processing of the products begins, when transporting from the field to the silo or warehouse where there may be a great variation in humidity. For this reason, strict humidity control must be maintained at various points in the load. Another very important factor is the damage and injuries caused in the harvest as well as in the pre-harvest where the broken cereal can be contaminated and in the harvest there can also be damage to the cereal and allow contamination by fungi. This problem can be maximized with the lack of humidity control, and this whole process must be accompanied by a good strategy for separating healthy grains (Kabak et al. 2006).

1.4.3 Postharvest Control

The appearance of mycotoxicogenic fungi also occurs during storage due to the moisture of the grains or the condensation of water in the place close to the cooling sector of the silos. In view of this, it is important to control the aeration of the environment and continuously monitor the silo to minimize the effects of contamination during storage (Kabak et al. 2006). Such attitudes have a high effect on the quality and nutritional value of food, promoting internal and external trade, among other advantages (Udomkun et al. 2017).

High humidity in peanuts and harvested corn increases aflatoxin contamination, adequate drying of peanut grains to <7% (Waliyar et al. 2015) and corn between 14 and 16% (Chulze 2010), prevents the growth of fungi in general as well as the growth of aflatoxicogenic strains. Drying techniques such as inversion of the line, post-harvest, expose all the faces of the fruits to the sun, and allow the passage of air, which facilitates drying (Waliyar et al. 2015).

In storage, polypropylene bags are used, which provide airtight closure and will reflect a substantial decrease in the contamination by fungi, if the transport and drying have been done correctly (Kabak et al. 2006). Studies show that *Aspergillus* can grow at temperatures from 10–12 °C to 42–43 °C, with an optimal temperature of 32–33 °C (Aflatoxins in peanuts 2002). After the storage of nuts and cereals, factors such as grains and environmental humidity, container or aeration, and storage location play an important role. In the case of open places, they are crucial points for a prolonged storage period without further damage to the product.

1.4.4 Strategies for Preventing Aflatoxins in Milk and Dairy Products

The major problem with AFM1 in milk and dairy products is the fact that milk is included in the daily diet of all age groups in many countries and in addition, toxins can contaminate all derived products, such as yogurt and cheese, enhancing the damage caused (Iqbal et al. 2015b).

The presence of aflatoxins in animal milk comes from contaminated food. Currently, cows are fed by the TMR method that means total mixed feed. This method consists of providing fodder with different types of concentrates or by-products, grains, minerals, protein supplements, minerals, and vitamins in exact quantities to form a balanced feed. These products may contain large amounts of mycotoxins from the field, storage, and/or transportation (Rodriguez-Blanco et al. 2020).

Aflatoxin M1 is stable at high temperatures, and some studies indicate that it is stable in cheeses for 60 and 90 days (Oruc et al. 2006). Treatments with ultrahigh temperature (UHT), ionizing radiation, addition of enzymes or additives, and other techniques used to rid food of contaminants are not effective (Matabaro et al. 2017).

1.4.5 Detection Methods for Aflatoxins

The objective of qualitative analysis is to direct which method should be chosen, if the objective is only to detect presence or absence, rapid tests can be done, but, if the objective is to quantify the analyte, then quantitative tests should be used. Usually, the analysis procedures follow a sampling sequence, sample preparation (which can count extraction and purification), and analysis (identification or quantification) (Vaz et al. 2020).

There are several developed and validated methods for detecting aflatoxins and fungal contamination in foods, such as thin-layer chromatography (TLC), gas chromatography (GC), high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC), and enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA), among others. Optical analyses are also widely used; they are rapid analyses that do not destroy the sample; they are based on fluorescence spectroscopy, near-infrared, and hyperspectral spectroscopy (Tao et al. 2018).

1.5 Microbial Degradation of Aflatoxins

Researches have shown the efficient use of technologies, such as ultrasonic (Garg et al. 2013), gamma irradiation (Zhang et al. 2018) against aflatoxin in food and feedstuff. Among the chemical methods, various have been tested including oxidizing and reducing agents, alkalization, reduction, hydrolysis, chlorinating substances, and others. Another category is the detoxifying agents group added in the category of technological feed additives and classified into inorganic (aluminosilicates, hydrated sodium calcium aluminosilicate, bentonites, zeolites, other clays), organic (yeast cell wall, lactic acid bacteria—LAB, micronized fibers and bio-sorbents, activated carbon), and synthetics (organoaluminosilicates or modified clays, polymers) (Vila-Donat et al. 2018).

An alternative that has been growing in recent years is the use of microorganisms, where researches have been showing the use of several bacterial and fungal species in this control. It is noteworthy that the biological degradation of mycotoxins has shown promise because it is effective and environmentally friendly. Vila-Donat et al. (2018) emphasize that, depending on their action, these organisms can act by either binding mycotoxins to their surface (adsorption) or by biotransformation, degrading, or transforming them into less toxic metabolites. Therefore, it is defined at least two main categories: adsorbing and biotransforming agents. More recently, González-Pereyra et al. (2020) highlight to consider three distinct processes: degradation, transformation, or adsorption.

These studies started in the 1960s, where Ciegler et al. (1966) evaluated several organisms (yeasts, molds, bacteria, actinomycetes, algae, and fungal spores) for their ability to degrade aflatoxin. *Flavobacterium* B-184 removed aflatoxin irreversibly from milk, oil, peanut butter, peanuts, and corn. Contaminated soybean was partially detoxified by addition of these bacteria. From that, several studies with LAB were carried out as well as other microorganisms.

LAB are highly studied because of their technological and industrial importance, significant action as food biopreservatives, beneficial effects on human health, desired sensorial effects, and they have proven ability to sequester aflatoxins through all of their growth phases (Peltonen et al. 2001; Khanafari and Karami-Osboo 2007). Haskard et al. (2001) evaluated stability of the AFB1 complexes formed with 12 bacterial strains of LAB, in both viable and nonviable (heat- or acid-treated), and observed binding is of a reversible nature, but the stability of the complexes formed depends on strain, treatment, and environmental conditions. Bueno et al. (2007) have confirmed these results, where the ability of LAB and *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* to remove AFB1 from liquid medium has been tested.

Then, they proposed aflatoxin B1 binding to microorganisms very quickly (no more than 1 min); this process forms a reversible complex between the toxin and microorganism surface, without chemical modification of the toxin; the amount of aflatoxin B1 removed was concentration dependent both on toxin and on bacteria; and similar results were obtained with viable and nonviable (heat-treated) bacteria.

Marrez et al. (2018) evaluated the ability of LAB species in removing or binding AFB1 from whole milk and found great results. *Lactobacillus acidoplilus* achieved 80% reduction in milk within 24 h at 37 °C, whereas *L. plantarum* favored cold storage to reduce 85% of the AFB1 after 1 week. The authors highlight the use LAB bacteria in food and dairy industries as a bioremoval agent of aflatoxins contamination.

Numerous studies have tested the impacts of bacteria *Pseudomonas* sp. (Samuel et al. 2014), *Bacillus* sp. (Gao et al. 2011; Farzaneh et al. 2012; Afsharmanesh et al. 2018; Xu et al. 2019), and *Flavobacterium* sp. (Line et al. 1994; Smiley; Draughon 2020) on aflatoxin B1 degradation. There are also several fungal species known to degrade aflatoxin B1, such as *Pleurotus* sp. (Loi et al. 2016), 2018), *Aspergillus* sp. (Kachouri et al. 2014; Zhang et al. 2014), *Saccharomyces cerevisae* (Shetty and Jespersen 2006), and *Streptomyces* sp. (Harkai et al. 2016).

Wang et al. (2016) developed a thermophilic microbial consortium (TADC7 compost of agricultural wastes such as straws, sawdust, and animal feces) with stable and efficient aflatoxin B1 degradation activity, degrading more than 95% of AFB1 within 72 h and the optimum temperature 55–60 °C. They identified proteins or enzymes in the cell-free supernatant playing a major role in degradation, where *Geobacillus* and *Tepidimicrobium* were the main microorganisms involved in this process.

Taheur et al. (2020) evaluated microorganisms isolated from Kombucha culture (LAB and yeasts) for aflatoxin B1 degradation in the liquid medium and found after 7 days of fermentation that kombucha was able to degrade 97% of toxin in black tea. They have identified three main yeasts: *Pichia occidentalis, Candida sorboxylosa*,

and *Hanseniaspora opuntiae*, and the highest aflatoxin B1 degradation capacity was related to *P. occidentalis* (59%). Toxicity studies showed that the biodegraded products were less toxic than pure aflatoxin B1.

Cai et al. (2020) reported efficient aflatoxin B1 degrading by strain of *Stenotrophomonas acidoaminiphila* CW117 (especially to low concentrations), suggesting its potential significance to detoxification on food and feedstuff. The laccase degraded 29.3% of AFB1 within 24 h, and the cell-free supernatant degraded 76.7% of the toxin in the same time, with much lower protein content. Then, these authors concluded CW117 degrades aflatoxin B1 through a combination of enzymes and micromolecule oxides. Zeinvand-Lorestani et al. (2015) also evaluated the effects of laccase from *Trametes versicolor* on the enzymatic detoxification of aflatoxin B1 and found a significant decrease in the prooxidative properties and mutagenicity of the detoxified products with the parent toxin.

Söylemez et al. (2020) determined the optimum aflatoxin B1 degradation conditions by *Panus neostrigosus* reaching degradation rate of 49% in just 1-hour exposure to culture filtrate. It was not possible the identification and characterization of the responsible enzyme(s) for the degradation. However, the authors showed that it was not the laccase and manganese peroxidase (MnP) enzymes.

Several enzymes have been identified as important aflatoxin degraders. Liu et al. (1998) first identified an aflatoxin oxidase (AFO) from the edible mushroom *Armillariella tabescens*. Wang et al. (2018) found an aflatoxin degradation (maximum elimination of 86.0%) treated with MnP obtained from the white-rot fungus *Phanerochaete sordida* YK-624. Analysis suggested that aflatoxin B1 was first oxidized to AFB1-8,9-epoxide by MnP and then hydrolyzed to AFB1-8,9-dihydrodiol, pathway that considerably reduced its mutagenic activity. Xu et al. (2019) identified Bacillus aflatoxin-degrading enzyme (BADE) being the major protein involved in aflatoxin B1 detoxification (reaching reduction levels of AFB1, AFB2, and AFM1 by 92.1, 84.1, and 90.4%, respectively), an isolated enzyme from *Bacillus shackletonii*.

1.6 Conclusion

Aflatoxins, when ingested even in young children, cause damage to human health and animals. Thus, the contamination of aflatoxins in food has become a worldwide concern in recent years, resulting in the emergence of several actions aimed at reducing the levels of aflatoxins in food, for example, quality control measures involving good production practices. In addition, the microbial degradation of aflatoxins is an important technology in this control, and it is perceived that it is potentially applicable. However, in addition to the microorganisms already studied and used in the degradation of aflatoxins, the discovery of more selective and sensitive microorganisms should be encouraged in order to make these technologies even more effective and economical for the food industry.

References

- Accinelli C, Abbas HK, Vicari A, Shier WT (2014) Aflatoxin contamination of corn under different agro-environmental conditions and biocontrol applications. Crop Prot 63:9–14
- Aflatoxins in Peanuts (2002) Microbiological testing in food safety management. Springer, Boston, pp 263–271
- Afsharmanesh H, Perez-Garcia A, Zeriouh H, Ahmadzadeh M, Romero D (2018) Aflatoxin degradation by Bacillus subtilis UTB1 is based on production of an oxidoreductase involved in bacilysin biosynthesis. Food Control 94:48–55
- Ajani J, Chakravarthy DVS, Tanuja P, Pasha KV (2014) Aflatoxins, a review. Indian J Adv Chem Sci 3:49–60
- Asghar MA, Ahmed A, Zahir E, Asghar MA, Iqbal J, Walker G (2017) Incidence of aflatoxins contamination in dry fruits and edible nuts collected from Pakistan. Food Control 78:169–175
- Authority, E F S (2007) Opinion of the scientific panel on contaminants in the food chain [CONTAM] related to the potential increase of consumer health risk by a possible increase of the existing maximum levels for aflatoxins in almonds, hazelnuts and pistachios and derived products. EFSA J 5(3):446
- Awasthi V, Bahman S, Thakur LK, Singh SK, Dua A, Ganguly S (2012) Contaminants in milk and impact of heating: an assessment study. Indian J Public Health 56:95–99
- Ayelign A, de Saeger S (2020) Mycotoxins in Ethiopia: current status, implications to food safety and mitigation strategies. Food Control 113:107163
- Bennett JW, Klich M (2003) Mycotoxins. Clin Microbiol Rev 16:497-516
- Bueno DJ, Casale CH, Pizzolitto RP, Salvano MA, Oliver G (2007) Physical Adsorption of Aflatoxin B1 by Lactic Acid Bacteria and Saccharomyces cerevisiae: a Theoretical Model. J Food Prot 70(9):2148–2154
- Caceres I et al (2020) Aflatoxin biosynthesis and genetic regulation: a review. Toxins 12:150
- Cai M, Qian Y, Chen N, Ling T, Wang J, Jiang H, Wang X, Qi K, ZhouY (2020) Detoxification of aflatoxin B1 by Stenotrophomonas sp. CW117 and characterization the thermophilic degradation process. Environ Pollut 261:114–178
- Chen YC, Liao CD, Lin HY, Chiueh LC (2013) Survey of aflatoxin contamination in peanut products in Taiwan from 1997 to 2011. J Food Drug Anal 21:247–252
- Cheng X, Vella A, Stasiewicza MJ (2019) Classification of aflatoxin contaminated single corn kernels by ultraviolet to near infrared spectroscopy. Food Control 98:253–261
- Chulze SN (2010) Strategies to reduce mycotoxin levels in maize during storage: a review. Food Addit Contam Part A Chem Anal Control Expo Risk Assess 27:651–657
- Ciegler A, Lillehoj EB, Peterson RE, Hall HH (1966) Microbial detoxification of aflatoxin. Appl Environ Microbiol 14(6):934–939
- Commission CA (2003) Discussion paper on aflatoxins in tree nuts. CX/FAC, 03/23.
- Commission CA (2004) Code of Practice for the prevention and reduction of aflatoxin contamination in peanuts. CAC/RCP, 55.
- Cotty PJ (2006) Exclusão biocompetitiva de fungos toxigênicos. In: Barug D, Bhatnagar D, van Egmond HP, van der Kamp JW, van Osenbruggen WA, Visconti A (eds) The mycotoxin factbook, food and feed topics. Wageningen Academic Publishers, Wageningen, pp 179–197
- de Roma A, Rossini C, Ritieni A, Gallo P, Esposito M (2017) A survey on the aflatoxin M1 occurrence and seasonal variation in buffalo and cow milk from southern Italy. Food Control 81:30–33
- de Sousa AGO, Fernandes DC, Alves AM, de Freitas JB, Naves MMV (2011) Nutritional quality and protein value of exotic almonds and nut from the Brazilian savanna compared to peanut. Food Res Int 44:2319–2325
- Dohnal V, Wu Q, Kuca K (2014) Metabolism of aflatoxins: key enzymes and interindividual as well as interspecies differences. Arch Toxicol 88(9):1635–1644
- El Marnissi B, Belkhou R, Morgavi DP, Bennani L, Boudra H (2012) Occurrence of aflatoxin M1 in raw milk collected from traditional dairies in Morocco. Food Chem Toxicol 50:2819–2821

- Er B, Demirhan B, Yentür G (2014) Investigation of aflatoxin M1 levels in infant follow-on milks and infant formulas sold in the markets of Ankara, Turkey. J Dairy Sci 97(6):3328–3331
- Farzaneh M, Shi ZQ, Ghassempour A, Sedaghat N, Ahmadzadeh M, Mirabolfathy M, Javan-Nikkhah M (2012) Aflatoxin B1 degradation by Bacillus subtilis UTBSP1 isolated from pistachio nuts of Iran. Food Control 23:100–106
- Gao X, Ma Q, Zhao Z, Lei Y, Shan Y, Ji C (2011) Isolation of Bacillus subtilis: screening for aflatoxins B1, M1, and G1 detoxification. Eur Food Res Technol 232:957–962
- Garg N, Aggarwal M, Khandal RK, Javed S (2013) Studies for optimization of conditions for reducing Aflatoxin Contamination in Peanuts using Ultraviolet Radiations. Int J Drug Dev Res 5 (3):408–424
- Gauthier T, Duarte-Hospital C, Vignard J et al (2020) Versicolorin A, a precursor in aflatoxins biosynthesis, is a food contaminant toxic for human intestinal cells. Environ Int 137:105568
- Gong YY, Cardwell K, Hounsa A, Egal S, Turner PC, Hall AJ, Wild CP (2002) Dietary aflatoxin exposure and impaired growth in young children from Benin and Togo: cross sectional study. Br Med J 325(7354):20–21
- Gong YY, Watson S, Routledge MN (2016) Aflatoxin exposure and associated human health effects, a review of epidemiological studies. Food Safety 4:14–27
- González-Pereyra ML, Di Giacomo AL, Lara AL, Martínez MP, Cavaglieri L (2020) Aflatoxindegrading Bacillus sp. strains degrade zearalenone and produce proteases, amylases and cellulases of agro-industrial interest. Toxicon 180:43–48
- Harkai P, Szabó I, Cserháti M, Krifaton C, Risa A, Radó J (2016) Biodegradation of aflatoxin-B1 and zearalenone by Streptomyces sp. collection. Int Biodeterior Biodegradation 108:48–56
- Haskard CA, El-Nezami HS, Kankaanpaa PE, Salminen S, Ahokas JA (2001) Surface Binding of Aflatoxin B1 by Lactic Acid Bacteria. Appl Environ Microbiol 67(7):3086–3091
- Hidalgo-Ruiz JL, Romero-González R, Vidal JLM, Frenich AG (2019) Determination of mycotoxins in nuts by ultra high-performance liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry: looking for a representative matrix. J Food Compos Anal 82:103228
- Iqbal SZ, Jinap S, Pirouz AA, Ahmad FAR (2015a) Aflatoxin M1 in milk and dairy products, occurrence and recent challenges: a review. Trends Food Sci Technol 46:110–119
- Iqbal SZ, Jinap S, Pirouz AA, Ahmad Faizal AR (2015b) Aflatoxin M1 in milk and dairy products, occurrence and recent challenges: A review. Trends Food Sci Technol 46(1):110–119
- Ismail A et al (2018) Aflatoxin in foodstuffs: occurrence and recent advances in decontamination. Food Res Int 113:74–85
- Jaimez J, Fente CA, Vazquez BI, Franco CM, Cepeda A, Mahuzier G, Prognon P (2000) Application of the assay of aflatoxins by liquid chromatography with fluorescence detection in food analysis. J Chromatogr A 882:1–10
- Jubeen F et al (2020) Evaluation and detoxification of aflatoxins in ground and tree nuts using food grade organic acids. Biocatal Agric Biotechnol 101749
- Kabak B, Dobson AD, Var I (2006) Strategies to prevent mycotoxin contamination of food and animal feed: a review. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr 46(8):593–619
- Kachouri F, Ksontini H, Hamdi M (2014) Removal of aflatoxin B1 and inhibition of Aspergillus flavus growth by the use of Lactobacillus plantarum on olives. J Food Prot 77:1760–1767
- Kebede H, Abbas HK, Fisher DK, Bellaloui N (2012) Relationship between aflatoxin contamination and physiological responses of corn plants under drought and heat stress. Toxins 4:1385–1403
- Kedia A, Bhanu PP, Prashant KM, Dubey NK (2014) Antifungal and antiaflatoxigenic properties of *Cuminum cyminum* (L.) seed essential oil and its efficacy as a preservative in stored commodities. Int J Food Microbiol 168-169:1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2013. 10.008
- Khanafari A, Karami-Osboo R (2007) An in vitro investigation as aflatoxin B1 biological control by Lactobacillus plantarum. Pakistan. J Biol Sci 10:2553–2556

- Kumar P, Mahato DK, Kamle M, Mohanta TK, Kang SG (2016) Aflatoxins: a global concern for food safety, human health and their management. Front Microbiol 7:2170. https://doi.org/10. 3389/fmicb.2016.02170
- Liu Y, Wu F (2010) Global burden of aflatoxin-induced hepatocellular carcinoma: a risk assessment. Environ Health Perspect 118(6):818–824
- Liu DL, Yao DS, Liang R, Ma L, Cheng WQ, Gu LQ (1998) Detoxification of Aflatoxin B1 by Enzymes Isolated from Armillariella tabescens. Food Chem Toxicol 36:563–574
- Loi M et al (2016) Aflatoxin B1 and M1 degradation by Lac2 from Pleurotus pulmonarius and redox mediators. Toxins 8(9):245
- Loi M, Fanelli F, Cimmarusti MT, Mirabelli V, Haidukowski M, Logrieco AF, Caliandro R, Mule G (2018) In vitro single and combined mycotoxins degradation by Ery4 laccase from Pleurotus eryngii and redox mediators. Food Control 90:401–406
- Marchese S, Polo A, Ariano A et al (2018) Aflatoxin B1 and M1: biological properties and their involvement in cancer development. Toxins 10(6):214
- Marrez DA, Shahy EM, El-Sayed HS, Sultan YY (2018) Detoxification of Aflatoxin B1 in Milk Using Lactic Acid Bacteria. J Biol Sci 18(3):144–151
- Martins C, Vidal A, de Boevre M, de Saeger S, Nunes C, Torres D, Goios A, Lopes C, Alvito P, Assunção R (2020) Burden of disease associated with dietary exposure to carcinogenic aflatoxins in Portugal using human biomonitoring approach. Food Res Int 134:109–210
- Matabaro E, Ishimwe N, Uwimbabazi E, Lee BH (2017) Current immunoassay methods for the rapid detection of aflatoxin in milk and dairy products. Compr Rev Food Sci Food Saf 16 (5):808–820
- Min L, Li D, Tong X, Sun H, Chen W, Wang G, Wang J (2020) The challenges of global occurrence of aflatoxin M1 contamination and the reduction of aflatoxin M1 in milk over the past decade. Food Control 2020:–107352
- Mohammed A, Chala A, Dejene M, Fininsa C, Hoisington DA, Sobolev VS, Arias RS (2016) Aspergillus and aflatoxin in groundnut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.) and groundnut cake in eastern Ethiopia. Food Addit Contam Part B 9:290–298
- Moschini M, Mosoero F, Diaz D, Gallo A, Pietri A, Piva G (2006) Plasma aflatoxin concentrations over time in bolus fed lactating dairy cows. J Anim Sci 84:74–74
- Nkwonta CG, Medina A, del Alamar MC, Terry LA (2015) Impact of postharvest processing on the fungal population contaminating African walnut shells (*Tetracarpidium conophorum* Mull. Arg) at different maturity stages and potential mycotoxigenic implications. Int J Food Microbiol 194:15–20
- Oruc HH, Cibik R, Yilmaz E, Kalkanli O (2006) Distribution and stability of aflatoxin M1 during processing and ripening of traditional white pickled cheese. Food Addit Contam 23(2):190–195
- Patel SV, Bosamia TC, Bosamia T et al (2015) Aflatoxins: causes and effects. J Agric Biol Sci 13 (9):140–141
- Peltonen K, El-Nezami H, Haskard C, Ahokas J, Salminen S (2001) Aflatoxin B1 Binding by Dairy Strains of Lactic Acid Bacteria and Bifidobacteria. J Dairy Sci 84:2152–2156
- Pitt JI, Taniwaki MH, Cole MB (2013) Mycotoxin production in major crops as influenced by growing, harvesting, storage and processing, with emphasis on the achievement of food safety objectives. Food Control 32:205–215
- Rasheed U, Wu H, Wei J, Ou X, Qin P, Yao X, Chen H, Chen AJ, Liu B (2019) A polyphasic study of *Aspergillus* section Flavi isolated from corn in Guangxi, China- a hot spot of aflatoxin contamination. Int J Food Microbiol 310:108307
- Rodrigues P, Venâncio A, Lima N (2012) Mycobiota and mycotoxins of almonds and chestnuts with special reference to aflatoxins. Food Res Int 48:76–90
- Rodriguez-Blanco M, Ramos AJ, Prim M, Sanchis V, Marin S (2020) Usefulness of the analytical control of aflatoxins in feedstuffs for dairy cows for the prevention of aflatoxin M1 in milk. Mycotoxin Res 36(1):11–22
- Roze LV, Hong SY, Linz JE (2013) Aflatoxin biosynthesis: current Frontiers. Annu Rev Food Sci Technol 4(1):293–311

- Sabaté J, Wien M (2013) Consumption of nuts in the prevention of cardiovascular disease. Curr Nutr Reports 2:258–266
- Samuel MS, Sivaramakrishna A, Mehta A (2014) Degradation and detoxification of aflatoxin B1 by *Pseudomonas putida*. Int Biodeterior Biodegrad 86:202–209
- Sheng S, Li T, Liu R (2018) Corn phytochemicals and their health benefits. Food Sci Human Wellness 7:185–195
- Shetty PH, Jespersen L (2006) Saccharomyces cerevisiae and lactic acid bacteria as potential mycotoxin decontaminating agents. Trends Food Sci Technol 17:48–55
- Smoke T, Smoking I (2004) IARC monographs on the evaluation of carcinogenic risks to humans. IARC, Lyon, pp 1–1452
- Söylemez T, Yamaç M, Yıldız Z (2020) Statistical optimization of cultural variables for enzymatic degradation of aflatoxin B1 by Panus neostrigosus. Toxicon 186:141–150
- Sserumaga JP, Ortega-Beltran A, Wagacha JM, Mutegi CK, Bandyopadhyay R (2020) Aflatoxinproducing fungi associated with pre-harvest maize contamination in Uganda. Int J Food Microbiol 313:108376
- Sweeney MJ, Dobson ADW (1999) Molecular biology of mycotoxin biosynthesis. FEMS Microbiol Lett 175(2):149–163
- Tadesse S, Berhanu T, Woldegiorgis AZ (2020) Aflatoxin M1 in milk and milk products marketed by local and industrial producers in Bishoftu town of Ethiopia. Food Control 118:107386
- Taheur FB, Mansour C, Jeddou KB, Machreki Y, Kouidhi B, Abdulhakim JA, Chaieb K (2020) Aflatoxin B1 degradation by microorganisms isolated from Kombucha culture. Toxicon 179:76–83
- Tao F, Yao H, Hruska Z, Burger LW, Rajasekaran K, Bhatnagar D (2018) Recent development of optical methods in rapid and non-destructive detection of aflatoxin and fungal contamination in agricultural products. TrAC Trends Anal Chem 100:65–81
- Tola M, Kebede B (2016) Occurrence, importance and control of mycotoxins: a review. Cogent Food Agriculture 2(1):2331–1932
- Udomkun P, Wiredu AN, Nagle M, Müller J, Vanlauwe B, Bandyopadhyay R (2017) Innovative technologies to manage aflatoxins in foods and feeds and the profitability of application–a review. Food Control 76:127–138
- Van Egmond HP, Schothorst RC, Jonker MA (2007) Regulations relating to mycotoxins in food: perspectives in a global and European context. Anal Bioanal Chem 389:147–157
- Vaz A, Cabral Silva AC, Rodrigues P, Venancio A (2020) Detection methods for aflatoxin M1 in dairy products. Microorganisms 8, 2
- Vila-Donat P et al (2018) A review of the mycotoxin adsorbing agents, with an emphasis on their multi-binding capacity, for animal feed decontamination. Food Chem Toxicol 114:246–259
- Waliyar F, Osiru M, Ntare BR, Kumar K, Sudini H, Traore A, Diarra B (2015) Post-harvest management of aflatoxin contamination in groundnut. World Mycotoxin J 8(2):245–252
- Wang Y, Zhao C, Zhang D, Zhao M, Zheng D, Lyu Y, Cheng W, Guo P, Cui Z (2016) Effective degradation of aflatoxin B1 using a novel thermophilic microbial consortium TADC7. Bioresour Technol 224:166–173
- Wang X, Lien KW, Ling MP (2018) Probabilistic health risk assessment for dietary exposure to aflatoxin in peanut and peanut products in Taiwan. Food Control 91:372–380
- WHO (2018) World Health Organization. Department of food safety and zoonoses. Food safety digest. Aflatoxins. http://www.who.int/foodsafety/FSDigest_Aflatoxins_EN.pdf
- World Health Organization International Agency for Research on Cancer (WHO-IARC) (1993a) Toxins derived from *Fusarium moniliforme*: fumonisins B1 and B2 and fusarin C. IARC Monogr Eval Carcinog Risks Hum 56:445–462
- World Health Organization International Agency for Research on Cancer (WHO-IARC). (1993b) IARC monographs on the evaluation of carcinogenic risks to humans. WHO-IARC.
- Wu F, Guclu H (2013) Global maize trade and food security: implications from a social network model. Risk Anal 12:2168–2178

- Wu F, Groopman JD, Pestka JJ (2014) Public health impacts of foodborne mycotoxins. Annu Rev Food Sci Technol 5:351–372
- Xiong J, Xiong L, Zhou H, Liu Y, Wu L (2018) Occurrence of aflatoxin B1 in dairy cow feedstuff and aflatoxin M1 in UHT and pasteurized milk in Central China. Food Control 92:386–390
- Xu J, Meng J, Quackenbush LJ (2019) Use of remote sensing to predict the optimal harvest date of corn. Field Crop Res 236:1–13
- Xue Z, Zhang Y, Yu W (2019) Recent advances in aflatoxin B1 detection based on nanotechnology and nanomaterials-a review. Anal Chim Acta 1069:1–27
- Yabe K, Chihaya N, Hatabayashi H et al (2012) Production of M-/GM-group aflatoxins catalyzed by the OrdA enzyme in aflatoxin biosynthesis. Fungal Genet Biol 49(9):744–754
- Yang B, Zhang C, Zhang X, Wang G, Li L, Geng H, Liu Y, Nie C (2020) Survey of aflatoxin B1 and heavy metal contamination in peanut and peanut soil in China during 2017–2018. Food Control 118:107372
- Zain ME (2011) Impact of mycotoxins on humans and animals. J Saudi Chem Soc 15:129-144
- Zeinvand-Lorestani H, SabzevariO., Setayesh N., Amini M., Nili-Ahmadabadi A., Faramarzi M.A. (2015) Comparative study of in vitro prooxidative properties and genotoxicity induced by aflatoxin B1 and its laccase-mediated detoxification products. Chemosphere 135:1–6
- Zhang H et al (2014) Antimicrobial metabolites from the endophytic fungus Aspergillus sp. of Eucommia ulmoides. Chem Nat Compd 50(3):526–528
- Zhang ZS, Xie QF, Che LM (2018) Effects of gamma irradiation on aflatoxin B1 levels in soybean and on the properties of soybean and soybean oil. Appl Radiat Isot 139:224–230



Microbial Degradation of Polymers

Wojciech Stawiński and Katarzyna Wal

Abstract

Polymers constitute a wide group of materials used in many industry branches. Some of them have natural origin and can be easily subjected to biodegradation, and others, the plastics, are designed to be resistant and durable; in consequence, enormous amount of plastic finds its way to the environment and generates a severe pollution problem. Among the conventional plastic waste handling methods, such as recycling, incineration, and disposal in landfills, considerable attention has been given to microorganisms consortia forming around plastic waste-the so-called plastisphere. Some of the microorganisms are able to produce enzymes, mostly hydrolases and oxidoreductases, that can depolymerize certain plastics rendering them an accessible carbon source for the growth of microorganisms. The polymer's susceptibility to the microbial action is influenced by physiochemical characteristics of the polymer, such as crystallinity, hydrophobicity, porosity, and presence of additives, as well as abiotic factors such as pH or temperature. Microbial degradation of polymers as a waste management method is promising; however, there is a plethora of challenges that need to be overcome including slow polymer decomposition rate, requirement of stable environment, different condition for decomposition of various

W. Stawiński (🖂)

Łukasiewicz Research Network – PORT Polish Center for Technology Development, Wrocław, Poland

e-mail: wojciech.stawinski@port.lukasiewicz.gov.pl

K. Wal (🖂)

Department of Process Engineering and Technology of Polymer and Carbon Materials, Wrocław University of Science and Technology, Wrocław, Poland e-mail: katarzyna.wal@port.lukasiewicz.gov.pl

19

Łukasiewicz Research Network – PORT Polish Center for Technology Development, Wrocław, Poland

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 Inamuddin et al. (eds.), *Recent Advances in Microbial Degradation*, Environmental and Microbial Biotechnology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-0518-5_2

plastics, and susceptibility of the microorganism to adverse effects of substances that might be released during the decomposition (plastic additives).

Keywords

Plastics · Polyolefins · Bacteria · Fungus · Degradation

2.1 General Introduction

Polymers are large molecules composed of repeating units. Some of them, the natural polymers, are synthesized by organisms and are essential for the proper functioning of life on Earth; other polymers, the synthetic polymers, have anthropogenic origin and do not naturally occur in the environment. Polymers belonging to this group are commonly called the plastics; they find application mainly in the packaging and building and construction industry (Geyer et al. 2017). Their role in the modern society cannot be underestimated; however, as they are designed to be durable and last for a long time, they cause a serious pollution issue worldwide. Plastic is now omnipresent and tends to accumulate in certain locations. Besides the obvious contamination of land, plastic, generally in its micro or nano form, has been found in food (Peixoto et al. 2019; Rainieri and Barranco 2019), water bodies (Piccardo et al. 2020; Wong et al. 2020; Yang et al. 2020), soil (Kumar et al. 2020; Sarker et al. 2020a), and even in the atmosphere (Chen et al. 2020; Zhang et al. 2020). Some perspective on how extensive plastic pollution is may give the fact that in 2014 geologists discovered a new type of rock and called it the plastiglomerate; it is a combination of plastic and geological sediments glued together. From a geological point of view, plastic will be a diagnostic element of the currently forming geological strata for the later generations (Abbing 2019). It is estimated that by the year 2050, 12 000 Mt of plastic waste will be stored in landfills (Gever et al. 2017). Another recently introduced term, plastisphere, refers to a film of microorganisms consortia forming around plastic waste, which, in consequence, became a new ecosystem generated by human (Abbing 2019). The organisms inhabiting plastisphere have been attracting interest of the scientific world owing to the potential of finding a solution to the plastic pollution coming right from the nature.

2.2 Conventional Way of Handling Plastic Waste

Nowadays, there are three main ways of handling plastic waste, and all of them have some advantages and drawbacks:

- Landfills: This is the main plastic waste handling method. Around 80% of the produced plastic ends up accumulated in landfills (Geyer et al. 2017); the waste is disposed of in landfills, covered with soil, and isolated by a layer of clay or plastic lining from below to reduce the exposure to atmospheric conditions and to prevent any contamination of groundwater. This method should be considered a short-term solution, as it does not eliminate the plastic but just stores it in one place; however, it is the simplest and the most economically effective method (Shen et al. 2020).
- Recycling: It is the preferred method of handling plastic waste, and approximately 10% of the produced plastic is treated that way (Geyer et al. 2017); however, not all plastics can be easily subjected to recycling. Plastics possess different properties; hence, its recycling also varies. The process requires complex logistics involving collection, sorting, and transportation of the waste; consequently, it might be difficult to keep the process economically viable. Moreover, the presence of additives such as adhesives, colorants, and other substances modifying the plastic' rheology may render the processing and reuse of the materials problematic and technically not feasible (Shen et al. 2020; Thiounn and Smith 2020). There are three types of plastic recycling based on how the material is utilized (Merrington 2017; Thiounn and Smith 2020):
 - primary recycling—direct reuse of discharged, uncontaminated plastic, generally for the same purpose as the original material.
 - secondary recycling—physical reprocessing of plastic with keeping the material's chemical identity, such material usually finds application for different purpose than the original material; plastic also gradually loses its properties after each reprocessing cycle.
 - tertiary recycling—chemical recycling during which the polymer is broken down and the products further utilized for various purposes.
- Incineration: this method based on burning the polymers allows to recover part of the energy in the form of heat released during the incineration. This process, as good as it is in reducing the plastic waste mass, generates secondary pollution. Approximately 10% of plastic waste is treated this way (Geyer et al. 2017; Thiounn and Smith 2020).

2.3 Plastic Biodegradation

The term biodegradation has evolved together with the development of science. Firstly, perceived simply as degradation of substances by microorganisms leading to mineralization of organic matter, biomass generation and carbon recycling. Nowadays, it is understood as a complex phenomenon influenced by various factors. Biodegradation occurs in several steps (Lucas et al. 2008; Rudnik 2019):

 Biodeterioration: the first step in which synergic action of microbial consortia and abiotic factors lead to disintegration of the polymer's structure into smaller fractions. It is a superficial degradation modifying the chemical, physical, and mechanical properties of the polymer. The intensity of this process can be measured by physical tests (thermal transitions, tensile changes).

- Biofragmentation (depolymerization): occurs due to the action of the enzymes and free radicals secreted by microorganisms, e.g., produced from H₂O₂ reacting with ferrous atoms in the Fenton reaction. The polymers are cleaved into oligomers, dimers, and monomers that can be further detected by chromatographic or spectroscopic methods. Enzymes catalyze one or a series of reactions leading to diverse chemical conversions, generally on the way of oxidation, hydrolysis, reduction, molecular inner conversion, or esterification (Harshvardhan and Jha 2013). The most important groups of enzymes acting in this process are:
 - oxidoreductases: mono- and dioxygenases incorporate one or two oxygen atoms to create alcohol or peroxyl functional groups; peroxidases catalyzing reactions between an electron acceptor groups (amino, carboxyl, phenol, phenyl, aliphatic unsaturation or thiol) and a peroxyl molecule; or oxidases, copper-containing metalloproteinases, involved in hydroxylation and oxidation reactions,
 - hydrolases: cellulases, cutinases, amylases or lipases, or esterases and endopeptidases attacking the bond in amide groups or carboxylic linkages. This group of enzymes works on the so-called catalytic triad mechanism involving serine, aspartate, and histidine.
- Assimilation: the final step of biodegradation, the depolymerized fragments of the polymers are integrated inside the microorganisms' cells. During this process, the ingredients are used to produce energy, maintain activity, grow the cell biomass, and for reproduction. This can happen on the way of aerobic or anaerobic respiration or fermentation. This step closes the polymer life cycle, ideally, transforming it into environment benign, nontoxic molecules. The intensity of the process can be measured by metabolites production or biomass growth (Lucas et al. 2008; Nair et al. 2017; Poznyak et al. 2019).

2.3.1 Susceptibility of Polymers to Biodegradation

There is a strong relation between several physicochemical characteristics of polymers and their susceptibility to microbial degradation. The most relevant factors include:

- *Crystallinity*: the polymer's segments must be mobile enough to be able to get into the enzyme's cavity, where the active site is located in order to be degraded. In the case of highly crystalline polymers, the mobility corresponds mostly to their melting temperatures; consequently, the more crystalline the polymer is, the higher is its melting temperature, and the degradation would begin in higher temperature range. In the case of amorphous polymers, the mobility may be estimated by the glass transition temperature (T_o) (Müller et al. 2005)

- Surface hydrophobicity: The polymer's surface hydrophobicity influences the microorganism adherence to the surface. Generally, a hydrophobic surface will be adequate for the attachment and growth of hydrophobic bacteria, the opposite being true for a hydrophilic microorganisms. Most of the microorganisms and the enzymes taking part in degradation are active in a humid environment. It is a common way to subject polymer to pretreatment increasing their hydrophilicity that results in the formation of various functional groups such as the carbonyl, carboxyl, or ester groups. Hydrophobicity also restricts penetration of water into eroded polymers surface (Park et al. 2003; Domb et al. 2011; Sangeetha Devi et al. 2015)
- Porosity: This parameter determines the access of microorganism to the polymer surface. The higher the porosity and the pores interconnectivity, the higher the surface area available for the microorganisms and more intense the bulk degradation. Porosity also affects the diffusion of the polymer degradation products from the matrix. The increase in the porosity upon the microorganisms action leads to void formation and further loss of the polymer's integrity (Bastioli et al. 2020)
- Durability: the biodegradation process is strictly connected with the action of microorganisms; however, the abiotic parameters play a significant role as they can enhance or initiate the process. The ability of a polymer to withstand a mechanical damage, the action of solar radiation, or the resistance to oxidative degradation, all influence the rate and occurrence of the biodegradation process.
- Polymer backbone: there are generally five groups of synthetic polymers based on their backbone bonds: the polyolefins with the alkaline bond, the polyesters with the ester bond, the polyamides with the amide bonds, the polyurethanes connected by the urethane bonds, and the polyethers with the ether bond. For the biodegradation to take place, the presence of an adequate microorganism able to secrete a proper enzyme is mandatory: hydrolytic enzymes for the degradation of polyesters and polyamides and oxidative enzymes for the degradation of polyolefines and polyethers (Farachi et al. 2020)
- Molecular weight: the attack of microorganisms begins generally from the ends of large molecules; the larger the molecular weight, the fewer molecules end available for the microorganisms (Bastioli and Bettarini 2020)
- Aromatic parts: polymers having an aromatic part in their structure are known to be more resistant to biodegradation; furthermore, the longer the aromatic sequence, the less readable the polymer for microbial attack (Bastioli and Bettarini 2020)
- Additives: biodegradation can be hindered by the presence of certain polymer additives, intermediate products, or impurities that may exhibit adverse effect on the microorganism (Bastioli and Bettarini 2020).

Another set of factors influencing the biodegradation is related to the environment in which the decomposition process takes place, and include:

- pH: diffusion of the polymer degradation products may be affected by the pH of the surrounding medium: the solubility of the products may vary depending on

the pH as in some pH range they can exist in unionized, less soluble forms (Domb et al. 2011). Enzymes also have an optimal pH value at which their activity is the highest; consequently, the intensity and occurrence of the biodegradation process is highly pH-dependent (Liu 2020)

- Temperature: the first aspect is related to the polymer's segment mobility; the biodegradation is favored in temperatures above the glass transition temperature (Tg) of an amorphous polymer or the melting temperature of a crystalline material (Müller et al. 2005). Nonetheless, the occurrence of purely crystalline polymers is rather rare; hence, both temperatures should be regarded considering the biodegradation process. The second aspect is related to the working speed of a polymer degrading enzyme and its stability. If the temperature is too low, the kinetic is slow, too high temperatures cause denaturation of the enzyme (Dwicania et al. 2019)
- Other abiotic factors: polymers, in outdoor conditions, can degrade being exposed to mechanical, thermal, or chemical factors or to radiation [1]. The more intense each of the factors is, the greater the changes it induces in the polymer structure; the effect is further intensified when more than one of the factors act simultaneously. The resultant changes play a significant synergic role in the biodegradation modulation of its paste; in some cases, the action of abiotic factor may be required for the biodegradation process to commence.
- Miscellaneous: other factors tuning the biodegradation process are availability of light, CO₂ or O₂, presence of contaminants, nutrients availability, and humidity (Dwicania et al. 2019; de Wilde 2020).

2.3.2 Biodegradability-Based Polymers Classification

Classification of commercially significant polymers based on their biodegradability (Jiang and Zhang 2017; Bastioli and Bettarini 2020; Thiounn and Smith 2020):

A. Biodegradable:

- naturally occurring in nature, obtained directly from nature:
 - polysaccharides: starch, cellulose
 - polyamides: soy protein, wool, silk
 - poly(hydroxyalkanoates) (PHAs): poly(hydroxybutyrate) (PHB), poly (hydroxybutyrate-co-hydroxyvalerate) (PHBV)
- synthetic, obtained from renewable sources:
 - poly(lactic acid) (PLA)
 - poly(glycolic acid) (PGA)
 - modified triglyceride-based polymers: derived from plant oil
- synthetic, derived from nonrenewable sources (petroleum):
 - poly(ε-caprolactone) (PCL)
 - poly(butylene succinate) (PBS)
 - poly(butylene succinate adipate) (PBSA)
 - poly(butylene adipate-co-terephthalate) (PBAT)

- poly(ethylene succinate) (PES)
- Poly(vinyl alcohol) (PVA)
- B. *Degradable polymers*: based on conventional polymer matrixes, such as polyolefines, filled with a biodegradable material, transition metal salts, or metal oxides. The fillers disintegrate the matrix or photocatalyze its degradation. The final degradation product is the fragmented polymer matrix.
- C. Non-biodegradable polymers:
 - low-density polyethylene (LDPE)
 - high-density polyethylene (HDPE)
 - polypropylene (PP)
 - polystyrene (PS)
 - polyvinyl chloride (PVC)
 - poly(ethylene terephthalate) (PET)
 - polyurethane (PUR)

The C-group polymers, the so-called plastics, are commonly used in everyday life applications. Generally considered nonbiodegradable, designed to be durable, resistant, and to last for long time periods, they are also the ones rising worldwide concern regarding plastic pollution. The chapter describes findings in the field of microbial degradation of plastics of the main industrial importance.

2.3.3 Polyethylene

Polyethylene (PE) is the most produced and consumed polymer in the group of synthetic polymers and polyolefins (Danso et al. 2019). It usually occurs in one of the two types, branched low-density polyethylene (LDPE) and high-density poly-ethylene (HDPE) with linear structure (Gopanna et al. 2019). PE application includes among others the production of rigid containers, packaging films, pipes, drums, and bottles (Patel 2016).

Volke-Seplveda et al. (2002) incubated Aspergillus niger and Penicilium pinophilum with thermo-oxidized (15 days at 80 °C) LDPE at 30 °C for 31 months in the presence or absence of ethanol. For both strains, greater structural and morphological changes occurred in the presence of ethanol, which promoted the production of LDPE-oxidating enzymes. This kind of phenomenon is called the cometabolic process. However, based on the DSC, FTIR, and XRD analyses, *Penicilium pinophilum* exhibited higher material biodegradation efficiency than Aspergillus niger. The difference was attributed to the production of extracellular enzymes characterized by certain level of unspecificity by *Penicilium pinophilum*, which were more suitable for LDPE biodegradation. Bonhomme et al. (2003) tested *Cladosporium cladosporoides* fungus for PE films biodegradation containing TDPA pro-oxidatives. Incubation was carried out at 27 °C for 6 months. The results showed microbial growth on the polymer surface; surface pitting and its erosion were noticed after removal of microorganisms. Manzur et al. (2004) investigated biodegradation

of LDPE after treatment in the aging chamber under UV irradiation at 70 °C or thermal treatment at 105 and 150 °C for 120 h. The polymer samples were incubated with a consortium of fungi, Aspergillus niger, Gliocladium virens, Penicillium pinophilum, and Phanerochaete chrysosporium, for 9 months at 29 °C. The results indicated that LDPE biodegradation was a two-stage process, first involving the microorganisms attack on the LDPE amorphous phase resulting in the polymer crystallinity decrease and then the attack on polymer crystals. Biotreatment of the polymer caused the formation of cavities on its surface and hyphae penetration into the material; however, the aging treatment resulted in more intense hyphae penetrations. Zahra et al. (2010) reported the ability of fungal strains Aspergillus fumigatus and Aspergillus terreus isolated from landfill to degrade previously photooxidated LDPE samples: the incubation was carried out during 100 days at 28 °C. Changes in the polymer's surface due to pitting corrosion and erosion were noticed for the Aspergillus species: tests with other fungus Fusarium solani did not cause significant LDPE surface degradation. Pramila (2011) conducted extended research on LDPE samples using fungi isolated from landfills and Pramila and Ramesh (2011) from marine water. The research confirmed LDPE biodegradation ability of fungi Aspergillus flavus, Mucor cicinelloides, and Aspergillus versicolor. Sowmya et al. (2012) tested a fungus from the *Chaetomium* genus and *Aspergillus* flavus isolated from a landfill for biodegradation of PE disks subjected to UV-irradiation and incubation with nitric acid for 6 days at 80 °C. The applied pretreatment led to more efficient biodegradation compared to the untreated samples; Chaetomium spp. caused 40% and Aspergillus flavus 20% mass reduction of the treated polymer after 6 months incubation. Esmaeili et al. (2014) evaluated degradation of photooxidized LDPE in the presence of fungus Aspergillus niger isolated from a landfill. The samples were subjected to photooxidation for 25 days and incubation with the microorganism for 56 days; the polymer's surface was colonized by the fungus and its surface underwent modifications. Das and Kumar (2014) reported successful biodegradation of LDPE using four Aspergillus spp. and one Fusarium spp. strains; the microorganisms colonized the LDPE surface and used it as carbon source which resulted in the surface modification and the polymer mass loss. Two Bacillus amyloliquefaciens isolates obtained from soil were tested for biodegradation of LDPE boiled in xylene and washed in ethanol. The bacteria exhibited good growth and adherence to the polymer surface; after 60 days of incubation at 33 °C, several chemical changes in the LDPE surface were observed together with the presence of biodegradation products in the extracellular medium (Das and Kumar 2015). Another three strains from the Bacillus genus were tested for biodegradation of LDPE pretreated with bleach for 3 h; after 60 days of incubation, high bacterial content on the polymer surface, formation of new functional groups in the polymer structure, and the initial mass reduction on the level of 1.5% were observed (Kumar Gupta and Devi 2019). Bacillus amyloliquefaciens strain obtained from plastic waste was able to attack raw and y-irradiation/thermally pretreated LDPE films. Upon 60 days of incubation at 28 °C, initial mass reduction of $3.2 \pm 1.3\%$ was observed. Additionally, a decrease in the FTIR spectra region corresponding to the carbonyl band and flattening in the range of

1300–1100 cm^{-1} was recorded. The pretreatment of the LDPE resulted in the formation of low-molecular-weight oligomers in the structure; the oligomers were further metabolized by the bacteria forming 3-hydroxybutyrate detected in the medium (Novotny et al. 2018). Two species of bacteria from the Enterobacter genus and one from the Pantoea were isolated from soil samples collected near plastic processing plants. The bacteria were mixed in a consortium and tested for LDPE biodegradation and incubated for 120 days at 30 °C. Such consortium was able to degrade up to $81 \pm 4\%$ of the polymer strips and $38 \pm 3\%$ of LDPE pellets mass; it was almost two times more than that of a consortium of Pseudomonas putida, Pseudomonas stutzeri, and Bacillus subtilis obtained from the Microbial Culture Collection Centre known for their polyethylene-degrading properties (Skariyachan et al. 2016). Sowmya et al. (2015) reported biodegradation of PE by Penicilium simplicissimum. The polymer samples were pretreated with UV-irradiation, surface autoclaving, or sterilization. The results showed weight loss of the material at the level of 38%, 7.7%, and 16%, respectively. The fungal degradation ability was also confirmed by FTIR analyses which showed presence of compounds such as alcohols, aldehydes, and carboxylic acids. The degradation was attributed to the action of enzymes laccase and manganese peroxidase. Sangeetha Devi et al. (2015) found a mixture of marine fungi strains Aspergillus tubingensis and Aspergillus flavus, secreting extracellular enzymes suitable for HDPE biodegradation after formation of a biofilm on the polymer's surface. Gajendiran et al. (2016) performed PE biodegradability tests in the presence of Aspergillus clavatus. The incubation was carried out for 90 days and led to 35% reduction in the polymer initial mass. Moreover, AFM and SEM analyses indicated surface erosion, fractures, and grooves and fungal colonization of the polymer surface. Munir et al. (2017) tested fungi Trichoderma viride and Aspergillus nomius for degradation of PE. After 45 days of incubation the films' tensile strength was reduced, groves of the surface formed, and the weight loss of 5.13% and 6.63% was noticed for the Trichoderma spp. and Aspergillus spp., respectively. Cyanobacteria Phormidium lucidum and Oscillatoria subbrevis isolated from PE plastic bags submerged in sewage were capable of degrading non-pretreated LDPE films reducing their initial weight by 30% in 42 days (Sarmah and Rout 2018). In a study of LDPE biodegradation employing Aspergillus nomius and Streptomyces spp., the microorganisms were able to degrade 4.9% and 5.2% of the initial polymer mass after 45 days of incubation at 30°C. The Streptomyces produced eight different biodegradation products and almost twice the amount of CO₂ than the Aspergillus which degraded the LDPE to six products identified by GC-MS; carbonyl, ester, and vinyl groups were formed in the polymer due to the action of microorganisms (Montazer et al. 2019). Alcanivorax borkumensis is another example of a bacterium able to degrade LDPE. In the study of Delacuvellerie et al. (2019), it was able to degrade $3.5 \pm 0.3\%$ of the polymer mass in 80 days of incubation at 30 °C; moreover, the biofilm growth on LDPE was approximately two times faster than on PET or PS. Eleven bacterial strains were isolated from landfill soil rich in plastic waste; 8 bacterial genera were identified in the isolates, and included Pseudomonas, Citrobacter, Micrococcus, Stentrophomonas, Delftia, Ochrobacterum, Acinetobacter, and Sphingobacterium.

The bacteria were inoculated with LDPE pretreated with UV radiation. The most active strain was the Acinetobacter pitti that was able to degrade $27 \pm 3\%$ of the polymer mass in 4 weeks at 30 °C. This bacterium had not been known before to degrade PE; the most active strain in terms of biofilm production was the Sphingobacterium moltivourum (Montazer et al. 2018). Sáenz et al. (2019) reported PE biodegradation by Aspergillus niger and Aspergillus terreus after 77 days of incubation. The process began at PE surface by the action of a lactase. The strains exhibited degradation ability toward not only LDPE but also HDPE. Biodegradation of that polymer was also evaluated using bacterium Microbulbifer hydrolyticus IRE-31 isolated from waste generated by a marine pulp mill. LDPE spheres of 2 mm radius were cultivated for 30 days at 37 °C in the presence of the bacteria; after that time there were evidences of morphological changes in the polymer surface (appearance of cracks) and formation of carbonyl functional groups (hydroxyl and carbonyl) on the surface as a result of the microbial action (Li et al. 2020). Montazer et al. (2019) evaluated the ability to degrade powdered LDPE of four bacteria strains isolated from a landfill soil in Iran, including Acinetobacter pittii IRN19, Delftia tsuruhatensis IRN27, Pseudomonas putida IRN22, Micrococcus luteus IRN20, and of four bacteria known to produce biopolymers polyhydroxyalkanoates (PHA) such as Pseudomonas chlororaphis PA23, Cupriavidus necator H16, Pseudomonas monteilii MO2, Pseudomonas putida LS46. After 21 days of incubation at 30°C the mass loss of the polymer ranged from 19% in the case of Micrococcus luteus IRN20 to 34% for Cupriavidus necator H16. Most importantly, it was proven that conversion of LDPE straight to polyhydroxyalkanoate polymers is feasible; shortchain-length PHA was produced by the Cupriavidus necator H16 and mediumchain-length PHA by the Acinetobacter pittii IRN19 and Pseudomonas putida LS46. Enterobacter cloacae AKS7 was also recently reported to be able to degrade LDPE. The bacterium was incubated at 30 °C for 45 days with LDPE films. After that time 9% mass loss of the plastic was recorded; additionally, the hydrophobicity, hence ability to interact with the polymer surface, of the bacterium was reduced subjecting it to UV radiation (Sarker et al. 2020b). A study focused on application of a bacterium Pseudomonas aeruginosa ISJ14 strain isolated from a landfill revealed that this microorganism was able to degrade LDPE films. After 60 days of cultivation at 37 °C, 8.7% of the polymer initial mass was degraded, numerous fissures in the polymer's structure appeared along with new functional groups, and increased adhesion of the bacteria to the LDPE surface (Gupta and Devi 2020).

2.3.4 Polypropylene

Polypropylene (PP) is a thermoplastic polyolefin and the second most produced synthetic polymer in 2016 (Danso et al. 2019; Fesseha and Abebe 2019). The material possesses outstanding properties such as toughness, strength, processing ease, and high melt temperature which favor its use in many areas including labels, personal hygiene, consumable and medical packaging, and construction films (Calhoun 2016).
Representatives of the *Aspergillus* genus, *Aspergillus niger*, and *Aspergillus flavus* are known from their polypropylene biodegrading action. Pandey and Singh (2001) conducted research of photo-oxidized isotactic polypropylene inoculated with *Aspergillus niger* strains at 28–30 °C. After 6 weeks of incubation, fungal growth was observed on the samples and was strongly correlated with the material pretreatment time—the longer the plastic was exposed to the radiation, the greater was the surface colonized by the fungus. A bacterial species from the *Bacillus* genus, *Bacillus gottheilii*, isolated from a mangrove, after 40 days incubation, exhibited ability to biodegrade 3.6% of the mass of PP samples (Auta et al. 2017). Santacoloma-Londoño et al. (2019) evaluated polypropylene biodegradation in the presence of *Aspergillus flavus*. The strain was incubated in two types of agar, yeast extract glucose chloramphenicol and the Sabouraud Dextrose Agar, for 100 days. The obtained results showed 13.7% and 0.0% reduction of initial mass of the polymer, respectively.

2.3.5 Polystyrene

Polystyrene (PS) has linear structure and exhibits outstanding scratch resistance, stiffness, and good transparency; this makes it a widely used polymer applied in the packaging and building industry; it is also used for production of disposable medical ware (Gausepohl and Nießner 2001).

Krueger et al. (2015) conducted extended polystyrene sulfonate biodegradability tests using Gloeophyllum trabeum DSM 1398 and DSM 3087, Gloeophyllum striatum DSM 9592 and DSM 10335, Stropharia rugosoannulata DSM 11372, Trametes versicolor DSM 11269, and Trametes hirsute. Among all evaluated fungal strains, the *Gloeophyllum* species, described as brown rot-fungi, was found to be suitable for PSS depolymerization. Polystyrene biodegradation was tested by Sekhar et al. (2016). Bacterial strains isolated from a plastic waste were identified as Brevundimonas diminuta, Citrobacter sedlakii, Enterobacter spp., and Alcaligenes spp. Upon 30 days of incubation, the *Enterobacter* spp. were able to degrade up to 12% of the plastic mass. Auta et al. (2017) evaluated PS-degrading ability of two species of the *Bacillus* genus, *Bacillus gottheilii*, and *Bacillus cereus*, isolated from a mangrove sites. After 40 days of incubation, a mass loss of the samples on the level of 5.8 and 7.4% was observed for the *B. gottheilii and B. cereus*, respectively. The same author, later, investigated other mangrove isolates, identifying in one Bacillus cereus and Bacillus thuringiensis and Rhodococcus ruber in the other. In similar incubation condition, the *Bacillus* sp. was able to biodegrade 4% of the mass of PP microplastic, while mass reduction of 6.4% was recorded in the case of the other isolate (Auta et al. 2018). Santacoloma-Londoño et al. (2019) incubated polystyrene pieces for 100 days with Aspergillus flavus in the Sabouraud Dextrose Agar, which resulted in 0.92% reduction of the polymer initial mass. Additionally, some of the polystyrene derivatives, such as polystyrene sulfonate, were be degraded in the medium. Tourova et al. (2020) analyzed biofilms formed on polystyrene collected from seawater and industrial wastewater. In the first case, bacteria from the genera

Mycobacterium, Erythrobacter, and *Maribacter*, and in the second case, belonging to the *Mycobacterium, Arenimonas, Pseudomonas*, and *Acidovorax* genera, exhibited polystyrene-degrading potential. A species from the *Pseudomonas* bacteria was isolated from a gut of worm (*Zophobas morio*), known to be able to digest polystyrene; the bacteria was incubated with PS for 60 days at 25 °C. After that the PS surface became hydrophilic, and new carbonyl groups were formed in the structure. The degradation began from oxidation of the C-H benzylic bonds to alcohols and then to carbonyls (Kim et al. 2019). A polystyrene-degrading bacterium was isolated from the gut of another a plastic-consuming larvae *Tribolium castaneum* by Wang et al. (2020); the bacterium was identified as *Acinetobacter* spp. After incubation for 60 days, a mass reduction of 12.14% was noticed for the pure polystyrene samples.

2.3.6 Polyvinyl Chloride

Polyvinyl chloride (PVC) is a relatively cheap, widely used thermoplastic polymer with high chemical resistance. It is widely used as a substrate in production of packaging and building materials, furnitures, and toys (Ali et al. 2014; Begum et al. 2019).

De Campos et al. (2003) investigated the impact of blending PVC with polycaprolactone (PCL), a biodegradable polymer, on the final product's biodegradation. The materials were mixed in 1:1 proportion and incubated with Phanerochaete chrysosporium/Aspergillus fumigatus strains at 27 °C. After 4 months of the biotreatment, the UV-spectra indicated structural changes in the blends manifested by increased amount of carbonyl groups compared to the reference, untreated samples. Achromobacter spp. and Pseudomonas aeruginosa were able to biodegrade in 180 days around 35% of the mass of PVC that was plasticized by vegetable oil; no bacterial growth was observed on the unmodified polymer though (Das et al. 2012). Latorre et al. (2012) conducted a study on PVC biodegradation using bacteria able to use as a carbon source a common PVC-plasticizer the di-(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate (DEHP). The studied objects were pieces of shower curtains, and the bacteria were Chryseomicrobium imtechense, Lysinibacillus fusiformis, Acinetobacter calcoaceticus, and Stenotrophomonas pavanii. The bacteria were able to lower the DEHP concentration in the samples in 6 weeks what was determined by thermogravimetric methods. Ali et al. (2014) evaluated the ability of fungal isolates of Phanerochaete chrysosporium PV1, Lentinus tigrinus PV2, Aspergillus niger PV3, and Aspergillus sydowii PV4 to degrade PVC thin films. After the experiments conducted at 30 °C, surface deterioration and color changes in the materials were observed on SEM images. Moreover, FTIR, NMR, and GPC analyses showed structural changes in the polymer, therefore proving the strains' ability to PVC biodegradation. Vivi et al. (2019) treated PVC with Aspergillus brasiliensis ATCC 9642, Chaetomium globosum ATCC 16021, Penicillium funiculosum ATCC 11797, Paecilomyces variotii ATCC 16023, and Trichoderma virens ATCC 9645 during 28 days at 28 °C. The samples exhibited superficial erosion with wrinkles and the occurrence of *Chaeotomium globosum* fertile structures such as perithecia and hyphae. Furthermore, adhesion of C. globosum on the material was observed, which indicated first step of PVC biodegradation. Biodegradation of this plastic was also studied by Kumari et al. (2019) who used for that purpose a marine bacteria consortium formed of the *Bacillus* genus species such as *B. paralicheniformis*, B. licheniformis and B. gycinifermentans, B.sonorensis, and B. aerius. After 90 days of incubation, the ability to destabilize plastic was confirmed by FTIR analyses of the materials, the appearance of degradation marks on the surface, CO_2 production, and the samples' initial mass loss on the level of 0.32%. *Pseudomonas* citronellolis were the bacteria able to form a biofilm of PVC samples in the study of Giacomucci et al. (2019). After 45 days of incubation, fragmentation of the polymer films was observed; moreover, initial weight loss reached approximately 20% and the average molecular weight decreased by 10%. Denaro et al. (2020) tested PVC films biodegradation by anaerobic marine bacteria consortia composed of species belonging to the genera Acetobacterium, Dethiosulfovibrio, Erysipelothrix, Desulfovibrio, Fusibacter, Psychromonas, Cupriavidus, Cohaesibacter, Pleomorphochaeta, and Sporobacter. After 7 months of incubation at 20 °C, three out of sixteen isolates developed a biofilm on the PVC surface; after another 24 months, the biofilm was observed in additional three isolates. Degradation of the polymer was confirmed by GPS analysis showing evidence of lowering of the average polymer molecular weight and by thermogravimetric studies that revealed decreased thermal stability of the biotreated PVC.

2.3.7 Polyurethane

Polyurethane (PUR) is a material widely used for the production of coatings, adhesives, furniture, fibers, elastomers, paints, synthetic skins, and constructional materials (Mathur and Prasad 2012).

Gautam et al. (2007) reported polyester-polyurethane degradation by a lipase produced by *Candida rugosa* fungus. Shah et al. (2008) conducted research on polyurethane degradation ability of several bacterial strains isolated from PU films after burial in soil for 6 months. The PU was the sole carbon source for the microbes; hydrolysis zones were visible in plate assays around the bacterial colonies; secretion of an esterase was detected in samples containing PU. The identified bacteria were classified into the Corynebacterium, Micrococcus, Bacillus, Arthrobacter, and Pseudomonas genera. Nakkabi et al. (2015) tested PU degradation by a strain Bacillus subtilis isolated from rotten cedarwood. After 7 days of incubation at 37 °C, the peak in the FTIR spectrum associated with the ester bond completely disappeared, confirming the polymer degradation. Acinetobacter gerneri P7 isolated from decomposed foam was proved to be able to bind by forming complexes and degrade polyurethane in the study of Howard et al. (2012). Loredo-Treviño et al. (2011) conducted extended research concerning polyurethane biodegradation; 22 fungal strains belonging to the genera of Trichoderma, Aspergillus, Penicillium, Paecelomyces, Fusarium, and Alternaria were able to effectively degrade PU after

incubation in sand samples. Furthermore, enzymatic characterization of the PU biodegrading strains showed that most of them exhibited urease activity (95.45%); other enzymes such as protease, esterase, or laccase exhibited activity at the level of 86%, 50%, and 36%, respectively. Among all the tested fungi, the Trichoderma strains exhibited the fastest growth. Mathur and Prasad (2012) incubated PU with Aspergillus flavus for 30 days, which resulted in 60.6% mass loss of the material; the degradation occurred due to the ester bonds rupture. Shah et al. (2013b) isolated a species of Bacillus from soil samples collected near dumping area in Pakistan. The Bacillus subtilis MZA-75 after incubation with PU samples for 4 weeks at 30 °C caused numerous changes in the PU structure: cracks and fissures on the surface, hydrolysis of the ester bond reflected in disappearance of the carbonyl and C-O stretching bonds, and lowering of the polymer average molecular weight. Additionally, adipic acid and 1,4-butanediol, the PU degradation products, were detected in the matrix confirming the biodegradation action of the microbe. The same author reported PU degradation ability for Pseudomonas aeruginosa MZA-85 strain (Shah et al. 2013a) and by a consortium of that bacteria and Bacillus subtilis MZA-75 (Shah et al. 2016). Ibrahim et al. (2011) tested 35 fungal strains for PU degradation. The selected species were incubated with the polymer using the liquid shaking culture, the Petri dish, and clear zone test techniques; 6 strains exhibited PU degradation ability including Aspergillus fumigatus, Aspergillus terreus, Aspergillus flavus, Fusarium solani, Alternaria solani, and Spicaria spp. The highest activity was obtained for Fusarium solani with 100% polymer degradation in the shaking liquid method, while in the case of the Petri dish technique, the most active strain was Aspergillus flavus with 94% mass reduction of the PU samples. Susceptibility to biodegradation by bacterium Alicycliphilus spp. BQ8 of several commercially available polyester polyurethanes was evaluated by Pérez-Lara et al. (2016) for 15 days incubation at 37 °C. Among all the tested polyurethanes, phthalic anhydride-PU foam was the most altered by the microbes; the analyses revealed that the bacteria attacked the ester and urethane bonds by secreting amidases and esterases. Khan et al. (2017) investigated polyurethane beads' fungal degradation after burial in soil. The results showed that Aspergillus tubingensis was the microorganism responsible for the PU degradation, which involved three steps: the first one included spore adhesion to the material surface, the second one concerned hyphal growth on the surface, and the third one was enzymes secretion. The fungal strain caused surface erosion, cracks, and pore formation and decrease in tensile strength. Pseudomonas aeruginosa was found to biodegrade a novel aliphatic hyperbranched polyurethanes from modified castor oil and sunflower oil; the tests were carried out during 12 weeks cultivation at 37 °C. The presence of numerous hydrolyzable ester linkages in the hyperbranched structure affiliated the growth of the bacteria (Bayan and Karak 2017). Osman et al. (2018) confirmed Aspergillus fumigatus effective biodegradation of methylene diphenyl diisocyanate polyester PU pellets. During the degradation process, holes, cracks, and pits formation on the material's surface was observed. Increase in the material's melting temperature was noticed from 191 to 196°C due to morphological changes. Biodegradation of polyurethane foams formed using algae-based polyols was studied by Gunawan et al. (2020). The foams were kept in a compost or buried in soil for 12 weeks; after that time prominent changes in their structure, the result of microbial action, were found. Bacterial genera identified on the polymers included Achromobacter, Brucella, Pseudomonas, Stenotrophomonas, Rhizobium, Chryseobacterium, Herbaspirillum, Ochrobactrum, Rhodococcus, and Stenotrophomonas.

2.3.8 Polyethylene Terephthalate

Polyethylene terephthalate (PET) is a polyester commonly used as fibers, films, and packaging material (Ronkvist et al. 2009). PET is usually described as nonbiodegradable, but there are also known cases of its degradation by hydrolytic enzymes produced by microorganisms (Taniguchi et al. 2019; Kawai et al. 2019), cutinases (Ronkvist et al. 2009; Nimchua et al. 2008), lipases (Carniel et al. 2017), and esterases (Liebminger et al. 2007).

PET depolimerization experiments were conducted using an enzyme produced by an anaerobic bacterium Thermobifida fusca on PET circular film of 12 mm in diameter. The degradation rate was within the range of $8-17\mu m$ per week at 55 °C. The *Thermobifida fusca* degradation efficiency was improved by the addition of Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺ to the matrix. This operation increased the enzymes' stability at elevated temperatures (Müller et al. 2005). Nimchua et al. (2007) evaluated the ability to degrade PET of fungi Fusarium oxysporium LCH1 and Fusarium solani f. sp. pisi. DSM 62420. The tests of the enzyme activity were conducted during 168 h at 30 °C to monitor the release of terephthalic acid from the PET fibers. The Fusarium oxysporium LCH1 enzyme exhibited nearly two-fold higher activity toward PET fabrics compared to the *Fusarium solani* enzyme; additionally, the hydrophilicity of the PET samples increased after the incubation compared to the untreated polymer. The same author tested 115 fungal isolates for the ability to degrade PET; 22 of them were able to produce PET-modifying cutinase. Fusarium solani PBURU-B5 showed highest esterase activity toward the polymer, almost six times higher than the other investigated fungus after 21 days of incubation. The treatment of the polymer with fungal enzymes resulted in ester bond hydrolysis, moisture, and water adsorption increase and enhancement of the polymers hydrophilicity (Nimchua et al. 2008). The degradation activity of an enzyme cutinase obtained from fungi Humicola insolens and Fusarium solani, and a bacterium *Pseudomonas mendocina*, was tested on $15 \times 15 \times 0.250$ mm PET films. The enzyme's ability to degrade the polymer decreased with increasing PET's crystallinity; the enzyme from the *Pseudomons* had the highest and from *Fusarium* the lowest affinity. The initial hydrolysis rate of the *Humicola* was 7 times higher than that of the two other organisms owing to the fungus' ability to remain active at the temperature close to the polymer's Tg temperature. After 96 h incubation at 70 $^{\circ}$ C, this microorganism biodegraded 97 \pm 3% of the film. At the same time, *Pseudomo*nas at 50 °C and Fusarium at 40°C degraded only 5% of the polymer mass. All the organisms decomposed PET to terephthalic acid and ethylene glycol (Ronkvist et al. 2009). Fungi from the *Penicillium* genus are quite commonly used for PET

hydrolysis. Liebminger et al. (2007) conducted experiments of PET model substratebis (benzoyloxyethyl) terephthalate (3PET) and PET pellets using Penicillium *citrinum* polyesterase. Degradation of both materials led to the release terephthalic acid, mono-(2-hydroxyethyl)terephthalate, and bis-(2-hydroxyethyl)terephthalate after 7 days incubation. Nowak et al. (2011) compared biodegradation of raw and PET modified with polyester Bionolle by Penicillium funiculosum in 84 days incubation at 30 °C. The modification with the polyester did not significantly increase the weight loss of the materials; the fungus action was manifested more in chemical modification of the PET as the FTIR and XPS analysis revealed decreed amount of aromatic rings from terephthalic acid in the samples. The degradation occurred due to the action of hydrolytic and oxidative enzymes. Sepperumal et al. (2013) treated PET flakes and powder with *Penicillium* spp., which resulted in chemical changes in both materials. Additionally, it was found out that the fungal strains used the powdered polymer as a carbon source. A cutinase obtained by cloning a gene from Saccharomonospora viridis AHK190 and expressing it in Escherichia coli Rosetta-gami B (DE3) exhibited a supreme stability in the presence Ca²⁺; the ions enhanced the enzyme's thermal stability rendering it active in temperature up to 65 °C for 24 h. The PET films upon contact with the enzyme first lost their hydrophobic character and with time degraded up to 27% of their initial mass (20-25 mg) during 3 days. There was a significant difference between incubation at 50 °C, where the degradation was neglectable, 60 °C at which it was low, and at 63 °C with the highest intensity (Kawai et al. 2014). An amount of 250 PET environment samples from sediment, wastewater, soil, and activated sludge from PET recycling facility were screened for PET-degrading microorganisms by Yoshida et al. (2016). In one sample, a consortium of bacteria, yeast-like cells, and protozoa was able to degrade PET at a rate of 0.13 mg cm² day⁻¹ at 30 °C. Using limiting dilution, a bacterium from the genus Ideonella was isolated and named Ideanella sakaiensis 201-F6. The bacterium produced enzymes capable of degrading PET and mono(2-hydroxyethyl)terephthalic acid, the reaction intermediate. PET was converted into ethylene glycol and terephthalic acid. Carniel et al. (2017) tested combination of Humicola isolens cutinase and Candida antarctica (CALB) lipase B for PET hydrolysis. The enzymes were mixed at two proportions of 1:1 and 9:1 and incubated with PET for 14 days. A strong synergic effect of the enzymes action was observed; the terephthalic acid release was equal to 1606 and 2247µM, respectively, almost 8 times higher than in the case of the cutinase alone. Other bacteria colonies were isolated from soil polluted with petroleum products near Huston in Texas. The selection was made based on the bacteria's ability to produce lipases. Among 192 colonies, five were able to degrade PET: three bacteria species from the Psueudomonas (B10, SWI36, and SWI36), and two from the Bacillus genus (Bacillus thuringiensis C15, and Bacillus albus PFYN01). The PET-degrading experiments were carried out for 6 weeks at 30 °C, in configurations containing single bacteria specs isolates, and consortia. The polymers were degraded to the greatest extent in the consortium containing all the five strains where 3.15% of the PET was biodegraded (Leon-Zayas et al. 2019). Biodegradation studies of PET films obtained from plastic waste from Bakkhali Bay in India showed that bacteria from the *Vibria* spp. and a fungus from the *Aspergillus* spp. were able to degrade the polymer. The bacteria were more efficient, and upon 6 weeks 35% polymer weight reduction was observed; for the fungus, the mass loss was on the level of 22% (Sarkhel et al. 2020).

2.3.9 Other Polymers

2.3.9.1 Polyvinyl Alcohol

Polyvinyl alcohol (PVA) is water-soluble polymer widely used in the paper and textile industries as adhesive (Jecu et al. 2010). PVA solutions biodegradation in the presence of white rot fungi *Phanerochaete chrysosporium* was investigated by Huang et al. (2002). Two material samples with polymerization degree of 550–650 (BP05) and 1700–1800 (BF17) were oxidized with the Fenton reagent before the tests and inoculated with the fungal strain at 37 °C for 7 days. The results indicated PVA degradation on the level of 74.4% and 72.8% for the PB05 and PB17, respectively, using chemical oxygen demand; total organic carbon analysis showed the degradation of 63.7% and 57.7%. It was concluded that PVA biodegradation occurred due to the action of manganese peroxidase. Jecu et al. (2010) evaluated the ability of 11 microorganisms to degrade PVA-based materials containing different amounts of PVA, starch, and glycerol. Trichoderma sp. 57 and 83, Aspergillus oryzae 100, 107, Penicillium sp. 41, Monillia sp. 90 and 21, Aspergillus flavus 111, Aspergillus niger 38, 105 and Aureobasidium pullulans 102 were selected as model fungal strains. After 7 days of incubation, action of two strains, the Aspergillus niger 105 and Aspergillus oryzae 107 resulted in the most advanced fungal growth on one of composition comprised of 50% PVA, 15% starch, and 35% glycerol. In the case of the material treated with Aspergillus niger, rapid growth was monitored after 4 days. The SEM analysis of the sample showed the holes formation on the surface followed by erosion after 10 days of incubation, indicating the biodegradation process.

2.3.9.2 Polycaprolactone

Polycaprolactone (PCL) is a polyester obtained by ring-opening polymerization of (ϵ -caprolactone) (Tokiwa et al. 2009). Fungal biodegradation of PCL occurred in the presence of several microorganisms belonging to the genus *Aspergillus, Penicillium, Fusarium, Parengyodontium, Trichoderma,* and *Chaetomium*. Sanchez et al. (2000) investigated the process using *Aspergillus fumigatus* during 7 days of incubation at 30 °C and 50 °C on Two types of PLA films were tested: blown and heat-pressed PCL. After 5 days of the isolation, fungal strains degraded approximately 90% mass of samples. Li et al. (2012) evaluated PCL biodegradability in the form of emulsified polymer and heat-pressed films. Among all evaluated fungal strains, the most promising results were achieved for *Penicillium oxalicum* DSYD05. The analysis showed that the fungus released PCL-degrading exoenzyme acting by chain-end scission. The degradation occurred in three steps: slow weight loss, rapid degradation, and renewed slow weight loss. Primarily, the biodegradation process occurred

in PCL amorphous phase, followed by the formation of crystalline spherulites. Znajewska et al. (2018) confirmed PCL films degradation ability of Trichoderma *viride*. The microbiological tests were carried out in laboratory conditions for 6 days and in soil for 6 months. Antipova et al. (2018) conducted extended research concerning polycaprolactone biodegradation. PCL powder was incubated with fungal strains belonging to the genera Penicillium, Aspergillus, and Fusarium at 25 °C for 30 days. All the tested fungi exhibited degradation ability toward PCL; however, Fusarium solani VKM F-4202 caused the highest polymer mass reduction on the level of 90%, while Fusarium solani VKM F-2316, Penicillium chrysogenum VKM, and Fusarium verticillioides VKM F-1980 degraded $24 \pm 4\%$, $34 \pm 3\%$ and $40 \pm 5\%$, respectively. PCL film incubation for 45 days with Aspergillus calidoustus VKM F-2909 and *Penicillium chrysogenum* VKM F-227 resulted in elasticity decrease, film edge deformation, presence of yellowish plaque, and dark-colored mycelium formation. Complete film decomposition occurred after 6 months of the experiment. Vivi et al. (2019) treated PCL films with Chaetomium globosum for 28 days at 28 °C. The incubation with the fungal strain resulted in the polymer surface erosion and spherulitic degradation. Furthermore, a significant mass reduction of PCL films on the level of 75% was noticed after the biotreatment.

2.3.9.3 Polylactide

Polylactide (PLA) also known as poly(lactic acid) is obtained in the process of lactide ring-opening polymerization or in lactic acid condensation. Poly(D-lactide) (D-PLA), poly(L-lactide) (L-PLA) and poly(DL-lactide) (DL-PLA) are polylactide stereoisomers. PLA is a thermoplastic material with biocompatible and biodegradable properties (Tokiwa et al. 2009).

Jarerat and Tokiwa (2001) evaluated *Tritirachium album* strain for poly(L-lactide) film biodegradation. Degradation was achieved only for polymer films incubated with malt and protease production medium containing commercial Proteinase K in the presence of 0.1% gelatin, which acted as biodegradation inducer. The compound addition resulted in 76% PLA degradation after 14 days of incubation at 30 $^{\circ}$ C in the case of isolation in the malt medium, while for the protease production medium only 7% film degradation was accomplished. It was concluded that enzyme released by Tritirachium album in malt medium was probably a protease. Khan et al. (2012) reported PLA biodegradation by Trichoderma viride, Aspergillus niger, Aspergillus orhyzae, Rhyzopus oligosporus, and Rhyzopus orhyzae. The process was monitored by biomass and pH changes. In the case of DL-lactic acid tests, the most effecting fungal strain was the Trichoderma viride, while for polylactic acid-oligomers it was the Aspergillus niger after 7 days of incubation at 30 °C. Antipova et al. (2018) incubated PLA with Penicillium aurantiogriseum, Penicillium chrysogenum, Aspergillus calidoustus, and Parengyodontium album for 30 days. The results showed that the Aspergillus calidoustus and Parengyodontium album degraded approximately 30% of the polymer mass, while P. aurantiogriseum and chrysogenum 9% and 5%, respectively. Ding et al. (2018) evaluated PLA/jute composites biodegradation in the presence of fungal mixture including Gliocladium virens, Aspergillus niger, Aureobasidium pullulans, Chaetomium globosum, and Penicillium pinophilum.

The composites were prepared on the way of extrusion and injection and consisted of 10 wt.% of jute fibers. During the biodegradation process, the PLA surface was degraded progressively which led to a gradual exposure to the air of jute fiber located in the matrix. After 28 days of incubation at 28 °C, the composite mass reduction at the level of 45.3% was observed. Moreover, bending and tensile properties of the material declined, and the jute fibers remained unchanged during experiments. Polylactic acid-degrading bacteria were isolated from effluent sludge and soil. Two strains, Pseudomonas geniculate and Stenotrophomonas pavanii, were identified in the isolates; both of them were able to degrade PLA with the P. geniculate reaching higher efficiency on the level of 1.5% (Bubpachat et al. 2018). Diary wastewater was used for a search of PLA-degrading microbes; a species from the genus Actinomadura was identified in the samples. The waste was mixed with soil in which UV-pretreated PLA films were buried. After 15 days incubation, complete disintegration of the polymer occurred (Pattanasuttichonlakul et al. 2018). Bacteria form the genus Sphingobacterium and Chryseobacterium, and two strains of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* were tested for PLA biodegradation in the research of Satti et al. (2017), Bacillus pumilus was found to be able to degrade PLA in the study of Bonifer et al. (2019), and Aeromonas spp. and Rhodococcus spp. in the research of Swiontek Brzezinska et al. (2020).

2.3.9.4 Poly(Ethylene Succinate)

Poly(ethylene succinate) (PES) belongs to the group of biodegradable polyesters. It is obtained in condensation process of succinic acid and ethylene glycol (Tezuka et al. 2004).

Microorganisms isolated from a pond, river, and soil environment were tested for PES biodegradation. Among various identified bacteria and fungi, a bacterium *Bacillus pumilus* exhibited a high PES hydrolyzing activity (Tezuka et al. 2004). Ishii et al. (2007) confirmed PES biodegradation by fungi similar to *Aspergillus clavatus* strain isolated from terrestrial environments. Incubation of the samples was carried out at 30 °C for 20 days and resulted in crates formation on the materials surface. The results indicated the degradation process occurring preferentially on the surface amorphous parts, while the average molecular mass of the material only slightly changed. Tribedi et al. (2012) conducted research on biodegradation of PES by *Pseudomonas* spp. The tests were carried out in the presence and absence of glucose. It was shown that glucose can inhibit the microbial degradation; when it was present the mass reduction was approximately two times lower compared to the samples without the additional sugar.

2.4 Challenges of Microbial Plastic Waste Abatement

Application of living organisms for resolving one of the most severe issues of the modern world, the plastic pollution, seems like a golden solution; however, it is not as simple as it may look. First of all, the microbial growth and enzymes secretion, and the enzyme's action itself, have to occur in very narrow condition, and a slight

fluctuation in the temperature or pH may result in cessation or significant reduction of the enzyme activity or upset the microbial homeostasis.

The need for plastic segregation will not be overcome as different microorganism are adequate for decomposing various polymers; it is unknown how would they interact with each other in case when they coexist. There are reports on bacteria strains functioning in consortia that exhibited higher decomposition efficiency; however, it cannot be guaranteed that antagonistic behavior would not take place leading to extinction of one or more strains and deterioration of the decomposition efficiency. It can be especially difficult, if not impossible, to find such conditions that could sustain the existence of different microorganisms at the same time and in their optimal growth conditions, especially when both bacteria and fungi are involved.

In relation to the decomposition rate, in all the reported cases the degradation took a prolonged time period of tens of days; moreover, in most of the cases, the degradation was on the level of couple of percent—promising but still low.

Furthermore, most of the reported cases are studied on previously disinfected materials; in real conditions, the plastisphere may be inhabited by a whole selection of microorganisms, not interested in depolymerizing the plastic, competing with the strain that would decompose the waste. It is hard to imagine that all the previously sorted plastic waste be subjected to disinfection before storing in landfill bioreactors of strictly controlled environment. Plastic waste is generally dirty, and the implemented microorganism might choose a more accessible carbon source than the polymer can provide; hence, if not disinfection, at least a washing step could benefit the whole process.

Another aspect concerns a step on which the plastic waste would be fragmented, preferably ground to powder. This should also be included as the higher the porosity and specific surface, the better the interaction with microorganisms.

Another issue is also related to the microorganisms' stability, but this time, in the context of the substances that are added to plastics to modulate their rheology and performance proprieties. These substances doubtfully would be metabolized by the microbes, they would rather be released from the plastics and most probably exhibited some adverse effects on the plastisphere's biota or contaminate the environment in case they find a way to soil or water bodies. Handling of the degradation products may also be problematic; it is not only water, carbon dioxide, or methane but a soup of diverse organic compounds secreted by the microbes, the polymer decomposition products—monomers and oligomers of different molecular weight—released plastic additives and potential reaction products of the above-mentioned chemicals, mixed with fragmented plastic and the microorganisms. It raises an issue of secondary pollution generated that way and requires further action to safely dispose it.

What is more, there would be a need for a place with ample space to store the waste, in the case of biodegradation, the garbage heap cannot be too tall as it would result in temperate increase inside it and destabilization of the microorganisms; it should also provide an efficient equipment to disperse the microbes and mix them with the waste that can also be problematic given the waste quantity.

Last but not least, there is the whole aspect related to the cost to maintain such complex facility. The amount of money needed to keep it operative could render the technology just too expensive to be economically viable and feasible to widely implement.

2.5 Conclusion

Pollution of the environment with polymers is a severe problem; the currently used plastic waste handling methods, such as landfills, incineration, or recycling, are not sufficient to provide a satisfactory, cost-efficient, and long-term solution for the increasing amount of plastic garbage generated by human. Within the last 20 years, a significant amount of microbes that may in future be used for the waste abatement has been identified. The microbes are able to thrive on the surface of plastics, the plastisphere, and by secreting enzymes, mainly hydrolases or oxidoreductases, they are capable of depolymerizing the plastics and to use the products as a carbon source. Several species of bacteria were tested for biodegradation of the most common plastic; the bacterial genera from which species were able to degrade polymers were Acinetobacter, Acinetobacter, Alcanivorax, Alcaligenes, Arenimonas, Arthrobacter. Bacillus. Brevundimonas. Citrobacter. Cohaesibacter, Chryseomicrobium, Cupriavidus, Delftia, Dethiosulfovibrio, Desulfovibrio, Erysipelothrix, Enterobacter, Fusibacter, Ideonella, Lysinibacillus, Maribacter, Microbulbifer, Micrococcus, Mycobacterium, Ochrobacterum, Oscillatoria, Phormidium. Psueudomonas. Pantoea. Psychromonas, Pleomorphochaeta, Rhodococcus. Saccharomonospora, Sphingobacterium, Sporobacter. Stenotrophomonas, Thermobifida, Vibria; in the case of fungus, the representatives capable of reducing plastic mass were found among genera such as Aureobasidium, Aspergillus, Chaetomium, Alternaria, Candida, Cladosporium, Fusarium, Gliocladium, Gloeophyllum, Humicola, Lentinus, Mucor, Monillia, Penicillium, Phanerochaete, Paecelomyces, Parengyodontium, Rhizopus, Trichoderma.

It has been proven that polymers, even the ones considered non-biodegradable such as PE or PET, can be degraded by bacteria and fungi. The process is slow, requires strictly controlled environment, and poses several logistical and technological challenges; however, it offers an alternative for the conventional and not effective plastic waste handling methods. So far, the research has been focused on isolating new species and testing their degrading abilities, mostly in laboratory environment on specially prepared for this purpose plastic samples, in strictly controlled conditions. In the foreseeable future, the research should be extended to investigation in conditions closer to the real ones to better reflect the applicability of microbial-based plastic waste handling technology.

References

- Abbing MR (2019) Plastic soup: an atlas of ocean pollution. Island Press, Washington, DC
- Ali MI, Ahmed S, Robson G et al (2014) Isolation and molecular characterization of polyvinyl chloride (PVC) plastic degrading fungal isolates. J Basic Microbiol 54:18–27. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/jobm.201200496
- Antipova TV, Zhelifonova VP, Zaitsev KV et al (2018) Biodegradation of poly-ε-caprolactones and poly-l-lactides by fungi. J Polym Environ 26:4350–4359. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10924-018-1307-3
- Auta HS, Emenike CU, Fauziah SH (2017) Screening of Bacillus strains isolated from mangrove ecosystems in peninsular Malaysia for microplastic degradation. Environ Pollut 231:1552–1559. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2017.09.043
- Auta HS, Emenike CU, Jayanthi B, Fauziah SH (2018) Growth kinetics and biodeterioration of polypropylene microplastics by bacillus sp. and Rhodococcus sp. isolated from mangrove sediment. Mar Pollut Bull 127:15–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2017.11.036
- Bastioli C, Bettarini F (2020) General characteristics, processability, industrial applications and market evolution of biodegradable polymers. In: Bastioli C (ed) Handbook of biodegradable polymers. De Gruyter, Berlin, Boston, pp 147–182
- Bastioli C, Magistrali P, Garcia SG (2020) Starch-based technology. In: Handbook of biodegradable polymers. De Gruyter, Berlin, Boston, pp 217–244
- Bayan R, Karak N (2017) Renewable resource modified polyol derived aliphatic hyperbranched polyurethane as a biodegradable and UV-resistant smart material. Polym Int 66:839–850. https://doi.org/10.1002/pi.5323
- Begum SA, Rane AV, Kanny K (2019) Applications of compatibilized polymer blends in automobile industry. In: Compatibilization of polymer blends: micro and nano scale phase morphologies, interphase characterization, and properties. Elsevier Inc., Amsterdam, pp 563–593
- Bonhomme S, Cuer A, Delort AM et al (2003) Environmental biodegradation of polyethylene. Polym Degrad Stab 81:441–452. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0141-3910(03)00129-0
- Bonifer KS, Wen X, Hasim S et al (2019) *Bacillus pumilus* B12 degrades Polylactic acid and degradation is affected by changing nutrient conditions. Front Microbiol 10:2548
- Bubpachat T, Sombatsompop N, Prapagdee B (2018) Isolation and role of polylactic aciddegrading bacteria on degrading enzymes productions and PLA biodegradability at mesophilic conditions. Polym Degrad Stab 152:75–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polymdegradstab.2018.03. 023
- Calhoun A (2016) Polypropylene. In: Multilayer flexible packaging, 2nd edn. Elsevier Inc., pp 35–45
- Carniel A, Valoni É, Nicomedes J et al (2017) Lipase from Candida antarctica (CALB) and cutinase from Humicola insolens act synergistically for PET hydrolysis to terephthalic acid. Process Biochem 59:84–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procbio.2016.07.023
- Chen G, Feng Q, Wang J (2020) Mini-review of microplastics in the atmosphere and their risks to humans. Sci Total Environ 703:135504. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.135504
- Danso D, Chow J, Streita WR (2019) Plastics: environmental and biotechnological perspectives on microbial degradation. Appl Environ Microbiol 85:1–14. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM. 01095-19
- Das MP, Kumar S (2014) Microbial deterioration of low density polyethylene by *Aspergillus* and *Fusarium* sp. Int J ChemTech Res 6:299–305
- Das MP, Kumar S (2015) An approach to low-density polyethylene biodegradation by Bacillus amyloliquefaciens. 3 BIOTECH 5:81–86. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13205-014-0205-1
- Das G, Bordoloi NK, Rai SK et al (2012) Biodegradable and biocompatible epoxidized vegetable oil modified thermostable poly(vinyl chloride): thermal and performance characteristics post biodegradation with *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and *Achromobacter* sp. J Hazard Mater 209–210:434–442. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2012.01.043

- De Campos A, Martins Franchetti SM, Marcondes Agnelli JA (2003) Biotransformation of poly (e-caprolactone) and poly (vinyl chloride) blend. Brazilian. J Microbiol 34:111–113. https://doi. org/10.1590/s1517-83822003000500038
- Delacuvellerie A, Cyriaque V, Gobert S et al (2019) The plastisphere in marine ecosystem hosts potential specific microbial degraders including *Alcanivorax borkumensis* as a key player for the low-density polyethylene degradation. J Hazard Mater 380. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat. 2019.120899
- Denaro R, Aulenta F, Crisafi F et al (2020) Marine hydrocarbon-degrading bacteria breakdown poly (ethylene terephthalate) (PET). Sci Total Environ 749:141608. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. scitotenv.2020.141608
- Ding D, Yu T, Li Y (2018) Biodegradation of jute/poly(lactic acid) composites by fungi. Sci China Technol Sci 61:1705–1712. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11431-017-9215-7
- Domb A, Jain JP, Kumar N (2011) Polyanhydrides. In: Lendlein A, Sisson DA (eds) Handbook of biodegradable polymers. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, New York, pp 45–75
- Dwicania E, Rinanti A, Fachrul MF (2019) Biodegradation of (LLDPE) plastic by mixed bacteria culture of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and *Brevibacterium* sp. J Phys Conf Ser 1402:22105. https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/1402/2/022105
- Esmaeili A, Pourbabaee AA, Alikhani HA et al (2014) Colonization and biodegradation of photooxidized low-density polyethylene (LDPE) by new strains of *Aspergillus* sp. and *Lysinibacillus* sp. Biorem J 18:213–226. https://doi.org/10.1080/10889868.2014.917269
- Farachi F, Ardisson GB, Innocenti FD (2020) Environmental fate and ecotoxicity assessment of biodegradable polymers. In: Bastioli C (ed) Handbook of biodegradable polymers. De Gruyter, Berlin, Boston, pp 45–74
- Fesseha H, Abebe F (2019) Degradation of plastic materials using microorganisms: a review. Public Heal – Open J 4:57–63. https://doi.org/10.17140/phoj-4-136
- Gajendiran A, Krishnamoorthy S, Abraham J (2016) Microbial degradation of low-density polyethylene (LDPE) by *Aspergillus clavatus* strain JASK1 isolated from landfill soil. 3 Biotech 6:1–6. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13205-016-0394-x
- Gausepohl H, Nießner N (2001) Polystyrene and styrene copolymers. In: Encyclopedia of materials: science and technology, 2nd edn. Elsevier Ltd., Amsterdam, pp 7735–7741
- Gautam R, Bassi AS, Yanful EK (2007) Candida rugosa lipase-catalyzed polyurethane degradation in aqueous medium. Biotechnol Lett 29:1081–1086. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10529-007-9354-1
- Geyer R, Jambeck JR, Law KL (2017) Production, use, and fate of all plastics ever made. Sci Adv 3: e1700782. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.1700782
- Giacomucci L, Raddadi N, Soccio M et al (2019) Polyvinyl chloride biodegradation by *Pseudomo-nas citronellolis* and *Bacillus flexus*. New Biotechnol 52:35–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbt. 2019.04.005
- Gopanna A, Rajan KP, Thomas SP, Chavali M (2019) Polyethylene and polypropylene matrix composites for biomedical applications. In: Materials for biomedical engineering: thermoset and thermoplastic polymers. Elsevier Inc., Amsterdam, pp 175–216
- Gunawan NR, Tessman M, Schreiman AC et al (2020) Rapid biodegradation of renewable polyurethane foams with identification of associated microorganisms and decomposition products. Bioresour Technol Reports 11:100513. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biteb.2020.100513
- Gupta KK, Devi D (2020) Characteristics investigation on biofilm formation and biodegradation activities of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* strain ISJ14 colonizing low density polyethylene (LDPE) surface. HELIYON 6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2020.e04398
- Harshvardhan K, Jha B (2013) Biodegradation of low-density polyethylene by marine bacteria from pelagic waters, Arabian Sea. India Mar Pollut Bull 77:100–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. marpolbul.2013.10.025
- Howard GT, Norton WN, Burks T (2012) Growth of Acinetobacter gerneri P7 on polyurethane and the purification and characterization of a polyurethanase enzyme. Biodegradation 23:561–573. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10532-011-9533-6

- Huang M, Shih Y, Liu S (2002) Biodegradation of polyvinyl alcohol by *Phanerochaete chrysosporium* after pretreatment with Fenton's reagent. J Environ Sci Heal Part A Toxic/ Hazardous Subst Environ Eng 37:29–41. https://doi.org/10.1081/ESE-100108480
- Ibrahim IN, Maraqa A, Hameed KM et al (2011) Assessment of potential plastic-degrading fungi in Jordanian habitats. Turkish J Biol 35:551–557. https://doi.org/10.3906/biy-0901-9
- Ishii N, Inoue Y, Shimada KI et al (2007) Fungal degradation of poly(ethylene succinate). Polym Degrad Stab 92:44–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polymdegradstab.2006.09.014
- Jarerat A, Tokiwa Y (2001) Degradation of poly(L-lactide) by a fungus. Macromol Biosci 1:136–140. https://doi.org/10.1002/1616-5195
- Jecu L, Gheorghe A, Rosu A et al (2010) Ability of fungal strains to degrade PVA based materials. J Polym Environ 18:284–290. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10924-010-0173-4
- Jiang L, Zhang J (2017) Biodegradable and biobased polymers. In: Kutz M (ed) Applied plastics engineering handbook, 2nd edn. William Andrew Publishing, Norwich, pp 127–143
- Kawai F, Oda M, Tamashiro T et al (2014) A novel Ca2+-activated, thermostabilized polyesterase capable of hydrolyzing polyethylene terephthalate from Saccharomonospora viridis AHK190. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 98:10053–10064. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-014-5860-y
- Kawai F, Kawabata T, Oda M (2019) Current knowledge on enzymatic PET degradation and its possible application to waste stream management and other fields. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 103:4253–4268. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-019-09717-y
- Khan MR, Arshad M, Raza SA (2012) Biodegradation of synthetic polymers by fungi. Asian J Chem 24:4583–4586
- Khan S, Nadir S, Shah ZU et al (2017) Biodegradation of polyester polyurethane by *Aspergillus tubingensis*. Environ Pollut 225:469–480. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2017.03.012
- Kim HR, Lee HM, Jeon E et al (2019) Biodegradation of polystyrene by *Pseudomonas* sp. isolated from the gut of superworms. ChemRxiv. https://doi.org/10.26434/chemrxiv.11295296.v1
- Krueger MC, Hofmann U, Moeder M, Schlosser D (2015) Potential of wood-rotting fungi to attack polystyrene sulfonate and its depolymerisation by *Gloeophyllum trabeum* via hydroquinonedriven Fenton chemistry. PLoS One 10. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0131773
- Kumar Gupta K, Devi D (2019) Biodegradation of low density polyethylene by selected *Bacillus* sp. GAZI Univ J Sci 32:802–813. https://doi.org/10.35378/gujs.496392
- Kumar M, Xiong X, He M et al (2020) Microplastics as pollutants in agricultural soils. Environ Pollut 265:114980. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2020.114980
- Kumari A, Chaudhary DR, Jha B (2019) Destabilization of polyethylene and polyvinylchloride structure by marine bacterial strain. Environ Sci Pollut Res 26:1507–1516. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s11356-018-3465-1
- Latorre I, Hwang S, Sevillano M, Montalvo-Rodríguez R (2012) PVC biodeterioration and DEHP leaching by DEHP-degrading bacteria. Int Biodeterior Biodegradation 69:73–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibiod.2011.12.011
- Leon-Zayas R, Roberts C, Vague M, Mellies JL (2019) Draft genome sequences of five environmental bacterial isolates that degrade polyethylene terephthalate plastic. Microbiol Resour Announc 8:e00237–e00219. https://doi.org/10.1128/MRA.00237-19
- Li F, Yu D, Lin X, et al (2012) Biodegradation of poly (e -caprolactone) (PCL) by a new *Penicillium oxalicum* strain DSYD05-1. 2929–2935. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11274-012-1103-5
- Li Z, Wei R, Gao M et al (2020) Biodegradation of low-density polyethylene by Microbulbifer hydrolyticus IRE-31. J Environ Manag 263. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2020.110402
- Liebminger S, Eberl A, Sousa F et al (2007) Hydrolysis of PET and bis-(benzoyloxyethyl) terephthalate with a new polyesterase from *Penicillium citrinum*. Biocatal Biotransformation 25:171–177. https://doi.org/10.1080/10242420701379734
- Liu S (2020) Enzymes. In: Liu S (ed) Bioprocess engineering, 3rd edn. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 229–290
- Loredo-Treviño A, García G, Velasco-Téllez A et al (2011) Polyurethane as substrate for fungal strains. Adv Biosci Biotechnol 02:52–58. https://doi.org/10.4236/abb.2011.22009

- Lucas N, Bienaime C, Belloy C et al (2008) Polymer biodegradation: mechanisms and estimation techniques a review. Chemosphere 73:429–442. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2008. 06.064
- Manzur A, Limón-González M, Favela-Torres E (2004) Biodegradation of physicochemically treated LDPE by a consortium of filamentous fungi. J Appl Polym Sci 92:265–271. https:// doi.org/10.1002/app.13644
- Mathur G, Prasad R (2012) Degradation of polyurethane by aspergillus flavus (ITCC 6051) isolated from soil. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 167:1595–1602. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12010-012-9572-4
- Merrington A (2017) Recycling of plastics. In: Kutz M (ed) Applied plastics engineering handbook, 2nd edn. William Andrew Publishing, Norwich, pp 167–189
- Montazer Z, Habibi-Najafi MB, Mohebbi M, Oromiehei A (2018) Microbial degradation of UV-Pretreated low-density polyethylene films by novel polyethylene-degrading bacteria isolated from plastic-dump soil. J Polym Environ 26:3613–3625. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10924-018-1245-0
- Montazer Z, Najafi MBH, Levin DB (2019) Microbial degradation of low-density polyethylene and synthesis of polyhydroxyalkanoate polymers. Can J Microbiol 65:224–234. https://doi.org/10. 1139/cjm-2018-0335
- Müller R-J, Schrader H, Profe J et al (2005) Enzymatic degradation of poly(ethylene terephthalate): rapid hydrolyse using a hydrolase from T. fusca. Macromol Rapid Commun 26:1400–1405. https://doi.org/10.1002/marc.200500410
- Munir E, Harefa RSM, Priyani N, Suryanto D (2017) Plastic degrading fungi *Trichoderma viride* and *Aspergillus nomius* isolated from local landfill soil in Medan. IopscienceIopOrg 8:68–74. https://doi.org/10.1088/1755-1315
- Nair NR, Sekhar VC, Nampoothiri KM, Pandey A (2017) Biodegradation of biopolymers. In: Pandey A, Negi S, Soccol CRBT-CD in B and B (eds) Current developments in biotechnology and bioengineering. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 739–755
- Nakkabi A, Sadiki M, Fahim M et al (2015) Biodegradation of poly(ester urethane)s by Bacillus subtilis. Int J Environ Res 9:157–162. https://doi.org/10.22059/ijer.2015.885
- Nimchua T, Punnapayak H, Zimmermann W (2007) Comparison of the hydrolysis of polyethylene terephthalate fibers by a hydrolase from *Fusarium oxysporum* LCH I and *Fusarium solani* f. sp. *pisi*. Biotechnol J 2:361–364. https://doi.org/10.1002/biot.200600095
- Nimchua T, Eveleigh DE, Sangwatanaroj U, Punnapayak H (2008) Screening of tropical fungi producing polyethylene terephthalate-hydrolyzing enzyme for fabric modification. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 35:843–850. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10295-008-0356-3
- Novotny C, Malachova K, Adamus G et al (2018) Deterioration of irradiation/high-temperature pretreated, linear low-density polyethylene (LLDPE) by *Bacillus amyloliquefaciens*. Int Biodeterior Biodegradation 132:259–267. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibiod.2018.04.014
- Nowak B, Pająk J, Labuzek S et al (2011) Biodegradation of poly(ethylene terephthalate) modified with polyester "Bionolle®" by *Penicillium funiculosum*. Polimery/Polymers 56:35–44. https:// doi.org/10.14314/polimery.2011.035
- Osman M, Satti SM, Luqman A et al (2018) Degradation of polyester polyurethane by *Aspergillus* sp. strain S45 isolated from soil. J Polym Environ 26:301–310. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10924-017-0954-0
- Pandey JK, Singh RP (2001) Uv-irradiated biodegradability of ethylene-propylene copolymers, LDPE, and I-PP in composting and culture environments. Biomacromolecules 2:880–885. https://doi.org/10.1021/bm010047s
- Park C, Kim EY, Yoo YT, Im SS (2003) Effect of hydrophilicity on the biodegradability of polyesteramides. J Appl Polym Sci 90:2708–2714. https://doi.org/10.1002/app.12925
- Patel RM (2016) Polyethylene. In: Multilayer flex packag, 2nd ed. 17–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/ B978-0-323-37100-1.00002-8
- Pattanasuttichonlakul W, Sombatsompop N, Prapagdee B (2018) Accelerating biodegradation of PLA using microbial consortium from dairy wastewater sludge combined with PLA-degrading

bacterium. Int Biodeterior Biodegradation 132:74-83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibiod.2018.05. 014

- Peixoto D, Pinheiro C, Amorim J et al (2019) Microplastic pollution in commercial salt for human consumption: a review. Estuar Coast Shelf Sci 219:161–168. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecss. 2019.02.018
- Pérez-Lara LF, Vargas-Suárez M, López-Castillo NN et al (2016) Preliminary study on the biodegradation of adipate/phthalate polyester polyurethanes of commercial-type by *Alicycliphilus* sp. BQ8. J Appl Polym Sci 133. https://doi.org/10.1002/app.42992
- Piccardo M, Renzi M, Terlizzi A (2020) Nanoplastics in the oceans: theory, experimental evidence and real world. Mar Pollut Bull 157:111317. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2020.111317
- Poznyak TI, Chairez Oria I, Poznyak AS (2019) Biodegradation. In: Poznyak TI, Chairez Oria I, Poznyak AS (eds) Ozonation and biodegradation in environmental engineering: dynamic neural network approach. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 353–388
- Pramila R (2011) Biodegradation of low density polyethylene (LDPE) by fungi isolated from marine water– a SEM analysis. African J Microbiol Res 5. https://doi.org/10.5897/ajmr11.670
- Pramila R, Ramesh KV (2011) Biodegradation of low density polyethylene (LDPE) by fungi isolated from municipal landfill area. J Microbiol Biotechnol Res Sch Res Libr J Microbiol Biotech Res 1:131–136
- Rainieri S, Barranco A (2019) Microplastics, a food safety issue? Trends Food Sci Technol 84:55–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tifs.2018.12.009
- Ronkvist ÅM, Xie W, Lu W, Gross RA (2009) Cutinase-catalyzed hydrolysis of poly(ethylene terephthalate). Macromolecules 42:5128–5138. https://doi.org/10.1021/ma9005318
- Rudnik E (2019) Biodegradation of compostable polymers in various environments. In: Rudnik E (ed) Compostable polymer materials, second Edi. Elsevier, Boston, pp 255–292
- Sáenz M, Borodulina T, Diaz L, Banchon C (2019) Minimal conditions to degrade low density polyethylene by Aspergillus terreus and Niger. J Ecol Eng 20:44–51. https://doi.org/10.12911/ 22998993/108699
- Sanchez JG, Tsuchii A, Tokiwa Y (2000) Degradation of polycaprolactone at 50 °C by a thermotolerant *Aspergillus* sp. Biotechnol Lett 22:849–853. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1005603112688
- Sangeetha Devi R, Rajesh Kannan V, Nivas D et al (2015) Biodegradation of HDPE by Aspergillus spp. from marine ecosystem of Gulf of Mannar, India. Mar Pollut Bull 96:32–40. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.marpolbul.2015.05.050
- Santacoloma-Londoño S, Buitrago-González ME, Lamus-Molina Asprilla V, Ruíz-Terán JE, Villegas-Méndez LC (2019) Evaluation of the biodegradation of polyethylene, polystyrene and polypropylene, through controlled tests in solid suspension with the fungus Aspergillus flavus. Sci Tech 24:532–541. https://doi.org/10.22517/23447214.20731
- Sarker A, Deepo DM, Nandi R et al (2020a) A review of microplastics pollution in the soil and terrestrial ecosystems: a global and Bangladesh perspective. Sci Total Environ 733:139296. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.139296
- Sarker RK, Chakraborty P, Paul P et al (2020b) Degradation of low-density poly ethylene (LDPE) by Enterobacter cloacae AKS7: a potential step towards sustainable environmental remediation. Arch Microbiol 202:2117–2125. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00203-020-01926-8
- Sarkhel R, Sengupta S, Das P, Bhowal A (2020) Comparative biodegradation study of polymer from plastic bottle waste using novel isolated bacteria and fungi from marine source. J Polym Res 27. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10965-019-1973-4
- Sarmah P, Rout J (2018) Efficient biodegradation of low-density polyethylene by cyanobacteria isolated from submerged polyethylene surface in domestic sewage water. Environ Sci Pollut Res 25:33508–33520. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-018-3079-7
- Satti SM, Shah AA, Auras R, Marsh TL (2017) Isolation and characterization of bacteria capable of degrading poly(lactic acid) at ambient temperature. Polym Degrad Stab 144:392–400. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.polymdegradstab.2017.08.023

- Sekhar VC, Nampoothiri KM, Mohan AJ et al (2016) Microbial degradation of high impact polystyrene (HIPS), an e-plastic with decabromodiphenyl oxide and antimony trioxide. J Hazard Mater 318:347–354. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2016.07.008
- Sepperumal U, Markandan M, Palraja I (2013) Micromorphological and chemical changes during biodegradation of polyethylene terephthalate (PET) by *Penicillium* sp. J Microbiol Biotechnol Res 3:47–53
- Shah AA, Hasan F, Akhter JI et al (2008) Degradation of polyurethane by novel bacterial consortium isolated from soil. Ann Microbiol 58:381. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03175532
- Shah Z, Hasan F, Krumholz L et al (2013a) Degradation of polyester polyurethane by newly isolated *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* strain MZA-85 and analysis of degradation products by GC– MS. Int Biodeterior Biodegradation 77:114–122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibiod.2012.11.009
- Shah Z, Krumholz L, Aktas DF et al (2013b) Degradation of polyester polyurethane by a newly isolated soil bacterium, *Bacillus subtilis* strain MZA-75. Biodegradation 24:865–877. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s10532-013-9634-5
- Shah Z, Gulzar M, Hasan F, Shah AA (2016) Degradation of polyester polyurethane by an indigenously developed consortium of *Pseudomonas* and *Bacillus* species isolated from soil. Polym Degrad Stab 134:349–356. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polymdegradstab.2016.11.003
- Shen M, Huang W, Chen M et al (2020) (Micro)plastic crisis: un-ignorable contribution to global greenhouse gas emissions and climate change. J Clean Prod 254. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jclepro.2020.120138
- Skariyachan S, Manjunatha V, Sultana S et al (2016) Novel bacterial consortia isolated from plastic garbage processing areas demonstrated enhanced degradation for low density polyethylene. Environ Sci Pollut Res 23:18307–18319. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-016-7000-y
- Sowmya H, Ramalingappa M, Krishnappa M (2012) Degradation of polyethyelene by *Chaetomium* sp. and *Aspergillus favus*. Int J Recent Sci Res 3:513–517
- Sowmya HV, Ramalingappa KM, Thippeswamy B (2015) Degradation of polyethylene by *Peni-cillium simplicissimum* isolated from local dumpsite of Shivamogga district. Environ Dev Sustain 17:731–745. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10668-014-9571-4
- Swiontek Brzezinska M, Walczak M, Kalwasińska A et al (2020) Biofilm formation during biodegradation of polylactide, poly (3,4 hydroxybutyrate) and poly(e-caprolactone) in activated sludge. Int J Biol Macromol 159:539–546. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2020.05.107
- Taniguchi I, Yoshida S, Hiraga K et al (2019) Biodegradation of PET: current status and application aspects. ACS Catal 9:4089–4105. https://doi.org/10.1021/acscatal.8b05171
- Tezuka Y, Ishii N, Kasuya KI, Mitomo H (2004) Degradation of poly(ethylene succinate) by mesophilic bacteria. Polym Degrad Stab 84:115–121. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. polymdegradstab.2003.09.018
- Thiounn T, Smith RC (2020) Advances and approaches for chemical recycling of plastic waste. J Polym Sci 58:1347–1364. https://doi.org/10.1002/pol.20190261
- Tokiwa Y, Calabia BP, Ugwu CU, Aiba S (2009) Biodegradability of plastics. Int J Mol Sci 10:3722–3742. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms10093722
- Tourova T, Sokolova D, Nazina T et al (2020) Biodiversity of microorganisms colonizing the surface of polystyrene samples exposed to different aqueous environments. Sustainability 12:3624
- Tribedi P, Sarkar S, Mukherjee K, Sil AK (2012) Isolation of a novel *Pseudomonas* sp from soil that can efficiently degrade polyethylene succinate. Environ Sci Pollut Res 19:2115–2124. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s11356-011-0711-1
- Vivi VK, Martins-Franchetti SM, Attili-Angelis D (2019) Biodegradation of PCL and PVC: *Chaetomium globosum* (ATCC 16021) activity essentially take part in at least one step in the cleavage of the. Folia Microbiol (Praha) 64:1–7. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12223-018-0621-4
- Volke-Seplveda T, Saucedo-Castaeda G, Gutirrez-Rojas M et al (2002) Thermally treated low density polyethylene biodegradation by *Penicillium pinophilum* and *Aspergillus niger*. J Appl Polym Sci 83:305–314. https://doi.org/10.1002/app.2245

- Wang Z, Xin X, Shi X, Zhang Y (2020) A polystyrene-degrading Acinetobacter bacterium isolated from the larvae of *Tribolium castaneum*. Sci Total Environ 726:138564. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.scitotenv.2020.138564
- de Wilde B (2020) International and national norms on biodegradability and certification procedures. In: Bastioli C (ed) Handbook of biodegradable polymers. De Gruyter, Berlin, Boston, pp 115–146
- Wong JKH, Lee KK, Tang KHD, Yap P-S (2020) Microplastics in the freshwater and terrestrial environments: prevalence, fates, impacts and sustainable solutions. Sci Total Environ 719. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.137512
- Yang Y, Liu W, Zhang Z et al (2020) Microplastics provide new microbial niches in aquatic environments. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 104:6501–6511. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-020-10704-x
- Yoshida S, Hiraga K, Takehana T et al (2016) A bacterium that degrades and assimilates poly (ethylene terephthalate). Science (80-) 351:1196–1199. https://doi.org/10.1126/science. aad6359
- Zahra S, Abbas SS, Mahsa MT, Mohsen N (2010) Biodegradation of low-density polyethylene (LDPE) by isolated fungi in solid waste medium. Waste Manag 30:396–401. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.wasman.2009.09.027
- Zhang Y, Kang S, Allen S et al (2020) Atmospheric microplastics: a review on current status and perspectives. Earth-Science Rev 203. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earscirev.2020.103118
- Znajewska Z, Dąbrowska GB, Hrynkiewicz K, Janczak K (2018) Biodegradation of polycaprolactone by trichoderma viride fungi. Przem Chem 97:1676–1679. https://doi.org/10. 15199/62.2018.10.8



Microbial Degradation in the Biogas Production of Value-Added Compounds

3

Brenda C. G. Rodrigues, Bruna S. de Mello, Luana C. Grangeiro, Arnaldo Sarti, and Kelly J. Dussán

Abstract

In recent years, there has been an increase in studies aimed at the valorization and recycling of materials, such as by-products, wastewater, and residues from industries and agriculture to produce value-added products such as biogas and biofertilizers. Anaerobic digestion (AD) is considered the main biological route to obtain value-added compounds. AD technology allows the action of microorganisms in four steps whose syntrophic activity of microbial communities transform substrates into biogas without needing to add chemicals, involving low investment, and operating costs. Moreover, there is a variety of substrates that can be used to generate high-value products from AD. In order to better conduct the AD process, several anaerobic digestion technologies have been proposed over the years varying from conventional systems to high-rate reactors and recently co-digestion and soli-state processes. However, understanding and knowing the role of microbial populations involved in AD have become extremely important to promote a better control of anaerobic systems. In addition, it ensures nutritional

e-mail: arnaldo.sarti@unesp.br; kelly.mnedina@unesp.br

B. C. G. Rodrigues · B. S. de Mello · L. C. Grangeiro

Department of Engineering, Physics and Mathematics, Institute of Chemistry, São Paulo State University-Unesp, Av. Prof. Francisco Degni, Araraquara, São Paulo, Brazil

A. Sarti · K. J. Dussán (🖂)

Department of Engineering, Physics and Mathematics, Institute of Chemistry, São Paulo State University-Unesp, Av. Prof. Francisco Degni, Araraquara, São Paulo, Brazil

São Paulo State University (Unesp), Bioenergy Research Institute (IPBEN), Av. Prof. Francisco Degni, Araraquara, São Paulo, Brazil

Center for Monitoring and Research of the Quality of Fuels, Biofuels, Crude Oil, and Derivatives, Institute of Chemistry – CEMPEQC, São Paulo State University (Unesp), Araraquara, São Paulo, Brazil

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 Inamuddin et al. (eds.), *Recent Advances in Microbial Degradation*, Environmental and Microbial Biotechnology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-0518-5_3

and operational conditions to favor the biochemical route for the biomethane generation. Therefore, research opportunities regarding the syntrophic metabolism that occurs throughout each step of the microbial degradation is essential for anaerobic decomposition of many substrates and the stability of biogas production. This type of scientific study can help to improve the sustainability and energy balance from using material that is being discarded in the environment.

Keywords

Anaerobic digestion \cdot Add-value bioproducts \cdot Syntrophic activity \cdot Microbial population \cdot Biogas production

3.1 Introduction

The global energy matrix is based on using nonrenewable sources such as oil, coal, and natural gas (Pareek et al. 2020). In contrast, these sources applied in conventional energy production processes, such as chemical and thermochemical processes, generate pollutants that contribute to greenhouse gas emissions and consequently unfavorable impacts including global warming and climate change (Ahmed et al. 2019; Hill 2009). Thus, an increase can be observed in studies focusing on the valorization and recycling of materials, such as by-products, wastewater and residues from industries and agriculture to produce value-added products, such as biogas. This is because this type of material known as biomass contains high amounts of proteins, sugars, and lipids that can be considered as cheap and abundant raw materials for the synthesis of value-added chemicals and biomaterials (Ahmed et al. 2019; Murthy and Madhava Naidu 2012).

The main biological process used to obtain value-added compounds is anaerobic digestion (AD). AD is considered a green route to produce bioenergy, especially due to the action of microorganisms without needing to add chemicals, involving low investment and operating costs (Cesaro and Belgiorno 2014). AD has been used for many years, and it comprises a natural four-step process including hydrolyses, acidogenesis, acetogenesis, and methanogenesis in which different microbial groups are syntrophically associated with the conversion of organic compounds primarily into biogas, which has methane as a relevant component (Grangeiro et al. 2019). Moreover, during AD, nutrient-rich solid and liquid residues, also known as digestate, are produced and can be applied as a biofertilizer for soil conditioners (Apergis et al. 2016; Kirk-Davidoff 2018). Therefore, AD is considered a process that involves a broad range of value-added bioproducts which can be obtained from a single type of raw material (Grangeiro et al. 2019). As show in Fig. 3.1, a large range of microorganisms are involved in all four steps of AD of carbohydrates, lipids, and protein.

Several studies worldwide have demonstrated the use of different feedstocks as waste as well as wastewater from industrial and agro-industrial processes to produce biogas. Regarding industrial feedstock, there are many studies such as those on



Fig. 3.1 Metabolic sequences and principal microbial family groups involved in the anaerobic AD of carbohydrates, lipids, and protein. Source: Adapted from Campanaro et al. (2016)

cheese whey (Azbar et al. 2009; Damasceno et al. 2008), cassava wastewater (Jiraprasertwong et al. 2019; Olukanni and Olatunji 2018), whey (Erguder et al. 2001; Luo and Angelidaki 2013), dairy and food processing wastewater (Ahmad et al. 2019; Tikariha and Sahu 2014), breweries (De Araujo et al. 2016), wineries (Basset et al. 2016), soft drinks (Kalyuzhnyi et al. 1997), and others. Some studies reported using glycerin-based wastewater (Amon et al. 2006; Astals et al. 2011) and sulfate-rich wastewater (Sarti et al. 2011). Moreover, different agricultural crops and terrestrial and aquatic plants are used as feedstock for AD (Gunaseelan 1997).

Although biogas production from anaerobic systems is considered a wellestablished technology for different feedstocks, it is very important to understand the role of microbial populations during the process considering the influence of operational parameters in these systems. Because of that, several studies have proposed innovations for AD performance, including biological strategies and innovating control systems (Tabatabaei et al. 2020).

This chapter provides information about microbial degradation in biogas production from biomass through AD. In the first part, common substrates used to generate products with added value from AD are described. The second part discusses the AD stages and the specific microbial population required in each stage. Afterward, the key factors that influence the microbial community structure during the anaerobic process are investigated. Finally, these anaerobic digestion technologies proposed over the years, as well as new system approaches to enhance biogas production using microbial degradation, are discussed. To sum up, this chapter compiles essential information to better understand the potential of AD as a simple and robust bioprocess for recovery bioenergy.

3.2 Substrates Commonly Used in Biogas Production

The substrates used during microbial degradation to generate biogas are primarily organic matter considered as waste, thus resulting in a wide range of raw materials. The composition and physical–chemical structure of the substrate can directly affect the microbiological complex system that favors anaerobiosis, which can greatly affect the stability and biodegradation efficiency of the process (Sharma et al. 1988).

Therefore, substrate characterization is important to ensure microbial nutritional needs, operational conditions, and, consequently, to predict the amount and quality of biogas that can be produced. These factors are intricately linked to the available nutrients and recalcitrant compound content in the substrate. Furthermore, the fractionation of the substrate will depend on the size of its particles, which can benefit or hinder the hydrolysis phase (Aziz et al. 2020; Sharma et al. 1988). Thus, the choice of the process, according to the available raw material, influences the results, which can maximize the production of bioenergy and its quality.

During the anaerobic digestion process, the presence of macro- and micronutrients, as well as trace elements, is necessary for microbial community growth and stability. Carbon, nitrogen, phosphorus, and sulfur must be present in a ratio of about 600:15:5:1 (Sharma et al. 1988; Mata-Alvarez et al. 2014). The carbon–nitrogen (C:N) ratio is the most important process indicator whose ideal range is reported to be ranging from 20 to 35; for instance, substrates rich in proteins can generate high levels of ammonia leading to ammonia accumulation in the medium and can thus irreversibly impair the AD progress (Puñal et al. 2000). The trace elements are especially important when the process is mono-digestion, i.e., only one type of substrate is used during AD. In this case, iron, cobalt, selenium, nickel, molybdenum, and tungsten must be added to the process in case the substrate does not have sufficient amounts for maintaining the microorganisms (Aziz et al. 2020; Bohutskyi and Bouwer 2013; Schattauer et al. 2011).

In fact, biogas and biofertilizer production was not the primary focus of AD processes. This technology was used only to reduce aerobic sludge excess from sewage treatment plants and in the treatment of animal manure, but the biogas generated was not reused for energy purposes. Hence the use of this technology was mainly associated with these two activities, which were the main sources of substrate, currently, for biogas generation (Milanez et al. 2018). However, after the oil crisis in 1980, several studies investigated using different types of biomass with the primary aim of producing good yield and quality of biogas (higher methane content) along with low implementation and operational costs. Currently, agricultural waste, municipal sewage, organic industrial waste, food waste, solid organic municipal waste, aquatic biomass, forest waste, and energy crops have been used in AD processes (Divya et al. 2015; Martínez-Gutiérrez 2018; Pérez-Chávez et al. 2019; Shrestha et al. 2017).

Within this context, choosing the most suitable substrate for biogas production depends on the purpose of the generating unit. If the biogas generated is in plants with main activities in other segments, the substrate will already be defined and the type of application of AD should be chosen according to the characteristics of the

Feedstock	Biogas yield	Potential to generate biomethane (bcm) ^a	
Livestock manure	40–80 m ³ /ton DW ^b	250 to 370	
Sewage	18–26 L/person-day	22 to 32	
Food waste	150–180 m ³ /ton FW ^c	85 to 100	
Crop residues	$\sim 10 \text{ m}^3/\text{m}^3$ day	300 to 380	
Energy crops	3500–9000 m ³ /CH ₄ hectare	330 to 490	

Table 3.1 Biogas yield and potential to generate biomethane from the most common feedstock used in the AD process

Source: Adapted from Milanez et al. (2018) and Jain (2019) ^aBillion cubic meters

^bDry weight

^cFresh weight

substrate generated in that plant. Otherwise, if the intention is a biogas plant, the political and geographical context must be considered, as the type of substrate available in the region for plant feeding, logistics, and tax incentives must be analyzed. For example, in Germany, a country recognized as a world leader in the production of energy from biogas, there is a strong government incentive to generate energy from renewable sources, mainly due to the governmental project to deactivate nuclear power plants. The Könnern plant, in Germany, is one of the largest biogas parks in the world, and the main substrates are derived from agriculture, such as animal waste, agricultural residues, and energy crops (Purkus et al. 2017).

Based on prior knowledge about the type of substrate available for biogas generation, the maximum biogas production can be estimated by the Biogas Generation Chemical Potential, in which the amounts of carbohydrates, proteins, fats, and other compounds refer to the chemical equation involved in the bio-digestion of specific substrates. (Mélo-Schlub et al. 2019; Penteado et al. 2017). In addition to determining the technology to be used, it is possible to accurately calculate the maximum amount of biogas that will be produced. Therefore, it is essential to know the composition of the substrate to be used for biogas production because from this choice the best technological model can be planned for the effective construction of the plant, considering that the size of the bioreactor or digester will depend on the type of substrate and its potential for biogas generation (Li et al. 2017; Weiland 2010).

Table 3.1 shows the participation of the different types of substrates most used in the world for biogas generation and the energy potential of each, if all this material, which is mostly waste, were fully recovered for the bioenergy generation (Jain and Jain 2019; Milanez et al. 2018).

The composition of plant derivatives comprises different polysaccharides. These polysaccharides are formed by carbohydrates linked in straight or branched chains; the structure will vary according to the composition of each biomass. Lignocellulosic biomass, in which the plant cell wall has a predominant presence of cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin, as plants, are considered of greater complexity for microbial degradation, mainly due to the presence of lignin. The higher the concentration of lignin in the biomass structure, the more difficult and time consuming it will be to

degrade and generate biogas; for instance, forest waste, which has a rigid structure in its largest portion. Cellulose and hemicellulose are relatively easily degradable as well as the simplest polysaccharides (starch and glycogen, pectin, etc.) (Azman et al. 2015; Lynd et al. 2002; Sánchez and Cardona 2008).

The greatest advantage of using plant biomass is related to its abundance and energy potential, which can boost biogas production worldwide. However, the composition of plant biomass can hinder the action of microorganisms; therefore, according to the nature of the biomass, pretreatments as well as long periods of hydraulic retention for digestion are necessary to enable the AD process (Sánchez and Cardona 2008; Wagner et al. 2018). Thus, several studies have been carried out to improve the efficiency of AD involving lignocellulosic materials, for instance the co-digestion of various residues, such as biomass fractionation investigations.

To reuse lignocellulosic biomass in its entirety, many alternatives to improve biogas production have been reported in the literature, such as the use of microalgae, biomass from phytoremediation, residues from insect production, and the substrate of the cultivation of edible fungi (Bulak et al. 2020; Klassen et al. 2016; Kumar et al. 2020; Łochyńska and Frankowski 2018; Ma et al. 2015; Zabed et al. 2020). In addition, to improve the process, co-digestion with commonly used substrates, such as food residues, agricultural residues, and urban pruning residues, among others have been used (Bedoić et al. 2020; Chowdhury et al. 2020; Issah et al. 2020; Parsaee et al. 2019; Vassalle et al. 2020; Wang et al. 2018).

Most substrates of this nature have proteins, which are long chains formed by amino acids form peptide bonds or amides. Several amino acids are considered essential for the cellular maintenance of living beings, and there are more than 20 different types, which when combined can form molecules from simple to complex. These structural characteristics can influence their solubility, as well as influence the release of smaller molecules, which would hinder the microbial degradation of these compounds (Angelidaki et al. 2011). Protein-rich substrates are already used in biogas production, usually from livestock residues, such as animal manure, slaughterhouse waste, and dairy products; in the production of ethanol, residues generated during the distillation stage, such as vinasse, and food industry wastewater (Banks et al. 2012; Luo et al. 2016; Rajagopal et al. 2013; Solli et al. 2014).

The lipid residues, with high levels of fats, are complex molecules of different sizes that can be saturated or unsaturated, and when this type of molecule breaks down, long-chain fatty acids (over 12 carbons in their structure) are generated as well as glycerol (Dasa et al. 2016). The main sources of lipid-rich substrates for biogas production are activities directly linked to the generation of excess fats, such as domestic sewage and industrial effluents, specifically from slaughterhouses, dairy products, wool washing water, processing vegetable oil for human consumption, and grease retention sludges (Affes et al. 2017; Bong et al. 2018; Luostarinen et al. 2009; Sousa et al. 2009; Souza et al. 2009; Xu et al. 2018a). In addition, current studies have demonstrated that algae and microalgae also have lipid-rich composition (Ma et al. 2015). Lipid substrates are commonly considered an excellent source of raw material for biogas generation (Table 3.2), which can produce higher amounts of

Component	Biogas (L/g)	CH ₄ (%)
Carbohydrates	0.830	50.0
Proteins	0.921	69.8
Lipids	1.425	69.5

Table 3.2 Biogas production and methane content of feedstocks rich in carbohydrates, proteins, and lipids, respectively

Source: Adapted from Alves et al. (2009) and Wang et al. (2018)

methane than sources rich in carbohydrates and proteins (Leung and Wang 2016; Li et al. 2017).

Despite the diversity of substrates that can be used to produce biogas rich in methane, attention is needed with the microbiota involved in the system. Protein-rich substrates tend to release high levels of ammonia, which inhibits methanogenic archaea. Substrates rich in carbohydrates can negatively affect AD due to their rapid degradation when compared to protein and lipid materials, leading to an imbalance of the C:N ratio. Consequently, carbohydrate-rich feedstocks can limit the availability of nutrients and cause acidification of the fermentative medium, mainly due to the accumulation of organic acids, which can enhance hydrogen production (De Gioannis et al. 2013; Li et al. 2017; Meng et al. 2015; Paritosh et al. 2017; Xu et al. 2018a).

Some studies have pointed out that substances rich in lipids have a better chemical potential for generating biogas than carbohydrates and proteins, although these are more easily degradable during the AD process. However, during the hydrolysis stage, the release of long-chain fatty acids can lead to inhibition of methanogen, due to the destruction of the cell membrane of microorganisms. Therefore, the hydrolysis of lipids can be the limiting step for AD of substrates rich with this compound (Cirne et al. 2007; Cuetos et al. 2008; Leung and Wang 2016; Sun et al. 2014; Yuan and Zhu 2016; Zhang et al. 2014).

Notably, the individual influence caused by specific compounds in the AD process can be extremely disadvantageous due to its composition. Thus, several studies have been developed to demystify the role of organic composition in the efficiency of AD from mono-digestion and its impacts on the microbiota (Alibardi and Cossu 2016; Li et al. 2016; Rajagopal 2013; Wang et al. 2014; Yin et al. 2014) as in co-digestion, associating substrates rich in different compounds to be complementary (Astals et al. 2011; Koch et al. 2015; Zhang et al. 2013).

It is worth mentioning that regarding substrates from domestic sanitary sewage and food waste, the organic composition varies greatly concerning geographic and cultural location, which are influenced by consumption patterns, food preparation, and seasonal changes (Kobayashi et al. 2009; Meng et al. 2015; Xu et al. 2018b).

3.3 Anaerobic Digestion Pathways and Diversity of Microorganisms Involved

As previously presented, there is a variety of substrates that can be used to generate high-value products from AD (biogas and biofertilizers). However, substrates with high-energy potential (organic composition) can also cause stress in the operating system, resulting in a less stable process (Cuetos et al. 2008). When the system is out of balance, the digestion of organic material can become suboptimal, making insufficient use of it leading to a decline in the production and quality of biogas.

In order to better conduct the AD process so that the generation of value-added products can be optimized, the understanding of the syntrophic activity of microbial communities involved in the AD has become extremely important. Moreover, microbial functions as well as the impacts promoted by the different aspects that may occur during bio-digestion have gained notoriety as an essential factor to ensure the efficiency and stability of the process. By knowing and understanding the present microbiota, nutritional and operational conditions can be ensured to favor the biochemical route for biomethane generation (Vanwonterghem et al. 2014).

AD is a biochemical process divided into several stages, and a specific microbial population is required in each stage. Harper and Pohland (1987) reported that there are at least nine different biochemical mechanisms involved in the microbial degradation of organic materials during AD. However, four main stages are considered: hydrolysis, acidogenesis, acetogenesis, and methanogenesis. As the microorganisms are the nuclei of the digesters, researchers have endeavored to identify, within the microbial groups, the main microorganisms responsible for producing methane and their functions according to the stages and operational conditions.

3.3.1 Hydrolysis/Acidogenesis

The first phase is coordinated by hydrolytic and acidogenic bacteria and probably fungi. This group of microorganisms is responsible for the conversion of complex organic compounds (hydrolysis)—such as polysaccharides, lipids, proteins—and simpler organic compounds (acidogenesis)—such as long chain fatty acids (LCFA), glycerol, sugars, amino acids, etc.—in volatile fatty acids (acetate, propionate, butyrate, lactate, valerate, caproate, etc.), alcohols, formiate, hydrogen, and carbon dioxide, which further will be used in the following steps (Kandylis et al. 2016).

The degradation of these compounds occurs from extracellular enzymes secreted by bacteria in the fermentation medium or may be present in the cell wall (Azman et al. 2015; Kazda et al. 2014; Schnürer 2016). It is known that in the stages of hydrolysis and acidogenesis there are about 50 bacterial species known and described in different AD processes (Balk et al. 2002; Seon et al. 2014; Yamada et al. 2006).

Normally, hydrolysis of materials rich in carbohydrates is one of the simplest metabolic pathways of AD; it is easily degraded to glucose, which facilitates the

following steps. In lignocellulosic substrates, cellulose is hydrolyzed to glucose, and cellobiose and hemicelluloses are converted into monomers and acetic acid. In this case, the bacteria have an enzymatic complex in their cell wall (celluloses), which has proteins that identify and bind to the cellulose, making the degradation the more efficient. However, the fungi act differently, by adhering to the cellulose surface and penetrating plant cell walls of complex biomass (Ding et al. 2012; Kazda et al. 2014; Schnürer 2016). Hydrolytic microorganisms acting in AD have been investigated to optimize the use of plant biomass entirely from pretreatments which increase substrate readily available (Chowdhury et al. 2020; Issah et al. 2020; Li et al. 2019; Tabatabaei et al. 2020).

Bacteria affiliated to phylum Firmicutes, Bacteroidetes, Fibrobacteres, Spirochaetes, Proteobacteria, Cloacimonetes, Actinomyces, and Thermotogae are the most common microorganisms responsible for degradation of complex molecules into simpler compounds. The most common genera reported are Acetivibrio, Butyrivibrio, Caldanaerobacter, Caldicellulosiruptor, Clostridium, Halocella. Ruminoclostridium, Ruminococcs, Eubacteruim. Bacteroides, Paludivacter, Fibrobacter, Espiroquetas, Treponema, Fervidobacteria, and Thermotoga (Azman et al. 2015; Campanaro et al. 2016; Chen et al. 2016; Jia et al. 2018; Lebuhn et al. 2014; Liu et al. 2017, 2018; Seon et al. 2014; Sun et al. 2016). The anaerobic fungi present in hydrolysis are associated with the phylum Neocallimastigomycota. In fact, fungi of this nature are generally found in the digestive system of ruminants, playing an important role in the degradation of lignocellulosic material (Cheng et al. 2018; Dollhofer et al. 2015).

Proteins are hydrolyzed to amino acids by the action of extracellular enzymes, known as proteases. Amino acids can be degraded by the Stickland reaction (a donor amino acid and another electron receptor), which promotes oxidation, producing volatile carboxylic acids that are smaller than the original amino acid (Fig. 3.2a). Alanine, for example, has a three-carbon chain and during this reaction, it is converted to acetate (Ramsay and Pullammanappallil 2001). For example, means containing gelatin are converted to methane through the Stickland reaction, in which alanine (donor) and glycine (recipient), gelatin components, are converted to acetate as shown in Fig. 3.2b (Ramsay and Pullammanappallil 2001; Sangavai et al. 2019).

Amino acids can also suffer from oxidized action (released hydrogens). This route only occurs in symbiosis with hydrogen receptors, such as hydrogenotrophic methanogens, which keep the partial pressure of hydrogen low in the fermentation medium. Despite having two hydrolytic pathways for amino acids, the result of this degradation will always release the amino group in the form of ammonia, and the sulfur from cysteine and methionine is released as hydrogen sulfide (Fig. 3.3) (Schink and Stams 2013).

The main microorganisms involved in the degradation of materials rich in proteins and amino acids are from the phylum Firmicutes, and the most common genera reported are *Anaeromusa, Anaerosphaera, Aminobacterium, Aminomonas, Gelria, Peptoniphilus, Thermanaerovibrio* (Baena et al. 1999, 2000; Plugge et al. 2002; Tomazetto et al. 2014; Ueki et al. 2009), *Clostridium* (Tang et al. 2005), *Proteiniborus* (Hahnke et al. 2018) and *Sporanaerobacter* (Hernandez-Eugenio



Fig. 3.2 General Stickland reaction (a) Stickland reaction on Alanine and Glycine (b). Source: Adapted from Ramsay and Pullammanappallil (2001) and Sangavai et al. (2019)

$$C_{3}H_{6}O_{2}NS (Cys) + 2H_{2}O \longrightarrow C_{2}H_{4}O_{2} (acetate) + NH_{3} + CO_{2} + H_{2}S + 1/2H_{2} + ATP$$

 $C_{3}H_{1}O_{2}NS (Met) + 2H_{2}O \longrightarrow C_{3}H_{6}O_{2} (propionate) + CO_{2} + NH_{3} + CH_{4}S + H_{2} + ATP$

Fig. 3.3 Cysteine and methionine degradation reactions in the methanogenic pathway

et al. 2002). However, other studies have indicated that bacteria from the phyla Bacteroides, Fusobacteria, and Cloacimonetes can have acidogenic metabolic activity for amino acids during AD (Hahnke et al. 2016; Stolze et al. 2018).

The degradation of lipid material occurs by extracellular lipases, which catalyze the hydrolysis reaction at the water–lipid interface. After the action of lipolytic bacteria, LCFAs and glycerol are released (Mendes et al. 2012; Stergiou et al. 2013). There is still little knowledge regarding bacteria that degrade lipids in AD. For instance, lipolytic bacteria in AD, such as microorganisms from the phylum Firmicutes, Bacteroidetes, Spirochaetes, and Proteobacteria, have been proposed. Bacteria of the family Caldilineaceae, Bacteroidaceae, and the genera *Trichococcus, Devosia,* and *Psycrobacter* are reported to be the main agents involved in the degradation of fat-rich material (Li et al. 2013; Nakasaki et al. 2020; Petropoulos et al. 2018).

Moreover, the hydrolysis stage requires microorganisms with specific characteristics, according to the substrate. As the first phase of AD, these

microorganisms end up being the most energetically benefited (de Aquino and Chernicharo 2005). After this stage and the release of simpler compounds, the microorganisms found in the subsequent stages can be considered predominant in specific phyla, such as the phylum Firmicutes, in which bacteria from this group are present in the hydrolytic and fermentative stages during AD as well as in different reactors and substrates (Sanz et al. 2017; Wang et al. 2018).

3.3.2 Acetogenesis/Methanogenesis

Acetogenic bacteria are microorganisms that convert intermediate organic compounds generated in the acidogenesis and hydrolysis stages. These bacteria have the highest growth rate (\sim 30 min) of the anaerobic community for biogas generation due to the abundance of hydrolysate released, which is directly influenced by the hydrolysis of organic material (de Aquino and Chernicharo 2005; Kandylis et al. 2016). Acetogens convert the hydrolyzed material into acetate, hydrogen, and carbon dioxide as the main products and can use nitrate, sulfate, and even CO₂ as electron receptors during the reaction (Ragsdale and Pierce 2008). They can also use hydrolysis products directly to produce acetates, such as carbohydrates and amino acids, and can oxidize pyruvate to acetate, which is a very common by-product generated during AD (Drake et al. 2008; Schink and Stams 2013).

Most reactions carried out by acetogenic bacteria only occur if the partial pressure of hydrogen is low, such as the oxidation reactions of organic acids of short and long chains (Schink 1997). This happens due to thermodynamic reasons, and when the whole microbiological context of AD is analyzed, the energetic condition of the acetogens is less favorable regarding the methanogenic archaea; however, there is a symbiosis between these microorganisms, known as syntropy. The interaction between both groups promotes enough energy for their growth, and therefore acetogens need methanogens and vice versa (Drake et al. 2008; Schink 1997; Schink and Stams 2013). However, there may be an imbalance between these communities causing competition for the substrate and malfunction of the system. The main intermediate products generated in the previous steps and their respective chemical reactions for acetate generation are shown in Table 3.3.

In this case, the main methanogenic pathways (aceticlastic and hydrogenotrophic) are affected by the unbalanced presence of homoacetogens and acetate oxidative bacteria, according to the concentration of acetate and H_2 (main methanation substrates), and thermodynamically unfavorable competition may occur. For example, hydrogenotrophic homoacetogens and methanogens (MH) compete for H_2 to convert CO₂ into acetate and methane, respectively, according to the general equations presented in Table 3.4. Ideally, homoacetogens coexist with aceticlastic methanogens, maintaining sufficient acetate and H_2 concentrations for their maintenance (Lee et al. 2015). Table 3.4 shows some homoacetogenic and hydrogenotrophic microorganisms and their respective H_2 demands.

Acetogenic bacteria are generally attributed to the genera *Clostridium* and *Acetobacterium* (phylum Firmicutes), but bacteria from the phylum Proteobacteria

Intermediate products	Chemical reaction to acetate
Propionic acid	$CH_3(CH_2)COOH + 2H_2O \rightarrow CH_3COOH + CO_2 + 3H_2$
Butyric acid	$CH_3(CH_2)_2COOH + 2H_2O \rightarrow 2CH_3COOH + 2H_2$
Valeric acid	$CH_{3}(CH_{2})_{3}COOH + 2H_{2}O \rightarrow CH_{3}COOH + CH_{3}CH_{2}COOH + 2H_{2}$
Isovaleric acid	$(CH_3)_2CHCH_2COOH + HCO_2H + 2H_2O \rightarrow 3CH_3COOH + 2H_2$
Caproic acid	$CH_3(CH_2)_4COOH + 4H_2O \rightarrow 3CH_3COOH + 5H_2$
Glycerin	$C_3H_8O_3 + H_2O \rightarrow CH_3COOH + CO_2 + 3H_2$
Lactic acid	$C_3CHOHCOOH + 2H_2O \rightarrow CH_3COOH + HCO_3 + H^+ + 2H_2$
Ethanol	$CH_3(CH_2)OH + H_2O \rightarrow CH_3COOH + 2H_2$

Table 3.3 Acetogenic decomposition of intermediate products

Source: Adapted from Chernicharo (2007) and Deublein and Steinhauser (2010)

Table 3.4 Example of homoacetogens and hydrogenotrophs, chemical reactions and demand for $\rm H_2$

	Reactions	Species	H ₂ (ppm)
	Redetions	Speeles	(ppiii)
Homoacetogens	ADP	Sporomusa termitida	830
	4H ₂ 2H ₂ O P _i ATP	Acetobaeterium woodii	520
	ico ₂ renjeoon	Aeetobacterium carbinolicum	950
Hydrogenotrophic	$2CO_2 \xrightarrow{4H_2 2H_2O} CH_4$	Methanospirillum hungatei	30
		Methanobrevibacter smithii	100
		Methanobrevibacter	90
		arboriphilus	
		Methanobaeterium formicum	28
		Methanococeus vannielii	75

Source: Adapted from Cord-Ruwisch et al. (1988)

were also mentioned with metabolic activity in these stages (Azman et al. 2015; St-Pierre and Wright 2014).

Regardless of the lipid degradation, glycerol is released after hydrolysis, which is easily converted into volatile fatty acids (VFA). LCFAs demand specific groups of microorganisms to convert them into VFA, as they need to be transported across the cell membrane of acetogenic bacteria, where they are converted to acetate, CO₂, and H₂ via the β -oxidation pathway (Ma et al. 2015; Nakasaki et al. 2020; Weng and Jeris 1976). The bacteria from the Syntrophomonadaceae and Syntrophaceae families have been identified (Sousa et al. 2009; Ziels et al. 2018), associated with phylum Firmicutes and Proteobacteria, respectively, within the ability to degrade long-chain acids in syntropy with methanogenic archaea.

The degradation of short-chain fatty acids (acetate, propionate, butyrate, etc.) in syntropy with methanogens are well distributed in the phylogenetic scope. The genera *Syntrophomonas, Syntrophospora, Syntrophothermus, Thermosyntropha* and *Pelotomaculum* (phylum Firmicutes), and the genera *Syntrophospora, Syntrophosecter* (phylum Proteobacteria) are described as propionate and butyrate syntrophic bacteria in AD systems (Worm et al. 2014). On the other

hand, microorganisms affiliated to the phylum Cloacimonetes and Chloriflexi are reported to be capable of growing in syntropy with hydrogenotrophic methanogens (Li et al. 2015; Nobu et al. 2015; Pelletier et al. 2008).

The genera Clostridium, Thermoacetogenium, *Syntrophaceticus* and Tepidanaerobacter, all from the phylum Firmicutes are the main oxidative bacteria of syntrophic acetate (Westerholm et al. 2016). However, bacteria of the order Clostridiales, Thermoanaerobacterales, Synergistes, the genus Coprothermobacter, and the phylum Spirochaetes, Thermotogae, Chloroflexis and Bacteroidetes have been reported as possible oxidants of syntrophic acetate (Bassani et al. 2015; Ho et al. 2014; Ito et al. 2011; Lee et al. 2015; Mosbæk et al. 2016; Müller et al. 2016; Ruiz-Sánchez et al. 2018; Westerholm et al. 2018; Zakrzewski et al. 2012). It was observed that the presence of the genus *Syntrophomonas*, which degrades propionate and butyrate, and the phylum Synergistetes, which are oxidizers of syntrophic acetate, may indicate good acetogenic performance (He et al. 2017; Lienen et al. 2014) and acetotrophic (Schink and Stams 2013), respectively. However, further research is needed to characterize and elucidate the performance of these bacteria during AD.

The last stage of the AD is considered the limiting phase, which comprises methanogenic archaeal. This group of microorganisms is mainly responsible for producing methane and belong to the phylum Euryarchaeota, in which about 65 species are active in the methanogenesis of AD, divided into 4 orders, 8 families and 19 genera (Imachi et al. 2007; Lee et al. 2014; Nielsen et al. 2007; Sousa et al. 2007b; Wang et al. 2018). The methanogenic community normally corresponds to a small portion of the total community (around 2 to 5%) and its growth is considered slow (from 6 hours to 3 days) concerning the other microorganisms involved in AD (Mosey 1983). However, its metabolic activity, with its abundance, is considered high.

The main microorganisms identified in anaerobic reactors are of the order Methanobacteriales, Methanocellales, Methanomicrobiales, Methanosarcinales, Methanococcales, and Methanomassiliicoccales (Enzmann et al. 2018; Lee et al. 2014; Schnürer 2016). The genera *Methanobacterium, Methanococcus, Methanobrevibacter, Methanomicrobium, Methanosarcina, Methanoculleus*, and *Methanosaeta* are considered the main methanogenic arch responsible for the generation of biomethane (Imachi et al. 2007; Nielsen et al. 2007; Sousa et al. 2007b). In thermophilic reactors, the emphasis is given to the genera *Methanoculleus* and *Methanothermobacter* (Carballa et al. 2015; Lee et al. 2014; Sasaki et al. 2011; Ziganshin et al. 2013).

Methanogenic archaeal have three known metabolic pathways for methane release. These routes were divided according to the precursor substrate (Costa and Leigh 2014; Liu and Whitman 2008):

• Aceticlastic route: In this pathway, the acetate is reduced to a methyl group and CO₂. The methyl group is reduced to methane after electron donation from the carboxyl group.

- Hydrogenotrophic route: CO₂ is reduced to CH₄ using H₂ or formiate as electron donors.
- Methylotrophic route: Methylated compounds, such as methanol, methylamines, and methyl sulfides, are used to generate CH₄. In this case, most methylotrophic methanogens use CO₂ as electron donors to oxidize methyl groups.

The main microbial community responsible for biogas production belongs to the group of aceticlastic methanogens since the degradation of organic matter in AD systems depends on the conversion of acetate into methane (VanBriesen 2001). So far, it is known that acetate is used exclusively by microorganisms from the families Methanosarcinaceae and Methanosaetaceae (order Methanosarcinales). Methanosarcinaceae microorganisms stand out due to their ability to grow on different substrates and they can consume hydrogen and methanol, as well as acetate, making them more versatile than the Methanosaetaceae group, which are strictly consumers of acetate (De Vrieze et al. 2012).

Hydrogenotroph microorganisms are present in almost all methanogenic orders, except in the order Methanomassiliicoccales whose metabolic characteristic was not observed (Enzmann et al. 2018). Therefore, this route is not considered as the main route for methane generation due to possible competition with other microorganisms. However, studies have indicated that hydrogenotrophic methanogens are more resistant to stressful conditions than acetoclastic. In this case, when the acetate concentration decreases, the hydrogenotrophic can act in symbiosis with oxidative acetate bacteria and maintain mechanization. This microbial diversity with different metabolic routes makes AD a complex and resilient process (Bialek et al. 2012; Cho et al. 2013; Ma et al. 2013; Madsen et al. 2011; Sousa et al. 2007a; Steinberg and Regan 2011; Werner et al. 2014). Figure 3.4 shows an example of syntrophy between acetogenic bacteria and hydrogenotrophic for the degradation of ethanol to methane.

The *metanosarcina* genus is known to use all known methanogenic metabolic pathways (Fig. 3.5) i.e., the microorganisms of this genus can be hydrogenotrophic, acetoclastic, and methylotrophic. Besides, they are the only known species with this ability and can metabolize at least nine methanogenic substrates (Galagan et al. 2002). However, the production of methane from methylated compounds is also carried out by archaeal of the orders Methanomassiliicoccales, Methanobacteriales and Methanosarcinales (Enzmann et al. 2018), and the WSA2 class was proposed as a methylate reducer restricted to methanogenesis (Nobu et al. 2016).

Notably, the microbial community involved in AD is complex, and the success of the process depends strictly on the syntrophic interactions between them since several environmental factors can intervene in this microbial symbiosis. After identifying the groups and their respective functions, engineering and management techniques can be used, which makes it essential to model development strategies and process optimization (Carballa et al. 2015; Koch et al. 2014). However, these consortia are not fully understood, as most microorganisms are not cultivable at the species level, and metagenome studies indicate a large number of sequences that make it difficult to classify all species present in the system, with taxonomically



Fig. 3.4 Syntrophy between acetogenic bacteria and hydrogenotrophic. Source: Adapted from Deublein and Steinhauser (2010)

reported levels higher (such as phylum, order, family, and genus). Therefore, most microbial species are unknown in AD (Campanaro et al. 2016).

Molecular biology techniques, such as PCR and its derivatives, in conjunction with genomic sequencing technologies (16S rRNA) have brought continuous advances for the identification, at the species level, of the microbiota involved in AD. As the analytical techniques become more sophisticated, future studies can be carried out and the list of anaerobic microorganisms will tend to increase. Identification studies of species involved in AD can also elucidate the degradation of different chemical compounds frequently made by members of the same genus, which would enable a better understanding of the metabolic biochemical routes and the syntropy in the anaerobic community for biogas generation. Omics approaches in conjunction with new species isolation technologies can significantly contribute to a better understanding of functions at the cellular level (De Vrieze et al. 2018; Hassa et al. 2018; Maus et al. 2018; Stolze et al. 2016).

3.4 Key Factors Imposed on Microorganisms that Affect Biogas Productivity

Stability of biogas production is greatly dependent on the microbial community stability of anaerobic reactors. Temperature, pH and the organic loading rate (OLR) are major factors in shaping the microbial community structure during the AD. The startup of anaerobic reactors is one of the most critical steps in the operation of



Source: Adapted from Ferry (2011) and Welander and Metcalf (2005).

Fig. 3.5 Biochemical pathways of Methanogenesis. Source: Adapted from Ferry (2011) and Welander and Metcalf (2005)

anaerobic systems, and the conditions applied during this phase will form the structure of the microbial community. Finally, anaerobic co-digestion has been used to improve the anaerobic digestion process with which the combination of different co-substrates is mixed to enhance biogas production.

3.4.1 Temperature and pH

Temperature and pH directly affect microbial growth and stability. Limited ranges of pH and temperature are related to the optimal bacterial growth rate, although their survival can occur with larger ranges (Speece 1983).

Variation in temperature during AD affects the stability of all microbial species due to their intracellular proteins that are thermostability dependent, particularly methanogens (Amani et al. 2010). In fact, temperature affects the development of the AD by influencing both the enzymatic reaction and the substrate diffusion rates, and methane formation is strongly temperature dependent (Gerardi 2003).

The ideal temperature levels related to AD are the mesophilic $(25-40 \ ^{\circ}C)$ and thermophilic range $(50-65 \ ^{\circ}C)$ in accordance with the optimal temperature range for the groups of microorganisms involved in the entire process (Ahring 1994; Metcalf and Eddy 2004). According to Chernicharo (2007), most of the anaerobic reactors have been designed and are operated in the mesophilic range, although thermophilic processes offer several potential advantages, such as an increase in microbial activity, and thus higher biogas production (Van Lier 2008). At the same time, at higher temperatures, thermodynamics for acetogenic conversions are more favorable, while a general decrease in microbial diversity can be observed, especially the complexity of the methanogenic community (Pap et al. 2015; Zábranská et al. 2000).

Moreover, the thermophilic microbial community is more susceptible to inhibition and sudden environmental changes than the mesophilic one. This inhibition is related to the lower growth yield of thermophilic microorganisms due to their higher decay rate, which is double that of mesophilic anaerobes (Wilson et al. 2008). At thermophilic conditions, the cells of the microorganisms show a tendency to lyse rapidly; also, higher energy is required for their maintenance and specific molecular properties of enzymatic reactions are necessary (Kim et al. 2002).

Several studies have demonstrated that acetogenic degradation of intermediate volatile acids, i.e., propionic and butyric acids, are better at thermophilic temperature due to favorable thermodynamics of syntrophic oxidation; however, methanogenic conversion of acetic acid has been more favorable at mesophilic conditions (Amani et al. 2015; Kim et al. 2002; Pap et al. 2015).

In recent years, due to advances in molecular biology, metagenomic and metabolomic techniques have led to new insights into anaerobic microbial populations in terms of diversity and activity at mesophilic and thermophilic temperatures. Notably, higher diversity of archaeal and bacterial communities is found at mesophilic temperatures, whereas the latter is considerably more diverse and dynamic than archaea at any temperature (Levén et al. 2007; Pycke et al. 2011). In addition, microbial diversity enhances the capability of the community to adapt

and respond to process instabilities, due to its ability of using parallel metabolic pathways (Ferguson et al. 2018).

Community analyses in anaerobic reactors showed the presence of bacteria affiliated with the phyla Chloroflexi, Synergistes, Bacteroidetes, Firmicutes, and Thermotogae in both meso- and thermophilic conditions (Chouari et al. 2005; Levén et al. 2007). Bacteroidetes and Spirochaetes were the dominating fermentative bacteria of the mesophilic processes while Thermotogae was the major group presented in thermophilic process (Hernon et al. 2006). The methanogenic archaeal community was commonly dominated by the phyla Euryarchaeota and Crenarchaeot; the acetoclastic methanogens from the genera *Methanosarcina* and *Methanosaeta* were dominant in the mesophilic reactor, and the Methanobacteriales species was abundant at thermophilic temperatures (Lee et al. 2017; Patil et al. 2010; Yu et al. 2014).

The pH is also an important factor in microbial growth and stability, and the ideal range has been reported to be 6.8–7.4 (Speece 1983). In addition, pH is intrinsically related to alkalinity and volatile acids, and these three environmental factors are equally important to the control the anaerobic processes (Chernicharo 2007).

Methanogens are extremely sensitive to pH, and these microorganisms have optimum growth in the pH range between 6.6 and 7.4; values above 8.3 and below 6.0 should be avoided due to their inhibition effect (Gerardi 2003). On the other hand, hydrolytic and acidogenic bacteria are generally less sensitive and can function in a larger range of pH (4.5–8.0); besides, even lower values can be supported (less than 4.5) (Lettinga et al. 1997). Due to the faster growth of acetogenic bacteria, volatile acids can accumulate if enough alkalinity is not provided (1000–3000 mg/L as $CaCO_3$) (Amani et al. 2010; de Aquino and Chernicharo 2005). Therefore, the control of pH aims to mainly reduce the risk of methanogenic inhibition by the low pH values.

3.4.2 Reactor Start-up

The properties of the microbial seed community regulate the rate of the reactor startup whose duration can vary from a few days to even months. If the reactor start-up is not well developed, a long acclimation period can occur which leads to lower biogas production and poor reactor performance (Hickey et al. 1991). Furthermore, a short and successful start-up time is one of the key factors to economically improving the biogas production and increasing the competitiveness of anaerobic reactors (Weiland and Rozzi 1991).

During this initial phase, the hydrolytic and acidogenic bacteria groups dominate the system, especially because of their short generation time, which is highly active while the methanogenic microorganisms are just becoming established due to their low growth rate (Gerardi 2003; Weiland and Rozzi 1991).

The principal microbial factors that influence the start-up of the reactor are the dominating microbial groups, i.e., hydrolytic, acidogenic, acetogenic or methanogenic, growth rate and the shape of methanogenic community, the biomass
yield coefficient, and the rate adaption of the microorganisms to the substrate (Weiland and Rozzi 1991). Hence, start-up strategies should be developed to increase the population of the selected inoculum to improve the reactor performance and biogas production. These strategies include the control of fluctuations of external parameters such as temperature, hydraulic retention time (HRT), pH and OLR (Barber and Stuckey 1998).

The optimum temperature ranges are 33–37 °C and 50–55 °C for mesophilic and thermophilic inoculum, respectively (Kim et al. 2002). The pH of the substrate should be maintained in the range of 6.8–7.2 for the maximum methanogenic growth also to prevent accumulation of intermediate products such as VFA and ammonia (Angelidaki et al. 2006; Gerardi 2003). OLR must be as low as possible, and the optimal value depends on the reactor configuration and substrate composition (Barber and Stuckey 1999). Moreover, a long HRT during the initial period is recommended to avoid biomass washout (Leitão et al. 2006).

The seed inoculum used to start-up an anaerobic reactor is usually taken from another working reactor, especially an up-flow sludge bed reactor (UASB) or waste activated sludge, from a municipal digester or adapted from animal manure (Amani et al. 2010; Chachkhiani et al. 2004; Kobayashi et al. 2009). However, in some cases, start-up can rely on the internal inoculum available in the substrate by cultivating microorganisms throughout the anaerobic self-degradation (Kobayashi et al. 2009). According to De La Rubia et al. (2013), there is a relation between the high levels of *Archaea* microorganisms and the success of the reactor start-up; however, reactors that experienced a difficult start-up period had lower levels of *Archaea*. Therefore, the microbial community seed must contain a high level of methanogen microorganisms to optimize and reduce the start-up time.

3.4.3 Retention Time and OLR

Retention time and organic load rate (OLR) are parameters related to each other and to the reactor design and volume, flowrate and organic content of the feed, microbial growth rate and characteristics of the substrate, i.e., organic matter content.

In an anaerobic reactor, there are two retention times to considered: solids retention time (SRT) and hydraulic retention time (HRT). SRT is related to the average time that the microorganisms, i.e., solids, spend in the reactor while HRT is the time the substrates are in the reactor and is related to the reactor volume and influent flowrate (Chernicharo 2007). HRT can be used to control the dominant species in the reactor, whereas SRT is considered as an important factor that ensures the growth and stability of various populations of microorganisms inside the reactor (Kundu et al. 2017; Zhang and Noike 1994). The methanogens, due to their slow microbial growth rate, are the microorganisms that most affect the retention time of the operation.

From an economic point of view, short HRT is preferable due to a smaller reactor volume required, while high SRT maximizes the reactor performance, provides buffering capacity for protection against the shock loads and permits biological acclimation to toxic compounds (Gerardi 2003; Weiland and Rozzi 1991). However, decreasing HRT usually leads to VFA accumulation which causes inhibition of methanogens and affects biogas production (Kuruti et al. 2017; Mao et al. 2015). Besides, shortening of SRT coupled with increasing OLR can lead to a higher biogas production rate and volumetric methane productivity, which improves the energy balance of the processes and overall degradation efficiency (De La Rubia et al. 2006; Nges and Liu 2010).

According to various recent studies using high-throughput sequencing and advanced molecular techniques, bacteria affiliated with the phyla Firmicutes and methanogens from the order Methanosarcinales, specifically *Methanosarcinaceae* group, were the dominant population at higher HRT, while at low HRT bacteria belonging to the phyla Gammaproteobacteria, Actinobacteria, Bacteroidetes, Deferribacteres, and archaea groups of Methanomicrobiales, Methanobacteriales, and Methanosaetaceae were predominant during the AD (Kundu et al. 2017; Wei et al. 2017; Xu et al. 2018c). At reduced SRT, Vanwonterghem et al. (2015) observed a washout of acetoclastic *Methanosaeta*, while the microbial community was dominated by bacteria from the genera *Alkaliflexus*, *Fibrobacter*, and *Ruminococcus*. By increasing the SRT from 4 to 12 hours, the authors detected the prevalence of populations belonging to the bacterial genera *Ruminococcus*, *Clostridium*, *Bacteroides*, and the archaeal genus *Methanosaeta*.

Methane production is particularly affected by the HRT, although HRT has been reported to cause less effects on microorganisms than OLR (Ferguson et al. 2018). During reactor start-up, OLR is preferably kept low and is gradually increased to trigger microbial growth along the operation which can lead to a higher methane production rate (Kundu et al. 2017). The stepwise increase in OLR allows the archaea community to adapt their cell density required for the consumption of VFA rapidly produced by the bacteria; hence, the methanogens are able to produce biogas constantly and attain a new steady state before a new increase in the OLR (Nakasaki et al. 2015).

In a study conducted by Rincón et al. (2008), the effect of OLR was investigated in a CSTR reactor and revealed that at low OLR, firmicutes, mostly represented by the genus *Clostridium*, were the predominant bacteria while the bacterial community which was most abundant at higher OLR were Pseudomonas, Actinobacteria, Bacteroidetes, and Deferribacteres. However, the archaeal community showed a static phylotypic composition mainly consisting of the *Methanosaeta* group as also demonstrated by Nakasaki et al. (2015). On the other hand, other studies showed a significant population shift from *Methanosaeta* to *Methanosarcina* groups by increasing OLR (Boonapatcharoen et al. 2007; Chelliapan et al. 2011).

OLR also influences the formation of anaerobic granular sludge in the high rate reactor, specially the UASB reactors (Hulshoff Pol et al. 2004). Mass transfer between incoming substrate and biomass, microbial proximity for syntrophic reactions, staging, and configuration of phased digesters are the key factors controlling the OLR (Amani et al. 2010). Therefore, the recommended value of OLR is greatly dependent on the type of waste, the operational temperature range, and reactor design.

Hydraulic and organic shock loads are caused by variations in HRT and OLR, respectively, and can result in a significant change in microbial community by altering the balance between the acidogenesis and methanogenesis, particularly affecting the archaeal community (Kundu et al. 2017; Vanwonterghem et al. 2015). The response of each syntrophic group to the change in conditional operations is related to their growth rate, and a proper balance between the different microbial groups is especially important to biogas production stability.

3.4.4 Anaerobic Co-digestion

Anaerobic co-digestion (AcoD) utilizes two or more substrates with complementary characteristics to balance the nutrients (C:N ratio), promote dilution of toxic compounds, improve synergism between microorganisms, and for the supplementation of trace elements and/or moisture. By combining co-substrates, AD of complementary residues can be maximized, resulting in higher biogas production, thus improving the economic viability of the AD process, promoting waste recycling, and contributing to environmental conservation (Mata-Alvarez et al. 2014).

Animal manure, sewage sludge, and organic fraction of municipal solid waste (OFMSW) are the most common residues utilized as the main substrate in AcoD (Beneragama et al. 2017; Elalami et al. 2019; Tyagi et al. 2018). Animal manure is usually complemented with agro-industrial wastewater, glycerol (glycerin), and cheese whey, while sewage sludge and OFSW are commonly utilized as co-substrates due to facilitated transportation logistics (Sosnowski et al. 2003). Other co-substrates include food waste, leachate, algae (macro and micro), industrial wastewater, fat, oil and grease (FOG), lignocellulosic biomass (yard waste and crop residues), and sewage (Esposito et al. 2012).

The characteristics and nutritional balance, especially the C:N ratio, of the co-substrates influence the stability between the bacteria and methanogen groups and can promote a more robust microbial community and enhance biogas production (Xu et al. 2018c). In fact, the ideal C:N ratio has been reported in the range of 20 to 35 (Puñal et al. 2000), and the combination of substrates to provide the optimal ratio is necessary to improve the biogas yield from AcoD. For instance, Rahman et al. (2017) reported the highest methane yield when a mixture between poultry wastewater and lignocellulosic biomass had a C:N of 32; (Haider et al. 2015), who co-digested food waste and rice husk, showed that feedstock C:N ratio of 20 promoted the best AcoD performance, while Astals et al. (2011) found an optimum C:N ratio of 23 treating pig manure and glycerin.

Moreover, the microbial community structure is also a major factor in the performance of AcoD. The bacterial community is capable of metabolizing a large variety of substrates although feedstock composition regulates the bacterial consortia diversity, thus influencing the archaeal community (Ros et al. 2013). Bacteria affiliated with the Firmicutes and Chloroflexi groups have been found in a wide range of AcoD processes due to their capacity of degrading a large amount of organic waste (Chouari et al. 2005; Tyagi et al. 2018). Specifically, in AcoD using

animal manure as the main substrate, pyrosequencing results revealed the presence of *Halothermothrix*, *Selenomonas*, and *Halocella* affiliated to Firmicutes and *Methanosarcina* species of the family *Methanosarcinaceae* (Goberna et al. 2010; Riya et al. 2016).

AcoD of sewage sludge with OFMSW, both major urban environmental issues, have been reported to be a sustainable method for disposing of this waste (Edwards et al. 2017). 16S rRNA gene sequences revealed in co-digestion of sewage sludge and urban OFMSW that *Thermonema* was dominant bacteria, while other bacteria belonging to phyla Firmicutes, Bacteroidetes, Synergistes and Thermotoga, particularly the orders *Clostridiales, Bacteroidales, Thermoanaerobacterales, Synergistia* and *Thermotogales* were detected in small amounts; archaeal assigned to the orders Methanobacteriales, Methanomicrobiales, and Methanosarcinales were the predominant methanogens (Fitamo et al. 2017; Martín-González et al. 2011).

Bacteria associated with the phylum Firmicutes and Bacteroidetes, particularly Clostridia and Bacteroidia species, were reported to be the most abundant microorganisms in AcoD of agricultural waste combined with animal manure (Ziganshin et al. 2013). The facultative acetoclastic Methanosarcina genus, the strict acetotrophic genera Methanosaeta, the hydrogenotrophic genera Methanocalculus, Methanobacterium, Methanolobus, Methanoculleus, Methanothermobacter, Methanobrevibacter. Methanocorpusculum, Methanomicrobium. and Methanospirillum and the methanol-consuming genus Methanosphaera were detected with the AnaeroChip microarray in the AcoD of cattle manure and olive mill waste, showing the diversity of archaeal during co-digestion (Goberna et al. 2010).

3.5 Process Configurations for Biogas Production: From Consolidated Technologies to Innovations

Several anaerobic digestion technologies have been proposed over the years, and the way they are implemented around the world can vary significantly. In developing countries, there are many small-scale household digesters that produce enough biogas to be used in the home, while large-scale agricultural or centralized digesters with large capacities are found in developed countries. Currently, there are 132,000 biogas digesters in operation worldwide, most of them in China, Europe, and United States, where there are over 100,000, 18,202, and 2200 units, respectively (EBA 2019; REN21 2020).

Biogas plants can be separated into three broad categories: micro-digesters using the biogas, scale digesters, which generate electricity and produce upgraded biogas, i.e., biomethane, respectively (World Biogas Association 2019). From an economic point of view, AD systems can be classified into two categories: large-scale AD systems, largely used in sewage plants and wastewater industrial units, and small-scale AD systems, such as households and community scale farms in rural areas (Vasco-Correa et al. 2018).

Likewise, anaerobic systems generally used to treat waste can be separated into two main groups: conventional systems, such as sludge digesters, septic tanks, and anaerobic ponds; and high-rate systems, such as up-flow sludge blanket reactors (UASB), expanded granular bed reactors (EGSB) and an anaerobic sequencing batch reactor (ASBR) (Chernicharo 2007). However, anaerobic processes can be classified according to the solids concentration in the reactor: wet or dry (or solid state) AD processes, whose reactors are operated with solids content below 10% and between 15% and 35%, respectively (Weiland 2010).

Currently, certain reactor configurations are very well established and are considered consolidated technologies, which are used in several industrial and agricultural units. However, new types of reactors have been proposed to enhance biogas production to provide diverse environment for different microbial populations and to control factors of inhibition. Recent research focuses on novel reactor geometry and design as well as two-phase reactors.

3.5.1 Consolidated Technologies

Among the consolidated technologies utilized in the AD, the high-rate systems transformed the AD into a commercial and sustainable process which was successfully applied to treat various types of wastewater and residues along with the bioenergy production. Developing high-rate reactors allowed the separation of HRT and SRT, leading to smaller reactor volumes by reducing the HRT applied while high biomass concentration enhances the reactor performance (Lettinga et al. 1997).

High-rate anaerobic reactors can be classified according to the type of biomass growth in the system: suspended (or dispersed) growth, whose microorganisms are present as flocs or granules, and attached growth, which requires a moving or fixed inert support material for the microbial fixation, promoting the formation of biofilms (Chernicharo 2007). Anaerobic filters, expanded/fluidized bed reactor, and the anaerobic membrane reactor are the most commonly known reactors with attached microbial growth while granular sludge is seeded and/or developed in UASB, expanded bed reactors such as EGSB and anaerobic reactor with internal recirculation (IC) (Van Lier 2008).

Among the high-rate reactors, the UASB is certainly the main process configuration in current use. The granulation of anaerobic sludge has been considered the major reason of successfully implementing UASB reactors for AD treatment of several kinds of waste, particularly in domestic sewage treatment (Foresti et al. 2006). The granule is formed by microorganisms that organize themselves into dense and highly structured aggregates, in which a diverse microbial community grows in a syntrophic symbiosis (Liu et al. 2002). The granule structure mainly consists of different layers with the hydrolytic/acidogenic bacteria primarily dominating the outer layer and the inner layer consisting of methanogens (Tartakovsky and Guiot 1997). Besides years of research, the mechanisms of granule formation are still not fully elucidated; however, it seems that the process is a spontaneous microbial involvement (Show et al. 2020). Theories approaching the physical, microbial, and thermodynamic conditions applied to the anaerobic system have been considered the major factors responsible for granulation. According to Hulshoff Pol et al. (2004), *Methanosaeta concilii* is a key microorganism in anaerobic granule formation. The Cape Town hypothesis stated that granulation depends on *Methanobacterium* strain AZ while the Spaghetti Theory proposed that granule formation can be initiated by the attachment of filamentous *Methanosaeta* on a precursor whose granule microbial structure is further developed by incorporating other microorganisms such as *Methanosarcina* (Hulshoff Pol et al. 2004; Show et al. 2020).

Other consolidated configurations widely used in AD plants are continuously stirred tank reactors (CSTR), in which the microorganisms are suspended inside the reactor through intermittent or continuous mixing; and the expanded bed reactors (EGSB), which are similar to UASBs except that the high hydraulic rate expands the sludge, intensifying the hydraulic mixture providing greater contact between the biomass-substrate. (Mao et al. 2015; Seghezzo et al. 1998).

Regardless of the small-scale AD systems, mostly are household units $(2-10 \text{ m}^3)$, usually located in rural areas in China, India, and other developing countries. There are three types of digesters commonly used: the Chinese fixed dome digester, the Indian floating drum digester, and the tube digester (Surendra et al. 2014; Vasco-Correa et al. 2018). These digesters have a simple design, low-cost installation, and the biogas produced is usually used for cooking and heating.

3.5.2 Innovation

Many studies have focused on developing new anaerobic reactor configurations and/or redesigning the existing models to enhance biogas production, yield and quality, and to optimize and economically improve AD. Multi and two-phase AD systems have been used to optimize the AD by separating hydrolysis/acidogenesis and acetogenesis/methanogenesis phases. These systems can utilize two (or more) separated reactors or only one integrated reactor in which the AD phases can be physically separated, such as the anaerobic baffled reactor (ABR) (Ke et al. 2005; Rajendran et al. 2020).

Anaerobic membrane bioreactors (AnMBR) are considered as new-generation technology, whose process can effectively retain key microorganisms such as methanogens allowing high biomass concentration while obtaining a high-quality effluent (Zhen et al. 2019). Various reactor configurations have been developed over the years, such as anaerobic fluidized-bed membrane bioreactors, anaerobic submerged rotating membrane bioreactors (AnSRMBR), anaerobic dynamic membrane bioreactors (AnDMBR), and anaerobic electrochemical membrane bioreactors (AnEMBR) (Maaz et al. 2019). However, there are some challenging aspects that must be overcome to consolidate the use of membrane technology on a large scale,

such as membrane fouling and recovery of dissolved methane (Smith et al. 2012; Vinardell et al. 2020).

The quality of the final effluent of the AD process is a constant concern in wastewater treatment plants. To overcome this issue, the combination of anaerobic and aerobic systems has been used in industrial wastewater treatment for years, particularly the food industry. However, new process configurations are being widely studied to reduce costs and improve the quality of the effluent in order to meet the regulatory regulations for disposal, in addition to increasing bioenergy recovery. The combination of anaerobic and aerobic processes in a single integrated reactor is attractive in the sense of meeting the constraints related to space, odor, and minimal sludge production and at the same time, presenting an excellent cost–benefit ratio. However, most integrated systems reported in the literature lack large-scale implementation (Chan et al. 2009).

3.5.3 Solid-state Anaerobic Digestion

Solid-state anaerobic digestion (SS-AD) englobes the biogas production from various solid wastes, such as waste activated sludge, lignocellulosic biomass, and municipal solid waste. The process is usually operated at a total solids (TS) concentration between 15% and 50% and has the potential to provide, besides the biogas, organic fertilizer (soil conditioner) or carrier material for biofertilizers and pelletized fuel (Van Lier et al. 2001).

SS-AD systems have some advantages over liquid AD such as lower energy requirements for heating and mixing, fewer moving parts, absence of floating and stratification of fats and fibers, minimal material handling, and a greater acceptance of inputs containing glass, plastics and grit (Li et al. 2011; Mata-Alvarez et al. 2000). However, AD of solid waste requires longer retention times due to slower mass transportation, which were reported to be up to three times longer than liquid AD (Khalid et al. 2011).

Several reactor configurations, continuous or batch modes, have been utilized for SS-AD. The start-up of SS-AD reactors has been considered as a critical phase, which requires a highly concentrated and active inoculum to improve digestion time and efficacy during the initial phase of operation (Forster-Carneiro et al. 2008). Moreover, the temperature regulates the performance of SS-AD as well as the selection of waste/inoculum and feedstock/effluent ratios and the assessment of anaerobic biodegradability of the waste (Mata-Alvarez et al. 2000).

Nevertheless, there are some issues associated with SS-AD such as lower methane yield and organic matter stabilization and, to overcome them, anaerobic co-digestion has been proposed to enhance biogas production and yield as well as to produce a stabilized compost to be recycled as an organic amendment (Van Lier et al. 2001). Moreover, pretreatment of the substrates can be used to improve the performance of SS-AD by breaking down the complex organic structure into simpler molecules that are easily degraded by the microbial community (Yadvika et al. 2004).

During AD of solid wastes, hydrolysis is considered a major rate-limited phase which influences the conversion efficiency of the process. Regardless of the microbial community in SS-AD, hydrolytic bacteria Firmicutes and *Clostridium* species are most commonly found, while *Clostridiaceae* are microbial community that are responsible for degrading the particulate COD of solid residues (Regueiro et al. 2014). Thermomonospora, Tepidimicrobium, Pseudomonas, Acinetobacter. Ralstonia, Lactobacillus and Shewanella have been reported to be involved in the degradation of food waste and municipal solid waste (Shi et al. 2020; Wu et al. 2020). The cellulolytic bacteria such as Ruminococcus Clostridium, Cellulomonas, Thermomonospora, Baceriodes, Erwinia, Acetovibrio, Bacillus, and Microbispora are related to the degradation of lignocellulosic biomass due to their production of cellulases (Heeg et al. 2014; Lo et al. 2009).

A pyrosequencing-based metagenomic study demonstrated that species affiliated to genera *Methanosarcina*, *Methanosaeta* and *Methanoculleus* of Euryarchaeota, specifically the species *Methanosarcina barkeri fusaro*, *Methanoculleus marisnigri JR1*, and *Methanosaeta theromphila* consisted of the main methane-producing microbial community in an SS-AD reactor (Li et al. 2013).

Therefore, SS-AD systems may have a high diversity of micro-environments due to the heterogeneous nature of the feedstock. This diversity allows the growth of the microbial groups necessary to complete the first steps of AD, thus providing conditions to establish methanogens.

3.6 Conclusion and Future Perspectives

AD is a well-established biological route, commonly used for biogas production and consists of a four-step process that involves the action of different groups of microorganisms. Currently, different materials can be used as feedstock. It is particularly important to study the composition and physical-chemical structure of each substrate. Moreover, the optimal feedstock choice is necessary to plan the adequate technological model for the effective construction of the biogas plant.

Besides the type of substrate, it is necessary to understand the syntrophic activity of the microbial communities involved in the AD. Once knowing the present microbiota, the nutritional and operational conditions can be used to improve the biomethane production. For instance, the major microorganisms presented in the four-steps are: the microbial degradation in the hydrolysis and acidogenesis steps involve the phylum Firmicutes, from genera *Anaeromusa, Anaerosphaera, Aminobacterium, Aminomonas, Gelria, Peptoniphilus, Thermanaerovibrio, Clostridium, Proteiniborus* and *Sporanaerobacter*. The microbial degradation in the acetogenesis step involves acetogenic bacteria from the genera *Clostridium* and *Acetobacterium.* The last step of the AD, considered the limiting phase, involves methanogenic archaeal microorganisms that are the mainly responsible for producing methane and belong to the phylum Euryarchaeota.

The published data for AD indicate that several factors such as temperature, pH and OLR can affect the stability of the microbial community on anaerobic systems,

resulting in high or low biogas rates. Therefore, optimization conditions such as temperature levels (25-40 °C), pH range of 6.8–7.4, short HRT, high SRT maximize reactor performance, provide buffering capacity for protection against the shock loads and permits biological acclimation to toxic compounds. In addition, recent studies claim that advances on molecular biology, metagenomic and metabolomic techniques led to new insights into anaerobic microbial populations in terms of diversity and activity at mesophilic and thermophilic temperatures.

The main microbial factors that influence the start-up of the reactor are the dominating microbial groups, i.e., hydrolytic, acidogenic, acetogenic or methanogenic, growth rate and the dominating shape of the methanogenic community, the biomass yield coefficient, and the rate adaption of the microorganisms to the substrate. Finally, anaerobic co-digestion has been used to improve the anaerobic digestion process in which the combination of different co-substrates is mixed to enhance biogas production mainly due to the equilibration of the nutrients balance in the mixture (C:N ratio).

High-rate systems include reactor configurations, which are well-established and consolidated technologies, which are used in various industrial or agricultural plants. However, novel types of reactors have been studied to provide diverse environment for different microbial populations and to control factors of inhibition. Different solutions in terms of reactor configurations, such as the development of new anaerobic reactor configurations and/or redesign of the existing models are applied to enhance biogas production. For example, two-phase reactors to separate the hydrolysis/acidogenesis and acetogenesis/methanogenesis phases. Besides, the solid-state anaerobic digestion (SS-AD) approach not only englobes the biogas production from various solids waste, but also has the potential to provide organic fertilizer or carrier material for biofertilizers and pelletized fuel.

AD is an efficient and consolidated technology used worldwide to convert different types of wastes, residues, and wastewaters to a highly energetic biogas. The biogas produced in AD processes can be used to generate electricity and heat and be upgraded to biomethane, by removing CO_2 and other impurities, rather than being injected to natural gas pipelines or used directly as vehicle fuel. Despite using biogas as a source of renewable energy, the AD process is involved in climate change mitigation; by reducing greenhouse gas emissions and capturing biogas of landfills; improving urban air and water quality by substituting fossil fuel to biomethane and promoting sanitation, respectively. Moreover, biogas generation contributes towards a circular economy, transforming waste and residues into bioenergy, as well as improving food security whose inorganic fertilizers can be replaced by biofertilizers.

Although there are numerous advantages by utilizing bioenergy from AD, the biogas industry is in its initial stages of development. According to the World Biogas Association (2019), only 1.6–2.2% of the full potential of AD is reached and to fulfill the full potential of biogas, policies such as waste management and comprehensive agricultural policies; regulations are also required to encourage the implementation of AD technology. In addition, incentives that favor biogas over oil and fossil fuels,

such as tax exemptions and tax credit, credits for carbon reduction and carbon trading, as well as tax cuts for domestic and small-scale digesters.

However, biogas production has been growing in the European energy market where the number of biogas plants has increased continuously over the past years, especially due to numerous incentives from the government and European Union which includes the obligation certification for energy renewability and taxes policies. Biogas generation and utilization are also representative in China and India although they are restricted to small-scale units and concentrated in rural areas. The United States has the second highest national bio-power capacity and generation; however, the biogas market is stagnant in the country due to the lack of policy drivers and incentives. In Latin American countries such as Brazil, there are over 300 large-scale biogas plants in operation where more than three million cubic meters of biogas are produced daily, to generate electricity and biomethane (CIBIOGÁS - Centro Internacional de Energias Renováveis - Biogás 2019; EBA 2019; REN21 2020).

AD can be considered an industry global growth potential that generated highvalue products. The potential of biogas production is high and can be a sustainable option to substitute fossil fuels. Governments must propose new regulations and incentives that favor AD, as well as waste management alternatives. In fact, AD technology allows the action of microorganisms and a key factor to economically improving the AD is to better understand the syntrophic metabolism that occurs throughout in each step of the microbial degradation, as well as the bacteria and archaea microorganisms involved in the processes.

Acknowledgments We acknowledge the support from the doctoral fellowship from Brenda C. G. Rodrigues, Bruna S. de Mello and Luana C. Grangeiro by CAPES.

References

- Affes M, Aloui F, Hadrich F, Loukil S, Sayadi S (2017) Effect of bacterial lipase on anaerobic co-digestion of slaughterhouse wastewater and grease in batch condition and continuous fixedbed reactor. Lipids Health Dis 16:1–8. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12944-017-0587-2
- Ahmad T, Aadil RM, Ahmed H, Rahman U, Soares BCV, Souza SLQ, Pimentel TC, Scudino H, Guimarães JT, Esmerino EA, Freitas MQ, Almada RB, Vendramel SMR, Silva MC, Cruz AG (2019) Treatment and utilization of dairy industrial waste: a review. Trends Food Sci Technol 88:361–372. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tifs.2019.04.003
- Ahmed PM, Fernández PM, de Figueroa LIC, Pajot HF (2019) Exploitation alternatives of olive mill wastewater: production of value-added compounds useful for industry and agriculture. Biofuel Res J 6:980–994. https://doi.org/10.18331/BRJ2019.6.2.4
- Ahring BK (1994) Status on science and application of thermophilic anaerobic digestion. Water Sci Technol 30:241–249
- Alibardi L, Cossu R (2016) Effects of carbohydrate, protein and lipid content of organic waste on hydrogen production and fermentation products. Waste Manag 47:69–77. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.wasman.2015.07.049
- Alves MM, Pereira MA, Sousa DZ, Cavaleiro AJ, Picavet M, Smidt H, Stams AJM (2009) Waste lipids to energy: how to optimize methane production from long-chain fatty acids (LCFA). Microb Biotechnol 2:538–550. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-7915.2009.00100.x

- Amani T, Nosrati M, Sreekrishnan TR (2010) Anaerobic digestion from the viewpoint of microbiological, chemical, and operational aspects - a review. Environ Rev 18:255–278. https://doi.org/10.1139/A10-011
- Amani T, Nosrati M, Mousavi SM, Elyasi S (2015) Study of microbiological and operational parameters in thermophilic syntrophic degradation of volatile fatty acids in an upflow anaerobic sludge blanket reactor. J Environ Chem Eng 3:507–514. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jece.2014.12. 016
- Amon T, Amon B, Kryvoruchko V, Bodiroza V, Pötsch E, Zollitsch W (2006) Optimising methane yield from anaerobic digestion of manure: effects of dairy systems and of glycerine supplementation. Int Congr Ser 1293:217–220. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ics.2006.03.007
- Angelidaki I, Chen X, Cui J, Kaparaju P, Ellegaard L (2006) Thermophilic anaerobic digestion of source-sorted organic fraction of household municipal solid waste: start-up procedure for continuously stirred tank reactor. Water Res 40:2621–2628. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres. 2006.05.015
- Angelidaki I, Karakashev D, Batstone DJ, Plugge CM, Stams AJM (2011) Biomethanation and its potential. In: Methods in enzymology. Elsevier Inc., Amsterdam, pp 327–351. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/B978-0-12-385112-3.00016-0
- Apergis N, Chang T, Gupta R, Ziramba E (2016) Hydroelectricity consumption and economic growth nexus: evidence from a panel of ten largest hydroelectricity consumers. Renew Sust Energ Rev 62:318–325. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2016.04.075
- Astals S, Ariso M, Galí A, Mata-Alvarez J (2011) Co-digestion of pig manure and glycerine: experimental and modelling study. J Environ Manag 92:1091–1096. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jenvman.2010.11.014
- Azbar N, Çetinkaya Dokgöz FT, Keskin T, Korkmaz KS, Syed HM (2009) Continuous fermentative hydrogen production from cheese whey wastewater under thermophilic anaerobic conditions. Int J Hydrogen Energy 34:7441–7447. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2009.04. 032
- Aziz MM, Kassim KA, ElSergany M, Anuar S, Jorat ME, Yaacob H, Ahsan A, Imteaz MA, Arifuzzaman (2020) Recent advances on palm oil mill effluent (POME) pretreatment and anaerobic reactor for sustainable biogas production. Renew Sust Energ Rev 119:109603. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2019.109603
- Azman, S., Khadem, A.F., Van Lier, J.B., Zeeman, G., Plugge, C.M., 2015. Presence and role of anaerobic hydrolytic microbes in conversion of lignocellulosic biomass for biogas production. Crit Rev Environ Sci Technol 45, 2523–2564. https://doi.org/10.1080/10643389.2015.1053727
- Baena S, Fardeau M-L, Ollivier B, Labat M, Thomas P, Garcia J-L, Patel BKC (1999) Aminomonas paucivorans gen. Nov., sp. nov., a mesophilic, anaerobic, amino-acid-utilizing bacterium. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 49:975–982. https://doi.org/10.1099/00207713-49-3-975
- Baena S, Fardeau ML, Labat M, Ollivier B, Garcia JL, Patel BK (2000) Aminobacterium mobile sp. nov., a new anaerobic amino-acid-degrading bacterium. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 50:259–264. https://doi.org/10.1099/00207713-50-1-259
- Balk M, Weijma J, Stams AJM (2002) *Thermotoga lettingae* sp. nov., a novel thermophilic, methanol-degrading bacterium isolated from a thermophilic anaerobic reactor. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 52:1361–1368. https://doi.org/10.1099/00207713-52-4-1361
- Banks CJ, Zhang Y, Jiang Y, Heaven S (2012) Trace element requirements for stable food waste digestion at elevated ammonia concentrations. Bioresour Technol 104:127–135. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.biortech.2011.10.068
- Barber WP, Stuckey DC (1998) The influence of start-up strategies on the performance of an anaerobic baffled reactor. Environ Technol 19:489–501. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 09593331908616705
- Barber WP, Stuckey DC (1999) The use of the anaerobic baffled reactor (ABR) for wastewater treatment: a review. Water Resour 33:1559–1578

- Bassani I, Kougias PG, Treu L, Angelidaki I (2015) Biogas upgrading via hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis in two-stage continuous stirred tank reactors at mesophilic and thermophilic conditions. Environ Sci Technol 49:12585–12593. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.5b03451
- Basset N, Santos E, Dosta J, Mata-Álvarez J (2016) Start-up and operation of an AnMBR for winery wastewater treatment. Ecol Eng 86:279–289. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoleng.2015.11. 003
- Bedoić R, Špehar A, Puljko J, Čuček L, Ćosić B, Pukšec T, Duić N (2020) Opportunities and challenges: experimental and kinetic analysis of anaerobic co-digestion of food waste and rendering industry streams for biogas production. Renew Sust Energ Rev 130:109951. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2020.109951
- Beneragama N, Iwasaki M, Umetsu K (2017) Methane production from thermophilic co-digestion of dairy manure and waste milk obtained from therapeutically treated cows. Anim Sci J 88:401–409. https://doi.org/10.1111/asj.12624
- Bialek K, Kumar A, Mahony T, Lens PNL, O'Flaherty V (2012) Microbial community structure and dynamics in anaerobic fluidized-bed and granular sludge-bed reactors: influence of operational temperature and reactor configuration. Microb Biotechnol 5:738–752. https://doi.org/10. 1111/j.1751-7915.2012.00364.x
- Bohutskyi P, Bouwer EJ (2013) Biogas production from algae and cyanobacteria through anaerobic digestion: a review, analysis, and research needs. In: Lee J (ed) Advanced biofuels and bioproducts. Springer, New York, pp 1–1122. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-3348-4
- Bong CPC, Lim LY, Lee CT, Klemeš JJ, Ho CS, Ho WS (2018) The characterisation and treatment of food waste for improvement of biogas production during anaerobic digestion – a review. J Clean Prod 172:1545–1558. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.10.199
- Boonapatcharoen N, Meepian K, Chaiprasert P, Techkarnjanaruk S (2007) Molecular monitoring of microbial population dynamics during operational periods of anaerobic hybrid reactor treating cassava starch wastewater. Microb Ecol 54:21–30. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00248-006-9161-6
- Bulak P, Proc K, Pawłowska M, Kasprzycka A, Berus W, Bieganowski A (2020) Biogas generation from insects breeding post production wastes. J Clean Prod 244:118777. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.jclepro.2019.118777
- Campanaro, S., Treu, L., Kougias, P.G., De Francisci, D., Valle, G., Angelidaki, I., 2016. Metagenomic analysis and functional characterization of the biogas microbiome using high throughput shotgun sequencing and a novel binning strategy. Biotechnol Biofuels 9, 26. https:// doi.org/10.1186/s13068-016-0441-1
- Carballa M, Regueiro L, Lema JM (2015) Microbial management of anaerobic digestion : exploiting the microbiome-functionality nexus. Curr Opin Biotechnol 33:103–111. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.copbio.2015.01.008
- Cesaro A, Belgiorno V (2014) Pretreatment methods to improve anaerobic biodegradability of organic municipal solid waste fractions. Chem Eng J 240:24–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej. 2013.11.055
- Chachkhiani M, Dabert P, Abzianidze T, Partskhaladze G, Tsiklauri L, Dudauri T, Godon JJ (2004) 16S rDNA characterisation of bacterial and archaeal communities during start-up of anaerobic thermophilic digestion of cattle manure. Bioresour Technol 93:227–232. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.biortech.2003.11.005
- Chan YJ, Chong MF, Law CL, Hassell DG (2009) A review on anaerobic–aerobic treatment of industrial and municipal wastewater. Chem Eng J 155:1–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CEJ. 2009.06.041
- Chelliapan S, Wilby T, Yuzir A, Sallis PJ (2011) Influence of organic loading on the performance and microbial community structure of an anaerobic stage reactor treating pharmaceutical wastewater. Desalination 271:257–264. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.desal.2010.12.045
- Chen R, Roos MM, Zhong Y, Marsh T, Roman MB, Hernandez Ascencio W, Uribe L, Uribe Lorio L, Kirk D, Reinhold DM, Miranda Chavarria JA, Baudrit Ruiz D, Pereira JFA, Montero WR, Srivastava A, Liao W (2016) Responses of anaerobic microorganisms to different culture

conditions and corresponding effects on biogas production and solid digestate quality. Biomass Bioenergy 85:84–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2015.11.028

- Cheng Y, Shi Q, Sun R, Liang D, Li Y, Li Y, Jin W, Zhu W (2018) The biotechnological potential of anaerobic fungi on fiber degradation and methane production. World J Microbiol Biotechnol 34:155. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11274-018-2539-z
- Chernicharo CAL (2007) Anaerobic reactors, 1st edn. Water Intelligence Online. IWA Publishing, London. https://doi.org/10.2166/9781780402116
- Cho K, Lee J, Kim W, Hwang S (2013) Behavior of methanogens during start-up of farm-scale anaerobic digester treating swine wastewater. Process Biochem 48:1441–1445. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.procbio.2013.04.016
- Chouari R, Le Paslier D, Daegelen P, Ginestet P, Weissenbach J, Sghir A (2005) Novel predominant archaeal and bacterial groups revealed by molecular analysis of an anaerobic sludge digester. Environ Microbiol 7:1104–1115. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1462-2920.2005.00795.x
- Chowdhury T, Chowdhury H, Hossain N, Ahmed A, Hossen MS, Chowdhury P, Thirugnanasambandam M, Saidur R (2020) Latest advancements on livestock waste management and biogas production: Bangladesh's perspective. J Clean Prod 272:122818. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.122818
- CIBIOGÁS Centro Internacional de Energias Renováveis Biogás (2019) Panorama do biogás no Brasil em: 2018
- Cirne DG, Paloumet X, Björnsson L, Alves MM, Mattiasson B (2007) Anaerobic digestion of lipidrich waste-effects of lipid concentration. Renew Energy 32:965–975. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. renene.2006.04.003
- Cord-Ruwisch R, Seitz HJ, Conrad R (1988) The capacity of hydrogenotrophic anaerobic bacteria to compete for traces of hydrogen depends on the redox potential of the terminal electron acceptor. Arch Microbiol 149:350–357. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00411655
- Costa KC, Leigh JA (2014) Metabolic versatility in methanogens. Curr Opin Biotechnol 29:70–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copbio.2014.02.012
- Cuetos MJ, Gómez X, Otero M, Morán A (2008) Anaerobic digestion of solid slaughterhouse waste (SHW) at laboratory scale: influence of co-digestion with the organic fraction of municipal solid waste (OFMSW). Biochem Eng J 40:99–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bej.2007.11.019
- Damasceno LHS, Ratusznei SM, Zaiat M, Foresti E (2008) Effect of mixing mode on the behavior of an ASBBR with immobilized biomass in the treatment of cheese whey. Brazil J Chem Eng 25:291–298
- Dasa KT, Westman SY, Millati R, Cahyanto MN, Taherzadeh MJ, Niklasson C (2016) Inhibitory effect of long-chain fatty acids on biogas production and the protective effect of membrane bioreactor. Biomed Res Int:2016. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/7263974
- de Aquino SF, Chernicharo CAL (2005) Acúmulo de ácidos graxos voláteis (AGVs) em reatores anaeróbios sob estresse: causas e estratégias de controle. Eng Sanit e Ambient 10:152–161. https://doi.org/10.1590/s1413-41522005000200009
- De Araujo MM, Gaudencio BO, Ayabe DN, Zaiat M (2016) Evaluation of an innovative anaerobic bioreactor with fixed-structured bed (ABFSB) for brewery wastewater treatment. Brazil J Chem Eng 33:733–741. https://doi.org/10.1590/0104-6632.20160334s20150288
- De Gioannis G, Muntoni A, Polettini A, Pomi R (2013) A review of dark fermentative hydrogen production from biodegradable municipal waste fractions. Waste Manag 33:1345–1361. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2013.02.019
- De La Rubia MA, Perez M, Romero LI, Sales D (2006) Effect of solids retention time (SRT) on pilot scale anaerobic thermophilic sludge digestion. Process Biochem 41:79–86. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.procbio.2005.03.073
- De La Rubia MA, Riau V, Raposo F, Borja R (2013) Thermophilic anaerobic digestion of sewage sludge: Focus on the influence of the start-up. A review. Crit Rev Biotechnol 33:448–460. https://doi.org/10.3109/07388551.2012.726962

- De Vrieze J, Hennebel T, Boon N, Verstraete W (2012) Methanosarcina: the rediscovered methanogen for heavy duty biomethanation. Bioresour Technol 112:1–9. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.biortech.2012.02.079
- De Vrieze J, Pinto AJ, Sloan WT, Ijaz UZ (2018) The active microbial community more accurately reflects the anaerobic digestion process: 16S rRNA (gene) sequencing as a predictive tool. Microbiome 6:63. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-018-0449-9
- Deublein D, Steinhauser A (2010) Bioreactions. In: Biogas from waste and renewable resources. Wiley Online Books, New York. https://doi.org/10.1002/9783527632794.ch10
- Ding S-Y, Liu Y-S, Zeng Y, Himmel ME, Baker JO, Bayer EA (2012) How does plant cell wall nanoscale architecture correlate with enzymatic digestibility? Science 338:1055LP–1060. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1227491
- Divya D, Gopinath LR, Merlin Christy P (2015) A review on current aspects and diverse prospects for enhancing biogas production in sustainable means. Renew Sust Energ Rev 42:690–699. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2014.10.055
- Dollhofer V, Podmirseg SM, Callaghan TM, Griffith GW, Fliegerová K (2015) Anaerobic fungi and their potential for biogas production. In: Guebitz GM, Bauer A, Bochmann G, Gronauer A, Weiss S (eds) Biogas science and technology. Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp 41–61. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-21993-6_2
- Drake HL, Gößner AS, Daniel SL (2008) Old Acetogens, new light. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1125:100–128. https://doi.org/10.1196/annals.1419.016
- EBA (2019) Annual statistical report of the European biogas association. European Biogas Association
- Edwards J, Othman M, Crossin E, Burn S (2017) Anaerobic co-digestion of municipal food waste and sewage sludge: a comparative life cycle assessment in the context of a waste service provision. Bioresour Technol 223:237–249. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2016.10.044
- Elalami D, Carrere H, Monlau F, Abdelouahdi K, Oukarroum A, Barakat A (2019) Pretreatment and co-digestion of wastewater sludge for biogas production: recent research advances and trends. Renew Sust Energ Rev 114:109287. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2019.109287
- Enzmann F, Mayer F, Rother M, Holtmann D (2018) Methanogens: biochemical background and biotechnological applications. AMB Express 8:1. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13568-017-0531-x
- Erguder TH, Tezel U, Guven E, Demirer GN (2001) Anaerobic biotransformation and methane generation potential of cheese whey in batch and UASB reactors. Waste Manag 21:643–650
- Esposito G, Frunzo L, Giordano A, Liotta F, Panico A, Pirozzi F (2012) Anaerobic co-digestion of organic wastes. Rev Environ Sci Biotechnol 11:325–341. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11157-012-9277-8
- Ferguson RMW, Coulon F, Villa R (2018) Understanding microbial ecology can help improve biogas production in AD. Sci Total Environ 642:754–763. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv. 2018.06.007
- Ferry JG (2011) Fundamentals of methanogenic pathways that are key to the biomethanation of complex biomass. Curr Opin Biotechnol 22:351–357. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copbio.2011.04. 011
- Fitamo T, Treu L, Boldrin A, Sartori C, Angelidaki I, Scheutz C (2017) Microbial population dynamics in urban organic waste anaerobic co-digestion with mixed sludge during a change in feedstock composition and different hydraulic retention times. Water Res 118:261–271. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2017.04.012
- Foresti E, Zaiat M, Vallero M (2006) Anaerobic processes as the core technology for sustainable domestic wastewater treatment: consolidated applications, new trends, perspectives, and challenges. Rev Environ Sci Biotechnol 5:3–19. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11157-005-4630-9
- Forster-Carneiro T, Pérez M, Romero LI (2008) Influence of total solid and inoculum contents on performance of anaerobic reactors treating food waste. Bioresour Technol 99:6994–7002. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2008.01.018
- Galagan JE, Nusbaum C, Roy A, Endrizzi MG, Macdonald P, FitzHugh W, Calvo S, Engels R, Smirnov S, Atnoor D, Brown A, Allen N, Naylor J, Stange-Thomann N, DeArellano K,

Johnson R, Linton L, McEwan P, McKernan K, Talamas J, Tirrell A, Ye W, Zimmer A, Barber RD, Cann I, Graham DE, Grahame DA, Guss AM, Hedderich R, Ingram-Smith C, Kuettner HC, Krzycki JA, Leigh JA, Li W, Liu J, Mukhopadhyay B, Reeve JN, Smith K, Springer TA, Umayam LA, White O, White RH, Conway de Macario E, Ferry JG, Jarrell KF, Jing H, Macario AJL, Paulsen I, Pritchett M, Sowers KR, Swanson RV, Zinder SH, Lander E, Metcalf WW, Birren B (2002) The genome of *M. acetivorans* reveals extensive metabolic and physiological diversity. Genome Res 12:532–542. https://doi.org/10.1101/gr.223902

- Gerardi MH (2003) The microbiology of anaerobic digesters. The microbiology of anaerobic digesters. John Wiley & Sons, New York. https://doi.org/10.1002/0471468967
- Goberna M, Gadermaier M, García C, Wett B, Insam H (2010) Adaptation of methanogenic communities to the cofermentation of cattle excreta and olive mill wastes at 37°c and 55°c. Appl Environ Microbiol 76:6564–6571. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00961-10
- Grangeiro, L.C., de Almeida, S.G.C., Mello, B.S. de, Fuess, L.T., Sarti, A., Dussán, K.J., 2019. New trends in biogas production and utilization. Sustain Bioenergy 199–223. https://doi.org/10. 1016/B978-0-12-817654-2.00007-1
- Gunaseelan VN (1997) Anaerobic digestion of biomass for methane production: a review. Biomass Bioenergy 13:83–114. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0961-9534(97)00020-2
- Hahnke S, Langer T, Koeck DE, Klocke M (2016) Description of Proteiniphilum saccharofermentans sp. nov., Petrimonas mucosa sp. nov. and Fermentimonas caenicola gen. nov., sp. nov., isolated from mesophilic laboratory-scale biogas reactors, and emended description of the genus Proteiniphilum. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 66:1466–1475. https://doi.org/10. 1099/ijsem.0.000902
- Hahnke S, Langer T, Klocke M (2018) Proteiniborus indolifex sp. nov., isolated from a thermophilic industrial-scale biogas plant. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 68:824–828. https://doi.org/10. 1099/ijsem.0.002591
- Haider MR, Zeshan, Yousaf S, Malik RN, Visvanathan C (2015) Effect of mixing ratio of food waste and rice husk co-digestion and substrate to inoculum ratio on biogas production. Bioresour Technol 190:451–457. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2015.02.105
- Harper S, Pohland F (1987) Enhancement of anaerobic treatment efficiency through process modification. J Water Pollut Control Fed 59:152–161
- Hassa J, Maus I, Off S, Pühler A, Scherer P, Klocke M, Schlüter A (2018) Metagenome, metatranscriptome, and metaproteome approaches unraveled compositions and functional relationships of microbial communities residing in biogas plants. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 102:5045–5063. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-018-8976-7
- He Q, Li L, Zhao X, Qu L, Wu D, Peng X (2017) Investigation of foaming causes in three mesophilic food waste digesters: reactor performance and microbial analysis. Sci Rep 7:13701. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-14258-3
- Heeg K, Pohl M, Sontag M, Mumme J, Klocke M, Nettmann E (2014) Microbial communities involved in biogas production from wheat straw as the sole substrate within a two-phase solidstate anaerobic digestion. Syst Appl Microbiol 37:590–600. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.syapm. 2014.10.002
- Hernandez-Eugenio G, Fardeau M-L, Cayol J-L, Patel BKC, Thomas P, Macarie H, Garcia J-L, Ollivier B (2002) Sporanaerobacter acetigenes gen. nov., sp. nov., a novel acetogenic, facultatively sulfur-reducing bacterium. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 52:1217–1223. https://doi.org/10. 1099/00207713-52-4-1217
- Hernon F, Forbes C, Colleran E (2006) Identification of mesophilic and thermophilic fermentative species in anaerobic granular sludge. Water Sci Technol 54:19–24. https://doi.org/10.2166/wst. 2006.481
- Hickey RF, Wu WM, Veiga MC, Jones R (1991) Start-up, operation, monitoring and control of high-rate anaerobic treatment systems. Water Sci Technol 24:207–255. https://doi.org/10.2166/ wst.1991.0226
- Hill J (2009) Environmental costs and benefits of transportation biofuel production from food-and lignocellulose-based energy crops: a review. In: Lichtfouse E, Navarrete M, Debaeke P,

Véronique S, Alberola C (eds) Sustainable agriculture. Springer, Dordrecht, pp 125–139. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-90-481-2666-8_10

- Ho D, Jensen P, Batstone D (2014) Effects of temperature and hydraulic retention time on Acetotrophic pathways and performance in high-rate sludge digestion. Environ Sci Technol 48:6468–6476. https://doi.org/10.1021/es500074j
- Hulshoff Pol LW, De Castro Lopes SI, Lettinga G, Lens PNL (2004) Anaerobic sludge granulation. Water Res 38:1376–1389. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2003.12.002
- Imachi H, Sakai S, Ohashi A, Harada H, Hanada S, Kamagata Y, Sekiguchi Y (2007) *Pelotomaculum propionicicum* sp. nov., an anaerobic, mesophilic, obligately syntrophic, propionate-oxidizing bacterium. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 57:1487–1492. https://doi.org/10. 1099/ijs.0.64925-0
- Issah AA, Kabera T, Kemausuor F (2020) Biogas optimisation processes and effluent quality: a review. Biomass Bioenergy 133:105449. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2019.105449
- Ito T, Yoshiguchi K, Ariesyady HD, Okabe S (2011) Identification of a novel acetate-utilizing bacterium belonging to Synergistes group 4 in anaerobic digester sludge. ISME J 5:1844–1856. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2011.59
- Jain S (2019) Global potential of biogas. World Biogas Association, London
- Jain A, Jain V (2019) Renewable energy sources for clean environment: opinion mining. Asian J Water Environ Pollut 16:9–14. https://doi.org/10.3233/AJW190013
- Jia Y, Ng S-K, Lu H, Cai M, Lee PKH (2018) Genome-centric metatranscriptomes and ecological roles of the active microbial populations during cellulosic biomass anaerobic digestion. Biotechnol Biofuels 11:117. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13068-018-1121-0
- Jiraprasertwong A, Maitriwong K, Chavadej S (2019) Production of biogas from cassava wastewater using a three-stage upflow anaerobic sludge blanket (UASB) reactor. Renew Energy 130:191–205. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2018.06.034
- Kalyuzhnyi SV, Saucedo JV, Martinez JR (1997) The anaerobic treatment of soft drink wastewater in UASB and hybrid reactors. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 66:291–301. https://doi.org/10.1007/ BF02785595
- Kandylis P, Bekatorou A, Pissaridi K, Lappa K, Dima A, Kanellaki M, Koutinas AA (2016) Acidogenesis of cellulosic hydrolysates for new generation biofuels. Biomass Bioenergy 91:210–216. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2016.05.006
- Kazda M, Langer S, Bengelsdorf FR (2014) Fungi open new possibilities for anaerobic fermentation of organic residues. Energy Sustain Soc 4:1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/2192-0567-4-6
- Ke S, Shi Z, Fang HHP (2005) Applications of two-phase anaerobic degradation in industrial wastewater treatment. Int J Environ Pollut 23:65. https://doi.org/10.1504/ijep.2005.006396
- Khalid A, Arshad M, Anjum M, Mahmood T, Dawson L (2011) The anaerobic digestion of solid organic waste. Waste Manag. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2011.03.021
- Kim M, Ahn Y, Speece RE (2002) Comparative process stability and efficiency of anaerobic digestion; mesophilic vs. thermophilic. Water Res 36:4369–4385
- Kirk-Davidoff D (2018) The greenhouse effect, aerosols, and climate change. In: Török B, Dransfield TBT-GC (eds) Green chemistry: an inclusive approach. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 211–234. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-809270-5.00009-1
- Klassen V, Blifernez-Klassen O, Wobbe L, Schlüter A, Kruse O, Mussgnug JH (2016) Efficiency and biotechnological aspects of biogas production from microalgal substrates. J Biotechnol 234:7–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiotec.2016.07.015
- Kobayashi T, Yasuda D, Li YY, Kubota K, Harada H, Yu HQ (2009) Characterization of start-up performance and archaeal community shifts during anaerobic self-degradation of wasteactivated sludge. Bioresour Technol 100:4981–4988. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2009. 05.043
- Koch C, Müller S, Harms H, Harnisch F (2014) Microbiomes in bioenergy production: from analysis to management. Curr Opin Biotechnol 27:65–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copbio. 2013.11.006

- Koch K, Helmreich B, Drewes JE (2015) Co-digestion of food waste in municipal wastewater treatment plants: effect of different mixtures on methane yield and hydrolysis rate constant. Appl Energy 137:250–255. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2014.10.025
- Kumar V, Kumar P, Kumar P, Singh J (2020) Anaerobic digestion of *Azolla pinnata* biomass grown in integrated industrial effluent for enhanced biogas production and COD reduction: optimization and kinetics studies. Environ Technol Innov 17:100627. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eti.2020. 100627
- Kundu K, Sharma S, Sreekrishnan TR (2017) Influence of process parameters on anaerobic digestion microbiome in bioenergy production: towards an improved understanding. Bioenergy Res 10:288–303. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12155-016-9789-0
- Kuruti K, Nakkasunchi S, Begum S, Juntupally S, Arelli V, Anupoju GR (2017) Rapid generation of volatile fatty acids (VFA) through anaerobic acidification of livestock organic waste at low hydraulic residence time (HRT). Bioresour Technol 238:188–193. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biortech.2017.04.005
- Lebuhn M, Hanreich A, Klocke M, Schlüter A, Bauer C, Pérez CM (2014) Towards molecular biomarkers for biogas production from lignocellulose-rich substrates. Anaerobe 29:10–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anaerobe.2014.04.006
- Lee J, Hwang B, Koo T, Shin SG, Kim W, Hwang S (2014) Temporal variation in methanogen communities of four different full-scale anaerobic digesters treating food waste-recycling wastewater. Bioresour Technol 168:59–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2014.03.161
- Lee S-H, Park J-H, Kim S-H, Yu BJ, Yoon J-J, Park H-D (2015) Evidence of syntrophic acetate oxidation by Spirochaetes during anaerobic methane production. Bioresour Technol 190:543–549. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2015.02.066
- Lee J, Shin SG, Han G, Koo T, Hwang S (2017) Bacteria and archaea communities in full-scale thermophilic and mesophilic anaerobic digesters treating food wastewater: key process parameters and microbial indicators of process instability. Bioresour Technol 245:689–697. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.09.015
- Leitão RC, van Haandel AC, Zeeman G, Lettinga G (2006) The effects of operational and environmental variations on anaerobic wastewater treatment systems: a review. Bioresour Technol 97:1105–1118. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BIORTECH.2004.12.007
- Lettinga G, Field J, Van Lier J, Zeeman G, Hulshoff Pol LW (1997) Advanced anaerobic wastewater treatment in the near future. Water Sci Technol 35:5–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0273-1223(97)00222-9
- Leung DYC, Wang J (2016) An overview on biogas generation from anaerobic digestion of food waste. Int J Green Energy 13:119–131. https://doi.org/10.1080/15435075.2014.909355
- Levén L, Eriksson ARB, Schnürer A (2007) Effect of process temperature on bacterial and archaeal communities in two methanogenic bioreactors treating organic household waste. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 59:683–693. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6941.2006.00263.x
- Li Y, Park SY, Zhu J (2011) Solid-state anaerobic digestion for methane production from organic waste. Renew Sust Energ Rev 15:821–826. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2010.07.042
- Li A, Chu Y, Wang X, Ren L, Yu J, Liu X, Yan J, Zhang L, Wu S, Li S (2013) A pyrosequencingbased metagenomic study of methane-producing microbial community in solid-state biogas reactor. Biotechnol Biofuels 6:1–17. https://doi.org/10.1186/1754-6834-6-3
- Li J, Rui J, Yao M, Zhang S, Yan X, Wang Y, Yan Z, Li X (2015) Substrate type and free ammonia determine bacterial community structure in full-scale mesophilic anaerobic digesters treating cattle or swine manure. Front Microbiol 6:1337. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2015.01337
- Li Y, Jin Y, Li J, Li H, Yu Z (2016) Effects of pungency degree on mesophilic anaerobic digestion of kitchen waste. Appl Energy 181:171–178. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2016.08.057
- Li Y, Jin Y, Borrion A, Li H, Li J (2017) Effects of organic composition on mesophilic anaerobic digestion of food waste. Bioresour Technol 244:213–224. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech. 2017.07.006
- Li Y, Chen Y, Wu J (2019) Enhancement of methane production in anaerobic digestion process: a review. Appl Energy 240:120–137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2019.01.243

- Lienen T, Kleyböcker A, Verstraete W, Würdemann H (2014) Foam formation in a downstream digester of a cascade running full-scale biogas plant: influence of fat, oil and grease addition and abundance of the filamentous bacterium *Microthrix parvicella*. Bioresour Technol 153:1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2013.11.017
- Liu Y, Whitman WB (2008) Metabolic, phylogenetic, and ecological diversity of the methanogenic archaea. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1125:171–189. https://doi.org/10.1196/annals.1419.019
- Liu Y, Xu HL, Show KY, Tay JH (2002) Anaerobic granulation technology for wastewater treatment. World J Microbiol Biotechnol 18:99–113. https://doi.org/10.1023/ A:1014459006210
- Liu T, Sun L, Müller B, Schnürer A (2017) Importance of inoculum source and initial community structure for biogas production from agricultural substrates. Bioresour Technol 245:768–777. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.08.213
- Liu C, Wachemo AC, Tong H, Shi S, Zhang L, Yuan H, Li X (2018) Biogas production and microbial community properties during anaerobic digestion of corn Stover at different temperatures. Bioresour Technol 261:93–103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.12.076
- Lo YC, Saratale GD, Chen WM, Der Bai M, Chang JS (2009) Isolation of cellulose-hydrolytic bacteria and applications of the cellulolytic enzymes for cellulosic biohydrogen production. Enzym Microb Technol 44:417–425. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enzmictec.2009.03.002
- Łochyńska M, Frankowski J (2018) The biogas production potential from silkworm waste. Waste Manag 79:564–570. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2018.08.019
- Luo G, Angelidaki I (2013) Co-digestion of manure and whey for in situ biogas upgrading by the addition of H2: process performance and microbial insights. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 97:1373–1381. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-012-4547-5
- Luo G, Fotidis IA, Angelidaki I (2016) Comparative analysis of taxonomic, functional, and metabolic patterns of microbiomes from 14 full-scale biogas reactors by metagenomic sequencing and radioisotopic analysis. Biotechnol Biofuels 9:1–12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13068-016-0465-6
- Luostarinen S, Luste S, Sillanpää M (2009) Increased biogas production at wastewater treatment plants through co-digestion of sewage sludge with grease trap sludge from a meat processing plant. Bioresour Technol 100:79–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2008.06.029
- Lynd LR, Weimer PJ, Van Zyl WH, Isak S (2002) Microbial cellulose utilization: fundamentals and biotechnology. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 66:506–577. https://doi.org/10.1128/MMBR.66.3.506
- Ma J, Zhao B, Frear C, Zhao Q, Yu L, Li X, Chen S (2013) Methanosarcina domination in anaerobic sequencing batch reactor at short hydraulic retention time. Bioresour Technol 137:41–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2013.03.101
- Ma J, Zhao QB, Laurens LLM, Jarvis EE, Nagle NJ, Chen S, Frear CS (2015) Mechanism, kinetics and microbiology of inhibition caused by long-chain fatty acids in anaerobic digestion of algal biomass. Biotechnol Biofuels 8:1–12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13068-015-0322-z
- Maaz M, Yasin M, Aslam M, Kumar G, Atabani AE, Idrees M, Anjum F, Jamil F, Ahmad R, Khan AL, Lesage G, Heran M, Kim J (2019) Anaerobic membrane bioreactors for wastewater treatment: novel configurations, fouling control and energy considerations. Bioresour Technol 283:358–372. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2019.03.061
- Madsen M, Holm-Nielsen JB, Esbensen KH (2011) Monitoring of anaerobic digestion processes: a review perspective. Renew Sust Energ Rev 15:3141–3155. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2011. 04.026
- Mao C, Feng Y, Wang X, Ren G (2015) Review on research achievements of biogas from anaerobic digestion. Renew Sust Energ Rev 45:540–555. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2015.02.032
- Martínez-Gutiérrez E (2018) Biogas production from different lignocellulosic biomass sources: advances and perspectives. 3 Biotech 8. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13205-018-1257-4
- Martín-González L, Castro R, Pereira MA, Alves MM, Font X, Vicent T (2011) Thermophilic co-digestion of organic fraction of municipal solid wastes with FOG wastes from a sewage treatment plant: reactor performance and microbial community monitoring. Bioresour Technol 102:4734–4741. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2011.01.060

- Mata-Alvarez J, Macé S, Llabrés P (2000) Anaerobic digestion of organic solid wastes. An overview of research achievements and perspectives. Bioresour Technol 74:3–16. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0960-8524(00)00023-7
- Mata-Alvarez J, Dosta J, Romero-Güiza MS, Fonoll X, Peces M, Astals S (2014) A critical review on anaerobic co-digestion achievements between 2010 and 2013. Renew Sust Energ Rev 36:412–427. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2014.04.039
- Maus I, Rumming M, Bergmann I, Heeg K, Pohl M, Nettmann E, Jaenicke S, Blom J, Pühler A, Schlüter A, Sczyrba A, Klocke M (2018) Characterization of Bathyarchaeota genomes assembled from metagenomes of biofilms residing in mesophilic and thermophilic biogas reactors. Biotechnol Biofuels 11:167. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13068-018-1162-4
- Mélo-Schlub AC, de Silva LAO, de Holanda SHB, Firmo ALB, Jucá JFT (2019) Resíduos sólidos urbanos: potencial fonte de carbono para degradação microbiana e produção de biogás. Brazil J Dev 5:11927–11942. https://doi.org/10.34117/bjdv5n8-052
- Mendes, A.A., Oliveira, P.C., de Castro, H.F., 2012. Properties and biotechnological applications of porcine pancreatic lipase. J Mol Catal B Enzym 78, 119–134. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcatb. 2012.03.004
- Meng Y, Li S, Yuan H, Zou D, Liu Y, Zhu B, Chufo A, Jaffar M, Li X (2015) Evaluating biomethane production from anaerobic mono- and co-digestion of food waste and floatable oil (FO) skimmed from food waste. Bioresour Technol 185:7–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biortech.2015.02.036
- Metcalf L, Eddy HP (2004) Wastewater engineering: treatment, disposal and reuse, 4th ed, advances in water resources. McGraw-Hill, New York. https://doi.org/10.1016/0309-1708(80) 90067-6
- Milanez AY, Guimarães DD, da Maia GBS, de Souza JAP, Lemos MLF (2018) Biogás De Resíduos Agroindustriais: Panorama E Perspectivas, Departamento do Complexo Agroalimentar e de Biocombustíveis da Área de Indústria e Serviços do BNDES
- Mosbæk F, Kjeldal H, Mulat DG, Albertsen M, Ward AJ, Feilberg A, Nielsen JL (2016) Identification of syntrophic acetate-oxidizing bacteria in anaerobic digesters by combined protein-based stable isotope probing and metagenomics. ISME J 10:2405–2418. https://doi.org/10.1038/ ismej.2016.39
- Mosey FE (1983) Mathematical modelling of the anaerobic digestion process: regulatory mechanisms for the formation of short-chain volatile acids from glucose. Water Sci Technol 15:209–232
- Müller B, Sun L, Westerholm M, Schnürer A (2016) Bacterial community composition and fhs profiles of low- and high-ammonia biogas digesters reveal novel syntrophic acetate-oxidising bacteria. Biotechnol Biofuels 9:48. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13068-016-0454-9
- Murthy PS, Madhava Naidu M (2012) Sustainable management of coffee industry by-products and value addition—a review. Resour Conserv Recycl 66:45–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. resconrec.2012.06.005
- Nakasaki K, Kwon SH, Takemoto Y (2015) An interesting correlation between methane production rates and archaea cell density during anaerobic digestion with increasing organic loading. Biomass Bioenergy 78:17–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2015.04.004
- Nakasaki K, Nguyen KK, Ballesteros FC, Maekawa T, Koyama M (2020) Characterizing the microbial community involved in anaerobic digestion of lipid-rich wastewater to produce methane gas. Anaerobe 61:102082. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anaerobe.2019.102082
- Nges IA, Liu J (2010) Effects of solid retention time on anaerobic digestion of dewatered-sewage sludge in mesophilic and thermophilic conditions. Renew Energy 35:2200–2206. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.renene.2010.02.022
- Nielsen HB, Uellendahl H, Ahring BK (2007) Regulation and optimization of the biogas process: propionate as a key parameter. Biomass Bioenergy 31:820–830. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biombioe.2007.04.004

- Nobu MK, Narihiro T, Rinke C, Kamagata Y, Tringe SG, Woyke T, Liu W-T (2015) Microbial dark matter ecogenomics reveals complex synergistic networks in a methanogenic bioreactor. ISME J 9:1710–1722. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2014.256
- Nobu MK, Narihiro T, Kuroda K, Mei R, Liu WT (2016) Chasing the elusive Euryarchaeota class WSA2: genomes reveal a uniquely fastidious methyl-reducing methanogen. ISME J 10:2478–2487. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2016.33
- Olukanni DO, Olatunji TO (2018) Cassava waste management and biogas generation potential in selected local government areas in Ogun state, Nigeria. Recycling 3:58. https://doi.org/10.3390/recycling3040058
- Pap B, Györkei Á, Boboescu IZ, Nagy IK, Bíró T, Kondorosi É, Maróti G (2015) Temperaturedependent transformation of biogas-producing microbial communities points to the increased importance of hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis under thermophilic operation. Bioresour Technol 177:375–380. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2014.11.021
- Pareek A, Dom R, Gupta J, Chandran J, Adepu V, Borse PH (2020) Insights into renewable hydrogen energy: recent advances and prospects. Mater Sci Energy Technol 3:319–327. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.mset.2019.12.002
- Paritosh K, Kushwaha SK, Yadav M, Pareek N, Chawade A, Vivekanand V (2017) Food waste to energy: an overview of sustainable approaches for food waste management and nutrient recycling. Biomed Res Int 2017. https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/2370927
- Parsaee M, Kiani Deh Kiani M, Karimi K (2019) A review of biogas production from sugarcane vinasse. Biomass Bioenergy 122:117–125. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2019.01.034
- Patil SS, Kumar MS, Ball AS (2010) Microbial community dynamics in anaerobic bioreactors and algal tanks treating piggery wastewater. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 87:353–363. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s00253-010-2539-x
- Pelletier E, Kreimeyer A, Bocs S, Rouy Z, Gyapay G, Chouari R, Rivière D, Ganesan A, Daegelen P, Sghir A, Cohen GN, Médigue C, Weissenbach J, Le Paslier D (2008) "Candidatus Cloacamonas acidaminovorans": genome sequence reconstruction provides a first glimpse of a new bacterial division. J Bacteriol 190:2572–2579. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.01248-07
- Penteado MC, Schirmer WN, Dourado DC, Gueri MVD (2017) Análise do Potencial De Geração De Biogás a Partir Da Biodigestão Anaeróbia Da Vinhaça E Bagaço De Cana. BIOFIX Sci J 3:26. https://doi.org/10.5380/biofix.v3i1.56013
- Pérez-Chávez AM, Mayer L, Albertó E (2019) Mushroom cultivation and biogas production: a sustainable reuse of organic resources. Energy Sustain Dev 50:50–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. esd.2019.03.002
- Petropoulos E, Dolfing J, Yu Y, Wade MJ, Bowen EJ, Davenport RJ, Curtis TP (2018) Lipolysis of domestic wastewater in anaerobic reactors operating at low temperatures. Environ Sci Water Res Technol 4:1002–1013. https://doi.org/10.1039/C8EW00156A
- Plugge CM, Balk M, Zoetendal EG, Stams AJM (2002) *Gelria glutamica* gen. Nov., sp. nov., a thermophilic, obligately syntrophic, glutamate-degrading anaerobe. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 52:401–407. https://doi.org/10.1099/00207713-52-2-401
- Puñal A, Trevisan M, Rozzi A, Lema JM (2000) Influence of C:N ratio on the start-up of up-flow anaerobic filter reactors. Water Res 34:2614–2619. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0043-1354(00) 00161-5
- Purkus A, Gawel E, Thrän D (2017) Addressing uncertainty in decarbonisation policy mixes lessons learned from German and European bioenergy policy. Energy Res Soc Sci 33:82–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2017.09.020
- Pycke BFG, Etchebehere C, Van De Caveye P, Negroni A, Verstraete W, Boon N (2011) A timecourse analysis of four full-scale anaerobic digesters in relation to the dynamics of change of their microbial communities. Water Sci Technol 63:769–775. https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2011. 307
- Ragsdale SW, Pierce E (2008) Acetogenesis and the Wood–Ljungdahl pathway of CO2 fixation. Biochim Biophys Acta Proteins Proteomics 1784:1873–1898. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbapap. 2008.08.012

- Rahman MA, Møller HB, Saha CK, Alam MM, Wahid R, Feng L (2017) Optimal ratio for anaerobic co-digestion of poultry droppings and lignocellulosic-rich substrates for enhanced biogas production. Energy Sustain Dev 39:59–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.esd.2017.04.004
- Rajagopal D (2013) The fuel market effects of biofuel policies and implications for regulations based on lifecycle emissions. Environ Res Lett 8. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/8/2/ 024013
- Rajagopal R, Massé DI, Singh G (2013) A critical review on inhibition of anaerobic digestion process by excess ammonia. Bioresour Technol 143:632–641. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biortech.2013.06.030
- Rajendran K, Mahapatra D, Venkatraman AV, Muthuswamy S, Pugazhendhi A (2020) Advancing anaerobic digestion through two-stage processes: current developments and future trends. Renew Sust Energ Rev 123:109746. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2020.109746
- Ramsay IR, Pullammanappallil PC (2001) Protein degradation during anaerobic wastewater treatment: derivation of stoichiometry. Biodegradation 12:247–256. https://doi.org/10.1023/ A:1013116728817
- Regueiro L, Carballa M, Lema JM (2014) Outlining microbial community dynamics during temperature drop and subsequent recovery period in anaerobic co-digestion systems. J Biotechnol 192:179–186. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiotec.2014.10.007
- REN21 (2020) Renewables 2020. Global Status Report
- Rincón B, Borja R, González JM, Portillo MC, Sáiz-Jiménez C (2008) Influence of organic loading rate and hydraulic retention time on the performance, stability and microbial communities of one-stage anaerobic digestion of two-phase olive mill solid residue. Biochem Eng J 40:253–261. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bej.2007.12.019
- Riya S, Suzuki K, Terada A, Hosomi M, Zhou S (2016) Influence of C/N ratio on performance and microbial community structure of dry-thermophilic anaerobic co-digestion of swine manure and rice straw. J Med Bioeng 5:11–14. https://doi.org/10.12720/jomb.5.1.11-14
- Ros M, Franke-Whittle IH, Morales AB, Insam H, Ayuso M, Pascual JA (2013) Archaeal community dynamics and abiotic characteristics in a mesophilic anaerobic co-digestion process treating fruit and vegetable processing waste sludge with chopped fresh artichoke waste. Bioresour Technol 136:1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2013.02.058
- Ruiz-Sánchez J, Campanaro S, Guivernau M, Fernández B, Prenafeta-Boldú FX (2018) Effect of ammonia on the active microbiome and metagenome from stable full-scale digesters. Bioresour Technol 250:513–522. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.11.068
- Sánchez ÓJ, Cardona CA (2008) Trends in biotechnological production of fuel ethanol from different feedstocks. Bioresour Technol 99:5270–5295. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech. 2007.11.013
- Sangavai C, Bharathi M, Ganesh SP, Chellapandi P (2019) Kinetic modeling of Stickland reactionscoupled methanogenesis for a methanogenic culture. AMB Express 9. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s13568-019-0803-8
- Sanz JL, Rojas P, Morato A, Mendez L, Ballesteros M, González-Fernández C (2017) Microbial communities of biomethanization digesters fed with raw and heat pre-treated microalgae biomasses. Chemosphere 168:1013–1021. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2016.10.109
- Sarti A, Silva AJ, Zaiat M, Foresti E (2011) Full-scale anaerobic sequencing batch biofilm reactor for sulfate-rich wastewater treatment. Desalin Water Treat 25:13–19. https://doi.org/10.5004/ dwt.2011.1864
- Sasaki D, Hori T, Haruta S, Ueno Y, Ishii M, Igarashi Y (2011) Methanogenic pathway and community structure in a thermophilic anaerobic digestion process of organic solid waste. J Biosci Bioeng 111:41–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiosc.2010.08.011
- Schattauer A, Abdoun E, Weiland P, Plöchl M, Heiermann M (2011) Abundance of trace elements in demonstration biogas plants. Biosyst Eng 108:57–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biosystemseng.2010.10.010
- Schink B (1997) Energetics of syntrophic cooperation in methanogenic degradation. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 61:262–280

- Schink B, Stams AJM (2013) Syntrophism among prokaryotes. In: Rosenberg E, DeLong EF, Lory S, Stackebrandt E, Thompson F (eds) The prokaryotes: prokaryotic communities and ecophysiology. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg, pp 471–493. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-30123-0_59
- Schnürer A (2016) Biogas production: microbiology and technology. In: Hatti-Kaul R, Mamo G, Mattiasson B (eds) Anaerobes in biotechnology. Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp 195–234. https://doi.org/10.1007/10_2016_5
- Seghezzo, L., Zeeman, G., Van Lier, J.B., Hamelers, H.V.M., Lettinga, G., 1998. A review: the anaerobic treatment of sewage in UASB and EGSB reactors. Bioresour Technol 65, 175–190. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0960-8524(98)00046-7
- Seon J, Lee T, Lee SC, Pham HD, Woo HC, Song M (2014) Bacterial community structure in maximum volatile fatty acids production from alginate in acidogenesis. Bioresour Technol 157:22–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2014.01.072
- Sharma SK, Mishra IM, Sharma MP, Saini JS (1988) Effect of particle size on biogas generation from biomass residues. Biomass 17:251–263. https://doi.org/10.1016/0144-4565(88)90107-2
- Shi X, Zuo J, Li B, Yu H (2020) Two-stage anaerobic digestion of food waste coupled with in situ ammonia recovery using gas membrane absorption: performance and microbial community. Bioresour Technol 297:122458. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2019.122458
- Show KY, Yan Y, Yao H, Guo H, Li T, Show DY, Chang JS, Lee DJ (2020) Anaerobic granulation: a review of granulation hypotheses, bioreactor designs and emerging green applications. Bioresour Technol 300:122751. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2020.122751
- Shrestha S, Fonoll X, Khanal SK, Raskin L (2017) Biological strategies for enhanced hydrolysis of lignocellulosic biomass during anaerobic digestion: current status and future perspectives. Bioresour Technol 245:1245–1257. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.08.089
- Smith AL, Stadler LB, Love NG, Skerlos SJ, Raskin L (2012) Perspectives on anaerobic membrane bioreactor treatment of domestic wastewater: a critical review. Bioresour Technol 122:149–159. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2012.04.055
- Solli L, Håvelsrud OE, Horn SJ, Rike AG (2014) A metagenomic study of the microbial communities in four parallel biogas reactors. Biotechnol Biofuels 7:1–15. https://doi.org/10. 1186/s13068-014-0146-2
- Sosnowski P, Wieczorek A, Ledakowicz S (2003) Anaerobic co-digestion of sewage sludge and organic fraction of municipal solid wastes. Adv Environ Res 7:609–616. https://doi.org/10. 1016/S1093-0191(02)00049-7
- Sousa DZ, Pereira MA, Stams AJM, Alves MM, Smidt H (2007a) Microbial communities involved in anaerobic degradation of unsaturated or saturated long-chain fatty acids. Appl Environ Microbiol 73:1054 LP–1064. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01723-06
- Sousa DZ, Smidt H, Alves MM, Stams AJM (2007b) Syntrophomonas zehnderi sp. nov., an anaerobe that degrades long-chain fatty acids in co-culture with Methanobacterium formicicum. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 57:609–615. https://doi.org/10.1099/ijs.0.64734-0
- Sousa DZ, Smidt H, Alves MM, Stams AJM (2009) Ecophysiology of syntrophic communities that degrade saturated and unsaturated long-chain fatty acids. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 68:257–272. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6941.2009.00680.x
- Souza DA, Chinalia FA, Foresti E, Zaiat M (2009) Bioremediation of gasoline-contaminated groundwater in a pilot-scale packed-bed anaerobic reactor. Int Biodeterior Biodegrad 63:747–751. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibiod.2009.05.007
- Speece RE (1983) Anaerobic biotechnology for industrial wastewater treatment, 1st ed, environmental science and technology. Archae Press, Nashiville. https://doi.org/10.1021/es00115a001
- Steinberg LM, Regan JM (2011) Response of lab-scale methanogenic reactors inoculated from different sources to organic loading rate shocks. Bioresour Technol 102:8790–8798. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.biortech.2011.07.017
- Stergiou P-Y, Foukis A, Filippou M, Koukouritaki M, Parapouli M, Theodorou LG, Hatziloukas E, Afendra A, Pandey A, Papamichael EM (2013) Advances in lipase-catalyzed esterification reactions. Biotechnol Adv 31:1846–1859. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2013.08.006

- Stolze Y, Bremges A, Rumming M, Henke C, Maus I, Pühler A, Sczyrba A, Schlüter A (2016) Identification and genome reconstruction of abundant distinct taxa in microbiomes from one thermophilic and three mesophilic production-scale biogas plants. Biotechnol Biofuels 9:156. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13068-016-0565-3
- Stolze Y, Bremges A, Maus I, Pühler A, Sczyrba A, Schlüter A (2018) Targeted in situ metatranscriptomics for selected taxa from mesophilic and thermophilic biogas plants. Microb Biotechnol 11:667–679. https://doi.org/10.1111/1751-7915.12982
- St-Pierre B, Wright ADG (2014) Comparative metagenomic analysis of bacterial populations in three full-scale mesophilic anaerobic manure digesters. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 98:2709–2717. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-013-5220-3
- Sun Y, Wang D, Yan J, Qiao W, Wang W, Zhu T (2014) Effects of lipid concentration on anaerobic co-digestion of municipal biomass wastes. Waste Manag 34:1025–1034. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.wasman.2013.07.018
- Sun L, Liu T, Müller B, Schnürer A (2016) The microbial community structure in industrial biogas plants influences the degradation rate of straw and cellulose in batch tests. Biotechnol Biofuels 9:128. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13068-016-0543-9
- Surendra KC, Takara D, Hashimoto AG, Khanal SK (2014) Biogas as a sustainable energy source for developing countries: opportunities and challenges. Renew Sust Energ Rev 31:846–859. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2013.12.015
- Tabatabaei M, Aghbashlo M, Valijanian E, Kazemi Shariat Panahi H, Nizami A-S, Ghanavati H, Sulaiman A, Mirmohamadsadeghi S, Karimi K (2020) A comprehensive review on recent biological innovations to improve biogas production, part 1: upstream strategies. Renew Energy 146:1204–1220. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2019.07.037
- Tang Y, Shigematsu T, Morimura S, Kida K (2005) Microbial community analysis of mesophilic anaerobic protein degradation process using bovine serum albumin (BSA)-fed continuous cultivation. J Biosci Bioeng 99:150–164. https://doi.org/10.1263/jbb.99.150
- Tartakovsky B, Guiot SR (1997) Modeling and analysis of layered stationary anaerobic granular biofilms. Biotechnol Bioeng 54:122–130. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-0290
- Tikariha A, Sahu O (2014) Study of characteristics and treatments of dairy industry waste water. J Appl Environ Microbiol 2, 16:–22. https://doi.org/10.12691/JAEM-2-1-4
- Tomazetto G, Hahnke S, Maus I, Wibberg D, Pühler A, Schlüter A, Klocke M (2014) Complete genome sequence of *Peptoniphilus* sp. strain ING2-D1G isolated from a mesophilic lab-scale completely stirred tank reactor utilizing maize silage in co-digestion with pig and cattle manure for biomethanation. J Biotechnol 192:59–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiotec.2014.09.011
- Tyagi VK, Fdez-Güelfo LA, Zhou Y, Álvarez-Gallego CJ, Garcia LIR, Ng WJ (2018) Anaerobic co-digestion of organic fraction of municipal solid waste (OFMSW): progress and challenges. Renew Sust Energ Rev 93:380–399. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2018.05.051
- Ueki A, Abe K, Suzuki D, Kaku N, Watanabe K, Ueki K (2009) Anaerosphaera aminiphila gen. Nov., sp. nov., a glutamate-degrading, Gram-positive anaerobic coccus isolated from a methanogenic reactor treating cattle waste. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 59:3161–3167. https:// doi.org/10.1099/ijs.0.011858-0
- Van Lier JB (2008) High-rate anaerobic wastewater treatment: Diversifying from end-of-the-pipe treatment to resource-oriented conversion techniques. Water Sci. Technol 57:1137–1148. https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2008.040
- Van Lier JB, Tilche A, Ahring BK, Macarie H, Moletta R, Dohanyos M, Hulshoff Pol LW, Lens P, Verstraete W (2001) New perspectives in anaerobic digestion. Water Sci Technol 43:1–18. https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2001.0001
- VanBriesen JM (2001) Thermodynamic yield predictions for biodegradation through oxygenase activation reactions. Biodegradation 12:477–480. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1015015325764
- Vanwonterghem I, Jensen PD, Ho DP, Batstone DJ, Tyson GW (2014) Linking microbial community structure, interactions and function in anaerobic digesters using new molecular techniques. Curr Opin Biotechnol 27:55–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copbio.2013.11.004

- Vanwonterghem I, Jensen PD, Rabaey K, Tyson GW (2015) Temperature and solids retention time control microbial population dynamics and volatile fatty acid production in replicated anaerobic digesters. Sci Rep 5:1–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep08496
- Vasco-Correa J, Khanal S, Manandhar A, Shah A (2018) Anaerobic digestion for bioenergy production: global status, environmental and techno-economic implications, and government policies. Bioresour Technol 247:1015–1026. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.09.004
- Vassalle L, Díez-Montero R, Machado ATR, Moreira C, Ferrer I, Mota CR, Passos F (2020) Upflow anaerobic sludge blanket in microalgae-based sewage treatment: co-digestion for improving biogas production. Bioresour Technol 300:122677. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biortech.2019.122677
- Vinardell S, Astals S, Peces M, Cardete MA, Fernández I, Mata-Alvarez J, Dosta J (2020) Advances in anaerobic membrane bioreactor technology for municipal wastewater treatment: a 2020 updated review. Renew Sust Energ Rev 130:109392. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2020. 109936
- Wagner AO, Lackner N, Mutschlechner M, Prem EM, Markt R, Illmer P (2018) Biological pretreatment strategies for second-generation lignocellulosic resources to enhance biogas production. Energies 11. https://doi.org/10.3390/en11071797
- Wang K, Yin J, Shen D, Li N (2014) Anaerobic digestion of food waste for volatile fatty acids (VFAs) production with different types of inoculum: effect of pH. Bioresour Technol 161:395–401. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2014.03.088
- Wang P, Wang H, Qiu Y, Ren L, Jiang B (2018) Microbial characteristics in anaerobic digestion process of food waste for methane production–a review. Bioresour Technol 248:29–36. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.06.152
- Wei L, An X, Wang S, Xue C, Jiang J, Zhao Q, Kabutey FT, Wang K (2017) Effect of hydraulic retention time on deterioration/restarting of sludge anaerobic digestion: extracellular polymeric substances and microbial response. Bioresour Technol 244:261–269. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biortech.2017.07.110
- Weiland P (2010) Biogas production: current state and perspectives. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 85:849–860. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-009-2246-7
- Weiland P, Rozzi A (1991) The start-up, operation and monitoring of high-rate anaerobic treatment systems: Discusser's report. Water Sci Technol 24:257–277
- Welander PV, Metcalf WW (2005) Loss of the mtr operon in Methanosarcina blocks growth on methanol, but not methanogenesis, and reveals an unknown methanogenic pathway. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102:10664–10669. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0502623102
- Weng C, Jeris JS (1976) Biochemical mechanisms in the methane fermentation of glutamic and oleic acids. Water Res 10:9–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/0043-1354(76)90151-2
- Werner JJ, Garcia ML, Perkins SD, Yarasheski KE, Smith SR, Muegge BD, Stadermann FJ, DeRito CM, Floss C, Madsen EL, Gordon JI, Angenent LT (2014) Microbial community dynamics and stability during an ammonia-induced shift to syntrophic acetate oxidation. Appl Environ Microbiol 80:3375 LP–3383. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00166-14
- Westerholm M, Moestedt J, Schnürer A (2016) Biogas production through syntrophic acetate oxidation and deliberate operating strategies for improved digester performance. Appl Energy 179:124–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2016.06.061
- Westerholm M, Müller B, Singh A, Karlsson Lindsjö O, Schnürer A (2018) Detection of novel syntrophic acetate-oxidizing bacteria from biogas processes by continuous acetate enrichment approaches. Microb Biotechnol 11:680–693. https://doi.org/10.1111/1751-7915.13035
- Wilson CA, Murthy SM, Fang Y, Novak JT (2008) The effect of temperature on the performance and stability of thermophilic anaerobic digestion. Water Sci Technol 57:297–304. https://doi. org/10.2166/wst.2008.027
- World Biogas Association (2019) Global potential of biogas. World Biogas Association, London Worm P, Koehorst JJ, Visser M, Sedano-Núñez VT, Schaap PJ, Plugge CM, Sousa DZ, Stams AJM
 - (2014) A genomic view on syntrophic versus non-syntrophic lifestyle in anaerobic fatty acid

degrading communities. Biochim Biophys Acta Bioenerg 1837:2004–2016. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.bbabio.2014.06.005

- Wu ZL, Lin Z, Sun ZY, Gou M, Xia ZY, Tang YQ (2020) A comparative study of mesophilic and thermophilic anaerobic digestion of municipal sludge with high-solids content: reactor performance and microbial community. Bioresour Technol 302:122851. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biortech.2020.122851
- Xu F, Li Y, Ge X, Yang L, Li Y (2018a) Anaerobic digestion of food waste challenges and opportunities. Bioresour Technol 247:1047–1058. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.09. 020
- Xu R, Yang ZH, Zheng Y, Liu JB, Xiong WP, Zhang YR, Lu Y, Xue WJ, Fan CZ (2018b) Organic loading rate and hydraulic retention time shape distinct ecological networks of anaerobic digestion related microbiome. Bioresour Technol 262:184–193. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biortech.2018.04.083
- Xu R, Zhang K, Liu P, Khan A, Xiong J, Tian F, Li X (2018c) A critical review on the interaction of substrate nutrient balance and microbial community structure and function in anaerobic co-digestion. Bioresour Technol 247:1119–1127. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.09. 095
- Yadvika S, Sreekrishnan TR, Kohli S, Rana V (2004) Enhancement of biogas production from solid substrates using different techniques – a review. Bioresour Technol 95:1–10. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.biortech.2004.02.010
- Yamada T, Sekiguchi Y, Hanada S, Imachi H, Ohashi A, Harada H, Kamagata Y (2006) Anaerolinea thermolimosa sp. nov., Levilinea saccharolytica gen. nov., sp. nov. and Leptolinea tardivitalis gen. nov., sp. nov., novel filamentous anaerobes, and description of the new classes Anaerolineae classis nov. and Caldilineae classis nov. in the bacterial phylum Chloroflexi. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 56:1331–1340. https://doi.org/10.1099/ijs.0.64169-0
- Yin J, Wang K, Yang Y, Shen D, Wang M, Mo H (2014) Improving production of volatile fatty acids from food waste fermentation by hydrothermal pretreatment. Bioresour Technol 171:323–329. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2014.08.062
- Yu D, Kurola JM, Lähde K, Kymäläinen M, Sinkkonen A, Romantschuk M (2014) Biogas production and methanogenic archaeal community in mesophilic and thermophilic anaerobic co-digestion processes. J Environ Manag 143:54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2014.04. 025
- Yuan H, Zhu N (2016) Progress in inhibition mechanisms and process control of intermediates and by-products in sewage sludge anaerobic digestion. Renew Sust Energ Rev 58:429–438. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2015.12.261
- Zabed HM, Akter S, Yun J, Zhang G, Zhang Y, Qi X (2020) Biogas from microalgae: technologies, challenges and opportunities. Renew Sust Energ Rev 117:109503. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. rser.2019.109503
- Zábranská J, Štěpová J, Wachtl R, Jenlček P, Dohányos M (2000) The activity of anaerobic biomass in thermophilic and mesophilic digesters at different loading rates. In: Water science and technology, pp 49–56. https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2000.0168
- Zakrzewski M, Goesmann A, Jaenicke S, Jünemann S, Eikmeyer F, Szczepanowski R, Al-Soud WA, Sørensen S, Pühler A, Schlüter A (2012) Profiling of the metabolically active community from a production-scale biogas plant by means of high-throughput metatranscriptome sequencing. J Biotechnol 158:248–258. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiotec.2012.01.020
- Zhang TC, Noike T (1994) Influence of retention time on reactor performance and bacterial trophic populations in anaerobic digestion processes. Water Res 28:27–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/ 0043-1354(94)90116-3
- Zhang C, Xiao G, Peng L, Su H, Tan T (2013) The anaerobic co-digestion of food waste and cattle manure. Bioresour Technol 129:170–176. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2012.10.138
- Zhang C, Su H, Baeyens J, Tan T (2014) Reviewing the anaerobic digestion of food waste for biogas production. Renew Sust Energ Rev 38:383–392. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2014.05. 038

- Zhen G, Pan Y, Lu X, Li YY, Zhang Z, Niu C, Kumar G, Kobayashi T, Zhao Y, Xu K (2019) Anaerobic membrane bioreactor towards biowaste biorefinery and chemical energy harvest: recent progress, membrane fouling and future perspectives. Renew Sust Energ Rev 115:109392. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2019.109392
- Ziels RM, Sousa DZ, Stensel HD, Beck DAC (2018) DNA-SIP based genome-centric metagenomics identifies key long-chain fatty acid-degrading populations in anaerobic digesters with different feeding frequencies. ISME J 12:112–123. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2017.143
- Ziganshin AM, Liebetrau J, Pröter J, Kleinsteuber S (2013) Microbial community structure and dynamics during anaerobic digestion of various agricultural waste materials. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 97:5161–5174. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-013-4867-0



4

Microbial Degradation of Disinfectants

David Romero-Fierro, Moisés Bustamante-Torres, Sandra Hidalgo-Bonilla, and Emilio Bucio

Abstract

Disinfectants are chemical products that eliminate pathogens and prevent their development. Its use has reduced the risk of infections in different environments such as industry and home. However, due to the synthetic nature of disinfectants, they tend to be toxic to human health, animal and plant life, and tend to bioaccumulate in environments. It is for this reason that various regulatory agencies such as the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) have begun to establish protocols to analyze the environmental impact and risks involved in the presence of these pollutants in various settings. The scientific community has not been oblivious to this problem and they have developed bioremediation procedures that have given great results. Thus, it has been decided to take advantage of the ability of microorganisms, found in contaminated areas, to transform complex substances into simple molecules and use them as an energy source. Considering this, this chapter discusses the environmental impact of disinfectants and their toxic effects, but mainly the degradation of these contaminants by microorganisms as one of the promising bioremediation techniques.

e-mail: david.romero@yachaytech.edu.ec

M. Bustamante-Torres

E. Bucio (🖂)

D. Romero-Fierro (🖂) · S. Hidalgo-Bonilla

Chemistry Department, School of Chemical and Applied Science, Yachay Tech University, Urcuqui, Ecuador

Biomedical Engineering Department, School of Biological and Applied Science, Yachay Tech University, Urcuqui City, Ecuador

Department of Radiation Chemistry and Radiochemistry, Institute of Nuclear Sciences, National Autonomous University of Mexico, Mexico City, Mexico e-mail: ebucio@nucleares.unam.mx

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 Inamuddin et al. (eds.), *Recent Advances in Microbial Degradation*, Environmental and Microbial Biotechnology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-0518-5_4

Keywords

Pollution · Environment · Microorganisms · Microbial degradation · Bioremediation · Cleavage · Energy source

4.1 Introduction

Disinfectants are chemical substances that are applied to inert objects with the objective of destroying or controlling pathogenic microorganisms such as bacteria, viruses, fungi, mold, or mildews that are found inhabiting said object. They work according to various mechanisms of action to achieve this objective, such as cell wall rupture, protein or lipid denaturation of microorganisms, alkylation, or oxidation. Chemical disinfectants can be grouped according to their chemical properties. Disinfectant components must be registered with the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) (Giagnorio et al. 2017). The "active component" in each disinfectant formula is what kills pathogens through the different mechanisms of action. These active components are commonly aided by other components with several different purposes (Jeffrey 1995). However, being chemical agents, disinfectants are, by nature, potentially dangerous or toxic to living organisms. When compared to other toxic substances, chemical disinfectants can penetrate the body through various modes such as absorption through the nasal mucosa membrane or skin, by ingestion or inhalation. Thus, if chemical disinfectants are used properly with proper precautions, it will be effective. Otherwise, they will be dangerous and hazardous for users and the environment (Oluwasanu 2018).

4.1.1 Disinfection

Disinfection is a process by which the microbial forms found in some environments, especially surfaces, are killed through the use of chemical or physical agents. This method does not necessarily destroy all microorganisms but reduces them to adequate levels in which it is not harmful to human and environmental health (Kirmusaoglu 2018). Antimicrobial agents used for this purpose are occasionally used as sterilizing, sanitizing, or antiseptic agents. In general, disinfectants used in human and animal health are relatively toxic and powerful antimicrobial chemicals that are applied to contaminated surfaces, while those used in the agricultural industry are less toxic and less concentrated. Modern disinfectants are based on formulations that include chemical substances, soaps, detergents, and active agents that allow the penetration of the active substances (Kahrs 1995). There is a wide spectrum of disinfectants available that are tailored to the user's needs.

In many definitions of these terms, sanitation products and antiseptics are also referred as products to heal wounds, to clean surgeon's hands and arms before an operation, to disinfect the cow's udders, and in general to all the preparations that are applied directly to the tissues (Kahrs 1995). The semantic distinction among the

terms disinfectant, sanitizing agent, antiseptic, and sterilizer refers to the objective pursued with said products, as well as the composition and degree of concentration of their chemical substances. Thus, it also comes into play the time during which the product must be kept in contact with the surfaces by treatment, the level of waste that can be accepted, and the environment in which it develops in the process (Kahrs 1995; Moore and Payne 2008).

4.1.2 Active Ingredients of Disinfectants

Disinfectants owe their action to the active ingredients they contain. These ingredients comprise a wide spectrum of chemicals, ranging from simple inorganic molecules, such as sodium hydroxide, to relatively complicated molecules, such as polymerized quaternary ammonium compounds (QACs) or substituted isothiozolones (Jeffrey 1995). There is a myriad of active ingredients that vary in their physical and chemical properties and limit the choice for a particular application (Denyer and Stewart 1998). For example, it is not reasonable to use a sodium hydroxide solution on surfaces that contain certain metals (tin, aluminum, zinc, etc.), as it would corrode such materials. Likewise, oxidizing agents should not be used in the presence of reducing substances since it would neutralize their effect (Donnell 1999).

Most of the active substances fall into defined and well-established chemical groups. The active substances in disinfectants can be classified into the following groups:

- Quaternary ammonium compounds (QACs)
- Phenols
- Halogenated compounds
- Aldehydes
- Biguanides and polymeric biguanides
- Amphoteric compounds

4.1.3 Mode of Action of Disinfectants

In recent years, great efforts have been made to try to elucidate and understand the bactericidal mechanisms of action of disinfectants. In general, whatever the type of microorganism, its process of annihilation by means of disinfectants follows a sequence of steps (Donnell 1999). First, an interaction occurs between the disinfectant and the cell surface followed by penetration into the target cell. It is there when the active ingredients of the disinfectants exert their action. In some occasions, the interactions between the cell surface and the disinfectant can produce irreversible damage in the microorganism, but nevertheless, the majority of the active ingredients act at the intracellular level. This is because many external layers of the bacterial cells can present susceptibility or insusceptibility to these products. The



biocidal action will depend on the type of microorganism that can be summarized in cellular damage produced by inhibition of the synthesis of the cell wall, inhibition of the replication and transcription of nucleic acids, damage to the plasma membrane, and inhibition of protein synthesis or essential metabolites (Fig. 4.1) (Denyer and Stewart 1998).

4.1.4 Efficacy of Disinfection

The effectiveness of a disinfectant depends largely on its concentration, contact time, the nature of the disinfected surface, the amount of organic material on the surface, and the type and amount of microorganism present (Mazzola et al. 2009).

The contact time directly affects the disinfection process. Generally, the ideal time is five minutes, since this is the time in which many disinfectants remain on surfaces that are not horizontal (Reyes et al. 2014). This means that disinfectants must be able to ensure their biocidal effect in five minutes or less, depending on the type of application. However, certain biocidal agents can adhere to the surface, extending the contact time (Díaz-Enriquez et al. 2017).

Microorganisms vary their response to disinfectants depending on their cell structure, composition, and physiology. The greatest resistance is presented by bacterial spores, followed by mycobacteria, parasite cysts, small unencapsulated viruses, gram-negative bacteria, gram-positive bacteria, and lipid capsule viruses. Molds are generally more resistant than yeasts and much more resistant than non-sporulated bacteria. Biologically active particles can be viruses, bacteria, yeasts, molds, or spores that interact with the environment to fulfill their purposes (Díaz-Enriquez et al. 2017). Such biological particles sediment, grow, and occasionally form a mass of cells called a biofilm, which defines all contaminating and pathogenic microbiota activity that is formed in cell groups, spatially organized and enclosed in a matrix of organic polymers, on the surface of food or surfaces in contact with them. The presence of these biofilms on surfaces directly affects the efficacy of biocidal agents, either by interaction with the matrix or by the poor diffusion of biocides through it (Kirmusaoglu 2018).

The number of microorganisms affects the action of the disinfectant since a higher microbial load requires higher concentrations of the disinfectant or longer contact times and since adequate surface disinfection is not always achieved with these increases, a combination of these factors is necessary (Díaz-Enriquez et al. 2017). The design of equipment, the selection of materials, and the treatment carried out on them to limit the adherence of microorganisms after cleaning and disinfection are factors that determine the hygiene of surfaces. Extremely porous or rough materials offer a more appropriate surface for adhesion, the presence of these irregularities favors the refuge of organic residues and microorganisms.

4.2 Environmental Issues Related to the Use of Disinfectants

A wide variety of chemical products of synthetic origin that are used in disinfection processes are present in the environment, both in aquatic systems and in agricultural soils. Owing to their origin, many of these compounds are toxic or have the potential to become dangerous products in nature. Environmental control agencies around the world have been monitoring and evaluating the environmental impact of these active ingredients. Owing to growing public and government concern about the intriguing problems that have become apparent, environmental scientists, biologists, and chemists have devoted their efforts to determine the behavior and fate of compounds in natural environments. However, the process is undermined by the large number of chemicals used in industry, agriculture, and home (la Farré et al. 2008).

Many of these substances are deliberately or inadvertently released into waters and soils. When disinfectants are used in toilets, sinks, dishwashers, or appliances, the active chemicals are finally flushed down the drain. The water is then routed to the wastewater treatment facilities, where most of the pollutants are removed before the water returns to the rivers and lakes. However, not all pollutants are removed and can accumulate to have a substantial and adverse effect on wildlife, which could lead to dense vegetation that interferes with animal life and eventually decomposes in large quantities (la Farré et al. 2008). When any living beings die as a result of disease control one of the first concerns is related to contaminants. However, the consequences could be dangerous as well. So, there are doses reported that should not exceed, as well as it gets specific for a certain pathogen. The preservation of environmental elements such as soil, water, and air can best be ensured by aiming for efficient disinfectant application (Bruins et al. 1995).

The contamination by disinfecting agents generates not only an environmental problem but also a public health one. These agents are used extensively in homes, hospitals, health centers, and industries for a wide variety of topics and applications being an essential part of cleaning programs (Aktaş 2013). Antiseptics and disinfectants alter the first line of defense to prevent the spread of resistant pathogens. These compounds have the property of damaging the integrity of the cell membrane of microorganisms and causing cancer from the activities of the pathogen. Also, there are several chemicals in cleaning and disinfecting products that can cause or exacerbate asthma because of their sensitizing or irritant properties

(Bruins et al. 1995; Burge and Richardson 1994; Purohit et al. 2000; Savonius et al. 1994; Beaudouin et al. 2004; Gannon et al. 1995; Fujita et al. 2006; Nagy and Orosz 1984; Pechter et al. 2005; Kujala et al. 1995). Owing to all their properties of these compounds and biocides in general, there is a tendency to increase the use of these agents in control measures against infections of bacterial origin, in addition to their daily and habitual use, which has implied the selection of resistant bacterial strains. A pathogen can resist the action of biocides by a natural property (intrinsic resistance), or acquired property, by mutation or by the acquisition of plasmids, transposons, or integrons (Russell 1999). The disinfectant resistance mechanism that is normally encoded in plasmids is mediated by efflux pumps. There are several international studies on clinical symptoms resistant to the most widely used disinfectants, which report bacteria resistance to multiple antibiotics with decreased susceptibility to different disinfectants (Donnell 1999).

4.2.1 Disinfectant Effects on the Environment

4.2.1.1 Toxicity

Many compounds used as cleaners can be harmful. They can be found on soil, air, water, and human bodies. EPA categorizes many of these chemicals as "volatile organic compounds", which can be harmful in different ways. These chemicals include phosphorous, nitrogen, and ammonia (Alton 2020). When some of these chemical compounds are used in different ways, they are rinsed down the drain, which will end on a partial elimination by water treatment. However, not all chemicals are drained, getting directly into the environment.

Bleach is one of the most common disinfectants employed during cleaning. It is corrosive and present side effects on human health. From an environmental point of view, bleach is a toxic and, above all, biocidal product. It destroys everything in its path. It kills bad bacteria, but also good bacteria that support biodiversity, flora, and fauna (Surfrider Foundation Europe 2020). The industries and the sewage treatment plants discharge the wastes that contain toxic substances directly into the waterways. These direct pipeline discharges are called the point sources (Soffar 2020).

4.2.1.2 Greenhouse Gases

Many volatiles chemicals have been used as disinfectants. Carbon dioxide gas produces greenhouse effects and affects climate change. Old-school aerosol cans used chlorofluorocarbons (CFCs) as a primary propellant, and those chemicals contributed significantly to ozone depletion and climate change (Alton 2020). CFCs have been used for some decades; however, their use has been restricted by EPA because it cannot be depleted completely from the ozone layer.

4.2.2 Principal Disinfectants and Its Side Effects

4.2.2.1 Chlorinated Compounds

The use of disinfectants that are preferred by the cleaning staff has been associated with better hygiene outcomes, particularly where strong chlorine-based disinfectants are the alternative (Friedman et al. 2013). Chlorine is used for its antimicrobial activity, being inexpensive, and faster rate. Chlorine-based disinfectants are usually unstable in both concentrated and diluted forms, as they are affected by heat and light (Bruins et al. 1995). Owing to concerns about disinfection byproducts (DBPs) and chlorine-resistant pathogens, alternatives to chlorine-intensive disinfection have drawn interest; however, most small systems have not been able to comprehensively evaluate alternatives (Cleaners and Disinfectants 2020).

4.2.2.2 Formaldehyde

Formaldehyde may be used either in the liquid or gaseous state (Bruins et al. 1995). It has been used as a disinfectant with a potential capacity to kill viruses and is inexpensive as well. It acts as a preservative and is used as an antimicrobial agent in both skincare products and within the industry, where it is used as a raw material for production at certain workplaces (Pontén and Bruze 2015). In a high concentration, it can be harmful producing health issues. In some cases, it can kill even beneficial microorganisms and plant life.

4.2.2.3 Phenolics

Phenol and its derivate have been studied for a long time. They have been applied as disinfectants that are usually combined with another compound to reduce or enhance their properties. These products are highly toxic to the environment, are generally hard to break down, and are not easily neutralized by organic material. Instructions for use must be strictly followed to avoid prolonged negative consequences for the soil, and animal and plant life (Bruins et al. 1995).

4.2.2.4 Hydrogen Peroxide

Hydrogen peroxide (HP) has long been used as a disinfectant and is effective against viruses, bacteria, yeasts, and bacterial spores in vitro. However, hydrogen peroxide is inactivated in vivo by catalase, which catalyzes the breakdown of hydrogen peroxide into oxygen and water (Akuji and Chambers 2017). It has a potent effect on bacterial and viruses, although at specific conditions it can be corrosive and dangerous for the environment.

4.2.2.5 Peracetic Acid (PAA)

PAA is a strong oxidizing agent usually employed as a disinfectant because of its wide spectrum over microorganisms and fast-acting ability. PAA is even more effective than traditional cleaners as the HP. It is combined with other different disinfectants. PAA used in synergism with HP is a common alternative (Walters et al. 2019). The negative impact produced by PAA is considered small than the other ones.

4.3 Bioremediation

Bioremediation is any biotechnological process that uses microorganisms, fungi, plants, or the enzymes derived from them to remove pollutants and toxins from the soil and water (Timian 1996). It is a technology capable of removing pollutants from the environment, allowing the environment to be restored to its original conditions and that prevents further contamination (Azubuike et al. 2016). Bioremediation processes commonly involve oxidation-reduction reactions where the reduced contaminants are oxidized and the oxidized contaminants are reduced (González Rojas and Concepto 2011). There are many different types of contaminants that can be removed with this technique: polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, petroleum, disinfecting pesticides, chlorophenols, heavy metals, dyes, sulfates, and so on (Donati et al. 2019). In bioremediation processes, several organisms may be involved, as well as bacteria (bacterial degradation), fungi (mycoremediation), (microbial algae (phycoremediation), microbes degradation). plants (phytoremediation), and molecules derived from these organisms (derivative remediation) (Aktas 2013). The metabolism of these organisms is used to remove pollutants from contaminated environments.

Bioremediation shows many advantages compared to other remediation alternatives. These advantages include:

- It is a relatively green method that causes less damage to ecosystems.
- This method creates few harmful by-products.
- It is cheaper than most cleaning methods, as it does not require a large amount of equipment.

For the moment, bioremediation has been applied with great success in the degradation of organic chemical compounds and has even been implemented for the removal of waste of nuclear origin.

4.3.1 Types of Bioremediation

Bioremediation processes are environmentally friendly techniques for removing environmental contaminants. Two methods based on the removal and nature of the treatment used are distinguished.

4.3.1.1 In Situ Bioremediation

In situ bioremediation consists of stimulating the microorganisms that inhabit the contaminated environment by applying nutrients and oxygen. This means that the method is applied in the place where the source of contamination has occurred (Raja and Kalyanasundaram 2014). With this method, the pollutants are biologically degraded under totally natural conditions to harmless products such as CO₂, water, or some attenuated transformation product. Three types of in situ bioremediation processes are distinguished: biostimulation, bioaugmentation, and bioattenuation.

- *Biostimulation* consists of supplementing the environment in which the microorganisms are found with adequate nutrients or conditions: nitrate phosphates, electron acceptors, or pH adjustments. This approach is based on the premise that autochthonous microorganisms are capable of degrading pollutants outside the environment after an acclimatization process. By accumulating scientific evidence, it can be inferred that this method could become the most reliable and safe (Langenhoff 2007).
- *Bioaugmentation* is the addition of specialized and exogenous microorganisms to the medium in order to optimize remediation. It may be appropriate for ex situ bioremediation projects, which will be developed later, with the use of specialized consortia (Vidali 2001).
- *Intrinsic* or *natural attenuation bioremediation* is carried out by the autochthonous microorganisms of the affected environment. These use their enzymatic potential to mineralize (completely biodegrade to CO₂) organic compounds or simply degrade them to intermediate products, either in an aerobic or anaerobic environment. It is a widely used method for restoring contaminated soils and waters (Langenhoff 2007).

4.3.1.2 Ex Situ Bioremediation

This process involves excavation procedures or removal and transportation of contaminants from the site where it was found to a place where it will be treated. In general, the treatments applied to the pollutants are enhanced by means of bioreactors (Raja and Kalyanasundaram 2014). Under aerobic conditions, some microorganisms can use organic pollutants such as mixtures of hydrocarbons, phenols, disinfectants, and some pesticides as a source of carbon and energy to degrade them to CO_2 and water (Tomei and Daugulis 2013). There are some techniques related to ex situ bioremediation such as landfarming, biopiles, composting, and bioreactors.

- *Landfarming* is a high-tech method used for ex situ bioremediation that calls for the excavation of contaminated soils and their authority over an impervious area. The landfarming technique contains a drainage mechanism for the collection of leachates, which must receive certain treatment in succession. The purification of the soil with this technique is based on the operation of the existing microcircuits on a certain surface (Höckenreiner et al. 2015).
- The *biopile* method consists of stacking the soil that contains contaminants in piles or heaps and facilitating aerobic microbial activity through aeration processes and/or addition of nutrients, minerals, and water. Unlike landfarming, aeration is done by injecting air into a duct system inside the stacks. It is also used for petroleum compounds (Cristorean et al. 2016).
- Composting is a biological process consisting of excavating contaminated soils and mixing them with animal and vegetable waste such as fertilizers, manure, straw, pieces of wood, and so on. Under thermophilic conditions, thus stimulating the aerobic or anaerobic microbial biodegradable capacity, which allows

	Advantages	Disadvantages
Ta site	The value of site	• It takes longer than the other remains that
In situ	• It is done on-site	• It takes longer than the other remediation
bioremediation	• It is economical since	methods
	transportation costs are	• The microorganisms act only when the
	reduced	pollutant presents a source of energy and
	Contaminants are	nutrient production to carry out the process
	permanently removed	• When the environmental conditions are not
	• It can be applied to dilute	favorable, its degradation capacity is limited
	and diffuse contaminants	
	• It can treat large tracts of the	
	contaminated area	
	• It is affordable	
	• It may be more difficult to	
	administer than ex situ	
	techniques	
	• In soil remediation, it	
	generates less dust	
Ex situ	• They are faster and easier to	• It cannot be applied in the removal of heavy
bioremediation	control techniques.	metals or chlorinated hydrocarbons
	• They are used in a wide	Contaminants must be aerobically
	range of pollutants.	biodegradable
	• It is flexible regarding	• Techniques dependent on the material and
	volumes	the environmental conditions such as
		temperature and climate
		• Pretreatment of the contaminated area is
		required and even at the time of
		bioremediation

Table 4.1 Advantages and disadvantages of bioremediation processes

transforming organic pollutants into harmless substances. For the process to be successful, the oxygen level, humidity, temperature, or carbon-nitrogen balance must be controlled (Maitra 2018).

• In the *biological sludge* technique, the soil is excavated, sieved to remove thick elements, and mixed with water and other additives in a controlled bioreactor. Parameters such as dissolved oxygen, temperature, pH, availability of substrates, and humidity are controlled in the bioreactor. The resulting sludge keeps suspended solids and microorganisms (Tomei and Daugulis 2013). The biodegradation rate is usually high.

Some advantages and disadvantages of bioremediation processes are listed in Table 4.1.

4.3.2 Limiting Factors of Bioremediation Processes

Bioremediation is a process of vital importance for sustainable development. The applicability of bioremediation processes is determined by various factors such as environmental conditions including temperature, medium pH, microbial population,
oxygen, water, nutrient availability, site microbial density, a fraction of organic matter, capacity field, and the nature of the pollutant to be degraded (Azubuike et al. 2016). In addition, they also influence the processes of co-metabolism and consortia conditions. Co-metabolism refers to the need for certain biodegradators to acquire other substrates to degrade contaminants (Aktaş 2013). This characteristic is important above all to degrade organochlorine compounds.

The physical and chemical heterogeneities of the surfaces affect bioremediation in situ since they control the availability of nutrients and substrates that regulate microbial processes (Langenhoff 2007). If the kinetics of these physicochemical mass transfer processes is slower than the potential rate of biodegradation, the overall rate of bioremediation will be affected and the system will be limited by mass transfer (Vidali 2001). For this reason, the evaluation of the viability of an on-site bioremediation project is dominated by the need to correctly identify and estimate the appropriate speed controlling phenomenon.

Among the factors that determine the efficiency of bioremediation, it is important to highlight the properties of the contaminant (Boopathy 2000). Branched structures are easier to degrade than linear chains, as well as double bonds give stiffness and resistance to the molecule and an increase in the number of benzenic rings in the case of aromatic compounds. Chemical substitutions, such as dicarboxylic acids, nitriles, methylations, halogenations, usually make the molecule more resistant. On the other hand, the biodegradation of compounds that contain nitrogen or sulfur is frequently linked to their use as a source of nutrients (Providenti et al. 1993).

In a contaminated environment, the contaminant can be located in the aqueous phase of the soil, in the organic liquid phase, and/or in the vapor phase. Furthermore, it may be subject to chemical modifications such as hydrolysis, oxidation, or polymerization, processes that influence its availability (Boopathy 2000). For degradation of a pollutant to occur, it must interact with the microorganism's cell in an aqueous medium. Molecules with a significant density of negative charges have difficulty penetrating through cell membranes. However, as the hydrophobicity of the pollutants increases, they tend to be passively transported into the cell, with no energy input. Many organic pollutants are hydrophobic and tend to be absorbed in the soil, specifically in the organic fraction (Vidali 2001). Therefore, a critical aspect for the availability of contaminants is the composition of the environment that will determine the kinetics of absorption and desorption of the contaminants, as well as the mobilization capacity of the microorganisms (Srivastava et al. 2014).

Another aspect that determines the efficiency of bioremediation is the properties of the medium that allow or limit microbial growth and metabolism of the compound. Among them we can mention:

- Permeability, which hinders or allows the existence of gradients and the transfer of the contaminant to microbial populations.
- Temperature, which determines both metabolic rates and the physical state of the pollutant.
- The presence or absence of organic nutrients, oxygen, or other potential aspects of electrons.

- The water retention capacity and the hydraulic characteristics in the case of soils.
- Flow characteristics and pH in the case of groundwater.
- The degree of contamination (Srivastava et al. 2014).

To increase the effectiveness of bioremediation, we must therefore solve these limiting factors, a technique known as biostimulation. As well as the addition of specialized microorganisms to the medium, in order to facilitate the removal of contaminants and enhance and optimize bioremediation.

4.4 Microbial Degradation

Microbial degradation has positioned itself as one of the most promising methods in removing contaminants found in various settings. This is due to the ability of microorganisms to accomplish this task in the least dangerous way and in an environmentally friendly way (Singh 1995).

Microbial degradation refers to the decay of all materials of organic origin through microscopic life forms such as bacteria, fungi, protozoa, and other organisms. The microbes that complete the process adapt to the contaminated environment and produce the enzymes necessary for degradation (Bhatt et al. 2019). The intermediary molecules or a degradation product of some organisms become the energy or carbon sources of others to carry out the breakdown of the rest of organic matter (Ratledge 1994). Research in the field of microbes is of vital importance for the reduction of chemical waste and the elimination of most environmental pollutants.

Degradation is described as a physicochemical alteration of the properties of the active components of the pollutants and a redistribution of the nontoxic degraded particles in the environment (Kumar and Sharma 2019). Among the main bacterial families that are involved in pollutant degradation processes are Pseudomonas, Bacillus, Nocardia, Actinomycetes, Escherichia, Micromonosfora, Mycobacterium, Rhodococcus, Comamonas, Azotobacter, Klebsiella, Thermoactinomycetes, Flavobacterium, and Alcalgenes. The fungi used in degradation are Candida, Sporotrichum, Thielavia, Paecilomyces, Ganoderma, Geotrichum, Phlebia, Trametes, Thermoascus, Talaromyces, Pnicilium, Aerobasidium, and Chaetomium (Mosratö et al. 2003). Depending on the nature of the microbes, these organisms partially consume the pollutant, destroying the intact parent substance, which is known as primary degradation, or they can wear down completely through a process known as ultimate degradation. The degradation is carried out by means of microorganisms that present different enzymatic activities. Microbial degradation follows three sequential steps (la Farré et al. 2008):

- Biodeterioration: Alteration of the physicochemical properties of the pollutant.
- Assimilation: Uptake of molecular by microorganisms.
- Mineralization: Production of degraded molecules such as H₂O and CO₂.

4.4.1 Aerobic Degradation

Aerobic degradation is the decomposition of organic pollutants by microorganisms in the presence of oxygen. In this sense, microorganisms can carry out their work under oxidative conditions (Fritsche and Hofrichter 2008). Aerobic microorganisms have an oxygen-based metabolism and are used to oxidizing substrates and obtain an energy source through a cellular respiration process. In the assimilation stage, oxygen is used in chemical reactions that break down small molecules into water and carbon dioxide (Becker 2010).

The aerobic process results in more complete digestion of organic pollutants, reducing accumulation by more than 50% in the vast majority of cases. The aerobic process allows for a better environment for workers and animals as it helps keep pathogens under control (Fritsche and Hofrichter 2008).

4.4.2 Anaerobic Degradation

Organic pollutants degrade in the absence of oxygen through an anaerobic process. It is a widely used technique to treat sewage sludge and biodegradable waste because it provides a reduction in volume and mass of the input material in ex situ processes (Young 1995). This process produces various gases (depending on the degraded material) such as CO_2 and CH_4 and releases them into the environment (Reineke 2005). Degradation is a complex process that involves four steps:

- Hydrolysis of higher molecular weight compounds allows large molecules to be digested into smaller and easier to degrade molecules.
- The second stage consists of the transformation of these small molecules to volatile fatty acids.
- In the third stage, the acetogenic bacteria transform those volatile fatty acids into acetic acid.
- Finally, methanogenic bacteria transform the previous molecules into methane and carbon dioxide, harmless substances for the environment (Ghattas et al. 2017).

4.4.3 Role of Microorganism

The complete degradation of an organic pollutant present in waters and soils occurs as a consequence of microbial action. Various relevant abiotic processes in nature can convert organic compounds that cause a certain degree of toxicity and complexity to inorganic substances. As these transformations take place, the microbial populations grow and accept the carbon and nitrogen molecules, product of mineralization, as the energy source necessary for biosynthesis (Alexander 1981).

With many chemicals, a slightly different microbial transformation from mineralization occurs. Generally, this takes place when several contaminants are found with biological activity and it is not possible to determine any microorganism capable of using them as an energy source. In that case, the evidence for the microbial role in transformation processes is the fact that the compound transforms into non-sterile but non-sterile samples from the natural environment or perhaps transforms more efficiently under non-sterile conditions. Compounds that typically exhibit these conditions include DDT, 2,4,5-T, aldrin, and many chlorinated and non-chlorinated compounds. Microorganisms capable of degrading these compounds have been reported in recent years. The fact that various chemical contaminants are governed by microbial action but, nevertheless, do not control the growth of the populations involved, has led to a growing interest in the phenomenon that has been called co-metabolism (Hazen 2010). The proposal is based on that populations develop on another substrate while generating the transformation (co-metabolism).

From a biochemical point of view, co-metabolism is the transformation of a compound in the forced presence of a substrate during growth or by cells at rest in the absence of the growing substrate is the cornerstone of the biological elimination of chemical compounds from the environment (Hazen 2010). Generally, the populations that act in degradative processes on chemical pollutants are small. This causes a compound that undergoes co-metabolism to change slowly and its speed does not increase over time, in contrast to the actuated substrate in the mineralization process.

The physiological basis that explains the process of co-metabolism is related to the specificity of the enzymes. Some enzymes found in microorganism cells can exert their action on reactions involving chemically similar substrates but slightly different in properties. If the product of the catalytic action of these enzymes does not turn out to be a suitable substrate for another enzyme to continue the degradation process, the contaminants will accumulate (Poursat et al. 2019). This will happen despite the fact that the first enzyme managed to convert the initial substrate into an energy source for the microorganism, however, these products can maintain the toxicity associated with the contaminant.

4.4.4 Ecological Consequences

Ecological issues have been of great interest in the study of microbial degradation. When the contaminating products enter an environment, the action exerted by the microorganisms is detoxification, that is, the destruction of functional groups that generate a harmful effect on nature (Alexander 1981). As mentioned earlier, the intermediaries of the degradative processes can be maintained over time and become equally toxic. In the same way, in a process called activation, certain innocuous compounds can be converted enzymatically into dangerous products for the species, in a sequence of mineralization. A clear example of this process is inorganic mercury methylation to produce mono- or dimethylated compounds that present toxicity and are also retained and accumulated by microorganisms (Yuan et al. 2020).

Another important factor to take into account in microbial degradation is that often certain microorganisms transform pollutants that are harmful to them into products that are toxic to others (Nagata 2020). A classic example of this type of situation is the microbial transformation of pentachlorobenzyl alcohol, which undergoes dehalogenation and oxidation. In general, the compound is not toxic when applied to rice crops, but the degradation products (tri- and tetrachlorinated benzoic acids) suppress the normal development of the plants (Tsukano 1986). Also, enzymatic deactivation processes can occur. This deactivation refers to the transformation of a compound that can be activated to a nontoxic (inactivated) compound, that is, that the harmful potential of the molecule is diminished before activation occurs. An example is the transformation of (2,4-dichlorophenoxy) butyrate into a harmless molecule like 2,4-dichlorophenoxyacetate (Macrae et al. 1963).

4.5 Microbial Degradation of Active Ingredients of Disinfectants

4.5.1 Quaternary Ammonium Compounds (QACs)

These compounds were introduced in 1917, but not until 1935 when was used in the disinfectant industry (Jeffrey 1995). QACs are perhaps the best known cationic surface-active agents. All QACs have a general formula as shown below (Fig. 4.2).

 R_1 is generally an alkyl group with a C-18 chain. R_2 is usually a long or short alkyl chain or an aryl group. Also, R_3 and R_4 with short alkyl chains. X is a chloride ion, although it can also be a bromide ion.

The efficiency of QACs (Fig. 4.3) decreases in the presence of hard water and they are generally formulated in combination with chelating agents such as EDTA (ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid) or other chemical compounds such as sodium citrate or tripolyphosphate (Gerba 2015). Also, its effectiveness will depend on the environmental conditions, since it works better in alkaline conditions than in acids (Mosratö et al. 2003). QACs are sometimes formulated in combination with other active ingredients, such as chlorhexidine or polymeric biguanides, with the aim of







Fig. 4.3 Common examples of QACs

increasing their efficacy against gram-negative species or, in turn, combining with glutaraldehyde to annihilate a whole range of microorganisms more quickly that glutaraldehyde does alone (Ioannou et al. 2007).

The mode of action of QACs is due to the inactivation of energy-producing enzymes, the denaturation of essential cell proteins, and a disruption of the cell membrane. There is reported literature that supports these and other possibilities (Gerba 2015; Jennings et al. 2016). Thus, it has been proven in several studies that quaternaries as disinfectors act as fungicides, bactericides, and virucides against lipophilic viruses, in addition to low mycobactericidal activity. QACs remove and inactivate contaminants from computer keyboards in just five seconds after application, and without showing damage to the device after repeated applications (Jennings et al. 2016).

The disinfectants based on quaternary ammonium compounds are the most used for this purpose. For this reason, waste is distributed in some environments exposing its potential danger to the ecosystem and human health. The toxicity of these compounds has received significant attention from the scientific community, and studies have focused on the toxicity of QACs in wastewater treatment systems such as receiving waters (Tezel and Pavlostathis 2015).

QACs are toxic to both animal and plant marine life. Its active surface properties allow the solubility of some dangerous micro-pollutants, such as pesticides, so that toxins can easily penetrate living organisms (Zabielska-Matejuk and Czaczyk 2006). Another significant problem is that excessive use of QACs in both household and industrial products can lead to antibiotic resistance. A recent study established that when a microbial community fed with a carbon source was continuously exposed to QACs, its diversity decreased significantly and was dominated by resistant microorganisms such as *Pseudomonas*. This resistance is attributed to the degradation of QACs by *Pseudomonas* (Tandukar et al. 2013). However, another study showed that long-term exposure of household drainage microorganisms to quaternary ammonium-based household disinfectants does not significantly alter antimicrobial susceptibility (McBain et al. 2004). For these reasons, the biodegradation of chemicals found in environments is a very important process because it prevents the progressive accumulation of toxins in organic compounds.



Fig. 4.4 Degradation pathway of DDAC by Pseudomonas fluorescens TN4

QACs are compounds that generally degrade under aerobic conditions. The aerobic degradation of the QACs is attributed to bacterial species of the genus of *Xanthomonas, Aeromonas*, and *Pseudomonas*, among which are: *Pseudomonas putida, Pseudomonas nitroreducens, Pseudomonas* sp., and *Stenotrophomonas* sp. (Tezel and Pavlostathis 2015). The degradation process can be affected by many factors such as the chemical structure of the active ingredient, its concentration, complexation with anionic surfactants, and adaptation to the microbial community (Zhang et al. 2015). As the length of the alkyl chain grows or a methyl group substituted with a benzyl group occurs, the rate of degradation will be adversely affected (Zhang et al. 2015).

Several studies have reported the microbial degradation of compounds derived from QACs. For example, degradation of didecyldimethylammonium chloride (DDAC) has been reported to be executed through the use of the bacterium *Pseudomonas fluorescens* TN4, which uses the active ingredient as a carbon source. Bacteria was isolated from activated sludge (Nishihara et al. 2000). TN4 degrades the disinfectant through an N-dealkylation process, forming decyldimethylamine and then dimethylamine, as intermediaries (Fig. 4.4). Dimethylamine is easily oxidizable and converts to CO_2 and biomass. The effectiveness of the bacterium to degrade other derivatives of QACs was tested, verifying that it also works with monoalkyl- and benzalkonium-QACs, but does not show assimilation in pyridinium-QAC. The degradation process was controlled by means of ion chromatography and NMR (Nishihara et al. 2000).

Degradation of benzyldimethylalkylammonium chloride (BAC) by means of *Aeromonas hydrophila* sp. K has been reported (Patrauchan and Oriel 2003). This organism is capable of using BAC as a source of carbon and energy. In this sense, the bacterial cells were induced in advance to achieve degradation; if this step is not followed, a decrease in the degradation rate is seen. For this study, high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) and gas chromatography coupled to a mass spectrometer (GC-MS) were used to analyze the degradation pathway (Fig. 4.5). In the



Fig. 4.5 Degradation pathway of BAC by Aeromonas hydrophila sp. K

process of surfactant degradation, the progressive formation of benzyldimethylamine, benzylmethylamine, benz

Disinfectants based on benzalkonium chloride are a series of products that are found in the environment either in a mixture with other derivatives of QACs or alone. One study evaluated the microbial degradation of benzyl dimethyl dodecyl ammonium chloride (BDDA) in isolation and the presence of benzyl dimethyl tetradecyl ammonium chloride (BDTA) (Khan et al. 2015). The study was carried out using *Pseudomonas* sp., which were isolated from activated sludge. The process was followed through the use of ¹⁴CNMR and HPLC-MS. BDTA was found to inhibit BDDA degradation as it was more toxic to the growth of the microorganism. When BDDA degradation was performed in isolation, the benzyl ring was fully mineralized. The transformation products obtained were benzyl methylamine and dodecyl dimethylamine (Fig. 4.6). The authors suggest further research in the field of QAC mixtures in wastewater (Khan et al. 2015).

4.5.2 Phenols

Substituted phenols in the benzene nucleus are antiseptics that work by denaturing proteins when found at low concentrations (Donnell 1999). The potency of phenol increases as the number of substituents and the length of its molecules increases.



Fig. 4.6 Degradation pathway of benzalkonium chloride by Pseudomonas sp.



Fig. 4.7 Common phenolic disinfectants

Likewise, the introduction of nitro and halogen groups also increases antiseptic potency. Phenol was one of the first antiseptics described, but it is currently little used due to its high toxicity and irritant power, therefore its use as a disinfectant with limited use is limited (DeBono and Laitung 1997). However, its derivatives such as alkylphenols, chlorinated phenols, nitrophenols, polyphenols, and so on, are used more frequently (Fig. 4.7).

Phenols are recognized for having a broad spectrum of activity against microorganisms such as bacteria, viruses, fungi, and mycobacteria (Goddard and McCue 2001). One of their disadvantages is their low surface activity, which is why they are generally coupled with soapy solutions to increase their penetrating power.

The research reported on the antimicrobial efficiency of phenol and its derivatives show that these compounds are bactericidal, fungicidal, virucidal, and tuberculocidal. At high concentrations, phenol has been shown to act as a powerful protoplasmic poison as it penetrates and breaks the cell wall and inactivates the cell's proteins (Maris 1995). On the other hand, at low concentrations and higher molecular weight of the phenol derivatives, it causes bacterial death by inactivating the essential systems and by releasing the metabolites found in the cell wall (Mishra and Kumar 2017).

In recent years, the increasing interest in the microbiological degradation of phenol and its derivatives is due to the presence of these compounds in the environment, both as natural and artificial monoaromatic products (Mishra and Kumar 2017). Its presence in wastewater is due to various industrial processes such as the production of explosives, paint, recycling, textiles, pharmaceuticals, disinfection, and the production of cleaning equipment. Since the phenol molecule is heavier than that of water, its dilution becomes a slower and more toxic process. It is for this reason that their negative impact on the environment is evident to the point that these compounds have been recognized as priority pollutants by various organizations, such as the EPA, and there are documents that regulate health standards for their treatment. These compounds are considered to be fatal if swallowed, inhaled, and absorbed through the skin. In addition, human carcinogenic compounds are considered at concentrations ranging from 5 to 25 mg/L. This range is usually lethal for marine life. In the case of plants, at a concentration of $0.1 \,\mu\text{g/mL}$ or higher, it can cause the inhibition of photosynthesis (Oluwasanu 2018; Goddard and McCue 2001; DeBono and Laitung 1997). For these reasons, the removal of these monoaromatic compounds from wastewater and terrestrial environments such as maritime is of vital importance, and have been experienced biological, physical, and chemical methods to achieve this goal.

As demonstrated, microorganisms have great potential to transform toxic compounds and use them as an energy and carbon source. However, the process of degradation of phenolic compounds turns out to be a real challenge. This happens due to the number and position of the substituent groups on the aromatic ring. When the compounds present as substitutes nitro, amino, methoxy, and sulfone groups, a negative effect on microbial degradation is observed, however in the presence of carboxyl and hydroxyl groups, an acceleration of the degradative process is observed (Krastanov et al. 2013). Owing to these peculiarities in the structure of these aromatic compounds, the application of prokaryotic microorganisms in degradative processes has been investigated, the most recognized being the bacterial species of the *Pseudomonas* genus (Krastanov et al. 2013).

El-Naas et al. verified that the degradation capacity of a bacteria-denominated *Pseudomona putida* is influenced by environmental conditions such as temperature, pH, initial concentration of the aromatic compound, and the abundance of biomass. High concentrations of phenol inhibit biomass and reduce the rate of degradation. In this study, the researchers immobilized the bacteria on PVA gel pellets. The ideal conditions for degradation to occur were 30 °C, neutral pH, and a phenol concentration of 0.75 mg/L, achieving degradation of the contaminant without being affected by the presence of substitutes in the aromatic ring (El-Naas et al. 2009). Mahiudddin et al. investigated the ability of *Pseudomonas fluorescens* PU1 bacteria to degrade phenols in batch culture. They verified that the microorganism degrades phenols in concentrations above 1000 ppm using a meta cleavage mechanism. The bacteria



Fig. 4.8 Degradation pathway of phenol by Pseudomonas fluorescens



Fig. 4.9 Proposed degradation pathway of *p*-nitrophenol by *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*

break down phenol to catechol, and it breaks down in consecutive steps until acetaldehyde and pyruvate are obtained (Fig. 4.8) (Mahiudddin et al. 2012).

Aromatic compounds that have nitro groups as substituents have been shown to be the most toxic and the most difficult to degrade. Its effect has been widely realized with the production of insecticides, herbicides, and explosives (Krastanov et al. 2013). The microbial degradation of p-nitrophenol has been described using various genera of microorganisms. Samuel et al, for example, showed the ability of Pseudomonas putida to degrade this compound, with hydroquinone being the greatest degradation product. The mechanism is based on an initial removal of the nitro group and the formation of hydroquinone as an intermediate (Samuel et al. 2014). Zheng et al. also established the effectiveness of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* to degrade *p*-nitrophenol. Under certain environmental conditions such as 35 °C temperature and a neutral pH, the microorganism grows adequately and plays the role of degrading the contaminant. By HPLC and UV-visible analysis, it was found that the key intermediate was targeting hydroquinone (Fig. 4.9). Furthermore, it is estimated, with this study, that other aromatic compounds such as phenols, naphthalene, aniline, and nitrobenzene can be degraded with this microorganism (Zheng et al. 2008).

Other major pollutants are chlorophenolic compounds. They are widely used in the production of herbicides, fungicides, and insecticides due to their strong biocidal character. Its biodegradation has been an object of interest in this area. The



Fig. 4.10 Major metabolites produced generated by degradation of 4-chlorophenol using *Candida tropicalis*



Fig. 4.11 β-ketoadipate pathway for degradation of phenol by Acinetobacter radioresistens

microorganisms that have shown effectiveness have been those of the Candida genus. Wen et al. showed that *Candida albicans* is capable of degrading chlorophenols with concentrations above 300 mg/L under anaerobic conditions, with a temperature of 35 °C and an initial pH of 7.0 (Wen et al. 2006). In the same sense, Basak et al. demonstrated that the *Candida tropicalis* bacterium grows in 4-chlorophenol and metabolizes its substrate, degrading the contaminant with the production of three metabolites: 4-chlorocatechol, 4-chloropyrogallol, and 4-carboxymethelenebut-2-en-4-olide identified by HPLC analysis (Fig. 4.10) (Basak et al. 2013).

Bacteria of the *Acinetobacter genus* have shown the ability to grow in aromatic compounds, such as phenol, and catabolize them for energy. For example, Mazzoli et al. showed that *Acinetobacter radioresistens* degrades phenol or benzoate via the β -ketoadipate pathway. By means of genetic analysis, they concluded that the genes responsible for the degradation of the compounds are located in the *A. radioresistens* S13 chromosome (Fig. 4.11) (Mazzoli et al. 2007). In the same genus, *Acinetobacter Calcoaceticus* removed phenolic contaminants from wastewater under aerobic conditions. According to Liu et al, the bacteria efficiently removed 91.6% of the initial 800 mg/L phenol in just 48 h and has a concentration tolerance of as high as 1700 mg/L (Liu et al. 2016).

Lysinibacillus cresolivorans bacteria have the ability to degrade *m*-cresol. This result was obtained by Yao et al. who analyzed the degradation rate of the compound at different concentrations under zero-order kinetics (Yao et al. 2011). Optimal degradation conditions were at a pH between 6.8 and 7.3 and a temperature of



Fig. 4.12 Degradation pathway of o-phenylphenol by Sphingomonas haloaromaticamans

35 °C, which proves the potential of this bacterium to degrade phenolic compounds (Yao et al. 2011). Pazarlioglu et al. carried out a kinetic study of the degradation of *o*-cresol using *Pseudomonas putida* DSM 548, obtaining the following parameters: maximum specific growth rate ($\mu_{max} = 0.519 \text{ h}^{-1}$), Monod constant ($K_s = 223.84 \text{ mg/L}$), and inhibition constant ($K_i = 130.883 \text{ mg/L}$). The batch bioreactor system with the immobilized bacteria allowed the degradation of the contaminant using these kinetic aspects (Pazarlioglu et al. 2012).

A recent study on phenol and *p*-cresol degradation identified microorganisms with the potential to use these pollutants as sources of carbon and energy. Franchi et al. developed successive batch anaerobic digestion of the contaminants using granular or suspended sludge. The results of their study showed that granular sludge phenolic has а higher degradation rate for both compounds L^{-1} \pm 0.7 8.1 \pm 1.1 mg day^{-1} for phenol (11.3)vs. and 7.8 ± 0.4 vs. 3.7 ± 1.0 mg L⁻¹ day⁻¹ for *p*-cresol). Anaerobic processes generated an increase in the population of a bacterium of the Syntrophorhabdus genus and the hydrogenotrophic Aceticlastic archaea (Franchi et al. 2018).

Through proteomic and genomic analyzes, the activity exerted by the proteins and genes of the microorganism *Sphingomonas haloaromaticamans* in the degradative process of *o*-phenylphenol was identified. Through genomic analyzes, Perruchon et al. found two operons that have an important function in the cleavage of the aromatic ring. In addition, they controlled the formation of key products through chromatographic analysis and proposed a metabolic route for the degradation of the contaminant (Fig. 4.12) (Perruchon et al. 2017).

Triclosan has been widely used as an antimicrobial agent found in wastewater due to its application in the pharmaceutical industry and personal care products. Gangadharan et al. demonstrated that the microbial degradation of triclosan has higher performance under anoxic/anaerobic conditions in a methanogenic system, presenting phenol, catechol, and 2,4-dichlorophenol as metabolites (Gangadharan



Fig. 4.13 Proposed degradation pathways of triclosan by Dyella sp. WW1.

Puthiya Veetil et al. 2012). Its degradation was studied in wastewater using a microorganism identified as *Dyella* sp. WW1, obtaining optimal conditions for the process at 15 °C and pH of 7. In the degradative process, six degradation products were identified using mass spectrometry (Fig. 4.13). Furthermore, it was found that it could degrade another contaminant such as 3,5-dichloro-4-hydrobenzoic acid through co-metabolism in the presence of triclosan, but it could not degrade drugs such as carbamazepine and diclofenac (Wang et al. 2018).

4.5.3 Aldehydes

The activity of aldehydes, basically formaldehyde and glutaraldehyde, is linked to the denaturation of proteins and nucleic acids by chemical reduction. aldehydes very well destroy bacteria, microscopic fungi and also have excellent virucidal action. They are used to disinfect appliances, surfaces, and instruments (Cowan et al. 1993).

Formaldehyde has been widely used in liquid preparations for the disinfection of portable toilets. Formaldehyde is a disinfectant with great penetrating power and an irritant action on the skin and mucosa. It is toxic, both in gaseous form (it produces irritation of the ocular and respiratory mucosa) and by ingestion, producing digestive and nervous system disorders. For this reason, it is not usually used locally and is used for the disinfection of instruments and inert surfaces, at this concentration it is used in 40% aqueous solutions, adding methanol to prevent its passage to paraformaldehyde (Jeffrey 1995). Formaldehyde acts on microorganisms through



alkylation of the amino and sulfhydryl groups of proteins and on the atoms of nitrogen found in the ring of purine bases (Karsa 2007).

Formaldehyde is a very common chemical pollutant found in different environments such as water, air, and soil (Kaszycki and Koloczek 2002). Several applications given to formaldehyde lead to the progressive release of the compound in toxic concentrations. This makes their degradation a relevant subject of study. This is why the potential of microorganisms to degrade these toxic compounds has been exploited. Thus, Yamazaki et al. demonstrated the effectiveness of a bacterium of the Bacillus genus called DM-2, which is resistant to formaldehyde, is capable of degrading the pollutant at concentrations above 400 ppm in a medium containing 3% chloride sodium. This study achieved a degradation rate of up to 45 ppm/h when the optical density of the culture at a wavelength of 660 nm was 1.2 (Yamazaki et al. 2001). On the other hand, Kaszycki et al. verified that yeast *Hansenula polymorpha* cooperates with activated sludge in the degradative processes of formaldehyde as well as its derivatives. The degradation was carried out in an acidic medium and a temperature above 20 °C (Kaszycki and Koloczek 2002). Also, Changhong et al isolated a formaldehyde-resistant bacterium with the potential to degrade it. The bacterium was characterized according to Bergey's manual, showing a genetic sequence similar to Pseudomonas sp. This bacterium was able to completely degrade 20 mM of the contaminant in 12 h, giving it the potential to degrade higher concentrations under other conditions (Changhong et al. 2012). The degradation of large concentrations of formaldehyde (~2.7 M) was achieved through the use of lyophilized *Methylobacterium sp* cells, which generate formic acid and methanol as degradation products (Fig. 4.14). The study suggests that degradation occurs optimally at a temperature of 40 °C and a pH between 5 and 7, and is caused by the enzyme formaldehyde dismutase. Recently, Thirumarimurugan et al. tested the effectiveness of *Bacillus subtilis* bacteria to degrade formaldehyde under specific conditions of pH, concentration of contaminant, and inoculum size. The degradation checked by of Fourier infrared was means transform spectroscopy (Thirumarimurugan et al. 2017).

Glutaraldehyde is a compound used as biocide with at least three times the activity compared to formaldehyde, but whose stability declines in strong solutions. It is commonly used for the sterilization of sensitive medical instruments. The biocidal effect of glutaraldehyde comes from the alkylation of the sulfhydryl, hydroxyl, carboxyl, and amino groups, allowing the alteration of DNA, RNA, and protein synthesis processes (Donnell 1999). It is a compound that, by direct contact or inhalation, can cause sensitization and irritation of the skin and mucosa. Several cases of glutaraldehyde colitis have been reported in the world literature after colonoscopies, probably caused by glutaraldehyde residues in endoscopes.



Fig. 4.15 Degradation pathways of glutaraldehyde under aerobic and anaerobic conditions

Glutaraldehyde is considered a toxic chemical compound mainly for aquatic organisms, being more lethal for freshwater fish. Environmental studies suggest that glutaraldehyde is maintained in aquatic environments and tends to bioaccumulate. However, it has also been verified that under aerobic conditions it is degraded to CO_2 via glutaric acid as an intermediate. On the other hand, under anaerobic conditions, it is metabolized to 1,5-pentanediol (Fig. 4.15) (Leung 2001).

4.5.4 Biguanides and Polymeric Biguanides

Biguanides are active ingredients with a broad-spectrum disinfectant formulation with high bactericidal, fungicidal, and sporicidal efficacy. The efficiency of these compounds depends to a great extent on the pH of the medium, being a pH: 5–7 the optimal for biguanides such as alexidine and chlorhexidine and a pH: 5–10 for polymeric biguanides (Maris 1995).

Chlorhexidine is a strong dicationic base at pH above 3.5 with two positive charges at each end of the hexamethylene bridge (Jenkins et al. 1988). This feature makes it extremely interactive with anions, which makes it relevant for its efficacy, safety, local side effects, and difficulty in formulating it in products. Although it is a base, chlorhexidine remains more stable as a salt and the most common preparation is digluconate salt due to its high solubility in water. In vitro, it has effectiveness against gram-positive and gram-negative bacteria, including aerobes and anaerobes and even fungi and yeasts (Cheung et al. 2012). Compounds that incorporate CPC (cetylpyridinium chloride) to chlorhexidine obtain better results. Chlorhexidine strongly binds to the bacterial cell membrane, which at low concentrations produces an increase in permeability with filtration of intracellular components including potassium (bacteriostatic effect), at higher concentrations it causes precipitation of the bacterial cytoplasm and cell death (bactericidal effect) (Sykes and Weese 2014). On the other hand, alexidine chemically differs from chlorhexidine in the two hydrophobic ethylhexyl groups it presents. This variation gives it faster bactericidal activity and bacterial permeabilization.

Despite very little information on the environmental effects of chlorhexidine, several European regulatory organizations have classified it as a dangerous compound for the environment due to its high toxicity to aquatic organisms. It has been



Fig. 4.16 Direct degradation pathway of chlorhexidine by Pseudomonas sp.

detected that it is capable of bioaccumulating in acoustic environments. This is because it is a positively charged hydrophobic molecule which suggests that it can easily adhere to other lipids and fatty tissues of organisms (Castillo et al. 2004). Likewise, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency has categorized a highly toxic compound for marine invertebrates at potencies higher than 32 µg/L (Lawrence et al. 2008). For these reasons, its degradation has been studied by the scientific community. The first studies that were used to identify microorganisms resistant to the contaminant were reported by Uyeda et al., who demonstrated that Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Alcaligenes fecalis, Alcaligenes xylosoxidans, and Serratia marcescens are resistant to high concentrations of chlorhexidine. From these organisms, S. marcescens are potential organisms to degrade chlorhexidine (Uyeda et al. 1996). However, new studies have been carried out over the years that would check the efficiency of other microorganisms. This is the case of the research carried out by Tanaka et al, who considered analyzing the biodegradation of chlorhexidine using *Pseudomonas sp.* Using this microbe, two aromatic degradation products were obtained, named (CHADP)-4 and CHADP-6, which are cleavage partners of pchlorophenylurea and p-chloroaniline, respectively (Fig. 4.16) (Tanaka et al. 2006).

Polymeric biguanides are active principles that have a wide spectrum of activity and are very effective against *Pseudomonas* sp., therefore, their use is recommended, especially in water packaging industries (Ikeda et al. 1984). PHMB's mechanism of action has been described in numerous articles. The disinfectant has been shown to interact with the surface of the bacteria and is transferred to the cytoplasmic membrane and cytoplasm, where it reacts with phospholipids, causing increased permeability, with the release of lipopolysaccharides, potassium ions, and causing cell death (Ittoop et al. 2015).

PHMB is a chemical compound that has application as a germicide for the disinfection of various devices, the most important being dental utensils and the disinfection of swimming pools (Lucas 2012). Despite being classified as a compound that has a very low risk of causing adverse effects on human health, the presence of the pollutant has been detected on aquatic surfaces and has been found to



Fig. 4.17 Degradation products of 1,6-diguanidinohexane by Pseudomonas putida

have a toxic effect on certain species of marine life (United States Coast Guard Research and Development Center 2004). Its degradation is an important step to avoid accumulation in aquatic environments. Although there is no extensive study in the field of microbial degradation of PHMB, due to, mainly, its structural complexity and heterogeneity of chain length, approaches have been made with model molecules to estimate what a microbial degradation of the polymer would be like. Thus, O'Malley et al. used 1,6-diaminohexane, 1,6-diguanidinohexane, 1,6-di (cyanoguanidine) hexane, and 4-guanidinobutyric acid to assess end-group degradation using microorganisms with the potential to degrade the polymer. The results showed that no bacteria have an affinity for the end-group of cyanoguanidine but one bacterium, Pseudomonas putida, was able to use the amine and guanidine end-groups as a nitrogen source (Fig. 4.17). Thus, O'Malley concludes that these end-groups would be the most likely to degrade in the PHMB (O'Malley et al. 2006). Also, there are microorganisms capable of using it as a nitrogen source and they have been isolated. Thus, O'Malley showed that two consortia containing bacteria of the genera Sphingomonas, Azospirillum, and Mesorhizobium were capable of growing based on PHMB. With an isotopic analysis, the percentage degradation of the polymer was verified (O'Malley et al. 2007).

4.5.5 Amphoteric Compounds

Amphoteric compounds have both positive and negative charges on their structure, so other cationic or anionic active ingredients can be formulated (Fig. 4.18). In particular, the compounds that have amines in their structure have high efficacy as disinfectants. These compounds have less activity than most quaternary ammonium derived compounds (QACs), however, their work is less affected by the presence of gram-positive organisms (Moore and Payne 2008). They are also easier to remove than quaternaries. Its use has become very frequent in daily life and the pharmaceutical industries. Its activity as a detergent by itself is limited to lipophilic viruses, so it is not effective against solids. To focus their activity in this area, amphoteric compounds are combined with products with a greater spectrum of activity and detergency such as glutaraldehyde and formaldehyde (Donnell 1999).

Although the market, use, and production of amphoteric agents bring advantages to the economy, industrial and sanitary production of the population, there is a primordial transversal theme that is becoming increasingly relevant: the environmental impact related to its use (Brand 2019). Amphoteric agents have mainly become a water pollutant due to their use for laundry and domestic cleaning, that is, when they are used, they will be deposited to treatment plants that are carried by the sewage or in many cases are discharged to soils and surface waters. In the wastewater treatment process, the elimination of large amounts of compounds is carried out through the biodegradation and absorption of particles, however, the metabolites produced in the said process are released in various environmental compartments. The main effects of surfactants on water resources include:

- Amphoteric compounds increase the pH of wastewater and affect the life cycle of aquatic organisms.
- Surfactants cause an increase in nutrients in the river channels that receive the wastewater, producing an increase in algae and bad odors due to the accumulation of phosphorous.
- Heavy metals such as mercury, lead, and chromium can dissolve in water causing alteration of the food chain or genetic damage in aquatic species.
- The oxygen demand to carry out the decomposition of organic compounds originated by detergents produces anoxic conditions causing the death of aquatic flora and fauna.



Cocamidopropyl betaine (CAPB)

Fig. 4.18 Chemical structure of an amphoteric surfactant

• Amphoteric compounds have a direct impact on the sedimentation, flocculation, and coagulation processes on the plants that allow and facilitate purification (Brand 2019).

Several studies have been carried out to check the microbe degradation of amphoteric pollutants. In this sense, Merkova et al. showed that the degradation of Cocamidopropyl betaine in activated sludge, at a concentration of 300 mg/L, is produced by gram-negative bacteria of the genus *Pseudomonas* and *Rhizobium*, since they facilitate the complexation of surfactant (Merkova et al. 2017). In another study, Shaw et al. managed to degrade a surfactant called 6:2 fluorotelomer sulfonamidoalkyl betaine using *Gordonia sp.* This microorganism is capable of degrading 70.4% of 60 μ M of the pollutant, producing 10 major degradation products (Shaw et al. 2019).

4.5.6 Chlorinated Compounds

Chlorine-based compounds are the most widely used active agents as disinfectants, both in industry and at home. It is applied in various scenarios such as drinking water, swimming pool water, and wastewater for disinfection since it is very effective for the elimination of pathogenic microorganisms and relatively cheap. The biocidal action is carried out by chlorine, which is a gas that cannot be used in the formulation of compounds, therefore a means to use it is through reaction with caustic products, which leads to the formation of hypochlorite of sodium, which is the base of many disinfectants (Franklin et al. 1991).

The mode of action of chlorinated compounds is based on an atomic exchange with other compounds such as the enzymes present in the microorganisms. Enzymes in contact with the chloride ion, certain hydrogen atoms in the molecule are replaced by the anion. This produces a structural change in the molecule since if the enzymes do not perform their function properly, the microorganism dies (Marhaba 2009).

Sodium hypochlorite is the basis of various disinfectants. Its disinfecting power comes from its oxidizing properties due to the presence of the ClO⁻ anion, which attacks the cytoplasmic membrane. NaClO sodium hypochlorite is a salt of hypochlorous acid HClO. In solution, this salt dissociates into Na⁺ and ClO⁻ ions (European Union 2017).

The main advantage of chlorinated products is their low cost and that they have a wide range of action against microorganisms. They are effective at low temperatures and generally have no residual activity. Its main disadvantage is its instability, both against environmental conditions and in the presence of organic matter, drawbacks which are minimized in disinfectant formulations (Gallandat et al. 2020).

Due to the wide use that is given to chlorinated compounds (herbicides, fungicides, solvents, fluids, plasticizers, etc.), it is logical to think that they are dispersed in the environment. Indeed, these compounds are defined by the United States Environmental Protection Agency (U.S EPA) as priority pollutants (Oluwasanu 2018). This is due to the ability of chlorine to generate toxicity,



Fig. 4.19 Initial steps for biodegradation of 1,4-dichlorobenzene by *Pseudomonas* sp. and *Xanthobacter flavus*

accumulate and persist in environments, which has generated a public health problem. It is for this reason that the application of bioremediation mechanisms that reduce these contaminants is necessary, and the best option has been the use of microorganisms that use these compounds as an energy source.

As has been mentioned extensively throughout the chapter, microorganisms are capable of transforming complex compounds into simpler organic molecules, such as CO₂. Several microorganisms that use chlorinated compounds for energy synthesis (ATP) have been identified. For example, Spain et al. and Spiess et al, in their research groups verified that *Pseudomonas sp.* and *Xanthobacter flavus*, respectively, are capable of degrading 1,4-dichlorobenzene, by means of two different metabolic pathways that are produced by enzymes induced by cell growth generated by the disinfectant (Fig. 4.19) (Spain and Nishino 1987; Spiess et al. 1995). These microorganisms were also used for the degradation of 1,2-dichlorobenzene by Haigler et al. (Haigler et al. 1988) and Sommer et al. (Sommer and Görisch 1997). In the same sense, under specific conditions, the bacterium *Rhodococcus corallinus* is capable of oxidizing trichloroethene (Saeki et al. 1999; Suttinun et al. 2010).

An interesting degradation is the one that occurs with tetrachloromethane. This molecule is inert due to the fact that it has no C–H bonds, it is nonpolar, and has a tetrahedral geometry, for which radical reactions are necessarily required for its transformation. This mechanism produces two highly reactive entities such as a chlorine atom and a halogenated carbon radical. Due to successive dehalogenations, it is difficult for a microorganism to control the toxicity and a large amount of energy generated by these species. However, studies have been carried out showing that the bacteria *Acetobacterium woodii* and *Moorella thermoacetica* generate various degradation products. This process is produced by a reductive acetyl-CoA pathway that allows the chlorinated pollutant to be assimilated into the biomass under certain conditions (Egli et al. 1988; Hashsham and Freedman 1999; Adamson and Parkin 2001). The degradative process by means of *Acetobacterium woodii* is based on four stages: (1) reductive sequential dehalogenation; (2) substitute transformation; (3) oxidative transformation and, finally, and (4) CO_2 assimilation by the acetyl-CoA pathway (Fig. 4.20).



Fig. 4.20 Degradation pathway of chloromethane by Acetobacterium woodii

Based on the experiments compiled in this section, it can be deduced that most of the experiments related to the microbial degradation of chlorinated compounds were made on a laboratory scale, so it is necessary to develop bioreactor systems on an industrial scale in order to treat systems of wastewater and environments contaminated by large concentrations of these compounds.

4.6 Perspectives and Conclusions

Cleaning is a fundamental lifestyle for every person in the world. However, its care would be affected by side effects unknown already by the people who practice them. Depending on the chemical compound employed the consequences on the effects will produce hazardous concerns. The negative effects not only will affect human health but the natural environment as well. The environmental contamination produced by the excessive use of disinfectants has become a focus of interest on the part of the scientific community. To solve this problem, the ability of microorganisms to generate enzymes capable of progressively degrading complex molecules into harmless substances and use them as an energy source has been taken into account, obtaining quite encouraging results. The fate of each contaminant embedded in the environment will depend on the microorganisms found in that part of the environment and the method used for the remediation of that place. The lack of species capable of fulfilling this task will cause bioaccumulation of pollutants with harmful potential for the environment. The microbial degradation of disinfectants, as detailed in this chapter, can be produced by co-metabolic transformations, by microbial induction, or by transformations that require energy for their development. Undoubtedly, the bacteria with the greatest genetic capacity to carry out this process are those that belong to the genus of Pseudomonas. Of these organisms, countless genes have been characterized and have allowed the modification of many others that fulfill the mission of biodegrading compounds of environmental concerns.

Future studies related to microbial degradation should be directed to basic and applied aspects of the process. Because bioremediation is an important factor in contaminant removal, it is necessary to understand aspects of microbial genetics, biochemistry, chemistry, and physiology. Likewise, efforts should be made to try to reduce the gap between laboratory-scale studies and industrial processes, since, as has been shown, most investigations are flask experiments. These experiments often do not reflect the results that would be obtained in large-scale processes. The reasons to which this problem is attributed lies in the physiological, environmental, structural conditions, concentrations of the pollutant, and other related aspects that, on a large scale, are usually under constant variation. In the same sense, the processing of dangerous pollutants presents the challenge of discovering new unknown degradation products, making it necessary to know these metabolites, metabolic routes, biochemical aspects, and others. Knowing the potential of microorganisms and the rapid advancement of science, it is possible to achieve great results in bioremediation in just a few years, which will give a break to our nature.

Acknowledgments This work was supported by Dirección General de Asuntos del Personal Académico, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México under Grant IN202320 (México).

References

- Adamson D, Parkin G (2001) Product distribution during transformation of multiple contaminants by a high-rate, tetrachloroethene-dechlorinating enrichment culture. Biodegradation 12:337–348
- Aktaş F (2013) Bioremediation techniques and strategies on removal of polluted environment. J Eng Res Appl Sci 2:107–115
- Akuji MA, Chambers DJ (2017) Hydrogen peroxide: more harm than good? Br J Anaesth 118 (6):958–959. https://doi.org/10.1093/bja/aex151
- Alexander M (1981) Biodegradation of chemicals of environmental concern. Science 211 (9):132-138
- Alton L (2020) How exactly do cleaning supplies affect the environment? https:// blueandgreentomorrow.com/environment/how-exactly-cleaning-supplies-affect-environment/. Accessed 30 July 2020
- Azubuike C, Chikere C, Okpokwasili G (2016) Bioremediation techniques-classification based on site of application: principles, advantages. Limitations and prospects. World J Microbiol Biotechnol 32:180. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11274-016-2137-x
- Basak B, Bhunia B, Dutta S, Dey A (2013) Enhanced biodegradation of 4-chlorophenol by *Candida tropicalis* PHB5 via optimization of physicochemical parameters using Taguchi orthogonal array approach. Int Biodeterior Biodegrad 78:17–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibiod.2012.12. 005
- Beaudouin E, Kanny G, Morisset M, Renaudin JM, Mertes M, Laxenaire MC, Mouton C, Jacson F, Moneret-Vautrin DA (2004) Immediate hypersensitivity to chlorhexidine: literature review. Eur Ann Allergy Clin Immunol 36(4):123–126
- Becker P (2010) Understanding and optimizing the microbial degradation of olive oil: a case study with the thermophilic bacterium *Geobacillus thermoleovorans* IHI-91. Elsevier Inc., Amsterdam. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-374420-3.00042-5

- Bhatt P, Pathak VM, Joshi S, Bisht TS, Singh K, Chandra D (2019) Major metabolites after degradation of xenobiotics and enzymes involved in these pathways. Elsevier Inc., Amsterdam. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-818307-6.00012-3
- Boopathy R (2000) Factors limiting bioremediation technologies. Bioresour Technol 74(1):63–67. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0960-8524(99)00144-3
- Brand D (2019) Effects of surfactants on the environment. Gerenc Ambient y Desarro Sosten Empres 2019:63–83
- Bruins G, Dyer JA, Division RM, Branch IS, Canada A, Bureau E, Canada A (1995) Environmental considerations of disinfectants used in agriculture. Rev Sci Tech Off Int Epiz 14(1):81–94
- Burge PS, Richardson MN (1994) Occupational asthma due to indirect exposure to lauryl dimethyl benzyl ammonium chloride used in a floor cleaner. Thorax 49(8):842–843. https://doi.org/10. 1136/thx.49.8.842
- Castillo JA, Pinazo A, Carilla J, Infante MR, Alsina MA, Haro I, Clapés P (2004) Interaction of antimicrobial arginine-based cationic surfactants with liposomes and lipid monolayers. Langmuir 20(8):3379–3387. https://doi.org/10.1021/la036452h
- Changhong G, Lili S, Ge S, Diansi Y, Rui D (2012) Isolation and characteristion of formaldehydedegrading bacteria from furniture factory. Adv Intell Soft Comput 134:261–267. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/978-3-642-27537-1_33
- Cheung H-Y, Wong MM-K, Cheung S-H, Liang LY, Lam Y-W, Chiu S-K (2012) Differential actions of chlorhexidine on the cell wall of *Bacillus subtilis* and *Escherichia coli*. PLoS One 7 (5):e36659–e36659. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0036659
- Cleaners and Disinfectants (2020) Health care without harm. https://noharm-uscanada.org/issues/ us-canada/cleaners-and-disinfectants. Accessed 30 July 2020
- Cowan RE, Manning AP, Ayliffe GA, Axon AT, Causton JS, Cripps NF, Hall R, Hanson PJ, Harrison J, Leicester RJ et al (1993) Aldehyde disinfectants and health in endoscopy units. British Society of Gastroenterology Endoscopy Committee. Gut 34(11):1641–1645. https://doi. org/10.1136/gut.34.11.1641
- Cristorean C, Micle V, Sur I (2016) A critical analysis of ex-situ bioremediation technologies of hydrocarbon polluted soils. ECOTERRA J Environ Res Prot
- DeBono R, Laitung G (1997) Phenolic household disinfectants further precautions required. Burns 23(2):182–185. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0305-4179(96)00114-3
- Denyer SP, Stewart GSA (1998) Mechanisms of action of disinfectants. Int Biodeterior Biodegradation 8305(98):261–268
- Díaz-Enriquez E, Mayo-Abad O, Miró-Frutos I, Pérez-Gutiérrez Y, Tsoraeva A (2017) Determinación de La Eficacia de Los Desinfectantes Empleados En las areas Asépticas de un Centro Productor de Biofarmacéuticos. VacciMonitor 26(2):54–59
- Donati ER, Sani RK, Goh KM, Chan KG (2019) Editorial: recent advances in bioremediation/ biodegradation by extreme microorganisms. Front Microbiol 10:1–2. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fmicb.2019.01851
- Donnell GMC (1999) Antiseptics and disinfectants: activity, action and resistance. Clin Microbiol Rev 12(1):147–179
- Egli C, Tschan T, Scholtz R, Cook AM, Leisinger T (1988) Transformation of tetrachloromethane to dichloromethane and carbon dioxide by *Acetobacterium woodii*. Appl Environ Microbiol 54 (11):2819–2824. https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.54.11.2819-2824.1988
- El-Naas MH, Al-Muhtaseb SA, Makhlouf S (2009) Biodegradation of phenol by pseudomonas putida immobilized in polyvinyl alcohol (PVA) gel. J Hazard Mater 164(2–3):720–725. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2008.08.059
- European Union (2017) Evaluation of active substances: Active chlorine released from sodium hypochlorite. vol 1
- Franchi O, Rosenkranz F, Chamy R (2018) Key microbial populations involved in anaerobic degradation of phenol and P-cresol using different Inocula. Electron J Biotechnol 35:33–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejbt.2018.08.002

- Franklin MJ, Nivens DE, Vass AA, Mittelman MW, Jack RF, Dowling NJE, White DC (1991) Effect of chlorine and chlorine/bromine biocide treatments on the number and activity of biofilm bacteria and on carbon steel corrosion. Corrosion 47(2):128–134. https://doi.org/10.5006/1. 3585228
- Friedman ND, Walton AL, Boyd S, Tremonti C, Low J, Styles K, Harris O, Alfredson D, Athan E (2013) The effectiveness of a single-stage versus traditional three-staged protocol of hospital disinfection at eradicating vancomycin-resistant enterococci from frequently touched surfaces. Am J Infect Control 41(3):227–231. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajic.2012.03.021
- Fritsche W, Hofrichter M (2008) Aerobic degradation by microorganisms. Wiley, New York, pp 144–167. https://doi.org/10.1002/9783527620951.ch6
- Fujita H, Ogawa M, Endo Y (2006) A case of occupational bronchial asthma and contact dermatitis caused by ortho-phthalaldehyde exposure in a medical worker. J Occup Health 48:413–416. https://doi.org/10.1539/joh.48.413
- Gallandat K, Kolus RC, Julian TR, Lantagne DS (2020) A systematic review of chlorine-based surface disinfection efficacy to inform recommendations for low-resource outbreak settings. Am J Infect Control 2020:S0196-6553-4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajic.2020.05.014
- Gangadharan Puthiya Veetil P, Vijaya Nadaraja A, Bhasi A, Khan S, Bhaskaran K (2012) Degradation of triclosan under aerobic, anoxic, and anaerobic conditions. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 167(6):1603–1612. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12010-012-9573-3
- Gannon PF, Bright P, Campbell M, O'Hickey SP, Burge PS (1995) Occupational asthma due to glutaraldehyde and formaldehyde in endoscopy and X ray departments. Thorax 50(2):156–159. https://doi.org/10.1136/thx.50.2.156
- Gerba CP (2015) Quaternary ammonium biocides: efficacy in application. Appl Environ Microbiol 81(2):464–469. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02633-14
- Ghattas A-K, Fischer F, Wick A, Ternes TA (2017) Anaerobic biodegradation of (emerging) organic contaminants in the aquatic environment. Water Res 116:268–295. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.watres.2017.02.001
- Giagnorio M, Amelio A, Grüttner H, Tiraferri A (2017) Environmental impacts of detergents and benefits of their recovery in the laundering industry. J Clean Prod 154:593–601. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.04.012
- Goddard PA, McCue KA (2001) Phenolic compounds. Disinfection, sterilization, and preservation. Lippincott Williams Wilkins, Philadelphia, pp 255–281
- González Rojas EH, Concepto Y (2011) Estrategias de Biorremediación. Inge@uan 1(1):20-29
- Haigler BE, Nishino SF, Spain JC (1988) Degradation of 1,2-dichlorobenzene by a *Pseudomonas* sp. Appl Environ Microbiol 54(2):294 LP-301
- Hashsham SA, Freedman DL (1999) Enhanced biotransformation of carbon tetrachloride by Acetobacterium woodii upon addition of Hydroxocobalamin and fructose. Appl Environ Microbiol 65(10):4537–4542. https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.65.10.4537-4542.1999
- Hazen TC (2010) Cometabolic bioremediation BT. In: Timmis KN (ed) Handbook of hydrocarbon and lipid microbiology. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg, pp 2505–2514. https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-3-540-77587-4_185
- Höckenreiner M, Neugebauer H, Elango L (2015) Ex situ bioremediation method for the treatment of groundwater contaminated with PAHs. Int J Environ Sci Technol 12(1):285–296. https://doi. org/10.1007/s13762-013-0427-5
- Ikeda T, Ledwith A, Bamford CH, Hann RA (1984) Interaction of a polymeric biguanide biocide with phospholipid membranes. Biochim Biophys Acta Biomembr 769(1):57–66. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/0005-2736(84)90009-9
- Ioannou CJ, Hanlon GW, Denyer SP (2007) Action of disinfectant quaternary ammonium compounds against *Staphylococcus aureus*. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 51(1):296–306. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.00375-06
- Ittoop SM, Seibold LK, Kahook MY (2015) Ocular surface disease and the role of preservatives in glaucoma medications. W.B. Saunders, Saint Louis, pp 593–597. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-7020-5193-7.00058-3

- Jeffrey DJCU a D (1995) Active ingredients and enhancing additives. Sci Tech Rev Off Int des Epizoot 14(1):57–74
- Jenkins S, Addy M, Wade W (1988) The mechanism of action of chlorhexidine. J Clin Periodontol 15(7):415–424. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-051X.1988.tb01595.x
- Jennings MC, Minbiole KPC, Wuest WM (2016) Quaternary ammonium compounds: an antimicrobial mainstay and platform for innovation to address bacterial resistance. ACS Infect Dis 1 (7):288–303. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsinfecdis.5b00047
- Kahrs RF (1995) General disinfection guidelines. Rev Sci Tech 14(1):105–163. https://doi.org/10. 20506/rst.14.1.836
- Karsa DRF (2007) Biocides. In: Handbook for cleaning/decontamination of surfaces. Elsevier Science B.V., Amsterdam, pp 593–623. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-044451664-0/50018-8
- Kaszycki P, Koloczek H (2002) Biodegradation of formaldehyde and its derivatives in industrial wastewater with methylotrophic yeast *Hansenula polymorpha* and with the yeast-bioaugmented activated sludge. Biodegradation 13(2):91–99. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1020423517235
- Khan AH, Topp E, Scott A, Sumarah M, Macfie SM, Ray MB (2015) Biodegradation of benzalkonium chlorides singly and in mixtures by a *Pseudomonas* sp. Isolated from returned activated sludge. J Hazard Mater 299:595–602. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2015.07.073
- Kirmusaoglu S (2018) Introductory chapter: overview of disinfection. Intech 6. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.colsurfa.2011.12.014
- Krastanov A, Alexieva Z, Yemendzhiev H (2013) Microbial degradation of phenol and phenolic derivatives. Eng Life Sci 13(1):76–87. https://doi.org/10.1002/elsc.201100227
- Kujala VM, Reijula KE, Ruotsalainen EM, Heikkinen K (1995) Occupational asthma due to chloramine-T solution. Respir Med 89(10):693–695. https://doi.org/10.1016/0954-6111(95) 90137-x
- Kumar A, Sharma S (2019) Microbes and enzymes in soil health and bioremediation. Springer, Singapore
- la Farré M, Pérez S, Kantiani L, Barceló D (2008) Fate and toxicity of emerging pollutants, their metabolites and transformation products in the aquatic environment. Trends Anal Chem 27 (11):991–1007. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trac.2008.09.010
- Langenhoff AA (2007) In situ bioremediation technologies experiences in the Netherlands and future european challenges. EURODEMO 2007: 1–21
- Lawrence JR, Zhu B, Swerhone GDW, Topp E, Roy J, Wassenaar LI, Rema T, Korber DR (2008) Community-level assessment of the effects of the broad-spectrum antimicrobial chlorhexidine on the outcome of river microbial biofilm development. Appl Environ Microbiol 74 (11):3541–3550. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02879-07
- Leung H-W (2001) Aerobic and anaerobic metabolism of glutaraldehyde in a river water-sediment system. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol 41(3):267–273. https://doi.org/10.1007/s002440010248
- Liu Z, Xie W, Li D, Peng Y, Li Z, Liu S (2016) Biodegradation of phenol by bacteria strain Acinetobacter calcoaceticus PA isolated from phenolic wastewater. Int J Environ Res Public Health 13(3):300. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph13030300
- Lucas AD (2012) Environmental fate of polyhexamethylene biguanide. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 88(3):322–325. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00128-011-0436-3
- Macrae IC, Alexander M, Rovira AD (1963) The decomposition of 4-(2,4-dichlorophenoxy) butyric acid by Flavobacterium sp. J Gen Microbiol 32:69–76. https://doi.org/10.1099/ 00221287-32-1-69
- Mahiuddin M, Fakhruddin ANM, Mahin A-A (2012) Degradation of phenol via meta cleavage pathway by *Pseudomonas fluorescens* PU1. ISRN Microbiol 2012:741820. https://doi.org/10. 5402/2012/741820
- Maitra S (2018) Ex situ bioremediation an overview. Res J Life Sci Bioinformatics Pharm Chem Sci Sci Bioinformatics Pharm Chem Sci 4(6):422–437. https://doi.org/10.26479/2018.0406.34
- Marhaba TF (2009) Monitoring disinfectants. Academic Press, Amsterdam, pp 259–288. https:// doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-374192-9.00012-1
- Maris P (1995) Modes of action of disinfectants. Rev Sci Tech Off Int Epiz 14(1):47-55

- Mazzola PG, Jozala AF, Novaes LCDL, Moriel P, Penna TCV (2009) Minimal inhibitory concentration (MIC) determination of disinfectant and/or sterilizing agents. Brazil J Pharm Sci 45 (2):241–248. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1984-82502009000200008
- Mazzoli R, Pessione E, Giuffrida MG, Fattori P, Barello C, Giunta C, Lindley ND (2007) Degradation of aromatic compounds by *Acinetobacter radioresistens* S13: growth characteristics on single substrates and mixtures. Arch Microbiol 188(1):55–68. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00203-007-0223-z
- McBain AJ, Ledder RG, Moore LE, Catrenich CE, Gilbert P (2004) Effects of quaternaryammonium-based formulations on bacterial community dynamics and antimicrobial susceptibility. Appl Environ Microbiol 70(6):3449–3456. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.70.6.3449-3456.2004
- Merkova M, Zalesak M, Ringlova E, Julinova M, Ruzicka J (November 2017) Degradation of the surfactant cocamidopropyl betaine by two bacterial strains isolated from activated sludge. Int Biodeterior Biodegrad 2018(127):236–240. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibiod.2017.12.006
- Mishra VK, Kumar N (2017) Microbial degradation of phenol: a review. J Water Pollut Purif Res 4 (1):17–22
- Moore S, Payne D (2008) Types of antimicrobial agents. In: Principles and practice of disinfection, preservation and sterilization: fourth edition, pp 1–678. https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470755884
- Mosratö J, Mir J, Codony F, Mas J, Ribas F (2003) Microbial response to disinfectants. https://doi. org/10.1016/B978-012470100-7/50040-6
- Nagata Y (2020) Special issue: microbial degradation of xenobiotics. Microorganisms 8 (4):2019–2020. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms8040487
- Nagy L, Orosz M (1984) Occupational asthma due to hexachlorophene. Thorax 39:630-631
- Nishihara T, Okamoto T, Nishiyama N (2000) Biodegradation of didecyldimethylammonium chloride by *Pseudomonas fluorescens* TN4 isolated from activated sludge. J Appl Microbiol 88:641–647
- O'Malley LP, Collins AN, White GF (2006) Biodegradability of end-groups of the biocide Polyhexamethylene Biguanide (PHMB) assessed using model compounds. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 33(8):677–684. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10295-006-0103-6
- O'Malley LP, Shaw CH, Collins AN (2007) Microbial degradation of the biocide polyhexamethylene biguanide: isolation and characterization of enrichment consortia and determination of degradation by measurement of stable isotope incorporation into DNA. J Appl Microbiol 103(4):1158–1169. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2672.2007.03354.x
- Oluwasanu AA (2018) Fate and toxicity of chlorinated phenols of environmental implications: a review. Med Anal Chem Int J 2(4). https://doi.org/10.23880/macij-16000126
- Patrauchan MA, Oriel PJ (2003) Degradation of benzyldimethylalkylammonium chloride by Aeromonas hydrophila sp. K J Appl Microbiol 94(2):266–272. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2672.2003.01829.x
- Pazarlioglu NK, Kaymaz Y, Babaoğlu A (2012) Biodegradation kinetics of O-cresol by *Pseudo-monas putida* DSM 548 (pJP4) and O-cresol removal in a batch-recirculation bioreactor system. Electron J Biotechnol 15(1):1–10. https://doi.org/10.2225/vol15-issue1-fulltext-4
- Pechter E, Davis LK, Tumpowsky C, Flattery J, Harrison R, Reinisch F, Reilly MJ, Rosenman KD, Schill DP, Valiante D et al (2005) Work-related asthma among health care workers: surveillance data from California, Massachusetts, Michigan, and New Jersey, 1993–1997. Am J Ind Med 47 (3):265–275. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajim.20138
- Perruchon C, Vasileiadis S, Rousidou C, Papadopoulou ES, Tanou G, Samiotaki M, Garagounis C, Molassiotis A, Papadopoulou KK, Karpouzas DG (2017) Metabolic pathway and cell adaptation mechanisms revealed through genomic, proteomic and transcription analysis of a *Sphingomonas haloaromaticamans* strain degrading ortho-phenylphenol. Sci Rep 7(1):6449. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-06727-6
- Pontén A, Bruze M (2015) Formaldehyde. Dermatitis 26(1):3–6. https://doi.org/10.1097/DER. 0000000000000075

- Poursat BAJ, van Spanning RJM, de Voogt P, Parsons JR (2019) Implications of microbial adaptation for the assessment of environmental persistence of chemicals. Crit Rev Environ Sci Technol 49(23):2220–2255. https://doi.org/10.1080/10643389.2019.1607687
- Providenti MA, Lee H, Trevors JT (1993) Selected factors limiting the microbial degradation of recalcitrant compounds. J Ind Microbiol 12(6):379–395. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01569669
- Purohit A, Kopferschmitt-Kubler MC, Moreau C, Popin E, Blaumeiser M, Pauli G (2000) Quaternary ammonium compounds and occupational asthma. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 73 (6):423–427. https://doi.org/10.1007/s004200000162
- Raja S, Kalyanasundaram M (2014) Ex-situ and in-situ bioremediation strategies with special reference to marine and coastal environments. https://doi.org/10.13140/2.1.1021.5684.
- Ratledge C (1994) Biochemistry of microbial degradation. Springer, Netherlands
- Reineke W (2005) Aerobic and anaerobic biodegradation potentials of microorganisms. Biodegrad Persistance 2:1–161. https://doi.org/10.1007/10508767_1
- Reyes B, Caridad, Gasmuri A, Noelia, Mena B, Hierrezuelo A, Estenoz L, Alvarez D, Mora Y, Iznaga A (2014) Strategies for the assessment of disinfection and cleaning on biopharmaceutical cleanroom. Adv Biomed Eng Res 2:18–27. https://doi.org/10.13140/2.1.1514.9449
- Russell AD (1999) Bacterial resistance to disinfectants: present knowledge and future problems. J Hosp Infect 43:S57–S68. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0195-6701(99)90066-X
- Saeki H, Akira M, Furuhashi K, Averhoff B, Gottschalk G (1999) Degradation of trichloroethene by a linear-plasmid-encoded alkene monooxygenase in *Rhodococcus corallinus* (*Nocardia corallina*) B-276. Microbiology 145(7):1721–1730. https://doi.org/10.1099/13500872-145-7-1721
- Samuel MS, Sivaramakrishna A, Mehta A (2014) Bioremediation of P-Nitrophenol by *Pseudomo-nas putida* 1274 strain. J Environ Heal Sci Eng 12(1):1–8. https://doi.org/10.1186/2052-336X-12-53
- Savonius B, Keskinen H, Tuppurainen M, Kanerva L (1994) Occupational asthma caused by ethanolamines. Allergy 49(10):877–881. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1398-9995.1994.tb00791.x
- Shaw D, Munoz G, Bottos EM, Duy SV, Sauvé S, Liu J, Van Hamme JD (2019) Degradation and defluorination of 6:2 fluorotelomer sulfonamidoalkyl betaine and 6:2 fluorotelomer sulfonate by *Gordonia* sp. strain NB4-1Y under sulfur-limiting conditions. Sci Total Environ 647:690–698. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.08.012
- Singh VP (1995) Biotransformations: microbial degradation of health-risk compounds. Elsevier, Amsterdam
- Soffar H. (2020) The harmful effects of toxic chemicals in the environment. Science online https:// www.online-sciences.com/the-environment/the-harmful-effects-of-toxic-chemicals-in-the-environment/. Accessed 30 July 2020
- Sommer C, Görisch H (1997) Enzymology of the degradation of (Di)chlorobenzenes by Xanthobacter Flavus 14p1. Arch Microbiol 167(6):384–391. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s002030050459
- Spain JC, Nishino SF (1987) Degradation of 1,4-dichlorobenzene by a *Pseudomonas* sp. Appl Environ Microbiol 53(5):1010–1019. https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.53.5.1010-1019.1987
- Spiess E, Sommer C, Gorisch H (1995) Degradation of 1,4-dichlorobenzene by Xanthobacter flavus 14p1. Appl Environ Microbiol 61(11):3884–3888. https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.61.11.3884-3888.1995
- Srivastava J, Naraian R, Kalra SJS, Chandra H (2014) Advances in microbial Bioremediation and the factors influencing the process. Int J Environ Sci Technol 11(6):1787–1800. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s13762-013-0412-z
- Surfrider Foundation Europe (2020) Street disinfection causes environmental concerns. https:// surfrider.eu/en/learn/blog/street-disinfection-causes-environmental-concerns-121409207592. html. Accessed 30 July 2020
- Suttinun O, Müller R, Luepromchai E (2010) Cometabolic degradation of trichloroethene by *Rhodococcus* sp. strain L4 immobilized on plant materials rich in essential oils. Appl Environ Microbiol 76(14):4684 LP-4690. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.03036-09

- Sykes JE, Weese JS (2014) Infection control programs for dogs and cats. W.B. Saunders, Saint Louis, pp 105–118. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-1-4377-0795-3.00011-9
- Tanaka T, Ishii M, Nakano S, Mori Y, Yano Y, Iijima T, Takeda K, Kido Y (2006) Microbial degradation of disinfectants: two new aromatic degradation products of chlorhexidine, chlorhexidine aromatic degradation product (CHADP) -4 and CHADP-6, produced by *Pseudomonas* sp. strain no. A-3. J Heal Sci 52(1):58–62
- Tandukar M, Oh S, Tezel U, Konstantinidis KT, Pavlostathis SG (2013) Long-term exposure to benzalkonium chloride disinfectants results in change of microbial community structure and increased antimicrobial resistance. Environ Sci Technol 47(17):9730–9738. https://doi.org/10. 1021/es401507k
- Tezel U, Pavlostathis SG (2015) Quaternary ammonium disinfectants: microbial adaptation, degradation and ecology. Curr Opin Biotechnol 33:296–304. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copbio.2015. 03.018
- Thirumarimurugan M, Panchanathan E, Yogasri A, Sivakumar VM (2017) Biodegradation of formaldehyde using *Bacillus subtilis* in batch process. Int J Mater Prod Technol 55:296. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJMPT.2017.10005671
- Timian S (1996) The regulation and development of Bioremediation. RISK Heal Saf Environ 7(3):9
- Tomei M, Daugulis A (2013) Ex situ Bioremediation of contaminated soils: an overview of conventional and innovative technologies. Crit Rev Environ Sci Technol 43. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/10643389.2012.672056
- Tsukano Y (1986) Transformations of selected pesticides in flooded Rice-field soil a review. J Contam Hydrol 1(1):47–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/0169-7722(86)90006-9
- United States Coast Guard Research & Development Center (2004) Evaluation of biocides for potential treatment of ballast water. U.S. Dep. Homel. Secur. United States Coast Guard
- Uyeda M, Shiosaki T, Enokida T, Watanabe K, Komiya K, Yokomizo K, Suzuki K (1996) Microbial degradation of chlorhexidine by clinical isolates. Jpn J Toxicol Environ Health 42 (4):312–318
- Vidali M (2001) Bioremediation an overview. Pure Appl Chem 73(7):1163–1172
- Walters GI, Burge PS, Moore VC, Thomas MO, Robertson AS (2019) Occupational asthma caused by peracetic acid-hydrogen peroxide mixture. Occup Med (Lond) 69(4):294–297. https://doi. org/10.1093/occmed/kqz032
- Wang S, Yin Y, Wang J (2018) Microbial degradation of Triclosan by a novel strain of *Dyella* sp. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 102(4):1997–2006. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-018-8740-z
- Wen J, Li H, Bai J, Jiang Y (2006) Biodegradation of 4-Chlorophenol by *Candida albicans* PDY-07 under anaerobic conditions. Chinese J Chem Eng 14(6):790–795. https://doi.org/10. 1016/s1004-9541(07)60013-5
- Yamazaki T, Tsugawa W, Sode K (2001) Biodegradation of formaldehyde by a formaldehyderesistant bacterium isolated from seawater. Appl Biochem Biotechnol Part A Enzym Eng Biotechnol 91–93:213–217. https://doi.org/10.1385/ABAB:91-93:1-9:213
- Yao H, Ren Y, Wei C, Yue S (2011) Biodegradation characterisation and kinetics of M-cresol by Lysinibacillus cresolivorans. Water SA 37(1):15–20. https://doi.org/10.4314/wsa.v37i1.64101
- Young LY (1995) Anaerobic degradation of halogenated phenols by Sulfate-reducing consortia. Appl Environ Microbiol 61(4):1546–1550
- Yuan J, Ma J, Yiran S, Zhou T, Zhao Y, Yu F (2020) Microbial degradation and other environmental aspects of microplastics/plastics. Sci Total Environ 715:136968. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. scitotenv.2020.136968
- Zabielska-Matejuk J, Czaczyk K (2006) Biodegradation of new quaternary ammonium compounds in treated wood by mould fungi. Wood Sci Technol 40(6):461–475. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00226-005-0065-2
- Zhang C, Cui F, Zeng GM, Jiang M, Yang ZZ, Yu ZG, Zhu MY, Shen LQ (2015) Quaternary ammonium compounds (QACs): a review on occurrence, fate and toxicity in the environment. Sci Total Environ. 518–519:352–362. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2015.03.007

Zheng Y, Xu S, Yuan Y, Li W, Zhong Y, Xong L, Liu D (2008) Biodegradation of P-nitrophenol by *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* HS-D38. In: 2nd Int. Conf. Bioinforma. Biomed. Eng. iCBBE 2008, 4497–4500. https://doi.org/10.1109/ICBBE.2008.284 Vinícius Zotti dos Santos, Karem Rodrigues Vieira, Pricila Pinheiro Nass, Leila Queiroz Zepka, and Eduardo Jacob-Lopes

Abstract

The imminent unsustainability of water resources and ecosystem security is strictly related to anthropogenic action. Eutrophication of water bodies and toxicity given activity of recalcitrant compounds, such as the release of greenhouse gases, are central adversities in the unfolding of the global economy hereinafter. Wastewater standardly contains N, C, and P in high quantities, in addition to, various metals, pathogens, hydrocarbons, xenobiotics, among other contaminants, and needs treatment for later disposal in surface water bodies. Conventional wastewater treatment systems have inefficiency in removing specific pollutants and several limitations. Thus, the improvement of biotechnological operations alternatives to these processes becomes essential. Within the context, and the extensive need for the advances of eco-friendly energy sources, microalgae are considered potential bioremediators of urban and agro-industrial effluents, enabling the integration of biorefineries, use of gaseous effluents, and generation of added value biomass. The microalgae and bacteria consortia when applied to bioremediation, proved to be suitable for organic and inorganic detoxification and in removing nutrients from the effluent concerning to axenic application of microorganisms. Consonant to the promotion of carbon sequestration of the atmosphere, mitigating climate effects on a global scale, it enables the generation of bioenergy and biofuels, nutraceuticals, animal feed, fertilizers, pigments, and other bioactive products. This chapter aims to discuss the bioeconomy opportunities of the application of microalgae coculture, including

V. Z. dos Santos

Department of Chemistry, Federal University of Santa Maria (UFSM), Santa Maria, RS, Brazil

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 Inamuddin et al. (eds.), *Recent Advances in Microbial Degradation*, Environmental and Microbial Biotechnology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-0518-5_5 131



5

Application of Microalgae Consortia/ Cocultures in Wastewater Treatment

K. R. Vieira · P. P. Nass · L. Q. Zepka · E. Jacob-Lopes (⊠) Department of Food, Technology and Science, Federal University of Santa Maria (UFSM), Santa Maria, RS, Brazil

their limitations and advantages, exploring solutions to microalgae-based sustainability.

Keywords

 $\label{eq:main} \begin{aligned} \text{Microalgae consortium} & \cdot \text{Bioremediation} & \cdot \text{Wastewater treatment} & \cdot \text{Pollutant} \\ \text{removal} & \cdot \text{Biofuels} & \cdot \text{Bioactive products} \end{aligned}$

5.1 Introduction

Living under the paradigm of modern anthropocentrism, human action offers severe threats to the sustainability of water resources and the integrity of the ecosystem. The large population growth results in the relentless discharge of waste in superficial water bodies and brings severe risks of eutrophication. Thereby, they threaten water purity and the diverse forms of life that inhabit it. These reflexes, when summed to the greenhouse gases released beyond the natural limit, represent the central obstacles for the hereinafter economy.

Wastewater usually detains substantial concentrations of N, C, and P, (nitrogen, carbon, and phosphorus), as well as several toxic metals, pathogens, hydrocarbons, xenobiotics, among other contaminants and need adequate treatment (Olguín and Sánchez-Galván 2012). The repletion of surface waters with nutrients, mainly N and P, favors the phenomenon of eutrophication and precludes to use it as a clean water supply. Other effects associated with eutrophication include a decrease in vulnerability, toxicity by ammonia (NH₃), a bad odor under activity sulfuric acid (H_2S) , and desertion of animals that use this water source to quench their thirst. The implications of the imbalance on the ecosystem are the rapid detriment of habitat. The deterioration of aquatic environments is considered a barrier to public health, both for the peripheral population and for those who have this water for consumption. For the reintegration of water quality, treatment based on activated sludge is widespread. The sludge generated in the stages of organic carbon bioconversion and withdraw of P and N carries chemical residues prone to additional pollution and lack of treatment. Also, it accumulates toxic agents and various pathogens, having no commercial value, and bringing hazards to society safety and health (Herschy 2012). Moreover, the necessary aeration facilitates the evolution of volatile substances in the environment (Jia and Yuan 2016). These systems have inefficiency in removing specific pollutants, occupy large physical areas, generate secondary pollution, and have a higher cost. Furthermore, not allowing the reutilization of useful elements encountered in the effluent (Qian et al. 2007; Abdel-Raouf et al. 2012; Renuka et al. 2013; Lu et al. 2017).

In this scenario, microalgae stand out for the diversity of species and the multiple possibilities for biotechnological use of their biomass (Deprá et al. 2018). The microalgae consortium presents itself as an broaching option for the treatment and handling of wastewater. The synergic interaction of these microorganisms in the elapse of their growth assimilate inorganic and organic compounds and have the

competence to recycle them from the effluent with the restoration of water quality (Hernández et al. 2016). Likewise, they can remove toxic metal ions, pathogens, hydrocarbons, xenobiotics, among other contaminants (Ma et al. 2014). The perspective of integrating biorefineries for the generation of biofuels with an emphasis on the microalgae–bacteria binary system in the resumption of effluents, promises to solve the barriers necessary to advances on an upscaling (Zhan et al. 2013; Salama et al. 2017).

The purpose of this chapter is to assist in the comprehension of the application of systems based on microalgae, with an assessment of their life cycle and the sustainability of processes. The microalgae consortium is highlighted and promises to overcome current limitations and still produce biomass with high added value subsidies for the industrial sector.

5.2 Microalgae and Wastewater: A Biotechnological Initiative

5.2.1 Microalgae

Having diverse characteristics, microalgae make up a tremendous biodiversity group. They are unicellular, eukaryotic, or prokaryotic beings, relevantly represented, under the biotechnological optics, by cyanobacteria (Cyanophyta), green algae (Chlorophyta), diatoms (Ochrophyta), and red algae (Rhodophyta) (Jacob-Lopes et al. 2018). Cyanobacteria often reported as blue algae and microalgae, are organisms with wide structural and metabolic versatility, being the only class of O₂-producing bacteria. As they perform photosynthesis with oxygen release, microalgae have a direct connection in the cycling of C and O2 (oxygen) in the atmosphere. Acting in the foremost trophic level, they are the foundation of the food web in ecosystems. In contrast to terrestrial plants, they can double cell density around 24 h because of the prominent CO₂ biofixation and utilization of solar radiation (Lam et al. 2012), besides, not competing with useful soil for food production. They develop from the photoautotrophic pathway using inorganic carbon and heterotrophic metabolism, with the use of organic carbon. Still, they can be mixotrophic, using optionally either carbon sources for nutrition (Mata et al. 2010). Marine, freshwater, and extremophilic microalgae have remarkable characteristics that must be studied and respected regarding their application. Predominantly found in aquatic environments, they can also develop in places of extreme conditions, for instance in glacial regions, in the desert, places with oil, and polluted sites among others. Apt to produce a large gamma of biomolecules belonging to its metabolism, after cultivation, it is still possible to derive microalgae biomass in value-added bioproducts, such as cosmetics, nutraceuticals, biofuels, fertilizers, biopolymers, animal feed, pigments, and among other bioactive compounds (Zhang et al. 2020).

5.2.2 Microalgae-Based Sustainability

The choice of potential microalgae species leads to a typical profile, about biomass produced, the operational parameters, cultivation arrangements, and the scale increase (Chang et al. 2017). The local geography and the dexterity to adapt to the desired cultivation system must also be rated. Currently, the application axis of microalgal biotechnology is targeted at the reuse of effluents, bioremediation, and generation of bioproducts (Rashid et al. 2018).

The microalgae purpose can be a pollution control strategy matched with the treatment and reintegration of agro-industrial and urban wastewater, which carries out ecological work. The synergistic approach of the microalgae/cyanobacteria and bacteria consortium allows the bioremoval of N, P, and organic matter from the effluent by multiple metabolic routes, making it more attractive, in some cases than axenic cultivation. Conversely, if the ambition is to obtain biomass of known composition and high purity, axenic cultivation in the effluent is not indicated for being a complex matrix (Chang et al. 2017).

As municipal and agro-industrial effluents are rich in micro and macronutrients, mainly P and N, it is advantageous to apply microalgae cultivation (Benemann et al. 2018). Thus, by simultaneously subtracting nutrients, performing the conversion to specific biomolecules and biomass generation, the treatment plant operating costs decrease (Choix et al. 2018). Studies show that the level of phosphorus bio removal by microalgae can hit total removal and nitrogen by 97% (Queiroz et al. 2013; Koreiviene et al. 2014).

The C:N (carbon/nitrogen) and N:P (nitrogen/phosphorus) ratio is another central factor because depending on each species of microalgae/bacteria, there is an ideal ratio for their biomagnification. Inhibition due to excess nutrients or scarcity of them can be overtaken by mixing different effluents. The characterization regarding the bioavailability of nutrients and potentials growth cycle inhibitors, like hydrocarbons, insecticides, pesticides, drugs, antibiotics, toxic metals, among other substances in wastewater is primordial (Posadas et al. 2017; Butler et al. 2017). Also, the high load of microorganisms in the contaminated water significantly influences the preservation and augmentation of the colony. To solve this drawback, sterilization and filtration techniques are commonly used, but they tend to make the process more expensive (Dixon and Wilken 2018). Thus, all these variables impact the synthesis of proteins, lipids, and cell accumulation (Seyhaneyildiz et al. 2017).

The bioaugmentation of microalgae cells supplemented by the integration of CO_2 produced by the industrial sector is an imposing promising alternative (Wang et al. 2016). The key component of flues gas, the CO_2 , is a form of inorganic carbon disperse in the atmosphere about 1% (Cheng et al. 2006) that can be assimilated by microalgae. Participating in the Calvin cycle, it is responsible for breathing and generating energy in microalgae, its supply complies an indispensable function in the development of the colony. Sobczuk et al. (2000) project to create 1 kg of biomass wherein almost 2 kg of carbon dioxide is absorbed. Already, the injection of this gas in the process accelerates the development of photoautotrophic/mixotrophic cultures, curbing the current launch of greenhouse gases (Russel et al. 2018).

Investigations by Jacob-Lopes and Franco (2013) indicate that adequate content for use, evaluating limits of inhibition, and the existence of toxic agents in the gaseous industrial mixture, this range varies from 5% to 25%. About microalgae biotechnology in exercise, it prevents CO_2 from being emitted by bacterial intercommunity in traditional treatment and still results in greater capture of this gas in the atmosphere face to land plants.

The articulation of microalgae-based systems in the reclaim of effluents with CO_2 supplementation can subtract the present nutrients, suppressing the costs of biomass generation with its subsequent enrichment (Ramanan et al. 2010; Ebrahimian et al. 2014; Jacob-Lopes et al. 2015; Naresh and Prabhakar 2018; Jain et al. 2019).

5.2.3 Operating Cultivation Systems

In open cultivation systems, high rate algal ponds, native water bodies, and raceway ponds are frequently used. It is observed in these models, the intense influence of external agents, intangible temperature control, water loss, and unavoidable invasions of contaminants, such as protozoa, bacteria, microalgae, and fungi that can compete for nutrients with selected species, inhibit their growth and even prey on them. It is also compelling to have a lower rate of CO_2 utilization and broad land use for its construction (Muñoz and Guieysse 2006; Chisti 2007). Seasonal intervention, especially in winter, affects the index of P and N bio removal, tending to be slower in open bioreactors (Voltolina et al. 2005). Also, geographically speaking, solar radiation, periods of rain, the incidence of winds, and local humidity must be contemplated (Bux and Yusuf 2016; Pruvost et al. 2016). Despite eventual disadvantages, the small cost of implementation, and the poor requirement for specialized labor for operation, it a widely diffused technique.

The most notorious factor in closed systems is the talent to control the expansion and reproducibility of microalgae, enabling greater use of CO₂, reduced risk of contamination, and mastery of global variables (Saharan et al. 2013). The homogenization of the liquid content is indispensable for this system, and is aimed to avoid gradients of cultivation, sedimentation of biomass. To allow the diffusion and exchange of suitable gases it must be fitted with a good mixture. Contiguous to the superior use of solar irradiation, the closed system converges to notable biomass yield in discrimination to the other systems, however, it demands sizable initial capital for implementation and operation. It is commonplace used for the scope of obtaining pure and homogeneous biomass. They are presented in tubular form, bubble column, and panels (Huang et al. 2017).

The great productivity of biomass in contrast to photoautotrophic cultures correlates with the practice of heterotrophic metabolism, usually administered in a fermentation tank. The bottleneck of this system consists of a high risk of contamination and competition for nutrients besides the fact that the selected microalgae species must be capable of cell division in the privation of light. High supplementation costs are incited by carbon supply (starch, ethanoate, dextrose, glycerol, etc.) and may even dispute with the food sphere (Liang et al. 2009). In the search for the

supply of low-value organic carbon, agro-industrial and urban effluents can be incorporated in the context of microalgae bioremediation (Benemann et al. 2018).

Emerging cultivation strategies, such as microalgae biofilm cultivation and membrane photobioreactors, have the talent to transpose current limitations regarding biomass productivity. However, these techniques demand exploration triggered by the scarcity of studies. Unlike the usual means of microalgae cells in suspension, biofilm cultivation of microalgae brings a new perspective of cultivation, promising abatement in production expenses, especially with reference to biomass harvesting (Blanken et al. 2014; Gross et al. 2015). The technique is the foundation on the restrain of the biomass on a solid substrate, which can be gathered by physical removal (Johnson and Wen 2010). Dense layers of packaged biomass can be removed, avoiding the formation of gradients that prevent nutrients and light from reaching algae. The employment of vertical biofilms can be an advantage in urban regions, usually with space limitations (Gross et al. 2015).

The membrane photobioreactor technique allows the percolation of the effluent through a membrane fixed on a substrate, with retention of particulate material and also of biomass. This strategy results in clear water with low nutrient content, solids, and disinfected. The adroitness to operate incessantly enables excellent biomass productivity, conversely, this project has limited applicability. The obstruction and encrustation of the membranes and filters is a central parameter, hindering the enforceability of the system (Chang et al. 2017).

Finally, hybrid bioreactors combine sequential steps to deepen the strengths of open and closed photobioreactors to overcome current limitations in both of us. Initially, cell division is favored by the employment of the closed, aerobic, and photoautotrophic system, minimizing contaminants. Subsequently, the system starts to include the open stage, providing mass exposure to nutrients, CO_{2} , and light diffusion (Brennan and Owende 2010; Nagappan et al. 2019).

5.3 Microalgal Bacterial Synergy: Wastewater Treatment

Naturally, microalgae can develop in different native conditions and also in ecological niches, containing bacteria, other species of microalgae, fungi, and cyanobacteria. Thereby, they adopt several harmonic and disharmonious relationships, with mutualism being the ideal ecological relationship for the microalgae consortia (Liu et al. 2017). Initially, the setting of the competitive/ complementary mechanism in the coculture by potential species of microalgae/ cyanobacteria and bacteria must be evaluated. It can be defined which system is more appropriate, according to the purpose and the respective attributes of the mono or coculture (Table 5.1). The reproduction of spontaneously established consortia in nature and synthetic inoculation are the main mechanisms for erect relationships in the microorganism community. Distinctively from the profiteering of native consortia, there is a tenuous tendency to use the artificial bio-augmentation method, as it promotes rapid growth of the selected strains, without residence of unwanted species (Yu and Mohn 2002). Environmental variations in open system cultivation
			Coculture (photoautotrophic microalgae/
Monoculture	lture Monoculture Monoculture		cianobactéria + heterotrophic
photoautotrophic	heterotrophic	mixotrophic	bacteria)
Easy cultivation	Easy cultivation	Easy cultivation	Difficult to build the
			consortium
Difficulty growing	Can grow in	Can grow in	Ease of growing in
in wastewater	wastewater	wastewater	wastewater
Low biomass	High biomass	High biomass	High biomass productivity
productivity	productivity	productivity	
Higher risk of	Higher risk of	Higher risk of	Lower risk of contamination
contamination	contamination	contamination	
Techniques for	Techniques for	Techniques for	Self-regulating contamination
contamination	contamination	contamination	control
control	control	control	
Low EPS	High EPS	High EPS	Very high EPS productivity
productivity	productivity	productivity	
Less bio	High bio	High bio	Auto flocculation/bio
flocculation	flocculation	flocculation	flocculation
capacity	capacity	capacity	
Various species	Various species	Various species	Various symbiotic combinations
Parallel TN and TP	Simultaneous bio	Simultaneous	Simultaneous bio removal of
bio removal	removal of COD,	bio removal of	COD, TN, and TP
	TN, and TP	COD, TN, and TP	
Low nutrient	High nutrient	High nutrient	High nutrient removal
removal	removal	removal	
Low pollutant	Average pollutant	Average	High pollutant removal
removal	removal	pollutant	
		removal	
Medium removal	High removal and	Medium carbon	High carbon removal and
and bioconversion	bioconversion of	removal and	bioconversion
of inorganic carbon	organic carbon	bioconversion	
Less resistant to	Medium	Resistant to	Robust, resistant to changes in
changes in global	resistance to	changes in	global conditions
conditions	changes in global	global conditions	
	conditions		
Specific biomass	The	The	The heterogeneous
composition	heterogeneous	heterogeneous	composition of biomass
	biomass	biomass	
Taman linid contact	Ululliass	Ululliass Uliab linid	Iliahan linid context
Lower lipid content	rign lipid content	content	Higner lipid content

 Table 5.1
 Aspects of microalgae-based systems

TN total nitrogen, *EPS* extracellular polymeric substances, *TP* total phosphorous, *COD* chemical oxygen demand



Fig. 5.1 Simplified mechanism of interaction of the algae-bacteria consortium

significantly influence the consortium stability over the treatment, consequently, there is an inclination to choose sturdy species with tolerance to these variations (Liu et al. 2017).

Analyzing the proposal of a synthetic ecology, it promises to simplify complex relationship systems by understanding the multiplicity of influencing agents. However, the consortium of microorganisms applied in phytoremediation requires balancing. Several aspects act under its physiology and cellular metabolisms, such as environmental conditions, pollutants, the interaction between species, the architecture of the photobioreactor, operating conditions, and sewage profile (Hernández et al. 2016; Pedruzi et al. 2020). In fact, sustaining the lineup of the functional consortium with all its mechanisms working is indispensable to the study of the inoculation phase, the extension of the log phase, and the profile of each component of the binary system (Patel et al. 2017).

The notorious attribute in the microalgae–bacterial symbiosis is the mitigation of supplementation of total oxygen by mechanical means for the heterotrophic bacteria belonging to the consortia (Quijano et al. 2017). Oilgae (2009) project that aeration costs are around 3/4 of total revenue in the treatment station. Besides saving costs, the microalgal–bacterial system reduces the evolution of volatile pollutant compounds in open systems by lessening the use of mechanical aeration.

Since the CO₂ produced by bacteria during their cellular activity is reused by microalgae in photosynthesis in their growth and biofixation cycle, it results in the liberation of O₂, which is then used by bacteria (Fig. 5.1) (Dao and Beardall 2016). However, homogenization to avoid crop gradients, biomass sedimentation, and promotion of gas diffusion must be provided (Carvalho et al. 2006). Another profit of using binary microalgal–bacterial structure is your sturdiness, generating biomass in the contaminated/polluted water with less pretreatment with monocultures (Rashid et al. 2018).

Extracellular polymeric substances (EPS) are expelled during the metabolic activity of the coculture, performing several functions (Mishra et al. 2011), and are assigned to preserve the web of contact between microorganisms (Nadell et al. 2015). The consortium formation mechanism is anchored on the interaction of microalgae with EPS, bacteria, and suspended particles that start to aggregate. The bacteria reproduce in the phytosphere region of the microalgae, on its outer surface, and the colony's metabolic dynamics are regulated by fragments of biomass that attach/separate from the aggregates formed (Su et al. 2012; Eigemann et al. 2013; Salim et al. 2014; Wang et al. 2016).

It is inferred that bacteria assist in the bioflocculation mechanism, deepening the efficiency of biomass segregation and positively impacting operating costs (Quijano et al. 2017). Equally, by hydrolyzing organic phosphorus in bioavailable states, such as phosphate (Yong et al. 2014), they cooperate in strengthening microalgae cells. The binary microalgal–bacterial system enables a single-step concept, simultaneously performing the bio removal of COD, N, and P (Subashchandrabose et al. 2011). Currently, there is an upward interest in this sphere by the academic community and industry segments with several studies being performed for unialgal and consortium systems.

Typically, the coculture system meets the expected objectives, which are the regeneration of effluent, accrue lipids, biomass yield, and may even overcome certain limitations of axenic cultivation (Devi et al. 2012; Beacham et al. 2017). The genus *Chlorella* and *Scenedesmus*, are sumptuously used in consortia. Its adaptability to various effluents, as well as satisfactory rates of removal of various nutrients and pollutants, establish favoritism in its application. Symbiosis with bacteria that promote the growth of the genera *Azospirillum* and *Bacillus*, bacteria from native consortia of the genus *Brevundimonas* and *Sphingomonas*, and bioconversations of organic material, such as *Pseudomas*, are exposed in the literature (Litchfield et al. 1969; Mayo and Noike 1994; Mouget et al. 1995; Lebsky et al. 2001; Tate et al. 2013; Mujtaba et al. 2015).

However, even with multiple benefits, the application of microalgae cultures and consortia is present only in demonstration/test plants on a pilot or semi-industrial scale. The limitations circulate the scaling-up and economic overview of the processes. The ample surface area for the treatment unit, the refinement of cultivation parameters, and the elevated costs of harvesting microalgal biomass must be addressed (Lam et al. 2012). In contrast, studies appoint that the induction of biomass bioflocculation by microalgae–bacteria interaction can reduce harvesting costs. In the scenario of nutrient bio removal, carbon biofixation, and cell growth, the consortia have advantages compared with axenic cultures, which advocates it as a research subject (Renuka et al. 2013; Rashid et al. 2018). However, it is still needed to research the interaction dynamics of the consortia and to better understand the real bioflocculation mechanism, and it is not possible to affirm the total superiority over monoculture (Gutzeit et al. 2005).

5.4 Nutrient and Pollution Removal of Microalgae Consortium

Wastewater usually includes organic matter, nitrogen compounds, phosphorus, among other components, causing eutrophication of the waters, making additional treatment necessary in effluent treatment plants (Liu et al. 2017; Tang et al. 2018). Microalgal–bacterial consortium are already well known for removing these components from wastewater through the use of open and closed bioreactors (Zhang et al. 2020).

Assimilation is the primary mechanism for removing inorganic nitrogen during the growth phases of photoautotrophic and heterotrophic microorganisms (Gonçalves et al. 2017). Nitrogen (NO₃ and NO₂) is reduced to ammonium and this is absorbed by microalgae for its metabolism (Gonçalves et al. 2017; Liu et al. 2017; Zhang et al. 2020).

Other ways of removing inorganic nitrogen are through ammonia volatilization, nitrification, and denitrification (Daims et al. 2015; Basílico et al. 2016). Ammonia is oxidized to nitrite and then to nitrate from the nitrification process. The denitrification process is the reverse, where nitrate is reduced to nitrite (Courtens et al. 2016). Enzymes, such as Gln Synthase, Glu 2-oxoglutarate aminotransferase, and Glu Dehydrogenase, are secreted from ammonification reactions by microorganisms, and these enzymes have the ability to convert organic nitrogen to ammonia (Simsek et al. 2016).

Inorganic phosphorus, such as $H_2PO_4^-$ and $HPO_4^{2^-}$, is essential for the metabolism of bacteria and microalgae since phosphorylation, and can be incorporated into organic compounds. Part of the assimilated phosphorus generates ATP from ADP (Cai et al. 2013). Large amounts of phosphorus are absorbed by microalgae and bacteria, being stored as intracellular polyphosphate (Schmidt et al. 2016). The use of Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺ions also contribute to the removal of phosphorus in wastewater by the precipitation process. In addition, they can be adsorbed by hydrogen bonds with extracellular polysaccharides secreted by bacteria and microalgae (Li et al. 2013; Lu et al. 2016a, b).

Microalgae technology is a low-cost approach and considered efficient in removing nutrients and other contaminants in effluents (Zhu et al. 2016; Tang et al. 2018). The absorption of nitrogen and phosphorus by microalgae allows the microalgae– bacterium intercropping system to carry out advanced removal of these components from wastewater without the need to add other carbon sources (Tang et al. 2016; Tang et al. 2018).

Biotic interactions occur through cooperation between the consortium of microalgae and bacteria. Microalgae can support bacterial growth by supplying organic carbon, such as carbohydrates and proteins. In parallel, the absorption of O_2 and the release of CO_2 by bacteria results in an increase in the growth of microalgae (Fig. 5.1) (Gonçalves et al. 2017).

Adequate bioreactors become necessary for the development of the microalgalbacterium consortium for the effective removal of nutrients from wastewater. Open bioreactors are vulnerable to different factors, such as the invasion of other species of microorganisms, inconsistent temperatures, insufficient homogenization, evaporation, limited lighting, which impair microalgal growth (Zhang et al. 2020). Closed bioreactors are more attractive to overcome the disadvantages associated with open bioreactors. Different types of photobioreactors are used to a microalgal–bacterium consortium, for example, bubble column, air transport bioreactor, flat, agitated, tubular, conical tank, soft structure, and some modified hybrid photobioreactors, as described earlier (Lee and Lei 2019).

Among the mentioned bioreactors, the most used configurations are the flat plate, tubular, and column reactors. Photobioreactors have their distinct advantages and limitations concerning the complexity of the operation, space required, energy consumption, biomass production and scale-up level, and nutrient removal efficiency (Zhang et al. 2020). Table 5.2 shows the removal of organic carbon, and nutrients from different wastewaters by suspended and immobilized microalgal–bacteria consortium in different bioreactors.

Heavy metals are environmentally dangerous because they are considered toxic and accumulate in soil and water (Priyadarshini et al. 2019). Previous research has confirmed the feasibility of using microalgal–bacterial intercropping to remove various heavy metals. Studies by Orandi et al. (2012), clearly demonstrated the microalgae–bacterial consortia to be explored for the removal of heavy metals from wastewater resulting from mining activity, concluding that the consortia could remove up to 50% of the metals such as copper, nickel, manganese, zinc, antimony, selenium, cobalt, and aluminum.

The absorption of heavy metals by microalgae and bacteria is potentially toxic, but the level of toxicity will depend on the concentration and nature. Metals like Ni, Mn, Cu, and Fe can meet the energy and structural demands of the cell of these microorganisms, as they are considered essential for their biological functioning (Priyadarshini et al. 2019). The removal of heavy metals by these microorganisms is achieved mainly through ion-exchange, physical adsorption, complexation, and bioaccumulation. The removal can also occur from the precipitation process, which occurs with an increase in pH during photosynthesis of microalgae (Cuellar-Bermudez et al. 2017). Some examples of heavy metal removal from wastewater by microalgal–bacterial consortium are shown in Table 5.3.

Microalgal-bacterial consortium also has demonstrated the ability to degrade several dangerous compounds such as organophosphate insecticides, toxic pesticides (Subashchandrabose et al. 2011), hazardous organic substrates including acetonitrile, phenol, and some types of emerging organic contaminants (Muñoz and Guieysse 2006; Matamoros et al. 2015) and hazardous inorganic compounds (Ryu et al. 2015). Microalgal-bacterial consortia present possible mechanisms involved in removing these compounds, such as biodegradation, photodegradation, cell adsorption, bioaccumulation, or volatilization (de Godos et al. 2012; Loos et al. 2013; Cuellar-Bermudez et al. 2017).

However, for the efficient removal of nutrients and polluting compounds from wastewater, some crucial factors in the consortium of microalgae must be taken into account. These factors consider the specific interactions of microalgae and bacterial species, the composition of the cell wall, the stiffness, and cultivation conditions such as light intensity, pH, and temperature (Quijano et al. 2017; Zhang et al. 2020).

Table 5.2Efficiency of removal of nutrients and orgafrom Gonçalves et al. (2017) and Zhang et al. (2020)	nic carbon from wast	ewater by suspended and immobilized	d microalgal-t	acterial consor	tium. Adapted
	Source of		Carbon	Nitrogen	Phosphorus
Microalgal-bacterial consortium	wastewater	Bioreactor used	(%R)	(%R)	(%R)
	Suspended microal	gal-bacterial consortia			
Scenedesmus quadricauda and nitrifying bacteria	Synthetic	Tubular photobioreactor, $V = 1 \text{ L}$	n.a.	100.0	n.a.
	wastewater				
Chlorella sorokiniana and activated sludge	Piggery	Photobioreactor, $V = 3.5 L$	47.0	21.0	54.0
	wastewatet				
Chlorella, Scenedesmus and Stigeoclonium and	Municipal	Photobioreactor, $V = 60 \text{ L}$	85.44	92.68	82.65
activated sludge	wastewater				
Activated sludge bacteria with Chlorella sp.,	Piggery	Photobioreactor, $V = 3 L$	86-87	82-85	90–92
Acutodesmus obliquus, and Oscillatoria sp.	wastewater				
Scenedesmus sp. and activated sludge bacteria	Municipal	Photobioreactor, $V = 0.8$ L,	92.3	95.8	98.1
	wastewater	two-phase photoperiod operation			
Chlorella vulgaris and Bacillus licheniforms	Synthetic	Photobioreactor, $V = 0.15 L$	86.55	88.95	80.28
	wastewater				
Chlorella vulgaris and activated sludge bacteria	Municipal	Closed suspended system,	n.a	30.9 - 100	65–98
	wastewater	batchmode, $V = 1.5 L$			
Chlorella sorokiniana and activated sludge bacteria	Potato-	Photobioreactor open,	86.1	95.0	80.7
	processing	semicontinuous, $V = 5 L$			
	wastewater				
Chlorella sp., Pediastrum sp., Phormidium sp.,	Municipal	Closed photobioreactor,	n.a.	61.2	30.2-56.8
Scenedesmus sp. and activated sludge bacteria	wastewater	semicontinuous, $V = 4 L$			
	Immobilized microa	lgal-bacterial consortia			
Cyanobacteria Phormidium sp.	Aquaculture	Erlenmeyer flask, $V = 0.5 L$	80.2	57.9	88.6
	wastewater				
Pseudomonas putida and Chlorella vulgaris	Municipal	Erlenmeyer flask, $V = 0.5 L$	97.0	100.0	100.0
	wastewater				

142

Oscillatoriales, Scenedesmaceae, Microcoleus, and Acutodesmus	Primary wastewater	Batch photobioreactor without aeration, $V = 1.2$ L	77.0-82.0	41.0–57.0	11.0-44.0
Microalgae Chlorella and Scenedesmus, and bacteria Flavobacterium, Micropruina, and Comamonadaceae	Synthetic domestic wastewater	Batch sequencing photobioreactor, $V = 8 L$	91.4	99.2	94.8
Chlorella, Scenedesmus, and activated sludge bacteria	Artificial municipal wastewater	Photobioreactor, $V = 2 L$	n.a.	93.0	35.9
Chlorella spp. and Azospirillum brasilense	Municipal wastewater	Batch photobioreactor, $V = 0.6 L$	n.a.	15.0–100.0	36.0
Chlorella sorokiniana and activated sludge bacteria	Piggery wastewater	Continuous photobioreactor, $V = 7.5 \text{ L}$	45.0	94.0-100.0	70.0-90.0
Bacteria Rhodocyclaceae and the microalgae Chlorophyta	Synthetic municipal wastewater	Photobioreactor, $V = 2$ L, Light intensity of 225 µmol m ⁻² s ⁻¹	95.0	0.66	42.0
$\mathcal{R}R$ removal efficiency, V working volume, $n.a.$ not ap	plicable				

Microalgal-bacterial cosortia	Source of wastewater	Bioreactor used	Metal and its removal efficiency (%R)
Spirulina platensis and sulfate reducing bacteria	Tannery wastewater	Open photobioreactor	Cu 79.2%; Zn 88.0%; Fe 100%
Chlorella sp., Scenedesmus obliquus, Stichococcus sp., Phormidium sp., Rhodococcus sp., Kibdelosporangium aridum	Oil polluted wastewater	Pilot installation	Cu 62%; Ni 62%; Zn 90%; Fe 64% Mn 70%
<i>Chlorella</i> sorokiniana, and <i>R. basilensis</i>	Synthetic Bristol medium with metal	Photobioreactor	Cu 57.5%

Table 5.3 Heavy metal removal from wastewater by microalgal-bacterial consortium. Adapted from Subashchandrabose et al. (2011)

In addition, the consortium between microalgae and bacteria depends on the availability of nitrogen and phosphorus present in wastewater (Liu et al. 2012). Another critical factor that affects these consortia is the stage of growth of microorganisms. Microalgae–bacterial consortia are not static, as they stop being mutualistic and become parasites according to the growth phase (Tang et al. 2010; Seyedsayamdost et al. 2011).

Microalgal-bacterial consortium has a double benefit since, in addition to carrying out wastewater treatment; the biomass produced is useful for biotechnological applications (Quijano et al. 2017; Lee and Lei 2019; Zhang et al. 2020). Thus, conduct research over a circular bioeconomy perspective becomes interesting.

5.5 Integrated Microalgae–Bacteria Biorefineries in Circular Bioeconomy

Wastewaters are organic and inorganic nutrients sources in this aspect, the utilizing of microalgal–bacterial consortia in wastewaters bioremediation opens up opportunities for reusing, remanufacturing, and recycling of nutrients possible for the circular bioeconomic model (Nagarajan et al. 2020; Wicker and Bhatnagar 2020).

The circular bioeconomy is based on the combination of two terms, bioeconomy and circular economy, and aims to maximize resources and eco-efficiency, and also, to minimize greenhouse gases, water footprint, the demand for fossil carbon, and generation of waste (Giampietro 2019; Suzanne et al. 2020). Broadly the bioeconomy contemplates the sustainable use of renewable natural sources or biomass (McCormick and Kautto 2013; Bröring et al. 2020). While the circular economy is substantiated on the application of resources in a closed-loop mode in contradiction to the current linear manner economy, maintaining environmental,

economic, and social balance (Homrich et al. 2018; Reike et al. 2018; Suzanne et al. 2020).

Aware of the market opportunities that this economic model can procure, the global transition toward a circular economy has resulted in several nations adopting new environmental regulations. Europe, implemented the Waste Framework Directive in 2008 (EC-Regulation Regulation 2008); in the United States, the concepts were introduced in 1984 from the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act and later amended in 2002 by the Pollution Prevention Act (USA 1984; 2002); while in China, it was implemented in 2008 as the Circular Economy Promotion Law.

Therefore, in the search for complete bio-circular approaches, alternative operations are encouraged with eco-design products, renewable energy resources, waste prevention, recovery, and reuse (Suzanne et al. 2020). In this way, the circular bioeconomy can be obtained through sustainable pollutant management. Hence, it is imperative to seek an economical and sustainable platform for the bioremediation of effluents since conventional systems are energetically costly and are inefficient in removing specific pollutants (Sharma et al. 2020).

In this regard, the innovation in the use of microalgal-bacterial biotechnology in the waste bioremediation aligned with economic and environmental objectives provides an integrated biorefinery model (Senthil and Yaashikaa 2020; Nagarajan et al. 2020). Biorefineries are a key concept for the switchover to the circular economy by the deployment of integration of technologies and processes seeking to optimize the application of biomass toward the output of bioenergy, inputs, and marketable end products (Ubando et al. 2020; Awasthi et al. 2020; Arun et al. 2020).

This approach aims to valorize effluents, adding alternative solutions that are more attractive to microalgal–bacterial biotechnology. Once it excludes the need to explore freshwater resources for obtaining microalgal biomass, it increases microalgal biomass productivity, causes bioflocculation for better harvesting, and lower operating costs with aeration required in the aerobic remediation of pollutants (Olguín 2012; Ismail et al. 2017).

At this juncture, the cocultivation of microalgae associated with bacteria can be easily integrated into a circular process. As it offers dual-purpose, simultaneously removes nutrients by assimilatory means, and nutrients can be recuperated in the biomass and converted into diversified types of bioproducts targeting countless markets under the framework of a circular economy (Stiles et al. 2018; Serrà et al. 2020).

With the appropriate technology, microalgal–bacterial biomass components can be turned into value-added commodities, such as biofuels, one of the most promising applications (Zhang et al. 2020). In this context, Meng et al. (2019) suggested that light intensity has a favorable result on lipid production and the accumulation of monounsaturated fatty acid and polyunsaturated in microalgal–bacterial consortia at synthetic wastewater bioremediation. Similarly, Liu et al. (2018) report that the genera *Rhodobacteraceae*, *Xanthomonadaceae*, and *Scenedesmus* obtained from granular sludge were potential biodiesel candidate production. Arcila and Buitrón (2016) evaluated the methane production by microalgal–bacterial consortia submitted to treating municipal effluent. Also, according to Ismail et al. (2017), the association of microalgae and bacteria applied in the treatment of simulated pharmaceutical effluents, supplemented the biomass generated with biocompounds including proteins, fatty acids, essential and nonessential amino acids.

Finally, it should be noted that despite various benefits, an in-depth understanding of the biotechnological applications of microalgal–bacterial biomass is still lacking, particularly the life cycle approaches should be conducted to quantify sustainability aiming at economic and social aspects (Nagarajan et al. 2020; Wicker and Bhatnagar 2020; Ubando et al. 2020).

5.6 Challenges and Future Prospects

The microbial consortia/cocultures between microalgae and bacteria draws attention because they present advantages such as having a reduced environmental impact, requiring little oxygenation, reducing the cost of the process, the potential for the production of bioproducts of industrial interest (Mishra et al. 2019; Zhang et al. 2020). However, current insights into the mechanisms of symbiosis and the benefits gained from each other are still scarce. The microalgae–bacteria consortium start-up process can take up to 6 weeks. This period can be reduced by using low solar irradiance and temperature control (Liu et al. 2017). This initial delay in the consortium of microalgae–bacterial is a significant limitation of this technology. However, bioactive substances and biostimulant reagents can be added to the photobioreactors. These substances will be slowly released into the culture medium, accelerating the growth and metabolic activities of microalgae and bacteria, reducing the adaptation period of these microorganisms increasing the efficiency of this technology (Yu et al. 2017; Teixeira and Granek 2017).

Many species, photosynthetic and heterotrophic microalgae and bacteria, have not yet been studied, and have become a challenge to illustrate the complete events, such as nutrient cycling and metabolic pathways (Zhang et al. 2020). Studies with genetic and metabolic engineering may present a possibility for the improvement of these microorganisms, designing cultures of bacteria and microalgae with reaction speeds higher than those already existing, to remove a greater number of pollutants (Lindemann et al. 2016; Karig 2017).

As demonstrated in this chapter, the use of microalgal–bacterial consortia is considered to be renewable and sustainable biotechnology. Bacteria contribute to cell lysis, supporting microalgae productivity by increasing biomass production. This bioproduct can be applied on a large scale in biorefineries (Zhang et al. 2020). However, it is a high-cost technology, so an assessment of the availability of technical–economic resources and the productivity of microalgal–bacterial biomass as feedstock for the production of biofuels becomes interesting in order to map a clear perspective of economic viability (Quinn and Davis 2015).

Another important aspect is the life cycle assessment, to determine the environmental impact, the capacity for renewal, and the energetic dynamics of the biotechnological process (Trivedi et al. 2015). Mathematical models can improve the understanding of the principles and mechanisms of pollutants and the microalgae– bacterium consortium, including mass balance and metabolic functions (Liu et al. 2017). Thus, for a large-scale application, further studies are necessary to assess the sustainability and economic viability of these biotechnological processes.

5.7 Final Considerations

The high biodiversity and the immense potential not yet mapped makes microalgae a clever stunt to meet the current demands, be it bioproducts or clean technologies. Integrated biorefineries promise to reintegrate water quality without a strong chemical approach, producing less or zero potential waste to generate additional pollution. Whereas, in addition to carrying out ecological work, the generation of expressive value-added biomass destined for commodities and biofuels. The reclaim of elements presents in the effluent previously lost through conventional treatment, will be reused. Likewise, several volatile compounds derived from microalgae can be collected with appropriate techniques. The industry's appeal is the economic sustainability of the processes involved in upscaling. The continuous and profitable use of the algae–bacterium consortium is a boost for scale-up for industrial applications. However, it requires more research in terms of control of the symbiotic mechanism and dominion of the life cycle.

References

- Abdel-Raouf N, Al-Homaidan AA, Ibraheem IBM (2012) Microalgae and wastewater treatment. Saudi J Biol Sci 19(3):257–275. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sjbs.2012.04.005
- Arcila JS, Buitrón G (2016) Microalgae-bacteria aggregates: effect of the hydraulic retention time on the municipal wastewater treatment, biomass settleability and methane potential. J Chem Technol Biotechnol 91(11):2862–2870. https://doi.org/10.1002/jctb.4901
- Arun J, Gopinath KP, Selvam PS et al (2020) A conceptual review on microalgae biorefinery through thermochemical and biological pathways: bio-circular approach on carbon capture and wastewater treatment. Bioresour Technol 11:100477. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biteb.2020. 100477
- Awasthi MK, Sarsaiya S, Patel A et al (2020) Refining biomass residues for sustainable energy and bio-products: an assessment of technology, its importance, and strategic applications in circular bio-economy. Renew Sust Energ Rev 127:109876. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2020.109876
- Basílico G, de Cabo L, Magdaleno A et al (2016) Poultry effluent bio-treatment with spirodela intermedia and periphyton in mesocosms with water recirculation. Water Air Soil Pollut 227(6). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11270-016-2896-x
- Beacham TA, Sweet JB, Allen MJ (2017) Large scale cultivation of genetically modified microalgae: a new era for environmental risk assessment. Algal Res 25:90–100. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.algal.2017.04.028
- Benemann JR, Woertz I, Lundquist T (2018) Autotrophic microalgae biomass production: from niche markets to commodities. Ind Biotechnol 14(1):3–10. https://doi.org/10.1089/ind.2018. 29118.jrb
- Blanken W, Janssen M, Cuaresma M et al (2014) Biofilm growth of *Chlorella Sorokiniana* in a rotating biological contactor based Photobioreactor. Biotechnol Bioeng 111(12):2436–2445. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.25301

- Brennan L, Owende P (2010) Biofuels from microalgae-a review of technologies for production, processing, and extractions of biofuels and co-products. Renew Sust Energ Rev 14(2):557–577. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2009.10.009
- Bröring S, Laibach N, Wustmans M (2020) Innovation types in the bioeconomy. J Clean Prod 266. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.121939
- Butler E, Hung Y, Al-Ahmad MS et al (2017) Oxidation pond for municipal wastewater treatment. Appl Water Sci 7(1):31–51. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13201-015-0285-z
- Bux F, Yusuf C (2016) Algae biotechnology. 1st ed. p 344. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-12334-9
- Cai T, Park SY, Li Y (2013) Nutrient recovery from wastewater streams by microalgae: status and prospects. Renew Sust Energ Rev 19:360–369. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2012.11.030
- Carvalho AP, Meireles LA, Malcata FX (2006) Microalgal reactors: a review of enclosed system designs and performances. Biotechnol Prog 22(6):1490–1506. https://doi.org/10.1021/bp060065r
- Chang JS, Show PL, Ling TC et al (2017) Photobioreactors. In: current developments in biotechnology and bioengineering: bioprocesses, bioreactors and controls, 1st ed. pp 313–352. https:// doi.org/10.1016/C2014-0-04871-X
- Cheng L, Zhang L, Chen H et al (2006) Carbon dioxide removal from air by microalgae cultured in a membrane-Photobioreactor. Sep Purif Technol 50(3):324–329. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. seppur.2005.12.006
- Chisti Y (2007) Biodiesel from microalgae. Biotechnol Adv 25(3):294–306. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.biotechadv.2007.02.001
- Choix FJ, Ochoa-Becerra MA, Hsieh-Lo M et al (2018) High biomass production and CO₂ fixation from biogas by *Chlorella* and *Scenedesmus* microalgae using tequila Vinasses as culture medium. J Appl Phycol 30(4):2247–2258. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10811-018-1433-2
- Courtens EN, Spieck E, Vilchez-Vargas R et al (2016) A robust nitrifying Community in a Bioreactor at 50 °c opens up the path for thermophilic nitrogen removal. ISME J 10 (9):2293–2303. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2016.8
- Cuellar-Bermudez SP, Aleman-Nava GS, Chandra R et al (2017) Nutrients utilization and contaminants removal. A review of two approaches of algae and cyanobacteria in wastewater. Algal Res 24:438–449. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.algal.2016.08.018
- Daims H, Lebedeva EV, Pjevac P et al (2015) Complete nitrification by Nitrospira bacteria. Nature 528(7583):504–509. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature16461
- Dao LHT, Beardall J (2016) Effects of Lead on growth, photosynthetic characteristics and production of reactive oxygen species of two freshwater green algae. Chemosphere 147:420–429. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2015.12.117
- de Godos I, Muñoz R, Guieysse B (2012) Tetracycline removal during wastewater treatment in high-rate algal ponds. J Hazard Mater 229–230:446–449. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat. 2012.05.106
- Deprá MC, dos Santos AM, Severo IA et al (2018) Microalgal biorefineries for bioenergy production: can we move from concept to industrial reality? Bioenergy Res 11(4):727–747. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12155-018-9934-z
- Devi MP, Subhash GV, Mohan SV (2012) Heterotrophic cultivation of mixed microalgae for lipid accumulation and wastewater treatment during sequential growth and starvation phases: effect of nutrient supplementation. Renew Energy 43:276–283. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2011. 11.021
- Dixon C, Wilken LR (2018) Green microalgae biomolecule separations and recovery. Bioresour Bioprocess 5(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40643-018-0199-3
- Ebrahimian A, Kariminia HR, Vosoughi M (2014) Lipid production in mixotrophic cultivation of *Chlorella Vulgaris* in a mixture of primary and secondary municipal wastewater. Renew Energy 71:502–508. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2014.05.031
- EC-Regulation Regulation (2008) N. 1332/2008 of the European Parliament and of the council concerning novel foods and novel food ingredients

- Eigemann F, Hilt S, Salka I et al (2013) Bacterial community composition associated with freshwater algae: species specificity vs. dependency on environmental conditions and source community. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 83(3):650–663. https://doi.org/10.1111/1574-6941.12022
- Giampietro M (2019) On the circular bioeconomy and decoupling: implications for sustainable growth. Ecol Econ 162:143–156. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2019.05.001
- Gonçalves AL, Pires JCM, Simões M (2017) A review on the use of microalgal consortia for wastewater treatment. Algal Res 24:403–415. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.algal.2016.11.008
- Gross M, Jarboe D, Wen Z (2015) Biofilm-based algal cultivation systems. Appl Microbiol Biot 99 (14):5781–5789. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-015-6736-5
- Gutzeit G, Lorch D, Weber A et al (2005) Bioflocculent algal-bacterial biomass improves low-cost wastewater treatment. Water Sci Technol 52(12):9–18. https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2005.0415
- Hernández D, Riaño B, Coca M et al (2016) Microalgae cultivation in high rate algal ponds using slaughterhouse wastewater for biofuel applications. Cheml Eng J 285:449–458. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.cej.2015.09.072
- Herschy RW (2012) Water quality for drinking: WHO guidelines. Encycl Earth Sci Ser. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-1-4020-4410-6
- Homrich AS, Galvão G, Abadia LG et al (2018) The circular economy umbrella: trends and gaps on integrating pathways. J Clean Produ 175:525–543. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.11. 064
- Huang WC, Park CW, Kim JD (2017) A novel microalgal lipid extraction method using biodiesel (fatty acid methyl esters) as an extractant. Bioresour Technol 226:94–98. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.biortech.2016.12.013
- Ismail MM, Essam TM, Ragab YM et al (2017) Remediation of a mixture of analgesics in a stirredtank photobioreactor using microalgal-bacterial consortium coupled with attempt to valorise the harvested biomass. Bioresour Technol 232:364–371. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017. 02.062
- Jacob-Lopes E, Franco TT (2013) From oil refinery to microalgal biorefinery. J CO₂ Util 2:1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcou.2013.06.001
- Jacob-Lopes E, Mérida LGR, Queiroz MI et al (2015) Microalgal biorefineries. Biomass Prod Use. https://doi.org/10.5772/59969
- Jacob-Lopes E, Zekpa LQ, Queiroz MI (2018) Energy from microalgae. Green Energy Tech. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69093-3
- Jain D, Ghonse SS, Trivedi T et al (2019) CO₂ fixation and production of biodiesel by *Chlorella vulgaris* NIOCCV under mixotrophic cultivation. Bioresour Technol 273:672–676. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2018.09.148
- Jia H, Yuan Q (2016) Removal of nitrogen from wastewater using microalgae and microalgaebacteria consortia. Cogent Environ Sci 2(1). https://doi.org/10.1080/23311843. 2016.1275089
- Johnson MB, Wen Z (2010) Development of an attached microalgal growth system for biofuel production. Appl Microbiol Biotl 85(3):525–534. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-009-2133-2
- Karig DK (2017) Cell-free synthetic biology for environmental sensing and remediation. Curr Opin Biotechn 45:69–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copbio.2017.01.010
- Koreiviene J, Valčiukas R, Karosiene J et al (2014) Testing of *Chlorella/Scenedesmus* microalgae consortia for remediation of wastewater, CO₂ mitigation and algae biomass feasibility for lipid production. J Environ Eng Landsc Management 22(2):105–114. https://doi.org/10.3846/ 16486897.2013.911182
- Lam MK, Lee KT, Mohamed AR (2012) Current status and challenges on microalgae-based carbon capture. Int J Greenh Gas Con 10:456–469. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijggc.2012.07.010
- Lebsky VK, Gonzalez-Bashan LE, Bashan Y (2001) Ultrastructure of interaction in alginate beads between the microalga *Chlorella vulgaris* with its natural associative bacterium *Phyllobacterium myrsinacearum* and with the plant growth-promoting bacterium *Azospirillum brasilense*. Can J Microbiol 47(1):1–8. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjm-47-1-1

- Lee YJ, Lei Z (2019) Microalgal-bacterial aggregates for wastewater treatment: a mini-review. Bioresour Technol Rep 8:100199. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biteb.2019.100199
- Li SS, Li JH, Xia MS et al (2013) Adsorption of nitrogen and phosphorus by intact cells and Cell Wall polysaccharides of *Microcystis*. J Appl Phycol 25(5):1539–1544. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10811-013-9992-8
- Liang Y, Sarkany N, Cui Y (2009) Biomass and lipid productivities of *Chlorella vulgaris* under autotrophic, heterotrophic and mixotrophic growth conditions. Biotechnol Lett 31 (7):1043–1049. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10529-009-9975-7
- Lindemann SR, Bernstein CB, Song HS et al (2016) Engineering microbial consortia for controllable outputs. ISME J 10(9):2077–2084. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2016.26
- Litchfield CD, Colwell RR, Prescott JM (1969) Numerical taxonomy of heterotrophic bacteria growing in association with continuous-culture *Chlorella sorokiniana*. ApplMicrobiol 18 (6):1044–1049. https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.18.6.1044-1049.1969
- Liu H, Zhou Y, Xiao W et al (2012) Shifting nutrient-mediated interactions between algae and bacteria in a microcosm: evidence from alkaline phosphatase assay. Microbiol Res 167 (5):292–298. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micres.2011.10.005
- Liu J, Wu Y, Wu C et al (2017) Advanced nutrient removal from surface water by a consortium of attached microalgae and bacteria: a review. Bioresour Technol 241:1127–1137. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.biortech.2017.06.054
- Liu L, Hong Y, Ye X et al (2018) Biodiesel production from microbial granules in sequencing batch reactor. Bioresour Technol 249:908–915. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.10.105
- Loos R, Carvalho R, António DC et al (2013) EU-wide monitoring survey on emerging polar organic contaminants in wastewater treatment plant effluents. Water Res 47(17):6475–6487. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2013.08.024
- Lu H, Feng Y, Wu Y et al (2016a) Phototrophic periphyton techniques combine phosphorous removal and recovery for sustainable salt-soil zone. Sci Total Environ 568(50):838–844. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.06.010
- Lu H, Wan J, Li J et al (2016b) Periphytic biofilm: a buffer for phosphorus precipitation and release between sediments and water. Chemosphere 144:2058–2064. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chemosphere.2015.10.129
- Lu M, Chen S, Babanova S et al (2017) Long-term performance of a 20-L continuous flow microbial fuel cell for treatment of brewery wastewater. J Power Sources 356:274–287. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour.2017.03.132
- Ma X, Zhou W, Fu Z et al (2014) Effect of wastewater-borne bacteria on algal growth and nutrients removal in wastewater-based algae cultivation system. Bioresour Technol 167:8–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2014.05.087
- Mata TM, Martins AA, Caetano NS (2010) Microalgae for biodiesel production and other applications: a review. Renew Sust Energ Rev 14(1):217–232. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser. 2009.07.020
- Matamoros V, Gutiérrez R, Ferrer I et al (2015) Capability of microalgae-based wastewater treatment systems to remove emerging organic contaminants: a pilot-scale study. J Hazard Mater 288:34–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2015.02.002
- Mayo AW, Noike T (1994) Effect of glucose loading on the growth behavior of *Chlorella Vulgaris* and heterotrophic bacteria in mixed culture. Water Res 28(5):1001–1008. https://doi.org/10. 1016/0043-1354(94)90184-8
- McCormick K, Kautto N (2013) The bioeconomy in Europe: an overview. Sustainability 5 (6):2589–2608. https://doi.org/10.3390/su5062589
- Meng F, Xi L, Liu D et al (2019) Effects of light intensity on oxygen distribution, lipid production and biological community of algal-bacterial granules in photo-sequencing batch reactors. Bioresour Technol 272:473–481. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2018.10.059
- Mishra A, Kavita K, Jha B (2011) Characterization of extracellular polymeric substances produced by micro-algae *Dunaliella salina*. Carbohy Polym 83(2):852–857. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. carbpol.2010.08.067

- Mishra A, Medhi K, Malaviya P et al (2019) Omics approaches for microalgal applications: prospects and challenges. Bioresour Technol 291:121890. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech. 2019.121890
- Mouget JL, Dakhama A, Lavoie MC et al (1995) Algal growth enhancement by bacteria: is consumption of photosynthetic oxygen involved? FEMS Microbiol Ecol 18(1):35–43. https:// doi.org/10.1016/0168-6496(95)00038-C
- Mujtaba G, Rizwan M, Lee K (2015) Simultaneous removal of inorganic nutrients and organic carbon by symbiotic co-culture of *Chlorella vulgaris* and *Pseudomonas putida*. Biotechnol Bioprocess Eng 20(6):1114–1122. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12257-015-0421-5
- Muñoz R, Guieysse B (2006) Algal-bacterial processes for the treatment of hazardous contaminants: a review. Water Res 40(15):2799–2815. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2006. 06.011
- Nadell CD, Drescher K, Wingreen NS et al (2015) Extracellular matrix structure governs invasion resistance in bacterial biofilms. ISME J 9(8):1700–1709. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2014. 246
- Nagappan S, Devendran S, Tsai PC et al (2019) Potential of two-stage cultivation in microalgae biofuel production. Fuel 252:339–349. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2019.04.138
- Nagarajan D, Lee DJ, Chen CY et al (2020) Resource recovery from wastewaters using microalgaebased approaches: a circular bioeconomy perspective. Bioresour Technol 302:122817. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2020.122817
- Naresh V, Prabhakar S (2018) Performance and emission characteristics of algae oil on VCR diesel engine. J Chem Pharm Res 10(4):44–55
- Oilgae (2009) Oilgae guide to algae-based wastewater treatment. http://www.oilgae.com/ref/report/ wastewater_treatment/wastewater_treatment.html. Accessed 12 July 2020
- Olguín EJ (2012) Dual purpose microalgae-bacteria-based systems that treat wastewater and produce biodiesel and chemical products within a biorefinery. Biotechnol Adv 30 (5):1031–1046. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2012.05.001
- Olguín EJ, Sánchez-Galván G (2012) Heavy metal removal in phytofiltration and phycoremediation: the need to differentiate between bioadsorption and bioaccumulation. New Biotechnol 30(1):3–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbt.2012.05.020
- Orandi S, Lewis DM, Moheimani NR (2012) Biofilm establishment and heavy metal removal capacity of an indigenous mining algal-microbial consortium in a photo-rotating biological contactor. J Ind Microbiol Biot 39(9):1321–1331. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10295-012-1142-9
- Patel VK, Sahoo NK, Patel AK et al (2017) Exploring microalgae consortia for biomass production: a synthetic ecological engineering approach towards sustainable production of biofuel feedstock. In: Algal biofuels, recent advances and future prospects. pp 109–126. https://doi.org/10. 1007/978-3-319-51010-1_6
- Pedruzi GOL, Amorim ML, Santos RR et al (2020) Biomass accumulation-influencing factors in microalgae farms. Braz J Agric Environ Eng:134–139. https://doi.org/10.1590/1807-1929/ agriambi.v24n2p134-139
- Posadas E, Marín D, Blanco S et al (2017) Simultaneous biogas upgrading and Centrate treatment in an outdoors pilot scale high rate algal pond. Bioresour Technol 232:133–141. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.biortech.2017.01.071
- Priyadarshini E, Priyadarshini SS, Pradhan N (2019) Heavy metal resistance in algae and its application for metal nanoparticle synthesis. Appl Microbiol Biot 103(8):3297–3316. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s00253-019-09685-3
- Pruvost J, Cornet J, Pilon L (2016) Large-scale production of algal biomass: photobioreactors. In: Algae biotechnology. pp 41–66. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-12334-9_3
- Qian Y, Wen X, Huang X (2007) Development and application of some renovated technologies for municipal wastewater treatment in China. Front Environ Sci Eng 1(1):1–12. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s11783-007-0001-9

- Queiroz MI, Hornes MO, Manetti AGS et al (2013) Fish processing wastewater as a platform of the microalgal biorefineries. Biosyst Eng 115(2):195–202. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biosystemseng. 2012.12.013
- Quijano G, Arcila JS, Buitrón G (2017) Microalgal-bacterial aggregates: applications and perspectives for wastewater treatment. Biotechnol Adv 35(6):772–781. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.biotechadv.2017.07.003
- Quinn JC, Davis R (2015) The potentials and challenges of algae based biofuels: a review of the techno-economic, life cycle, and resource assessment modeling. Bioresour Technol 184:444–452. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2014.10.075
- Ramanan R, Kannan K, Deshkar A et al (2010) Enhanced algal CO₂ sequestration through calcite deposition by *Chlorella* sp. and *Spirulina platensis* in a mini-raceway pond. Bioresour Technol 101(8):2616–2622. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2009.10.061
- Rashid N, Park WK, Selvaratnam T (2018) Binary culture of microalgae as an integrated approach for enhanced biomass and metabolites productivity, wastewater treatment, and bioflocculation. Chemosphere 194:67–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2017.11.108
- Reike D, Vermeulen WJV, Witjes S (2018) The circular economy: new or refurbished as CE 3.0? Exploring controversies in the conceptualization of the circular economy through a focus on history and resource value retention options. Resour Conserv Recy 135:246–264. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2017.08.027
- Renuka N, Sood A, Ratha SK et al (2013) Evaluation of microalgal consortia for treatment of primary treated sewage effluent and biomass production. J Appl Phycol 25(5):1529–1537. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10811-013-9982
- Russel M, Liu C, Alam A et al (2018) Exploring an in situ LED-illuminated isothermal microcalorimetric method to investigating the thermodynamic behavior of *Chlorella vulgaris* during CO₂ bio-fixation. Environ Sci Pollut Res 25(19):18519–18527. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-018-1926-1
- Ryu BG, Kim W, Nam K et al (2015) A comprehensive study on algal-bacterial communities shift during thiocyanate degradation in a microalga-mediated process. Bioresour Technol 191:496–504. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2015.03.136
- Saharan BS, Sharma D, Sahu R et al (2013) Towards algal biofuel production: a concept of green bio energy development. Innov Rom Food Biotechnol 12(3):1–21
- Salama ES, Kurade MB, Abou-Shanab RAI et al (2017) Recent Progress in microalgal biomass production coupled with wastewater treatment for biofuel generation. Renew Sust Energ Rev 79:1189–1211. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2017.05.091
- Salim S, Kosterink NR, Wacka NDT et al (2014) Mechanism behind autoflocculation of unicellular green microalgae *Ettlia texensis*. J Biotechnol 174(1):34–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiotec. 2014.01.026
- Schmidt JJ, Gagnon GA, Jamieson RC (2016) Microalgae growth and phosphorus uptake in wastewater under simulated cold region conditions. Ecol Eng 95:588–593. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.ecoleng.2016.06.114
- Senthil KP, Yaashikaa PR (2020) Sources and operations of waste biorefineries. In: Refining biomass residues for sustainable energy and bioproducts. pp 111–133. https://doi.org/10. 1016/b978-0-12-818996-2.00005-3
- Serrà A, Artal R, García-Amorós J et al (2020) Circular zero-residue process using microalgae for efficient water decontamination, biofuel production, and carbon dioxide fixation. Chem Eng J 388:124278. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2020.124278
- Seyedsayamdost MR, Case RJ, Kolter R et al (2011) The jekyll-and-hyde chemistry of phaeobacter gallaeciensis. Nat Chem 3(4):331–335. https://doi.org/10.1038/nchem.1002
- Seyhaneyildiz CS, Koru E, Cirik S (2017) Effect of temperature and nitrogen concentration on the growth and lipid content of *Spirulina platensis* and biodiesel production. Aquacult Int 25 (4):1485–1493. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10499-017-0121-6

- Sharma J, Kumar V, Kumar SS et al (2020) Microalgal consortia for municipal wastewater treatment – lipid augmentation and fatty acid profiling for biodiesel production. J Photoch Photobio B 202:111638. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jphotobiol.2019.111638
- Simsek H, Kasi M, Ohm JB et al (2016) Impact of solids retention time on dissolved organic nitrogen and its biodegradability in treated wastewater. Water Res 92:44–51. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.watres.2016.01.041
- Sobczuk TM, Camacho FG, Rubio FC et al (2000) Carbon dioxide uptake efficiency by outdoor microalgal cultures in tubular airlift Photobioreactors. Biotechnol Bioeng 67(4):465–475
- Stiles WAV, Styles D, Chapman SP et al (2018) Using microalgae in the circular economy to valorise anaerobic digestate: challenges and opportunities. Bioresour Technol 267:732–742. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2018.07.100
- Su Y, Mennerich A, Urban B (2012) Synergistic cooperation between wastewater-born algae and activated sludge for wastewater treatment: influence of algae and sludge inoculation ratios. Bioresour Technol 105:67–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2011.11.113
- Subashchandrabose SR, Ramakrishnan B, Megharaj M et al (2011) Consortia of cyanobacteria/ microalgae and bacteria: biotechnological potential. Biotechnol Adv 29(6):896–907. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2011.07.009.
- Suzanne E, Absi N, Borodin V (2020) Towards circular economy in production planning: challenges and opportunities. Eur J Oper Res 287(1):168–190. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejor. 2020.04.043
- Tang X, He LY, Tao XQ et al (2010) Construction of an artificial microalgal-bacterial consortium that efficiently degrades crude oil. J Hazard Mater 181(1–3):1158–1162. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.jhazmat.2010.05.033
- Tang CC, Zuo W, Tian Y et al (2016) Effect of aeration rate on performance and stability of algalbacterial symbiosis system to treat domestic wastewater in sequencing batch reactors. Bioresour Technol 222:156–164. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2016.09.123
- Tang CC, Tian Y, He ZW et al (2018) Performance and mechanism of a novel algal-bacterial symbiosis system based on sequencing batch suspended biofilm reactor treating domestic wastewater. Bioresour Technol 265:422–431. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2018.06.033
- Tate JJ, Gutierrez-Wing MT, Rusch KA et al (2013) The effects of plant growth substances and mixed cultures on growth and metabolite production of green algae *Chlorella* sp: a review. J Plant Growth Regul 32(2):417–428. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00344-012-9302-8
- Teixeira JR, Granek EF (2017) Effects of environmentally-relevant antibiotic mixtures on marine microalgal growth. Sci Total Environ 580:43–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.11. 207
- Trivedi J, Aila M, Bangwal DP et al (2015) Algae based biorefinery how to make sense? Renew Sust Energ Rev 47:295–307. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2015.03.052
- Ubando AT, Felix CB, Chen WH (2020) Biorefineries in circular bioeconomy: a comprehensive review. Bioresour Technol 299. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2019.122585
- Voltolina D, Gómez-Villa H, Correa G (2005) Nitrogen removal and recycling by *Scenedesmus olbliquus* in semicontinuous cultures using artificial wastewater and a simulated light and temperature cycle. Bioresour Technol 96(3):359–362. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2004. 04.004
- Wang Y, Ho SH, Cheng CL et al (2016) Perspectives on the feasibility of using microalgae for industrial wastewater treatment. Bioresour Technol 222:485–497. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biortech.2016.09.106
- Wicker R, Bhatnagar A (2020) Application of Nordic microalgal-bacterial consortia for nutrient removal from wastewater. Chem Eng J 398:125567. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2020.125567
- Yong SC, Roversi P, Lillington J et al (2014) A complex iron-calcium cofactor catalyzing phosphotransfer chemistry. Science 345(6201):1170–1173. https://doi.org/10.1126/science. 1254237

- Yu Z, Mohn WW (2002) Bioaugmentation with the resin acid-degrading bacterium *Zoogloea resiniphila* DhA-35 to counteract pH stress in an aerated lagoon treating pulp and paper mill effluent. Water Res 36(11):2793–2801. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0043-1354(01)00496-1
- Yu Z, Song M, Pei H et al (2017) The effects of combined agricultural phytohormones on the growth, carbon partitioning and cell morphology of two screened algae. Bioresour Technol 239:87–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.04.120
- Zhan GY, White MA, Colosi LM (2013) Environmental and economic assessment of integrated systems for dairy manure treatment coupled with algae bioenergy production. Bioresour Technol 130:486–494. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2012.11.123
- Zhang B, Li W, Guo Y et al (2020) Microalgal-bacterial consortia: from interspecies interactions to biotechnological applications. Renew Sust Energ Rev 118:109563. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. rser.2019.109563
- Zhu L, Yan C, Li Z (2016) Microalgal cultivation with biogas slurry for biofuel production. Bioresour Technol 220:629–636. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2016.08.111



Microbial Degradation of Food Products

Jhonatas Rodrigues Barbosa (), Sabrina Baleixo da Silva, Luiza Helena da Silva Martins, Fernanda Wariss Figueiredo Bezerra, Lucas Cantão Freitas, Maria Caroline Rodrigues Ferreira, and Raul Nunes de Carvalho Junior

Abstract

Contamination and degradation of food products by microorganisms are a major problem for the food industry, with serious damage to economic circulation and public health worldwide. Therefore, the objective of this chapter is to clarify how the contamination of microorganisms occurs, the main damage to food, production of toxic substances, economic losses, and new food preservation technologies, with a focus on developing a sustainable and safe food industry. Most foods contain structural ingredients, such as a high concentration of carbohydrates, perfect conditions for an outbreak of microbial infection. The microorganisms that grow in food alter their chemical composition, appearance, taste, texture, and characteristics such as color, shape, and aroma. In addition, some fungi produce mycotoxins that are highly toxic. Finally, contaminated food undergoes degradation and putrefaction, causing irreparable losses to producers.

S. B. da Silva

R. N. de Carvalho Junior

J. R. Barbosa (🖂) · F. W. F. Bezerra · L. C. Freitas · M. C. R. Ferreira

LABEX/FEA (Faculty of Food Engineering), Program of Post-Graduation in Food Science and Technology, Federal University of Pará, Belém, Pará, Brazil

LABIOTEC/FEA (Faculty of Food Engineering), Program of Post-Graduation in Food Science and Technology, Federal University of Pará, Belém, Pará, Brazil

L. H. da Silva Martins Institute of Animal Health and Production (ISPA), Federal Rural University of Amazonia (UFRA), Belem, Pará, Brazil

LABEX/FEA (Faculty of Food Engineering), Program of Post-Graduation in Food Science and Technology, Federal University of Pará, Belém, Pará, Brazil

Program of Post-Graduation in Natural Resources Engineering, Federal University of Pará, Belém, Pará, Brazil

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 Inamuddin et al. (eds.), *Recent Advances in Microbial Degradation*, Environmental and Microbial Biotechnology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-0518-5_6

Thus, we address new technologies that may be the key to increasing the shelf life of food and reducing the rate of contamination. In conclusion, microorganisms are a persistent problem and difficult to eliminate, especially considering the possibilities of artificial selection. However, emerging technologies can help preserve food for longer, without increasing the risk of artificial selection of the microorganism or even causing changes in food.

Keywords

Pathogens · Food security · Shelf life · Artificial selection · Mycotoxins

6.1 Introduction

Microbial contamination and subsequent degradation of food products due to the biological activities of pathogens are a current problem, faced from the beginning of the food production chain to the consumer base. Since ancient times, human beings have faced problems in food preservation and we can say that human survival itself has been through understanding how to preserve food for long periods. Human civilization has managed to survive using various food preservation strategies, for example, man in the ice age period has adapted to preserve food on ice. In the Bronze Age, we have food preservation by cooking and drying. Although food preservation techniques have evolved, contamination problems still persist, now with new aggravating factors (Ganivet 2020).

The idea of eradicating all microorganisms from the food production chain is almost impossible. And we can say that although all modern techniques help to eliminate pathogens, contamination problems still persist. So, how can we adapt to live with microbes? In fact, microorganisms have been on planet Earth longer than any other living organism, and adapt to survive in the most variable conditions, whether adverse or not. During the entire period of evolution of microorganisms, there was no major change in their primordial states, except for several molecular adaptations. Molecular adaptations are the great advance of microorganisms and perhaps their greatest triumph in the evolutionary chain (Chatterjee and Abraham 2018).

Thus, microorganisms can survive, reproduce, and continue to evolve, adapting their molecular arsenal and conquering new territories. Therefore, it is not easy to eliminate pathogens from the entire food production chain, considering all the evolutionary force (molecular evolution) present in microorganisms. Therefore, we have to think about new food preservation strategies, considering deeper aspects, such as evolution, adaptation, and artificial selection (Newell et al. 2010).

Given this scenario, we realize that microbial contamination has been relentless, especially in modern times. Today we realize that although the academic community has made great efforts to develop technologies to eliminate pathogens, we are losing the war with our weapons. Deeper aspects of microorganisms were not considered, that is, their ability to adapt and evolve. Since the past 50 years, our modern society

has selected microorganisms in almost all industrial sectors through artificial selection. Thus, several resistant and better-adapted microorganisms have been the focus of several problems for the food industry, with profound impacts on the health of the population and the financial market (Pittia and Antonello 2016). In this context, this chapter brings to light the reader relevant scientific information on the degradation of food products by microorganisms, the negative effects and forms of preservation, especially new technologies, with a focus on sustainable industry and with high standards of food safety.

6.2 Contamination and Microbial Degradation of Food Products

Food contamination and degradation refer to the presence of pathogenic and nonpathogenic microorganisms that can cause changes in the product, such as odor, taste, texture, and appearance during the proliferation of microorganisms due to their natural metabolic activity. In addition to sensory changes, some microbial agents can produce harmful toxins and chemicals that shorten the shelf life of food and can cause various diseases in humans (Lianou et al. 2016).

Contamination can occur at any production stage, from harvesting or slaughtering to processing, transportation, and storage, due to surfaces that come into contact with food. in addition to factors such as the quality of raw materials and inputs; incorrect cleaning of equipment, utensils, and installations, inadequate packaging of waste and by-products, inadequate handling practices, temperature variations, among others (Singh et al. 2018).

The level of quality and safety of food is based on microbiological assessment since most foods represent a rich source of nutrients for microbial development. The increase in population and, consequently, the increase in food consumption, and changes in the eating habits of the population, such as:

- 1. Consumption of raw, lightly cooked, or exotic foods
- 2. Higher consumer demand for food products of superior sensory quality
- 3. Increase in functional, nutritional properties, and demand for organic products with less pesticides and additives, helped a modern revolution in the food industry.

These examples make the industry seek to develop different technologies and treatments applied in all stages of food processing. How to limit the growth rate in the exponential phase, reducing the maximum microbial population density, and thus maintaining the quality of the final product, the nutritional value, and providing consumers with a healthy and safe product (Havelaar et al. 2010; Jacxsens et al. 2010; Chatterjee and Abraham 2018).

6.2.1 Major Food Pathogens

Each food has a microbial profile that depends on the flora, the source of the contamination, the physical and chemical factors intrinsic to the food (composition, pH, water activity, presence of natural antimicrobial compounds, etc.), and environmental factors such as temperature (Baron and Gautier 2016).

Microorganisms can be classified as deteriorating and pathogenic. The so-called deteriorants cause changes in the food product, which makes it unacceptable for consumption from a sensory point of view. While pathogens are those that can cause a range of diseases in the consumer, such as botulism, food poisoning, and other enteric infections by the production of harmful toxic metabolites. These microorganisms can be bacteria, fungi, yeasts, and viruses (Wirtanen and Salo 2007). Table 6.1 shows some examples of bacteria and fungi responsible for food contamination, changes suffered by food, and methods of inhibition.

Table	6.1	Examples	of	bacteria	and	fungi	responsible	e for	food	contaminatio	on, their	possible
change	s, and	d methods	of	inhibitior	ı. Su	mmar	y based on	studi	es of l	Newell et al.	(2010) a	and Faille
et al. (2	2018)	1										

	Affected		
Name	foods	Changes in food	Inhibition methods
Bacteria			
Clostridium botulinum	Meat	Acidification, flavor change, protein breakdown, oxidative rancidity of fats	Storage under refrigeration; thermal treatments
Staphylococcus aureus	Raw milk and dairy products in general		Storage under refrigeration; thermal treatments
Salmonella spp.	Eggs	Yolk blackening; unpleasant odor, changes in skin pigmentation	Eggshell protection (cuticle, internal membranes, and pores); inner protection (lysozymes, conalbumin, and avidin)
Escherischia coli	Meat and animal products	PH increase; production of volatile compost with a strange taste; pigmentation change	Storage under refrigeration; thermal treatments
Fungi			
Aspergillus spp.	Raw milk and dairy in general	Proteolysis and lipolysis; increase in pH; color change; production of volatile compounds with an unpleasant odor, production of toxin	Thermal treatments
Penicillium spp.	Cereals	Toxin production and formation of dark spots	Heat treatments and drying

6.2.2 Contamination and Degradation of Food Products by Bacteria

Microorganisms that degrade food are responsible for most foodborne diseases and have been the most investigated cause of diseases related to intestinal infection, reinforcing the resistance of these pathogens, despite the prevention and control techniques applied in the industry (Newell et al. 2010). In general, bacteria need water to thrive, survive in the presence or absence of oxygen, classified as aerobic and anaerobic, respectively, or both (optional anaerobic). Their shapes are bacilli, coconuts and others, like spirochetes. Prefer protein-rich environments and can produce toxins (Lopez et al. 2018).

Bacteria can grow and multiply from the nutrients present in food, causing undesirable changes that vary depending on the type of bacteria, in addition to factors such as pH, osmolarity, temperature, and oxidation, as well as processing methods, which also influence bacterial development (Chatterjee and Abraham 2018). For example, stainless steel surfaces, floors, conveyor belts, or equipment, have been reported with the presence of bacteria (Faille et al. 2018).

Bacteria can evolve, adapt, and become resistant. In addition, a microbial community formed by bacteria can adhere to a surface, distributing its growth to form a solid matrix (biofilm). Microbial biofilms are a major problem for the food industry, as they are the focus of widespread contamination. Therefore, techniques and treatments to prevent biofilm formation must be effective in inhibiting them and, thus, preventing the spread of more bacteria to other environments (Van Houdt and Michiels 2010; Chandki et al. 2011).

Modern and advanced techniques have been developed and applied in the industry for the preservation and safety of food (Alvarez-Ordóñez et al. 2015). However, not every product can be subjected to heat treatments, as they can degrade nutrients or cause unwanted changes, requiring more sophisticated technologies to overcome bacterial resistance in the food industry, such as microwave pasteurization, ultrasound, plasma gas, ultraviolet light technology, and others (Galis et al. 2013; Motarjemi et al. 2014).

6.2.3 Contamination and Degradation of Food Products by Fungi

Fungi grow in a wide range of pH, temperatures, and water activity and use various types of substrates such as lipids, proteins, and carbohydrates. They are divided into molds and yeasts and are capable of deteriorating foods with intermediate humidity, bakery products, cherries, drinks, and fermented products causing economic losses (Chalupová et al. 2014).

The presence of fungi is related to the production of harmful toxins and microtoxins in foods, making them of low quality (Njobeh et al. 2009). Toxins are secondary metabolites produced by some types of fungi (Terzi et al. 2014) detected in several products (Njobeh et al. 2010), aflatoxins being considered the most important due to their significant negative impact on health and trade. These



Fig. 6.1 Main aflatoxins produced by fungi of the genus Aspergillus spp. Source: the authors

products resulting from the secondary metabolism of fungi may vary according to the substrate and environmental conditions (pH, temperature, humidity, and the presence or absence of oxygen) (Rocha et al. 2014; Yehia 2014).

The identification of fungi that spoil food is an important step in managing food safety and quality. Prevention or decontamination methods can involve removing contaminated products, inactivating or reducing the level of toxins in food, and can be done by physical, chemical, and biological means, depending on the type of product and the toxin (Halasz et al. 2009).

The toxins produced by fungi (also known as mycotoxins) are a mixture of highly toxic secondary metabolites. There are numerous known mycotoxins and they are all easily produced in natural environments. Fungi like *Aspergillus* spp., *Fusarium* spp., and *Penicillium* spp., are known to easily contaminate fruits, processed foods, and vegetables, producing highly toxic toxins. Three groups of mycotoxins are currently recognized, namely aflatoxins, ochratoxin, and fumonisins, both of which will be addressed below.

Aflatoxin is produced by fungi of the genus Aspergillus spp., mainly in foods rich in carbohydrates such as bakery products, peanuts, and industrialized products in general, such as almonds, cheese, fluid beds, among others. Aflatoxin is highly toxic and has mutagenic and carcinogenic properties.

Fungi of the genus *Aspergillus* spp. produce four types of aflatoxin, known as B1 (AFB1), aflatoxin B2 (AFB2), aflatoxin G1 (AFG1), and aflatoxin G2 (AFG2). In addition to these, there is a group of aflatoxins known as M (AFM1 and AFM2), which are highly toxic and have direct effects on cell dysregulation, resulting in programmed cell death (Terzi et al. 2014). The main aflotoxins produced by fungi of the genus *Aspergillus spp* can be seen in (Fig. 6.1).



Fig. 6.2 Examples of Ochratoxin produced by fungi. Source: the authors

Ochratoxin is a secondary metabolite produced by a variety of species of fungi; especially those of the genus *Penicillium* spp. and *Aspergillus spp. Aspergillus* are the most common, among them *A. carbonarius*, *A. melleus*, *A. ochraceus*, *A. sclerotiorum*, and *A. sulphureus*. Among *Penicillium* spp., we have two relevant species, namely, *P. verrucosum* and *P. nordicum*. Ochratoxin is found mainly in cereals, dry beans, wine, coffee, and other food products. Even in small amounts, ochratoxin is highly toxic and is associated with endemic nephropathy in Balças, a degenerative disease of kidney and liver functions, leading to organ failure and death (Ayofemi Olalekan Adeyeye 2020). The main ochratoxins produced by fungi can be seen in (Fig. 6.2).

Finally, fumonisins are mycotoxins produced by fungi of the genus *Fusarium spp*, and like the other mycotoxins already reported, they also have harmful effects if ingested. The main fungi that synthesize fumonisins are *F. oxysporium* and *F. verticillioides*. These mycotoxins are found mainly in foods such as corn and are a major cause of production losses if fungi are not controlled. The concentration of these mycotoxins depends on several factors, however, studies with corn contaminated by the fungus *F. oxysporium* showed that fumonisin B1 is found in a higher concentration than fumonisin B2. The consumption of these toxins can lead to serious effects, especially on organs such as the lung and liver, and even more severe effects such as cerebral necrosis (Ayofemi Olalekan Adeyeye 2020). The main fumonisin produced by fungi can be seen in (Fig. 6.3).



6.3 Major Problems Associated with Contamination and Spoilage of Food

Contamination and spoilage of food are problems that can cause very serious damage to human health, and in some situations it can be irreversible, leading to death. For that reason, one of the main purposes of the food industry is to produce foods free of any contamination, ensuring the food safety of the product and its consumers. Problems in the supply and processing chain usually change the environmental conditions of food and promote the growth of microbial agents, instigating contamination and spoilage. The contamination and spoilage of food can be caused by three main agents physical, chemical, and biological. In this chapter, we will only deal with the main problems related to the contamination and spoilage caused by biological agents, which cover most of the reported problems of food contamination.

6.3.1 Problems Related to Meats

Meat is known as one of the most perishable foods due to its chemical composition that allows microbial growth at high levels, contributing significantly to the deterioration or deterioration of meat (Doulgeraki et al. 2012). Various problems related to contamination and deterioration of meat is reported by the scientific food community. Most of these problems are linked to the observed effects, which are quite variable, including discoloration, slime formation (visible growth), development of strange odors and flavors, and changes in texture (degradation), among others (Nychas et al. 2008).

The color of the meat is one of the main factors that consumers take into account when purchasing the product and the change in the natural color of the meat is always associated with problems about its quality. Meat discoloration occurs because the microbial agents are capable to destroy meat myoglobin causing the greening/graying of meat by combining with hydrogen sulfide of microbial origin. In addition, these agents can be broken down to create green or yellow bile pigments by microbial hydrogen peroxide (Pellissery et al. 2020). *L. sakei, Hafnia alvei, S. putrefaciens*, and lactic acid bacterias (LAB) are the main responsible for the mentioned types of coloring (Dušková et al. 2013). The production of microbial pigment is also visually perceptible on meats where Pseudomonads, molds of the genera *Cladosporium, Sporotrichium, and Penicillium* produce a range of black, white, blue, green, and yellow pigments (Pellissery et al. 2020). In some situations, the yellow fluorescent pigment is associated with the action of *P. fluorescens* (Cornelis 2010). In addition to the changes in the food visual aspect, the consumption of contaminated and spoiled meats can cause the development of several foodborne diseases.

Gas production is another problem caused by microorganisms that can affect meat quality. Unwanted gas formation generally occurs in vacuum-packed meat. Hydrogen and carbon dioxide are produced and released by the action of anaerobic bacteria, causing problems such as changes in pH, putrid odors, exudate formation, and color changes (Iulietto et al. 2015). Similarly, ropy slime appearance on the surface of meat due to the presence of *Lactobacillus spp*. and *Leuconostoc spp*. is another visual problem that has a negative impact on consumer purchase decision (Iulietto et al. 2015).

In the same way, off-odors and off-flavors are generally noticeable in meats before any other signs of deterioration. Volatile acids such as formic, butyric, and propionic are responsible for the acidic odor of microbially spoiled meat (Pellissery et al. 2020). Usually, off-odors are perceived when the bacterial population reaches 10^7 CFU/g (Casaburi et al. 2015). In addition, when the meat is stored at temperatures close to freezing, occurs the formation of a cotton bud mycelium, without sporulation, of white color, called whiskers. The main agents of this deterioration are *Pseudomonas, Moraxella, Alcaligens, Aeromonas, Serratia, Pantoea Thamnidium, Nucor*, and *Rhizopus* species (Nychas et al. 2008).

6.3.2 Problems Related to Milk and Dairy Products

Milk and dairy products can be contaminated by microorganisms at any stage of the processing chain, causing problems to these products. The main forms of contamination that cause problems to milk and dairy products are the inadequate cleaning of milking equipment, cross-contamination by handling, animal feces, oscillation in temperature of refrigeration tank, inadequate pasteurization, and storage (Lopez et al. 2018; Beletsiotis et al. 2011). There are a large number of infectious diseases that can be transmitted to humans through milk. The most important pathogens are *Salmonella sp., Pathogenic Escherichia coli, Listeria monocytogenes, Campylobacter jejuni, Yersinia enterocolitica*, and *Staphylococcus aureus*, which can cause several fatal diseases (Iqbal et al. 2016). However, most of these pathogenic microorganisms are destroyed by pasteurization. That is why the thermal process should be well executed.

Furthermore, under refrigeration temperatures, some psychrotrophic bacteria present a higher growth rate, producing lipolytic and proteolytic enzymes, which cause problems on the quality of milk and dairy products due to their ability to resist thermal treatments (Nsofor and Frank 2013). Milk and dairy products are also susceptible to contamination by yeasts and molds that can cause changes in the color, texture, and odor of these products. The main microorganisms responsible for these contaminations are *Candida, Galactomyces*, and *Yarrowia* for yeasts and *Penicillium, Mucor*, and *Cladosporium* for molds (Garnier et al. 2017)

6.3.3 Problems Related to Eggs

Eggs are widely consumed worldwide because it is considered a low-cost food and partially meets the nutritional requirements of a person. However, some problems with the contamination and spoilage of this food can cause damage to consumer. The main form of contamination occurs through the eggshell when the microorganisms penetrate through its membranes and access the egg content, resulting in deterioration (Whiley and Ross 2015). Bacteria, yeasts, and molds can be the cause of undesirable alterations such as the release of gas, formation of visible colonies, changes in the coloration, texture, and odor of the eggs (Techer et al. 2014). *Salmonella Enteritidis*, which do not changes the color, smell, and consistency of the egg content, is a pathogenic bacterium that is considered the main factor for foodborne illnesses in developed countries, and it is important to highlight that eggs are the most common food that causes these infections (Jan et al. 2018).

6.3.4 Problems Related to Vegetables and Fruits

Fruits and vegetables are perishable foods due to their high water content (approximately 95%), which can facilitate the growth of both pathogenic and spoilage microorganisms, therefore these foods are more susceptible to contamination (Yousuf et al. 2020). The contamination and spoilage of fruits and vegetables can occur during the growing, harvest, and processing steps. In fruits with low pH, especially citrus fruits, the bacteria do not grow and fail to develop, since the pH changes the metabolism. However, molds and yeast are able to grow on these foods (Carlin 2013). For instance, Basidiomycetous can cause problems such as dark spots, dark lesions, gangrene, sour and soft roots, as well as it can produce cutinase that is related to the cuticle degradation of various fresh vegetal products (Carlin 2013). Another problem that affects some types of fruits and vegetables is the contamination by pathogenic microorganisms, mainly related to ready-to-eat products, which are responsible for several outbreaks caused by *Salmonella* ssp. and *E. Coli*. O157: H7. Infection by these microorganisms can cause serious damage to human health such as gastroenteritis (Amrutha et al. 2017).

6.3.5 Problems Related to Canned Foods

The main problem caused by the consumption of canned foods is botulism. Botulism is a rare and serious bacterial disease caused by the ingestion of toxins from *Clostridium botulinum*, which is considered the most potent among the known toxins (Momose et al. 2014). Botulism is characterized as an extremely serious disease, with acute evolution, causes digestive and neurological disorders, as a result of the ingestion of several types of food, including canned foods (Rhodehamel et al. 1992) As *Clostridium botulinum* is a sporogenic bacterium, the spores can remain in the food in case of inadequate sterilization in the heat treatment stage, and start to multiply and produce toxins (Featherstone 2015). Therefore, all low-acid canned foods (pH > 4.5) that are contained in packages completely free of oxygen, such as canned products, are potentially botulogenic and attention needs to be doubled in order to avoid serious health problems (Peck et al. 2020)

6.4 New Technologies to Reduce the Rate of Contamination and Degradation of Food Products

The quest for food preservation dates back to prehistoric times through the empirical use of salt, sugar, drying, and smoking. In some places where there were caves, snow and ice were used as a cooling resource. Later, ice was first transported in 1799, and in 1877 to Linde, the first industrial compact refrigerator process. Nicholas Appert, in 1810, took a big step in preserving food by adding heat, developing the tightening process that gave rise to canning and heat sterilization. Over the years, new technologies have been and are being developed in response to historical events such as the Second World War and space exploration, and to the intense population growth that went from 2.5 to 8 billion between 1950 and 2020. In this way, the objective of modern studies is to increase the shelf life of food, safety in consumption without causing damage to health, and the maintenance of sensory qualities and the chemical composition of macro and micronutrients. Next, we will discuss some of these emerging technologies (Ganivet 2020; Jiang et al. 2019; Misra et al. 2017; Pittia and Antonello 2016).

Cold plasma (CP) is a nonthermal technique that uses as a principle the active species contained in ionized gas such as electrons, free radicals, ions, and so on, leading to excitation, de-excitation, and ionization reactions that result in the decontamination and sterilization of food products affected by spores and products of deterioration of pathogenic organisms. It is also used in packaging processing to improve its barrier properties and add antimicrobial activity. The technique can be used by direct CP contact; indirect CP applying plasma-activated water during washes, sprays, or mists; and package CP discharge (Bourke et al. 2018; Ekezie et al. 2017; Fang et al. 2017).

Bosch et al. (2017) studied the effectiveness of using cold plasma (CP) at atmospheric pressure with ambient air in the degradation of mycotoxins produced by species of *Fusarium* spp., *Aspergillus* spp., and *Alternaria alternata*. The study

showed the effectiveness of the method in the degradation of pure mycotoxins, being considered a promising method in the decontamination of food products affected internally or externally as on the surface of cereal grain. Connolly et al. (2013) performed the inactivation of *Escherichia coli* in plastic packaging with helium/air plasma at atmospheric pressure. The authors concluded that the technique was effective in reducing 1.5 logarithmic cycles of specific cell regulatory systems, generating the decontamination of the packaging of fresh products.

The inactivation of microorganisms through sterilization by supercritical carbon dioxide (SC-CO₂) is also considered an emerging and promising technique in the treatment of food, as it is a green and environmentally safe technique, preserving the integrity of foods, especially thermosensitive and hydrolytically sensitive. The technique is dependent on variables such as pressure, temperature, CO₂ density, treatment time, CO₂ flow rate, depressurization rate, and use of additives. The mechanism involved in inactivation has not yet been fully elucidated; however, it is believed that cell rupture may occur due to volume expansion when high-pressure CO₂ is suddenly depressurized and/or the physiological deactivation that consists of the simultaneous or isolated occurrence of seven steps:

- 1. It is derived from acidification of the medium due to the dissociation and formation of carbonic acid from the contact of CO_2 with the water present in the medium
- 2. It results from the change in the cell membrane
- 3. There is a decrease in intracellular pH
- 4. The low pH inactivates key enzymes and inhibits cell metabolism
- 5. There is an inhibitory effect on microbial metabolism through molecular CO₂ and HCO₃ affecting the reactions of carboxylation and decarboxylation
- 6. Intracellular electrolyte balance disorder occurs
- 7. There is the removal of the vital constituents of cells and their membranes (Ribeiro et al. 2020; Soares et al. 2019).

Checinska et al. (2011) validated the sterilization method of biological pathogens using SC-CO₂, water (3.3%), and hydrogen peroxide (0.1%), at 80 atm, 50 °C and 30 min. The authors described that the method was effective in sterilizing pathogens present in biofilm structures, fungal spores associated with nosocomial infections, and SAFR-032 endospores of *Bacillus pumilus*. Silva et al. (2013) studied the inactivation of pathogenic *E. coli* through sterilization with SC-CO₂, evaluating the effects of pressure, rate of depressurization, and pressure cycling, the authors concluded that the increase in the number of cycles and pressure of the system increased the efficiency of inactivation inferring that the process is useful in non-thermal sterilization of food. Sterilization of palm fruits with SC-CO₂ was performed by Omar et al. (2017) to inactivate microorganisms and enzymes responsible for the degradation of palm oil. The authors pointed out that the process was able to completely inactivate lipase-producing microorganisms at 10 MPa, 80 °C and 60 min, avoiding the formation of free fatty acids, moreover, with the process they

managed to drastically reduce the amount of oil from the palm oil plant (POME) generated during steam sterilization.

Active packaging has been used in food preservation in order to isolate them from the external environment and protect them from the action of microbiological, chemical, and physical hazards, maintaining quality and prolonging shelf life. Active packaging interacts with food and is considered more effective compared to the simple addition of active agents on food surfaces by sprays or drips, because in these processes there is a rapid diffusion and the denaturation of the agents by the food may occur, reducing its effectiveness. Agents added to packaging must be safe and have been regulated by competent bodies such as the United States-Food and Drug Administration (U.S.FDA), Brazil National Health Surveillance Agency (ANVISA), and European Commission (Ribeiro-Santos et al. 2017; Sung et al. 2013). Studies have been developed to evaluate, mainly, the antimicrobial and antioxidant effect of active agents from plant extracts as an alternative to the synthetic ones, commonly used.

Ramos et al. (2012) evaluated the antimicrobial activity of polypropylene films incorporated with thymol and carvacrol. The authors pointed out that the thymol impregnated film showed greater inhibition against bacterial strains of *S. aureus* and *E. coli* compared to carvacrol, the compounds also had the potential to be used as agents antioxidants. Peng et al. (2013) investigated the addition of green tea and black tea extracts to chitosan films in the preparation of active packaging film. According to the authors, the addition of the extracts resulted in a decrease in water vapor permeability and increased the antioxidant capacity of the films due to the significant improvement in DPPH radical scavenging activity. Albuquerque et al. (2020) impregnated *Piper divaricatum* essential oil with supercritical CO_2 in fish (*Cynoscion acoupa*) skin gelatin films. The authors concluded that the addition of the oil resulted in 41.63% of antioxidant activity index and the film presented greater flexibility and opacity when compared to the control film.

Nanotechnology is a resource that has been used in food science and technology to improve production and application in the areas of processing, packaging, storage, transportation, functionality, and safety. Nanomaterials vary from 1 to 100 nm and are appreciated due to their properties that allow to increase solubility, bioavailability, and protection during the processing and storage of active compounds that are generally chemically unstable, thermosensitive, and photosensitive. Several antimicrobial agents are used in nanoencapsulation such as alkaloids, antioxidants, phytochemicals, essential oils, plant extracts, and so on, reducing microbial contamination and adding functional and sensory properties to foods (Bajpai et al. 2018; Prakash et al. 2018).

Mohammadi et al. (2016) evaluated the antibacterial activity of microparticles prepared with three different molecular weights and nanoparticles of chitosan crab shells against *P. fluorescens*, *E. carotovora*, and *E. coli*. The authors found from the results that there was a positive correlation between the particle size and the molecular weight of chitosan, the maximum antibacterial activity was verified in the nanoparticles and the microparticles, the antibacterial activity was dependent on the application. In the study by Mohanta et al. (2017), the biosynthesis of silver

nanoparticles with the extract of leaves of the *Protium serratum* was performed. The nanoparticles showed antibacterial activity against *P. aeruginosa*, Escherichia coli, and *B. subtilis*. As well as antioxidant activity to DPPH and hydroxyl radicals, and biocompatibility to the L-929 fibroblast cell line, not being harmful to the human body. In addition to oral administration being effective against gastrointestinal diseases and stomach ulcers, the study highlights the potential application in the food industry.

6.5 Conclusions

The degradation of food products by microorganisms is almost inevitable, because, like everything in nature, the cycle of the food chain is relentless. However, although the existence of microorganisms predates any other living thing on earth, the evolutionary process has improved these living organisms, especially at the molecular level, with incredible adaptations. The survival of microorganisms in specific conditions and their evolution are the key to a deep understanding of how to intervene in their development, growth, and reproduction and, thus, increase food preservation.

Our modern civilization has had great economic losses due to contamination and subsequent degradation of food. However, modern studies have helped to understand how new technologies can be applied to increase the shelf life of food, or even to reduce contamination rates in products still in the field.

One of the main problems of food contamination by microorganisms is directly related to public health. Foods contaminated with fungi produce mycotoxins, which even in small amounts can be fatal. Therefore, the issue of food security persists as a current issue and one that deserves constant efforts to reduce impacts on human health. Thus, we conclude that in-depth studies are still needed to understand relevant aspects about the evolutionary biology of the main food pathogens and more efforts in the development of green technologies to reduce the contamination rate and increase the shelf life of food.

Acknowledgment The authors would like to thank the Federal University of Pará (UFPA), for the space for research and professional development. We are also grateful for the collaboration of the research group LABEX (extraction laboratory), which was committed to the development of the writing of this chapter.

References

- Albuquerque GA, Bezerra FWF, de Oliveira MS et al (2020) Supercritical CO2 impregnation of *Piper divaricatum* essential oil in fish (*Cynoscion acoupa*) skin gelatin films. Food Bioprocess Technol:1–13. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11947-020-02514-w
- Alvarez-Ordóñez A, Broussolle V, Colin P, Nguyen-The C, Prieto M (2015) The adaptive response of bacterial food-borne pathogens in the environment, host and food: implications for food safety. Int J Food Microbiol 213:99–109

- Amrutha B, Sundar K, Shetty PH (2017) Spice oil nanoemulsions: potential natural inhibitors against pathogenic *E. coli* and *Salmonella* spp. from fresh fruits and vegetables. LWT-Food Sci Technol 79:152–159. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lwt.2017.01.031
- Ayofemi Olalekan Adeyeye S (2020) Aflatoxigenic fungi and mycotoxins in food: a review. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr 60(5):709–721. https://doi.org/10.1080/10408398.2018.1548429
- Bajpai VK, Kamle M, Shukla S et al (2018) Prospects of using nanotechnology for food preservation, safety, and security. J Food Drug Anal 26(4):1201–1214. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfda. 2018.06.011
- Baron F, Gautier M (2016) Microbial spoilage. Handbook Food Sci Technol 1:53-97
- Beletsiotis E, Ghikas D, Kalantzi K (2011) Implementation of DNA technology in a Greek dairy company: an overview. Proc Food Sci 1:943–952. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.profoo.2011.09.142
- Bosch LT, Pfohl K, Avramidis G et al (2017) Plasma-based degradation of mycotoxins produced by *Fusarium*, Aspergillus and Alternaria species. Toxins 9(3):97. https://doi.org/10.3390/ toxins9030097
- Bourke P, Ziuzina D, Boehm D et al (2018) The potential of cold plasma for safe and sustainable food production. Trends Biotechnol 36(6):615–626. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibtech.2017.11. 001
- Carlin F (2013) Fruits and vegetables. In: Doyle MP, Buchanan RL (eds) Food microbiology: fundamentals and frontiers, 1st edn. American Society for Microbiology Press, Washington, pp 187–201. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0924-2244(03)00047-5
- Casaburi A, Piombino P, Nychas GJ et al (2015) Bacterial populations and the volatilome associated to meat spoilage. Food Microbiol 45:83–102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fm.2014.02. 002
- Chalupová J, Raus M, Sedlářová M, Šebela M (2014) Identification of fungal microorganisms by MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry. Biotechnol Adv 32:230–241. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biotechadv.2013.11.002
- Chandki R, Banthia P, Banthia R (2011) Biofilms: a microbial home. J Indian Soc Periodontol 15 (2):111
- Chatterjee A, Abraham J (2018) Microbial contamination, prevention, and early detection in food industry. Microbial Contam Food Degradation:21–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-811515-2.00002-0
- Checinska A, Fruth IA, Green TL et al (2011) Sterilization of biological pathogens using supercritical fluid carbon dioxide containing water and hydrogen peroxide. J Microbiol Methods 87 (1):70–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mimet.2011.07.008
- Connolly J, Valdramidis VP, Byrne E et al (2013) Characterization and antimicrobial efficacy against E. coli of a helium/air plasma at atmospheric pressure created in a plastic package. J Phys D Appl Phys 46:035401. https://doi.org/10.1088/0022-3727/46/3/035401
- Cornelis P (2010) Iron uptake and metabolism in pseudomonads. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 86:1637–1645. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-010-2550-2
- Doulgeraki AI, Ercolini D, Villani F et al (2012) Spoilage microbiota associated to the storage of raw meat in different conditions. Int J Food Microbiol 157:130–141. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ijfoodmicro.2012.05.020
- Dušková M, Kameník J, Karpíšková R (2013) Weissella viridescens in meat products a review. Acta Vet Brno 82:237–241. https://doi.org/10.2754/avb201382030237
- Ekezie FGC, Sun DW, Cheng JH (2017) A review on recent advances in cold plasma technology for the food industry: current applications and future trends. Trends Food Sci Tech 69:46–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tifs.2017.08.007
- Faille C, Cunault C, Dubois T, Bénézech T (2018) Hygienic design of food processing lines to mitigate the risk of bacterial food contamination with respect to environmental concerns. Innovative Food Sci Emerg Technol 46:65–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ifset.2017.10.002
- Fang Z, Zhao Y, Warner RD et al (2017) Active and intelligent packaging in meat industry. Trends Food Sci Tech 61:60–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tifs.2017.01.002

- Featherstone S (2015) Spoilage of canned foods. In: Featherstone S (ed) A complete course in canning and related processes, 14th edn. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 27–42. https://doi.org/10. 1016/b978-0-85709-678-4.00002-6
- Galis AM, Marcq C, Marlier D, Portetelle D, Van I, Beckers Y, Théwis A (2013) Control of Salmonella contamination of shell eggs-preharvest and postharvest methods: a review. Comp Rev Food Sci Food Saf 12(2):155–182
- Ganivet E (2020) Growth in human population and consumption both need to be addressed to reach an ecologically sustainable future. Environ Dev Sustain 22(6):4979–4998. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s10668-019-00446-w
- Garnier L, Valence F, Pawtowski A et al (2017) Diversity of spoilage fungi associated with various French dairy products. Int J Food Microbiol 241:191–197. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ijfoodmicro.2016.10.026
- Halasz A, Lasztity R, Abonyi T, Bata A (2009) Decontamination of mycotoxin-containing food and feed by biodegradation. Food Rev Int 25(4):284–298
- Havelaar AH, Brul S, De Jonge A, De Jonge R, Zwietering MH et al (2010) Future challenges to microbial food safety. Int J Food Microbiol 139:79–94
- Iqbal H, Ishfaq M, Abbas MN et al (2016) Pathogenic bacteria and heavy metals toxicity assessments in evaluating unpasteurized raw milk quality through biochemical tests collected from dairy cows. Asian Pac J Trop Dis 6:868–872. https://doi.org/10.1016/s2222-1808(16) 61148-9
- Iulietto MF, Sechi P, Borgogni E et al (2015) Meat spoilage: a critical review of a neglected alteration due to ropy slime producing bacteria. Ital J Anim Sci 14(3):4011. https://doi.org/10. 4081/ijas.2015.4011
- Jacxsens L, Uyttendaele M, Devlieghere F, Rovira J, Gomez SO et al (2010) Food safety performance indicators to benchmark food safety output of food safety management systems. Int J Food Microbiol 141:180–178
- Jan S, Baron F, Coat R et al (2018) Spoilage of egg products. In: Gonçalves O, Legrand J (eds) Alteration of Ovoproducts, 1st edn. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 51–156. https://doi.org/10.1016/ b978-1-78548-271-7.50002-x
- Jiang J, Zhang M, Bhandari B et al (2019) Current processing and packing technology for space foods: a review. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr:1–16. https://doi.org/10.1080/10408398.2019.1700348
- Lianou A, Panagou EZ, Nychas GJE (2016) Microbiological spoilage of foods and beverages. In: The stability and shelf life of food. 3–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-08-100435-7.00001-0
- Lopez MES, Gontijo MTP, Boggione DMG et al (2018) Microbiological contamination in foods and beverages: consequences and alternatives in the era of microbial resistance. In: Holban AM, Grumezescu AM (eds) Microbial contamination and food degradation, 1st edn. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 49–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-811515-2.00003-2
- Misra NN, Koubaa M, Roohinejad S et al (2017) Landmarks in the historical development of twenty first century food processing technologies. Food Res Int 97:318–339. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.foodres.2017.05.001
- Mohammadi A, Hashemi M, Hosseini SM (2016) Effect of chitosan molecular weight as micro and nanoparticles on antibacterial activity against some soft rot pathogenic bacteria. LWT-Food Sci Technol 71:347–355. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lwt.2016.04.010
- Mohanta YK, Panda SK, Bastia AK et al (2017) Biosynthesis of silver nanoparticles from *Protium serratum* and investigation of their potential impacts on food safety and control. Front Microbiol 8:626. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2017.00626
- Momose Y, Asakura H, Kitamura M et al (2014) Food-borne botulism in Japan in march 2012. Int J Infect Dis 24:20–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijid.2014.01.014
- Motarjemi Y, Todd E, Moy G (2014) Encyclopedia of food safety. Elsevier, London
- Newell DG, Koopmans M, Verhoef L, Duizer E, Aidara-Kane A, Sprong H et al (2010) Food-borne diseases — The challenges of 20 years ago still persist while new ones continue to emerge. Int J Food Microbiol 139:3–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2010.01.021

- Njobeh PB, Dutton MF, Koch SH, Chuturgoon A, Stoev S, Seifert K (2009) Contamination with storage fungi of human food from Cameroon. Int J Food Microbiol 135(3):193–198
- Njobeh BP, Dutton FM, Makun HA (2010) Mycotoxins and human health: significance, prevention and control. In: Mishra AK, Tiwari A, Mishra SB (eds) Smart biomolecules in medicine. VBRI Press, India
- Nsofor OB, Frank JF (2013) Milk and dairy products. In: Doyle MP, Buchanan RL (eds) Food microbiology: fundamentals and frontiers, 4th edn. ASM Press, Washington, pp 169–185. https://doi.org/10.1128/9781555818463.ch7
- Nychas GJE, Skandamis PN, Tassou CC et al (2008) Meat spoilage during distribution. Meat Sci 78:77–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meatsci.2007.06.020
- Omar AM, Norsalwani TT, Khalil HA et al (2017) Waterless sterilization of oil palm fruitlets using supercritical carbon dioxide. J Supercrit Fluid 126:65–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.supflu.2017. 02.019
- Peck MW, Webb MD, Goodburn KE (2020) Assessment of the risk of botulism from chilled, vacuum/modified atmosphere packed fresh beef, lamb and pork held at 3 °C–8 °C. Food Microbiol 91:103544. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fm.2020.103544
- Pellissery AJ, Vinayamohan PG, Amalaradjou MAR et al (2020) Spoilage bacteria and meat quality. In: Biswas AK, Mandal PK (eds) Meat quality analysis, 1st edn. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 307–334. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-819233-7.00017-3
- Peng Y, Wu Y, Li Y (2013) Development of tea extracts and chitosan composite films for active packaging materials. Int J Biol Macromol 59:282–289. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2013. 04.019
- Pittia P, Antonello P (2016) Safety by control of water activity: drying, smoking, and salt or sugar addition. In: Prakash V, Martín-Belloso O, Keener L et al (eds) Regulating safety of traditional and ethnic foods. Academic Press, Cambridge, pp 7–28
- Prakash B, Kujur A, Yadav A et al (2018) Nanoencapsulation: an efficient technology to boost the antimicrobial potential of plant essential oils in food system. Food Control 89:1–11. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.foodcont.2018.01.018
- Ramos M, Jiménez A, Peltzer M, Garrigós MC (2012) Characterization and antimicrobial activity studies of polypropylene films with carvacrol and thymol for active packaging. J Food Eng 109 (3):513–519. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2011.10.031
- Rhodehamel EJ, Reddy NR, Pierson MD (1992) Botulism: the causative agent and its control in foods. Food Control 3:125–143. https://doi.org/10.1016/0956-7135(92)90097-t
- Ribeiro N, Soares GC, Santos-Rosales V et al (2020) A new era for sterilization based on supercritical CO2 technology. J Biomed Mater Res Part B Appl Biomater 108(2):399–428. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbm.b.34398
- Ribeiro-Santos R, Andrade M, de Melo NR et al (2017) Use of essential oils in active food packaging: recent advances and future trends. Trends Food Sci Tech 61:132–140. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tifs.2016.11.021
- Rocha MEB, Freire FCO, Maia FEF, Guedes MIF, Rodina D (2014) Mycotoxins and their effects on human and animal health. Food Control 36:159–165
- Silva JM, Rigo AA, Dalmolin IA et al (2013) Effect of pressure, depressurization rate and pressure cycling on the inactivation of *Escherichia coli* by supercritical carbon dioxide. Food Control 29 (1):76–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodcont.2012.05.068
- Singh A, Walia D, Batra N (2018) Fresh-cut fruits: microbial degradation and preservation. Microbial Contam Food Degradation:149–176. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-811515-2. 00006-8
- Soares GC, Learmonth DA, Vallejo MC et al (2019) Supercritical CO2 technology: the next standard sterilization technique? Mater Sci Eng C 99:520–540. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msec. 2019.01.121
- Sung SY, Sin LT, Tee TT et al (2013) Antimicrobial agents for food packaging applications. Trends Food Sci Tech 33(2):110–123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tifs.2013.08.001

- Techer C, Baron F, Jan S (2014) Spoilage of animal products microbial spoilage of eggs and egg products. In: Doyle MP, Buchanan RL (eds) Encyclopedia of food microbiology, 2nd edn. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 439–445. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-384730-0.00371-2
- Terzi V, Tumino G, Stanca AM, Morcia C (2014) Reducing the incidence of cereal head infection and mycotoxins in small grain cereal species. J Cereal Sci 59(3):284–293. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.jcs.2013.10.005
- Van Houdt R, Michiels CW (2010) Biofilm formation and the food industry, a focus on the bacterial outer surface. J Appl Microbiol 109(4):1117–1131. https://doi.org/10.1002/jsfa.7440
- Whiley H, Ross K (2015) Salmonella and eggs: from production to plate. Int J Environ Res Public Health 12:2543–2556. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph120302543
- Wirtanen G, Salo S (2007) Microbial contaminants & contamination routes in food industry. VTT Symposium 248, pp 145–150. http://www.vtt.fi/inf/pdf/symposiums/2007/S248.pdf
- Yehia RS (2014) Aflatoxin detoxification by manganese peroxidase purified from *Pleutorus* ostreatus. Braz J Microbiol 45(1):127–133
- Yousuf B, Deshi V, Ozturk B et al (2020) Fresh-cut fruits and vegetables: quality issues and safety concerns. In: Siddiqui MW (ed) Fresh-cut fruits and vegetables, 1st edn. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-816184-5.00001-x


Microbial Degradation of Xenobiotic Compounds

Deepali T. Marghade, Anup D. Chahande, Manishkumar S. Tiwari, and Pravin D. Patil

Abstract

Xenobiotic compounds are extraneous chemicals accumulated in the environment that are posing a threat to the biosphere. The highly recalcitrant nature of xenobiotic compounds makes them resistant to biological degradation. However, numerous microorganisms have been extensively explored for their competency in the degradation of such compounds. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, nitroaromatic compounds, aromatic hydrocarbons, as well as halogenated aliphatic, azo compounds, *s*-triazines, and organic sulfonic acids, are essential classes of pollutants with xenobiotic structural characteristics. These compounds must be assessed for their degradation extent employing efficient microbes. In natural environments, the surrounding 'environment's physicochemical attributes may influence and indeed constrain overall biodegradation performance. Moreover, during microbial degradation, several biotic and abiotic factors such as pH,

M. S. Tiwari

P. D. Patil (🖂)

173

D. T. Marghade

Department of Applied Chemistry, Priyadarshini Institute of Engineering and Technology, Nagpur, Maharashtra, India

A. D. Chahande
Department of Biotechnology, Priyadarshini Institute of Engineering and Technology, Nagpur, Maharashtra, India

Department of Chemical Engineering, Mukesh Patel School of Technology Management and Engineering, SVKM's NMIMS University, Mumbai, Maharashtra, India

Department of Basic Science and Humanities, Mukesh Patel School of Technology Management and Engineering, SVKM's NMIMS University Mumbai, Mumbai, Maharashtra, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 Inamuddin et al. (eds.), *Recent Advances in Microbial Degradation*, Environmental and Microbial Biotechnology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-0518-5_7

temperature, etc., influence the process. The current chapter presents an overview of the microbial degradation of xenobiotics. A systematic approach for efficient degradation and factors affecting the overall process is comprehensively discussed. Further, the current challenges and opportunities concerning the degradation of distinct xenobiotics are also discussed.

Keywords

 $Biodegradation \cdot Xenobiotic \cdot Mineralization \cdot Co-metabolism \cdot Pesticides \cdot Chlorinated hydrocarbons \cdot Haloaromatics \cdot Azo compounds \cdot Nitroaromatic compounds$

7.1 Introduction

In the last few decades, unprecedented population growth and precipitous industrial development have accelerated the use of new synthetic compounds. These anthropogenic compounds, which are unknown to the living species, are collectively called as xenobiotic. These human-made compounds (inorganic, organic, or metalcontaining) with the artificial chemical structure are not a natural component of the biosphere and appended into the environment by artificial means. Hence, synthetic organic compounds (xenobiotics) have become a threat to the environment (Jeffries et al. 2018). In the Greek language, Xenos means "strange" and biotics means "liferelated" (Ojo 2007). These strange, exogenous synthetic substances have "unnatural" structural features to which microorganisms have not been exposed during evolution (Greń 2012). Most of the xenobiotic compounds are toxic, and unprecedented release of them in the environment instigates a global concern. The xenobiotic compounds mainly include pesticides, herbicides, fertilizers, pulp/paper bleaching agents, drugs, fuels, solvents, carcinogens compounds, antibiotics, synthetic azo dyes, refrigerants, and other organic compounds (Jha et al. 2015). Xenobiotic compounds are also called recalcitrant, as they resist natural decomposition and remain in the environment for a longer time (Jha et al. 2015). The unusual chemical and physical properties of xenobiotics compounds make them recalcitrant to biodegradation (Godheja et al. 2016). The chemical structural factors, such as the type, number, the relative position of bonds, and the nature of substituents, are mainly accountable for the xenobiotic character that resists microbial enzyme's attack (Anawar et al. 2017). The bond energy of carbon and halogen bond (-C-X) is extremely high and needs a large amount of cleavage energy. Hence, the presence of halogens and other groups, such as nitro, sulfonate, methoxy, amino, etc., as a substitute makes synthetic organic compounds non-degradable (Knapp 2003). The aromatic nature, cyclic structure, and branched linear chains further enhance xenobiotic nature. Furthermore, the high stability, insolubility in water, and considerable molecular weight are the other prime factors for the nondegradability of these compounds (Phale et al. 2019). Based on structural moiety or characteristics, xenobiotic compounds can be classified into six different types. The halocarbons are the primary type of xenobiotic compounds having halogen atoms, namely, CI,

Br, F, or I. The primary sources of halocarbons are paints, condenser units of cooling systems (Freons, CCI₃F), insecticides (dichloro-diphenyl-trichloroethane (DDT), lindane, etc.), and herbicides (dalapon) and solvents (chloroform, CHCl₃). The paper mill effluent also contains different halocarbons, such as pentachlorophenol, tetra-chloro-guaiacols, tetra-chloro-catechol, etc. The second type of xenobiotic compounds comprises of two benzene rings covalently linked and substituted with halogens commonly recognized as polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs). The primary sources of PCBs are mainly plasticizers employed in the synthesis of plastics, coolants used in transformers, and heat exchange fluids (Godheja et al. 2016). The synthetic polymers (polyethylene, polystyrene, polyvinyl chloride, nylons, etc.) used as garments, wrapping materials, etc., comprise the *third type* of xenobiotic compound. The sulfonate (-SO₃) group bearing detergents, commonly called alkyl benzyl sulfonates, are the *fourth type* of xenobiotic compound. The oil mixtures, due to their toxicity and insolubility in water, become recalcitrant and constitute the fifth type of xenobiotic compounds. Pesticides and herbicides, such as organophosphorous, benzimidazoles, methyl parathion, and morpholine, having an aliphatic or aromatic cyclic ring structure with different groups as a substitute forms the sixth type of xenobiotic compounds (Anawar et al. 2017).

The persisting nature of xenobiotics compounds in the environment for long time results in bioaccumulation or biomagnification. The accumulation of harmful synthetic compounds has more prolonged stability in soil that triggers impediments in soil ecosystems. Similarly, the long-lasting occurrence of extensively used aromatic herbicides such as triazines used for constraining the growth of broad-leaved weeds in agricultural fields and urban and recreational areas, alter the soil environmental conditions (Gouma et al. 2014; Cook 1987). Similarly, freshwater and marine ecosystems are also affected by xenobiotic compounds. These toxic compounds are entered into the food chains and accumulated in the high concentration level. The non-degradable pesticide and herbicides straightway influence organisms, soil quality, and also reaches nearby freshwater bodies (Abatenh et al. 2017a). Drugs and antibiotics are foreign to the human body and can be considered as xenobiotics. These compounds can trigger disorder multiple cellular communication pathways directly linked to the growth, development, and normal physiological function (Greń 2012). The crucial components of the cell which interact with xenobiotics are proteins, lipids, and DNA, the latter leading to a mutation that can lead to cancer. Many of the xenobiotic compounds, such as substituted phenolic compounds, phthalates, etc., behave as endocrine disruptors, causing preterm birth, early weaning, and altering the quality of semen, while adversely affecting menstruation cycle and duration of lactation in humans.

The traditional methods employed for the remediation of xenobiotic contaminated sites include chemical treatment, low temperature-induced thermal desorption, incineration, and photocatalytic treatments (Gren 2012). Apart from these, biological methods, such as bioremediation and phytoremediation, are found to be more efficient, safe, economical, and sustainable than thermal and chemical processes (Jha et al. 2015; Anawar et al. 2017). Bioremediation is most widely utilized to remove xenobiotic compounds through degradation, immobilization, or

detoxification of these hazardous materials while employing suitable microorganisms (Greń 2012; Abatenh et al. 2017a). The bioremediation technique encompasses numerous microbial species possessing different degradation mechanisms to eradicate the toxic contaminants from the environment. Microbial degradation of xenobiotics compounds is a natural tactic to confiscate environmental pollution (Poursat et al. 2019). The more comprehensive range of growing conditions and high tolerance to chemical contaminants make microbial degradation an efficient green method for mitigating nondegradable xenobiotics pollutants. The detoxification of xenobiotics compounds through microbial metabolism has been well studied. The comprehensive understanding of microbial transformations of xenobiotic compounds (mainly synthetic organic compounds) with a brief discussion of the removal of different toxic compounds and the factors influencing the processes have been discussed in this chapter.

7.2 Microbial Biodegradation

The nutritional requirements of microorganisms are usually organic carbon as a source of energy. This nutritional versatility of microorganisms can be exploited for the degradation of pollutants (Abatenh et al. 2017b). The well-organized detoxification process of contaminants by breaking down to less or non-toxic elements or completely mineralized or transformed into carbon dioxide in the environment employing microorganisms are termed as bioremediation. Usually, bacteria, fungi, and archaea are bioremediators that can be employed as biological agents to carry out bioremediation (Strong and Burgess 2008).

7.2.1 Different Microbes for Xenobiotics Degradation

Nearly half of the biomass of earth is microorganisms representing high diversity in the biosphere (Sinha et al. 2009). 'Microbes' vast adaptability propounds a simple, economic, and greener approach to mitigate environmental pollution while facilitating the biodegradation of xenobiotic compounds. Additionally. microorganisms are an integrated part of biogeochemical cycles. Due to high adaptability, microbes can grow at extreme heat, subzero temperatures, dry conditions, and in the absence of oxygen, hence playing an active role in the biosphere's sustainable development (Srivastava et al. 2014). Figure 7.1 depicts the possible ways of biological transformations of xenobiotics in the environment (Greń 2012).

The catabolic activities can be carried out by bacteria-mediated degradation or fungal-mediated degradation and are crucial in converting complex toxic organic compounds into less or completely nontoxic residues (Srivastava et al. 2014). Both aerobic and anaerobic bacterial genera are actively employed to bioremediate a wide range of xenobiotic compounds. Various aerobic bacteria strains like *Escherichia*, *Pandoraea*, *Bacillus*, *Moraxella*, *Pseudomonas*, *Rhodococcus*, *Sphingobium*,



Gordonia, Micrococcus, etc., are employed in the degradation of a wide range of xenobiotic compounds (Van Ginkel 1996; Gangola et al. 2018; Bhatt et al. 2019). Anaerobic bacterial strains, such as Methanosaeta. Pelatomaculum, Methanospirillum, Desulfotomaculum, Syntrophobacter, Syntrophus, Methanotrophic, Methanogenic, Cyanobacteria, etc., are also vastly used in bioremediation (Novotný et al. 2018; Benn and Zitomer 2018). In microbial degradation of organo halogenated compounds such as dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane, pentachlorophenol, 1,2,3,4,5,6-hexachlorocyclohexane, etc., highly toxic compounds are primarily reduced to less chlorinated intermediates. Flavobacterium and Pseudomonas strains have been investigated to degrade, specially organo-phosphorous pesticides, aromatic or aliphatic hydrocarbons, phenols, and dyes (Jeffries et al. 2018; Ortiz-Hernández et al. 2003). Dehalococcoides sp. has been reported for the decomposition of highly toxic chlorinated hydrocarbons pollutants (Chrast et al. 2019; Saibu et al. 2020). Similarly, polyaromatic hydrocarbons are highly toxic to the ecosystem and also to human health. Various bacterial strains *Pseudomonas*, Arthrobacter, Mycobacterium, Sphingomonas, Alcaligenes, etc., are reported as potential agents for the bioremediation of various aromatic hydrocarbons, such as naphthalene, substituted benzene, substituted aniline, xylene, anthracenes, phenolic compounds, etc. (Patil and Yadav 2018; Mpofu et al. 2020; Miyazawa et al. 2020; Tusher et al. 2020). Three enzymes, esterases, permeases, and dioxygenases,



Fig. 7.2 Fungal degradation of xenobiotic compounds (Copyright© 2016, Springer Nature. All rights reserved, reprinted with permission) (Deshmukh et al. 2016)

consecutively degrade phthalate isomers (Vamsee-Krishna and Phale 2008). Bacillus bacterial species effectively mineralize benzimidazole compounds and oil spills (Xu et al. 2018). The dyes get bioaccumulated in natural environments due to high chemical and protolithic stability and pose a negative impact on the food chain. Synthetic and azo dyes used in textile industries can be degraded by bacteria strains, such as *Anoxybacillus*, *Bacillus*, *Exiguobacterium aurantiacums*, *Sphingomonas* sp. *Xanthomonas* sp., etc. (Takon 2019).

The fungi induced biodegradation (Fig. 7.2) of xenobiotic compounds is termed as mycoremediation (Ceci et al. 2019). The fungal-mediated biodegradation is more robust than the bacterial degrading processes, as the fungi can nurture in the presence of high concentrations of toxic organic pollutants (Akhtar and ul Mannan 2020). The rapid colonization of substrates due to 'fungi's mycelial nature facilitates deep infiltration into the pollutant molecule and completely mineralizes it (Bielčik et al. 2019). The degradation of organic pollutants by fungi from aqueous solution is facilitated through the adsorption process. The fungal species, such as basidiomycetes and ascomycetes, degrade polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) through laccases, a copper-containing enzyme (Viswanath et al. 2014; Arregui et al. 2019). The petroleum hydrocarbons are completely mineralized by *Pleurotus pulmonarius* an edible rot fungus, *Morchella conica*, and *Tylospcno fibrilnsa* of *Mycorrhizal* species (Liu et al. 2020). The fungal species, such as *Aspergillus niger*, white-rot fungus, *Phanerochaete chrysosporium*, etc. are widely employed in the bioremediation of fertilizers and pesticides (Deshmukh et al. 2016).

To enhance the efficiency of biodegradation of xenobiotic compounds, isolation of bacterial strains with unique catabolic capabilities and genetically modification of degradative pathways is essential (Tahri et al. 2013). The development of engineered strains with superior biodegradation capability becomes a challenge to the scientific community. Genetically engineered microorganisms (GEMs) can be developed by modifying enzyme specificity and affinity, construction pathway, bioprocess development, monitoring, and control (Tahri et al. 2013). From the past decades, genetically engineered microorganisms emerge as an efficient option for the complete degradation of xenobiotic compounds. Table 7.1 depicts a summary of bacterial and fungal genera efficiently utilized in the biotransformation of xenobiotic compounds.

7.2.2 Parameters Influencing the Rate of Biodegradation

The regulation and optimizing of microbial degradation of xenobiotic compounds is a complex process. Its efficiency depends on various factors such as the chemical nature and concentration of pollutants, their availability to microorganisms, 'microorganisms' nature, and environmental factors (Abatenh et al. 2017a). The slow rate of microbial degradation of contaminants is associated with the environmental factors, such as pH, temperature, low moisture, presence of oxygen/other electron acceptors, nutrient contents, and also the chemical nature of pollutants (Knapp 2003).

7.2.2.1 Chemical-Specific Factors

State/Solubility/Hydrophobicity

The microbial degradation is an enzyme-mediated reaction, generally taking place in an aqueous medium. The most important factors affecting the degradation are the substrate's (pollutant's) solubility, state, and hydrophobicity. The 'substrate's physical condition is crucial for biodegradation as many of the liquids and solids recalcitrant organic compounds have low solubility, which may resist degradation. Even the surface area of pollutants affects the rate of biodegradation. The finely divided small particles with greater surface area enhance the attachment of degrading microbes on pollutants and further enhance the degradation rate (Jain et al. n.d.). The hydrophobic property of some organic compound's steers bioaccumulation in the fatty tissues of higher organisms. A hydrophobic organic compound may cause slight damage at lower trophic levels; however, it gets drastically high toxicity for higher trophic levels in the food chain (Jha et al. 2015).

Table 7.1 Bacterial and fu	angal genera efficiently utilized in the b	viotransformation of xenobiotic	compounds	
Compounds	Bacteria	References	Fungus	References
Pesticide				
DDT	Alcaligenes eutrophus, Dehalospirilum multivorans	Sinha et al. (2009)	Ph. chrysosporium, White-rot fungi	Ojo (2007)
2,4- Dichlorophenoxyacetic acid (2,4-D)	Flavobacterium Arthortbacter, Pseudomonas cepacia, Alcaligenes eutrophus	Sinha et al. (2009), Ortiz- Hernández et al. (2003)	Umbelopsis isabellina	Nykiel- Szymańska et al. (2018)
Atrazine	Nocardia, Pseudomonas, Rhodococcus	Sinha et al. (2009), Ambrosoli et al. (2005)	T. versicolor , Pl. ostreatus, Ph. Chrysosporium, Pleurotus pulmonaris	Knapp (2003), Phale et al. (2019)
Parathion	Flavobacterium, Pseudomonas dimuta, Acenetobactor sp., Pseudomonas sp., Enterobacter sp. and Photobacterium sp.	Jha et al. (2015), Knapp (2003)	Aspergilus niger AN400	Abo-Amer (2011)
Diazinon	Flavobacterium	Abo-Amer (2011)	Apergillus niger MK640786	Abo-Amer (2011)
Fenthion	Bacillus	Gangola et al. (2018)	White-rot fungus Phanerochaete chrysosporium	Rani et al. (2011)
Carbofuran	Achromobacter, Pseudomonas, Flavobacterium	Jha et al. (2015), Knapp (2003)	Genus Gliocladium	Parte et al. (2017)
Lindane	Bacillus sp., Chryseobacterium joostei	Gangola et al. (2018)	Ph. Chrysosporium, Pleurotus florida, Phanerochaete eryngi	Ulčnik et al. (2013)
Halogenated organic com	spunoa			
Vinylchloride	Dehalococcoides sp.	Yoshikawa et al. (2017), Saiyari et al. (2018)	Aureobasidium pullulans	Webb et al. (2000)
PCE (trichloroethylene)	Dehalococcoides ethenogenes195	Novotný et al. (2018)	Graphium, Trametes versicolor, Ganoderma lucidum, and Irpex lacteus,	Marco-Urrea et al. (2008)
Aromatic hydrocarbons co	spunodua			
Napthalene	Pseudomonas putida	Nwinyi et al. (2016)	P. chrysosporium and T. harzianum	Ghosal et al. (2016)

180

PCP (pentachlorophenol)	Psedomonas sp.	Wald et al. (2015)	T. versicolor, Absidia and Cunninghamella	Patil and Yadav (2018), Bhatt et al. (2019)
3CBA (3-Chloeo benzoic acid)	Arthrobacter sp.	Jeffries et al. (2018), Mpofu et al. (2020)	White rot and Ectomycorrhizal	Ghosal et al. (2016)
1,4 DCB	Alcaligenes sp.	Benn and Zitomer (2018), Kurt and Spain (2013)	Pl. ostreatus	Marco-Urrea et al. (2009)
2,3,4-Chloroaniline	Pseudomonas sp.	Yoshikawa et al. (2017), Nwinyi et al. (2016)	Basidiomycetes	Bielčik et al. (2019)
2,4,5-T (2,4,5- trichlorophenoxy acetic acid)	Pseudomonas sp.	Liang et al. (2014)	Eupenicillium sp.	Itoh et al. (2013)
Fluoranthrene	Pseudomonas cepacia AC1100	Nwinyi et al. (2016), Wald et al. (2015)	Penicillium janthinellum VUO 10,201	Boonchan et al. (2000)
Pyrene	Mycobacterium PYR-1, Sphingomonas paucimobilis	Sinha et al. (2009), Yang et al. (2013)	Trichoderma harzianum, Phanerochaete chrysosporium, Pleurotus ostreatus, Crinipellis stipitaria	Ghosal et al. (2016)
Xylene	Penicillium chrysogenum, Pseudomonas putida Phanerochaete chrysosporium, Dechloromonas sp. (RCB)	Takon (2019), Wald et al. (2015)	Cladophialophora sp.	Tahri et al. (2013)
4-Chlorophenol	Alcaligenes sp.	Miyazawa et al. (2020)	R. rhodochrous	Ghosal et al. (2016)
Dioxins	Dehalococcoides sp.	Sinha et al. (2009), Tusher et al. (2020)	Basidiomycetous	Nakamiya et al. (2005)
RDX (hexahydro-1,3,5- trinitro-1,3,5-triazine)	Desulfovibrio sp.	Sinha et al. (2009)	Cladosporium resinae, Cuminghamella echinulata varelegans, Cyathus pallidus and Phanerochaete chrysosporium	Ghosal et al. (2016)
				(continued)

Table 7.1 (continued)				
Compounds	Bacteria	References	Fungus	References
Benzene	Dechloromonas sp.	Jeffries et al. (2018), Strong and Burgess (2008)	Cladophialophora and Cladosporium	Tahri et al. (2013)
Phthalate compounds				
Phthalate	BurkholderiacepaciaDB01	Sinha et al. (2009), Vamsee-Krishna and Phale (2008)	Aspergillus, sp., Fusarium sp., and Penicillium sp.	Steliga (2012)
Azo dyes				
Reactive Dark Blue K-R	Exiguobacterium sp.	Sarkar et al. (2017)	Penicillium sp. QQ	Steliga (2012)
Reactive Green 19	Proteus vulgaris, Micrococcus glutamicus	Liang et al. (2014)	Trametes versicolor U97	Singh and Singh (2017)
Acid Orange 7	Aeromonas caviae, Protues mirabilis and Rhodococcus globerulus	Singh and Singh (2017)	Enterococcus faecalis	Singh and Singh (2017)
Sulfonated di-azo dye reactive red HE8B, RNB dye	Baciltus sp. ETL-2012, Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Baciltus pumilus HKG212	Gangola et al. (2018)	Pl. ostreatus, Micrococcus glutamicus NCIM-2168	Ferraz et al. (2011)
Acid Orange 7	Aeromonas caviae, Protues mirabilis and Rhodococcus globerulus	Singh and Singh (2017)	Enterococcus faecalis	Singh and Singh (2017)
Red HE3B, Remazol black 5B, red HE7B	Providencia sp., Pseudomonas aeuroginosa Alcaligenes faecalis and Commamonas acidovorans	Rieger et al. (2002)	Aspergillus niger, Aspergillus fumigatus, Aspergilus terreus and Penicillium sp.	Singh and Singh (2017), Wesenberg et al. (2003)
Organophosphorous comp	spunoe			
Chlorpyrifos	Flavobacterium sp. ATCC2755,1 Pseudomonas diminuta, Micrococcus sp, Enterobacter sp.	Ortiz-Hemández et al. (2003), Nabil et al. (2011)	Phanerochaete chrysosporium, Pencillium brevicompactum, Trichoderma harzianum, Aspergillus sydowii-CBMAI 934, Penicillium raistrickii CBMAI 931	Kumar et al. (2018)

182

Fenitrothion	Flavobacterium sp., Arthrobacter aurescenes TW17, Burkholderia sp. NF100	Ortiz-Hernández et al. (2003)	Aspergillus parasiticus, Trichoderma viride	Rani and Devi (2018)
Ethoprophos	Flavobacterium sp., Pseudomonas putida, Enterobacter sp	Ortiz-Hernández et al. (2003), Karpouzas et al. (2005), Mardani et al. (2017)	Fusarium oxysporum, Aspergillus flavus, Aspergillus funigatus, Fusarium moniliforme, Trichothecium	Kumar et al. (2018), Singh and Walker (2006)
Cadusafos	Flavobacterium sp.	Karpouzas et al. (2005)	Gliocladium	Javaid et al. (2016)

Size and Shape

In general, the degradation of pollutants is an enzyme-induced biochemical process. The degradative enzymes are located inside a microbial cell and within the cytoplasmic membrane, acting as a selective permeability barrier to the foreign molecule. Further, the formation of an enzyme–substrate complex is necessary to initiate any enzymatic degradation reaction (Jain et al. n.d.). The inability of most of the recalcitrant compounds in complexing with the enzyme's active site due to their size, and probably their shape becomes a crucial factor in affecting the rate of degradation, and this can be overcome by employing techniques using extracellular/isolated enzymes (Knapp 2003).

Toxicity

Various xenobiotic compounds are toxic to some or more extent to most of the microorganisms. The chloro or nitro derivatives of phenols and fungicides are highly toxic to many microorganisms, as they kill susceptible microbes or merely inhibit their growth (Knapp 2003). For example, toluene is highly toxic to most of the bacteria and damages their membrane structure. Many nontoxic chemicals kill microbes while inhibiting a specific key enzyme during the degradative pathway.

Concentration

When the xenobiotic compounds present in less amount in the ecosystem, the lack of biodegradation is observed, it may be due to low concentrations of compounds that do not provoke the formation of the enzymes required to degrade it. Even low organic compound concentrations may not provide a sufficient amount of carbon and energy to microorganisms. It was reported that 75% mineralization of herbicide 2,4-Dichlorophenoxyacetic acid (2,4-D) in stream water took place in just 8 days when the concentration of 2,4-D was between 0.00022 and 0.022 g/L. However, when the concentration was less than 0.0000022 g/L, only 10% mineralization was observed (Knapp 2003).

Molecular Structure

Although xenobiotic 'compounds' fate depends on the entire molecule properties, the presence of different subunits may affect the degradation rate process to some extent. Microbial enzymes quickly disintegrate the functional 'groups' presence, including carboxylic acids, esters, and amide bonds, as all these structural moieties are vulnerable to hydrolysis and do not require any special coenzymes. Whereas amine compounds are less susceptible to degradation than amides due to the requirement of oxygenase, oxidases, or dehydrogenases enzyme and specific co-factors (Abatenh et al. 2017a). The presence of some structural moiety hinders the degradation process. For instance, the quaternary carbon atom (carbon atom that has attached to four other carbon double bond (Knapp 2003). Moreover, the degree of branching also affects biodegradability due to the formation of quaternary carbon (Jha et al. 2015). The presence of diazo linkage, aromatic sulfonic acids, and polychlorinated aromatic or aliphatic moiety is less vulnerable to biodegradation

due to their xenobiotic nature. Similarly, the presence of several substituents also affects the rate of biodegradation. It is clearly understood with the aerobic degradation of the chlorinated phenoxy-acetate herbicides (such as 2, 4-D and 2,4,5trichlorophenoxy acetic acid (2,4,5-T)). Many microorganisms are capable of degrading 2,4-D. The presence of one extra chlorine atom in 2,4,5-T makes it more resistant to mineralization. Similarly, the position of substituents also affects the rate of microbial degradation. The ortho and para isomers of disubstituted aromatic compounds showed a similar type of the degradability due to similar electron pattern. In contrast, meta isomers of disubstituted aromatic compounds showed varied degradability.

Type of Microbe

In case of bacterial degradation, the Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria respond differently to organic, inorganic, and metal-bearing substrate. Hence, the type of bacterial strain also affects the rate of degradation. Due to diverse metabolism, Gram-positive bacteria can adhere to a wide range of aromatic hydrocarbons, metal-bearing substrate, and biopolymers (Narancic et al. 2012). Gram-positive bacteria produce spores as a response when it comes in contact with toxic chemicals and extreme physical conditions. The most utilized bacteria for bioremediation are *Bacillus anthracis* and *Streptomycetes* sp. followed by *Rhodococcus*, *Arthrobacter*, *Gordonia*, and *Nocardia genus* for the disintegration of aromatic organic compounds like benzene and its derivatives, naphthalene, and biphenyls, etc. On the contrary, the presence of lipopolysaccharide outer membrane in Gram-negative bacteria makes them more permissive to toxic compounds (e.g., PAHs).

7.2.2.2 Environment-Specific Factor

pН

The metabolic processes that occur during microbial degradation of xenobiotic compounds include bio-sorption, a pH-dependent phenomenon. The contaminated site's pH also affects the net negative charge on the microbial cell surface and alters the isoelectric point in the solution. Hence, even a slight change in pH affects the rate of metabolic processes. The acidic pH increases the solubility of metal ions, which further intensifies metal ions' adherence to get attached to the microbial cell surface (Strong and Burgess 2008). The overall efficiency of microbial degradation enhances at lower pH (Rehan 2016). Additionally, ligands' ionic state such as carboxyl residue, phosphoryl residues, S–H groups, and amino acid groups changes with change in pH value, thereby altering the degradation process(Srivastava et al. 2014).

Physical Factors

The critical physical factor affecting the rate of bioremediation is *temperature*. It either enhances or slows down the bioremediation process. The survival of microorganisms entirely depends on temperature. In low-temperature environments, such as polar regions, there will only be a constrained and specified microflora,

which is responsible for the decrease in the degradation process's capability. The microbes metabolically get inactive at a sub-zero temperature in this region due to the ceasing of the transportation phenomenon within the microbial cells leads to even freezing of the entire cytoplasm. The other physical factor affecting the rate of biotransformation is pressure. The environmental conditions, such as high pressure at the abyssal depths of the oceans, constrain the microflora (Abatenh et al. 2017b).

Nutrient Availability

For growth and reproduction, microorganism needs various nutrients. The carbonnitrogen-phosphorus (C:N:P) ratio is a crucial factor in the balancing nutrient and the biodegradation efficiency (Singh and Singh 2017). The addition of specific nutrients in appropriate quantity is the best possible way to increase the efficiency of bioremediation. In a few particular biodegradations, some particular nutrients, such as metals as a cofactor, are required to carry specific enzymatic conversions. The degradation process facilitated by the cyanocobalamin enzyme of microorganisms that contain vitamin B12 as a prosthetic group/cofactor requires cobalt (Liu et al. 2014). Similarly, white-rot fungi require manganese when manganese peroxidase is used in the biodegradation process (Viswanath et al. 2014). Few microorganisms need growth factors, such as specific amino acids, nucleotides, or vitamins/cofactors. Few nonessential cofactors could also enhance the rate of particular degradation. For example, flavin nucleotides (FAD) addition increase the rate of anaerobic reduction of azo dyes (Viswanath et al. 2014).

Presence of Oxygen

The microorganisms facilitate the degradation process through aerobic and anaerobic modes. The oxygen requirement diverges from one organism to another based on their degradation route. It is observed that hydrocarbon metabolism gets enhanced in the presence of oxygen. Generally, the aerobic mechanism is the most versatile metabolism. However, various investigations in anaerobic mechanisms have been carried out to mineralize a wide range of xenobiotic compounds, such as chlorinated phenols, PAHs, and PCBs. It is noted that the more highly chlorinated compounds are more vulnerable to anaerobic degradation through the reductive chlorination mechanism. Whereas the less chlorinated compounds are more susceptible to aerobic degradation (Singleton 1994). The microbial degradation of lignin and lingosulfonates in wood pulping is only facilitated in the presence of oxygen (Knapp 2003). In certain biodegradative reactions, degradation of polychlorinated organic compounds, such as dichloro-diphenyl-trichloroethane (DDT) or lindane, is effectively carried out anaerobically. In some cases, the degradation process gets hindered in the presence of O₂. For example, in the mineralization of azo dyes, electrons get expended in the reduction of oxygen rather than the cleavage of the target compound's diazo bond resulting in a decrease in the efficiency of the biodegradation process.

Inhibitory Materials

Some toxic compounds act as inhibitors, which may either inhibit the degradation process or kill microbes in the process. The xenobiotic compounds such as phenol, toluene, or cyanide hinder a wide range of microbes. Some natural compounds (e.g., phenolic components derived from decomposing plant tissues, or heavy metals from ores) are also encumbering the degradative processes. Phenol and 'toluene's high concentration is highly toxic to microorganisms, whereas, at low concentrations, they usually degrade. Even higher salinity inhibits microbial growth.

On a broader scope, to enhance the understanding of the essence of microbial degradation of toxic xenobiotic contaminants in the environment based on the type of xenobiotic compound, microbes used, aerobic and anaerobic degradation, and utilization of genetically engineered microbes are needed to be considered.

7.3 Microbial Degradation of Different Xenobiotics

7.3.1 Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons

The toxicity, low bioavailability, genotoxicity, poor biodegradability, and carcinogenic nature of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) exemplify them as organic pollutants. PAHs enter in the environment and accumulate in food chains while emerging as hazardous environmental pollutants posing a threat to public health. PAHs are aromatic compounds consisting two or more fused benzene rings in angular, linear, and cluster arrangements (Cerniglia 1992; Schützendübel et al. 1999). The US Environmental Protection Agency (US EPA) listed 16 PAHs as the most hazardous and human carcinogen pollutants. Chemically, PAHs are non-polar colorless to pale yellow or light greenish solids with a pleasant odor and comprise nitrotoluene and chlorinated organic compounds, such as pentachlorophenol, polychlorinated biphenyl, and chlorinated dioxin. PAHs are broadly spread as pollutants in the air, soil, freshwater reservoirs, sediments, surface water, and groundwater systems (Chang et al. 2014). Anthropogenically, PAHs are emitted into the environment during the incomplete combustion of coal, tar, petrochemical, gaseous fuel, automobile exhaust, etc. during industrial and other human activities or accidental discharge (Megharaj et al. 2011). Naturally, PAHs are formed during forest fires, volcanic eruptions, etc. (Abdel-Shafy and Mansour 2016). PAHs are formed as a waste product during the pyrolysis of organic substances at high temperatures. The type of product formed depends on the starting material's chemical nature and transformation temperature (Megharaj et al. 2011). Among PAHs, phenanthrene compound photosensitized human skin and caused mild allergies. Benzo (pyrene) was identified as highly carcinogenic for human beings. The high covalent binding of PAHs to DNA, RNA, and proteins can be correlated with carcinogenicity (Santarelli et al. 2008). Few transformation products of PAHs are more hazardous than parent PAHs. For example, at the cellular level, enzyme cytochrome P450 monooxygenase oxidizes PAHs into epoxides in the human body. These epoxide products are highly reactive and alter normal cells into a cancerous one. PAHs also alter the functioning of hormone metabolizing enzymes of the thyroid glands and harm the reproductive and immune system (Rubin 2001). The bioremediation of PAHs using bacterial, fungal, and algal species depends on the surrounding conditions, such as nutrients, number and species of the microorganisms employed, chemical nature of the PAHs, etc. The different bacterial species were explored for the degradation of PAHs, including *Pseudomonas*, *Achromobacter*, *Flavobacterium*, *Alcaligenes*, *Nocardia*, *Bacillus*, *Arthrobacter*, and *Acinetobacter*, (Table 7.1). Similarly, various fungal strains employed for the degradation, including *Aureobasidium*, *Candida*, *Rhodotorula*, and *Sporobolomyces* (found in marine environments), *Trichoderma*, *Mortierella*, etc. (found in marine and soil environments).

There are two bacteria-mediated approaches (aerobic and anaerobic) depending on oxygen involvement in PAHs' complete mineralization using microorganisms. The aerobic catabolism of PAHs is carried out by hydroxylation and oxygenolytic mediated aromatic ring cleavage. In this type of degradation, the oxygen acts as a final electron acceptor and a co-substrate. The aerobic bacterial degradation of PAHs embracing either monooxygenase or dioxygenase enzymes mostly under aerobic conditions. The detailed mechanism of dioxygenase mediated biodegradation was elaborated by several studies (Müller et al. 1998). Dioxygenase enzyme, a multicomponent enzyme, generally comprises reductase, ferredoxin, and terminal oxygenase subunits (Mallick et al. 2007). The general mechanism of aerobic degradation of PAHs consists of two steps; first, cis-dihydrodiol is formed due to hydroxylation of an aromatic ring via dioxygenase. The product *cis*-dihydrodiol further aromatized by dehydrogenase enzyme and forms a diol intermediate. These so formed diols also undergo ortho-cleavage or meta-cleavage by dioxygenases, forming catechols that are further converted as TCA cycle intermediates (Rubin 2001). Mallick et al. proposed a biodegradation mechanism of phenanthrene carried by Staphylococcus sp. strain PN/Y isolate from petroleum-contaminated soil (Mallick et al. 2007). The metabolic pathway for phenanthrene initiates with deoxygenation of phenanthrene at 1,2-position followed by meta-cleavage of phenanthrene-1,2-diol break down at meta-position to 2-hydroxy-1-naphthoic acid. The formed acid product then undergoes a series of reactions to yield catechol, which is further metabolized by catechol-2,3-dioxygenase to 2-hydroxymuconaldehyde acid (TCA cycle intermediates). The bacterial degradation of PAHs also proceeds through the cytochrome P450-mediated pathway, which involves the production of trans-dihydrodiol (Rubin 2001; Harvey 1996). Moody et al. have proposed the mechanism of the degradation of more carcinogenic benzo-[a]pyrene by Cytochrome P450 using Mycobacterium vanbaalenii PYR-1 strain (Fig. 7.3) (Moody et al. 2004). In the degradation of benzo-[a]pyrene mediated by Microsomal cytochrome P450 enzymes; first 10-oxabenzo[def]chrysen-9-one get formed, which further gets converted into benzo[a]pyrene cis-9,10-dihydrodiol through deoxygenation at C-9 and C-10. The successive meta cleavage and aromatic-ring closure form the dihydroxy intermediate, i.e., 10-oxabenzo[def]chrysen-9-one. In another route, benzo[a]pyrene get oxidized to cis- and trans-11,12-dihydro-11,12-dihydroxybenzo [a]pyrene mediated by *M. vanbaalenii* PYR-1. The *Cytochrome* P450 and *Epoxide*



Fig. 7.3 Pathway for the degradation of benzo[*a*]pyrene by *M. vanbaalenii* PYR-1. Compounds in brackets are hypothetical intermediates (Copyright© 2004, American Society for Microbiology. All rights reserved, reprinted with permission) (Moody et al. 2004).

hydrolase act on benzo[*a*]pyrene *trans*-11,12-dihydrodiol and convert it into benzo [*a*]pyrene 11,12-epoxide. To explore the metabolic ability of 15 different bacterial isolates segregated from petroleum oil-contaminated sites, they were investigated at controlling factors concerning PAHs' degradation rates (Saeed et al. 2011). It was reported that the maximum of PAHs was optimally degraded at 15°C at an oxygen level of 4 ppm. Simarro et al. studied the impact of different parameters such as C/N/P ratio, sources of the nitrogen, carbon, and iron, the iron concentration, and pH on biodegradation on naphthalene, phenanthrene, and anthracene with a degrading bacterial consortium C2PL05 (Simarro et al. 2011). The high biodegradation efficiency was observed when the optimized factors were at the ratio (100:21:16) for C/N/P using 0.1 mmol⁻¹ concentration of NaNO₃ and Fe₂(SO₄)₃ at pH 7 on a mixture of glucose and PAHs (as carbon source).

The unavailability of oxygen in an environment poses a crucial challenge to microorganisms to exploit aromatic compounds as growth substrates (Fuchs et al. 2011). The lack of molecular oxygen in anaerobic conditions bestows redox potential as a critical factor for biodegradation of PAHs in soils, sediments, and aquifer systems (Karthikeyan and Bhandari 2001). Various studies highlighted the efficient

anaerobic degradation of fluorine, anthracene, phenanthrene, naphthalene, acenaphthene, etc. (Carmona et al. 2009; Cui et al. 2008). PAHs" anaerobic degradation usually involves the reductive destruction of the aromatic ring using nitrate, sulfate, or ferric ions as a final electron acceptor (Carmona et al. 2009). The bacterial degradation of PAHs under anaerobic conditions becomes possible when PAHs are bioavailable in a sufficient amount, and the presence of particular inorganic electron acceptors (nitrate, sulfur, etc.) in the native microflora encompasses degradative enzymes with genetic setup for encoding. The reduction of nitrate (NO_3^{-}) into different nitrogen oxides and molecular dinitrogen using bacteria is known as microbial denitrification in which nitrate assist as a terminal electron acceptor in the oxidation of PAHs (Karthikeyan and Bhandari 2001). Various studies highlighted the PAHs degradation under nitrate-reducing conditions in a different anoxic habitat, such as soils, lakes, rivers, oceans, petrochemicals contaminated site, oil spillage, sewage sludge, etc. (Ambrosoli et al. 2005; Liang et al. 2014; Chang et al. 2002; Dou et al. 2009; Wang et al. 2012). Both low- and high-molecularweight PAHs are mineralized by nitrate-reducing facultative anaerobes. The microbial mineralization of naphthalene under denitrifying conditions in pristine and oil-contaminated soil slurry was successfully reported by Al-Bashir et al. (Al-Bashir et al. 1990). The complete mineralization of naphthalene and 2-MN in contaminated arctic soil at low temperatures under nitrate-reducing conditions using genera like Acidovorax, Bordetella, Pseudomonas, Sphingomonas, and Variovorax was investigated (Eriksson et al. 2003). Lu et al. highlighted that the 2- and 3-ring compounds among the 16 priority PAHs are mineralized by sediment enrichment culture under denitrifying conditions rather than sulfate-reducing prerequisites (Lu et al. 2012). The microbial degradation of highly toxic benzo(a)pyrene, a class 2A carcinogen identified by the International Agency for research in cancer (IARC), is well studied. The benzo(a) pyrene, fluoranthene, and phenanthrene were completely mineralized by using Pseudomonas sp. JP1 form river sediment (Yang et al. 2013). Qin et al. has studied Microbacterium sp. strain activity under the denitrifying products nitric oxide and nitrous oxide as electron acceptors and disintegrated around 84.2% of benzo(a)pyrene at the BaP/nitrate ratio of 1:33 in 10 days (Qin et al. 2017). The sulfate-reducing bacteria are ubiquitous in freshwater, groundwater and marine sediment, volcanic mud, and anaerobic sludge (Muyzer and Stams 2008). The common sulfate-reducing bacteria are Deltaproteobacteria, Clostridia, Nitrospirae, Thermodesulfobacteria, and Thermodesulfobiceae. During anaerobic degradation of PAHs, the reduction of sulfate occurs with the formation of hydrogen sulfide (H₂S) (Meckenstock et al. 2016). The naphthalene and 2-methylnaphthalene were successfully degraded by N47 (derived from the soil of a contaminated aquifer near Stuttgart, Germany) comprised of an unidentified member of Deltaproteobacteria in association with 7% of Spirochaetes members (Safinowski and Meckenstock 2004). Rothermich et al. successfully revealed the in situ mineralization of 14C-naphthalene and 14C-phenanthrene in petroleumcontaminated, anoxic, and sulfidogenic harbor sediments (Rothermich et al. 2002). The biotransformation of fluorene and phenanthrene could be carried through a series of hydration and hydrolysis reactions followed by decarboxylation with subsequent p-cresol and phenol (Tsai et al. 2009). Himmelberg et al. have reported TRIP1, a new sulfate-reducing enrichment culture belong to the *Desulfobacteraceae* family for phenanthrene degradation (Himmelberg et al. 2018). The initial reaction involves the degradation *via* carboxylation to 2-philanthropic acid as the primary intermediate. The intermediate is then converted into corresponding CoA ester by the enzyme 2-phenanthroate-CoA ligase.

Apart from bacterial degradation, some fungi are also used to degrade PAHs by co-metabolizing PAHs into diverse oxidized products and CO₂. The bacterial degradation of PAHs mainly incorporates *Dioxygenase* enzymes and partially monooxygenase-mediated reactions, whereas fungal degradation only involves monooxygenase enzymes. The fungal mineralization of PAHs follows various enzymatic pathways, and the efficiency of this biotransformation mostly depends on fungal species and growth conditions (Cerniglia 1992). Both of the ligninolytic fungi/white-rot fungi and non-ligninolytic fungi are employed for the degradation of PAHs. The metabolic activity of ligninolytic fungi implicates lignin peroxidase (LiP), manganese peroxidase (MnP), and laccases (a phenoloxidase enzyme) are capable of mineralization of xenobiotic compounds. The aromatic ring present in PAHs structure is oxidized by hydroxyl free radical produced by ligninolytic and PAH-quinones and acids are formed. The activity enzymes, of fungi such non-ligninolytic as Cunninghamella elegans includes P450 monooxygenase like enzymes that facilitate initial oxidation of PAHs. The ring epoxidation reaction is catalyzed by P450 monooxygenase. This catalytic reaction yields arene oxide, which is unstable and immediately converted into transdihydrodiol through epoxide-hydrolase catalyzed reaction (Tortella et al. 2005). The arene oxide formed during the metabolic activity of cytochrome P450 can also be reorganized into phenolic derivatives via non-enzymatic reactions in conjugation with sulfate, xylose, glucuronic acid, or glucose (Pothuluri et al. 1996). The other ligninolytic fungi, (brown-rot fungi) such as Flammulina velutipes and Laetiporus sulphureus, metabolize PAHs like fluoranthene, phenanthrene, and fluorine and mostly produces hydrogen peroxide to degrade hemicelluloses and cellulose (Li et al. 2010). The high degradation of low-molecular-weight (LMW) PAHs (2–3 ring compounds) was perceived in Aspergillus sp., Trichocladium canadense, and Fusarium oxysporum(Silva et al. 2009). The complete degradation of highmolecular-weight (HMW) PAHs (4-7 rings) was reported in, Acremonium sp, Aspergillus sp., Verticillium sp., and T. canadense.(Kumar et al. 2018) The total mineralization of PAHs by fungi insinuate that it can be utilized as a valuable candidate for the degradation of PAHs in contaminated sites.

The biodegrading potential of naturally occurring microorganisms can be boosted by enhancing the metabolic activity or broad substrate specificity of certain enzymes associated with PAH-degrading pathways. A modified microorganism (GMM) or *genetically engineered* microorganism (GEM) is produced by altering genetic material using genetic engineering techniques or recombinant DNA technology (gene conversion, gene duplication, plasmids mediated gene delivery, etc.) are employed to enhance mineralization of PAHs pollutants in the environment (Megharaj et al. 2011). The engineered *Pseudomonas putida* developed by molecular techniques produced catechol 2, 3-dioxygenase (C23O; EC 1.3.11.2), which decomposed polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) (Mardani et al. 2017; Xia et al. 2005). 2, 3-Dioxygenase is a key enzyme, mainly a nonheme iron dioxygenase for the disintegration of PAHs by altering catechol into 2-hydroxymuconic semialdehyde (Mesquita et al. 2013).

7.3.2 Azo Compounds

Around 60–70 % of dyestuffs utilized in textile and other industries, such as paper, food, cosmetics, etc., are azo dyes. Azo dyes have complex aromatic structural mojety comprising one or more (-N=N-) azo bonds that are not found naturally. making them xenobiotics (Lourenço et al. 2006). Almost 3000 different diverse azo dyes are synthesized and utilized for coloring purposes and accountable for the generation of substantial effluent waste (Singh and Singh 2017). The effluent majorly containing dye from various industrial practices directly expulsed into freshwater bodies has become a severe concern. The azo dye loaded effluent impart several ill effects on living systems, which include decreased aquatic photosynthesis, deplete dissolved oxygen, and pose toxic effect (carcinogenic and mutagenic) on flora, fauna, and humans. Azo dyes generally comprise azo linkages, linking phenyl, naphthyl rings substituted with functional groups like nitro, chloro, sulfonate, hydroxyl, triazine amine, methyl etc. (Asad et al. 2006). The azo dyes containing a single azo bond are termed as monoazo dyes (e.g., disperse blue 399, reactive yellow 201, acid orange 52). Diazo dyes comprise of two azo bonds (acid black 1, reactive brown 1, amido black, brown 2). Triazo dyes (direct blue 78, direct black 19) and polyazo dyes (direct red 80) are commonly used. The presence of a functional group, a number of azo bonds, type, and configuration, poses an impact on its degradative capacity (Rani et al. 2011). The degradation of xenobiotic and recalcitrant natured azo dyes is widely carried out to uncover diverse microorganisms" role in azo dyes" bioremediation. Various bacterial strains from various ecological niches such as soil, water, fecal matter, contaminated food materials, etc., are employed for complete mineralization of azo dye. The competence of microbial degradation of azo dyes relies on the adaptability and the activity of the selected microbes. A large number of bacterial and fungal species has been reported for the mineralization of various azo dyes in the last two decades and are listed in Table 7.1. Various studies reported the bioremediation of azo dyes using pure bacterial cultures, such as Proteus mirabilis, Pseudomonas luteola, and Pseudomonas sp., etc. (Pointing and Vrijmoed 2000; Wu and Der Jean 2012; Waghmode et al. 2011). Certain dyes are more hazardous than their degradation products. Recent studies highlighted that the complete mineralization of dye is not achieved as carcinogenic intermediates are produced during degradation (Rieger et al. 2002). The synergistic metabolic activities of consortia (mixed bacterial strains) culture enhanced the degree of mineralization. In a bacterial consortium, the different bacterial strains may react with the dye molecule at different positions or decompose intermediate metabolites (Tony et al. 2009). The consortia comprised of P. rettgeri strain HSL1 and Pseudomonas sp. SUK1 are employed to degrade Reactive Black 5, Reactive orange 16, Direct Red 81, and Disperse Red 78 azo dye (Bumpus 1995). In the degradation of an azo dye, the primary step is reductive cleavage of azo bond that results in the formation of aromatic products under an anaerobic environment (Bumpus 1995). The nitro group of azo dyes are mutagenic and forms toxic products, such as 1, 4-phenylenediamine, o-toluidine, etc., during degradation, whereas sulfonated azo dyes have low or no mutagenic effect (Ferraz et al. 2011). Similarly, the extensively used Methyl Red is also mutagenic. It can be degraded to form N,Ndimethyl-phenylenediamine (DMPD), which is toxic and mutagenic in nature (Ayed et al. 2011). The genotoxic metabolites, 40-aminoacetanlide or 5-acetamido-2amino-1-hydroxy-3,6-naphthalene disulfonic acid, get formed during the breakdown of acid violet 7 by Pseudomonas putida (Abdel-Shafy and Mansour 2016). Acid Violet 7 azo dye cause lipid peroxidation, chromosomal abnormalities, and inhibition of enzyme Acetylcholinesterase. The other azo dye, Disperse Blue 291, poses genotoxic, mutagenic, cytotoxic effect and is responsible for DNA fragmentation in human hepatoma cells (Tsuboy et al. 2007).

The microbial degradation of azo dyes is facilitated by enzymes such as azoreductase, laccases, lignin peroxidase, manganese peroxidase, and hydroxylases. Some aerobic bacterial strains (e.g., E. coli contain flavin reductase) can break the azo bond through the reduction process carried by Azoreductases in oxygen-rich environments (Fig. 7.4). Enzyme Azoreductase needs electron donors (redox mediator) such as FADH or NADH to carry out redox reaction to break azo bond resulting in toxic intermediate aromatic amine under an aerobic environment. In the next step, the membrane-bound azoreductase enzyme completely mineralizes the intermediate amino acids (Sarkar et al. 2017). The bacteria consume azo dye as a carbon or nitrogen source and also form a product from glucose (Lima et al. 2014). The laccases enzyme (phenol oxidase) comprises multicopper atoms with less substrate susceptibility and is an active enzyme capable of degrading numerous aromatic xenobiotic compounds (Kalyani et al. 2012). Various bacterial strains, such as Pleurotus ostreatus, Schizophyllum commune, Sclerotium rolfsii, Neurospora crassa, etc., can be employed for the degradation of azo dye. Phenol oxidase (laccase) uses copper ion as a mediator to oxidize the aromatic amine. Laccase follows a free radical-mediated mechanism for mineralization of azo dye and produces phenolic degradative products. Laccase oxidizes the phenolic rings using electron, and phenoxy radicals get formed, which immediately oxidized to produce carbonium ion. Simultaneously, the nucleophilic attack of water makes a 4-sulfophenyldiazene and benzoquinone in the process (Camarero et al. 2005). Further, phenyldiazene radical get produced from the oxidation 4-sulfophenyldiazene with loss of molecular nitrogen producing sulfophenyl hydroperoxide (Singh et al. 2015a). A particular bacterial strain, *Extremophiles* (e.g., *Exiguobacterium*), is used to treat high saline dye effluent, as common bacteria species could not withstand the high temperature and high salinity (Ambrósio et al. 2012; Ng et al. 2017).

The studies revealed that bacteria degradation of azo dyes under aerobic conditions is restricted due to hindrance in the azo bond cleavage (Ola et al.



Fig. 7.4 Mechanism of *Azoreductase* action in the reduction of azo dyes (Copyright© 2017, Springer Nature. All rights reserved, reprinted with permission) (Sarkar et al. 2017).

2010). Besides, azo dyes are disintegrating into intermediate compounds but not completely mineralized in the presence of oxygen. By employing aerobic–anaerobic degradation, azo dyes can be completely mineralized (McMullan et al. 2001). In the coupled process, the first azo bond breaks up with the formation of aromatic amines under anaerobic conditions, and then ring cleavage in amino acids facilitated by nonspecific enzymes occurs under aerobic conditions (Lu and Liu 2010). In this way, coupled anaerobic treatment followed by aerobic treatment completely disintegrate azo dyes (Singh and Singh 2017; Bumpus 1995). It was observed that the high efficiency is obtained using mixed bacterial culture rather than the pure strain.

Fungal facilitated degradation is a potential alternative to bacterial degradation of azo dyes. The ligninolytic fungi of class basidiomycetes are extensively used in the

degradation of azo dyes due to their capability to alter metabolic reactions based on varying carbon and nitrogen sources. The white-rot fungi, *Phanerochaete chrysosporium*, is the utmost employed for bioremediation. Instead of it, other fungal species, such as *Trametes (Coriolus) Versicolor, Pycnoporus sanguineus, Aspergillus flavus, Pleurotus, Coriolus Versicolor, Aspergillus ochraceus, Bjerkandera adusta, Rhizopus oryzar*, etc. have been highlighted for degradation of azo dyes (Saratale et al. 2009; Fu and Viraraghavan 2001). Generally, white-rot fungi produce lignin peroxidase, manganese-peroxidase, and laccase enzymes competent in mineralizing complex toxic aromatic compounds, such as PAHs, dyes, and steroids compounds (Revankar and Lele 2007). The factors governing the rate of degradation of azo dyes mainly are nutrient availability, time, pH, stirring speed, temperature, oxygen supply, and the number of additives added (Singh and Singh 2017). Therefore, all these parameters should be optimized in order to maximize the rate and extent of degradation.

Thus, biological systems embracing microorganisms such as bacteria and fungi bestow an inexpensive and sustainable method for the degradation of various complex azo dyes. However, the effectiveness of biological treatment for removing azo dyes relies on the adaptability and metabolic activity of selected microorganisms.

7.3.3 Organophosphorus Compounds

Organophosphate pesticides (OPs) are the heterogeneous compounds that are extensively used commercial pesticides comprised of phosphoric acid derivatives. Around 140 OP compounds being utilized as growth regulators and pesticides. The commercially available pesticides paraoxon, diazinon, chlorpyrifos, parathion, coumaphos, isofenphos, parathion, dichlorvos, parathion-methyl, profenophos, etc. have been used broadly, and their various degradation tactics have been studied extensively (Ortiz-Hernández and Sánchez-Salinas 2010). Organophosphorus compounds (generally called organophosphate pesticides) are the degradable esters, amides, or thiols derivatives of phosphoric, phosphonic, phosphinic, thiophosphoric acids. Presently, the widely used organophosphate pesticides are chlorpyrifos, parathion, fenitrothion, ethoprophos, profenofos, etc. (Table 7.1). Chemically, organophosphorus compounds contain two organic groups and cyanide, thiocyanate, or phenoxy groups as side chains (Balali-Mood and Abdollahi 2014). The rate of biodegradation of organophosphorus compounds is affected by various environmental parameters, such as pH, temperature, and sunlight availability. The high solubility makes these compounds more vulnerable to human and animals and instigates severe health hazards. Due to this fact, the removal of organophosphate compounds is extensively studied, and more efficient sustainable treatment technology is being investigated. Typically, the microbial biodegradation mechanism of organophosphates proceeds through the cleavage of P–O alkyl and aryl bonds by a hydrolysis reaction, which is the enzyme-mediated process. The enzymes involved in these hydrolysis reactions are hydrolase, phosphotriesterase, phosphatase, and *carboxylesterases* (Singh and Walker 2006; Lu et al. 2013). Various bacterial and fungal strains have been isolated from contaminated sites and verified as an efficient biological tool for transforming organophosphates (Table 7.1).

O-3,5,6-trichloro-2-pyridyl Chlorpyrifos (*O*,*O*-diethyl phosphorothioate) pesticides are the most widely applied for the controlling breeding and populace mosquitoes, flies, and other household pests (Kim and Ahn 2009). The removal methods of chlorpyrifos have been largely studied (Wang et al. 2019). The half-life period (an essential property of xenobiotics) of chlorpyrifos in soil and water is 38 and 2118 days (Wang et al. 2019). It is degraded by isolated microbes derived from agricultural soil, industrial sludge, activated sludge, effluents, etc. Chlorpyrifos is degraded co-metabolically and catabolically by bacteria isolated from different kinds of matrices (Chishti et al. 2013). The bacterial strains, such as P. putida, Pseudomonas stutzeri, Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Pseudomonas nitroreducens, and Pseudomonas fluorescence. Bacillus arvabhattai. Stenotrophomonas sp. Leuconostoc mesenteroides, Lactobacillus brevis, Lactobacillus plantarum, and Lactobacillus sakei, etc., are used for mineralization of chlorpyrifos (Nabil et al. 2011; Verma et al. 2014). Pailan et al. reported the highest degradation rate of chlorpyrifos and parathion at an optimal concentration of 200 mg mL⁻¹ by isolate obtained by West Bengal agricultural soil, India, and was found to be an efficient candidate (Pailan et al. 2015). O,O-diethyl O-[6-methyl-2-(1-methylethyl-4pyrimidinyl] ester insecticide commonly called Diazinon used in home gardens and on farms to control a wide variety of leaf-eating insects, cockroaches, ants, and fleas in residential localities (Seo et al. 2007). The high solubility in water and 40 days long half-life period illustrated it as toxic to the biosphere. Abo-Amer demonstrated high metabolic activity of the Enterobacteriaceae S. marcescens derived from the Saudi Arabian agricultural field against such compounds (Abo-Amer 2011). Similarly, Seo et al. successfully used Arthrobacter, and Mycobacterium strains that were isolated from the petroleum-contaminated soil sample of Hawaii (Seo et al. 2007). The organophosphate pesticides are used at tremendous scale as insecticides need more enhanced degradation strategies to reduces the chances of their accumulation and related health hazards. Engineered microorganisms should have been designed to increase the potential ability of microbial degradation processes for organophosphorous compounds.

7.3.4 Halogenated Hydrocarbons

Halogenated hydrocarbon or halocarbons are the hydrocarbon compounds where at least one hydrogen is substituted by the Group 17 (Group VIIa—the *halogen* elements are astatine (At), bromine (Br), chlorine (Cl), fluorine (F), iodine (I), and tennessine (Ts)). Some of the halocarbons produced naturally during the halogenation reaction, such as the combustion of biomass during the forest fire. However, most of the halocarbon present is synthetic and intentionally produced by human-kind as principle products or by-products. Halocarbons in which hydrogen forms the carbon-hydrogen bond replaced with one of the halogen species shows more

structural and chemical stability. The halogenation process of aliphatic hydrocarbons and aromatic hydrocarbons is extensively used to produce different economically favorable chemicals, used in millions of tons globally per year. Due to structural and chemical stability, these halocarbons have found their extensive use in day-to-day products, mainly in lubricants, fire extinguishers, solvents, insulators, paints, varnishes, plasticizers, pesticides, etc. Halogenated hydrocarbons are part of the synthesis of polyurethanes and polycarbonates as an intermediate. The chemicals, such as herbicides and pharmaceuticals, contain a variety of halogenated hydrocarbons. Also, the chemical in metal-cleaning, fire-extinguishing compounds, rubber, plastic, paint/varnish, healthcare, textile, fungicides, and insecticides comprise of saturated halogenated hydrocarbon (Bhat and Vaidyanathan 1995). One of the major adverse impacts of these halogenated hydrocarbons is their unregulated release into the environment. Most of these compounds are considered carcinogenic and can harm humans and other animals.

7.3.4.1 Biodegradation of Halo-Aliphatic Compounds

Chlorinated aliphatic hydrocarbons are the large group of contaminants that found their way to the environment. It causes several adverse effects on the environment as well as on human health. Due to the toxicity and carcinogenicity of chlorinated hydrocarbons, there is an urgent need for these compounds" extensive remediation process. Dehalogenation is one of the notable routes for the degradation of these compounds. Dehalogenation by the use of microorganisms gives an excellent alternative. There have been extensive studies performed to establish the various methods to identify and isolate a variety of microorganisms capable of degrading chlorinated hydrocarbons (Leisinger 1996). Trichloroethylene (TCE) is mainly used as a solvent in the paper industry, textile industry, paint removers, typewriter correction fluids, and automobile industry. Many years of TCE usage has led to the accumulation of this hazardous chemical in the environment, especially to the groundwater bodies. TCE is a common groundwater contaminant and considered a potential carcinogen and mutagen (Leisinger 1996). Early research for biodegradation of TCE was based on the postulate that if mono-oxygenase enzymes of methanotrophs oxidize and dechlorinate halogenated methane, it might be possible that methanotrophs may also degrade TCE. Wilson et al. have shown a significant decrease in the TCE concentration 2 days after using exposed soil containing methanotrophs. In the study, the unsaturated soil sample was exposed to natural gas to favor methanotrophs' growth and then packed in the glass column, to which water containing TCE was passed through the column (Moriyama et al. 1988). Similarly, Fogel et al. reported TCE degradation into CO_2 and water-soluble products by mixed culture of methane utilizing bacteria. These bacteria were isolated from the sediment soil sample. These microbes were exposed to methane to enhance the growth of methane-degrading bacteria (Fogel et al. 1986). Pursuing on the same path, Little and coworkers isolated a pure strain of microorganism Strain 46-1 (Type-1 methanotrophic bacterium) was capable of degrading TCE in the presence of methane or methanol. The isolated strain was able to degrade TCE into CO₂ and water-soluble products under anaerobic conditions. Strain 46-1 was found to convert



Fig. 7.5 Proposed mechanism for degradation of TCE by toluene-oxidizing bacteria (Copyright[®] 2012, Springer Nature. All rights reserved, reprinted with permission) (Suttinun et al. 2013)

about 40% of supplied TCE when incubated for 20 days. Among the converted 40%, 15.1% were the water-soluble products, and 11.4% were CO_{2 (Little et al.} 1988). Apart from methanotrophs, several other studies reported the bacterial degrading TCE using toluene and phenol as a growth substrate (Suttinun et al. 2013; Li et al. 2014). The bacteria produce toluene monooxygenase, which helps in oxidizing TCE in the co-metabolism system (Fig. 7.5). Some of the commonly used TCE-degrading bacteria are *Pseudomonas*, *Burkholderia*, *Methylosinus*, *Nitrosomonas*, *Alcaligenes*, *Acinetobacter*, *Mycobacterium vaccae*, *Nocardioides* sp. CF8 (Arp et al. 2001; Amin et al. 2014; Alpaslan Kocamemi and Çeçen 2006; Halsey et al. 2005). Many monooxygenases and dioxygenases producing microorganisms have been reported, which can facilitate TCE degradation. Some of the examples are *Nitrosomonas europaea* (ammonia monooxygenase), *Pseudomonas* fluorescens CFS215, *Pseudomonas* sp. W31 (toluene 2-monooxygenase) *Pseudomonas* fluorescens CFS215, *Rhodococcus* sp. L4 (isopropyl benzene/toluene dioxygenase),

Pseudomonas butanovora Rhodococcus erythropolis BD2, *Pseudomonas* sp.W31 (toluene dioxygenase), *Mycobacterium vaccae*, *Nocardioides* sp. CF8 (butane monooxygenase), etc. (Alpaslan Kocamemi and Çeçen 2006; Halsey et al. 2005; Suttinun et al. 2009; Leahy et al. 1996; Yang et al. 1999; Lange and Wackett 1997; Morono et al. 2004). Sullivan et al. established *Methylosinus trichosporium* OB3b for the TCE degradation (Sullivan et al. 1998).

7.3.4.2 Biodegradation of Haloaromatic Compounds

Structurally, halogenated aromatic compounds contain one or more atoms of halogens (chloride, fluoride, bromide, and iodide) and a benzene ring. In industry, many organic compounds are used with the modified chlorinated aromatic moiety. Such compounds may be modified with one or more functional groups. Such compounds are vastly used as herbicides, pesticides, pharmaceuticals, and disinfectants (Marier 1982). Chlorinated aromatic hydrocarbons are the PCBs and used as hydraulic fluids, insulating fluids for electricity transformers and capacitors, coolants, cutting oils, adhesives, stabilizing additives in plastics, etc. Most PCBs are toxic compounds and are classified as persistent organic pollutants (Tilson and Kodavanti 1997). Some of the derivatives of chlorobenzene (especially monochlorobenzene and dichlorobenzenes) have been used as chemical intermediates and solvents in the manufacturing industry. Hexachlorobenzene is the raw material for a plasticizer for polyvinyl chloride, synthetic rubber, porosity controlling agent, and military's pyrotechnic compositions in electrodes' manufacture. Benzyl chloride is used to manufacturing quaternary ammonium chlorides, dyes, tanning materials, pharmaceutical, and perfume. Chloronaphthalenes have been used as lubricant additives, heat transfer media, dielectric fluids, solvents, and electric insulating material (Kurt et al. 2012). There are severe health hazards as these halogenated aromatic compounds are accumulated in the environment and come in contact with the human population. Toxicity of the halogenated aromatic hydrocarbons has been related to gastrointestinal and neurological symptoms (nausea, headaches, and central nervous system depression) as well as acute irritation of the eyes, mucous membrane, and lungs, reproductive disorders, liver dysfunction (hepatitis, jaundice, and porphyria), and acne (chloracne) (Moldoveanu 2019). Given the hazardous nature and severe health effect, there is a need to find and assess the methods to remove or degrade these halogenated aromatic hydrocarbons.

Chlorophenol contains at least one chlorine atom and at least one hydroxyl group at the benzene ring and is a highly toxic and has cytotoxicity, carcinogenicity, and mutagenic properties (Arora and Bae 2014a). Depending on the structural varieties, it can be generally grouped in five major classes as mono-chlorophenols (MCPs), poly-chlorophenols (poly-CPs), chloro-nitrophenols (CNPs), chloro-aminophenols (CAPs), and chloro-methyl phenol (CMPs). Chlorophenols are the vital constituent of pesticides, herbicides, solvents, pulp-paper industry, and dyes. Extensive use of these compounds and inadequate waste distribution leads to the accumulation these compounds on a hazardous scale. To address the issue, many researchers have been working on microbial degradation, as microorganisms can completely degrade it. Chlorophenols follows the general degradation mechanism of halogenated aromatic hydrocarbon. First, monooxygenase catalyzes hydroxylation on either ortho-position or para-position of the benzene ring structure. If hydroxylation occurs at para position, then chlorocatechols is formed and if hydroxylation at ortho-position, chlorohydroquinones. The intermediate formed is further catalyzed by either ortho-cleavage, meta-cleavage, hydroxylation, or dehalogenation, followed by the benzene ring structure disruption. Under anaerobic condition, first chlorine is removed from the benzene ring structure giving partial or fully dechlorinated intermediate. So, in the case of the anaerobic condition, dichlorination is done before the benzene ring disruption. In aerobic conditions, dichlorination can be done before or after ring disruption (Arora and Bae 2014a).

7.3.5 Nitroaromatic Compounds

Nitroaromatic compounds are the organic compounds that contain at least one or more nitro group $(-NO_2)$ and is the most useful organic compounds in the chemical industry. They have employed a significant part of the synthesis of explosives. Some of the examples of nitroaromatic compounds are nitrobenzene, nitrotoluenes, nitrophenols, etc. Naturally, they are produced as a product of the metabolism of plants, bacteria, and fungi. Also, they are accumulated in the environment by the incomplete combustion of fossil fuels. During the combustion, hydrocarbons released serve as the substrate for the nitroaromatic compounds by nitration. The naturally occurring bacterial genus Streptomyces, antibiotic-producing bacteria, produces a wide variety of antibiotics, containing a nitroaromatic component. Chloramphenicol, aureothin, neoaureothin, orinocin, azomycin, dioxapyrrolomycin, thaxtomins, rufomycins are some of the well-known antibiotics produced from the Streptomyces sp. (Peres and Agathos 2000; Singh et al. 2015b). Structurally all these compounds contain one or more nitro groups, but a large number of nitroaromatic compounds are produced and used for industrial purposes such as pesticides, dyes, explosives, polyurethane foams, elastomers, and industrial solvents. The recent exponential growth of industry and substantial use of explosives has given rise to the production of synthetic nitroaromatic compounds. Due to the unregulated use of pesticides and ineffective effluent treatment of chemical industry waste, these harmful nitroaromatic compounds find their ways to nature, such as water bodies, fertile lands, and dumping zones. Studies have proved that some of these compounds have ecotoxicity, immunotoxicity, carcinogenicity, and mutagenicity to humans and microorganisms (Peres and Agathos 2000; Singh et al. 2015b). There is a huge requirement for the degradation study of these compounds to humans' well-being and the safekeeping of nature. In the following section, some of the mechanisms for the degradation of nitroaromatic compounds are briefly explained.

Generally, aerobic degradation of nitroaromatic compounds in bacteria is a threestep procedure (Fig. 7.6). The first step involves changes in the nitroaromatic substrate's substituent group due to monooxygenases or dioxygenases enzyme. Monooxygenase adds one oxygen to the benzene ring, causing the release of the nitro group. While in the case of dioxygenase, the addition of two hydroxyl groups



Fig. 7.6 The general pathway for the degradation of the nitroaromatic compounds by aerobic bacteria (Creative Commons Attribution License© 2015, Intech Open.) (Singh et al. 2015b)

causes the release of two nitro groups in the form of nitrate from the benzene ring. Hydroxyl group is induced by the enzymes to give dihydroxy aromatic metabolites. Usually, dihydroxybenzenes or catechols (1,2-dihydroxybenzenes) are metabolites produced in the first step and is the substrate for the second step of catabolism. The carbon–carbon bond in the ring structure is disrupted by the dioxygenases enzymes producing an unsaturated aliphatic acid. As there are two types of dioxygenases enzymes, two courses of action can happen during the ring opening. One is the intradiol (or *ortho*) dioxygenases (Fe³⁺ requiring enzyme) produces *cis*, *cis*muconic acid, or a derivative, and second is the extradiol (or *meta*) dioxygenases (Fe²⁺ requiring enzyme) produce 2-hydroxymuconic semialdehyde or a derivative. Finally, the ring cleavage derivatives produced in the second step are converted to small aliphatic compounds directed toward the central metabolism. Ring cleavage and the following metabolic steps for intradiol cleavage as the *meta* pathway (Singh et al. 2015b; Kulkarni and Chaudhari 2007).

Nitrobenzene is one of the essential classes of chemicals in the nitroaromatic compounds family. The substitution of the nitro group and chlorine group gives more structural stability to the compounds. Nitrobenzene and its derivatives are primarily used in the synthesis of aniline, the principal precursor for synthesizing azo dyes, pesticides, urethane polymers, rubber, explosives, and pharmaceutical products. Although compounds have significant advantages for the industrial processes, their extensive and accumulation in the environment, they present a substantial threat to the living organisms. Nitrobenzene and its derivatives are considered to be toxic and easily absorbed through the skin. It can damage the eyes, central nervous system, kidney/liver dysfunction, fatigue, weakness, headache, and acute methemoglobinemia (Kumar et al. 2017; Arora and Bae 2014b). Various



Fig. 7.7 The reductive pathway or oxygenated pathway for Nitrobenzene (Creative Commons Attribution License[®] 2014, Hindwi) (Arora and Bae 2014b).

microorganisms are found in nature, which has the capability of using nitrobenzene and its derivatives as the sole carbon source employing the co-metabolism system. Nitrobenzene is degraded by either a reductive pathway or an oxygenated pathway in the microbial system (Fig. 7.7) (Arora and Bae 2014b). In the oxygenase pathway, first nitrobenzene dioxygenase adds one hydroxyl group (-OH) to the benzene ring producing catechol. Further, catechol 2,3-dioxygenase (Fe²⁺ requiring enzyme) disrupts the benzene ring structure to give 2-hydroxymuconic semialdehyde and ultimately reduced to acetaldehyde and pyruvic acid by a series of the enzyme. By following the reductive pathway, initially, nitrobenzene is converted to hydroxylaminobenzene by nitroreductase. Then hydroxyl aminobenzene mutase adds one hydroxyl group (-OH) to a benzene ring, and di-oxygenase opens up the ring structure to give 2-aminomuconic semialdehyde. Gradually 2-aminomuconic semialdehyde is degraded to acetaldehyde and pyruvic acid by series of enzymes (Arora and Bae 2014b), Pseudomonas pseudoalcaligenes, Pseudomonas pseudoalcaligenes JS45, Pseudomonas putida HS12 produce the enzyme required for the benzene degradation. Pseudomonas pseudoalcaligenes were found to be using nitrobenzene as the sole carbon source. Studies show that *Pseudomonas* mendocina KR-1 converted nitrobenzene to a mixture of 3- and 4-nitrophenol, Pseudomonas pickettii PKO1 degrades nitrobenzene to 3- and 4-nitrocatechol uses via 3and 4-nitrophenol. Pseudomonas stutzeri ZWLR2-1 the 2-bromonitrobenzene as sole carbon source and energy source (Singh et al. 2015b; Somerville et al. 1995). In another investigation, Comamonas testosteroni and Acidovorax delafieldii strains were isolated from the municipal activated sludge. These microorganisms were found to degrade nitrobenzene by catechol pathway. Comamonas sp. strain CNB-1 utilizes 4-chloronitrobenzene (4-CNB) and nitrobenzene as sole carbon sources (Zhao and Ward 1999). ZhiquanLiu et al. reported species of cyanobacteria Microcystis aeruginosa can absorb nitrobenzene and *reduce to* aniline with the help of nitrobenzene reductase (Liu et al. 2014). Chunli et al. isolated strain from the nitrobenzene-contaminated sludge. The isolated strain was completely capable of remineralizing nitrobenzene and using it as sole energy and carbon source. The strain was identified as Rhodotorula mucilaginosa Z1 (Zheng et al. 2009).

During the anaerobic degradation, nitroaromatic compounds were reduced to aromatic amines through electron transport. The reduction is facilitated by the nitroreductase enzyme, which transforms the nitro group into nitroso derivatives, hydroxylamines, and amines. As microorganisms completely degrading, nitroaromatic compounds are rare; thus, anaerobic microorganism works in symbiotic with aerobic microorganisms (Singh et al. 2015b). 2,4,6-Trinitrotoluene, commonly called as TNT, is one of the primarily used military explosives around the world. Due to wars and war-like activities worldwide, large areas of fertile lands, forest lands, and water bodies get contaminated. After the explosion, only ash, crystalline debris, flakes, and yellowish powder remains, and studies have proved that these contents can be toxic to rodents, fish, plants, and algae. Not only the explosion but also the synthesis of TNT itself is a hazardous and poisonous method. The precursors required for the TNT synthesis are toxic, mutagenic, and carcinogenic (Singh et al. 2015b). Degradation of TNT through microorganisms is an extensively well-researched area (Rieger et al. 2002; Serrano-González et al. 2018). Various species of *Clostridium*, *Desulfovibrio*, and archaebacteria as *Methanococcus* sp. can completely degrade TNT under anaerobic conditions. Various *Clostridium* sp. are capable of completely degrading TNT under anaerobic conditions. TNT is reduced to 2,4,6-triaminotoluene. *Clostridium acetobutylicum*, *Clostridium bifermentans* CYS-1, *Clostridium bifermentans* LJP-1, Clostridium pasterianum, *Clostridium thermoaceticum* are some of the *Clostridium* sp., which degrades TNT. *Desulfovibrio* sp. was found to use 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene (TNT) as a sole nitrogen source(Rieger et al. 2002). *Methanococcus spand*, *Veillonella alkalescens* are some of the microorganisms that degrade TNT anaerobically (Rieger et al. 2002).

7.3.6 S-Triazine

S-Triazine is an organic compound with a six-membered heterocyclic structure with alternating carbon and nitrogen atoms joined by a double bond and represented by the general formula (HCN)_{3 (Rehan} 2016). *S*-Triazine is a herbicide and is usually used to control grassy weeds and broadleaf in crops like macadamia nuts, sugarcane, pineapple, sorghum, and corn (Singh et al. 2016). Also, *S*-triazine herbicides are used on the golf course and residential lawns (Rehan 2016). Atrazine (2-chloro-4-ethyl amino-6-isopropyl amino-1,3,5-triazine) is the most widely used s-Triazine–based herbicides. Simazine (6-chloro-*N*,*N*'-diethyl-1, 3, 5-triazine-2, and 4-diamine) has also been used as herbicides to control annual grasses and weeds in the crop field (Jiang et al. 2020). These herbicides are highly persistent in the soil and accumulate due to their prolonged degradation rate (Jiang et al. 2020; Almeida Lage et al. 2019; Fuscaldo et al. 1999). Atrazine causes damage to the immunomodulatory and reproductive systems of reptiles, crustaceans, mammals, and amphibians, while for humans, it is a carcinogen and endocrine disrupter (Jiang et al. 2020; Hayes et al. 2002).

The degradation of s-triazine has been studied using several bacterial species such as Agrobacterium, Nocardiodes, Pseudomonas, Pseudominobacter. Stenptrophomonas, Rhodococcus, Chelatobacter, and Arthrobacter, etc. The mechanisms of degradation of s-triazine are well discussed and reported in several pieces of literature (Phale et al. 2019). The bacterial pathway includes atrazine degradation into carbon dioxide and ammonia via different routes, as noted earlier (Phale et al. 2019; Singh and Jauhari 2017). The first pathway involves the atrazine chlorohydrolase catalyzed dechlorination of atrazine into hydroxyatrazine, followed by cyanuric acid metabolism to yield biuret. Further, the generated biuret is metabolized by biuret hydrolase to get allophante followed by allophanate hydrolase catalyzed conversion to produce CO_2 and NH_3 . Other pathways include the atrazine monooxygenase, or N-dealkylase catalyzed synthesis of deisopropylatrazine or deethylatrazine via oxidative removal of isopropyl or ethyl group, respectively. As discussed above, the formed products are further converted into ammonia and carbon dioxide via cyanuric acid metabolism. Atrazine's biodegradation involves the different individual species or microbial consortia to prevent atrazine's effective degradation. Xu et al. have studied and proposed a 16 different microorganism combination to get effective degradation of atrazine (Xu et al. 2019).

Several fungal strains, such as *Phanerochaete chrysosporium*, *Aspergillus flavipes*, *Hymenoscyphus ericae* 1318, *A. fumigatus*, *Trichoderma viride*, *Pleurotus pulmonarius*, etc., have been used for the degradation of atrazine (Singh and Jauhari 2017; Marco-Urrea and Reddy 2012). Fungal degradation of atrazine involves the formation of deisopropylatraine and deethylatrazine via N-dealkylation. The finished product then can be further converted into the CO₂ and NH₃ using microbe consortia, as discussed earlier. Recently, Lopes et al. have shown the efficient degradation of atrazine (82%) using the fungal strain *Pleurotus ostreatus* INCQS 40310 over 22 days of fungal incubation (Lopes et al. 2020).

7.3.7 Organic Sulfonic Acids

Organic sulfonic acids or organic sulfonates-based xenobiotics compounds have found applications in the various industries, such as a surfactant, hydrotropic, or optical brightener in detergents, dyes industries, personal care, food, wetting agents, dispersants, and pharmaceuticals, etc.(Nicolella et al. 2005; Cook et al. 1998; Merrettig-Bruns and Jelen 2009). Some of the common sulfonates are ptoluenesulfonic acid, m-nitrobenzenesulfonate, naphthalenesulfonates, alachlorethanesulfonate, saccharine, alkylbenzenesulfonate, amino benzene sulfonates, amino naphthyl sulfonates, etc. (Cook et al. 1998). These compounds are derived either by direct sulfonation of starting reactants or as a by-product of chemical and process industries. The microbial degradation of sulfonates depends on their molecular structures as the benzene, and mono substitute naphthalene sulfonates are readily biodegradable, whereas the complex molecules like nitro, amino, and hydroxy group substituted sulfonates are difficult to degrade (Nicolella et al. 2005). Further, these compounds are resistant to biodegradation by bacteria using normal hydrocarbons due to highly specific transport enzymes' requirement to facilitate their entry in the cells (Singh et al. 2012). The degradation of sulfonates mainly occurs via desulfonation reaction using several anaerobic and aerobic microorganisms that can utilize these substrates as a source of carbon and energy (Cook et al. 1998).

The dissimilating anaerobic degradation of sulfonated compounds are well studied using several bacterial strains like *Desulfovibrio* sp. RZACYSA, *Bilophila wadsworthia* RZATAU DSM 11045, *Syntrophomonad* GRZTAU DSM 11270, *Desulfovibrio desulfuricans* IC1, *Desulfovibrio* sp. RZACYSA, *Desulfomicrobium baculatus* DSM 1741, *Desulfovibrio* sp. GRZCYSA DSM 11493, *Desulfobacterium autotrophicans* DSM 3382, *Alcaligenes* sp. NKNTAU DSM 11046, *Paracoccus denitrięcans* NKNCYSA, *Desulfovibrio desulfuricans* ATCC 29577, *Alcaligenes* sp. NKNTAU, etc. Similarly, the bacterial strains for assimilating sulfonates" degradation are also studied using *Klebsiella* sp., *Clostridium pasteurianum*, *Clostridium beijerinckii* EV4, *Clostridium* sp. strain *like* KNNDS, RZES, RZHS, etc. (Cook et al. 1998; Merrettig-Bruns and Jelen 2009; Linder 2018). *Clostridium pasteurianum* DSM 12136 has been used for the assimilating type of degradation for several aromatic sulfonates such as 4-xylene-2-sulfonic acid, 1,3-benzene-disulfonic acid, 4- aminobenzenesulfonic acid, 4-toluenesulfonic acid, and 4-xylene-2-sulfonic acid (Chien 2005). The substituted sulfonates are challenging to degrade, and very few reports are published showing a partial degradation of these compounds. González-Gutiérrez et al. have reported partial degradation of amino-naphthyl sulfonates via a series of reactions carried out by enzymes using anaerobic sludge along with dextrose and yeast extract as a source of carbon and nitrogen, respectively (González-Gutiérrez et al. 2009).

Aerobic degradation using bacterial consortia and pure cultures is reported for the degradation of sulfonated compounds, where these organisms utilize the sulfonates as sources of carbon and energy. Several pure and consortial bacterial strains such as Alcaligenes sp, Hydrogenophaga palleroni, Agrobacterium radiobacter, ,Pseudomonas pseudoalcaligenes, Pseudomonas citronellolis, Pseudomonas testosterone, Sphingomonas sp. ICX, Comamonas testosteroni A3, Sphingomonas xenophaga BN6, Pesudomonas sp. BN9, Pseudaminobacter salicylatoxidans BN12, Methylosulfonomonas methylovora, are used for aerobic degradation of sulfonated compounds (Cook et al. 1998; Linder 2018; Ruff et al. 1999). Song et al. have reported the efficient use of Arthrobacter sp. 2AC and Comamonas sp. 4BC strains for naphthalene-2-sulfonic acid biodegradation (Song et al. 2005).

Several fungal strains, such as *Ganoderma* sp. En3, *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, *Lipomyces starkeyi*, *R. toruloides*, *Trametes versicolor*, *Coriolopsis gallica*, *Pleurotus ostreatus*, *Cunninghamella polymorpha and Penicillium chrysogenum* have also been reported for the assimilation type desulfonation of sulfonates (Wesenberg 2003). Song and Burns have studied fungus, i.e., *Cunninghamella polymorpha, to suppress naphthalene-2-sulfonic acid condensation products efficiently* (Song and Burns 2005). Coasta et al. have shown high efficiency of *Penicillium chrysogenum for biodegradation of linear alkyl sulfonates*, i.e., sodium dodecylbenzene sulfonate (Costa et al. 2020).

7.4 Conclusion

Various national and international research efforts have been encouraged in recent years, given the extent of pollution led by xenobiotics in multiple environments. Understanding of the mechanisms of biodegradation of xenobiotic compounds is still in its infancy. Although certain mechanisms have been observed in laboratory conditions, their study in a natural environment remains largely unexplored. The molecular mechanisms of biodegradation and biomineralization of xenobiotics are yet to be fully understood. The diversity of microorganisms associated with these different stages of biodegradation is also in a primitive stage. Understanding these processes is especially important in defining the biodegradation rates of xenobiotics and better predicting the xenobiotic-contaminated environment's future. The primary site of plastic xenobiotics is the landfills, which ultimately pushes it into the water bodies. Although spreading awareness can limit xenobiotics to some extent, it cannot be wholly relied upon, and a significant step towards excluding it from the environment needs to be taken. Replacing conventional xenobiotics with bio-based and biodegradable alternatives seems to be the only option to tackle this global environmental crisis. Finally, it can be concluded that for environmental safety, we have to restrict or reduce the use of xenobiotics while simultaneously encouraging the development of more efficient biodegradable compounds that can replace the traditional xenobiotics to make the planet earth a sustainable biosphere again.

References

- Abatenh E, Gizaw B, Tsegaya Z, Wassie M (2017a) Application of microorganisms in bioremediation-review. J Environ Microbiol 1:2–9
- Abatenh E, Gizaw B, Tsegaye Z, Wassie M (2017b) The role of microorganisms in bioremediation a review. Open J Environ Biol 2:038–046. https://doi.org/10.17352/ojeb.000007
- Abdel-Shafy HI, Mansour MSM (2016) A review on polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons: source, environmental impact, effect on human health and remediation. Egypt J Pet 25:107–123. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpe.2015.03.011
- Abo-Amer A (2011) Biodegradation of diazinon by *Serratia marcescens* DI101 and its use in bioremediation of contaminated environment. J Microbiol Biotechnol 21:71–80
- Akhtar N, ul Mannan MA (2020) Mycoremediation: expunging environmental pollutants, Biotechnol. Reports 26:e00452. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.btre.2020.e00452
- Al-Bashir B, Cseh T, Leduc R, Samson R (1990) Effect of soil/contaminant interactions on the biodegradation of naphthalene in flooded soil under denitrifying conditions. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 34:414–419. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00170071
- Almeida Lage AL, Ribeiro JM, de Souza-Fagundes EM, Brugnera MF, da Martins DCS (2019) Efficient atrazine degradation catalyzed by manganese porphyrins: determination of atrazine degradation products and their toxicity evaluation by human blood cells test models. J Hazard Mater 378:120748. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2019.120748
- Alpaslan Kocamemi B, Çeçen F (2006) Kinetic analysis of the inhibitory effect of trichloroethylene (TCE) on nitrification in cometabolic degradation. Biodegradation 18:71–81. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s10532-005-9037-3
- Ambrósio ST, Júnior JCV, Da Silva CAA, Okada K, Nascimento AE, Longo RL, Campos-Takaki GM (2012) A biosorption isotherm model for the removal of reactive azo dyes by inactivated mycelia of *Cunninghamella elegans* UCP542. Molecules 17:452–462. https://doi.org/10.3390/ molecules17010452
- Ambrosoli R, Petruzzelli L, Luis Minati J, Ajmone Marsan F (2005) Anaerobic PAH degradation in soil by a mixed bacterial consortium under denitrifying conditions. Chemosphere 60:1231–1236. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2005.02.030
- Amin MT, Hamid S, Alazba AA, Amin MN, Islam M, Manzoor U (2014) Environmental dynamics and engineered systems for the degradation of trichloroethylene: a critical review. Glob Nest J 16:317–329. https://doi.org/10.30955/gnj.001333
- Anawar HM, Strezov V, Akter F, Kader A (2017) Xenobiotics in the soil environment. Soil Biol 49:299–318. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-47744-2
- Arora PK, Bae H (2014a) Bacterial degradation of chlorophenols and their derivatives. Microb Cell Factories 13:31. https://doi.org/10.1186/1475-2859-13-31
- Arora PK, Bae H (2014b) Toxicity and microbial degradation of nitrobenzene, monochloronitrobenzenes, polynitrobenzenes, and pentachloronitrobenzene. J Chem 2014:1–12. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/265140

- Arp DJ, Yeager CM, Hyman MR (2001) Molecular and cellular fundamentals of aerobic cometabolism of trichloroethylene. Biodegradation 12:81–103. https://doi.org/10.1023/ A:1012089908518
- Arregui L, Ayala M, Gómez-Gil X, Gutiérrez-Soto G, Hernández-Luna CE, Herrera De Los Santos M, Levin L, Rojo-Domínguez A, Romero-Martínez D, Saparrat MCN, Trujillo-Roldán MA, Valdez-Cruz NA (2019) Laccases: structure, function, and potential application in water bioremediation. Microb Cell Factories 18:1–33. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12934-019-1248-0
- Asad S, Amoozegar MA, Pourbabaee AA, Sarbolouki MN, Dastgheib SMM (2006) Decolorization of textile azo dyes by newly isolated halophilic and halotolerant bacteria. Bioresour Technol. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2006.08.020
- Ayed L, Mahdhi A, Cheref A, Bakhrouf A (2011) Decolorization and degradation of azo dye methyl red by an isolated *Sphingomonas paucimobilis*: biotoxicity and metabolites characterization. Desalination 274:272–277. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.desal.2011.02.024
- Balali-Mood M, Abdollahi M (2014) Basic and clinical toxicology of organophosphorus compounds. Springer-Verlag, London Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4471-5625-3
- Benn N, Zitomer D (2018) Pretreatment and anaerobic co-digestion of selected PHB and PLA bioplastics. Front Environ Sci 5:93. https://doi.org/10.3389/fenvs.2017.00093
- Bhat MA, Vaidyanathan CS (1995) Microbial degradation of halogenated aromatics. Prog Ind Microbiol 32:125–156. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0079-6352(06)80030-5
- Bhatt P, Huang Y, Zhan H, Chen S (2019) Insight into microbial applications for the biodegradation of pyrethroid insecticides. Front Microbiol 10:1778. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2019.01778
- Bielčik M, Aguilar-Trigueros CA, Lakovic M, Jeltsch F, Rillig MC (2019) The role of active movement in fungal ecology and community assembly. Mov Ecol 7. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s40462-019-0180-6
- Boonchan S, Britz ML, Stanley GA (2000) Degradation and mineralization of high-molecularweight polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons by defined fungal-bacterial cocultures. Appl Environ Microbiol 66:1007–1019. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.66.3.1007-1019.2000
- Bumpus JA (1995) Microbial degradation of azo dyes. Prog Ind Microbiol 32:157–176. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0079-6352(06)80031-7
- Camarero S, Ibarra D, Martínez MJ, Martínez ÁT (2005) Lignin-derived compounds as efficient laccase mediators for decolorization of different types of recalcitrant dyes. Appl Environ Microbiol 71:1775–1784. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.71.4.1775-1784.2005
- Carmona M, Zamarro MT, Blázquez B, Durante-Rodríguez G, Juárez JF, Valderrama JA, Barragán MJL, García JL, Díaz E (2009) Anaerobic catabolism of aromatic compounds: a genetic and genomic view. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 73:71–133. https://doi.org/10.1128/mmbr.00021-08
- Ceci A, Pinzari F, Russo F, Persiani AM, Gadd GM (2019) Roles of saprotrophic fungi in biodegradation or transformation of organic and inorganic pollutants in co-contaminated sites. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 103:53–68. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-018-9451-1
- Cerniglia CE (1992) Biodegradation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. Biodegradation 3:351–368. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00129093
- Chang B, Shiung L, Yuan S (2002) Anaerobic biodegradation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon in soil. Chemosphere 48:717–724. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0045-6535(02)00151-0
- Chang W-T, Fang M-D, Lee C-L, Brimblecombe P (2014) Measuring bioavailable PAHs in estuarine water using semipermeable membrane devices with performance reference compounds. Mar Pollut Bull 89:376–383. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2014.09.031
- Chien C-C (2005) Arylsulfonates as sole source of sulfur for *Clostridium pasteurianum* DSM 12136. J Basic Microbiol 45:274–278. https://doi.org/10.1002/jobm.200410490
- Chishti Z, Hussain S, Arshad KR, Khalid A, Arshad M (2013) Microbial degradation of chlorpyrifos in liquid media and soil. J Environ Manag 114:372–380. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman. 2012.10.032
- Chrast L, Tratsiak K, Planas-Iglesias J, Daniel L, Prudnikova T, Brezovsky J, Bednar D, Smatanova IK, Chaloupkova R, Damborsky J (2019) Deciphering the structural basis of high thermostability of dehalogenase from psychrophilic bacterium *Marinobacter* sp. ELB17. Microorganisms 7. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms7110498
Cook AM (1987) Biodegradation of s-triazine xenobiotics. FEMS Microbiol Lett 46:93-116

- Cook AM, Laue H, Junker F (1998) Microbial desulfonation. FEMS Microbiol Rev 22:399–419. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-6445(98)00028-X
- Costa MF, de Oliveira AM, de Oliveira Junior EN (2020) Biodegradation of linear alkylbenzene sulfonate (LAS) by *Penicillium chrysogenum*. Bioresour Technol Reports 9:100363. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.biteb.2019.100363
- Cui Z, Lai Q, Dong C, Shao Z (2008) Biodiversity of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon-degrading bacteria from deep sea sediments of the middle Atlantic ridge. Environ Microbiol 10:2138–2149. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1462-2920.2008.01637.x
- Deshmukh R, Khardenavis AA, Purohit HJ (2016) Diverse metabolic capacities of fungi for bioremediation. Indian J Microbiol 56:247–264. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12088-016-0584-6
- Dou J, Liu X, Ding A (2009) Anaerobic degradation of naphthalene by the mixed bacteria under nitrate reducing conditions. J Hazard Mater 165:325–331. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat. 2008.10.002
- Eriksson M, Sodersten E, Yu Z, Dalhammar G, Mohn WW (2003) Degradation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons at low temperature under aerobic and nitrate-reducing conditions in enrichment cultures from northern soils. Appl Environ Microbiol 69:275–284. https://doi.org/ 10.1128/AEM.69.1.275-284.2003
- Ferraz ERA, Umbuzeiro GA, de Almeida G, Caloto-Oliveira A, Chequer FMD, Zanoni MVB, Dorta DJ, Oliveira DP (2011) Differential toxicity of disperse red 1 and disperse red 13 in the Ames test, HepG2 cytotoxicity assay, and *Daphnia* acute toxicity test. Environ Toxicol 26:489–497. https://doi.org/10.1002/tox.20576
- Fogel MM, Taddeo AR, Fogel S (1986) Biodegradation of chlorinated ethenes by a methaneutilizing mixed culture. Appl Environ Microbiol 51:720–724. https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.51.4. 720-724.1986
- Fu Y, Viraraghavan T (2001) Fungal decolorization of dye wastewaters: a review. Bioresour Technol 79:251–262. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0960-8524(01)00028-1
- Fuchs G, Boll M, Heider J (2011) Microbial degradation of aromatic compounds- from one strategy to four. Nat Rev Microbiol 9:803–816. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro2652
- Fuscaldo F, Bedmar F, Monterubbianesi G (1999) Persistence of atrazine, metribuzin and simazine herbicides in two soils. Pesqui Agropecuária Bras 34:2037–2044. https://doi.org/10.1590/ S0100-204X1999001100009
- Gangola S, Sharma A, Bhatt P, Khati P, Chaudhary P (2018) Presence of esterase and laccase in *Bacillus subtilis* facilitates biodegradation and detoxification of cypermethrin. Sci Rep 8:12755. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-31082-5
- Ghosal D, Ghosh S, Dutta TK, Ahn Y (2016) Current state of knowledge in microbial degradation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs): a review. Front Microbiol 7. https://doi.org/10. 3389/fmicb.2016.01369
- Godheja J, Sk S, Siddiqui SA, Dr M (2016) Xenobiotic compounds present in soil and water: a review on remediation strategies. J Environ Anal Toxicol 6. https://doi.org/10.4172/2161-0525. 1000392
- González-Gutiérrez LV, González-Alatorre G, Escamilla-Silva EM (2009) Proposed pathways for the reduction of a reactive azo dye in an anaerobic fixed bed reactor. World J Microbiol Biotechnol 25:415–426. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11274-008-9906-0
- Gouma S, Fragoeiro S, Bastos AC, Magan N (2014) 13 bacterial and fungal bioremediation strategies. Elsevier Inc., Amsterdam. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-800021-2.00013-3
- Greń I (2012) Microbial transformation of xenobiotics. Chemik 66:839-842
- Halsey KH, Sayavedra-Soto LA, Bottomley PJ, Arp DJ (2005) Trichloroethylene degradation by butane-oxidizing bacteria causes a spectrum of toxic effects. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 68:794–801. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-005-1944-z
- Harvey RG (1996) Mechanisms of carcinogenesis of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. Polycycl Aromat Compd 9:1–23. https://doi.org/10.1080/10406639608031196

- Hayes TB, Collins A, Lee M, Mendoza M, Noriega N, Stuart AA, Vonk A (2002) Hermaphroditic, demasculinized frogs after exposure to the herbicide atrazine at low ecologically relevant doses. Proc Natl Acad Sci 99:5476–5480. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.082121499
- Himmelberg AM, Brüls T, Farmani Z, Weyrauch P, Barthel G, Schrader W, Meckenstock RU (2018) Anaerobic degradation of phenanthrene by a sulfate-reducing enrichment culture. Environ Microbiol 20:3589–3600. https://doi.org/10.1111/1462-2920.14335
- Itoh K, Kinoshita M, Morishita S, Chida M, Suyama K (2013) Characterization of 2,4-dichlorophenoxyacetic acid and 2,4,5-trichlorophenoxyacetic acid-degrading fungi in Vietnamese soils. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 84:124–132. https://doi.org/10.1111/1574-6941.12043
- Jain RK, Kapur M, Labana S, Lal B, Sarma PM, Bhattacharya D, Thakur IS (n.d.) Microbial diversity: application of microorganisms for the biodegradation of xenobiotics. Curr Sci 89:101–112. https://doi.org/10.2307/24110436
- Javaid MK, Ashiq M, Tahir M (2016) Potential of biological agents in decontamination of agricultural soil. Scientifica (Cairo) 2016. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/1598325
- Jeffries TC, Rayu S, Nielsen UN, Lai K, Ijaz A, Nazaries L, Singh BK (2018) Metagenomic functional potential predicts degradation rates of a model organophosphorus xenobiotic in pesticide contaminated soils. Front Microbiol 9:1–12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018. 00147
- Jha SK, Jain P, Sharma HP (2015) Review article xenobiotic degradation by bacterial enzymes. Int J Curr Microbiol App Sci 4:48–62
- Jiang C, Yang Y, Zhang L, Lu D, Lu L, Yang X, Cai T (2020) Degradation of Atrazine, Simazine and Ametryn in an arable soil using thermal-activated persulfate oxidation process: optimization, kinetics, and degradation pathway. J Hazard Mater 400:123201. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jhazmat.2020.123201
- Kalyani D, Dhiman SS, Kim H, Jeya M, Kim IW, Lee JK (2012) Characterization of a novel laccase from the isolated *Coltricia perennis* and its application to detoxification of biomass. Process Biochem 47:671–678. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procbio.2012.01.013
- Karpouzas DG, Fotopoulou A, Menkissoglu-Spiroudi U, Singh BK (2005) Non-specific biodegradation of the organophosphorus pesticides, cadusafos and ethoprophos, by two bacterial isolates. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 53:369–378. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.femsec.2005.01.012
- Karthikeyan R, Bhandari A (2001) Anaerobic biotransformation of aromatic and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in soil microcosms: a review. J Hazard Subst Res 3:1–19. https://doi. org/10.4148/1090-7025.1021
- Kim JR, Ahn YJ (2009) Identification and characterization of chlorpyrifos-methyl and 3,5,6trichloro-2-pyridinol degrading *Burkholderia* sp. strain KR100. Biodegradation 20:487–497. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10532-008-9238-7
- Knapp JS (2003) Recalcitrant organic compounds. In: The handbook of water and wastewater microbiology. Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-012470100-7/50035-2
- Kulkarni M, Chaudhari A (2007) Microbial remediation of nitro-aromatic compounds: an overview. J Environ Manag 85:496–512. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2007.06.009
- Kumar A, Bhavsar C, Aggarwal P, Jamshed N (2017) Toxic brain injury with nitrobenzene poisoning. Int J Appl Basic Med Res 7:207. https://doi.org/10.4103/ijabmr.IJABMR_271_16
- Kumar S, Kaushik G, Dar MA, Nimesh S, López-Chuken UJ, Villarreal-Chiu JF (2018) Microbial degradation of organophosphate pesticides: a review. Pedosphere 28:190–208. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S1002-0160(18)60017-7
- Kurt Z, Spain JC (2013) Biodegradation of chlorobenzene, 1,2-dichlorobenzene, and 1,4-dichlorobenzene in the vadose zone. Environ Sci Technol 47:6846–6854. https://doi.org/ 10.1021/es3049465
- Kurt Z, Shin K, Spain JC (2012) Biodegradation of chlorobenzene and nitrobenzene at interfaces between sediment and water. Environ Sci Technol 46:11829–11835. https://doi.org/10.1021/ es302897j

- Lange CC, Wackett LP (1997) Oxidation of aliphatic olefins by toluene dioxygenase: enzyme rates and product identification. J Bacteriol 179:3858–3865. https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.179.12.3858-3865.1997
- Leahy JG, Byrne AM, Olsen RH (1996) Comparison of factors influencing trichloroethylene degradation by toluene-oxidizing bacteria. Appl Environ Microbiol 62:825–833. https://doi. org/10.1128/aem.62.3.825-833.1996
- Leisinger T (1996) Biodegradation of chlorinated aliphatic compounds. Curr Opin Biotechnol 7:295–300. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0958-1669(96)80033-4
- Li X, Lin X, Zhang J, Wu Y, Yin R, Feng Y, Wang Y (2010) Degradation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons by crude extracts from spent mushroom substrate and its possible mechanisms. Curr Microbiol 60:336–342. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00284-009-9546-0
- Li Y, Li B, Wang CP, Fan JZ, Sun HW (2014) Aerobic degradation of trichloroethylene by co-metabolism using phenol and gasoline as growth substrates. Int J Mol Sci 15:9134–9148. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms15059134
- Liang L, Song X, Kong J, Shen C, Huang T, Hu Z (2014) Anaerobic biodegradation of highmolecular-weight polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons by a facultative anaerobe *Pseudomonas* sp. JP1. Biodegradation 25:825–833. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10532-014-9702-5
- Lima DRS, Baeta BEL, Da Silva GA, Silva SQ, Aquino SF (2014) Use of multivariate experimental designs for optimizing the reductive degradation of an azo dye in the presence of redox mediators. Quim Nova 37:827–832. https://doi.org/10.5935/0100-4042.20140133
- Linder T (2018) Assimilation of alternative sulfur sources in fungi. World J Microbiol Biotechnol 34:1–7. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11274-018-2435-6
- Little CD, Palumbo AV, Herbes SE, Lidstrom ME, Tyndall RL, Gilmer PJ (1988) Trichloroethylene biodegradation by a methane-oxidizing bacterium. Appl Environ Microbiol 54:951–956. https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.54.4.951-956.1988
- Liu Z, Cui F, Ma H, Fan Z, Zhao Z, Hou Z, Liu D (2014) The transformation mechanism of nitrobenzene in the present of a species of cyanobacteria *Microcystis aeruginosa*. Chemosphere 95:234–240. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2013.08.083
- Liu W, Cai Y, Zhang Q, Shu F, Chen L, Ma X, Bian Y (2020) Subchromosome-scale nuclear and complete mitochondrial genome characteristics of *Morchella crassipes*. Int J Mol Sci 21:483. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21020483
- de Lopes RO, Pereira PM, Pereira ARB, Fernandes KV, Carvalho JF, de França AS, Valente RH, da Silva M, Ferreira-Leitão VS (2020) Atrazine, desethylatrazine(DEA) and desisopropylatrazine (DIA) degradation by *Pleurotus ostreatus* INCQS 40310, Biocatal. Biotransformation:1–16. https://doi.org/10.1080/10242422.2020.1754805
- Lourenço ND, Novais JM, Pinheiro HM (2006) Kinetic studies of reactive azo dye decolorization in anaerobic/aerobic sequencing batch reactors. Biotechnol Lett:733–739. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10529-006-9051-5
- Lu X, Liu R (2010) Treatment of azo dye-containing wastewater using integrated processes. In: Biodegrad. Azo dye, pp 133–155. https://doi.org/10.1007/698_2009_47
- Lu X-Y, Li B, Zhang T, Fang HHP (2012) Enhanced anoxic bioremediation of PAHs-contaminated sediment. Bioresour Technol 104:51–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2011.10.011
- Lu P, Li Q, Liu H, Feng Z, Yan X, Hong Q, Li S (2013) Biodegradation of chlorpyrifos and 3,5,6trichloro-2-pyridinol by *Cupriavidus* sp. DT-1. Bioresour Technol 127:337–342. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.biortech.2012.09.116
- Mallick S, Chatterjee S, Dutta TK (2007) A novel degradation pathway in the assimilation of phenanthrene by *Staphylococcus* sp. strain PN/Y via meta-cleavage of 2-hydroxy-1-napthoic acid: formation of trans-2,3-dioxo-5-(2'-hydroxyphenyl)-pent-4-enoic acid. Microbiology 153:2104–2115. https://doi.org/10.1099/mic.0.2006/004218-0
- Marco-Urrea E, Reddy CA (2012) Degradation of chloro-organic pollutants by white rot fungi. Microb Degrad Xenobiotics:31–66. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-23789-8_2

- Marco-Urrea E, Parella T, Gabarrell X, Caminal G, Vicent T, Adinarayana Reddy C (2008) Mechanistics of trichloroethylene mineralization by the white-rot fungus *Trametes versicolor*. Chemosphere 70:404–410. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2007.06.074
- Marco-Urrea E, Pérez-Trujillo M, Caminal G, Vicent T (2009) Dechlorination of 1,2,3- and 1,2,4trichlorobenzene by the white-rot fungus *Trametes versicolor*. J Hazard Mater 166:1141–1147. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2008.12.076
- Mardani G, Mahvi AH, Hashemzadeh-Chaleshtori M, Naseri S, Dehghani MH, Ghasemi-Dehkordi P (2017) Application of genetically engineered dioxygenase producing *Pseudomonas putida* on decomposition of oil from spiked soil, Jundishapur. J Nat Pharm Prod 12. https://doi.org/10. 5812/jinpp.64313
- Marier JR (1982) Halogenated hydrocarbon environmental pollution: the special case of halogenated anesthetics. Environ Res 28:212–239. https://doi.org/10.1016/0013-9351(82) 90170-0
- McMullan G, Meehan C, Conneely A, Kirby N, Robinson T, Nigam P, Banat IM, Marchant R, Smyth WF (2001) Microbial decolourisation and degradation of textile dyes. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 56:81–87. https://doi.org/10.1007/s002530000587
- Meckenstock RU, Boll M, Mouttaki H, Koelschbach JS, Cunha Tarouco P, Weyrauch P, Dong X, Himmelberg AM (2016) Anaerobic degradation of benzene and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. J Mol Microbiol Biotechnol 26:92–118. https://doi.org/10.1159/000441358
- Megharaj M, Ramakrishnan B, Venkateswarlu K, Sethunathan N, Naidu R (2011) Bioremediation approaches for organic pollutants: a critical perspective. Environ Int 37:1362–1375. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.envint.2011.06.003
- Merrettig-Bruns U, Jelen E (2009) Anaerobic biodegradation of detergent surfactants. Materials (Basel) 2:181–206. https://doi.org/10.3390/ma2010181
- Mesquita NCMR, Dyszy FH, Kumagai PS, Araújo APU, Costa-Filho AJ (2013) Amphipatic molecules affect the kinetic profile of *Pseudomonas putida* chlorocatechol 1,2-dioxygenase. Eur Biophys J 42:655–660. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00249-013-0914-0
- Miyazawa D, Thanh LTH, Tani A, Shintani M, Loc NH, Hatta T, Kimbara K (2020) Isolation and characterization of genes responsible for naphthalene degradation from thermophilic naphthalene degrader, *Geobacillus* sp. JF8. Microorganisms 8. https://doi.org/10.3390/ microorganisms8010044
- Moldoveanu SC (2019) Pyrolysis of halogenated hydrocarbons. In: Pyrolysis org. mol. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 163–206. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-444-64000-0.00003-2
- Moody JD, Freeman JP, Fu PP, Cerniglia CE (2004) Degradation of Benzo[a]pyrene by Mycobacterium vanbaalenii PYR-1. Biodegradation 70:340–345. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.70.1. 340
- Moriyama N, Terao M, Kawata K, Uemura T, Shirai F (1988) Biotransformation of trichloroethylene in soil. Eisei Kagaku 34:366–370. https://doi.org/10.1248/jhs1956.34.366
- Morono Y, Unno H, Tanji Y, Hori K (2004) Addition of aromatic substrates restores trichloroethylene degradation activity in *Pseudomonas putida* F1. Appl Environ Microbiol 70:2830–2835. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.70.5.2830-2835.2004
- Mpofu E, Chakraborty J, Suzuki-Minakuchi C, Okada K, Kimura T, Nojiri H (2020) Biotransformation of monocyclic phenolic compounds by *Bacillus licheniformis* tab7. Microorganisms. 8:26. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms8010026
- Müller R, Antranikian G, Maloney S, Sharp R (1998) Thermophilic degradation of environmental pollutants, in: springer. Heidelberg, Berlin, pp 155–169. https://doi.org/10.1007/bfb0102292
- Muyzer G, Stams AJM (2008) The ecology and biotechnology of sulphate-reducing bacteria. Nat Rev Microbiol 6:441–454. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro1892
- Nabil SA, Hussein HS, Salah EMAA, Reda AB (2011) Isolation, characterization and fingerprinting of some chlorpyrifos- degrading bacterial strains isolated from Egyptian pesticides-polluted soils. African J Microbiol Res 5:2855–2862. https://doi.org/10.5897/ajmr11.044

- Nakamiya K, Hashimoto S, Ito H, Edmonds JS, Yasuhara A, Morita M (2005) Degradation of dioxins by cyclic ether degrading fungus, *Cordyceps sinensis*. FEMS Microbiol Lett 248:17–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.femsle.2005.05.013
- Narancic T, Djokic L, Kenny ST, O'Connor KE, Radulovic V, Nikodinovic-Runic J, Vasiljevic B (2012) Metabolic versatility of gram-positive microbial isolates from contaminated river sediments. J Hazard Mater 215–216:243–251. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2012.02.059
- Ng IS, Hsueh CC, Chen BY (2017) Electron transport phenomena of electroactive bacteria in microbial fuel cells: a review of Proteus hauseri. Bioresour Bioprocess 4:1–17. https://doi.org/ 10.1186/s40643-017-0183-3
- Nicolella C, Zolezzi M, Rabino M, Furfaro M, Rovatti M (2005) Development of particle-based biofilms for degradation of xenobiotic organic compounds. Water Res 39:2495–2504. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2005.04.016
- Novotný Č, Malachová K, Adamus G, Kwiecień M, Lotti N, Soccio M, Verney V, Fava F (2018) Deterioration of irradiation/high-temperature pretreated, linear low-density polyethylene (LLDPE) by *Bacillus amyloliquefaciens*. Int Biodeterior Biodegrad 132:259–267. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ibiod.2018.04.014
- Nwinyi OC, Ajayi OO, Amund OO (2016) Degradation of polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons by two strains of *Pseudomonas*, Brazilian. J Microbiol 47:551–562. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bjm. 2016.04.026
- Nykiel-Szymańska J, Stolarek P, Bernat P (2018) Elimination and detoxification of 2,4-D by *Umbelopsis isabellina* with the involvement of cytochrome P450. Environ Sci Pollut Res 25:2738–2743. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-017-0571-4
- Ojo OA (2007) Molecular strategies of microbial adaptation to xenobiotics in natural environment, Biotechnol. Mol Biol Rev 2:1–13
- Ola IO, Akintokun AK, Akpan I, Omomowo IO, Areo VO (2010) Aerobic decolourization of two reactive azo dyes under varying carbon and nitrogen source by *Bacillus cereus*, African. J Biotechnol 9:672–677. https://doi.org/10.5897/AJB09.1374
- Ortiz-Hernández ML, Sánchez-Salinas E (2010) Biodegradation of the organophosphate pesticide tetrachlorvinphos by bacteria isolated from agricultural soils in Mexico. Rev Int Contam Ambient 26:27–38
- Ortiz-Hernández ML, Quintero-Ramírez R, Nava-Ocampo AA, Bello-Ramírez AM (2003) Study of the mechanism of *Flavobacterium* sp. for hydrolyzing organophosphate pesticides, Fundam. Clin Pharmacol 17:717–723. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1472-8206.2003.00202.x
- Pailan S, Gupta D, Apte S, Krishnamurthi S, Saha P (2015) Degradation of organophosphate insecticide by a novel *Bacillus aryabhattai* strain SanPS1, isolated from soil of agricultural field in Burdwan, West Bengal, India. Int Biodeterior Biodegrad 103:191–195. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.ibiod.2015.05.006
- Parte SG, Mohekar AD, Kharat AS (2017) Microbial degradation of pesticide: a review. African J Microbiol Res 11:992–1012. https://doi.org/10.5897/AJMR2016.8402
- Patil PD, Yadav GD (2018) Comparative studies of white-rot fungal strains (*Trametes hirsuta* MTCC-1171 and *Phanerochaete chrysosporium* NCIM-1106) for eff ective degradation and bioconversion of Ferulic acid. ACS Omega 3:14858–14868. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsomega. 8b01614
- Peres CM, Agathos SN (2000) Biodegradation of nitroaromatic pollutants: from pathways to. Remediation:197–220. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1387-2656(00)06023-3
- Phale PS, Sharma A, Gautam K (2019) Microbial degradation of xenobiotics like aromatic pollutants from the terrestrial environments. Elsevier Inc., Amsterdam. https://doi.org/10. 1016/B978-0-12-816189-0.00011-1
- Pointing SB, Vrijmoed LLP (2000) Decolorization of azo and triphenylmethane dyes by *Pycnoporus sanguineus* producing laccase as the sole phenoloxidase. World J Microbiol Biotechnol 16:317–318. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1008959600680

- Pothuluri JV, Evans FE, Heinze TM, Cerniglia CE (1996) Formation of sulfate and glucoside conjugates of benzo[e]pyrene by Cunninghamella elegans. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 45:677–683. https://doi.org/10.1007/s002530050747
- Poursat BAJ, Van Spanning RJM, De Voogt P, John R (2019) Technology implications of microbial adaptation for the assessment of environmental persistence of chemicals. Crit Rev Environ Sci Technol 0:1–36. https://doi.org/10.1080/10643389.2019.1607687
- Qin W, Zhu Y, Fan F, Wang Y, Liu X, Ding A, Dou J (2017) Biodegradation of benzo(a)pyrene by *Microbacterium* sp. strain under denitrification: degradation pathway and effects of limiting electron acceptors or carbon source. Biochem Eng J 121:131–138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bej. 2017.02.001
- Rani TS, Devi PS (2018) Isolation and characterization of fenitrothion (organophosphate insecticide) degrading fungi from paddy fields. J Pure Appl Microbiol 12:2321–2326. https://doi.org/ 10.22207/JPAM.12.4.74
- Rani C, Jana AK, Bansal A (2011) Studies on the biodegradation of azo dyes by white rot fungi Daedalea Flavida in the absence of external carbon source. In: 2011 2nd International conference on environmental science and technology. IACSIT Press, Singapore
- Rehan M (2016) Microbial biodegradation of S-triazine herbicides in soil. JCRF 1:1–3. https://doi. org/10.17303/jcrf.2016.102
- Revankar MS, Lele SS (2007) Synthetic dye decolorization by white rot fungus, *Ganoderma* sp. WR-1. Bioresour Technol 98:775–780. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2006.03.020
- Rieger PG, Meier HM, Gerle M, Vogt U, Groth T, Knackmuss HJ (2002) Xenobiotics in the environment: present and future strategies to obviate the problem of biological persistence. J Biotechnol 94:101–123. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-1656(01)00422-9
- Rothermich MM, Hayes LA, Lovley DR (2002) Anaerobic, sulfate-dependent degradation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in petroleum-contaminated harbor sediment. Environ Sci Technol 36:4811–4817. https://doi.org/10.1021/es0200241
- Rubin H (2001) Synergistic mechanisms in carcinogenesis by polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and by tobacco smoke: a bio-historical perspective with updates. Carcinogenesis 22:1903–1930. https://doi.org/10.1093/carcin/22.12.1903
- Ruff J, Hitzler T, Rein U, Ritter A, Cook AM (1999) Bioavailability of water-polluting sulfonoaromatic compounds. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 52:446–450. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s002530051545
- Saeed T, Ali LN, Al-Bloushi A, Al-Hashash H, Al-Bahloul M, Al-Khabbaz A, Al-Khayat A (2011) Effect of environmental factors on photodegradation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) in the water-soluble fraction of Kuwait crude oil in seawater. Mar Environ Res 72:143–150. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marenvres.2011.07.004
- Safinowski M, Meckenstock RU (2004) Enzymatic reactions in anaerobic 2-methylnaphthalene degradation by the sulphate-reducing enrichment culture N 47. FEMS Microbiol Lett 240:99–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.femsle.2004.09.014
- Saibu S, Adebusoye SA, Oyetibo GO (2020) Aerobic bacterial transformation and biodegradation of dioxins: a review, Bioresour. Bioprocess:7. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40643-020-0294-0
- Saiyari DM, Chuang HP, Senoro DB, Lin TF, Whang LM, Chiu YT, Chen YH (2018) A review in the current developments of genus Dehalococcoides, its consortia and kinetics for bioremediation options of contaminated groundwater. Sustain Environ Res 28:149–157. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.serj.2018.01.006
- Santarelli RL, Pierre F, Corpet DE (2008) Processed meat and colorectal cancer: a review of epidemiologic and experimental evidence. Nutr Cancer 60:131–144. https://doi.org/10.1080/01635580701684872
- Saratale RG, Saratale GD, Chang JS, Govindwar SP (2009) Decolorization and biodegradation of textile dye navy blue HER by *Trichosporon beigelii* NCIM-3326. J Hazard Mater 166:1421–1428. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2008.12.068

- Sarkar S, Banerjee A, Halder U, Biswas R, Bandopadhyay R (2017) Degradation of synthetic azo dyes of textile industry: a sustainable approach using microbial enzymes. Water Conserv Sci Eng 2:121–131. https://doi.org/10.1007/s41101-017-0031-5
- Schützendübel A, Majcherczyk A, Johannes C, Hüttermann A (1999) Degradation of fluorene, anthracene, phenanthrene, fluoranthene, and pyrene lacks connection to the production of extracellular enzymes by *Pleurotus ostreatus* and *Bjerkandera adusta*. Int Biodeterior Biodegrad 43:93–100. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0964-8305(99)00035-9
- Seo JS, Keum YS, Harada RM, Li QX (2007) Isolation and characterization of bacteria capable of degrading polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) and organophosphorus pesticides from PAH-contaminated soil in Hilo, Hawaii. J Agric Food Chem 2007:5383–5389. https://doi.org/ 10.1021/jf0637630
- Serrano-González MY, Chandra R, Castillo-Zacarias C, Robledo-Padilla F, de M, Rostro-Alanis J, Parra-Saldivar R (2018) Biotransformation and degradation of 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene by microbial metabolism and their interaction, Def. Technol 14:151–164. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dt.2018. 01.004
- Silva IS, Grossman M, Durrant LR (2009) Degradation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (2–7 rings) under microaerobic and very-low-oxygen conditions by soil fungi. Int Biodeterior Biodegradation 63:224–229. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibiod.2008.09.008
- Simarro R, González N, Bautista LF, Sanz R, Molina MC (2011) Optimisation of key abiotic factors of PAH (Naphthalene, Phenanthrene and Anthracene) biodegradation process by a bacterial consortium. Water Air Soil Pollut 217:365–374. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11270-010-0593-8
- Singh SN, Jauhari N (2017) Degradation of atrazine by plants and microbes. Springer, Cham, pp 213–225. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-45156-5_10
- Singh PK, Singh RL (2017) Bio-removal of azo dyes: a review. Int J Appl Sci Biotechnol 5:108–126. https://doi.org/10.3126/ijasbt.v5i2.16881
- Singh BK, Walker A (2006) Microbial degradation of organophosphorus compounds. FEMS Microbiol Rev 30:428–471. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6976.2006.00018.x
- Singh P, Iyengar L, Pandey A (2012) Bacterial decolorization and degradation of azo dyes. Microb Degrad Xenobiotics:101–133. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-23789-8_4
- Singh RL, Singh PK, Singh RP (2015a) Enzymatic decolorization and degradation of azo dyes a review. Int Biodeterior Biodegrad 104:21–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibiod.2015.04.027
- Singh D, Mishra K, Ramanthan G (2015b) Bioremediation of nitroaromatic compounds. In: Wastewater treat, InTech, London. https://doi.org/10.5772/61253
- Singh A, Prasad SM, Singh RP (2016) Plant responses to xenobiotics. Springer, Singapore. https:// doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-2860-1
- Singleton I (1994) Microbial metabolism of xenobiotics: fundamental and applied research. J Chem Technol Biotechnol 59:9–23. https://doi.org/10.1002/jctb.280590104
- Sinha S, Chattopadhyay P, Pan I, Chatterjee S, Chanda P, Bandyopadhyay D, Das K, Sen SK (2009) Microbial transformation of xenobiotics for environmental bioremediation. African J Biotechnol 8:6016–6027. https://doi.org/10.5897/ajb09.740
- Somerville CC, Nishino SF, Spain JC (1995) Purification and characterization of nitrobenzene nitroreductase from *Pseudomonas pseudoalcaligenes* JS45. J Bacteriol 177:3837–3842. https:// doi.org/10.1128/JB.177.13.3837-3842.1995
- Song Z, Burns RG (2005) Depolymerisation and biodegradation of a synthetic tanning agent by activated sludges, the bacteria *Arthrobacter globiformis* and *Comamonas testosteroni*, and the fungus *Cunninghamella polymorpha*. Biodegradation 16:305–318. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10532-004-1723-z
- Song Z, Edwards SR, Burns RG (2005) Biodegradation of naphthalene-2-sulfonic acid present in tannery wastewater by bacterial isolates *Arthrobacter* sp. 2AC and *Comamonas* sp. 4BC. Biodegradation 16:237–252. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10532-004-0889-8
- Srivastava J, Naraian R, Kalra SJS, Chandra H (2014) Advances in microbial bioremediation and the factors influencing the process. Int J Environ Sci Technol 11:1787–1800. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s13762-013-0412-z

- Steliga T (2012) Role of fungi in biodegradation of petroleum hydrocarbons in drill waste. Polish J Environ Stud 21:2
- Strong PJ, Burgess JE (2008) Treatment methods for wine-related and distillery wastewaters: a review. Biorem J 12:70–87. https://doi.org/10.1080/10889860802060063
- Sullivan JP, Dickinson D, Chase HA (1998) Methanotrophs, *Methylosinus trichosporium* OB3b, sMMO, and their application to bioremediation. Crit Rev Microbiol 24:335–373. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/10408419891294217
- Suttinun O, Müller R, Luepromchai E (2009) Trichloroethylene cometabolic degradation by *Rhodococcus* sp. L4 induced with plant essential oils. Biodegradation 20:281–291. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10532-008-9220-4
- Suttinun O, Luepromchai E, Müller R (2013) Cometabolism of trichloroethylene: concepts, limitations and available strategies for sustained biodegradation. Rev Environ Sci Biotechnol 12:99–114. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11157-012-9291-x
- Tahri N, Bahafid W, Sayel H, El Ghachtouli N (2013) Biodegradation: involved microorganisms and genetically engineered microorganisms. In: Biodegrad. Life Sci. InTech, London. https:// doi.org/10.5772/56194
- Takon IA (2019) Sustainable clean-up of xenobiotic compounds in the environment using phanerochaete chrysosporium. Microbiology 2:41-44
- Tilson HA, Kodavanti PRS (1997) Neurochemical effects of polychlorinated biphenyls: an overview and identification of research needs. Neurotoxicology 18:727–744
- Tony BD, Goyal D, Khanna S (2009) Decolorization of direct red 28 by mixed bacterial culture in an up-flow immobilized bioreactor. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 36:955–960. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s10295-009-0574-3
- Tortella GR, Diez MC, Durán N (2005) Fungal diversity and use in decomposition of environmental pollutants. Crit Rev Microbiol 31:197–212. https://doi.org/10.1080/10408410500304066
- Tsai JC, Kumar M, Lin JG (2009) Anaerobic biotransformation of fluorene and phenanthrene by sulfate-reducing bacteria and identification of biotransformation pathway. J Hazard Mater 164:847–855. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2008.08.101
- Tsuboy MS, Angeli JPF, Mantovani MS, Knasmüller S, Umbuzeiro GA, Ribeiro LR (2007) Genotoxic, mutagenic and cytotoxic effects of the commercial dye CI disperse blue 291 in the human hepatic cell line HepG2. Toxicol Vitr 21:1650–1655. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tiv.2007. 06.020
- Tusher TR, Shimizu T, Inoue C, Chien MF (2020) Enrichment and analysis of stable 1,4-dioxanedegrading microbial consortia consisting of novel dioxane-degraders. Microorganisms 8:1–16. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms8010050
- Ulčnik A, Kralj Cigić I, Pohleven F (2013) Degradation of lindane and endosulfan by fungi, fungal and bacterial laccases. World J Microbiol Biotechnol 29:2239–2247. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11274-013-1389-y
- Vamsee-Krishna C, Phale PS (2008) Bacterial degradation of phthalate isomers and their esters. Indian J Microbiol 48:19–34. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12088-008-0003-8
- Van Ginkel CG (1996) Complete degradation of xenobiotic surfactants by consortia of aerobic microorganisms. Biodegradation 7:151–164. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00114627
- Verma JP, Jaiswal DK, Sagar R (2014) Pesticide relevance and their microbial degradation: a-stateof-art. Rev Environ Sci Biotechnol 13:429–466. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11157-014-9341-7
- Viswanath B, Rajesh B, Janardhan A, Kumar AP, Narasimha G (2014) Fungal laccases and their applications in bioremediation. Enzyme Res 2014. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/163242
- Waghmode TR, Kurade MB, Govindwar SP (2011) Time dependent degradation of mixture of structurally different azo and non azo dyes by using Galactomyces geotrichum MTCC 1360. Int Biodeterior Biodegrad 65:479–486. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibiod.2011.01.010
- Wald J, Hroudova M, Jansa J, Vrchotova B, Macek T, Uhlik O (2015) Pseudomonads rule degradation of polyaromatic hydrocarbons in aerated sediment. Front Microbiol 6:1268. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2015.01268

- Wang Y, Wan R, Zhang S, Xie S (2012) Anthracene biodegradation under nitrate-reducing condition and associated microbial community changes. Biotechnol Bioprocess Eng 17:371–376. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12257-011-0567-8
- Wang S, Zhang C, Lv Z, Huang H, Cao X, Song Z, Shao M (2019) Degradation of 3,5,6-trichloro-2-pyridinol by a microbial consortium in dryland soil with anaerobic incubation. Biodegradation 30:161–171. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10532-019-09873-y
- Webb JS, Nixon M, Eastwood IM, Greenhalgh M, Robson GD, Handley PS (2000) Fungal colonization and biodeterioration of plasticized polyvinyl chloride. Appl Environ Microbiol 66:3194–3200. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.66.8.3194-3200.2000
- Wesenberg D (2003) White-rot fungi and their enzymes for the treatment of industrial dye effluents. Biotechnol Adv 22:161–187. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2003.08.011
- Wesenberg D, Kyriakides I, Agathos SN (2003) White-rot fungi and their enzymes for the treatment of industrial dye effluents. In: Biotechnology advances. Elsevier Inc., pp 161–187. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2003.08.011
- Wu WT, Der Jean M (2012) Evaluation of light irradiation on decolorization of azo dyes by *Tsukamurella* sp. J8025. Appl Mech Mater 2012:304–308. https://doi.org/10.4028/www.scientific.net/AMM.145.304
- Xia Y, Min H, Rao G, Lv ZM, Liu J, Ye YF, Duan XJ (2005) Isolation and characterization of phenanthrene-degrading *Sphingomonas paucimobilis* strain ZX4. Biodegradation 16:393–402. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10532-004-2412-7
- Xu X, Liu W, Tian S, Wang W, Qi Q, Jiang P, Gao X, Li F, Li H, Yu H (2018) Petroleum hydrocarbon-degrading bacteria for the remediation of oil pollution under aerobic conditions: a perspective analysis. Front Microbiol 9:2885. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.02885
- Xu X, Zarecki R, Medina S, Ofaim S, Liu X, Chen C, Hu S, Brom D, Gat D, Porob S, Eizenberg H, Ronen Z, Jiang J, Freilich S (2019) Modeling microbial communities from atrazine contaminated soils promotes the development of biostimulation solutions. ISME J 13:494–508. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41396-018-0288-5
- Yang L, Chang YF, Chou MS (1999) Feasibility of bioremediation of trichloroethylene contaminated sites by nitrifying bacteria through cometabolism with ammonia. J Hazard Mater 69:111–126. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3894(99)00098-9
- Yang X, Ye J, Lyu L, Wu Q, Zhang R (2013) Anaerobic biodegradation of pyrene by paracoccus denitrificans under various nitrate/nitrite-reducing conditions. Water Air Soil Pollut 224. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s11270-013-1578-1
- Yoshikawa M, Zhang M, Toyota K (2017) Integrated anaerobic-aerobic biodegradation of multiple contaminants including chlorinated Ethylenes, benzene, toluene, and dichloromethane. Water Air Soil Pollut 228:1–13. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11270-016-3216-1
- Zhao J-S, Ward OP (1999) Microbial degradation of nitrobenzene and mono-nitrophenol by bacteria enriched from municipal activated sludge. Can J Microbiol 45:427–432. https://doi.org/10.1139/w99-026
- Zheng C, Zhou J, Wang J, Qu B, Wang J, Lu H, Zhao H (2009) Aerobic degradation of nitrobenzene by immobilization of *Rhodotorula mucilaginosa* in polyurethane foam. J Hazard Mater 168:298–303. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2009.02.029



8

Microbial Degradation for the Production of Value-Added Compounds: Biohydrogen from Dark Fermentation and Microbial Electrolysis Cells

Iván Moreno-Andrade and Bibiana Cercado

Abstract

Biotechnological processes for biohydrogen production have been developed in recent years, among which dark fermentation and the use of microbial electrolysis cells are two technologies with economic feasibility for the production of organic acids and gaseous fuels such as hydrogen. One of the advantages of these technologies is the possibility of using organic waste as a substrate for the application of the bioprocess. In this chapter, the background, fundamentals and applications of both technologies are presented. Dark fermentation can produce hydrogen, CO₂, and volatile fatty acids as final byproducts of the anaerobic conversion of substrates rich in carbohydrates. This process can be used as an initial step in a biorefinery for the treatment of waste and production of energy and value-added subproducts. Microbial electrolysis cells combine electrochemical cell elements such as electrodes and an external energy source with characteristics of biological reactors to produce energy in the form of electrical current, biogas and hydrogen. Hydrogen gas is formed through the combination of abiotic and biological electrochemical reactions, the latter being catalyzed by electroactive microorganisms. Microbial electrolysis cells represent a flexible technology that provides multiple routes to take advantage of residual biomass for energy production; the focus in this chapter is to describe relevant aspects that characterize this technology.

B. Cercado (🖂)

e-mail: bcercado@cideteq.mx

I. Moreno-Andrade

Laboratorio de Investigación en Procesos Avanzados de Tratamiento de Aguas, Unidad Académica Juriquilla, Instituto de Ingeniería, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México, Santiago de Querétaro, Mexico

Centro de Investigación y Desarrollo Tecnológico en Electroquímica, S.C, Santiago de Querétaro, Mexico

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 Inamuddin et al. (eds.), *Recent Advances in Microbial Degradation*, Environmental and Microbial Biotechnology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-0518-5_8

Keywords

Biohydrogen · Dark fermentation · Microbial electrolysis cell · Organic solid waste

8.1 Hydrogen Production by Dark Fermentation

Dark fermentation (DF) is a well-known process by which it is possible to obtain hydrogen (H₂) as a final byproduct of the anaerobic conversion of substrates rich in carbohydrates. The use of organic waste is the most promising method for H₂ production via sustainable processes in biorefineries for the treatment of waste and production of energy and value-added subproducts. However, currently, the main limitations for the use of organic waste are low production and possible long-term instability. Several investigations have focused on scaling the process, as this is necessary for optimization of H₂ production. Several factors affect H₂ production: pH, organic loading rate, hydraulic residence time (HRT), solid residence time (SRT), partial pressure, temperature, substrate, and inoculum (Favaro et al. 2013; Liu et al. 2006).

The production of H_2 in DF is a natural response to the cellular need to release excess electrons and is carried out in conjunction with the production of different amounts of liquid metabolites such as some organic acids (i.e., acetic, propionic, formic, or butyric acid) and/or solvents (i.e., ethanol and butanol). The most common byproducts in glucose fermentation are acetate and butyrate. The reactions in DF are thermodynamically favorable and spontaneous; however, they are restricted by the biological regulation of microorganisms and by the interactions of microbial communities (Moscoviz et al. 2016).

In practice, the hydrogen yield (YH₂) is within the range of 1.2–2.3 molH₂/ $mol_{glucose}$ (Agyeman and Wendong 2004; Wong et al. 2014), which is lower than the stoichiometric maximum of 4 mol H₂ due to two factors: (i) cell growth and (ii) consumption of substrate without H₂ production from different microorganisms present in mixed microbial cultures. H₂ is a key intermediate product, and it can be consumed for the production of metabolites (Hallenbeck and Benemann 2002; Saady 2013). The principal reactions for the production and consumption of H₂ in DF are presented in Table 8.1. In general, microorganisms that participate in DF are obligate or facultative anaerobes (Mathews and Wang 2009). These two groups of microorganisms possess particular metabolic pathways in which different types of enzymes and coenzymes are involved, leading to differential yields of H₂.

Organic waste has complex components, which mainly include polysaccharides, proteins, and lipids. Polysaccharides can be more easily converted to hydrogen and achieve a high hydrogen yield; proteins and lipids have lower energy conversion efficiency, but they are necessary for microbial growth (Wang and Yin 2019). Biochemical pathways are initiated when organic waste is hydrolyzed through the metabolism of microbes; complex polymers are first hydrolyzed to glucose (Fig. 8.1). In general, H_2 production begins with the conversion of glucose to

Table 8.1 Principal reaction of production and consumption of H_2 in dark fermentation (Dong et al. 2009; Valdez-Vazquez et al. 2009)

Reaction	Equation
Acetic fermentation	Glucose + $2H_2O \rightarrow 2Acetate + 2CO_2 + 4H_2$
Butyric fermentation	$Glucose \rightarrow Butyrate + 2CO_2 + 2H_2$
Mixed fermentation	4 Glucose \rightarrow 2Acetate + 3Butyrate + 8CO ₂ + 8H ₂
Propionic fermentation	Glucose + $2H_2 \rightarrow 2Propionate + 2H_2O$
Anaerobic oxidation	Butyrate + $2H_2O \rightarrow 2H_2$ + $2Acetate + H^+$
Acetogenesis	$4H_2 + 2HCO_3^- + H^+ \rightarrow Acetate + 4H_2O$
Sulfate-reduction	$4H_2+SO_4^{-2}\rightarrow HS^-+3H_2O+OH^-$



Fig. 8.1 Biochemical pathways for the hydrogen production via dark fermentation of organic waste. Modified from Hallenbeck et al., (2002), Ramírez-Morales et al. (2015), and Cabrol et al. (2017)

pyruvate through glycolysis. The latter is transformed to acetyl-CoA by two metabolic enzymes: (i) pyruvate ferredoxin oxidoreductase (PFOR), which is associated with obligate anaerobic microorganisms, and (ii) pyruvate formate lyase (PFL), which is common in facultative anaerobes. In both cases, acetyl-CoA is converted to acetate, butyrate, or ethanol, depending on the microorganisms involved and the environmental conditions (Ramírez-Morales et al. 2015; Tapia-Venegas et al. 2015).

In the PFOR pathway, the pyruvate from glycolysis is oxidized to acetyl-CoA by the PFOR enzyme, which also generates a reduced ferredoxin molecule (Fd_{red}). This molecule is subsequently oxidized by a ferredoxin-dependent hydrogenase (Fd-[FeFe]), which is responsible transferring the electrons to H₂ cations (H⁺), thus forming molecular hydrogen (H₂).

Obligate anaerobes such as species of the genus *Clostridium* can produce additional H₂ from nicotine adenine dinucleotide (NADH) molecules generated during glycolysis, which are oxidized by the action of two types of hydrogenases, one dependent on NADH (NADH-[FeFe]) and another dependent on NADH and reduced ferredoxin (NADH-Fd_{red} - [FeFe]), which occurs under conditions of the low partial pressure of H₂ (less than 6×10^{-4} atm) (Mathews and Wang 2009; Ramírez-Morales et al. 2015).

In the case of PFL, facultative anaerobes completely or partially metabolize pyruvate from glycolysis to formate, which is converted into H_2 and CO_2 via catalysis by the formate hydrogen lyase (FHL) complex, which, depending on the microbial species involved, has a hydrogenase with nickel and iron ions ([NiFe] hydrogenase) or a formate dependent hydrogenase ([FeFe] hydrogenase) (Tapia-Venegas et al. 2015; Cabrol et al. 2017). The microorganisms that use this metabolic pathway are not capable of producing H_2 through the oxidation of NADH, so they are limited to a theoretical yield of 2 mol $H_2/mol_{glucose}$ (Hallenbeck and Benemann 2002).

8.2 Microbial Groups Involved in the H₂ Production by DF

Hydrogen producing bacteria (HPBs) can be divided into three groups: spore-forming obligate anaerobes, nonspore-forming obligate anaerobes, and facultative anaerobes with fermentative metabolism (Cabrol et al. 2017).

The representative genus of spore-forming H₂-producers is *Clostridium* (the most abundant and efficient HPB), reaching yields between 1.5 and 3 molH₂/mol_{hexose} (Laothanachareon et al. 2014). Owing to their ability to form spores, they can withstand heat treatment, facilitating their selection as an inoculum. Additionally, the species of this genus exhibit different metabolic patterns, and their relative abundance varies depending on the substrate used, the operating conditions, and the configuration of the process. For example, *Clostridium acetobutylicum* can switch from acidic metabolism (production of H₂ from acetate or butyrate) to solventogenic metabolism (production of acetone and butanol through the consumption of H₂), which can occur under conditions of low pH, low growth rate, and high concentrations of carbohydrates (Lütke-Eversloh and Bahl 2011). Finally, *Clostridium* species have other activities of interest, such as the saccharolytic activity of *C. tyrobutylicum* (Jo et al. 2007) or the cellulolytic activity of *C. celerecrescens* (Liang et al. 2010), and *C. acetobutylicum* (Wang et al. 2008).

Nonspore-forming obligate anaerobes are capable of persisting and even dominating despite thermal treatment in mixed cultures when the operating conditions of the reactor are favorable in terms of the source of the inoculum, selection of the substrate and operating parameters, thereby replacing *Clostridium* species. These microorganisms mainly belong to the phyla Firmicutes and Bacteroidetes and can attain acceptable YH_2 when *Clostridium* remains inactive (Cabrol et al. 2017).

Facultative fermentative anaerobes can be considered "challengers" in H_2 production since, in practice, some of them can reach or even exceed the hydrogen

productivity reported for *Clostridium* cultures (Patel et al. 2014). Despite their lower theoretical yields, facultative anaerobes may be attractive for their lower sensitivity to O_2 , consuming it during system startup; however, the presence of these microorganisms is limited by drastic treatments of the inoculum or substrate. This group comprises members of the Enterobacteriaceae and Bacillaceae families, including genera such as *Enterobacter* and *Bacillus*, respectively (Cabrol et al. 2017).

In addition to HPB, other microbial groups participate in, favor, or harm the production of H₂. In a complex community during DF, positive interactions can be obtained by using microorganisms that are not capable of producing H_2 or those that are low-efficiency H_2 producers via different mechanisms: (i) regulating the presence of O_2 presence (e.g., *Bacillus*, *Klebsiella*) (Cabrol et al. 2017), (ii) regulating the pH by acidification of the medium (e.g., lactic acid bacteria or LAB) and through the oxidation of short-chain fatty acids, preventing their accumulation and achieving a buffering effect (e.g., lactic acid production by LAB such as Leuconostocaeae and Streptococcaceae; consumption of lactic acids by organisms such as Megasphaera or of propionic acid by organisms such as Syntrophobacter and Syntrophomonas) (Santiago et al. 2019; Chojnacka et al. 2011); (iii) increasing the hydrolysis of complex substrates, for example, by using some LAB, Bacillus, Ruminococcus species (Motte et al. 2014); and (iv) increasing the cell concentration in the reactor through the production of exopolysaccharides (Bacillus, Paenibacillus) or the formation of granules (Prevotella, Klebsiella), preventing the washing or loss of biomass and offering protection against toxic or hostile environments for HPB (Cabrol et al. 2017; Liang et al. 2010).

On the other hand, a negative interaction can be observed mainly via H_2 consumption by four groups of microorganisms: methanogenic, homoacetogenic, sulfate-reducing, and propionate-producing microorganisms, which use H_2 as an electron donor in their metabolic processes, or via substrate competition, which inhibits H_2 production (Cabrol et al. 2017).

Although LAB species are attributed a positive role in the production of H_2 due to their hydrolytic activities and pH regulation activity, these bacteria are associated with negative interactions such as competition with HPB for pyruvate, a substrate involved in the PFL and PFOR routes of H_2 production. Additionally, LAB can inhibit HPB by drastically lowering the pH due to the synthesis of lactic, acetic, and propionic acids or via the production of toxic compounds such as bacteriocins or hydrogen peroxide.

8.3 Hydrogen Production from Organic Solid Waste

Biohydrogen, as a suitable energy source, requires economically viable conversion methods. The factors affecting economic viability include feedstock issues, such as cost, logistics, and supply, which are the main determinants of the overall economy of biomass-to-hydrogen conversion techniques (Staffell et al. 2019; Kamaraj et al. 2020). Waste materials such as agricultural waste, municipal waste, and industrial

waste represent feasible feedstocks for decreasing the cost of raw material. Another advantage is the ability to use DF as the first step in biorefinery processes (producing H_2 as a biofuel and organic acids as subproducts). Organic waste is the most promising waste for bioenergy production due to its current widespread availability at low or no cost, distinct biogas (H₂ and methane) production potential via digestion alone or codigestion with another feedstock, and lack of utility in other commercial applications. The principal organic wastes for H₂ production are the organic fraction of municipal solid waste (OFMSW), food waste, agricultural residual waste and animal-generated waste, due to their high abundance, worldwide availability, and low cost compared to other feedstocks. The OFMSW and food waste contain both macro- and micronutrients, such as carbohydrates, lipids, proteins, minerals, and vitamins, with easy-to-degrade characteristics and low levels of inhibitory compounds, making them the most promising source for hydrogen fermentation (Panigrahi and Dubey 2019; Kamaraj et al. 2020). In the case of food preoperative processing (including storage) can affect the initial waste, characteristics, since the initial production of volatile fatty acids (VFAs) and consumption of carbohydrates (at a low rate) modify the initial pH and content of substrate susceptible totransformation to H₂. To obtain higher biohydrogen yields, in addition to the above factors, parameters such as moisture load, volatile solids, nutrient composition, and biodegradability, are of paramount importance (Kamaraj et al. 2020).

The chemical composition of organic waste can vary depending on the source and the time of sampling, and this variation directly influences the production of H₂. Alibardi and Cossu (2016) reported that the variation in the concentration of carbohydrates in organic waste directly affects the production of H₂. Low H₂ yields were attributed to organic waste rich in cellulose and lignin. These results are consistent with the study conducted by Dong et al. (2009). They focused on the production of H₂ from different components of the organic waste fraction, finding that the components rich in carbohydrates (potato and rice) attained the highest H₂ yields (134 mL/g SV_{removed} and 106 mL/g SV_{removed}); these components had the highest amounts of lipids and lignocellulose.

Lipids are not considered suitable substrates for the production of H_2 since the long-chain fatty acids (LCFAs) generated by β -oxidation are thermodynamically unfavorable in DF, unless the H_2 partial pressure is maintained at extremely low levels, which is not a common situation in DF processes where hydrogen is constantly generated to decrease the reducing equivalents generated. For proteins, all the pathways for degradation to amino acids involve the generation of VFAs and ammonia as secondary metabolites, and approximately 90% of the anaerobic degradation of amino acids is carried out by the Stickland reaction, which does not produce H_2 . Oxidative deamination is not thermodynamically favorable (unless at very low H_2 partial pressure), and reductive deamination consumes H_2 (Dong et al. 2009). Additionally, the generation of ammonia by the degradation of amino acids can affect the system's productivity. Regardless of their role as a direct substrate for H_2 production, some amino acids, such as methionine, alanine, histidine, cytosine, and lysine, can improve H_2 productivity in DF since their bioavailability can

improve the growth and biological activities of fermentative bacteria (Sharma and Melkania 2018).

Differences in the origin and type of organic solid waste (OSW) result in a variation in the solid content. A high solid content can limit the mass transfer between the substrate and the microorganisms; in addition, it is possible to increase the production of fatty acids. The optimal initial concentration of total solids (TS) when using organic waste depends on the composition of the substrate, the reactor configuration, and the active biomass. Valdez-Vazquez and Poggi-Varaldo (2009) studied the effect of ST during H_2 production using organic waste, evaluating a range of 23–35% ST, and reported an increase in H_2 productivity with decreasing TS content. In this study, a specific maximum H_2 production of 463.7 NmL/kg/d and a yield of 54.8 NmL/gTS_{removed} were achieved.

Several studies applying OSW have been performed to determine the kinetic parameters that can estimate the hydrolysis of waste; these kinetic coefficients depend on certain experimental conditions, such as the amount of inoculum and the substrate-to-microorganism ratio (García-Gen et al. 2015). The ranges of the hydrolysis kinetic constant (K_h) of carbohydrates (0.5–2 d⁻¹), proteins (0.25–0.8 d⁻¹), and lipids (0.1–0.7 d⁻¹) vary depending on the characteristics of the residue. Lignin and cellulose are degraded slowly and incompletely and could require additional pretreatment to achieve partial degradation.

8.4 Parameters Affecting the Dark Fermentation of Organic Waste

Various parameters can influence H_2 production, impacting the yields (YH₂) or production rates. Among the most relevant physicochemical parameters are the following:

pH. pH affects the hydrolysis of complex substrates and the activity of enzymes necessary for the production of H_2 (e.g., hydrogenase), the predominant microbial population, and its main metabolic pathways (Anzwar et al. 2014). The optimal pH for H_2 production is in the range of 5.5–6 (Van Ginkel et al. 2001), and a wide operating range of 4.5–8.0 has been reported, which is due to the diversity of the inoculum and substrate (Ghimire et al. 2015). However, a pH below 5.0 is not considered optimal since at this value the change from acidogenesis to the production of alcohols is triggered (Oh et al. 2003).

The two main factors that affect pH are carbon dioxide and volatile acids. The pH range of 6.0–7.5 and the buffer capacity are completely dependent on the carbonic gas/alkalinity system, which, in equilibrium with the dissociation of carbonic acid, tends to regulate the hydrogen ion concentration. pH plays a crucial role during the production of volatile fatty acids, as it directly influences the end products of fermentation. Lactate production has been observed during the fermentation of residues (10–20 g/L) at pH 4.0, showing a microbial community composed predominantly of *Lactobacillus*, followed by *Bifidobacterium*, with the latter considered to be a genus of acetate-forming LAB (Wu et al. 2015). At low pH values

(4.0), the enzymatic activity of hydrogenase may be inhibited (De Gioannis et al. 2013).

This parameter also affects the solubility of molecules such as CO_2 and the availability of nutrients such as ammonium and phosphate, which are essential for microbial growth. Extreme pH values are not tolerated by microorganisms since, under acidic or basic conditions, the microbial components are hydrolyzed or some enzymes are denatured. The optimal pH levels for the activity of acidogenic microorganisms are between 5.5 and 6.5, with acetate and butyrate production favored between pH 4.5 and 6.0, while neutral pH promotes ethanol and propionate production, decreasing H₂ production. pH is also a critical factor for the inhibition of methanogenesis, preventing H₂ consumption (Ramos et al. 2012).

In many cases, to maintain an optimum pH in the reactor, it is necessary to increase alkalinity using substances such as sodium bicarbonate, sodium carbonate, ammonium hydroxide, sodium hydroxide, potassium hydroxide, and calcium carbonate. Sodium bicarbonate is used regularly due to its high solubility and low toxicity (Varnero 2011).

Particle size. For OSW, it is necessary to reduce the particle size using mechanical treatment (crushing or grinding), thereby increasing the solubility and availability of organic matter. The smaller the particle is, the greater the surface area in which the bacteria act, increasing the H_2 yield (Tosuner et al. 2019). Particl of OSW that are less than 0.5 mm in size offer better H_2 production rates than larger particles (Moreno-Andrade and Buitron 2015).

Micronutrients. Micronutrients are necessary as enzyme cofactors such as magnesium (e.g., hexokinase, phosphofructokinase, and phosphoglycerate kinase for glycolysis), iron (hydrogenases), sodium (increase in Fd_{ox} reduction by NADH), nickel ([NiFe] hydrogenase in the PFL pathway) or calcium (contributing to cellular growth) (Balachandar et al. 2013; Bundhoo and Mohee 2016; Karadag and Puhakka 2010). In the case of OSW, these microelements are usually present and need to be added only when absent. For example, the characterization of food waste from a buffet restaurant (with COD of 1.2 g/gTS and 0.37 gTS/g of waste) showed the presence of Fe (70.5 mg/L), Na (127.0 mg/L), Ni (0.01 mg/L), Ca (7.3 mg/L), Cu (0.01 mg/L), Mn (0.2 mg/L), and Al (1.1 mg/L).

Hydrogen partial pressure. Low values of hydrogen partial pressure facilitate the mass transfer of H₂ from the liquid to the gaseous phase. In DF, if the concentration of H₂ in the liquid phase increases, the oxidation of ferredoxin catalyzed by hydrogenase becomes less favorable, thus reducing H₂ production. It has been reported that the increase in metabolic pathways can also shift towards the production of lower-end products, such as lactate, ethanol, acetone, and butanol. The maximum value for this parameter depends on the bacterial species and the substrate. An ideal range is between 9×10^{-4} and 9×10^{-6} atm (Ostrem 2004).

At the metabolic level, if the partial pressure is low enough (<60 Pa), the NADH produced during glycolysis can also be used to generate H₂, but most of the NADH will probably be oxidized through other fermentative routes. To reduce the partial pressure of H₂ in the medium, especially in highly concentrated bioprocesses, agitation is the most common technique (Valdez-Vazquez and Poggi-Varaldo

2009). Controlled agitation, in addition to regulating the partial pressure of H_2 , can also be use to remove the metabolites produced, mix fresh substrate with the bacterial population, distribute the temperature evenly, and prevent the formation of dead spaces without biological activity that could reduce the practical volume of the reactor, preventing the formation of foams and sedimentation (Varnero 2011). A continuous mixing speed of 100 rpm in the reactors improves stability during process start-up. Mixing can be carried out with mechanical agitators, sludge recirculation, or biogas injection, with mechanical agitation being the most effective.

Temperature. This is an essential parameter in the growth of microorganisms and, consequently, in the generation of H₂. DF can be carried out at different temperatures: mesophilic (25–40 °C) and thermophilic (40–65 °C). Mesophilic conditions turn are more stable than thermophilic conditions due to the wide variety of fermentative microbial species favored in the mesophilic range (Yang et al. 2018).

Shin et al. (2004) evaluated H_2 production from organic waste by two reactors at different temperatures (35 and 55 °C); in both experiments, butyric acid was found to be the main metabolite at pH 4.5. The presence of methane was detected only at a mesophilic temperature in a 50 h incubation period, demonstrating the inhibition of methane production and the decrease in propionate production under thermophilic conditions. Microbiological analyses also demonstrated the presence of LAB under thermophilic conditions and bacteria of the genus Clostridium at 55 °C. Additionally, temperature affects the metabolic pathways and therefore the proportions of the metabolites obtained (Ghimire et al. 2015). Higher production yields (YH₂ values) have been reported under thermophilic conditions than under mesophilic conditions (Ziara et al. 2019; Valdez-Vazquez et al. 2005), suggesting that high temperatures improve the hydrolysis of the substrate. However, thermophilic systems tend to be more unstable when faced with changes in temperature. In these systems, a sudden increase in temperature can affect the fermentation process, decreasing the production of H_2 . The principal drawback is the cost of increasing the temperature to maintain a thermophilic system. Therefore, H_2 production processes have mainly used mesophilic temperatures. Regardless of the temperature at which the system is operated, the condition needs to be maintained once the steady-state has been reached (although it can vary up to ± 0.5 °C), if constant production of biogas is desired. Small fluctuations (± 3 °C) can be tolerated, especially if the process remains stable in terms of other important parameters, such as pH and alkalinity.

Hydraulic retention time (HRT). The time necessary for H_2 production depends on the substrate characteristics, degradability, and organic loading rate of the system (in TS or COD). The HRT needs to be long enoughfor organic waste hydrolysis and H_2 production but short enough to avoid the growth of methanogens (with a slow growth rate of 0.0167–0.02 h⁻¹), which would consume the H_2 produced or displace the H_2 producers (high growth rate of 0.172 h⁻¹). For easy-to-degrade waste, the HRT will be short. Methanogenic archaea grow slower (in HRT>1 d) than H_2 -producing microorganisms (Ramírez-Morales et al. 2015). HRT is the main parameter determining the community composition in the process (Santiago et al. 2020). Finally, a decrease in the HRT reduces the size of the reactor and, thus, the investment costs. The typical HRT for H_2 production ranges between 6 and 36 h. *Sludge retention time (SRT).* The SRT is the average time that organic matter or volatile solids are in the system. In continuous stirred tank reactor (CSTR) and plug flow reactor (PFR), reactors without recirculation, the HRT and SRT are the same (Varnero 2011); however, if there is recirculation of solids, the SRT and HRT vary significantly between the two types of reactors. In the case of sequencing batch reactors (SBRs), the HRT and the SRT are decoupled due to the settling phase in this process.

The SRT is the most important factor to control the conversion of solids to gas and to maintain the stability of the system. It has been reported that high SRT values can allow adequate hydrolysis of the particulate substrate (increasing the soluble COD) and degradation of the substrate. However, this promotes the growth of microorganisms that affect the process, such as H₂ consumers (e.g., homoacetogenic, sulfate-reducing bacteria and methanogenic archaea) (Moreno-Andrade et al. 2015; Castillo-Hernandez et al. 2015; Castelló et al. 2009; Santiago et al. 2020). On the other hand, the low values of this parameter can limit the growth of microbial populations that are harmful to the process.

It is necessary attain a balance between substrate degradation and biomass retention to maximize the production of H_2 .

Control of the SRT and HRT is a key factor to maximize H_2 production. Studies have documented the use of various HRT and SRT values to maximize H_2 production using organic waste. Table 8.2 shows that HRT and SRT depend on the type of substrate used during H_2 production. Short HRTs reflect the use of easily assimilated substrates for microorganisms, and in combination with long SRTs, they increase substrate hydrolysis.

The levels of fatty acids increase or decrease according to the different metabolic pathways favored by the operating conditions. Kim et al. (2008) evaluated different HRTs and SRTs in an SBR using organic waste, reporting SRT values of up to 126 h without the presence of methane. The highest production of H₂ was attained at an HRT of 30 h and an SRT of 126 h (2.73 L H₂/L_{reactor}/d), due to improved hydrolysis in the process. Santiago et al. (2020), using food waste in an SBR, reported the maximization of H₂ production, achieving high substrate hydrolysis and yield (127.26 mLH₂/gCOD_{removed}) at an SRT of 60 h and an HRT of 16 h. The use of different SRTs and HRTs also influenced the subproducts of the process, since with an SRT of 20 h and an HRT of 16 h, acetic acid-like fatty acids were mainly obtained, while with a long SRT (60 h), the obtained fatty acid was butyrate. A short SRT (<20 h) affects H₂ production (up to 90%) when OSW is used as the substrate.

8.5 Bioreactors for Hydrogen Production

Different configurations of bioreactors have been applied for hydrogen production from organic waste, including systems operated in batches (including SBRs), continuously and semicontinuously. CSTRs have been widely used for the production of H_2 due to their simple construction, ease of operation, effective homogeneous

Reactor	H	SRT	HRT			H ₂ production (LH ₂ /	
type	(°C)	(h (h)	(h)	Substrate	Yield H ₂	L·d)	Reference
SBR	35	54	9	Starch	$2.44 \text{ mmol H}_2/\text{g}$	4.12	Arooj et al. (2008)
					glucose _{added}		
SBR	35	NA	36	Food waste	2.77 mmol H ₂ /g glucose	1.16	Kim et al. (2010)
SBR	35	NA	24	Food waste	3.83 mmol H ₂ /gVS _{added}	0.75	Moreno-Andrade et al. (2014)
SBR	37	264	72	Palm oil mill	13.45 mmol H ₂ /	6.7	Badiei et al. (2011)
				effluent	gCOD _{added}		
SBR	30	NA	24	Sorghum waste	3.77 mmol H ₂ /g glucose	0.93	Saraphirom and Reungsang (2011)
SBR	35	126	30	Food waste	3.20 mmol H ₂ /g SV _{adicionado}	2.73	Kim et al. (2008)
SBR	35	55	16	Food waste	5.0 mmol H ₂ /gCOD _{added}	1.8	Santiago et al. (2020)
CSTR	35	12	12	Starch	4.99 mmol H ₂ /g glucose	4.29	Arooj et al. (2008)
CSTR	35	12	12	Sorghum waste	0.4115 mmol H ₂ /g sorgo	1.74	Antonopoulou et al. (2008)
CSTR	35	12	12	Food waste	0.5 mmol H ₂ /gVS _{aded}	0.5	Castillo-Hernandez et al.
							(2015)

Table 8.2 SRT and HRT used for hydrogen production from different organic wastes

NA not available

mixing, and ability to maintain a fixed HRT. However, in this type of reactor, the SRT is equal to the HRT, so when operating at low HRT, active biomass washing may occur (Hafez et al. 2010). Methane production has been reported to be responsible for instability in CSTRs a few times under specific conditions, such as HRT and pH values higher than 24 h and 6, respectively, at least under conditions that allow the growth of methanogenic organisms (Castelló et al. 2020).

Castillo-Hernandez et al. (2015) studied the volumetric production of H_2 by evaluating different HRTs (24, 12, and 8 h) and observed that the increase in HRT resulted in a decrease in COD removal, proteins, and H_2 yield. The highest production of H_2 (19.8 mmol $H_2/L/d$) was attained at 12 h, while at an HRT of 8 h, the production of H_2 decreased by up to 40%, with propionic acid as the main VFA produced.

Arooj et al. 2008 reported the washing of active H_2 -producing biomass by decreasing the HRT to 3 h in a CSTR using starch as substrate; this was reflected in the decrease in H_2 production. However, when evaluating residence times between 9 and 6 h, an increase in acetate production was observed due to the consumption of H_2 (homoacetogenesis). The above was estimated according to the mass balance for each HRT. This fermentative route can be eliminated by appropriate control of the residence time. To avoid biomass washing, it is necessary to provide more significant contact between the substrate and the microorganisms and avoid changes in the microbial population. It is necessary to apply an adequate SRT when complex substrates are used, such as OSW.

Some studies have focused on decoupling SRT and HRT. Hafez et al. 2010 studied the production of H_2 using glucose as a substrate in two CSTR systems for H_2 production (one including a settling tank) operated at an SRT of 2.2 d and an HRT of 8 h. The highest H_2 production stability was obtained when the SRT was controlled by the settling tank (increasing the yield of H_2 by 38%). The lack of a settling tank results in a failure due to biomass washing (in an HRT of 8 h). Reactor configurations that allow the decoupling of HRT and SRT (such as the SBRs) can improve H_2 production and yield.

SBRs are an alternative system for the production of H_2 using organic waste; these reactors are characterized by a periodic system of well-defined phases: filling, reaction, settling, and drawing. These reactors have the advantage of operating in a flexible manner, and all the stages are carried out in the same reactor. Piemonte et al. (2014) studied the reaction time as a key factor for H_2 production in an SBR, and found that a reaction time greater than 3.43 h ensures a stable H_2 production efficiency. Strict control of each of the stages will allow guiding of the metabolic route towards the production of the desired products.

The settling phase showed separation into three layers: (i) high accumulation of lipids, (ii) retention of nonsettled solids in the supernatant, and (iii) retention of solids in the bottom of the reactor (Kim et al. 2010). By decanting the first layer, it is possible to eliminate the lipids accumulated in the reactor and avoid possible failures during the production of H₂ (Castillo-Hernandez et al. 2015). For OSW, the third layer contains the microorganisms and solid waste combined; for this reason, in the typical measurement of total solids or volatile solids, the sum of both is considered.

Accurate measurement of the distinction between active biomass and organic residues can be performed by molecular techniques.

Moreno-Andrade et al. (2015) studied the production of H_2 in an SBR using organic waste from a cafeteria, and the maximum H_2 production was 0.715 L/L/d at an HRT of 24 h. The main fatty acids produced were acetic acid followed by butyric acid. The microbial analyses showed a similarity of the microbial communities among the different HRTs evaluated. The stability of the composition among HRTs could be related to the use of the same substrate throughout operation. The genus *Megasphaera* represented 85% of the total in all the analyses performed, followed by the genus *Selenomonas*; it is possible that this type of microflora may be present in the organic waste and is constantly fed to the reactor (Castelló et al. 2009).

CSTR and SBRs are usually operated with suspended biomass; however, the use of biomass retention in granules, as in upflow anaerobic sludge blanket reactors (UASBs), expanded granular sludge bed reactors (EGSBs), or inert supports such as fixed bed reactors (FBRs), has been proposed mainly for semisolids and liquid substrates (cheese whey or wastewater). These types of reactors exhibited a higher microbial diversity than reactors with suspended biomass; however, currently, it is still not clear whether it is more convenient to have a high diversity or to have highly specialized communities that could ensure high productivity (Castelló et al. 2020).

8.6 Fundamentals of Microbial Electrolysis Cells

The catalytic activity of electrochemically active microorganisms during organic matter oxidation supports bioelectrochemical technology known as microbial electrolysis cells (MECs). MECs combine elements of electrochemical cells, such as electrodes, a membrane, and an external power source, with characteristics of biological reactors that include the feeding of biodegradable matter and the presence of microbial communities at favorable temperature and pH values (Liu and Hu 2012). This set of components results in a hybrid system for the generation of products of commercial value; the products obtained from MECs are mainly organic acids and gaseous fuels such as hydrogen and methane (Fig. 8.2).

A conventional MEC is made up of two compartments separated by a membrane that is selective to the passage of ions. The anode compartment is fed with biodegradable matter that supplies basic nutrients (C, H, O, N, S, P) to the microorganisms that are suspended and forms a biofilm on the anode electrode. Electroactive microorganisms degrade organic matter via oxidation reactions in which electrons, protons, and carbon dioxide are produced. A part of the electron flow is directed to the solid material of the electrode, and they circulate through an external circuit towards the cathode electrode, thus generating an electric current. The protons produced during the oxidation of matter ideally migrate to the cathode chamber through the selective membrane. The external energy source makes it possible to impose a potential difference between the anode and the cathode, and this condition causes the occurrence of reduction reactions on the cathode. The oxidation on the anode and reduction on the cathode are linked to electron flow, which adds to the



Fig. 8.2 Schematization of the components of a microbial electrolysis cell. Modified from Rosales-Sierra et al. (2017)

flow of electrons generated by microbial activity (Rozendal et al. 2006). The total electric charge reaching the cathode results in an electrode reaction for the formation of products of interest in the cathodic chamber; the electric circuit is closed by protons present in the form of ionized water molecules (H_3O^+). Thus, the electrons or electric charge are combined with protons on the cathode to form hydrogen molecules (Rabaey and Rozendal 2010).

The oxidation reaction at the anode is represented in Eq. (8.1).

$$C_aH_bO_cN_d + H_2O + inoculum \rightarrow CO_2 + 2e^- + 2H^+ + biomass$$
 (8.1)

The microorganisms or inoculum act as pseudocatalysts for the oxidation reaction of the organic matter, and ideally, all the matter is mineralized to carbon dioxide. This reaction occurs with carbonaceous matter such as acetate at a standard reduction potential of -0.280 V/SHE for acetate and -0.430 V/SHE for gluclose.

In the cathodic chamber, the reduction reaction in a neutral medium is represented in Eq. (8.2).

$$3H_2O + 2e^- \rightarrow H_{2(g)} + 2OH^- + H_2O \quad E^0 = 0.83 \text{ V/SHE}$$
 (8.2)

The number of moles of hydrogen and electrons produced in the oxidation reaction is proportional to the number of moles of hydrogen gas produced in the reduction reaction; thus, the overall reaction in the MEC can be presented as Eq. ((8.3)).

$$C_aH_bO_cN_d + inoculum \rightarrow H_{2(g)} + CO_2 + biomass$$
 (8.3)

The theoretical thermodynamic potential of the cell is given by the positive potential of the anode minus the negative potential of the cathode. In this way, the potential of the cell represents the theoretical energy necessary to carry out the global reaction.

When the MEC is fed with acetate, the theoretical thermodynamic potential of the hydrogen-producing cell is $E_{cell} = -1.10$ V, while in the case of glucose-fed MECs, the potential is $E_{cell} = -1.26$ V.

In addition to the possible variations in anodic reactions, the hydrogen reduction reaction can be modified by the concentration of protons in the medium, which is indicated by the pH of the electrolyte (Zeng and Zhang 2010). The reduction reaction of ionized water in acidic pH is presented in Eq. (8.4).

$$2H_3O^+ + 2e^- \rightarrow H_{2(g)} + 2H_2O \qquad E^{0'} = 0.0 \text{ V/SHE}$$
 (8.4)

The MEC potential changes to $E_{cell} = -0.28$ V with acetate and to $E_{cell} = -0.43$ V with glucose.

These calculations with model substrates and a theoretical cathode potential are an indication of the wide variety of conditions in which MECs operate to produce hydrogen. The estimation of the actual cell potentials is influenced by interferences caused by compounds in complex substrates and by energy losses at the solid-liquid interfaces and in external connections; therefore it is necessary to evaluate the cell potential in each particular MEC system.

8.7 History of the Development of Bioelectrochemical Systems

The development of MECs was preceded by microbial fuel cells (MFCs) and can be attributed to knowledge generated from the latter; the initial research on MECs increased rapidly. In the 1990s, MFCs were studied with pure cultures of microorganisms fed simple synthetic substrates, and external mediators were used to favor the transfer of charge at the cathode (Allen and Bennetto 1993). At the beginning of the 2000s, Lovley's research group reported charge transfer between various *Geobacter* species and solid electrode material (Lovley 2008), and this knowledge was used for the application of the electrical current produced in marine sediments to power ocean-monitoring devices (Donovan et al. 2008). From these first reports, MFCs were developed without the use of external mediators, complex substrates such as chitin and starch were investigated, and studies on different electrode materials began (Rezaei et al. 2007; Dumas et al. 2007). Circa 2005, Logan and his research group used wastewater to feed MFCs, and they proposed a new system for the treatment of water simultaneously with the production of energy that could be used to reduce energy consumption for wastewater treatment (Bruce E. Logan and Rabaey 2012). Based on this perspective, new cell designs were proposed; in microbiological research, new genera, families, and species of electroactive microorganisms were identified (Logan and Regan 2006; Rabaey et al. 2007). At the end of the first decade of the 2000s, two mechanisms of electron transfer were established: direct transfer through the membrane of the microbial cell and pili, and transfer via redox mediators produced by microorganisms (Schröder





2007). The increased understanding of charge transfer mechanisms led to the development of models that included microbial species with different functions and different charge transfer mechanisms (Marcus et al. 2007). In the same period, efforts to scale up electrochemical cells from ten milliliters to several liters were made (Rabaey et al. 2005), in addition to scaling down to microsized electrochemical cells. For the former, the results did not allow continuing with the scaling since it was frequently observed that the power of the cell decreased with increasing dimensions; microcells, however, exhibited adequate performance for use as biosensors for organic matter, toxic compounds, and biofilm growth (Su et al. 2011). Starting in 2010, the applications of MFCs were diversified, with which the terminology was expanded to include electrolysis, desalination, and electrosynthesis cells. The terminology for microorganisms, cells, and operation was compiled in a review, and efforts are continually being made to standardize the nomenclature at the international level (Schröder et al. 2015).

The first mention of the possible electrolysis operation of an MEC was provided by Allen and Benetto in 1993 (Allen and Bennetto 1993). Later, Liu et al. (Liu et al. 2005) presented the first operating results of MECs. Since then, the number of publications on MECs has increased exponentially, with an unexpected plateau in 2017–2019. The observed plateau was possibly due to the limitations observed during the scaling of MECs and because research on real applications is scarce (Fig. 8.3).

8.8 Electroactive Microorganisms and Electron Transfer Mechanisms

Microorganisms with the ability to transfer and receive electrons or electrical charge from a solid electrode material have been called electroactive, electrogenic, exoelectric, and anode-respiring bacteria (for those that transfer charge to the anode). In the jargon of electrochemistry, an electroactive species is one that generates a current signal at a particular potential value, due to which it seems convenient to use the term electroactive in a generalized manner, while exoelectrogenic or endoelectrogenic can be used to distinguish the function of the microorganism on the electrode; however, these terms cannot be used for classification since there are species that perform both functions. For example, *Geobacter* spp. are frequently reported in anodic biofilms but have also been identified in cathodic biofilms.

The species of microorganisms studied in depth are those of *Geobacter* and *Shewanella*. The genome sequence of *Geobacter metallireducens* has been investigated for molecular modification of charge exchange structures that include pili and flagella (Dantas et al. 2015). In *Shewanella* species, the production of the charge-transporting metabolites and changes in cytochromes activity have been studied as a function of the electrochemical potential to which the microorganisms are subjected (Brutinel and Gralnick 2012).

In addition to the study of pure cultures, mixed cultures made up of nonelectroactive and electroactive species have been investigated. Nonelectroactive species are used to degrade complex organic molecules, and once compounds with short carbon chains are obtained, the electroactive species consume mainly acetate, as observed with a mixed culture consisting of *Clostridium cellulyticum-Geobacter sulfurreducens* (Ren et al. 2008).

Thus, basic research on charge transfer mechanisms is based on the study of pure cultures of known species, while applied research exploits consortia of natural media and effluents to inoculate MECs. Consortia exhibit greater resistance to changes in substrate, pH, and temperature; sources of electroactive communities are mainly marine sediments, sewage, aerobic and anaerobic sludge, granular sludge, soil, compost leachate, and effluents from other MECs that have been in operation for several months or years.

The use of consortia is frequently accompanied by a process of acclimatization to the environment and enrichment of electroactive species through successive cultures. Differences between the community in biofilms and the community in suspensions have been reported (Flayac et al. 2018; Cardena et al. 2018). This finding is relevant because it indicates that different biological processes could occur to maintain a balance in the MEC. The ecological relationships of suspended communities and electroactive biofilms continue to be a focus of research.

Consortia in long-term operated reactors seem to evolve from high to low diversity, thereby enriching electroactive species, which results in the formation of high-performance bioelectrodes (Cardena et al. 2018).

Charge transfer mechanisms have been classified into direct transfer and mediated transfer. Direct charge transfer involves cytochromes in the cell membrane, pili, and flagella, while mediated transfer is carried out by redox mediators, which are either produced by the microorganisms or added to the medium (Kumar et al. 2017).

The cytochromes involved in the electroactive properties are a function of the microbial species. For instance, multiheme cytochromes and multicopper proteins are found in *Geobacter* spp., while a series of multiheme cytochrome complexes are present in *Shewanella* spp. Cytochromes are also present in pilus-like structures,

which favor electron transfer over relatively long distances and also favor contact between microbial cells; moreover, the conductivity in pili is also attributed to the truncated PilA monomer (Costa et al. 2018).

The mediated electron transfer involves molecules that act as electron shuttles that have mostly negative reduction potentials. Flavins are natural mediators involved in two-electron reduction; flavin adenine dinucleotide (FAD) has a standard reduction potential of -0.219 V but varies with the type of flavo-protein and the active site (riboflavin, flavin mononucleotide). Phenazine is produced by *Pseudomonas* spp., this mediator has a standard reduction potential of -0.247 V/Ag/AgCl. The reduction and oxidation of mediators occur in the periplasmatic membrane, thus facilitating the transfer of electrons to the electrode (Marsili et al. 2008).

8.9 Substrates: Types and Limitations for Current Production

Substrates for electroactive microorganisms can be simple or complex and are supplied at low or high concentrations; however, simple and low-concentration substrates are favorable for electricity production and therefore for hydrogen gas formation on the cathode. Simple substrates include short-chain organic acids such as acetate, propionate, and butyrate, as well as fermentable substrates such as glucose and lactose.

Acetate is the model substrate for microbial electrochemical cells because it leads to the greatest production of electrical current. Acids with 1–5 carbon chains undergo conversions that can increase the acetate concentration in the medium, thus favoring the charge transfer process by electroactive microorganisms (Rosales-Sierra et al. 2017).

Fermentable substrates undergo partial oxidations in which the demand for electrons is greater than that for the transformations of short-chain organic acids because the fermentation reactions are more diverse in fermentation pathways. In addition, the degree of reduction also influences the preference or affinity of electroactive microorganisms for certain organic compounds. The compounds favoring bioelectrochemical processes are in the order: acetate, short-chain organic acids, and simple fermentable substrates.

Proteins present in wastewater have also been proven to act as substrates in bioelectrochemical systems; however, they are used very rarely due to the low production of hydrogen observed (Lu et al. 2010).

Complex substrates of known composition that have also been tested include cellulose, starch, and chitin. Other complex substrates of unknown composition are used in research aimed at water treatment and waste recovery. Wastewater from domestic, industrial, and other bioprocesses is rich in organic matter and essential nutrients for microbial activity, but effluents with toxic, inorganic and recalcitrant compounds such as metals and drugs have also been tested in MECs (Paz-Mireles et al. 2019). The use of effluents from other bioprocesses is of great interest for the integration of biorefineries, in which maximum energy efficiency is desirable.

The concentration of the substrate fed to the cells is a major factor in the electron transfer process. Simple substrates of known composition have made it possible to identify the limiting concentration for batch fed systems through behavior that follows the Monod model. The substrate concentration value that corresponds to half the maximum current value has been defined as the substrate saturation constant (Torres et al. 2010).

The saturation constants for complex substrates are difficult to determine because the transformation of high molecular weight molecules into simpler molecules causes a diauxic-type current response in which a current plateau is not observed but peaks or consecutive periods of increase and stabilization of electrical current are observed (Cercado-Quezada et al. 2010).

High concentrations of substrates of unknown composition are the least favorable condition for charge transfer; however, it is closer to actual conditions during the application of the cells. MECs fed complex and high-concentration substrates are being investigated for optimization of both hydrogen production and organics removal.

Based on studies on different types and concentrations of substrates, it is possible to confirm that, although they present limitations for electrical current production, it is necessary to continue with tests of complex substrates at high concentrations since this condition will enable exploitation of actual industrial effluents.

8.10 MEC Voltage and Electrode Potential

Charge transfer follows a chain from an oxidized compound to the anode through the microbial cell. The potential of the compound that acts as a substrate tends to have negative values; for example, for acetate the standard reduction potential is -280 V/SHE. Then, the compound is metabolized inside the cell, and a fraction of the charge generated is transferred via the cytochromes towards the electrode, which is subjected to a fixed positive potential.

The variation in potential between a negative value and a positive value represents energy production according to Eq. (8.5).

$$\Delta G^0 = -nF \left(E^0_{\text{substrate}} - E^0_{\text{anode}} \right) \tag{8.5}$$

At the cell membrane-electrode interface, the standard reduction potential of cytochromes is difficult to control due to the diversity of microbial species that can colonize the electrode, the variety of cytochromes that occur in the membranes, and the possible variations in the potential of cytochromes as a function of their position on the membrane. On the other hand, the potential of the electrode can be controlled using a potentiostat/galvanostat.

Owing to the uncertainty in establishing the standard reduction potentials of the cytochromes involved in the transfer of charge to the electrode, the potential of the known substrate (either acetate or glucose) is usually used for theoretical calculations. Table 8.3 lists the reduction potentials of some key elements in the

Table 8.3 Standard reduction potential of compounds of biological	Redox couple	E° , V/SHE
	CO ₂ /glucose	-0.430
interest (Rabaey and	2H ⁺ /H ₂	-0.420
Rozendal 2010; Torres et al. 2010)	CO ₂ /acetate	-0.280
	$2H_3O^+ + 2e^- \rightarrow H_{2(g)} + 2H_2O$	0.0
	Cytochrome c (Fe ³⁺)/cytochrome c (Fe ²⁺)	+0.254
	$3H_2O + 2e^- \rightarrow H_{2(g)} + 2OH^- + H_2O$	+0.830
	$O_2 + 4H^+ + 4e^- \rightarrow 2H_2O$	+0.840

transfer of microorganisms to the electrode and to other compounds that might be found in the medium.

The difference in potential between glucose or acetate and the reported cytochromes is positive, resulting in energy production. When the final charge acceptor is a compound with a reduction potential greater than the potential of cytochromes, for example, oxygen with water as a product of the reaction, charge transfer is favorable because it results in a large amount of energy production. On the contrary, when the final acceptor is hydrogen ion, which forms hydrogen molecules, the potential difference is negative and there is no spontaneous energy production.

As previously mentioned, the cell voltage is proportional to the difference in potential between the reaction at the anode and the reaction at the cathode; thus, the theoretical potential for hydrogen production from acetate is -1.10 V/SHE. However, due to energy losses that include the resistance to the transfer of electrical charge in the connections and ionic charge in the electrolytic medium, the voltage required is greater, as shown in Eq. (8.6).

$$E_{\text{cell}} = (E_{\text{anode}} - \text{IR}_{\text{activation,anode}} - \text{IR}_{\text{concentration,anode}}) - (E_{\text{cathode}} - \text{IR}_{\text{activation,cathode}} - \text{IR}_{\text{concentration,cathode}}) - \text{IR}_{\text{ohmic}}$$
(8.6)

The relationship between the flow of charge in the electrode-electrolyte interface and the reduction potential of the compounds is represented by the Nernst-Monod equation (Eq. 8.7). The charge transfer between the substrate and the electrode is explained by the Butler-Volmer equation (Eq. 8.8) (Torres et al. 2010).

$$j = j_{\max}\left(\frac{1}{1 + \exp\left[\frac{-F}{RT}(E_{OM} - E_K)\right]}\right)$$
(8.7)

where *j* is the current density

F is the Faraday constant

R is the ideal gas constant

T is the operation temperature

 $E_{\rm OM}$ is the potential of the outer membrane cytochromes

 $E_{\rm K}$ is the anode potential at a maximum half current

$$j = j_0 \exp\left[\frac{nF}{RT}(1-\alpha)\left(E_{\text{anode}} - E^0\right)\right]$$
(8.8)

where

 J_0 is the exchange current

 α is the charge transfer coefficient

 E^0 is the reduction potential for the species on the electrode

The anode potential is an element of experimental control, and the effect of this potential on the growth and activity of microorganisms has been evaluated in diverse studies. The results for different species and electrode materials seem to agree on the following aspects:

- The species forming the biofilm are influenced by the potential of the electrode.
- · Microbial activity increases with electrode potential.
- The mechanism of electron transfer, direct or mediated, is affected by the electrode potential.
- There is an optimal electrode potential for the current production.

The anode potential was investigated in the range of -0.3 V to 2.0 V/SHE, whereas the cathode potential was investigated in the range of -0.4 V to -1.1 V/SHE (Jafary et al. 2015). The effects of the cathode potential on the activity of microorganisms capable of receiving charge are similar to those of the anode potential.

The potential of the electrodes is controlled in the laboratory via a potentiostat; however, for real applications, it is envisaged that a power source would be needed. Control by using a power source is not necessarily precise for each electrode, the anode and cathode suffer fluctuations along with both biofilm development on the carbonaceous material and fouling or corrosion of the metallic electrode.

A comparison between the use of a potentiostat and a power source showed superior overall performance using the potentiostat (Nam et al. 2011); however, the power source could be a more viable option for a high-scale industrial application.

8.11 Parameters Affecting the MEC Performance

The physical-chemical parameters used for the evaluation of MECs are the pH and conductivity. The concentration of hydrogen ions in the electroactive biofilm on the anode can limit oxidation reactions. The pH of the electrolyte that surrounds the cathode directs the hydrogen evolution reaction; as mentioned previously, at neutral pH, the production of hydroxyl ions increases the pH of the medium (Eq. 8.2).

The conductivity of the anolyte is controlled by the addition of salts compatible with microbial activity, such as sodium chloride and potassium chloride, while the conductivity in the catholyte is adjusted by changes in the composition and concentration of buffer solutions. Research on electrolytic media is aimed at reducing the concentration of salts and their cost (Nam and Logan 2012).

One of the biological parameters that characterize the cells is the amount of sessile and planktonic microbial biomass. Biofilm development is monitored via scanning electron microscopy; transmission electron microscopy is also used to evaluate the roughness of biofilms. Another tool is scanning electrochemical microscopy, which can be applied for monitoring electroactive biofilms.

Electrochemical performance is determined by open circuit potential, cyclic voltammetry, linear sweep voltammetry, electrochemical impedance spectroscopy, and chronoamperometry. The open circuit potential shows the equilibrium state of the electrode-electrolyte systems when there is no current flow, and there is a distinction between the open circuit potential for an electrode and the open circuit voltage for the cell. The latter is referred to as the difference in potentials between the anode and cathode, while the former refers to only one electrode with respect to a reference electrode (SHE, Ag/AgCl, SCE, etc.). The equilibrium in a microbial electrochemical system is pseudostationary since the biofilm is a dynamic system; therefore, the open-circuit potential can be reached in a few hours for previously colonized electrodes but may require tens of days for noncolonized electrodes.

The potential of electrodes at zero current is positive for the anode and negative for the cathode, however, the biofilm on the electrode material causes the evolution of the potential in the anode. Figure 8.4 schematizes the current profile against potential in each of the electrodes in an electrolysis cell. The change in potential that occurs due to biofilm development at the anode causes the cell voltage to decrease, so the external energy consumption also decreases.

The cyclic voltammetry technique involves scanning the potential of a stationary working electrode using a triangular potential waveform (Fig. 8.5a). During the potential sweep, the potentiostat measures the current resulting from electrochemical reactions occurring at the electrode interface and triggers the applied potential. Voltamperograms indicate the location of redox potentials for cytochromes, mediators, and other electroactive species (Fig. 8.5b).

The scanning speed and the presence or absence of substrate during voltammetry allows obtaining the kinetic parameter (α) to estimate the current density in a redox system (Rousseau et al. 2014).

Chronoamperometry consists of applying a fixed potential to the electrode during a period in which the current generated is recorded during the reactions occurring at the potential value. Changes in current occur due to changes in the concentration of reactants in the vicinity of the electrode or modifications of the surface, such as biofilm growth.

The area under the curve that forms the chronoamperogram represents the experimental electric charge generated in the electrode-electrolyte system at a given potential and serves as an element of comparison between MECs.

The electrochemical impedance spectroscopy technique is based on the excitation of the electrochemical system by a sinusoidal signal around a fixed potential. This technique provides information on the distribution of resistances including the



Fig. 8.4 Diagram of the evolution of current with changes in anode, bio-anode and cathode potentials in an electrolysis cell. Modified from Bockris (1998)



Fig. 8.5 Cyclic voltammetry. (a) Representation of changes in potential over time. (b) Representation of changes in current with the electrode potential. Modified from Bockris (1998)

ohmic resistance and the charge transfer resistance. The impedance data are represented in the form of Nyquist spectra and the form of Bode plots (Fig. 8.6).

The analysis of the Nyquist spectra is preceded by the establishment of an electronic circuit that is equivalent to the elements that constitute the electrode–



Fig. 8.6 Graphic representation of impedance data. (a) Nyquist spectrum. (b) Bode-impedance module. (c) Bode-phase angle. Modified from Bockris (1998)

Analytical technique	Information provided
Open circuit potential	Evolution and stability of bioelectrodes
Voltammetry	Evidence of redox chemical species Electrochemical potential at the maximum electroactivity Kinetic parameters
Chronoamperometry	Maximum current density at a certain substrate concentration Experimental charge
Electrochemical impedance spectroscopy	Ohmic resistance Charge transfer resistance

 Table 8.4
 Electrochemical techniques used for the evaluation of MECs (Bockris 1998)

electrolyte interface. A mathematical fit to the semicircle that is regularly observed in bioelectrodes allows semiquantitative estimation of the ohmic resistance. The ohmic resistance is determined by the first intersection of the semicircle with the *X*-axis, the real impedance component, and the resistance to charge transfer is indicated by the diameter using the second intersection of the semicircle with the *X*-axis. Table 8.4 summarizes the usefulness of the electrochemical techniques for the evaluation of MECs.

8.12 Hydrogen Production Rate in MECs

The production of hydrogen from residual organic matter using MEC technology is of great interest due to the low cost of the raw material, the use of microorganisms as self-regenerating catalysts, and the diversity of products derived from the cell operation. Depolluted water, electrical current, and hydrogen gas have value in different industrial areas; therefore, it is of great importance to achieve efficient highscale MEC operation with high productivity.



In the state of the art, hydrogen production is mostly in the range of $0.01-2.0 \text{ m}^3/\text{m}^3/\text{d}$, and only a few studies have exceeded a production value of 5 m³/m³/d (Fig. 8.7).

The causes of low hydrogen production reported are diverse. Initially, investigations focused on the optimization of electrode materials, the charge transfer mechanisms in biocathodes, and the relevance of the use of complex substrates. In almost all of these studies, the design of the cell was not considered; therefore, the optimal volumetric production was not reached.

Some of the highest hydrogen production rates are summarized in Table 8.5. The most commonly used substrate is acetate; however, some studies with complex effluents also reported high rates. Sasaki et al. (2012) used a complex mixture simulating a garbage slurry in an MEC operated at 1.0 V to produce up to 2.45 m³/m³/d, Li et al. (2014) used corn stalk fermentation effluents in a cell inoculated with cow dung compost and operated the cell at 0.8 V to produce $3.43 \text{ m}^3/\text{d}$.

Pure cultures are scarcely used as inocula in MECs that show the highest hydrogen production rate; instead, microbial consortia are preferable. An inoculation strategy involves the use of inoculum from a bioelectrochemical device (MFC or MEC) in operation; in this manner the presence of electroactive microorganisms is enriched (Jeremiasse et al. 2012; Croese et al. 2014; Marshall et al. 2013).

The potential applied to the anode varies from 0.6 V to 1.1 V; however, there is no clear relationship between the applied voltage and the hydrogen production rate. Studies on biological cathodic reactions are more recent (Jafary et al. 2019). The cathode potential for a higher hydrogen production rate is approximately -0.65 V (Croese et al. 2014; Jeremiasse et al. 2012; Marshall et al. 2013).

Higher hydrogen production rates should be viewed with caution because normalization to cell volume can result in an arithmetic effect that greatly increases the production rate. A production rate close to $5.5 \text{ m}^3/\text{m}^3/\text{d}$ was obtained in 50-mL cells (Tartakovsky et al. 2009; Hrapovic et al. 2010), while a rate of 18 m³/m³/d was

		Applied potential	Hydrogen production rate	
Substrate	Inoculum	(V)	$(m^3/m^3/d)$	Reference
Acetate	Shewanella oneidensis MR-1	0.6	2.00	Hu et al. (2009)
Glycerol	Anolyte from an MFC running over 1 year	0.9	2.00	Selembo et al. (2009)
Acetate	Effluent from a biocathode chamber	-0.7	2.20	Jeremiasse et al. (2012)
Effluent from biocathode chamber	-	-0.7	2.40	Croese et al. (2014)
Synthetic garbage slurry	Methanogenic sludge	1	2.45	Sasaki et al. (2012)
Mineral solution with sodium bicarbonate	Supernatant from an MEC	-0.59	2.50	Marshall et al. (2013)
Acetate	Domestic wastewater	0.8	3.12	Call and Logan (2008)
Cornstalk fermentation effluent	Cow dung compost	0.8	3.43	Li et al. (2014)
Acetate	Biofilm from anodes from an MEC	1	4.90	Wang et al. (2020)
Acetate	Anaerobic mesophilic sludge	1	5.40	Hrapovic et al. (2010)
Acetate	Anaerobic sludge	1	6.30	Tartakovsky et al. (2009)
Acetate	Activated sludge	0.9	8.44	Liang et al. (2014)
Acetate	Domestic wastewater	1	17.80	Cheng and Logan (2011)
Acetate	Effluent from an MEC	1	50.00	Jeremiasse et al. (2010)

Table 8.5 Summary of MECs showing high-rate of hydrogen production. Source: ISI Web of Science

reached in a 10-mL cell (Cheng and Logan 2011), and the maximum rate of 50 m³/m³/d was obtained in a 4-mL cell (Jeremiasse et al. 2010). Recently, a 10-L MEC provided a high hydrogen production rate, on the order of 4.9 m³/m³/d. This remarkable performance was achieved by using chloroform to inhibit hydrogen-consuming bacteria (Wang et al. 2020).

These data show the need to maintain high hydrogen productivity in high-volume MECs fed complex substrates to bring microbial electrochemical technology closer to real applications.

References

- Agyeman FO, Wendong T (2004) Anaerobic co-digestion of food waste and dairy manure: effects of food waste particle size and organic loading rate. J Environ Manag 133:268–274
- Alibardi L, Cossu R (2016) Effects of carbohydrate, protein and lipid content of organic waste on hydrogen production and fermentation products. Waste Manag 47:69–77
- Allen RM, Bennetto HP (1993) Microbial fuel cells- electricity production from carbohydrates. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 39:27–40. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf02918975
- Antonopoulou G, Gavala HN, Skiadas IV, Angelopoulos K, Lyberatos G (2008) Biofuels generation from sweet sorghum: fermentative hydrogen production and anaerobic digestion of the remaining biomass. Bioresour Technol 99:110–109
- Anzwar MY, Hussain MA, Abdul-Wahab AK (2014) Development of biohydrogen production by photobiological, fermentation and electrochemical processes: a review. Renew Sust Energ Rev 31:158–173
- Arooj MF, Han S-K, Kim S-H, Kim D-H, Shin H-S (2008) Effect of HRT on ASBR converting starch into biological hydrogen. Int J Hydrog Energy 33(22):6509–6514
- Badiei M, Jahim JM, Anuar N, Abdullah SR (2011) Effect of hydraulic retention time on biohydrogen production from palm oil mill effluent in anaerobic sequencing batch reactor. Int J Hydrog Energy 36(10):5912–5919
- Balachandar G, Khanna N, Das D (2013) Biohydrogen production from organic wastes by dark fermentation. Biohydrogen:103–144
- Bockris JOM (1998) Modern electrochemistry, 2nd edn. Kluwer Academic Publishers, New York
- Brutinel ED, Gralnick JA (2012) Shuttling happens: soluble flavin mediators of extracellular electron transfer in Shewanella. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 93(1):41–48. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s00253-011-3653-0
- Bundhoo MZ, Mohee R (2016) Inhibition of dark fermentative bio-hydrogen production: a review. Int J Hydrog Energy 41:6713–6733
- Cabrol L, Marone A, Tapia-Venegas E, Steyer J, Ruiz-Filippi G, Trably E (2017) Microbial ecology of fermentative hydrogen producing bioprocesses: useful insights for driving the ecosystem function. FEMS Microbiol Rev 41:158–181
- Call D, Logan BE (2008) Hydrogen production in a single chamber microbial electrolysis cell lacking a membrane. Environ Sci Technol 42(9):3401–3406
- Cardena R, Moreno-Andrade I, Buitron G (2018) Improvement of the bioelectrochemical hydrogen production from food waste fermentation effluent using a novel start-up strategy. J Chem Technol Biotechnol 93(3):878–886. https://doi.org/10.1002/jctb.5443
- Castelló E, y Santos CG, Iglesias T, Paolino G, Wenzel J, Borzacconi L (2009) Feasibility of biohydrogen production from cheese whey using a UASB reactor: links between microbial community and reactor performance. Int J Hydrog Energy:5674–5682
- Castelló E, Ferraz-Junior ADN, Andreani C, Anzola-Rojas M, Borzacconi K, Buitrón G, Carrillo-Reyes J, Gomes SD, Maintinguer SI, Moreno-Andrade I, Palomo-Briones R, Razo-Flores E, Schiappacasse M, Tapia-Venegas E, Valdez-Vázquez I, Vesga-Baron A, Zaiat M, Etchebehere (2020) Stability problems in the hydrogen production by dark fermentation: possible causes and solutions. Renew Sustain Energy Rev 119:109602
- Castillo-Hernandez A, Mar-Alvarez I, Moreno-Andrade I (2015) Start-up and operation of continuous stirred-tank reactor for biohydrogen production from restaurant organic solid waste. Int J Hydrog Energy:1–7
- Cercado-Quezada B, Delia ML, Bergel A (2010) Treatment of dairy wastes with a microbial anode formed from garden compost. J Appl Electrochem 40:225–232
- Cheng SA, Logan BE (2011) High hydrogen production rate of microbial electrolysis cell (MEC) with reduced electrode spacing. Bioresour Technol 102(3):3571–3574. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.biortech.2010.10.025
- Chojnacka A, Błaszczyk M, Szczęsny P, Nowak K, Sumińska M, Tomczyk-Żak K, Sikora A (2011) Comparative analysis of hydrogen-producing bacterial biofilms and granular sludge formed in continuous cultures of fermentative bacteria. Bioresour Technol 102(21):10057–10064
- Costa NL, Clarke TA, Philipp LA, Gescher J, Louro RO, Paquete CM (2018) Electron transfer process in microbial electrochemical technologies: the role of cell-surface exposed conductive proteins. Bioresour Technol 255:308–317. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2018.01.133
- Croese E, Jeremiasse AW, Marshall IPG, Spormann AM, Euveritik GJW, Geelhoed JS et al (2014) Influence of setup and carbon source on the bacterial community of biocathodes in microbial electrolysis cells. Enzym Microb Technol 61–62:67–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enzmictec. 2014.04.019
- Dantas JM, Morgado L, Aklujkar M, Bruix M, Londer YY, Schiffer M et al (2015) Rational engineering of Geobacter sulfurreducens electron transfer components: a foundation for building improved Geobacter-based bioelectrochemical technologies. Front Microbiol 6:752. https:// doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2015.00752
- De Gioannis G, Muntoni A, Polettini A, Pomi R (2013) A review of dark fermentative hydrogen production from biodegradable municipal waste fractions. Waste Manag 33(6):1345–1361
- Dong L, Zhenhong Y, Yongming S, Xiaoying K, Yu Z (2009) Hydrogen production characteristics of the organic fraction of municipal solid wastes by anaerobic mixed culture fermentation. Int J Hydrog Energy 34(2):812–820
- Donovan C, Dewan A, Heo D, Beyenal H (2008) Batteryless, wireless sensor powered by a sediment microbial fuel cell. Environ Sci Technol 42(22):8591–8596. https://doi.org/10.1021/ es801763g
- Dumas C, Mollica A, Feron D, Basseguy R, Etcheverry L, Bergel A (2007) Marine microbial fuel cell: use of stainless steel electrodes as anode and cathode materials. Electrochim Acta 53 (2):468–473. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.electacta.2007.06.069
- Favaro L, Alibardi L, Lavagnolo MC, Casella S, Basaglia M (2013) Effects of inoculum and indigenous microflora on hydrogen production from the organic fraction of municipal solid waste. Int J Hydrog Energy 38(27):774–779
- Flayac C, Trably E, Bernet N (2018) Microbial anodic consortia fed with fermentable substrates in microbial electrolysis cells: significance of microbial structures. Bioelectrochemistry 123:219–226. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bioelechem.2018.05.009
- García-Gen S, Sousbie P, Rangaraj G, Lema JM, Rodríguez J, Steyer J-P, Torrijos M (2015) Kinetic modelling of anaerobic hydrolysis of solid wastes, including disintegration processes. Waste Manag 35:96–104
- Ghimire A, Frunzo L, Pirozzi F, Trably E, Escudie R, Lens P, Esposito G (2015) A review on dark fermentative biohydrogen production from organic biomass: process parameters and use of by-products. Appl Energy 144:73–95
- Hafez H, Nakhla G, El Naggar H (2010) An integrated system for hydrogen and methane production during landfill leachate treatment. Int J Hydrog Energy 35:5010–5014
- Hallenbeck P, Benemann J (2002) Biological hydrogen production; fundamentals and limiting processes. Int J Hydrog Energy 27(11–12):1185–1193
- Hrapovic S, Manuel MF, Luong JHT, Guiot SR, Tartakovsky B (2010) Electrodeposition of nickel particles on a gas diffusion cathode for hydrogen production in a microbial electrolysis cell. Int J Hydrog Energy 35(14):7313–7320. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2010.04.146
- Hu H, Fan Y, Liu H (2009) Hydrogen production in single-chamber tubular microbial electrolysis cells using non-precious-metal catalysts. Int J Hydrog Energy 34(20):8535–8542. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2009.08.011
- Jafary T, Daud WRW, Ghasemi M, Kim BH, Jahim JM, Ismail M et al (2015) Biocathode in microbial electrolysis cell; present status and future prospects. Renew Sustain Energy Rev 47:23–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2015.03.003
- Jafary T, Daud WRW, Ghasemi M, Abu Bakar MH, Sedighi M, Kim BH et al (2019) Clean hydrogen production in a full biological microbial electrolysis cell. Int J Hydrog Energy 44 (58):30524–30531. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2018.01.010

- Jeremiasse AW, Hamelers HVM, Saakes M, Buisman CJN (2010) Ni foam cathode enables high volumetric H-2 production in a microbial electrolysis cell. Int J Hydrog Energy 35 (23):12716–12723. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2010.08.131
- Jeremiasse AW, Hamelers HVM, Croese E, Buisman CJN (2012) Acetate enhances startup of a H2-producing microbial biocathode. Biotechnol Bioeng 109(3):657–664. https://doi.org/10. 1002/bit.24338
- Jo J, Jeon C, Lee D, Park J (2007) Process stability and microbial community structure in anaerobic hydrogen-producing microflora from food waste containing kimchi. J Biotechnol 131 (3):300–308
- Kamaraj M, Ramachandran KK, Aravind J (2020) Biohydrogen production from waste materials: benefits and challenges. Int J Environ Sci Technol 17:559–576
- Karadag D, Puhakka J (2010) Enhancement of anaerobic hydrogen production by iron and nickel. Int J Hydrog Energy 35(16):8554–8560
- Kim J, Nhat L, Chun Y, Kim S (2008) Hydrogen production conditions from food waste by dark fermentation with Clostridium beijerinckii KCTC 1785. Biotechnol Bioprocess Eng 13 (4):499–504
- Kim D-H, Kim S-H, Kim K-Y, Shin H-S (2010) Experience of a pilot-scale hydrogen-producing anaerobic sequencing batch reactor (ASBR) treating food waste. Int J Hydrog Energy 35 (4):1590–1594
- Kumar A, Hsu LHH, Kavanagh P, Barriere F, Lens PNL, Lapinsonniere L et al (2017) The ins and outs of microorganism-electrode electron transfer reactions. Nat Rev Chem 1(3). https://doi.org/ 10.1038/s41570-017-0024
- Laothanachareon T, Kanchanasuta S, Mhuanthong W, Phalakornkule C, Pisutpaisal N, Champreda V (2014) Analysis of microbial community adaptation in mesophilic hydrogen fermentation from food waste by tagged 16S rRNA gene pyrosequencing. J Environ Manag 144:143–151
- Li XH, Liang DW, Bai YX, Fan YT, Hou HW (2014) Enhanced H-2 production from corn stalk by integrating dark fermentation and single chamber microbial electrolysis cells with double anode arrangement. Int J Hydrog Energy 39(17):8977–8982. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2014. 03.065
- Liang D, Shayegan S, Ng W, He J (2010) Development and characteristics of rapidly formed hydrogen-producing granules in an acidic anaerobic sequencing batch reactor (AnSBR). Biochem Eng J 49(1):119–125
- Liang D, Liu Y, Peng S, Lan F, Lu S, Xiang Y (2014) Effects of bicarbonate and cathode potential on hydrogen production in a biocathode electrolysis cell. Front Envir Sci Eng 8(4):624–630. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11783-013-0584-2
- Liu H, Hu HQ (2012) Microbial electrolysis: novel biotechnology for hydrogen production from biomass. Microbial Technologies in Advanced Biofuels Production. 93–105. https://doi.org/10. 1007/978-1-4614-1208-3_6
- Liu H, Grot S, Logan BE (2005) Electrochemically assisted microbial production of hydrogen from acetate. Environ Sci Technol 39(11):4317–4320. https://doi.org/10.1021/es050244p
- Liu D, Liu D, Zeng JR, Angelidaki I (2006) Hydrogen and methane production from household solid waste in the two-stage fermentation process. Water Res 40(11):2230–2236
- Logan BE, Rabaey K (2012) Conversion of wastes into bioelectricity and chemicals by using microbial electrochemical technologies. Science 337(6095):686–690. https://doi.org/10.1126/ science.1217412
- Logan BE, Regan JM (2006) Electricity-producing bacterial communities in microbial fuel cells. Trends Microbiol 14(12):512–518. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tim.2006.10.003
- Lovley DR (2008) Extracellular electron transfer: wires, capacitors, iron lungs, and more. Geobiology 6(3):225–231. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-4669.2008.00148.x
- Lu L, Xing DF, Xie TH, Ren NQ, Logan BE (2010) Hydrogen production from proteins via electrohydrogenesis in microbial electrolysis cells. Biosens Bioelectron 25(12):2690–2695. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2010.05.003

- Lütke-Eversloh T, Bahl H (2011) Metabolic engineering of Clostridium acetobutylicum: recent advances to improve butanol production. Curr Opin Biotechnol 22(5):634–647
- Marcus AK, Torres CI, Rittmann BE (2007) Conduction-based modeling of the biofilm anode of a microbial fuel cell. Biotechnol Bioeng 98(6):1171–1182. https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.21533
- Marshall CW, Ross DE, Fichot EB, Norman RS, May HD (2013) Long-term operation of microbial electrosynthesis systems improves acetate production by autotrophic microbiomes. Environ Sci Technol 47(11):6023–6029. https://doi.org/10.1021/es400341b
- Marsili E, Baron DB, Shikhare ID, Coursolle D, Gralnick JA, Bond DR (2008) Shewanella secretes flavins that mediate extracellular electron transfer. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105 (10):3968–3973. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0710525105
- Mathews J, Wang G (2009) Metabolic pathway engineering for enhanced biohydrogen production. Int J Hydrog Energy 34(17):7404–7416
- Moreno-Andrade I, Buitron G (2015) Evaluation of particle size and initial concentration of total solids on biohydrogen production from food waste. Fresenius Environ Bull 24(7):2289–2295
- Moreno-Andrade I, Carrillo-Reyes J, Santiago SG, Bujanos-Adame MC (2015) Biohydrogen from food waste in a discontinuous process: effect of HRT and microbial community analysis. Int J Hydrog Energy 40(48):17246–17252
- Moscoviz R, Toledo-Alarcón J, Trably E, Bernet N (2016) Electro-fermentation: how to drive fermentation using electrochemical systems. Trends Biotechnol 34(11):856–865
- Motte J, Trably E, Hamelin J, Escudié R, Bonnafous A, Steyer J, Delgenès JP, Dumas C (2014) Total solid content drives hydrogen production through microbial selection during thermophilic fermentation. Bioresour Technol 166:610–615
- Nam JY, Logan BE (2012) Optimization of catholyte concentration and anolyte pHs in two chamber microbial electrolysis cells. Int J Hydrog Energy 37(24):18622–18628. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2012.09.140
- Nam JY, Tokash JC, Logan BE (2011) Comparison of microbial electrolysis cells operated with added voltage or by setting the anode potential. Int J Hydrog Energy 36(17):10550–10556. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2011.05.148
- Oh S, Van Ginkel S, Logan B (2003) The relative effectiveness of pH control and heat treatment for enhancing biohydrogen gas production. Environ Sci Technol 37(22):5186–5190
- Ostrem K (2004) Greening waste: anaerobic digestion for treating the organic fraction of municipal solid wastes. Department of Earth and Environmental Engineering, Columbia University, EUA, Nueva York
- Panigrahi S, Dubey BK (2019) A critical review on operating parameters and strategies to improve the biogas yield from anaerobic digestion of organic fraction of municipal solid waste. Renew Energy 143:779–797
- Patel S, Kumar P, Mehariya S, Purohit H, Lee J, Kalia V (2014) Enhancement in hydrogen production by co-cultures of Bacillus and Enterobacter. Int J Hydrog Energy 39 (27):14663–14668
- Paz-Mireles CL, Razo-Flores E, Trejo G, Cercado B (2019) Inhibitory effect of ethanol on the experimental electrical charge and hydrogen production in microbial electrolysis cells (MECs). J Electroanal Chem 835:106–113. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jelechem.2019.01.028
- Piemonte V, Di Paola L, Chakraborty S, Basile A (2014) Sequencing batch reactors (SBRs) for BioH2 production: reactor operation criteria. Int J Hydrog Energy:4863–4869
- Rabaey K, Rozendal RA (2010) Microbial electrosynthesis revisiting the electrical route for microbial production. Nat Rev Microbiol 8(10):706–716. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro2422
- Rabaey K, Clauwaert P, Aelterman P, Verstraete W (2005) Tubular microbial fuel cells for efficient electricity generation. Environ Sci Technol 39(20):8077–8082. https://doi.org/10.1021/ es050986i
- Rabaey K, Rodriguez J, Blackall LL, Keller J, Gross P, Batstone D et al (2007) Microbial ecology meets electrochemistry: electricity-driven and driving communities. ISME J 1(1):9–18. https:// doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2007.4

- Ramírez-Morales J, Tapia-Venegas E, Toledo-Alarcón J, Ruiz-Filippi G (2015) Simultaneous production and separation of biohydrogen in mixed culture systems by continuous dark fermentation. Water Sci Technol 71(9):1271–1285
- Ramos C, Buitrón G, Moreno-Andrade I, Chamy R (2012) Effect of the initial total solids concentration and initial pH on the bio-hydrogen production from cafeteria food waste. Int J Hydrog Energy 37(18):13288–13295
- Ren Z, Steinberg LM, Regan JM (2008) Electricity production and microbial biofilm characterization in cellulose-fed microbial fuel cells. Water Sci Technol 58(3):617–622. https://doi.org/10. 2166/wst.2008.431
- Rezaei F, Richard TL, Brennan RA, Logan BE (2007) Substrate-enhanced microbial fuel cells for improved remote power generation from sediment-based systems. Environ Sci Technol 41 (11):4053–4058. https://doi.org/10.1021/es070426e
- Rosales-Sierra A, Rosales-Mendoza S, Monreal-Escalante E, Celis LB, Razo-Flores E, Cercado B (2017) Acclimation strategy using complex volatile fatty acid mixtures increases the microbial fuel cell (MFC) potential. Chemistryselect 2(22):6277–6285. https://doi.org/10.1002/slct. 201701267
- Rousseau R, Délia M-L, Bergel A (2014) A theoretical model of transient cyclic voltammetry for electroactive biofilms. Energy Environ Sci 7(3):1079–1094. https://doi.org/10.1039/c3ee42329h
- Rozendal RA, Hamelers HVM, Euverink GJW, Metz SJ, Buisman CJN (2006) Principle and perspectives of hydrogen production through biocatalyzed electrolysis. Int J Hydrog Energy 31(12):1632–1640. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2005.12.006
- Saady NM (2013) Homoacetogenesis during hydrogen production by mixed cultures dark fermentation: unresolved challenge. Int J Hydrog Energy 38(30):13172–13191
- Santiago SG, Trably E, Latrille E, Buitrón G, Moreno-Andrade I (2019) The hydraulic retention time influences the abundance of Enterobacter, Clostridium and lactobacillus during the hydrogen production from food waste. Lett Appl Microbiol 69:138–147
- Santiago SG, Morgan-Sagatusme JM, Monroy O, Moreno-Andrade I (2020) Biohydrogen production from organic solid waste in a sequencing batch reactor: an optimization of the hydraulic and solids retention time. Int J Hydrog Energy 45(47):25681–25688
- Saraphirom P, Reungsang A (2011) Biological hydrogen production from sweet sorghum syrup by mixed cultures using an anaerobic sequencing batch reactor (ASBR). Int J Hydrog Energy 36 (14):8765–8773
- Sasaki K, Morita M, Sasaki D, Matsumoto N, Ohmura N, Igarashi Y (2012) Single-chamber bioelectrochemical hydrogen fermentation from garbage slurry. Biochem Eng J 68:104–108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bej.2012.07.014
- Schröder U (2007) Anodic electron transfer mechanisms in microbial fuel cells and their energy efficiency. Phys Chem Chem Phys 9(21):2619–2629. https://doi.org/10.1039/b703627m
- Schröder U, Harnisch F, Angenent LT (2015) Microbial electrochemistry and technology: terminology and classification. Energy Environ Sci 8(2):513–519. https://doi.org/10.1039/ c4ee03359k
- Sharma P, Melkania U (2018) Effect of bioaugmentation on hydrogen production from organic fraction of municipal solid waste. Int J Hydrog Energy 43:7290–7298
- Shin H-S, Youn J-H, Kim S-H (2004) Hydrogen production from food waste in anaerobic mesophilic and thermophilic acidogenesis. Int J Hydrog Energy 29(13):1355–1363
- Staffell I, Scamman D, Abad AV, Balcombe P, Dodds PE, Ekins P, Shah N, Ward KR (2019) The role of hydrogen and fuel cells in the global energy system. Energy Environ Sci 12:463–491
- Su LA, Jia WZ, Hou CJ, Lei Y (2011) Microbial biosensors: a review. Biosens Bioelectron 26 (5):1788–1799. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2010.09.005
- Tapia-Venegas E, Ramirez-Morales J, Silva-Illanes F, Toledo-Alarcón J, Paillet F, Escudie R, Ruiz-Filippi G (2015) Biohydrogen production by dark fermentation: scaling-up and technologies integration for a sustainable system. Rev Environ Sci Biotechnol 14(4):761–785

- Tartakovsky B, Manuel MF, Wang H, Guiot SR (2009) High rate membrane-less microbial electrolysis cell for continuous hydrogen production. Int J Hydrog Energy 34(2):672–677. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2008.11.003
- Torres CI, Marcus AK, Lee HS, Parameswaran P, Krajmalnik-Brown R, Rittmann BE (2010) A kinetic perspective on extracellular electron transfer by anode-respiring bacteria. FEMS Microbiol Rev 34(1):3–17. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6976.2009.00191.x
- Tosuner ZV, Taylan GG, Özmıhçi S (2019) Effects of rice husk particle size on biohydrogen production under solid state fermentation. Int J Hydrog Energy 44(34):18785–18791
- Valdez-Vazquez I, Poggi-Varaldo HM (2009) Hydrogen production by fermentative consortia. Renew Sust Energ Rev 13:1000–1013
- Valdez-Vazquez I, Ríos-Leal E, Esparza-García F, Cecchi F, Poggi-Varaldo H (2005) Semicontinuous solid substrate anaerobic reactors for H2 production from organic waste: mesophilic versus thermophilic regime. Int J Hydrog Energy 30:1383–1391
- Van Ginkel S, Sung S, Lay JJ (2001) Biohydrogen production as a function of pH and substrate concentration. Environ Sci Technol 35:4726–4730
- Varnero MM (2011) Manual de Biogás. Santiago de Chile: Proyecto CHI/00/G32 Remoción de Barreras para la Electrificación Rural con Energías Renovables
- Wang J, Yin Y (2019) Progress in microbiology for fermentative hydrogen production from organic wastes. Crit Rev Environ Sci Technol 49(10):825–886
- Wang A, Ren N, Shi Y, Lee D (2008) Bioaugmented hydrogen production from microcrystalline cellulose using co-culture—Clostridium acetobutylicum X9 and Ethanoigenens harbinense B49. Int J Hydrog Energy 33(2):912–917
- Wang L, Chen Y, Long F, Singh L, Trujillo S, Xiao X, Liu H (2020) Breaking the loop: tackling homoacetogenesis by chloroform to halt hydrogen production-consumption loop in single chamber microbial electrolysis cells. Chem Eng J 389:124436. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej. 2020.124436
- Wong YM, Wu TY, Juan JC (2014) A review of sustainable hydrogen production using seed sludge via dark fermentation. Renew Sust Energ Rev 34:471–482
- Wu Y, Ma H, Zheng M, Wang K (2015) Lactic acid production from acidogenic fermentation of fruit and vegetable wastes. Bioresour Technol 191:53–58
- Yang Z, Wang W, He Y, Zhang R, Liu G (2018) Effect of ammonia on methane production, methanogenesis pathway, microbial community and reactor performance under mesophilic and thermophilic conditions. Renew Energy 125:915–925
- Zeng K, Zhang DK (2010) Recent progress in alkaline water electrolysis for hydrogen production and applications. Prog Energy Combust Sci 36(3):307–326. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pecs. 2009.11.002
- Ziara R, Miller D, Subbiah J, Dvorak B (2019) Lactate wastewater dark fermentation: the effect of temperature and initial pH on biohydrogen production and microbial community. Int J Hydrog Energy 44:661–673

Microbial Degradation of Lipids

9

Moises Bustamante-Torres, David Romero-Fierro, Jocelyne Estrella-Nuñez, and Emilio Bucio

Abstract

Lipids are biomolecules essential for the life. They play different important roles in the nature. Therefore, its degradation has been influenced by internal or external factors. Although lipids have shown be fundamental for life, its accumulation can be hazardous for the health. Recent anecdotal studies provide information about the degradation of lipids by enzymes produced by different microorganisms. Besides, microorganism as bacteria and fungi encompasses a wide range of species that can produce positive or negative effects on the environment. Some report highlighted the better benefits of enzymes derived from microorganisms than those derived from other species such as animals and vegetables. Additionally, external factors such as pH, temperatures, substrate, and metallic ions generate important roles during the lipolitic degradation. This chapter describes the biochemistry degradation of the lipids (fatty acids) and some examples related to microorganism species and their source producing

M. Bustamante-Torres (🖂)

Check for updates

Biomedical Engineering Department, School of Biological and Engineering, Yachay Tech University, Urcuqui city, Ecuador e-mail: moises.bustamante@yachaytech.edu.ec

D. Romero-Fierro · J. Estrella-Nuñez

Chemistry Department, School of Chemical and Engineering, Yachay Tech University, Urcuqui city, Ecuador

E. Bucio

Biomedical Engineering Department, School of Biological and Engineering, Yachay Tech University, Urcuqui city, Ecuador

Department of Radiation Chemistry and Radiochemistry, Institute of Nuclear Sciences, National Autonomous University of Mexico, Mexico City, Mexico

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 Inamuddin et al. (eds.), *Recent Advances in Microbial Degradation*, Environmental and Microbial Biotechnology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-0518-5_9

fundamental enzymes as well as a wide range of applications approached into industrial, biotechnological, and medicine.

Keywords

Lipids · Biomolecules · Lipolitic degradation · Enzymes · Microorganisms

9.1 Introduction

9.1.1 Overview of Lipids

Biomolecules are fundamental organic molecules of life. Several macromolecules (protein, carbohydrates, nucleic acids, and enzymes) and small molecules (amino acids, vitamins, fatty acids, neurotransmitters, and hormones) fall under the category of biomolecules (Suresh et al. 2019). They provide an essential structure, storage, and function supporting the living being's life.

Lipids are usually referred to as fats solid at ambient temperature, and oils are those liquid at ambient temperature (Jambrak and Škevin 2017). Mainly, lipids are considered as water-insoluble organic substances, usually classified as oils and fats. They are key components of the plasma membrane and other cellular compartments, including the nuclear membrane, the endoplasmic reticulum, the Golgi apparatus, and trafficking vesicles such as endosomes and lysosomes (Muro et al. 2014).

Moreover, lipids are fundamental for living beings as energy storage and heat retention. They can be considered as the major class of biomolecules even either potential health risks or important benefits for the life. They have generally been classified into fatty acids (FA), waxes, triaglycerols, glycerophospholipids, sphingolipids, steroid, and terpenes (abundant in plants) (Lipids 2000).

FA is a lipid biomolecule. FA possess a long hydrocarbon chain (a compound consisting entirely of carbons and hydrogens) and a terminal carboxyl group (Aldred et al. 2009). FA can be saturated fatty acids (SFAs), which are highly flexible because the single bonds presented into the structure. Meanwhile, unsaturated fatty acids (UFAs) present one or more double bonds that can be (*cis* and *trans*). Based on that double bonds, the geometry can get two different configurations: *cis* and *trans*. In the *cis* form, the two hydrogen substituents are on the same side of the molecule, while in the *trans* form they are on opposite sides (Gurr and Harwood 1991) (Fig. 9.1). Importantly, most of the naturally occurring FAs in humans are in *cis* configuration (Menaa et al. 2016).



The degradation of FA will not only depend on the configuration but also the size of the carbon chain. Mainly, the FA are subjected to B-oxidation into the mitochondria. However, based on the chain size, it can be undergoing on peroxisomes and glioxisomes (20–22 carbons), with a minimum change during the biochemistry process. This process is carried out by different lipid enzymes, which are synthetized by different microorganisms, which in turn will generate a great number of extracellular lipases.

The lipolytic activity of microbial enzymes has been studied long time ago. There are a wide variety of microbial enzyme sources. Different species as bacteria and fungi produce enzymes with lipolytic activity. However, different external factors such as pH, temperatures, substrate, and metallic ions play an important role during the isolation of these enzymes as well as the sources. There are a wide variety of microbial enzyme sources, which have shown specific properties with potential application on different areas.

The advance in technology has enhanced the knowledge about lipids. This biomolecule presents either positive or negative effects on the health. So, a great number of considerations get to be approved prior to ingestion. The different studies made by scientists and researcher to determine properties of lipids on benefit to the human's beings changing different parameters. Here, we review the lipid degradation.

9.2 Biochemistry

Lipids are a set of biomolecules depicting important functions. Its strongly reduced state and its hydrophobicity get it to accumulate anhydrously, without bound water, and therefore without any extra weight of solvation water. On the other hand, its hydrophobicity also allows its accumulation in practically inert droplets due to the low chemical reactivity they present (Becker 2010).

9.2.1 Lipids Functions

The major roles of lipids can be described conveniently as structural, storage, and metabolic, although individual lipids may have several different roles at different times or even at one and the same time (Gurr and Harwood 1991).

Carbohydrates provide a great source of energy, meanwhile the energy reserve for humans and plants are based on certain lipids called triglycerides. The function of lipids as energy reserves of high free energy content per unit weight (9 kcal/g) is one of the most general and significant functions of these compounds in animals (Allen 1976), regulating, signaling, controlling, and maintaining the temperature.

It is now recognized that cholesterol, fatty acids, and other dietary lipids serve as precursors for ligands that bind nuclear receptors and participate in signal transduction (Kennedy 2007; Chawla et al. 2001).

In recent years, evidence has emerged showing that lipid signaling is a vital part of cell signaling (Malinauskas et al. 2011; Malinauskas 2008; Wang 2004; Dinasarapu et al. 2011). **Biological** membranes are made up of glycerophospholipids, sphingolipids, and sterols (Thompson 2021). Membrane lipids are made of polyunsaturated fatty acids (Mandal 2019). Generally, their shape is elongated, with a hydrophilic end or head attached to a hydrophobic moiety by a short intervening region of intermediate polarity (Thompson 2021).

9.3 The Process of Lipid Degradation

9.3.1 Lipid Degradation

Since lipids are not water soluble, they must be solubilized for digestion. This is the role of bile acids secreted from the liver via the gall bladder (Kennedy 2007). Unsaturated FA undergo autoxidation much more readily than saturated FA (Chiofalo and Lo Presti 2012).

Lipids are aliphatic biomolecules fundamental for life. The degradation process converts a long-chain aliphatic molecule, such as a fatty acid, to a set of activated acetyl-coenzyme A (Acetyl-CoA) unit, which can be processed by the citric acid cycle. It starts from an activated FA molecule, which oxidizes, hydrates, oxidizes, and finally splits, obtaining Acetyl-CoA and an activated FA again but with two fewer carbons (Becker 2010). This process is carried out inside the mitochondria, in the mitochondrial matrix, by means of a metabolic pathway called β -oxidation (Mannaerts et al. 2000).

To carry out the degradation, the first step is the activation and entry of FA into the mitochondria. The free FA found in the cytoplasm are energetically activated by an enzyme located in the outer mitochondrial membrane, acyl-CoA synthetase, which performs the following reaction:

Fatty acid + CoA + ATP
$$\rightleftharpoons$$
 acylCoA + AMP + PP_i

The process proceeds in two stages: First, the FA reacts with adenosine triphosphate (ATP) to form an acyladenylate or acyl~adenosine monophosphate (AMP), and second, the phosphate bond of the energy is transferred to a thioester bond, also of high energy, reacting CoA with acyl-AMP to give acyl~CoA and AMP. Activation of an FA involves an energy cost of two high-energy bonds per molecule (Becker 2010).

The next obstacle to activate FA, or acyl-CoA, lies in the impermeability of the inner mitochondrial membrane. Long-chain acyl-CoA molecules need a transport system that allows them to pass into the mitochondria (Melser et al. 2015). This transport system is made up of a molecule, derived from the amino acid lysine, called carnitine, which binds to acyl-CoA to form a derivative, acyl-carnitine. This transport system is called a carnitine shuttle and constitutes one of the transport modalities at the level of the internal mitochondrial membrane (Melser et al. 2015).

 β -oxidation constitutes a stage II catabolic route, in which the degradation of the FA will take place until a common intermediary that is the acetyl-CoA molecule. This route consists of four reactions in a row. At the end of this sequence, the FA has two fewer carbon atoms, which have become independent as acetyl-CoA (Jones and Bennett 2017). The sequence of reactions is depicted at Fig. 9.2.

The resulting acyl-CoA would restart in reaction 1 to undergo another β -oxidation cycle and continue to separate units of two carbon atoms (Melser et al. 2015).

Total oxidation of FA to CO_2 and H_2O requires the use of other metabolic pathways. Acetyl-CoA continues its oxidative process through the citric acid cycle in which reduced coenzymes are produced. As mentioned previously, the β -oxidation process is carried out for the most part in the mitochondrial matrix, although it is also possible in other cytoplasmic organelles such as peroxisomes (Mannaerts et al. 2000). Peroxisomal β -oxidation works on very long chain FA, in a range between 20 and 26 carbons, which is developed in the next section.

In addition to SFAs, those with double bonds are also degraded (UFAs). This type of molecule requires the action of other enzymes, in addition to those of β -oxidation. Without the double bond being located in odd positions, like the one that forms between carbon atoms in β -oxidation, the added reaction is reduced to the change in position of the substituents in the double bond, going from the *cis* configuration to *trans* position by the isomerase (Kresge et al. 2010).

If the double bond is located in even positions, two enzymes are used, a reductase that changes the location of the double bond by reducing the molecule, and the isomerase that changes the *cis* to *trans* configuration of the bond (Melser et al. 2015).

The existence of double bonds eliminates the first reaction of the β -oxidation; therefore, there is less oxidation, and consequently, a lower number of reduced coenzymes will be generated, which will translate into lower energy efficiency.

Finally, although they are found in a minority, the oxidation of chain FA with an odd number of carbons is carried out by the same process as even chain FA, with the only difference that the last two products of the reaction. Instead of being two units of two carbon atoms, they are one molecule of two atoms, acetyl-CoA, and another molecule of three atoms, propionyl-CoA (Melser et al. 2015).

9.3.2 Degradation of Long-Chain Fatty Acids

Mitochondria are not the only organelle in which FA oxidation can take place. Animal and plant peroxisomes and glioxisomes from germinating seeds are other possible locations of B-oxidation. Unlike the enzymes of mitochondrial B-oxidation, the corresponding enzymes of peroxisomes and glyoxysomes form a multienzyme complex in which, in addition, enoyl-CoA hydratase and hydroxyacyl-CoA dehydrogenase constitute a bifunctional enzyme (Le Borgne and Demarquoy 2012).

The oxidation of very long chain fatty acids (above 20–22 carbons), branched or dicarboxylic acids, takes place in peroxisomes. In these organs, the oxidative process of FA is not aimed at producing energy because they lack an electronic transport chain.





The activation of FA for their peroxisomal oxidation takes place in the peroxisome itself. Then, the oxidation process is similar to that of mitochondrial B-oxidation with the exception that the first oxidation does not have FAD as an electron acceptor, but directly to oxygen, so it generates H_2O_2 instead of FADH₂ and energy (ATP) that would derive from the subsequent transfer of electrons from FADH₂ to the electron transport chain dissipates as heat. Since peroxisomal thiolase is not active with FA of less than eight carbons, shortened fatty acids in the peroxisome will continue their oxidation in the mitochondria.

The hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) generated is a strong and potentially harmful oxidant, which is why it is eliminated by the cell through catalase, through the following reaction:

Acetyl-CoA is exported to the cytosol, and from there it can enter the mitochondria to be oxidized. Figure 9.3 shows the mechanisms of that fatty acids shortened in length by peroxisomal oxidation can be conjugated with carnitine to pass from peroxisome to mitochondria and continue B-oxidation there.

9.3.3 Production, Secretion, and Activation of the Lipolytic Enzymes (Lipases)

Lipases or lipolytic enzymes are responsible for the degradation of lipids, molecules insoluble in water. Lipases have been studied for 300 years; however, its ability to catalyze hydrolysis and synthesize esters has been recognized just 70 years before (Casas-Godoy et al. 2018). This type of enzymes is of great importance in the industry due to their multiple applications because they carry out the degradation of substrates with a high fat content as well as in esterification reactions in the food, pharmaceutical, and cosmetic industries (Becker 2010). Lipases have been found in many species of animals, plants, and microorganisms. However, microbial lipases are much more versatile and have high substrate specificity, as well as regio- and enantioselectivity (Gupta et al. 2004).

Lipases are synthesized by microorganisms, preferably in the presence of inducers such as lipids (Casas-Godoy et al. 2018). These molecules and other substances present in agro-industrial waste allow the growth of microorganisms and act as inducing substances for the production of microbial lipases (Pratush and Gupta 2016). Certain natural oils such as soybean oil, fatty acids, and esters such as soaps, sterols such as cholesterol, bile salts and detergents behave as inducers and therefore are widely used for the production of microbial lipases (Alford et al. 1964).

Microorganisms with a high potential to produce lipases can be found in different habitats. However, they are mainly found in vegetable oil waste or residues used during the production of frying, dairy products industries, soils contaminated with oils, and spoiled food. From these points, bacteria, filamentous fungi, yeasts, and actinomycetes have been isolated, among which the genus *Pseudomons, Bacillus, Rhodococcus, Staphylococcus, Rhizopus, Candida*, and *Geotrichum sp* stand out for their great capacity to generate extracellular lipases, thus facilitating, the recovery of these enzymes from the culture medium (Celligoi et al. 2017).





Gene expression of bacterial lipases is highly regulated, with cell density-dependent regulation being the most general mechanism. However, there are additional activators and repressors that modulate the gene expression of these enzymes in response to a wide variety of environmental signals (Pratush and Gupta 2016).

After protein synthesis, most of these enzymes fold by themselves in the cytoplasm or during its secretion process, although in some cases their folding requires the intervention of intramolecular or intermolecular chaperones, or proteins responsible for establishing disulfide bonds (Alford et al. 1964).

Regarding their enzymatic properties, bacterial lipases are active on a wide range of substrates in which, they carry out different hydrolysis, synthesis, or group exchange reactions. Furthermore, these enzymes are highly stable in a wide range of temperatures, pH (Becker 2010), and organic solvents. Bacterial lipases are also stable against detergent differentials, ions, and chemical agents and generally do not require cofactors (Gupta et al. 2004). For these reasons, and due to the existing knowledge about these enzymes, their availability, and the fact that the processes in which they intervene are generally less expensive and less polluting, bacterial lipases have received the attention of the scientific community.

9.4 Microorganisms with Lipolytic Activity

Lipolytic enzymes have a wide field of investigation by acting on reactions such as synthesis, hydrolysis, esterification, transesterification, alcoholysis, exchange of functional groups, and by its functional stability at different conditions (Samoylova et al. 2019; Gopinath et al. 2013).

9.4.1 Species

9.4.1.1 Bacterial Species

There are a large number of bacterial species between Gram-positive and Gramnegative showing the presence of diverse enzymes with lipolytic activity. Lipases, esterases, and laccases were studied under different conditions of pH and temperature. A large number of bacterial species were isolated and characterized in previous research and are summarized in Table 9.1. Hydrolases (lipases and esterases) have shown great lipolytic activity and have been found in many bacterial microorganisms. Certain microorganisms are found from different sources. Figure 9.4 shows the most common species with a preponderant role in the industry and some examples of them.

9.4.1.2 Fungi Species

Fungi are microorganisms preferred as producer's industrial lipases because they usually produce extracellular enzymes, which facilitate the extraction from fermentation medium. Also, fungal enzymes are more stable and have more diverse properties compared to enzymes from other sources. Fungal microorganisms have

Phyla	Gender	Specie	Source
Actinobacteria	Micrococcus	Micrococcus luteus	Wood (Ramnath et al. 2017) Oils (Haba et al. 2000) Deep-sea sediments (Scholante Delabary et al. 2020)
	Streptomyces	Streptomyces costaricanus	Wood (Ramnath et al. 2017)
		Streptomyces lavendule	Water sources (Haba et al. 2000) Contaminated oils (Haba et al. 2000)
		Streptomyces coelicolor	Glacier soil (Borda-Molina et al. 2017)
		Streptomyces cinnamoneus	Soills (Jaeger and Eggert 2002)
	Cellulosimicrobium	Cellulosimicrobium cellulans	Wood (Ramnath et al. 2017)
	Nocardia	Nocardia pneumonia	Wood (Ramnath et al. 2017)
	Prauserella	Prauserella sp.	Wood (Ramnath et al. 2017)
	Saccharomonospora	Saccharomonospora sp	Wood (Ramnath et al. 2017)
Fruit	Bacillus	Bacillus firmus	Wood (Ramnath et al. 2017)
		Bacillus ginsengihumi	Wood (Ramnath et al. 2017)
		Bacillus thuringiensis	Wood (Ramnath et al. 2017)
		Bacillus cereus	Water sources (Haba et al. 2000) Contaminated oils (Haba et al. 2000) Wood (Ramnath et al. 2017)
		Bacillus subtilis	Oils (Haba et al. 2000) Soils (Jaeger and Eggert 2002) Water sources (Haba et al. 2000)
			Contaminated oils (Haba et al. 2000; Carrazco-Palafox et al. 2018) Glacier soil (Borda-Molina et al. 2017)
		Bacillus glumae	Oils (Prasad 2014)
		Bacillus niacini	Palm oil mill effluent (Oyedele et al. 2019)
		Bacillus safensis	Olive oil-contaminated soil (Abdelli et al. 2019)

 Table 9.1
 Bacterial species with lipolytic activity

(continued)

Table 9.1 (continued)

Phyla	Gender	Specie	Source
		Bacillus pumilus	Oils (Haba et al. 2000) Soils (Jaeger and Eggert 2002) Water sources (Haba et al. 2000) Contaminated oils (Haba et al. 2000) Oilseed (Sandi et al. 2020) Glacier soil (Borda-Molina et al. 2017)
	Straphylococcus	Straphylococcus aureus	Soils contaminated (Haba et al. 2000; Carrazco-Palafox et al. 2018) Soils (Jaeger and Eggert 2002) Water sources (Haba et al. 2000)
		Straphylococcus haemolyticus	Soils (Jaeger and Eggert 2002)
		Straphylococcus sp.	Contaminated soil (Furini et al. 2018) Deep-sea sediments (Scholante Delabary et al. 2020)
		Straphylococcus epidermidis	Soils (Jaeger and Eggert 2002; Qiao et al. 2018)
		Staphylococcus arlettae	Olive oil
Proteobacteria	Pseudomonas	Pseudomonas aeruginosa	Wood (Ramnath et al. 2017) Soils contaminated (Haba et al. 2000; Carrazco-Palafox et al. 2018) Soils (Jaeger and Eggert 2002; Kenthorai Raman et al. 2008) Oils (Haba et al. 2000) Glacier soil (Borda-Molina et al. 2017)
		Pseudomonas stutzeri	Wood (Ramnath et al. 2017)
		Pseudomonas cepacian	Oils (Prasad 2014; Kenthorai Raman et al. 2008)
		Pseudomonas mendocina	Oilseeds (Sandi et al. 2020)
		Pseudomonas luteola	Glacier soil (Borda-Molina et al. 2017)
		Pseudomonas glumae	Oils (Prasad 2014)

(continued)

Phyla	Gender	Specie	Source	
		Pseudomonas fluorescens	Oils (Prasad 2014; Kenthorai Raman et al. 2008) Contaminated oils (Haba et al. 2000) Soils (Jaeger and Eggert 2002) Water sources (Haba et al. 2000) Glacier soil (Borda-Molina et al. 2017)	
		Pseudomonas fragi	Soils (Jaeger and Eggert 2002)	
		Pseudomonas vulgaris	Soils (Jaeger and Eggert 2002)	
	Inquilinus	Inquilinus limosus	Wood (Ramnath et al. 2017)	
	Pantoea	Pantoea sp.	Wood (Ramnath et al. 2017)	
		Pantoea ananatis	Wood (Ramnath et al. 2017)	
	Aeromona	Aeronoma sobria	Raw milk (Lotrakul and Dharmsthiti 1997)	
		Aeromona hydrophila	Glacier soil (Borda-Molina et al. 2017)	
	Klebsiella	Klebsiella sp.	Wood (Ramnath et al. 2017)	
	Leclercia	Leclercia sp.	Wood (Ramnath et al. 2017)	
	Serratia	Serratia marcescens	Industrial effluents (Peil et al. 2016a) Soils (Qiao et al. 2018) Oilseeds (Sandi et al. 2020)	
	Klebsiella	Klebsiella pneumoniae	Wood (Ramnath et al. 2017)	
	Erwinia	Erwinia sp.	Wood (Ramnath et al. 2017)	

Table 9.1 (continued)



STAPHYLOCOCCUS



PSEUDOMONAS



e.i. Bacillus pumilus

e.i. Staphylococcus aureus

e.i. Pseudomonas aeruginosa

Fig. 9.4 Bacterial species with highest presence in different microorganisms

been studied by their role in the degradation of undesirable materials or compounds, including sewage waste from domestic and industrial complexes plant, animal, and agricultural wastes, oil spills, and dairy waste (Gopinath et al. 2013). Based on previous reports, there are numerous species from fungal microorganisms that are detailed in Table 9.2.

9.4.2 Sources

Microbial enzymes with prominent lipolytic activity could be obtained from numerous sources. The most common are vegetable oils such as neem oil, sunflower oil, cottonseed oil, groundnut oil, pongamia oil, gingelly oil, olive oil, palm oil, and cod liver oil (Prasad 2014). So, based on environmental approach, many types of researcher's report lipolytic enzymes obtained from industrial effluents, contaminated soils, and agro-industrial residues (Gopinath et al. 2013; Oyedele et al. 2019; Qiao et al. 2018; Peil et al. 2016a; Pinotti et al. 2017; Cardenas et al. 2001; Abbas et al. 2002). On the other hand, the grown of microorganism with lipolytic activity at extreme conditions of temperature and pH have been studied. These conditions were reported from glacier soils and deep-sea sediments (Scholante Delabary et al. 2020; Borda-Molina et al. 2017). Moreover, lipolytic enzymes have been reported from wood species (i.e. Eucalyptus sp.) or from oleaginous seeds (Ramnath et al. 2017; Sandi et al. 2020; Lucretia and Tamara 2014).

9.5 Factors Influencing Lipolytic Degradation

9.5.1 pH

pH effect on the enzyme activity was studied under a range of pH depending on the substrate used. The stability was determined by measuring the residual activity after the incubation (Ramnath et al. 2017). The change in the pH could affect the intracellular and extracellular fractions, getting a different influence between them. Existing enzymes have an optimal pH in the alkaline or acidic range, which has an influence on better activity (Sayali and Satpute 2013).

9.5.2 Temperature

Temperature is a factor with potential effects either on the activity and stability of enzymes. There is an optimal temperature range in which the lipolytic effect increase and it is related to the incubation period. For example, lipases and esterases were reported at temperatures from 30 to 35°C, respectively, meanwhile for laccase at range temperature from 25 to 80°C (Snajdr 2007). Thermostable enzymes are determinant objective in industrial procedures related to working and storing temperatures (Sayali and Satpute 2013).

Phyla	Gender	Specie	Source
Ascomycota	Paecilomyces	Paecilomyces sp.	Wood (Ramnath et al. 2017)
		Paecilomyces variotii	Oil mill wastes (Gopinath et al. 2005) Wood (Ramnath et al. 2017)
		Paecilomyces formosus	Wood (Ramnath et al. 2017)
	Aspergillus	Aspergillus fumigatus	Wood (Ramnath et al. 2017) Oil mill wastes (Gopinath et al. 2005)
		Aspergillus niger	Groundnut oil, olive oil, sunflower oil, soya oil, palm kernel oil (Popoola and Onilude 2017; Almyasheva et al. 2018) Oil mill wastes (Gopinath et al. 2005)
		Aspergillus flavus	Oil mill wastes (Gopinath et al. 2005)
		Aspergillus versicolor	Oil mill wastes (Gopinath et al. 2005)
		Aspergillus sp.	Oilseeds (Sandi et al. 2020)
		Aspergillus terreus	Cottonseed oil, palm kernel oil (Popoola and Onilude 2017) Oil mill wastes (Gopinath et al. 2005)
	Geosmithia	Geosmithia arqillacea	Wood (Ramnath et al. 2017)
	Penicillium	Penicillium verruculosum	Wood (Ramnath et al. 2017)
		Penicillium expansum	Olive oil, palmkernel oil (Popoola and Onilude 2017)
		Penicillium herquei	Sunflower oil, soya oil (Popoola and Onilude 2017)
		Penicillium funiculosum	Cottonseed oil (Popoola and Onilude 2017)
		Penicillium	Oil mill wastes (Gopinath et al. 2005) Oil mill wastes
		Penicillium spinulosum	Wood
		Penicillium sp.	Agroindustrial residues (Pinotti et al. 2017)
	Acremonium	Acremonium implicatum	Wood
		Acremonium strictum	Oil mill wastes (Gopinath et al. 2005)
	Phialophora	Phialophora alba	Wood (Ramnath et al. 2017)
	Curvularia	Curvularia lunata	Oil mill wastes (Gopinath et al. 2005)
		Curvularia sp.	Wood (Ramnath et al. 2017)

Table 9.2 Fungi species with lipolytic activity

(continued)

Phyla	Gender	Specie	Source
	Aspicilia	Aspicilia cinerea	Wood (Ramnath et al. 2017)
	Torrendiella	Torrendiella eucalypti	Wood (Ramnath et al. 2017)
	Brachyalara	Brachyalara straminea	Wood (Ramnath et al. 2017)
Basidiomycota	Phanerochaete	Phanerochaete chrysosporium	Wood (Ramnath et al. 2017)
	Basidiomycota	Basidiomycota sp	Wood (Ramnath et al. 2017)

Table 9.2 (continued)

9.5.3 Substrate

It is known from previous researches that when microorganisms are cultivated on fat-type substrates, lipase production occurs as a physiological response to the presence of fatty materials into the growth medium (Fickers et al. 2005). The substrate's concentration employed to isolate enzymes influences directly on their lipolytic activity. Likewise, it was reported a promising result from low concentrations to high concentration depending on the bacterial species, the medium, and the method used to measure (Ramnath et al. 2017). Moreover, the molecular properties of the enzyme, the structure of the substrate related to the digestion procedure, and some binding factors influence the interaction between the enzyme and the substrate altering the specificity of the reaction (Jensen and DeJong 1983). Most of the studies test the substrate when an optimal temperature and pH are determined (Prasad 2014).

9.5.4 Metallic lons

Metallic ions could have an inhibitory or a stimulating effect on the enzyme, based on their concentration and binding affinity between the ion and the binding sites (Oyedele et al. 2019). In previous reports, the lipolytic activity efficiency was evaluated depending on the addition of ions such as calcium, copper, mercury, iron, zinc, magnesium, potassium, among others, which influence in the active site of the enzymes (Carrazco-Palafox et al. 2018; Oyedele et al. 2019; Arpingny and Jaeger 1999; Saraswat et al. 2017).

9.6 Applications

9.6.1 Beneficial Properties

The use of enzyme obtained from microorganism has been feasible due to different factors, such as action over wide range of pH, catalyze a wide range of reactions, do not require cofactors, high substrate specificity and a wide application by its stereo, regio and enantiospecific behaviors (Gunasekaran and Das 2005; Hasan et al. 2006; Saxena et al. 2003). Enzymes obtained from microorganism are often more useful than enzymes derived from animal or vegetable species due to wide catalytic activities, the high yields and stability, fast growth, and they are genetically manipulable (Hasan et al. 2006; Wiseman 1977).

Based on that properties and characteristics, the use of these enzymes has been tremendous interest among scientists and industrialists.

9.6.2 Industrial Applications

The most common industrial application was focus on detergents, cosmetics, textile, dairy food, fat and oils, fuel, cleaning, paper, and polymer.

In the area of detergents, lipase enzymes have been used for a long time. The main interest in this industry is focused on obtaining an enzyme that can improve the washing capacity of detergents and minimize the use of phosphate-based chemicals in the typical detergent formulation (Saraswat et al. 2017; Chauhan et al. 2013). Previous research has shown that the use of enzyme improves washing capacity in a high percentage, considering a wide variety of detergents that include trademarks (Hemachander and Puvanakrishnan 2000).

In the dairy industry, bioactive compounds based on microbial enzymes are used in a variety of food such as milk, milk powder, butter, cheese, and meat among others (Gunasekaran and Das 2005; Hasan et al. 2006; El Soda et al. 1995). These were used for beneficial purposes in food processing, flavor development, and improving quality (Hasan et al. 2006). For the food industry, there are some reactions of interest as interesterification, hydrogenation, and fermentation, which are related to the development of functional and healthy foods (Shelley et al. 1987; Ur Rahman et al. 2016).

One prominent research was based on biofuel production through enzymatic transesterification. *Pseudomonas cepacian, Chromobacterium viscosum, Mucor miehei, Rhizopus oryze, Pseudomona fluorescens, Aspergelius penicillium,* and more species were reported for the use in the production of biodiesel fuel (Almyasheva et al. 2018; Man et al. 2009). The *Pseudomona fluorescens* was identified as one specie with the highest activity on the reaction (Tsouko et al. 2016; Iso et al. 2001). Biodiesel based on vegetable oils does not produce sulfur oxide and minimize the soot emission in comparison with petroleum (Hasan et al. 2006). Nowadays, the production of biodiesel is mainly dependent on residual

vegetable oils, and the studies are focused on the optimization of reactions (Almyasheva et al. 2018; Man et al. 2009; Darnoko and Cheryan 2000).

The synthesis of polymers has been taken attention in the industry because they are biodegradable and have a great diversity of renewable natural sources. Enzymes such as lipases and esterases are usually used as catalysts for polymeric synthesis due to their high selectivity under mild reaction conditions (Menaa et al. 2016; Gross et al. 2001).

9.6.3 Biotechnological Applications

9.6.3.1 Bioremediation

One of the most important applications was based on environment treatment with the purpose of eliminating pollutants from diverse sources. One source of interest is effluent samples from industries of different kinds. It was reported that there are microorganisms with the potential of enzymes production that can survive to industrial and environmental conditions, and the objective of these studies is to improve the production of certain enzymes with wide applicability and efficiency for bioremediation processes (Gopinath et al. 2013; Peil et al. 2016b; Stuer et al. 1986). The capacity to catalyze the hydrolysis of triglycerides plays an important role in the degradation of fats and oils in contaminated soils (Gopinath et al. 2013; Gunasekaran and Das 2005). Another relevant application is related to plastic degradation, where bacterial and fungi microorganism could degrade polymers like polyethylene, polyurethane using it as a substrate (Glass and Swift 1989). In this process, there are some factors such as kind of polymers, organism characteristics, and type of treatment required, which influence degradation activity (Gu et al. 2000). Figure 9.5 shows many fungi and bacterial enzymes have been discovered and evaluated as plastic degradant process. Some species reported are Pseudomonas, Comamonas, Bacillus, Aspergillus, Caldimonas, Aureobacterium, among others (Sayali and Satpute 2013; Urbanek et al. 2019).



Fig. 9.5 Plastic degradation by microorganism's enzymes by lipolytic activity

9.6.4 Medicine

The use of lipolytic enzymes has been important in the pharmaceutical area due to its enantioselectivity in synthesis reactions (Jaeger and Eggert 2002). In case of lipase enzymes, these were studied as a drug targets and enzymatic markers that were used as diagnostic tools for different diseases (Hasan et al. 2006; Rameshwaram et al. 2018). Moreover, another species was reported by their capacity to produce biosurfactants, which could be useful for its antibacterial, anti-adherent, and cytotoxic activities (Abdelli et al. 2019).

9.7 Conclusions

In summary, lipids are biomolecules that fulfill several functions fundamental for life. They are spread into nature in different ways. Lipids are degraded by different enzymes known as lipases, which are synthesized by microorganisms with lipolytic activity. However, external factors are involved during the degradation of this biomolecule. Lipids are water insoluble. The overall process consists of the degradation of lipids in Acetyl-CoA units by the citric acid cycle. This process takes place in the mitochondria. However, in animals and plants, FA oxidation takes place on peroxisomes and glioxisomes.

Lipases are synthesized by microorganisms, mainly those from vegetable oil waste or residues. Lipases are highly stable at different temperatures and pH. Bacteria gram-positive and gram-negative show lipolytic activity. Fungi species are the major source of lipases, producing extracellular enzymes and even with more stables properties. Bacteria, fungi, and even yeast have been studied and isolated, such as the genus *Pseudomonas*, *Bacillus*, *Rhodococcus*, *Staphylococcus*, *Rhizopus*, *Candida*, and *Geotrichum* sp. present a great ability to produce lipases.

Microorganisms with lipolytic activity have been applied to industry (detergents, polymers, food, oils, fuel, etc.). Another potent application is based on the biotechnology with an approach to bioremediation of the environment like plastic degradation and hydrolysis of triglycerides. Finally, lipid functions have been applied to medicine field as drug targets, enzymatic markers, and biosurfactants.

References

- Abbas H, Hiol A, Deyris V, Coumeau L (2002) Isolation and characterization of an extracellular lipase from. Enzym Microb Technol 31(7):968–975
- Abdelli F, Jardak M, Elloumi J, Stien D, Cherif S, Mnif S, Aifa S (2019) Antibacterial, antiadherent and cytotoxic activities of surfactin(s) from a lipolytic strain Bacillus safensis F4. Biodegradation 30:287–3e00
- Aldred EM, Buck C, Vall K (2009) Lipids. In: Pharmacology. Churchill Livingstone/Elsevier, Edinburgh, Scotland, pp 73–80
- Alford JA, Pierce DA, Suggs FG (1964) Activity of microbial lipases on natural fats and synthetic triglycerides. J Lipid Res 5(3):390–394

- Allen WV (1976) Biochemical aspects of lipid storage and utilization in animals. Am Zool 16 (4):631–647. https://doi.org/10.1093/icb/16.4.631
- Almyasheva NR, Shuktueva MI, Petrova DA, Kopitsyn DS, Kotelev MS, Vinokurov VA, Novikov AA (2018) Biodiesel fuel production by Aspergillus Niger whole-cell biocatalyst in optimized medium. Mycoscience 59(2):1–6
- Arpingny JL, Jaeger KE (1999) Bacterial lipolytic enzymes: classification and properties. Biochemical Journal 343(1):177
- Becker P (2010) Understanding and optimizing the microbial degradation of olive oil: a case study with the thermophilic bacterium Geobacillus Thermoleovorans IHI-91. In: Preedy VR (ed) Olives and olive oil in health and disease prevention. Elsevier Acad Press, Amsterdam, Netherlands, pp 377–386
- Borda-Molina D, Montaña JS, Zambrano MM, Baena S (2017) Mining lipolytic enzymes in community DNA from high Andean soils using a targeted approach. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek 110(8):1035–1051
- Cardenas F, de Castro MS, Sanchez-Montero JM, Sinisterra JV, Valmaseda M, Elson SW, Alvarez E (2001) Novel microbial lipases: catalytic activity in reactions in organic media. Enzyme and Microbial Technology 28:145–154
- Carrazco-Palafox J, Rivera-Chavira BE, Ramírez-Baca N, Manzanares--Papayanopoulos LI, Nevárez-Moorillón GV (2018) Improved method for qualitative screening of lipolytic bacterial strains. MehodsX 5:68–74
- Casas-Godoy L, Bordes F, Gasteazoro F, Marty A (2018) Lipases. In: Sandoval G (ed) An overview: methods and protocols. Lipases and phospholipases. Humana Press, New York, United States, pp 1–8
- Celligoi MAPC, Baldo C, De Melo MR, Gasparin FGM, Marques TA, De Barros M (2017) Lipase properties, functions and food applications. Microb Enzym Technol Food Appl:214–240
- Chauhan M, Chauhan RS, Garlapati VK (2013) Evaluation of a new lipase from Staphylococcus sp. for detergent additive capability. Biomed Research International:374967
- Chawla A, Repa JJ, Evans RM, Mangelsdorf DJ (2001) Nuclear receptors and lipid physiology: opening the X-files. Science 294:1866–1870
- Chiofalo B, Lo Presti V (2012) Sampling techniques for the determination of volatile components in food of animal origin. In: Pawliszyn J (ed) Comprehensive sampling and sample preparation: analytical techniques for scientists, vol 4. Academic Press, Saint Louis
- Darnoko D, Cheryan M (2000) Kinetics of palm oil transesterification in a batch reactor. Journal of the American Oil Chemists Society 77(12)
- Dinasarapu AR, Saunders B, Ozerlat I, Azam K, Subramaniam S (2011) Signaling gateway molecule pages--a data model perspective. Bioinformatics 27(12):1736–1738
- El Soda M, Law J, Tsakalidou E, Kalantzopoulos A (1995) Lipolytic activity of cheese related microorganisms and its impact on cheese flavour. Developments in Food Science 37:1823–1847
- Fickers P, Benetti P, Waché Y, Marty A, Mauersberger S, Smit M, Nicaud J (2005) Hydrophobic substrate utilisation by the yeast Yarrowia lipolytica, and its potential. FEMS Yeast Research 5:527–543
- Furini G, Berger JS, Campos JAMVDSST, Germani JC (2018) Production of lipolytic enzymes by bacteria isolated from biological effluent treatment systems. An Acad Bras Cienc 90 (3):2955–2965
- Glass JE, Swift G (1989) Agricultural and synthetic polymers, biodegradation and utilization, Simposium Series 433. American Chemical Society, Washington, DC
- Gopinath SCB, Hilda A, Anbu P (2005) Extracellular enzymatic activity profiles in fungi isolated from oil-rich environments. Mycoscience 46(2):119–126
- Gopinath SCB, Anbu P, Lakshmipriya T, Hilda A (2013) Strategies to characterize fungal lipases for applications in medicine and dairy industry. BioMed Research International 154549:1–10
- Gross RA, Kalra B, Kumar A (2001) Polyester and polycarbonate synthesis by in vitro enzyme catalysis. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 55(6):655–660

- Gu JD, Ford TE, Miltton DB, Mitchell R (2000) Microbial degradation and deterioration of polymeric materials. In: Revie RW (ed) Uhlig corrosion handbook. John Wiley & Sons, New York
- Gunasekaran V, Das D (2005) Lipase fermentation: progress and prospects. Indian J Biotechnol 4:437–445
- Gupta R, Gupta N, Rathi P (2004) Bacterial lipases: an overview of production, purification and biochemical Properties. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 64(6):763–781
- Gurr MI, Harwood JL (1991) Lipid biochemistry, 4th edn. Chapman & Hall, London
- Haba E, Bresco O, Ferrer C, Marqués A, Busquets M, Manresa A (2000) Isolation of lipasesecreting bacteria by deploying used frying oil as selective substrate. Enzym Microb Technol 26 (1):40–44
- Hasan F, Shah AA, Hameed A (2006) Industrial applications of microbial lipases. Enzym Microb Technol 39(2):235–251
- Hemachander C, Puvanakrishnan R (2000) Lipase from Ralstonia pickettii as an additive in laundry detergent formulations. Process Biochem 35(8):809–814
- Iso M, Chen B, Eguchi M, Kudo T, Shrestha S (2001) Production of biodiesel fuel from triglycerides and alcohol using immobilized lipase. J Mol Catal B Enzym 16(1):53–58
- Jaeger KE, Eggert T (2002) Lipases for biotechnology. Curr Opin Biotechnol 13(4):390-397
- Jambrak AR, Škevin D (2017) Lipids. In: Nutraceutical and functional food components. Academic Press, London, United Kingdom, pp 103–128
- Jensen RG, DeJong FA, Clark RM (1983) Determination of lipase specificity. Lipids 18 (3):239-252
- Jones PM, Bennett MJ (2017) Disorders of mitochondrial fatty acid β-oxidation. In: Garg U, Smith LD (eds) Biomarkers in inborn errors of metabolism. Elsevier Inc, United States, pp 87–101
- Kennedy K (2007) Lipids. In: Enna JS (ed) xPharm: the comprehensive pharmacology reference. Elsevier, Amsterdam, Netherlands, pp 1–6
- Kenthorai Raman J, Abang S, Poncelet D, Chan E, Ravindra P (2008) Production of biodiesel using immobilized Lipase—A critical review. Crit Rev Biotechnol 28(4):253–264
- Kresge N, Simoni RD, Hill RL (2010) JBC historical perspectives: Lipid biochemistry. J Biol Chem:1–2
- Le Borgne F, Demarquoy J (2012) Interaction between peroxisomes and mitochondria in fatty acid metabolism. Open J Mol Integr Physiol 2(1):27–33. https://doi.org/10.4236/ojmip.2012.21005
- Lipids (2000) Lethbridge University, pp. 380-394
- Lotrakul P, Dharmsthiti S (1997) Purification and characterization of lipase from Aeromonas Sobria LP004. J Biotechnol 54(2):113–120
- Lucretia R, Tamara B, Roshini G (2014) Method optimization for denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis (DGGE) analysis of microflora from Eucalyptus sp. wood chips intended for pulping. Afr J Biotechnol 13(3):356–365
- Malinauskas T (2008) Docking of fatty acids into the WIF domain of the human Wnt inhibitory Factor-1. Lipids 43(3):227–230
- Malinauskas T, Aricescu AR, Lu W, Siebold C, Jones EY (2011) Modular mechanism of Wnt signaling inhibition by Wnt inhibitory factor 1. Nat Struct Mol Biol 18(8):886–893
- Man X, Sini M, Obbard JP (2009) Biodiesel fuel production via transesterification of oils using lipase biocatalyst. GCB Bioenergy 1(2):115–125
- Mandal A (2019) Lipid biological functions. News-Medical; Retrieved on July 13, 2020 from https://www.news-medical.net/life-sciences/Lipid-Biological-Functions.aspx
- Mannaerts GP, Van Veldhoven PP, Casteels M (2000) Peroxisomal Lipid degradation via β and α -oxidation in mammals. Cell Biochem Biophys 32:73–87. https://doi.org/10.1385/CBB:32:1-3:73
- Melser S, Lavie J, Bénard G (2015) Mitochondrial degradation and energy metabolism. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Cell Res 1853(10):2812–2821. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamcr.2015.05. 010

- Menaa F, Menaa B, Kahn BA, Menaa A (2016) Trans fat and risks of cardiovascular diseases: facts or artifacts. In: Watson RR, Meester F (eds) Handbook of lipids in human function. AOCS Press, Arizona, United States, pp 23–25
- Muro E, Atilla-gokcumen GE, Eggert US, Bement W (2014) Lipids in cell biology: how can we understand them better ? Mol Biol Cell 25:1819–1823
- Oyedele SA, Ayodeji AO, Bamidele OS, Ajele JO, Fabunmi TB (2019) Enhanced lipolytic activity potential of mutant Bacillus niacini EMB-5 grown on palm oil mill effluent (POME) and biochemical characterization of purified lipase. Biotechnology 18:101017
- Peil G, Kuss AV, Rave A, Villareal J, Hernándes YML, Nascente PS (2016a) Bioprospecting of lipolytic microorganisms obtained from industrial effluents. An Acad Bras Cienc 88 (3):1678–2690
- Peil GHS, Kuss AV, Rave AFG, Villareal JPV, Hernandes YML, Nascente P (2016b) Bioprospecting of lipolytic microorganisms obtained from industrial effluents. An Acad Bras Ciênc 88(3):1769–1779
- Pinotti LM, Lacerda JX, Oliveira MM, Teixeira RD, Rodrigues C, Cassini STA (2017) Production of lipolytic enzymes using. Chemical Engineering Transactions 56:1897–1902
- Popoola B, Onilude A (2017) Microorganisms associated with vegetable oil polluted soil. Adv Microbiol 7(5):377–386
- Prasad MP (2014) Production of lipase enzyme from Pseudomonas aeruginosa isolated. Int J Pure Appl Biosc 2(1):77–81
- Pratush A, Gupta A (2016) Bacterial lipases: production strategies and industrial applications bacterial lipases: production strategies and industrial applications. Microbiol Appl:64–83
- Qiao Y, Zhao X, Zhu J, Tu R, Dong L, Wang L, Du W (2018) Fluorescence-activated droplet sorting of lipolytic microorganisms using a compact optical system. Lab Chip 18:190–196
- Rameshwaram NR, Singh P, Ghosh S, Mukhopadhyay S (2018) Lipid metabolism and intracellular bacterial virulence: key to next-generation therapeutics. Future Microbiology 13 (11):1301–1328
- Ramnath L, Sithole B, Govinden R (2017) Identification of lipolytic enzymes isolated from bacteria indigenous to Eucalyptus wood species for application in the pulping industry. Biotechnology Reports 15:114–124
- Samoylova YV, Sorokina KN, Piligaev AV, Parmon VN (2019) Application of bacterial thermostable lipolytic enzymes in the modern biotechnological processes: a review. Catal Ind 11 (2):168–178
- Sandi J, Mata-Araya I, Aguilar F (2020) Diversity of Lipase producing microorganisms from tropical oilseeds Elaeis guineensis, Ricinus communis, and Jatropha curcas L. from Costa Rica. Curr Microbiol 77(6):1–10
- Saraswat R, Verma V, Sistla S, Bhushan I (2017) Evaluation of alkali and thermotolerant lipase from an indigenous isolated Bacillus strain for detergent formulation. Electron J Biotechnol 30:33–38
- Saxena R, Sheoran A, Giri B, Davidson WS (2003) Purification strategies for microbial lipases. J Microbiol Methods 52(1):1–18
- Sayali P, Satpute S (2013) Microbial esterases: an overview. International Journal of Current Microbiology and Applied Science 2(7):135–146
- Scholante Delabary G, da Silva MC, da Silva CS, Baratieri LZ, de Melo TM, Stramosk CA, de Souza Lima AO, da Silva MAC (2020) Influence of temperature and culture media on growth and lipolytic activity of deep-sea Halomonas sulfidaeris LAMA 838 and Marinobacter excellens LAMA 842. Ocean and Coastal Research 68:2675–2824
- Shelley AW, Deeth HC, MacRae IC (1987) Review of methods of enumeration, detection and isolation of lipolytic microorganisms with special reference to dairy applications. J Microbiol Methods 6(3):123–137
- Snajdr PBJ (2007) Temperature effects the production, activity and stability of ligninolytic enzymes in Pleurotus ostreatus and Trametes versicolor. Folia Microbiol 52:498–502

- Stuer W, Jaeger KE, Winkler U (1986) Purification of extracellular lipase from Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Journal of Bacteriology 168(3):1070–1074
- Suresh R, Pandiaraj M, Sankaralingam M, Giribabu K (2019) Graphene–metal chalcogenide modified electrochemical sensors. In: Graphene-based electrochemical sensors for biomolecules. Elsevier, New Delhi, India, pp 139–153
- Thompson TE (2021) Lipid. Encyclopaedia Britannica, Virginia, United States. Retrieved 5 September 2020, from https://www.britannica.com/science/lipid
- Tsouko E, Papanikolaou S, Koutinas AA (2016) Production of fuels from microbial oil using oleaginous microorganisms. In: Luque R, Lin CSK, Wilson K, Clark J (eds) Handbook of biofuels production. Woodhead Publishing, Amsterdam Netherlands, pp 201–236
- Ur Rahman U, Khan MI, Sohaib M, Sahar A, Ishaq A (2016) Exploiting microorganisms to develop improved functional meat sausages: a review. Food Rev Intl 33(2):195–215
- Urbanek AK, Mirończuk AM, García-Martín A, Saborido A, de la Mata I, Arroyo M (2019) Biochemical properties and biotechnological applications of microbial enzymes involved in the degradation of polyester-type plastics. Proteins and Proteonics 1868(2):140315
- Wang X (2004) Lipid signaling. Curr Opin Plant Biol 39(7):329-336
- Wiseman A (1977) Handbook of enzyme biotechnology: edited by Alan Wiseman. Ellis Horwood Ltd., Chichester



Microbial Degradation of Steroids

10

Shashi Kiran Misra, Kamla Pathak, and Devender Pathak

Abstract

Steroids are naturally found in humans, plants, fungi, and arthropods to implement several developmental functions. Steroids are also extensively used in the healthcare systems to design a myriad of therapeutics for the management of bronchial asthma, anaphylaxis, rheumatic fever, meningitis, etc. The widespread applications of steroids and their environmental discharges in soil/aquatic systems have posed serious health concerns such as infertility, premature birth, polycystic ovary syndrome, and reduces hatching rate in fish and birds. Being hydrophobic, these stable chemicals and their conjugate forms do not mix well with the water system and reside in the biosphere for prolonged periods. The situation poses an ecological risk and aquatic hazards for all terrestrial and aquatic fauna until these are decomposed completely. Specific microbial genome, biochemical reactions, the key intermediates, and distinct catabolic enzymes participate in the steroidal degradation. The chapter highlights significant aerobic and anaerobic microbes that efficiently catabolize complex steroids into nonsteroidal organic compounds.

Keywords

Steroids \cdot Environmental discharge \cdot Biodegradation \cdot Aerobic degradation \cdot Anaerobic degradation

S. K. Misra

University Institute of Pharmacy, Chhatrapati Shahu Ji Maharaj University, Kanpur, India

K. Pathak (🖂) · D. Pathak

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 Inamuddin et al. (eds.), *Recent Advances in Microbial Degradation*, Environmental and Microbial Biotechnology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-0518-5_10

Faculty of Pharmacy, Uttar Pradesh University of Medical Sciences, Saifai, Etawah, Uttar Pradesh, India

10.1 Introduction

Abundantly found steroids encompass a class of cyclic organic compounds, specified with 17 carbon atoms that are organized as four cycloalkane rings. Steroids are triterpenoids and characterized by a planar and firm carbon skeleton. These ubiquitous chemicals are found in mammals in the form of corticosteroids, sex hormones, sterols, bile salts or bile acids, and mineralocorticoids. These chemicals are derived from a common precursor (cholesterol) through the process of stereogenesis. Stereogenic glands such as gonads (testes and ovaries), adrenal glands (adrenal cortex), and placenta are the main production sites of steroids. Lipid soluble cholesterol is found in all cells of the body and regulates body hormones and vitamin D synthesis. It also participates in managing cell membrane fluidity, thus modulates cell structure (Edwards et al. 1996). Corticosteroids (cortisone-like biochemical) alleviate inflammatory responses from the body, i.e., swelling, itching, erythema, or allergy. Therapeutically these steroidal compounds find their place in the treatment of allergic disorders such as asthma, arthritis, or skin problems. On the other hand, sex hormones play a key role in the development of male and female reproductive systems, and increasing muscle and bone mass. Figure 10.1 displays the development of various steroids from cholesterol.

Generally, steroidal compounds are lipophilic sterols and perform various physiological functions in plants, animals, and humans. Lanosterol and cycloartenol are major sterols found in animals and plants respectively. They control growth, development, and reproduction in the organisms. Plant steroid (brassinosteroid), first isolated from the pollen of *Brassicus napus* is reported to control seed germination, vascular differentiation, apical dominance, and stem/root proliferation in plants (Halliday 2004). Tren, Winstrol V, and Finalex are steroid-based veterinary steroids that relate to muscle power and growth in food production (Steinman and Trainor



Fig. 10.1 Development of various steroids from cholesterol (precursor)



Fig. 10.2 Differentiation of steroids based on their functions

2010). Ecdysterone found in insect controls molting and metamorphosis of arthropods (Isenmann et al. 2019). Similarly, ergosterol located in the fungal cell membrane controls the permeation of electrolytes and small nutrients across the membrane, thus maintains the cell integrity. Figure 10.2 illustrates the functional classification of naturally occurring steroids.

Hormones (cortisone, androgens, and estrogens) are essential steroidal chemicals that perform a variety of physiological functions in mammals, i.e., regulation of metabolism, salt and water balance, immunological responses, control of inflammation, modulation of sexual characteristics, and capability to endure in injury and illness. These chemicals execute their physiological functions through binding with intracellular receptors (ligand-dependent) and nonclassical membrane receptors. These receptors are modular proteins in which several domains coexist. These are N-terminal (A/B domain) that performs transcriptional activation, C domain or middle region contains DNA binding region, D domain or hinge region maintains receptor inactive, E region consists ligand-binding region and the F domain is C terminal of the protein receptor (Wierman 2007).

Steroids are extensively utilized in pharmaceutical industries and healthcare systems to design countless therapeutic agents namely immunosuppressants, contraceptives, anti-inflammatory agents, diuretics, hormonal therapies, etc. (Fernandes et al. 2003). Administered via oral (betamethasone, prednisolone, fludrocortisone, prednisone), parenteral (dexamethasone, triamcinolone, prednisohydrocortisone), (betamethasone, lone. topical clobetasol, mometasone, fluocinolone), and as inhalants (beclomethasone, budesonide, flunisolide); steroids find applications in various autoimmune disorders, inflammatory responses, hormonal replacement therapy (Addison's disease) and for non-endocrine usage (bronchial asthma, anaphylaxis, rheumatic fever, meningitis, etc.). Additionally, athletes use synthetic androgens or anabolic steroids to accelerate muscle power. Continuous

usage of these anabolic steroids may provoke cardiovascular disease, immune disorders, violent behavior, and sexual impairment. Moreover, the combinations of synthetic estrogens and progesterone are prescribed as oral contraceptive pills for preventing pregnancy and to control unpleasant symptoms of menopause (Cabrera-Munoz et al. 2012). Thus, steroid use is widespread.

10.2 Potential Sources of Steroidal Release in the Ecosystem

One of the major concerns that have been consistently ignored is the release of steroids in the biosphere. Living organisms constantly release these chemicals via excreting urine and fecal matter that requires immediate disposal or degradation in a simpler form to manage this new class of pollutants. Agriculture (fertilizers/manure), industries (endocrine-disrupting chemicals), and other household wastes including disposal of pharmaceuticals are the primary determinants of steroid discharge in environmental soil and water systems (Hanselman et al. 2003). Maier et al. (2000) discussed the release of huge livestock excreta containing sex steroids in the environment. The amount of natural estrogen was detected high (approximately 1.3 µg/l) in the marine sediments due to livestock feed and release components, whereas abundant glucocorticoids and mineralocorticoids were observed in urban surface water (Maier et al. 2000; Chang et al. 2009). National sewage sludge survey of the United States has reported 1,014,724,000 tons of animal excreta containing approximately 76 tons of estrogen. The released animal manure containing estrogens gets cycled from the water stream to the soil system to be used as fertilizers for agricultural lands (Andaluri et al. 2012). Reports reveal that the excreta of a pregnant woman may contain more than 250 µg estradiol per day (Johnson et al. 2000).

Urbanization across the globe has led to an ecosystem enriched with steroidal loads released from various sources. This has led to the generation of a novel kind of biogenic and anthropogenic steroidal pollutants for soil and aquatic systems. Being hydrophobic, these stable chemicals and their conjugates do not mix well in the water system, and thus, reside there for prolonged times. The situation poses an ecological risk and aquatic hazards for marine fauna until they are decomposed completely.

10.3 Impact of Steroids in the Ecosystem

Human beings are accidentally consuming released steroids through intake of polluted food, water, and inhaled air, and consequently diverse health hazards such as infertility, altered testosterone level, premature birth, breast cancer, polycystic ovary syndrome, early puberty, and irregular menstruation cycle (Fig. 10.3) have become rampant. Reports state that steroidal wastes significantly affect in vitro fertilization in women and do escalate the risk of genital anomalies as well (Fernandez et al. 2007). A series of investigations was performed on the endocrine-disrupting chemicals (natural, and synthetic estrogens, androgens, and



Fig. 10.3 Ecological impact of steroids on biosphere components

progestin) released from lactating cows injected with steroidal hormones for high milk productivity. The elevated discharge of steroids in agricultural watershed influenced the life cycle of aquatic fauna (Kolodziej and Sedlak 2007).

Animal pheromones are steroid-based chemical signals that elicit communication to other members of the same species in fish and amphibians. Research by Bazaes and Schmachtenberg in 2012 demonstrated the role and significance of steroids in the physiology of the olfactory system of fish. The study suggested that fish uses sulfated steroids for sending their communications to others (Bazaes and Schmachtenberg 2012). Its major derivative, 17- β -estradiol disulphate is a potent olfactory pheromone that participates in larval development (Houck 2009). Other pheromones such as androstenone and estratetraenol are significant for sexual performance in pigs and mice. Direct and indirect exposure to steroids disturbs and dysfunctions the physiology of marine and terrestrial animals. Oestrogen even in minimum concentration can disrupt the endocrine system in fishes, amphibians, and other invertebrates. Evidence stated that the feminization of male fish in an aquatic system that was surcharged with human waste loaded with estrogen. The findings explain the direct impact of estrogens (present in soil and water) in biological communities, thus affecting the ecosystem (Doyle and Meeks 2018).

The University of Iowa laid down a case report on the ecological threat of trenbolone acetate (an anabolic steroid), popularly used for bodybuilding by weightlifting sportspersons. Field experiments based on environmental survey revealed that this anabolic steroid did not completely break down in waterways, existed stable in the system, and posed risk to aquatic animals (Science daily report 2013). US geological survey on the biological activity of glucocorticoids and androgens in water streams was conducted to identify their traces in sewage effluents collected from 100 different sources of 14 states. The outcomes notified a significant presence of glucocorticoids (27%) and androgens (30%) in testing samples. The

survey suggested wide usage of stress hormones, and anabolic chemicals by humans and reported their potential adverse effects in endocrine systems of other organisms (Stavreva et al. 2012). Burton and Wells (2002) reported the adverse effect of 17- β -E2 analog isoflavone on domestic animals. The animal feed was enriched with a sufficient concentration of estrogen that resulted in developmental abnormalities in their genital organs (Burton and Wells 2002). The report emphasized clover disease in cattle (sheep) after grazing progesterone-rich feed that developed permanent infertility and impaired vision due to increased intraocular pressure (Hotchkiss et al. 2008).

Aforementioned critical impressions of steroidal components in the ecosystem have aroused alarming situations that need to be resolved through advanced biotechnology approaches and microbial engineering. Environmental decomposers (bacteria and fungi) competently consume steroidal waste (pollute) as their nutritional and energy sources. These tiny living organisms have been isolated and screened out through microbial bioprocess and recombinant DNA technology. The microbes produce desired steroidal key intermediates for further synthesis of sex hormones, sterols, bioactive agents, etc. Various C-19 (4-androstene 3, 17-dione; 1, 4-androstadiene-3, 17-dione) and C-22 steroidal key intermediates (9a-hydroxy-4-androstene-3, 17-dione; 22-hydroxy-23, 24-bisnorchol-4-ene-3-one) have been industrialized from developed microbial cell factories. Recently, enormous investigations are piloted in pharmaceutical industries that explore catabolic metabolites of degraded steroids in the formulation of newer therapeutic agents, i.e., prednisone, testolactone, dexamethasone, and boldenone (Fernandez-Cabezon et al. 2018).

10.4 Microbial Degradation of Steroids

Microbial degradation of such steroids is a functional tool for simplifying the complex structures of these chemicals in simpler degradable forms. This process is considered economical, easy, and flexible compared to the conventional synthetic chemical routes. Microorganisms such as bacteria and fungi both participate in the bioconversion of steroids in soil and water systems. The microbial decomposition process involves multifaceted reactions to simplify steroids. Various chemical reactions such as oxidation, reduction, hydrolysis, isomerization, and amination occur during microbial degradation. They transform the complexity of steroidal molecular configuration through introducing a new hydroxyl group, cleavage of attached side chains, hydration of double bonds, and the development of ketones, aldehydes, and epoxides. Interesting research by Orrego et al. (2009) has demonstrated the active role of soil microbes for bioconversion of phytosterol released from the pulp and paper industry, into androgens.

10.4.1 Aerobic Degradation of Cholesterol

Mycolic acid containing gram-negative bacteria (*Mycobacteria tuberculosis*) degrades the last side rings of steroids and consumes them as growth nutrients. Biomimetic studies revealed that the cholesterol catabolism process supports their virulence and is essential for bacterial survival in macrophages. Under aerobic conditions, *Mycobacterium* executes two consecutive steps for the degradation of cholesterol. First, is the elimination of the alkyl side chain at the C17 position, and the second one follows the cleavage of the C/D ring from the parent structure (Capyk et al. 2009). Figure 10.4 displays the segregation of cholesterol C and D ring from original cholesterol during the aerobic metabolism of bacteria (Fig. 10.4). This cleavage is a target site for the development of new therapeutics to mitigate tuberculosis diseases. Numerous CoA thioesters identified as pathway intermediates initiate hydrolytic ring degradation. Enzymes encoded with Tet R, and KstR2 regulate HIP catabolism of the C/D ring. The alkyl chain is degraded by β -oxidation whereas ring A/B is catalyzed through oxygenase to mineralize into carbon dioxide (Crowe et al. 2017).

Dresen et al. (2010) also described cholesterol catabolic processes mediated by *Rhodococcus jostii* and *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. Both microbes require sterol precursors for their survival, pathogenicity, and virulence. Thus, the release of steroid hormones in the ecosystem empowers microorganisms inside the host microphage. The study also suggested an active participation of flavin-dependent monooxygenase and p-hydroxyphenyl acetate hydroxylase enzymes for bacterial catabolism of cholesterol (Dresen et al. 2010). *Pseudomonas testosteroni* was reported to biotransform 19-Nortestosterone into female hormone estrogens (estrone and 17- β -estradiol) and displayed ring A aromatization of estrogens (Fig. 10.5).

Zhang et al. isolated marine gram-negative bacteria (S19-1) of Enterobacteriaceae family from the Baltic Sea, Germany, which used steroids (testosterone, estradiol, and cholesterol) as growth nutrient. This bacterium could best grow in saltwater (approximately 4% NaCl) at a cool temperature (20 °C). The pk18 plasmids were successfully transformed through chemical transformation into the cells of S19-1



Fig. 10.4 Aerobic metabolism of cholesterol by gram-negative *M. tuberculosis*



19-Nor testosterone

Fig. 10.5 Bioconversion of 19-Nortestosterone into estrogens by aerobic P. testosterroni

Sample system	Estrone	17-β-estradiol	Ethinyl estradiol
Soil/water/sediment	Half-life	Half-life	Half-life
Aerobic soil	~ 0.5 days	~ 1.7 days	~ 3.2 days
Aerobic water	~ 1.7 days	~ 1.8 days	~ 7 days
Aerobic sediment (marine)	~ 4.4 days	Data not obtained	~ 20 days
Anaerobic sediment (marine)	~ 70 days	Data not obtained	Not degraded
Anaerobic sediment (river~)	~ 0.7 days	~ 14 days	Data not obtained
Anaerobic lake	~ 21 days	Interconversion to estrone	Not degraded

Table 10.1 Comparative half-lives and stability of different estrogens in diverse sample systems

bacteria to generate their numerous replicas for the management of sea steroidal pollution (Zhang et al. 2011).

10.4.2 Aerobic Degradation of Estrogens

Minimization or removal of estrogens, androgens, and progesterone from the environment is a challenge and the researchers are investigating aggressively. Research efforts report efficient removal of androgens and progesterone (up to 91%) compared to a relatively low degradation of estrogens (approximately 80%) from soils, river water, aquifers, and marine sediments through microbes (Fernandes et al. 2003). Abundant carbon atoms and several double bonds (reduced compounds) offer a favorable environment for the nutrition and cultivation of various microbes (bacteria, microalgae, yeast, and fungi). Estrogens are the main endocrine-disrupting chemicals that are predominant in groundwater, sewage waste, and soil across the globe.

The average concentration of estrogens: estrone (E1), 17β -estradiol (E2), estriol (E3), and synthetic ethinyl estradiol (EE2) in the water streams is estimated up to 70 ng/L, 19 ng/L, 320 ng/L, and 7 ng/L respectively depending on their water solubility (Ojoghoro et al. 2017; Peterson et al. 1952). The half-life of estrogen is dependent on the rate of degradation estimated through first-order regression curve kinetics. It focuses on the duration of adherence to steroid pollutants on the ecosystem. The estrogens contained in human excreta (E1, E2, and E3) have a

short half-life (2–6 days) owing to their hydrophobic nature in sediments and water systems (Table 10.1).

The biodegradation of E1 and E2 is mediated through redox reactions under biotic conditions.

The synthetic estrogen EE2 has a prolonged half-life (81 days) in aquifer sediments under aerobic conditions (Ying et al. 2002).

The microorganisms present in aquatic and soil systems decompose estrogenic components into non-estrogenic/harmless products. Rhodococcus sp., Narcadia sp. (strain E110), Nitrosomonas europaes, Novoshingobium tardaugens (strain ARI 1), Phingomonas sp. (strain D12), etc., are the estrogen degrading aerobic microorganisms. Aerobic bacteria of the classes Actinobacteria and Proteobacteria play a significant role in the complete mineralization of estrogens in an atmosphere of carbon dioxide. The FAD-dependent enzymes $(3-ketosteroid-\Delta 1$ dehydrogenases) are prominent in a variety of microbes belonging to the Actinobacteria phylum. At the preliminary stage, these enzymes breakdown the double bond between C1 and C2 of A ring of the steroidal substrate through 1(2)dehydrogenation reaction (Rohman and Dijkstra 2019).

The literature emphasizes that the presence of benzene (A ring) in the parent C18 estrogen restricts microbial attack and damage of structure integrity steadily. Additionally, the structural configuration of estrogen is composed of quarternary C-atoms at 5, 10, and 13 positions that make it stable and resist easy breakdown. The presence of ethinyl group in the estradiol ring prevents its oxidation under aerobic conditions.

Fujii et al. (2001) discussed the isolation and characterization of E2 degradation by gram-negative bacteria Novosphingobium tardaugens, ARI 1. Complete conversion of E2 into E1 was reported by species of Rhodococcus and Sphingomonas. Further E1 was degraded into nonpolluted organic acid through mixed bacteria found in wet soil. Estrogen sulfates, i.e., estradiol sulfate and estriol sulfate both are urine excreta of livestock, and are reported as endocrine-disrupting chemicals. Aerobic microbial conversion occurs by arylsulfatase enzyme present in soil microorganism that displayed first-order temperature-dependent degradation kinetics. Furthermore, Rho and Chu demonstrated the aerobic estrogen bioremediation process by Sphingomonas sp. (strain KC8) from a sludge sample. They isolated three crucial metabolites during the process, i.e., meta cleavage product, 4-hydroxyestrone and pyridinestrone, the end product. Gene clusters I and II were involved in the degradation of the ring (Roh and Chu 2010). Moreover, phylogenetically diverse bacteria of genera including Aminobacter, Mycobacterium, Escherichia, Flavobacterium have also been identified for the degradation of natural and synthetic estrogens from activated sludge. These bacteria were capable of biotransforming E2 to E1 by the virtue of the inherent monooxygenase enzyme. However, among them only Aminobacter, Sphingomonas, and Rhodococcus were discussed further in context to the degradation of estrone (Yu et al. 2007).

Hamid et al. identified that the gram-negative *Rhodococcus* completely degraded E1 in sewage within 24 h. However, the rate of steroid degradation relied on the concentration of soil organic components, high pH, moisture content, temperature, and covalent bonding between microbes and steroids (Hamid and Eskicioglu 2012).


Fig. 10.6 Microbial degradation and interconversion of estrogens under aerobic condition

Various strains of *Rhodococcus equi* (Y 50155, Y 50156, Y50157), and *Rhodococcus zopfii* (Y50158) were reported for significant degradation of all estrogens (E1, E2, and E3) from activated sludge of wastewater system (Fig. 10.6). Yoshimoto et al. investigated selective 17 β -estradiol (E2) degradation into non-estrogenic components through *R. zopfii* (strain Y 50158) within 24 h (Yoshimoto et al. 2004). On the contrary, the half-life of EE2 was estimated very high (108 days) in the water stream and was further prolonged if not biodegraded by microbes there (Petrie et al. 2015). Maximum fractions of both the steroids were susceptible to photocatalysis also. The presence of organic matter, depth of water systems (river and lake), and bankside vegetation were the affecting parameters for E2 and EE2 biodegradation. Under anaerobic conditions, both are not degraded and reside for prolonged periods in the soil as the oxygen environment is essential for their microbial degradation (Adeel et al. 2017).

An alphaproteobacterium, *Novosphingobium tardaugens* (NBRC 16725) isolated from the sewage treatment plant in Japan is a gram-negative, rod-shaped aerobic bacteria involved in the degradation of estrogens to fulfill its carbon requirements for growth. Investigations revealed the involvement of numerous clusters of genes namely, the oecA, oec B, and oecC for estradiol degradation, and sal2, scb2AB, and stdA2 genes for denaturation of cholic acid (bile acid steroid). Under aerobic conditions, initially, 17 β -estradiol (E2) was oxidized into estrone (E1) by oestradiol dehydrogenase enzyme (OecA). Furthermore, E1 was hydroxylated to produce catecholic A ring by monooxygenase estrone-4-hydroxylase enzyme (OecB). Lastly, A ring was meta cleavaged in the presence of meta-cleavage enzyme 4-hydroxyestrone 4, 5-dioxygenase, Oec C (Ibero et al. 2019). Fan et al. (2007) emphasized that under aerobic conditions estrogens (17- β -estradiol, 6%) and androgens (testosterone, 63%) were mineralized into inorganic matter and carbon dioxide. However, this bioremediation process was restricted in the absence of an oxygen environment, and only 0.9% of 17- β -estradiol and 46% of testosterone were degraded in the agricultural soil system.

An exhaustive survey on the biotic system of wastewater sludge revealed that the strains of *Bacillus amyloliquefacience*, *Bacillus subtilis*, and *Bacillus cereus* actively participated in the conversion of estradiol into estrone. The microbes did not simplify estrone into other organic matter. Additionally, the microbial strains of *Aminobacter*, *Flavobacterium*, *Brevundimonas*, and *Microbacterium* are also involved in making the marine environment estrogen free (Yu et al. 2007). In this context, *Stenotrophomonas maltophilia* is known to cause cleavage of the saturated ring of estrone whereby estrone is biotransformed into tyrosine amino acid and further consumed during bacterial protein biosynthesis. Additionally, *Sphingomonas KC8* and *Sphingomonas EDB-LI1* of Sphingomonadaceae were also identified as estrone transformers (Garcia-Gomez et al. 2013).

10.4.3 Aerobic Degradation of Progesterone

Females naturally secrete progesterone (C-21 steroidal ketone) during pregnancy (21–200 ng/ml). Its synthetic form progestin is widely used as an oral contraceptive and for hormonal replacement therapy (EMEA 2004). Studies have reported a high level (~ 200 ng/ml) of excreted hormone and its active metabolite in the water system (Liu et al. 2015). The endocrine-disrupting effect (EDE) of progesterone concentration in aquifer biota is less than 1 ng/ml and thus the excreted level in the water system is alarming. Furthermore, cyanobacteria (Cynobacterium microchaeta tenera) and few freshwater microalgae (Chlorella pyrrenoidosa and Scenedesmus obliquus) through diverse reaction pathways mediate the biotransformation of progesterone into potent androgens (Peng et al. 2014). Ojoghoro et al. (2017) demonstrated putative transportation products of bioremediated progesterone obtained from EAWAG (Eidgenössische Anstalt für Wasserversorgung, Abwasserreinigung und Gewässerschutz) biocatalysis process (a study performed by Swiss Federal Institute of Aquatic Science). Their report highlighted biotransformation of several potentially active androgens, i.e., 1, 4 pregnadiene-3,20-dione, androstenedione-3,20-allpregnanedione transformed by microalgae on the water surface (Fig. 10.7).

10.4.4 Aerobic Degradation of Androgens

Microbial degradation of androgen (testosterone) was first reported by Talalay et al. (1952). The researchers isolated gram-negative bacteria *Comamonas testosteroni*, a betaproteobacteria from soil and sewage. *Comamonas sp* grows in an aerobic



Fig. 10.7 Biotransformation products via aerobic microbial degradation of progesterone



Fig. 10.8 Schematic aerobic degradation of testosterone by C. testosteroni

environment and utilizes androgens as the carbon source nutrients. Studies performed through PCR revealed that an amplified sequence of dioxygenase gene "tesH, B, D" and 16S rRNA are accountable for the catabolism of testosterone (Fig. 10.8). A testosterone inducible regulator "teiR" that mediated the transcription

of genome engaged in initiation of testosterone mineralization was identified in *C. testosteroni* (Chen et al. 2016). The teiR is a repressor protein and is accountable for the expression of gene " 3β , 17 β -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase" in this microbe (Wu et al. 2015). Another research performed by Pruneda-Paz and team in 2004, revealed that the teiR deficit mutants of *C. testosteroni* were unable to utilize testosterone as the sole energy source and nutrition. A series of oxidation and dehydrogenase reactions were enduring for aerobic catabolism of testosterone. The key intermediates were androst-4-en-3,17-dione, androst-3,4-dien-3,17-dione, 3-hydroxy-9,10-secon, androsta-1,3,5(10)-trien-9,17-dione and 3,4-dihydroxy-9,10-secon, androsta-1,3,5(10)-trien-9,17-dione. The 9, 10-seco pathway is opted for the microbial conversion of testosterone into several key intermediates (Pruneda-Paz et al. 2004).

Payne and Talalay (1985) investigated another proteobacteria *Alcaligens strain M21* (present in the soil) for catabolism of both testosterone and estradiol. Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide linked enzymes (3β - and 17α -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase) were identified in the isolated strains of *Alcaligens* bacteria that actively participated in stereospecific oxidation and reduction of steroids. 17- α -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase has a higher affinity toward the oxidation of testosterone. This virtue has also been explored for microestimation of steroidal enzymatic cycling and degradation (Payne and Talalay 1985).

Glucocorticoid dexamethasone is a widely used synthetic steroid owing to its multifaceted clinical applications, i.e., allergy, asthma, and autoimmune disorders. An environmental survey has reported the discharge of dexamethasone residues through hospital waste systems that pollute the ecosystem extensively and affect the living organisms through the food chain (Liu et al. 2009). *Pseudomonas alkaligens* was reported for the decomposition of dexamethasone owing to the presence of protease enzymes found in its intracellular liquid. The 41 kDa protease has more than 95% capability for degradation of dexamethasone sodium phosphate sampled from hospital wastewater (Zhu et al. 2015).

Another aerobic bacterium, Endozoicomonas found in the marine microbiota (corals and sponges) displays an interesting ecological role in the degradation of testosterone. E. montiporae $CL-33^{T}$, a gammaproteobacteria was first isolated from the southern coast offshore of Taiwan. It is a facultative symbiont and its distinctive genomic feature (transposase coded most active IS elements) lessens host environmental stress through eliminating sea slug pollutants. Other species such as E. elysicola and E. numazuensis can cause complete degradation of testosterone into propionyl Co A and pyruvate (Ding et al. 2016). The microbes of phylum Actinobacteria were also capable of complete degradation of androgens (testosterone), progestogens (progesterone), and sterols (cholesterol). Hydroxylation results in the substitution of hydroxyl groups at the α/β site of hydrogen in the steroidal moiety (Petrusma et al. 2014). The hydroxyl groups were derived from gaseous oxygen rather than water molecules hence always preserve the stereochemical configuration for the replaced hydrogen of the parent compound. Several species of Rhodococcus such as R. ruber, R. rhodochrous, R. zoffi, R. equi, and R. erythropolis can breakdown the complex steroidal structure into simpler ones

				Isolated
Class	Microorganism	Strain	Precursor/steroid	system
Actinobacteria	Rhodococcus ruber	DSM 43338	Cholesterol,	Activated
	MI		testosterone,	sludge
	D1	ATCC 4277	Fatrial astrodial	Call
	ervthropolis	AICC 42/7	Estiloi, estilation	5011
	Rhodococcus zoffi	V 50158	Oestrogens	Soil
	Rhodococcus zojji Rhodococcus aqui	V50155	Partial degradation of	Soil
	Knouococcus equi	Y50156	synthetic ethinyl	5011
		Y50157	estradiol	
	Thermomonospora	ATCC	Bile steroid,	Soil
	curvata	19995	testosterone	
	Salinispora	CNS 205	Cholesterol,	Soil
	arenicola		testosterone	
	Amycolicicoccus	DQS 3-9-	Cholesterol	Soil
	subflavus	A1T		
	Nocardia sp.	E110	Estrogens	Soil
	Amycolatopsis	ATCC	Cholesterol,	Soil
	sp. 75iv2	39116	progesterone	
	Actinoplanes	431	Cholesterol,	Soil
	missouriensis		testosterone	
Proteobacteria	Comamonas	ATCC	Testosterone	Soil
	testosterone	11996	T	A
	Cupriaviaus	ATCC 17600	Testosterone	Activated
	Psaudomonas	NBPC	Testosterone	Sludge
	resinovorans	106553	restosterone	Sludge
	Endozoicomona	BCRC	Testosterone	Coral
	montiporae	17933		
	Novosphingobium	NBRC	Estriol, estrone and	Activated
	tardaugens	16725	17-β-estradiol	sludge
	Sphingomonas	RW1	Testosterone	River
	wittchii			
	Shewanella	ATCC	Bile steroid	Sludge
	pealeana	700345		

 Table 10.2
 List of microbial strains isolated from several biotic systems for degradation of steroids

by catabolism of sterols (cholesterol), androgens (testosterone), and estrogens (estradiol). Sang et al. (2011) demonstrated degradation of steroids present in seawater through marine bacteria *Vibrio H5*. This strain could potentially biotransform androgens (testosterone) and estrogens. Their research identified two estradiol inducible genomes: carboxylesterase and 3-ketosteroid- Δ -1-dehydrogenase accountable for mineralization into carbon dioxide (Sang et al. 2011). Table 10.2 compiles the aerobic microbes isolated from several biotic systems for the degradation of steroids.

10.5 Fungal Degradation of Steroids

Literature evidences that few fungi and molds biotransform steroidal components present in the environment through several chemical reactions and side-chain cleavage (Fernandes et al. 2003). *Curvularia lunata, Fusarium solani, Rhizopus sps., Penicillium sps., Aspergillus sps., Gliocladium sps,* and yeasts have been investigated for efficient degradation and simplification of the steroidal nucleus. The fungal degradation pathway does not require the addition of antibiotics, organic acids, solvents as these components get self-synthesized in the medium during fungal growth and metabolism. Fungal cells are ideal viable components for the degradation of steroids owing to their enormous surface volume ratio provided by hyphae and spores. Furthermore, higher growth rate efficiency enables these viable cells to accelerate the degradation process. The most important virtue of eukaryotic fungi is that they are regiospecific and stereospecific that govern the cleavage of the steroid side chain in one single step.

In the year 1952, Peterson and Murray investigated the transformational activity of *Rhizopus nigricans* conversion of progesterone to hydrocortisone and cortisone successively through several steps (Peterson et al. 1952).

Some fungal species of Fusarium (*F. solani* and *F. caucasicum*) were reported for degradation of steroidal metabolites namely, Δ 4-pregnene-3, 20-dione and Δ 5-3- β -hydroxy steroids into 1, 4-androstadiene-3, 17-dione (ADD) and 4-androstene-3, 17-dione (AD) by the process of dehydrogenation. *Cylindrocarpon radicicola* is also utilized as an efficient active fungal strain in biofermenter for the conversion of progesterone into ADD (Rohman and Dijkstra 2019). Later, Ojoghoro et al. (2017) reported the environmental transformation of progesterone samples collected from wastewater systems by a group of fungi in alkaline pH (~ 8.5) at cool temperature (Fig. 10.9).



Fig. 10.9 Fungal degradation of progesterone into cortisone and derivative



Fig. 10.10 Fungal degradation of cortexolone into hydrocortisone

These fungal bioconversion processes led to a new perspective for the development of other adrenocorticoids and glucocorticoids commercially. Several filamentous fungi like *Aspergillus, Mucor*, and *Rhizopus* are involved in the process of hydroxylation of steroids at alpha and beta carbon 11 positions. The genome of filamentous fungi is composed of approximately 200 cytochrome P450 genes that are essential monooxygenase enzymes for the degradation process (Kelly and Kelly 2013). A recombinant strain of *Schizosaccharomyces pombe* and *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* are used to biotransform mammalian steroids hydroxylation through xenobiotic metabolism with the help of CYP3A4 (Mehmood et al. 1995). Additionally, certain fungi such as *Cunninghamella blakesleeane* and *Curvularia lunata* both bioremediate glucocorticoid 'cortexolone' into hydrocortisone by substituting hydroxyl group at 11 position of parent steroid (Fig. 10.10).

10.6 Anaerobic Degradation of Steroids

10.6.1 Anaerobic Degradation of Cholesterol

Anaerobic microorganisms are often located in deep, compacted soil (microsites) where oxygen concentration is restricted. Generally, anaerobic or anoxic conditions are not a satisfactory and efficient way for steroidal degradation by microbes, hence, these sediments and soils are steroid reservoirs (Hanselman et al. 2003). However, betaproteobacteria and gammaproteobacteria can degrade steroil derivatives as these microbes utilize sulfate, nitrate/oxygen as an electron acceptor. Such microbes bioremediate biotic steroidal waste or effluents disposed on soil or sewage waste systems. Relatively limited literature is available on the anaerobic degradation of steroids compared to the aerobic one.

Taylor and Smith first investigated the complete mineralization of steroids through anaerobes under denitrifying conditions in the year 1981. Denitrifying bacteria, i.e., *Rhodocyclus, Azoarcus,* and *Thauera* consume cholesterol as a carbon source (Taylor et al. 1981). During their growth phase, they reduce nitrate into nitrite and again into nitrogen gas thus completing oxidation of cholesterol into carbon dioxide (Harder and Probian 1997). These microbes exhibit common phylogenetic and physiological features as the aerobic ones. The microbes are rod-shaped,



Fig. 10.11 Anaerobic degradation of common sterol precursor cholesterol by denitrifying bacteria

gram-negative, and mesophilic (cultured in 28–32 °C). The genetic 16S rDNA sequence of β -proteobacteria, i.e., strain 72Chol and Sterolibacterium denitrificans is similar to the denitrifying bacteria and can biotransform sterols and fatty acids. Chiang et al. (2008) reported that 3-ketosteroid Δ 1-dehydrogenase (Δ 1-KSTD) enzymes present in *Sterolibacterium denitrifican* were accountable for cholesterol ring breakdown through dehydrogenation reaction. Further study presented a detailed report on the anoxic decomposition of cholesterol by *Sterolibacterium denitrificans* (Chol 1ST DSMZ 13999).

Several genes (Acm A, Acm B, and Acm C) and metabolic intermediates/ enzymes were involved in the complete anaerobic catabolism of cholesterol. Initially, oxidation of A ring started at C3 and C5 positions leading to the generation of active intermediates, i.e., cholest-5-en-3-one and cholest-4-en-3-one, respectively in the presence of Acm A protein. Furthermore, dehydrogenation initiated by flavoprotein Acm B at C1, and the key intermediate, cholesta-1,4-dien-3-one was produced. Subsequently, the formation of 25-hydroxycholest-4-en-3-one was mediated with Acm C protein. Figure 10.11 illustrates the sequential anaerobic catabolism of cholesterol by the denitrifying bacteria *Sterolibacterium denitrificans*. The catabolism is mediated by ethylbenzene dehydrogenase, an anaerobic hydroxylase enzyme.

Freier et al. (1994) introduced *E. coprostanoligenes*, an aerobic *Eubacterium* genus bacteria found in the gut contents of the human. This bacterium has the potential to transform cholesterol into coprostanol with the help of enzyme cholesterol reductase (Fig. 10.12). Coprostanol is poorly absorbed in the gut mucosa of humans; hence, it constitutes more than 50% of total fecal steroidal contents.



Fig. 10.12 Biotransformation of cholesterol into poorly absorbable corprostanol

10.6.2 Anaerobic Degradation of Testosterone

Gram-negative, rod-shaped, motile, and non-spore forming γ -proteobacteria Steroidobacter dentrificans has been reported for oxidative catalysis of testosterone at 28 °C and neutral pH. Sdo. dentrificans (DSMZ 18526) consume steroidal organic substrate as a nutritional source in a nitrate environment. Several dehydrogenations and hydrogenation reactions occur during the A and D ring biotransformation of testosterone (Fahrbach et al. 2008). The conversion process involves some common steps as in aerobic schemes, such as first ring cleavage product (17-hydroxyl-1-oxo-2, 3-seco, androstan-3-oic acid or 2,3 SAOA). Initially, 1-testosterone gets oxidized at C1/C2 via dehydrogenation reaction into 3-ketosteroid Δ^1 dehydrogenase in the presence of molybdoenzyme. Furthermore, the hydroxyl group is introduced at the C17 site via oxidation. The second step involves reduction that results in the generation of androst-1-en-3, 17-dione followed by hydrolase mediated transformation, i.e., 17-hydroxyl-androstan-1, 3-dione (Fig. 10.13). A series of xanthine oxidase enzymes (molybdopterin), iron-sulfur cluster (Fe-S), actABCgene cluster (atcA, atcB, and atcC) participate during catabolism of testosterone. Apart from Sdo dentrificans other betaproteobacteria Azoarcus toluclasticus, Thauera terpenia, and Sterolibacterium denitrificans also have the potential for efficient degradation of androgens under denitrifying environment (Chaing et al. 2010).

10.6.3 Anaerobic Degradation of Estrogen

Denitrifying bacteria of class gammaproteobacteria and betaproteobacteria (*Sdo. dentrificans*, and *Denitratisoma oestradiolicum*) have been isolated from anoxic river sediments and sludge soil samples. These microbes are capable of causing partial mineralization of natural estrogens (17β -estradiol and estrone) into dinitrogen monoxide by the nitrate reduction process. Estrogens are difficult to biodegrade anaerobically due to the presence of stable phenolic-A ring in their chemical structure. The precise mechanisms, key intermediates, and the enzymes/genes



Fig. 10.13 Schematic anoxic degradation of testosterone by Steroidobacter dentrificans

			Electron	
Phylum	Microorganisms	Strains	acceptor	Steroids
Betaproteobacteria	Sterolibacterium	Chol-1S	Oxygen/	Cholesterol,
	dentrificans	(DSM13999)	nitrate	testosterone, and
				androst-4-en-3,17-
				dione
	Sterolibacterium	72 Chol	Oxygen/	Cholesterol
	dentrificans	(DSM12783)	nitrate	
	Denitratisoma	AcBE ₂₋₁	Nitrate	17-βEstradiol (E2),
	oestradiolicum	(DSM16959)		estrone (E1)
	Thauera	58Eu	Nitrate	Testosterone
	terpenica	(DSM12139)		
Gammaproteo-	Steroidobacter	FS	Nitrate/	17β-estradiol (E2),
bacteria	denitrificans	(DSM18526)	oxygen	estrone (E1) and
				androst-4-en-3,17-
				dione

Table 10.3 Anaerobic degradation of steroids

involved in the anaerobic estrogen degradation have not been well investigated. Few studies shed light on the adaptation of the oxygen-independent pathway for degradation of phenolic A ring of estrogens that is different from the aerobic one (Yu et al. 2013). Table 10.3 compiles few anaerobic microbes involved in steroid degradation.

Research on denitrifying bacteria *Sterolibacterium dentrificans* and *Steroidobacter denitrificans (facultative anaerobes) revealed an interesting bioconversion property to modify their metabolism both in oxic and anoxic circumstances. These microbes have the potential to survive in an oxygen-tensed niche that endorses the consumption of steroidal waste as their nutrition sources. This inherent*

property offers a newer biochemical study as a post-genomic tool for bioconversion of substrates variable environmental conditions.

10.7 Conclusion

For decades, various aerobic and anaerobic microbes are being investigated for the degradation of natural and synthetic steroids into nontoxic organic substrates. These microorganisms assist in preserving the environment by eliminating steroidal pollutants and their undesirable effects from the ecosystem. Several microbes of phylum *Actinobacteria* and *Proteobacteria* are active biodegraders of cholesterol, androgens, and estrogens from diverse soil and aquatic sources. Still, the study needs pursuance on genetic and metabolic engineering that enable innovative development of bioconversion of resistant steroids. There is also a need of cost-effective industrial cell practices for collection of suitable microbial strain that has potential for proficient breakdown of steroids under feasible conditions. Appropriate biotechnological approaches are required for the improvement of steroid solubility and removal of generated toxic substances.

References

- Adeel M, Song X, Wang Y et al (2017) Environmental impact of estrogens on human, animal and plant life: a critical review. Environ Int 99:107–119
- Andaluri G, Suri RP, Kumar K (2012) Occurrence of estrogen hormones in biosolids, animal manure and mushroom compost. Environ Monit Assess 184:1197–1205
- Bazaes A, Schmachtenberg O (2012) Odorant tuning of olfactory crypt cells from juvenile and adult rainbow trout. J Exp Biol 215:1740–1748
- Burton J, Wells M (2002) The effect of phytoestrogens on the female genital tract. J Clin Pathol 55:401–407
- Cabrera-Munoz E, Hernandez OT, Camacho-Arroyo I (2012) Role of estradiol and progesterone in HIVsusceptibility and disease progression. Mini Rev Med Chem 12(11):1049–1054
- Capyk JK, Kalscheuer R, Stewart GR et al (2009) Mycobacterial cytochrome P450 125 (Cyp125) catalyzes the terminal hydroxylation of C27 steroids. J Biol Chem 284:35534–35542
- Chaing YR, Fang JY, Ismail W et al (2010) Initial steps in anoxic testosterone degradation by *Steroidobacter denitrificans*. Microbiol 156:2253–2259
- Chang H, Wan Y, Hu J (2009) Determination and source apportionment of five classes of steroid hormones in urban rivers. Environ Sci Technol 43:7691–7698
- Chen YL, Wang CH, Yang FC et al (2016) Identification of *Comamonas testosteroni* as an androgen degrader in sewage. Sci Rep 6:35386
- Chiang YR, Ismail W, Gallien S, Heintz D et al (2008) Cholest-4-en-3-one- Δ 1-dehydrogenase, a flavoprotein catalyzing the second step in anoxic cholesterol metabolism. Appl Environ Microbiol 74:107–113
- Committee for Veterinary Medicinal Product Progesterone (2004) EMEA/MRL/146/96-FINAL, London
- Crowe AM, Casabon I, Brown KL (2017) Catabolism of the last two steroid rings in Mycobacterium tuberculosis and other bacteria. mBio 8(2):e00321–e00317
- Ding J-Y, Shiu J-H et al (2016) Genomic insight into the host-endosymbiont relationship of *Endozoicomonas montiporae* CL-33 with its coral host. Front Microbiol 7:251

- Doyle WI, Meeks JP (2018) Excreted steroids in vertebrate social communication. J Neurosci 38:3377–3387
- Dresen C, Lin LY, D'Angelo I et al (2010) A flavin-dependent monooxygenase from Mycobacterium tuberculosis involved in cholesterol catabolism. J Biol Chem 285(29):22264–22275
- Edwards PE, Davis R, Vance DE et al (1996) Isoprenoids, sterols and bile acids. In: Biochemistry of lipids, lipoproteins and membranes, 3rd edn. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 203–256
- Fahrbach M, Kuever J, Remesch M et al (2008) *Steroidobacter denitrificans* gen. Nov., sp. nov., a steroidal hormone-degrading gammaproteobacterium. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 58 (Pt 9):2215–2223
- Fan Z, Casey FX, Hakk H et al (2007) Persistence and fate of 17β-oestradiol and testosterone in agricultural soils. Chemosphere 67:886–895
- Fernandes P, Cruz A, Angelova B et al (2003) Microbial conversion of steroid compounds: recent developments. Enzym Microb Technol 32:688–705
- Fernandez MF, Olmos B, Granada A et al (2007) Human exposure to endocrine-disrupting chemicals and prenatal risk factors for cryptorchidism and hypospadias: a nested case-control study. Environ Health Perspect 115(1):8–14
- Fernandez-Cabezon L, Galan B, Garcia JL (2018) New insights on steroid biotechnology. Front Microbiol 9:958. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.00958
- Freier TA, Beitz DC, Li L et al (1994) Characterization of *Eubacterium coprostanoligenes* sp. nov., a cholesterol-reducing anaerobe. Int J Syst Bacteriol 44:137–142
- Fujii K, Kikuchi S, Satomi M et al (2001) Degradation of 17β-estradiol by a gram-negative bacterium isolated from activated sludge in a sewage treatment plant in Tokyo, Japan. Appl Environ Microbiol 68:2057–2060
- Garcia-Gomez E, Gonalez-Pedrajo B, Camacho-Arroyo I (2013) Role of sex steroid hormones in bacterial-host interactions. Biomed Res Int 2013:928290
- Halliday KJ (2004) Plant hormones: the interplay of brassinosteroids and auxin. Curr Biol 14:1008–1010
- Hamid H, Eskicioglu C (2012) Fate of estrogenic hormones in wastewater and sludge treatment: a review of properties and analytical detection techniques in sludge matrix. Water Res 46 (18):5813–5833
- Hanselman TA, Graetz DA, Wilkie AC (2003) Manure-borne estrogens as potential environmental contaminants: a review. Environ Sci Technol 37:5471–5478
- Harder J, Probian C (1997) Anaerobic mineralization of cholesterol by a novel type of denitrifying bacterium. Arch Microbiol 167(5):269–274
- Hotchkiss AK, Rider CV, Blystone CR et al (2008) Environmental endocrine disrupters and human and wildlife health: where we are today and where we need to go. Toxicol Sci 105(2):235–259
- Houck LD (2009) Pheromone communication in amphibians and reptiles. Annu Rev Physiol 71:161–176
- Ibero J, Sanz D, Galen B et al (2019) High quality whole genome sequence of an estradiol degrading strain, *Novosphingobium tardaugens* NBRC 16725. Microbiol Resour Announc 8 (11):e01715–e01718. https://doi.org/10.1128/MRA.01715-18
- Isenmann E, Ambrosio G, Joseph JF et al (2019) Ecdysteroids as non-conventional anabolic agent: performance enhancement by ecdysterone supplementation in human. Arch Toxicol 93 (7):1807–1816
- Johnson AC, Belfroid A, Di-Corcia AC (2000) Estimating steroid oestrogen inputs into activated sludge treatment works and observations on their removal from the effluent. Sci Total Environ 256:163–173
- Kelly SL, Kelly DE (2013) Microbial cytochromes P450: biodiversity and biotechnology. Where do cytochromes P450 come from, what do they do and what can they do for us? Philos Trans R Soc Lond Ser B Biol Sci 368:20120476
- Kolodziej EP, Sedlak DL (2007) Rangeland grazing as a source of steroid hormones to surface waters. Environ Sci Technol 41:3514–3520

- Liu ZH, Kanjo Y, Mizutani S (2009) Removal of mechanisms for endocrine disrupting compounds (EDGs) in wastewater treatment-physical means, biodegradation, and chemical advanced oxidation: a review. Sci Total Environ 407:731–748
- Liu SS, Ying GG, Liu YS et al (2015) Occurrence and removal of progestens in two representative swine farms: effectiveness of logoon and digester treatment. Water Res 77:146–154
- Maier R, Pepper I, Gerba C (2000) Terrestrial environment. In: Environmental Microbiology. Academic Press, San Diego, CA, pp 61–80
- Mehmood Z, Kelly DE, Kelly SL (1995) Metabolism of the herbicide chlortoluron by human cytochrome P450 3A4. Chemosphere 31:4515–4529
- Ojoghoro JO, Chaudhary AJ, Campo P et al (2017) Scrimshaw progesterone potentially degrades to potent androgens in surface waters. Sci Total Environ 579:1876–1884
- Orrego R, Guchardi J, Hernandez V et al (2009) Pulp and paper mill effluent treatments have differential endocrine-disrupting effects on rainbow trout. Environ Toxicol Chem 28:181–188
- Payne DW, Talalay P (1985) Isolation of novel microbial 3 alpha-, 3 beta-, and 17 betahydroxysteroid dehydrogenases. Purification, characterization, and analytical applications of a 17 beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase from an *Alcaligenes* sp. J Biol Chem 260:13648–13655
- Peng F, Ying G, Yang B et al (2014) Biotransformation of progesterone and norgestrel by two freshwater microalgae (*Scenedesmus obliquus* and *Chlorella pyrenoidosa*): transformation kinetics and product identification. Chemosphere 95:581–588
- Peterson DH, Murray HC, Eppstein SH et al (1952) Microbiological transformations of steroids. I. Introduction of oxygen at carbon-11 of progesterone. J Am Chem Soc 74 (23):5933–5936
- Petrie B, Barden R, Kasprzyk-Horden B (2015) A review on emerging contaminants in wastewaters and the environment: current knowledge, understudied areas and recommendations for future monitoring. Water Res 72:3–27
- Petrusma M, Van der Geize R, Dijkhuizen L (2014) 3-Ketosteroid 9a-hydroxylase enzymes: Rieske non-heme monooxygenases essential for bacterial steroid degradation. Anton Leeuw Int J G 106:157–172
- Pruneda-Paz JL, Linares M, Cabrera JE et al (2004) TeiR, a LuxR-type transcription factor required for testosterone degradation in *Comamonas testosteroni*. J Bacteriol 186:1430–1437
- Roh H, Chu KH (2010) A 17β -estradiol-utilizing bacterium, Sphingomonas strain KC8: part I characterization and abundance in wastewater treatment plants. Environ Sci Technol 44 (13):4943–4950
- Rohman A, Dijkstra BW (2019) The role and mechanism of microbial 3-ketosteroid Δ1dehydrogenases in steroid breakdown. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 191:105366
- Sang Y, Xiong G, Maser E (2011) Steroid degradation and two steroid-inducible enzymes in the marine bacterium H5. Chem Biol Interact 191(1-3):89–94
- Stavreva DA, George AA, Klausmeyer P (2012) Prevalent glucocorticoid and androgen activity in US water sources. Sci Rep 2:937
- Steinman MQ, Trainor BC (2010) Rapid effects of steroid hormones on animal behavior. Nat Educ Knowl 1(10):1
- Talalay P, Dobson MM, Tapley DF (1952) Oxidative degradation of testosterone by adaptive enzymes. Nature 170:620–621
- Taylor CD, Smith SO, Gagosian RB (1981) Use of microbial enrichments for the study of the anaerobic degradation of cholesterol. Giochim Cosmochim Acta 45:2161–2168
- University of Iowa (2013) Steroids may persist longer in the environment than expected. Science Daily, 26 September 2013
- Wierman ME (2007) Sex steroid effects at target tissues: mechanisms of action. Adv Physiol Educ 31(1):26–33
- Wu Y, Huang P, Xiong G et al (2015) Identification and isolation of a regulator protein for 3,17β-HSD expressional regulation in *Comamonas testosteroni*. Chem Biol Interact 234:197–204

- Ying GG, Kookana RS, Ru YJ (2002) Occurrence and fate of hormone steroids in the environment. Environ Int 28:545–551
- Yoshimoto T, Nagai F, Fujimoto J et al (2004) Degradation of estrogens *by Rhodococcus zopfii* and *Rhodococcus equi* isolates from activated sludge in wastewater treatment plants. Appl Environ Microbiol 70(9):5283–5289
- Yu CP, Roh H, Chu KH (2007) 17-beta-estradiol degrading bacteria isolated from activated sludge. Environ Sci Technol 41(2):486–492
- Yu CP, Deeb RA, Chu KH (2013) Microbial degradation of steroidal estrogens. Chemosphere 91:1225–1235
- Zhang T, Xiong G, Maser E (2011) Characterization of the steroid degrading bacterium S19-1 from the Baltic Sea at Kiel, Germany. Chem Biol Interact 191(1–3):83–88
- Zhu L, Yang Z, Yang Q et al (2015) Degradation of dexamethasone by acclimated strain of *Pseudomonas alcaligenes*. J Clin Exp Med 8(7):10971–10978



Microbial Degradation of Phenol and Phenolic Compounds

11

Milan Malhotra, Divya Gupta, Jeetendra Sahani, and Sanjay Singh

Abstract

Phenol and phenolic compounds play an essential role in various modern-day industries. However, due to the toxic and recalcitrant nature of phenolic compounds, these compounds have a detrimental effect on the environment and aquatic life. In the recent past, different physicochemical methods have been employed by various researchers for phenol remediation. However, higher cost and generation of secondary pollutants are primary concerns associated with physiochemical treatment. Alternately recent advances in biological treatment have improved our understanding of bioremediation. Biological treatments such as microbial fuel cells and microalgae are gaining popularity for the treatment of phenolic compounds. These processes are less energy and chemical-intensive and can also achieve higher removal efficiency under optimum conditions.

Keywords

Phenols · Microbial fuel cell · Biodegradation · Algae

J. Sahani

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 Inamuddin et al. (eds.), *Recent Advances in Microbial Degradation*, Environmental and Microbial Biotechnology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-0518-5_11

M. Malhotra (🖂) · D. Gupta · S. Singh

Environmental Science and Engineering Department, Indian Institute of Technology Bombay, Mumbai, India

Global Centre for Clean Air Research (GCARE), Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering, Faculty of Engineering and Physical Sciences, University of Surrey, Guildford, UK

11.1 Introduction

Phenol and phenolic compounds have applications in various industries such as dye, pharmaceuticals, fertilizer, plastics, fiberglass, food industries, and petrochemical (Collins et al. 2005; Krastanov et al. 2013). In some of the sectors, phenol is used directly or converted to derivatives for further application. In the year 2019, global phenol demand was ~11 million metric tons, and this demand is expected to grow in the future. Owing to large-scale industrial applications, these compounds end up in the environment resulting in contamination of river bodies and soil. Phenol and phenolic compounds are toxic and have a major detrimental effect on the environment (Mostafa et al. 2020). Depending on the structure and functional groups, the physicochemical properties of phenolic compound changes.

Several treatment processes are available for phenol degradation from wastewaters. However, the choice of process depends on the concentration of phenol. Processes used for this purpose include distillation, coagulation, adsorption, extraction, chemical and advanced oxidation, and biological degradation. Biological processes use lesser chemicals and energy but can treat wastewater with comparatively lower concentrations as higher contaminant doses are toxic for the microbes. Strict standards have been set up for permissible phenol concentration in surface water with a 1 ppb standard set by EPA (Villegas et al. 2016). It is reported that phenol poses health risks from irregular breathing to tremors and coma at lethal doses. Chronic exposure can even affect the next generation, therefore, phenol removal from aqueous streams is essential. The most common phenol compounds are Bisphenol A (BPA), which is a precursor of plastic, chlorophenols (found in pulp and paper mill wastewater), phenolic resins, and endocrine-disrupting compounds (Villegas et al. 2016).

Biological treatment is suggested as cheaper than other chemical methods for wastewater treatment along with the generation of nontoxic by-products. At concentration up to 400 mg/L, aerobic treatment using acclimatized sewage sludge has shown complete removal at pH 7 while at 1500 mg/L initial concentration, toxicity increased. Another biological method is use of membrane bioreactors. The microbes are trapped or coated on a support such as polyurethane and polypropylene. Membrane fouling limits the use of this technique, however, it can be mitigated using new technologies (Villegas et al. 2016).

In the recent past, many researchers have used various physicochemical techniques (such as adsorption, advanced oxidation processes such as Fenton's, ozonation, wet oxidation) for the removal of different organic pollutants (Lal and Garg 2015; Malhotra et al. 2018; Karim et al. 2020). Physicochemical processes are efficient in the degradation and removal of organics from wastewater, however, they are energy and chemical-intensive that limits the large-scale application. Besides, physiochemical treatment may result in the generation of secondary pollution such as sludge, spent adsorbent, or intermediate compounds which further require treatment. To overcome these limitations, microbial processes/bioremediation are gaining popularity. Microbial processes such as anaerobic digestion, microbial fuel cell, and aerobic degradation use microorganisms for the degradation of pollutants.

These microbes use pollutants as a carbon source for the growth and in-process result in the degradation of pollutants to simpler and less toxic compounds. In the present chapter, detailed literature is compiled on the recent advancements in the treatment of phenols and phenolic compounds by various microbial methods.

11.2 Phenol Removal Using Microalgae

Microalgae have been used for the treatment of various wastewater streams. Microalgae based treatment systems provide several advantages such as they oxygenate the water, which reduces the biochemical oxygen demand (BOD) of the wastewater; they uptake nutrients, thus preventing eutrophication in downstream aquatic systems; and they can fluctuate pH, which helps in inactivating pathogens (Larsen et al. 2019). Also, unlike bacteria, algae use CO_2 as a carbon source. Hence, the application of additional carbon sources into wastewater is not required. In general, algae-based treatment is applied primarily to remove nutrients like nitrogen and phosphorus municipal wastewater. However, due to their potential to remove heavy metals and persistent organic pollutants (POPs), microalgae have been used to treat industrial effluents. The phenol removal capacity of algae depends upon the type of substrate, contact time, aqueous pH of the system, and illumination.

A recent study by Papazi et al. (2019) tries to assess the comparative removal of phenols by green alga *Scenedesmus obliquus*. The study reported that after 5 days of contact time, microalga could remove approximately 9% of the less toxic phenol and 90% of the higher toxic pentachlorophenol. Furthermore, it was reported that the amount of algal biomass was higher in the case of phenols with lower toxicity. The results indicated that algae use their energy reserves for biomass production or pollutant degradation, rationally as per the substrate's toxicity. Figure 11.1 represents the schematic of cell bioenergetic strategy, where the environmental toxicity of phenol adjusts the distribution of cellular energy between growth and biodegradation of phenol.



	Removal %					
	C. fusca		A. variabilis	A. variabilis		
Phenolic compound	Light	Dark	Light	Dark		
o-nitrophenol	100	95 ± 10	100	95 ± 5		
m-nitrophenol	60 ± 1	0 ± 1	100 ± 0	84 ± 5		
p-nitrophenol	77 ± 1	10 ± 6	4 ± 1	4 ± 0		
2,4-Dinitrophenol	90 ± 9	68 ± 2	95 ± 4	81 ± 14		
2,4,6-Trinitrophenol	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	51 ± 3	0 ± 0		
Bisphenol-A	85 ± 7	22 ± 3	23 ± 6	0 ± 0		

 Table 11.1
 Removal (%) of various phenols under light and dark condition using C. *fusca* and A. *variabilis* (Hirooka et al. 2003)

Light illumination is an essential factor for the degradation of organic pollutants using microalgae. Hirooka et al. (2003) investigated the effect of light on the removal of various phenolic compounds using two different algal strains (C. *fusca* and A. *variabilis*). Table 11.1 shows the percentage degradation of phenol under light and dark conditions. Results shown in Table 11.1 indicated that under light conditions higher degradation was achieved by both C. *fusca* and A. *variabilis*. Klekner and Kosaric (1992) also reported the importance of illumination for the degradation of phenols by algae. The study reported that phenols were efficiently degraded by living cells of Chlorella in the presence of light. However, under dark conditions, no degradation of phenols was observed even by living cells of algae (Chlorella). Results revealed that after spending 23 days in the presence of phenol under dark conditions. The chlorella cells started degrading phenol after moving to light conditions.

Lima et al. (2004) recovered an aquatic community from the waste discharge container having several aromatic compounds. The recovered microalgae species were then acclimatized with p-nitrophenol and p-chlorophenol for 3 months. After 3 months of enrichment with phenols, two microalgae species, Chlorella Vulgaris and Coenochloris pyrenoidosa were tested for the degradation of p-chlorophenol. Results revealed that species grown under 24 h light conditions were capable of degrading 50 mg/L of p-chlorophenol within 5 days. The addition of zeolite as adsorbing material did not improve the degradation. Ellis (1977) studied the complete mineralization of phenol and catechol using six species of freshwater algae. For the experiments, Chlamydomonas ulvaensis, Chlorella pyrenoidosa, Euglena gracilis bacillaris, and Scenedesmus basiliensis were cultivated. It was found that only four species could degrade phenol and all six were able to degrade catechol. Except for E. gracilis, the degree of degradation of catechol was higher than phenol for all species. This is because all oxidative degradation for aromatic compounds requires two hydroxyls on the aromatic ring, which is present in catechol, not in phenol. Also, prior exposure to 0.1 mM phenol for 90 h resulted in inhibition of subsequent phenol catabolism. The authors explain that pre-exposure for a longer duration and lower phenol concentration may enhance the rate of substrate catabolism.

Studies have shown that both bacteria and algae can remove bisphenol individually. However, algal–bacterial symbiotic relation provides synergistic degradation of bisphenol and gives stability to the treatment process. Eio et al. (2015) attempted bisphenol degradation in the algal–bacterial system. The study observed that the monoculture of *Chlorella sorokiniana* could remove around 50% of bisphenol. However, complete degradation of bisphenol was observed in the algal–bacterial system regardless of initial bisphenol concentration. Furthermore, it was observed that bisphenol concentration above 20 mg/L inhibited the growth of *C. sorokiniana* in the algal system. On the other hand, such a phenomenon was not observed in the algal–bacterial system.

Peng et al. (2006) showed that irradiating algae with near UV light or heat irradiation could enhance the photo-biodegradation of bisphenol. The study reported that irradiation algae secretions might produce OH radicals in the wastewater, which results in enhanced removal. The study also reported that higher removal of bisphenol was obtained in the presence of Fe^{3+} and humic acid. Dayana Priyadharshini and Bakthavatsalam (2016) used statistical optimization design to maximize phenol degradation using *Chlorella pyrenoidosa*. In the study, two-level Plackett–Burman design (PBD) was used to identify significant parameters affecting phenol degradation. PBD identified three parameters as important for phenol degradation, algal cell concentration, contact time, and pollutant concentration. The predicted results from the model revealed that around 97% phenol (initial concentration 800 mg/L) degradation could be achieved after 4 days contact time, with a biomass concentration of 4 g/L.

Adsorption, due to its simple design and production of fewer byproducts, is a preferred option for pollutant remediation. Zheng et al. (2017) studied paranitrophenol (PNP) adsorption on the biochar derived from algal strains. The results indicated that algae-derived biochar's adsorption capacity was higher than that of raw algal biomass and powdered activated carbon. The presence of higher polarizable O-containing functional groups could be the possible reason for increased adsorption capacity in algae-derived biochar. In another study using green macroalgae as a bio-sorbent, a maximum phenol uptake capacity of 20 mg/g was achieved for an initial phenol concentration of 150 mg/L (Aravindhan et al. 2009). The pH is an important parameter for pollutant removal using adsorption, as pH not only affects the surface morphology of the adsorbent but also the degree of ionization and speciation of the phenolic compounds (Li et al. 2012). In a study done by Li et al. (2012) the optimum pH for phenol uptake was found to be 4.0–6.6. At higher pH (>10), phenol dissociates to form a phenolate ion, which is negatively charged. The adsorbent surface is also negative at higher pH. Hence, electrostatic repulsion between the adsorbent's surface and phenolate ion results in reduced uptake capacity. In another study using spirulina sp. LEB 18 algal strain, pH 6.0, was found to be the optimum pH for phenol removal (Dotto et al. 2013). The study also reported that the phenol biosorption on spirulina was a spontaneous, favorable, and exothermic process. Although sufficient removal can be achieved through adsorption, adsorbed pollutants do not undergo complete mineralization, making it difficult to handle saturated adsorbent further.

The major limitation of algal treatment is the higher time requirement compared to physicochemical processes and other microorganisms such as bacteria and fungi (Zheng et al. 2017). Other than that, treatment efficiency depends on several factors like illumination conditions, nutrient availability, and external environmental stress. The toxicity of the phenolic compounds is an important parameter for phenol degradation. Highly toxic phenolic compounds may hamper the growth of microalgae, even at low concentrations. Sometimes it is difficult to identify an appropriate microalgal strain for a particular phenolic compound. As every strain behaves differently for each compound, a mixed consortium can overcome this limitation. Adaption to harsh pollutant environment could be another limitation for phenol biodegradation using algae. The time of pre-exposure and concentration of the phenolic compounds is a grey area that needs detailed experimentation.

11.3 Bacterial Degradation of Phenols

Owing to their complicated structure, toxic and hazardous xenobiotics are hard to decompose. However, a vast variety of microorganisms utilize these xenobiotics for their growth (Al-Khalid and El-Naas 2012). Such microorganisms can produce enzymes and metabolize those hazardous and toxic wastes. This property can be utilized in disposing of phenol and phenolic derivatives also. Intensive studies have been done to isolate and culture microbes with high-degradation activity (Agarry et al. 2010). The enzymes utilized in the phenol degradation process are hydrolases, catechol dioxygenase, and cis, cis-muconate cyclase among others (Krastanov et al. 2013). For example, fungal degradation of pentachlorophenol (PCP) is done by ligninolytic enzymes and cytochrome P450. Phlebia acanthocystis TMIC34875 is a white-rot fungi, which causes the decaying of wood. They are more tolerant to PCP than other Phlebia species in low-nitrogen potato dextrose agar medium and can efficiently degrade the compound to pentachloroanisole and p-tetrachlorohydroquinone, which are then further transformed into tetrachloro-4methoxyphenol and tetrachloro-1,4-dimethoxybenzene (Xiao and Kondo 2020). The microbes used in the phenol degradation process can either be bacteria, fungus or others and a consortium of different species sometimes works better than single species. For example, Li et al. (2020) studied a collaborative mechanism of Stenotrophomonas sp. N5 and Advenella sp. B9 (9:1) coculture for phenol microbial degradation, where their interplay reduced the inhibition caused by phenol and made them stronger to degrade up to 1200 mg/L phenol completely within 72 h. The key expressed genes based on RNA-Seq results indicated an existing division of labor between N5 and B9 during phenol degradation. Gene ontology results suggested that differential gene expression for three transcriptional factors (LysR, two-component system response regulator, and TetR families) are responsible for microbial cellular constituents' formation, their growth, and metabolism, and enhancing phenol degradation catalytic activity in the coculture.

Several scientists have applied various models to understand the degradation mechanism and kinetics of the reaction, such as substrate inhibition, specific growth

rate, etc. (Al-Khalid and El-Naas 2012). For example, the Haldane model was chosen as the best fit among Aiba et al., Yano and Koga, Teissier, and Webb models while studying substrate inhibition and specific phenol consumption rates by *Pseudomonas fluorescence* in batch culture with 100–500 mg/L phenol as a representative limiting substrate (Agarry et al. 2010). This caused the lag phase to increase from 0 to 66 h and the process of phenol digestion to subsequently delay from 84 to 354 h, revealing a good potential of the microbe in phenol biodegradation. Excess substrate inhibits the microbial phenol degradation, which is temperature-dependent. Substrate inhibition is higher at lower temperatures. That is why the self-cleaning ability of polluted habitations, such as soils, sediments, and groundwater aquifers is reduced when high inhibitory pollutant concentration and low temperatures exist during aerobic and anaerobic phenol decomposition (Eismann et al. 1997).

Digestion of phenols and their derivatives can be performed either aerobically or anaerobically.

Aerobic biodegradation of phenols has been reviewed by Al-Khalid and El-Naas (2012) for treating the wastewater in an ecologically favorable manner. Koch et al. (1991) studied aerobic biodegradation of a concoction of nitrogen-containing aromatic compounds and 22 phenols as a primary carbon source in sample wastewater. A blended culture from soil was adjusted to continuous flow and immobilized on fluidized activated carbon and sand particles. Dissolved organic carbon removal was found to be constant in the sand (59–69%) but with activated carbon, it reduced to 39%. The reason can be increased adsorption of organic matter and inhibitory effect of by-product. The phenolic doses were almost degraded in both systems, but deadend products were formed. The effect of phenol on aerobic granular sludge containing microbial consortium and extracellular polymeric substances (EPS) was studied by He et al. (2020) for low salinity and strength wastewater treatment. Increased phenol above 20 mg/L activated almost whole phosphorus degradation, but accumulated significant nitrate, around 4 mg/L. Owing to amplified EPS formation but declined bacterial diversity, aerobic granules conserved functional and structural firmness. Halophiles: Stappia, Luteococcus, and Formosa removed simultaneous nutrients and phenol under low-saline conditions.

There can be different types of reactor arrangement while degrading phenolic compounds, such as continuous flow, batch reaction, fluidized bed, or biofilm. A few of them are discussed here. Shivaraman et al. (1985) studied the microbial decomposition of cyanide, thiocyanate, and phenol in an absolutely mixed aerated system. Thiocyanate biodegradation was not affected at cyanide and phenol concentrations of 22.40 + -1.34 mg/L and 1251 + -53 mg/L or less, respectively, but over these respective concentrations thiocyanate degradation was lessened. Cyanide and phenol decompositions were around 96.5–99.9% and 99.9%, respectively. Thiocyanate sulfur oxidized to sulfate. Juang and Wu (2007) used *Pseudomonas putida* BCRC 14365 in a bioreactor of microporous polypropylene (PP) hollow fiber membrane contactor to degrade aqueous phenol and observe the consequences of additional chances in pH (3–8) and NaCl concentration (0–1.78 M). The cells in suspension grew well at 100 mg/L of phenol but only at NaCl concentrations below 0.44 M, while those cells in fiber could not endure a large pH range. However, fiber cells

completely decomposed 500 mg/L of phenol at NaCl concentration up to 1.52 M because of augmented endurance limit to salinity effect by the membrane-attached biofilms and the adequately slow mass transfer of NaCl through the membrane pores. Mostafa et al. (2020) studied phenol degradation by direct interspecies electron transfer (DIET)-promoting condition in upflow of anaerobic sludge blanket reactors (UASB). Application of electrical energy input increased the tolerance to phenol and constant decomposition was attained up to 11 kg COD/m³/d with maintaining a CH4 formation yield of 0.3 m3 CH_4/g COD_{added}. Higher energy recovery (68%) was attained at 0.3 V than at 0.6 V (49%) but the performance remained similar. Physicochemical properties of granules were changed favorably, for example, settling velocity, increasing diameter, porosity, hydrophobicity, permeability, and integrity coefficient changed from 1.4, 2.2, 0.7, 23, 0.0025, and 87 to 1.9-2.0 cm/s, 2.7-2.9 mm, 0.9, 36-60%, 0.0039-0.0053 cm², and 94-95%, respectively and also influenced the microorganism consortium, enhancing the supremacy of DIET-related microbes including Syntrophorhabdus, Methanobacterium, and Methanothrix.

Anaerobic degradation is an economical way for phenol removal from wastewater but its reaction kinetics is limited by its toxicity. Adding conducting material, such as carbon nanotube and magnetite nanoparticles can increase the process one-fold by altering extracellular polymeric substances, e.g., protein and humic substances which act as an electron shuttle in extracellular electron transfer and the resilience of phenol degradative microbial communityincrease Syntrophorhabdus, Syntrophus, Treponema and Brooklawnia as well as electroactive methanogens—Methanosaeta (Yan et al. 2018). Levén et al. (2012) reviewed the impacts of temperature and microorganisms for phenol decomposition during anaerobic organic waste degradation. During this anaerobic process, biogas and digestate are produced. Decomposition efficiency was observed to be higher at mesophilic temperature than at thermophilic temperature. This may be attributed to distinctions in the diversity of the phenol-consuming bacteria, and/or the existence of temperature-sensitive enzymes. Digestate with high phenol inhibits ammonia oxidizing bacteria in soil when used as fertilizer.

In anaerobic digestion also, different reactor arrangements can be made. For example, the fed-batch culture method was utilized for adaptation and efficient selection of an anaerobic phenol-degrading bacterial consortium by Guieysse et al. (2001). Repeated changes in phenol (up to 200 mg/L) increased biodegradation rates and caused series of structural changes in acclimation of the inoculum, observed by genotypic-fingerprinting techniques (terminal fraction fragment length polymorphism and randomly amplified polymorphic DNA) and analyzed by PCA. Collins et al. (2005) utilized hybrid expanded granular sludge bed-anaerobic filter (EGSB-AF) bioreactors for anaerobic digestion of phenolic wastewater at psychrophilic (<20 °C, in particular, 15–18 °C) temperature. Phenol and COD removal were studied at their respective loading rates of 0.4–1.2 kg phenol m⁻³ day⁻¹ (400–1200 mg phenol/[liter wastewater]) and 5 kg COD m⁻³ day⁻¹. VFAs were not accumulated, methanogenesis was obtained but the culture remained mesophilic. Rosenkranz et al. (2013) monitored the microbial community structure and

relationship between phenol degradation capacity of an anaerobic sequencing batch reactor (ASBR). The initial degradation rate steadily increased, and the removal capacity stayed comparatively stable. Higher concentrations were still efficient but slower, and adaptation derived structural modifications occurred in community composition. Under the highest feeding concentration, composition change was selected for the Anaerolineaceae family.

Complete degradation of para-chlorophenol (4-CP) is a high energy-demanding process. A sustainable hydrogen (H₂)-based membrane biofilm reactor (MBfR) was shown to treat >99% of the surface load up to 10 mg-N/L NO₃ and 100 mg/L 4-CP with slightest intermediates amassing at 19.45 e-meq/m2/d in a steady state (Long et al. 2020). H_2 acts as the electron donor and activates the dechlorination and denitrification process mediated by heterophilic bacteria, and after that 4-CP products act as electron donors refueling 4-CP decomposition system without a stable supply of H_2 . H_2 created an anaerobic condition for the biofilm and transformed the microbe composition and the feasible degradation pathways of 4-CP. Majorly functioning anaerobic bacteria Thauera converted to aerobic bacteria Xanthobacter when H_2 was absent, which further amplified the genes coding the enzymes utilized in phenol aerobic activation and oxidative dechlorination. Overall, denitrification and dechlorination were powered heterotrophically by endogenous organics and autotrophically by exogenous H_2 during phenol degradation. This technique provides propitious sight into absolute biotreatment of water containing NO_3 and 4-CP leaving no remnants, or soluble chemical oxygen demand (sCOD) piling at the steady state.

Sludge from different sources has different microbial structures despite being exposed to the same xenobiotic. Granular sludge showed elevated dissolution rates than suspended sludge, both for p-cresol (7.8 \pm 0.4 vs 3.7 \pm 1.0 mg l⁻¹ day⁻¹) and phenol (11.3 \pm 0.7 vs 8.1 \pm 1.1 mg l⁻¹ day⁻¹) when used in a successive batch of anaerobic digestion (Franchi et al. 2018). This could be due to distinctions in methanogenic pathways and levels of Syntrophorhabdus and bamA gene in the inocula. Elevated starting abundance of bamA gene and Syntrophorhabdus genus, correlates with elevated degradation rates. The genus Syntrophorhabdus along with hydrogenotrophic archaea surge regardless of the sludge origin after re-dosing phenol and p-cresol during the anaerobic process. So, components of bamA marker gene for aromatic degradation and Syntrophorhabdus could serve as a quick screening technique to identify the most adapted sludge in effectively degrading monoaromatic compounds, and thereby, improving the anaerobic process kinetics. Wu et al. (2019) studied the mechanism of polyaromatic hydrocarbons and benzo [a] pyrene removal in an activated sludge of coking wastewater (CWW) where phenol as a co-substrate was studied. Changes in activated sludge bacterial population were observed through high-throughput MiSeq sequencing of 16S rRNA genes of microbes. Tissierella_Soehngenia, Geobacter, and Diaphorobacter were involved in anaerobic digestion, while Rhodanobacter, Thauera, and Dyella prevailed in aerobic. Phenol as a co-substrate engender microbial diversification and enhanced the BaP bioremoval performance from 78.6% to 140%. Wang et al. (2020) assessed the rate of phenol mineralization, methanogenic and electron transport activity,

concentration of coenzyme F420, and sludge of bacterial consortium of five different particle sizes (i.e., <20, 20–50, 50–100, 100–200, and >200 μ m) for anaerobic digestion of phenol. Increase sludge floc size improved phenol decomposition rate and bacterial composition. Regardless of the size, the smallest sludge floc complements to form robust syntrophic cooperation in the sludge flocs.

11.4 Microbial Fuel Cell for Phenol Removal

The history of electricity from microbes dates back to 1911 by Potter (1911) but it has gained wide attention in the previous two or three decades. Starting with pure organic compounds, now various organic wastes are used as substrates for generating electricity using microbial fuel cells (MFCs). MFCs are gaining attention as the new energy source, which generate electricity by consuming organic compounds present in wastewater. Moreover, MFCs provide the benefit of being an eco-friendly way of treating wastewater without emitting any greenhouse gases as carbon serves as food for the microbes (Rahimnejad et al. 2015). MFCs are seen as a treatment method that may have a net positive energy output. It is a means of bioremediation using electro-active microbes for converting chemical energy in pollutants to electrical energy. It is reported that treatment of wastewater stands as the fourth largest energy consumer in the United Kingdom; therefore, being able to generate electricity during this process can reduce a large amount of energy consumed. Another cell type is microbial electrolysis cell (MEC), which is provided with an external power source, and leads to the formation of H_2 from the electrolysis of water at cathode unlike the formation of water from O_2 in MFCs.

Currently, there are limitations that have held back the scale-up of MFCs such as low current density, high cost, high mass generation, and use of noble metals as catalysts (Rahimnejad et al. 2015). These issues are being addressed by the continuous efforts of the research community. Although complex wastewater contaminants as substrates pose difficulties in understanding the kinetics, this is a promising way of treating effluents in an eco-friendly manner while generating energy. Pilot plants using MFCs for wastewater treatment have been set up with capacities of hundreds of liters to treat industrial or municipal wastewater (Dong et al. 2015; Ge et al. 2015).

There are usually two chambers for anode and cathode provided with a proton exchange membrane between them. The electrons generated at anode by the activity of microbes using organic substrates are passed through the circuit while the protons pass through the membrane. This proton exchange membrane is also the reason for high internal resistance (Rahimnejad et al. 2015). Oxygen reduction occurring at the cathode is reported to be a rate-limiting step. Anode material chosen should possess certain qualities such as resistance to corrosion and biocompatibility. Carbon and stainless steel are most commonly used as anode materials. The MFCs are operated in anaerobic conditions at the anode and aerobic at the cathode. Recent research also focuses on improving anode material for improving performance by enhancing electron transfer from the bulk phase to the circuit. Carbon nanotubes and even polymers are now used as anode materials (Rahimnejad et al. 2015). Research has

been steadily increasing on aerobic biocathodes, which reduce the formation of H_2O_2 at the cathode and eliminate the issue of clogging in porous carbon electrodes (Milner et al. 2016). A list of different microorganisms used in biocathodes is given by Milner et al. (2016) some of which include *Gammaproteobacteria, Xanthomonas, Rhodobacteraceae, Pseudomonas, Nitrospira, Nitrobacter,* and Marinobacter. Activated sludge has been used as inoculum for biocathodes as it contains a range of microorganisms. Gammaproteobacteria were found in maximum abundance in the aerobic biocathode system, which is responsible for the reduction of oxygen. A significant increase in power production has been reported with the use of biocathode along with carbon electrode as compared to only a carbon electrode. The cell potential depends on several factors such as pH, dissolved oxygen, ionic strength of the cathode solution, and proton bridge length (Morris and Jin 2007).

Phenol degradation has been studied by using it as a substrate in MFC. Other wastewaters such as landfill leachate, swine wastewater, domestic wastewater, petroleum compounds in groundwater have been treated using MFCs and shown promising results (Rahimnejad et al. 2015; Morris and Jin 2007). Huang et al. (2012) used aerobic as well as anaerobic conditions for the treatment of pentachlorophenol, which is used in insecticides, resins, and lubricants. They used primary effluent from a domestic wastewater treatment plant as the inoculum. PCP was treated in the cathode chamber performing as an electron acceptor as opposed to treatment of phenol and other contaminants at the anode by various researchers. It was observed that biocathode resulted in maximum degradation rate in the presence of 60:40 N₂: O_2 gas mixture as compared to pure gases. Degradation of PCP resulted in the formation of tetrachlorohydroquinone (maximum concentration after 48 h), which further dechlorinated to form 2,3,6-tri-chloro-1,4-hydroquinone and 2,6-dichloro-1,4-hydroquinone in aerobic conditions. Additionally, trichlorophenol, dichlorophenol, and phenol were also found accumulating in the system initially but decreased thereafter. Under anaerobic conditions, metabolites are found to accumulate, therefore, a mixture of N_2 and O_2 provided an atmosphere for further oxidation of the reduced by-products. Furthermore, an increase in temperature to 50 °C, resulted in the improvement in degradation rate, open circuit potential, and power density.

A study using MFC for degradation of phenol includes graphite electrodes for both anode as well as cathode in a two-chamber system consisting of borosilicate serum bottles for treating phenol in anaerobic conditions (Zhang et al. 2017). It was found that *Geobacter* sp. in anode biofilm was the dominant species maintaining phenol degradation by electron transfer. Microbial culture was obtained from paddy soil, which was periodically fed with phenol. Phenol solution (70μ M) was treated in anoxic conditions, which led to current generation until the phenol was degraded. Up to 22.7% of coulombic efficiency, 120 mA/m² of current density was obtained in the MFC. With every spike of phenol, the current generation peaked and subsequently decreased, however, the power density obtained was low (8.84 mW/m²), which may be due to the use of graphite electrodes rather than platinum as used in other studies and high internal resistance. The presence of fermentative bacteria such as *Gammaproteobacterium* was also detected in this study, while in aerobic conditions, *Pseudomonas* was found to degrade phenols.

Both fermentative and electro-active bacteria form a film on the anode, which is known as anode microbial community (AMC). Therefore, the complex compounds are first fermented to simpler compounds which are then used for electricity generation, whereas phenols may inhibit power output. More diversity of microbes and acclimation strategy used in a study by Li et al. (2019) resulted in higher power output. The AMC was acclimatized by adding glucose and small amounts of phenolics. Progressively, the number of phenolics was increased, which led to a reduction in voltage, but the degradation rate increased significantly. Moreover, as the reaction proceeds, more bacteria are formed which rapidly convert phenolics to smaller compounds which are then used as electron donors. There is a syntrophic relationship between fermentative and electro-active bacteria, which does not occur in a fermentative system, thus the by-products are accumulated and inhibit the further reactions.

Yang et al. (2013) have reported the use of MFCs for providing electricity to conduct electrosorption of phenol. Electrosorption is usually carried out by supplying external electricity, where the charged and polar molecules migrate toward oppositely charged electrodes and get separated. An activated carbon filter was used as anode and nickel foam as cathode. Multiple MFCs were used either in series or parallel to provide the required current. The effect of electrolyte concentration, pH, and number of MFCs in series and parallel was studied. More number of MFCs resulted in better phenol removal and a series connection gave better results with higher coulombic efficiency (up to 4.5%), COD removal (up to 68%), and average power density (up to 782.6 mW/m²) than the parallel system. Monolayer adsorption was observed in this MFC-sorption system with pseudo second-order showing a better fit. Higher initial phenol concentration increased the adsorption rate.

Studies on the degradation of a mixture of phenolic compounds have also been carried out using MFCs. Hedbavna et al. (2016) treated groundwater containing phenol, cresol, and xylenol (total concentration = 1.4 mM). Acetate formed from the fermentation of phenols was observed as the electron donor thereby improving its removal. Biodegradation of phenol results in the formation of acetate, 4-hydroxybenzoic acid, and 4-hydroxy, 3-methylbenzoic acid (Hedbavna et al. 2016). These by-products were found to migrate through the membrane into the cathode chamber. Acetate was found to be the major carbon source acting as electron donor among different substrates and byproducts used in this study, which was responsible for electricity generation. This suggests that electro-active bacteria use simpler compounds more efficiently rather than the complex contaminants directly.

Extended acclimation, use of mixed microbial cultures, and MFC design are the major factors affecting phenol degradation. A recent study evaluated the performance of MFC for treating phenol in continuous mode which resulted in a better performance with a higher biodegradation rate and power density than batch mode (Moreno et al. 2018). Moreover, they used granular graphite electrodes, which provided an increased surface area for microbial growth. It was found that power density using phenol was much lower in a traditional MFC than that obtained in

MFCs using readily biodegradable substrates such as glucose or butyrate. However, the development of packing type MFC improved the power output and it resulted to be comparable to that with acetate and butyrate, which suggests that higher surface area for growth of microbes is efficient in improving phenol degradation (Luo et al. 2009).

Polyaniline (PANI) is used in many studies for the preparation of metal oxide/ polymer electrodes while improving electron transfer because of the benefits it provides, such as electrical conductivity, easily synthesized, and biocompatibility (Khan et al. 2020). Khan et al. (2020) synthesized PANI/SnO₂ electrode for the treatment of wastewater containing a mixture of phenol and trichlorophenol. A microbial inoculum obtained from a wastewater treatment plant was utilized. However, in this study, the wastewater was treated in an anodic chamber as well as in a cathodic chamber to test anoxic and oxic conditions, respectively. The results showed that higher voltage could be obtained in oxic conditions with a higher voltage obtained using coated electrodes. Moreover, the treatment efficiency depends on the pollutant concentration, which showed the highest power density and COD removal at 300 mg/L concentration when MFCs were operated with concentrations of 100–500 mg/L phenolic mixture. Coating of PANI/SnO₂ led to an improvement in energy production as well as COD removal as it provides higher surface area.

11.5 Conclusion

Recent advances in microbial processes for the degradation of phenols and phenolic compounds has improved the overall efficiency of phenol degradation. Processes such as MFC utilize these compounds and also result in electricity generation, which can be a viable solution for pollution remediation. The use of microalgae for phenol degradation can result in simultaneous remediation of pollutants and generation of microbial biomass, which can be utilized for biofuel production. However, these processes are sensitive to shock load and other environmental conditions that need to be studied in detail in future studies.

References

- Agarry SE, Audu TOK, Solomon BO (2010) Kinetics of batch microbial degradation of phenols by indigenous binary mixed culture of Pseudomonas aeruginosa and Pseudomonas fluorescens. Int J Environ Pollut 43(1–3):177–189. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJEP.2010.035922
- Al-Khalid T, El-Naas MH (2012) Aerobic biodegradation of phenols: a comprehensive review. Crit Rev Environ Sci Technol 42(16):1631–1690. https://doi.org/10.1080/10643389.2011.569872
- Aravindhan R, Rao JR, Nair BU (2009) Application of a chemically modified green macro alga as a biosorbent for phenol removal. J Environ Manag 90(5):1877–1883
- Collins G, Foy C, McHugh S, Mahony T, O'Flaherty V (2005) Anaerobic biological treatment of phenolic wastewater at 15–18°C. Water Res 39(8):1614–1620. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres. 2005.01.017

- Dayana Priyadharshini S, Bakthavatsalam AK (2016) Optimization of phenol degradation by the microalga Chlorella pyrenoidosa using Plackett-Burman design and response surface methodology. Bioresour Technol 207:150–156
- Dong Y, Qu Y, He W, Du Y, Liu J, Han X, Feng Y (2015) A 90-liter stackable baffled microbial fuel cell for brewery wastewater treatment based on energy self-sufficient mode. Bioresour Technol 195:66–72
- Dotto GL, Gonçalves JO, Cadaval TRS, Pinto LAA (2013) Biosorption of phenol onto bionanoparticles from Spirulina Sp. LEB 18. J Colloid Interface Sci 407:450–456
- Eio EJ, Kawai M, Niwa C, Ito M, Yamamoto S, Toda T (2015) Biodegradation of bisphenol a by an algal-bacterial system. Environ Sci Pollut Res 22(19):15145–15153
- Eismann F, Kuschek P, Stottmeister U (1997) Microbial phenol degradation of organic compounds in natural systems: temperature-inhibition relationships. Environ Sci Pollut Res 4(4):203–207. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02986346
- Ellis BE (1977) Degradation of phenolic compounds by fresh-water algae. Plant Sci Lett 8 (3):213–216
- Franchi O, Rosenkranz F, Chamy R (2018) Key microbial populations involved in anaerobic degradation of phenol and p-cresol using different inocula. Electron J Biotechnol 35:33–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejbt.2018.08.002
- Ge Z, Wu L, Zhang F, He Z (2015) Energy extraction from a large-scale microbial fuel cell system treating municipal wastewater. J Power Sources 297:260–264
- Guieysse B, Wikström P, Forsman M, Mattiasson B (2001) Biomonitoring of continuous microbial community adaptation towards more efficient phenol-degradation in a fed-batch bioreactor. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 56(5–6):780–787. https://doi.org/10.1007/s002530100676
- He Q, Xie Z, Fu Z, Wang H, Chen L, Gao S et al (2020) Effects of phenol on extracellular polymeric substances and microbial communities from aerobic granular sludge treating low strength and salinity wastewater. Sci Total Environ 752:141785. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020. 141785
- Hedbavna P, Rolfe SA, Huang WE, Thornton SF (2016) Biodegradation of phenolic compounds and their metabolites in contaminated groundwater using microbial fuel cells. Bioresour Technol 200:426–434
- Hirooka T, Akiyama Y, Tsuji N, Nakamura T, Nagase H, Hirata K, Miyamoto K (2003) Removal of hazardous phenols by microalgae under photoautotrophic conditions. J Biosci Bioeng 95 (2):200–203
- Huang L, Chai X, Quan X, Logan BE, Chen G (2012) Reductive dechlorination and mineralization of pentachlorophenol in biocathode microbial fuel cells. Bioresour Technol 111:167–174
- Juang RS, Wu CY (2007) Microbial degradation of phenol in high-salinity solutions in suspensions and hollow fiber membrane contactors. Chemosphere 66(1):191–198. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chemosphere.2006.04.070
- Karim AV, Krishnan S, Pisharody L, Malhotra M (2020) Application of ferrate for advanced water and wastewater treatment. In: Advanced oxidation processes-applications, trends, and prospects. IntechOpen, London
- Khan N, Anwer AH, Ahmad A, Sabir S, Khan MZ (2020) Investigating microbial fuel cell aided bio-remediation of mixed phenolic contaminants under oxic and anoxic environments. Biochem Eng J 155:107485
- Klekner V, Kosaric N (1992) Degradation of phenols by algae. Environ Technol 13(5):493-501
- Koch B, Ostermann M, Höke H, Hempel DC (1991) Sand and activated carbon as biofilm carriers for microbial degradation of phenols and nitrogen-containing aromatic compounds. Water Res 25(1):1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/0043-1354(91)90091-4
- Krastanov A, Alexieva Z, Yemendzhiev H (2013) Microbial degradation of phenol and phenolic derivatives. Eng Life Sci 13(1):76–87. https://doi.org/10.1002/elsc.201100227
- Lal K, Garg A (2015) Catalytic wet oxidation of phenol under mild operating conditions: development of reaction pathway and sludge characterization. Clean Techn Environ Policy 17 (1):199–210

- Larsen C, Yu ZH, Flick R, Passeport E (2019) Mechanisms of pharmaceutical and personal care product removal in algae-based wastewater treatment systems. Sci Total Environ 695:133772
- Levén L, Nyberg K, Schnürer A (2012) Conversion of phenols during anaerobic digestion of organic solid waste - a review of important microorganisms and impact of temperature. J Environ Manag 95(Suppl):S99–S103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2010.10.021
- Li Y, Du Q, Liu T, Sun J, Jiao Y, Xia Y, Xia L, Wang Z, Zhang W, Wang K, Zhu H, Wu D (2012) Equilibrium, kinetic and thermodynamic studies on the adsorption of phenol onto graphene. Mater Res Bull 47(8):1898–1904
- Li B, Liu XN, Tang C, Zhou J, Wu XY, Xie XX, Wie P, Jia HH, Yong XY (2019) Degradation of phenolic compounds with simultaneous bioelectricity generation in microbial fuel cells: influence of the dynamic shift in anode microbial community. Bioresour Technol 291:121862
- Li CM, Wu HZ, Wang YX, Zhu S, Wei CH (2020) Enhancement of phenol biodegradation: metabolic division of labor in co-culture of Stenotrophomonas sp. N5 and Advenella sp. B9. J Hazard Mater 400:123214. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2020.123214
- Lima SAC, Raposo MFJ, Castro PML, Morais RM (2004) Biodegradation of P-chlorophenol by a microalgae consortium. Water Res 38(1):97–102
- Long M, Zeng C, Wang Z, Xia S, Zhou C (2020) Complete dechlorination and mineralization of para-chlorophenol (4-CP) in a hydrogen-based membrane biofilm reactor (MBfR). J Clean Prod 276:123257. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.123257
- Luo H, Liu G, Zhang R, Jin S (2009) Phenol degradation in microbial fuel cells. Chem Eng J 147 (2–3):259–264
- Malhotra M, Suresh S, Garg A (2018) Tea waste derived activated carbon for the adsorption of sodium diclofenac from wastewater: adsorbent characteristics, adsorption isotherms, kinetics, and thermodynamics. Environ Sci Pollut Res 25(32):32210–32220
- Milner EM, Popescu D, Curtis T, Head IM, Scott K, Eileen HY (2016) Microbial fuel cells with highly active aerobic biocathodes. J Power Sources 324:8–16
- Moreno L, Nemati M, Predicala B (2018) Biodegradation of phenol in batch and continuous flow microbial fuel cells with rod and granular graphite electrodes. Environ Technol 39(2):144–156
- Morris JM, Jin S (2007) Feasibility of using microbial fuel cell technology for bioremediation of hydrocarbons in groundwater. J Environ Sci Health A 43(1):18–23
- Mostafa A, Im S, Lee MK, Song YC, Kim DH (2020) Enhanced anaerobic digestion of phenol via electrical energy input. Chem Eng J 389:124501. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2020.124501
- Papazi A, Karamanli M, Kotzabasis K (2019) Comparative biodegradation of all chlorinated phenols by the microalga Scenedesmus obliquus—the biodegradation strategy of microalgae. J Biotechnol 296:61–68
- Peng Z'e, Wu F, Deng N (2006) Photodegradation of bisphenol a in simulated lake water containing algae, humic acid and ferric ions. Environ Pollut 144(3):840–846
- Potter MC (1911) Electrical effects accompanying the decomposition of organic compounds. Proc R Soci Lond Ser B 84(571):260–276
- Rahimnejad M, Adhami A, Darvari S, Zirepour A, Oh SE (2015) Microbial fuel cell as new technology for bioelectricity generation: a review. Alex Eng J 54(3):745–756
- Rosenkranz F, Cabrol L, Carballa M, Donoso-Bravo A, Cruz L, Ruiz-Filippi G et al (2013) Relationship between phenol degradation efficiency and microbial community structure in an anaerobic SBR. Water Res 47(17):6739–6749. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2013.09.004
- Shivaraman N, Kumaran P, Pandey RA, Chatterjee SK, Chowdhary KR, Parhad NM (1985) Microbial degradation of thiocyanate, phenol and cyanide in a completely mixed aeration system. Environ Pollut Ser A 39:141–150
- Villegas LGC, Mashhadi N, Chen M, Mukherjee D, Taylor KE, Biswas N (2016) A short review of techniques for phenol removal from wastewater. Curr Pollut Rep 2(3):157–167
- Wang J, Wu B, Sierra JM, He C, Hu Z, Wang W (2020) Influence of particle size distribution on anaerobic degradation of phenol and analysis of methanogenic microbial community. Environ Sci Pollut Res 27(10):10391–10403. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-020-07665-z

- Wu H, Wang M, Zhu S, Xie J, Preis S, Li F, Wei C (2019) Structure and function of microbial community associated with phenol co-substrate in degradation of benzo[a]pyrene in coking wastewater. Chemosphere 228:128–138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2019.04.117
- Xiao P, Kondo R (2020) Biodegradation and biotransformation of pentachlorophenol by wooddecaying white rot fungus Phlebia acanthocystis TMIC34875. J Wood Sci 66(1):2. https://doi. org/10.1186/s10086-020-1849-6
- Yan W, Sun F, Liu J, Zhou Y (2018) Enhanced anaerobic phenol degradation by conductive materials via EPS and microbial community alteration. Chem Eng J 352(June):1–9. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.cej.2018.06.187
- Yang J, Zhou M, Zhao Y, Zhang C, Hu Y (2013) Electrosorption driven by microbial fuel cells to remove phenol without external power supply. Bioresour Technol 150:271–277
- Zhang D, Li Z, Zhang C, Zhou X, Xiao Z, Awata T, Katayama A (2017) Phenol-degrading anode biofilm with high coulombic efficiency in graphite electrodes microbial fuel cell. J Biosci Bioeng 123(3):364–369
- Zheng H, Guo W, Li S, Chen Y, Wu Q, Feng X, Yin R, Ho SH, Ren N, Chang JS (2017) Adsorption of P-Nitrophenols (PNP) on microalgal biochar: analysis of high adsorption capacity and mechanism. Bioresour Technol 244:1456–1464



Microbial Degradation of Chlorophenolic Compounds

Charles Oluwasun Adetunji , Olugbemi Tope Olaniyan, Bright E. Igere, Temitope C. Ekundayo, Osikemekha Anthony Anani, Ruth Ebunoluwa Bodunrinde, Frances N. Olisaka, Abel Inobeme, Eseosa Oluwadamilare Uwadiae, Omoregbe Nosa Obayagbona, Wadzani Palnam Dauda, and Inamuddin

Abstract

Chlorine-Based Aromatic Compounds (CBACs) and its numerous derivatives are referred to as Chlorophenols (CPs) as there consist of complex compounds of chlorine with other aromatics (benzene) and side chains such as nitrogen, amino group, alkyl group, etc. There are a group of environmental pollutants sourced from the released waste of numerous manmade activities. These compounds are recalcitrant in the environment, however, the diverse nature of microorganisms and their flexibility in metabolizing various chemicals has aided their application

C. O. Adetunji (🖂)

O. T. Olaniyan

B. E. Igere

Department of Microbiology and Biotechnology, Western Delta University, Oghara, Delta State, Nigeria

T. C. Ekundayo

Department of Biological Sciences, University of Medical Sciences, Ondo City, Ondo State, Nigeria

O. A. Anani

R. E. Bodunrinde

Department of Microbiology, Federal University of Technology Akure, Akure, Ondo State, Nigeria

F. N. Olisaka

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 Inamuddin et al. (eds.), *Recent Advances in Microbial Degradation*, Environmental and Microbial Biotechnology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-0518-5_12 313

Laboratory of Applied Microbiology, Biotechnology and Nanotechnology, Department of Microbiology, Edo State University, Uzairue, Iyamho, Nigeria e-mail: adetunji.charles@edouniversity.edu.ng

Laboratory for Reproductive Biology and Developmental Programming, Department of Physiology, Edo State University, Uzairue, Iyamho, Nigeria

Laboratory of Ecotoxicology and Forensic Biology, Department of Biological Science, Faculty of Science, Edo State University, Uzairue, Iyamho, Nigeria

Department of Chemistry, Edo State University, Uzairue, Iyamho, Nigeria

in the degradation of CBACs and derivatives for the generation of energy and carbon sources. This discussion emphasized on the application of various microbial groups including bacterial, fungi, actinomycetes, and yeast in the biodegradation of CBACs, the initial steps that occur before degradation of such aromatic chemicals occurs, the various mode or mechanism of action with the various enzymes required for the breakdown and the future of the application of both microbes and enzymes in the biodegradation of various recalcitrant compounds. The strategy is an implication for future environmental remediation as various chemical recalcitrant and emerging pollutants are being released from expanding human activities.

Keywords

 $Biodegradation \cdot Chlorophenols \cdot Bacteria \cdot Fungi \cdot Actinomycetes \cdot Yeast \cdot Modes \ of \ action$

12.1 Introduction

It is no doubt that the recent advancement and development in agricultural practices, industrialization, and domestic activities (associated with increase population) has increased environmental contaminants and pollution. Most of these activities has released large quantities of wastes/contaminants such as pesticides, herbicides, fungicides, insecticides water disinfectants, chlorine bleach, and synthetic chemical effluents, into the environment which have shown significant ecotoxicological effects or harmful human/animal health impact (Furukawa 2006; Murthy et al. 2008). According to the US Environment are chlorine-based aromatic compounds (CBAC), which have their source from the release from hospital effluents, pharmaceutical effluents, industrial effluents, domestic effluents, and municipal effluents. Chlorophenols or CBACs are chlorinated aromatic ring compounds that consists of

A. Inobeme

E. O. Uwadiae

O. N. Obayagbona

W. P. Dauda

Inamuddin

Environmental and Public Health Microbiology Laboratory, Department of Biological Sciences, Faculty of Science, Benson Idahosa University, Benin City, Edo State, Nigeria

Department of Environmental and Animal Biology, Faculty of Life Science, University of Benin, Benin City, Edo State, Nigeria

Department of Environmental Management and Toxicology, Faculty of Life Sciences, University of Benin, Benin City, Edo State, Nigeria

Crop Science Unit, Department of Agronomy, Federal University, Gashua, Yobe State, Nigeria

Department of Chemistry, King Abdulaziz University, Jeddah, Saudi Arabia

either an aromatic ring/benzene ring, hydroxyl group, and chlorine atom in most cases. It also consists of other possible isomers or chloro-derivatives of methyl- and ethyl-phenols (Ivanciuc et al. 2006). All CBACs or chlorophenols exist in solids state at room temperature except 2-chlorophenol (2-CP), which is a liquid. It has low solubility in the liquid state but its sodium or potassium salts are highly soluble even up to the fourth order of magnitude in aqueous solutions (Ivanciuc et al. 2006). Its acidity rate increases with an increase in the number of chlorine substitutes. The fate of CBACs in the environment has been correlated with the organic carbon partition coefficient (Koc) (Guo et al. 2004). CBAC is widely applied in agriculture, tie/dye and textile companies, pharmaceutical and chemical industries (Arora et al. 2012; Arora and Bae 2014). The substances are priority pollutants that contain chlorine and aromatic components. They are also referred to as chlorophenols (CP) that pose a severe environmental concern because of their abundance in surface waters, domestic water, groundwater, sludge products, and wastewater (Olaniran and Igbinosa 2011).

The diverse applicability of CBAC is reported as a source of harmful toxic effects in human plants and animal health as the compound accumulates in various environments. Exposure to CBAC and its derivatives has also been reported as potential agents of severe health problems including DNA damage, cancer or carcinogenesis, programmed cell death, and organ damage in some cases (Olaniran and Igbinosa 2011). The need to remove these contaminants from the environment became a global concern as their impact continues to increase including mutagenesis, teratogenesis, high toxicity, carcinogenic, low degradability, recalcitrant, and lethal effects.

Various methods applied have been abiotic or physical processes have been employed in the removal of the pollutants, namely activated charcoal usage, advanced oxidation process, and photoelectric approach and UV (Tum and Kariuki 2020). Tum and Kariuki (2020) investigated the rate of degradation among chlorophenol and its numerous derivatives using Titanium oxide as a photocatalyst, which is immobilized on a layer of microscopic glass. Before its usage, it was characterized with diverse photo-differentiating approaches including X-Ray diffraction, electron microscope, and Brunauer Emmett Teller, while degraded units were confirmed with UV–Vis spectroscopy. An appreciable degradation was observed by this approach, however, this is not without specific environmental impacts (Tum and Kariuki 2020).

Other abiotic techniques that ensures degradation and mineralization of chlorinated aromatic compounds are Advanced Oxidation Processes (AOPs), Ultra-violet/H₂O₂, Photo-Fenton process, Ultra-violet/catalyst (UV/C), MW/NiO (MWN), Graphite and grapheme oxides, O₃/ZnO Ultraviolet/H₂O₂/TiO₂, Microwave/Ultra-violet and UV/O₃/TiO₂, etc. (Seo et al. 2017). In addition to other abiotic methods, further application of the chemical removal method was also applied. Such chemical removal methods (such as zero-valent metal reduction, hydrodechlorination, etc.) have been applied for the bioremediation and/or removal but became high-cost dependent. In an abandoned dump-site and various other

environmental milieus, it was observed that some microbial communities degrade diverse chlorine-based aromatic compounds as well as its derivatives.

Numerous studies have affirmed that mixed microbial communities biodegrade CP and other chlorine-based aromatic derivatives because of the degradative potential of these microbes. In addition, some investigators have reported that microbial cultures may be used in a fermenter to biodegrade or biotransform such environmental pollutants and also remove them effectively from the environment or wastewater in some cases, e.g., Alcaligenes (Westmeier and Rehm 1987). The microbes are basically diverse in both existence and nature due to the multiplicity of the contaminants and chemical recalcitrant agents. These microbes may be explored, characterized, and used in bioremediation processes or techniques to remove CP and other chlorinated aromatic compounds. Some major examples of such microbes are members of fungi, bacteria, yeast, actinomycetes, etc. These microbes may be grouped into diverse communities including methanogenes, acidophiles, photosynthetic, aerobic, microaerophilic, anaerobic, halophiles, etc. which include Syntrophaceae, Syntrophomonadaceae, Methanobacterium and Methanosaeta, Bacillus sp., Pseudomonas sp., Stenotrophomonas sp., Cupriavidus nantongensis XT, and Cupriavidus necator JMP134 (Pimviriyakul et al. 2020). Employing any of their members in biodegradation or biotransformation also involves the applicability of the various groups it belongs with a view to adequately harnessing their degradative potential. According to Kennes et al. (1996), biodegradation of ¹⁴C-labeled chlorinated aromatic compounds (pentachlorophenol (PCP)) has been determined in an aerated nitrogen bioreactor which is referred to as moist Hagerstown silt-clayloam compartment while using either cellulose or without using cellulose as an amendments composition aerobically.

During an anaerobic situation, the chlorine-based compound (PCP) would decrease the availability of oxygen, which may result in a reduction in respiration even when cellulose is present. There is also a possibility for the loss of volatile constituents up to about 0.5% of the PCP released into the environmental soil to result in undetectable ¹⁴CO₂; and diverse organic extractable solvent with radioactive potential from all treatments. A chromatographic analysis using both gas and thin-layer types for environmental extracts indicates the presence of derivatives or subunits including pentachloroanisole, while using both aerobic and anaerobic approaches. Other detected derivatives or products from the biodegradation after 2,3,5,6-2,3,4,5-tetrachlorophenols methylation include and and 2,3,6trichlorophenol using gas chromatography. The degradation or detoxification of pentachloroanisole was further examined in both aerobic and anaerobic approaches in soils and wastewater (Jannat et al. 2021; Arora and Bae 2014). It is noteworthy that the CBACs of both households, domestic and industrial origin may be subdivided into three different classes with regard to their structural components. The subdivisional class 1 carries aromatic skeleton with components such as chlorobenzene (CB), chloro-phenol (CP) (e.g., 4-monochlorophenol (4-mono-CP), 2,4-dichlorophenol (2,4-Di-CP), 2,4,5-trichlorophenol (2,4,5-Tri-CP), 2,4,6trichlorophenol (2,4,6-Tri-CP), 2,3,5,6- and 2,3,4,5-tetrachlorophenols (2,3,5,6 or 2,3,4,5-Tetra-CP) and pentachlorophenol (Pent-CP)), chlorinated aniline and their derivatives (e.g., 4-chloroaniline, 4-chloro-2-aminophenol and 2-chloro-4aminophenol), 4-chlorobenzoic acid and tetrachlorohydroquinone (Tetr-CHO). The subdivisional class II CBACs are aromatic ring compounds that contain extra moieties attached rings. They are frequently referred to as agents of increased pesticide potency, with high recalcitrance and poor or resistant degradation agents. Notable examples are 2,4-dichlorophenoxyacetic acid (2,4-Di-CP-O-AA), 2,4,5trichlorophenoxyacetic acid (2,4,5-Tri-CP-O-AA), and other analogs that includes organophosphate herbicides (e.g., chlorpyrifos and profenofos), 2-(4-chloro-2methylphenoxy) propionic acid (mecoprop or 2(4C-2-MP), 2-(2,4-dichlorophenoxy) propionic acid (dichlorprop), 2-methyl-4-chlorophenoxy acetic acid (MCPA), and 4-(4-chloro-2-methylphenoxy) butanoic acid (MCPB) (Pimyiriyakul et al. 2020). The class III CBACs contains greater than a single aromatic ring eg polychlorinated biphenyl (PCBps). Following the above-stated class of CBACs, its biodegradation should provide a sustainable environment, healthy environment using low cost and ecofriendly technologies for the removal of contaminants from the environmental milieu.

Since the biodegradation process may occur either aerobically or anaerobically, the bioconversion or biotransformation of pollutants into utilizable minerals would occur in pathways/mode of action which may be subdivided or group into three steps namely; the upper (initiation), intermediate (middle), and rap-up or lower step/ pathways of metabolism. These three aforementioned pathways are successively involved in the bio-conversion of various CBACs and derivatives into metabolisable components for cells. One difficulty encountered during biodegradation is in the intermediate step where various enzymes that share similarities in features are involved but results in the mineralization of CBACs to metabolites used for energy generation of cells. Following the various reports on the microbial degradation of CBACs, its derivatives and pathways, several activities might be involved, which include anaerobic action where there is a complete reduction of CBACs and derivatives (removal of chlorine or dechlorination) in the initiation step. This is followed by an aerobic conversion of monochloride, dichloride, and trichloride aromatic compounds to their corresponding chlorocatachols (CC).

It is important to note that before dechlorination can occur, there must be splitting of the aromatic ring hence the splitting of the aromatic ring occurs first before the formation of CCs. As a continuation of the biodegradation process, polychlorinated phenols in the first step are then subjected to oxygenative dechlorination under an aerobic situation to form (chloro)hydroxyquinol ((chloro)1,2,4-trihydroxybenzene). This would be followed by an ortho-cleavage of the CBACs resulting maleylacetate (Pimviriyakul et al. 2020). It is important to note that the biodegradation of CBACs and other related derivatives may occur either by microbial breakdown of the substrate or by good structure and designed enzymatic activity. The enzymes may be tailored by immobilization on appropriate surfaces and/or application in nanotechnology to bring about the needed biotransformation or biodegradation of notable



environmental pollutants. Figure 12.1 below shows the biodegradation mechanism in both application of microbial cells and the use of enzymes, which are products from microbial biosynthetic production processes. Understanding the mechanism of microbial application in the degradation of CBACs and the use of various enzymes in biodegradation may be a sea of wealth and development in biotechnology and bioengineering of enzymes for sustainable environmental processes.

This chapter intends to review the application of fungi, actinomycetes, and bacteria in the biodegradation of chlorophenols in the environment and health sectors, the modes of action involved in the biodegradation of chlorophenols by microorganisms, and the health and environmental challenges involved with chlorophenols, which could serve as a xenobiotic. Several future recommendations were also highlighted.

12.2 General Over View on Biodegradation of Chlorophenols by Microorganisms

Chlorophenols are blends of synthetic inorganic and organic chemicals. They include CP (chlorophenol), DCP (dichlorophenol) TCP (trichlorophenol), TeCP (tetrachlorophenol) and PCP (pentachlorophenol). These chemicals are employed in different commercial and industrial purposes as well as in agriculture (2,4-D, 2,4,5-T, 2,4,5-TCP, and 2,4-DCP) as herbicides in hospitals and at home as an antiseptic (Field and Sierra-Alvarez 2008). Globally, chlorophenols are widely used as dyes, biocides, pesticides, and wood guards. Chlorinated compounds are one of the most dangerous xenobiotic constituents that is characterized by their substituents which make them persistent, non-biodegradable, and recalcitrant. These features make them remarkable as toxic compounds naturally present in the environment (Vallecillo et al. 1999; Arora and Bae 2014). They are classified as first-class
important pollutants by the US EPA and EU (United State Environmental Protection Agency and European Union), respectively (Ruzgas et al. 1995). In addition, similar status was also stated by the World Health Organization and International Agency for Research on Cancers who established that chlorophenols (CPs) have cytotoxic, mutagenic, and carcinogenic properties (Igbinosa et al. 2013). In humans, CPs can be ingested by drinking, eating, and skin contact.

Moreover, different methods such as oxidation by chemicals, extraction of liquidliquid phase, ion exchange, and adsorption, where the various techniques used in the removal of chemical like CPs from waste effluents (ATSDR 1999; Pera-Titus et al. 2004; Muller and Caillard 2011; Olaniran and Igbinosa 2011; Igbinosa et al. 2013). However, these techniques have been proven ineffective, expensive, non-ecofriendly, and release noxious wastes into the environment. Contrariwise to these, it had been proven recently that a more operative, eco-friendly, cheap, and green method of decontaminating CPs away from the surroundings by the utilization of microorganisms yields a more sustainable result. There is an urgent need to manage and control the environmental and health influences of CPs in the ecosystem. Biodegradation of CPs has been investigated in different media systems (aerobic and aerobic), using the application of microorganisms (Boyd and Shelton 1984; Häggblom 1990; Christiansen et al. 1995; Bae et al. 1996; Armenante et al. 1999; Murialdo et al. 2003; Field and Sierra-Alvarez 2008; Arora and Bae 2014). The degradation of CPs by the actions of microorganisms (fungi and bacteria), is one of the significant factors influencing their concentrations in the environment (Ye and Shen 2004). The capacity of microbial degradation of pollutants anaerobically can be improved by the acclimatization of the potential inoculum, which can be used to detect the consortia degradation at various phases (Buitron et al. 1998). In the aerobic bacterial consortia, there are a multiplicity and selection of specific microorganisms during the acclimatization phase at several daily intervals (Horowitz et al. 1983; Wiggings et al. 1987; Timothy et al. 1989). Owing to the broad and lengthy periods of acclimatization, there is a tendency factor of probable envisaging of exposure of chemicals at different concentrations in the surroundings when compared to the shorter period of degradation by the microorganisms.

CPs can contaminate the water environment easily by migrating into surface and groundwater for the reason that their level of solubility is very high (Smith and Novak 1987). Monochlorophenols can be liberated through the process of the breakdown of aromatic compounds, pesticides, and the chlorination of wastewater, which cannot be effortlessly besmirched and digested by microorganisms (Pritchard et al. 1987). Dichlorophenols, on the other hand, can be easily degraded and metabolized by microorganisms, but the process of aerobic outbreak can be less active in high definition chlorophenols compounds. Several documented works have clearly highlighted the toxicity of CPs in a different environment with a focus on their toxicity and biodegradation, in both anaerobic and aerobic CPs degradation by microorganisms (Solyanikova and Golovleva 2004).

12.3 Mode of Action Involved in the Biodegradation of Chlorophenols by Microorganisms

Various investigators have described various pathways and mode of activities involved in the biodegradation of CBAC and its derivatives. The pathway and activity mode are directed by diverse enzymes of different classes and groups including hydroxylase, oxygenase, etc. with some occurring aerobically or anaerobically. The process would include the selection of biotransforming/biodegrading strains of microorganisms, aerobic breakdown of CBACs and derivatives where there will be some peripheral steps for degradation of monochlorinated and polychlorinated phenols and phenol hydroxylases. This will be followed by orthopathways for the degradation of (halo)catechol. Such processes would include the 3-chlorocatechol, 4-chlorocatechol and further modification of 3-chlorocatechol by some strains of Rhodococcus opacus 1cp, this terminated by the hydroxyquinol pathway. It is pertinent to note that the genetic basis for the broken down of CBACs and other associated derivatives be carefully understood to adequately describe the mode of activity and mechanism of action of the organism or enzymes during biodegradation. As mentioned earlier, the complete degradation of CBACs and derivatives begins with the assimilation and recognition of compounds which is followed by a ring target specific site cleavage (either intradiol or extradiol cleavage), a reaction that is catalyzed by diverse sets of dioxygenases. These well-studied dioxygenases (intradiol and extradiol dioxygenases) catalyze the integration of two atoms of oxygen into the chlorocatechol (CC) bond fission whereby oxygen activation occurs via a coordinated complex of substrate-oxygen-metal (Pornsuwan et al. 2017). The intradiol dioxygenase such as protocatechuate-3,4-dioxygenase and catechol-1,2-dioxygenase have been characterized in both bacteria and fungus of differing types. They are involved in the bond cleavage of two hydroxyl groups of catecholic aromatics resulting in muconate derivatives (b-carboxy-cis,cis-muconate and cis,cis-muconate). The further lactonization of these derivatives by muconate cycloisomerase, decarboxylase, and isomerase result in the formation of b-ketoadipate enol-lactone. It is noteworthy that the reaction pathways of catechol and protocatechuate, which are central intermediates, occurs via the formation of b-ketoadipate enol-lactone step. This step would occur prior to the lactone ring hydrolysis by enol-lactone hydrolase to generate b-ketoadipate (Patel et al. 1975). An additional two-step forward reactions along the pathway catalyzed by b-ketoadipate:succinyl-CoA transferase and b-ketoadipylCoA thiolase would generate acetyl-CoA and succinyl-CoA. The generate acetyl-CoA and succinyl-CoA then enters into the TCA cycle for the generation of energy since both are commonly known intermediates of the TCA cycle (Harwood and Parales 1996). On the other hand, the extradiol cleavage pathway uses both dioxygenases, dehydrolases, decarboxylases, dehydrogenases, tautimerases, hydrolases, hydratases, and aldolase was utilized to catalyze the bond breaking of the two outer hydroxyl groups of catechol and protocatechuate in a catecholic cleavage to form 2-hydroxymuconic semialdehyde. This on further breakdown would yield pyruvate and acetaldehyde in the case of catechol and pyruvate and oxaloacetate or acetyl-CoA in the case of protocatechuate (Chenprakhon et al. 2019; Arora and Bae 2014). It is important to note that some of the enzymes used for the biodegradation of CBACs as well as other derivatives are not readily produced in the common biosynthetic pathway of diverse microorganisms. Kasai and his colleagues previously observed that *Paenibacillus* sp. harbors the enzyme responsible for the cleavage of protocatechuate-2,3-positions (Kasai et al. 2009). Pimviriyakul and his group also added that simpler pathways are utilized by microorganisms to cleave protocatechol-4,5-position instead of the direct cleavage of protocatechuate-2,3-position since the required gene cluster of the cleavage of 2,3-positions is not readily available in nature (Pimviriyakul et al. 2020).

Although some enzymes applied for the biodegradation of CBACs/derivatives have been extensively studied (e.g., dioxygenase), other necessary enzymes yet remain under-explored, hence exploring and understanding the mechanism of such microbial-derived enzymes, as well as their functions, remains a future prospect in the bioactive molecular discipline. The intermediate pathway involves the transformation of less toxic and more soluble products of the first degradation activity such as catechol, hydroquinone, or protocatechuate via dechlorination. This dechlorination may also occur both by oxidative and nonoxidative process. The oxidative process involves the addition of specific groups, which are catalyzed by oxygenases (for the addition of oxygen) or hydrolases (for the addition of water). Another important note is that the addition of groups (e.g., hydroxylation) in addition to dechlorination must occur first to prepare the CBACs and other derivatives for ringcleavage dioxygenases before it is converted from aromatics to aliphatics. The nonoxidative dechlorination also occurs in a similar mechanism as reported by Boll and his colleagues (Boll et al. 2014), which is referred to as reductive dechlorination as dehalogenase catalyzes the removal by reduction and hydrolytic activities. The last pathway which is accountable for the elimination of any supplementary moleties that are attached to the CBACs is referred to as the upper or tertiary cleavage pathway where acetyl groups are removed from the CBACs products into easily metabolizable by-products. This pathway is not always necessary for the degradation of lower or smaller CBACs which may be broken down by enzymes of the second or intermediate pathway. However, it involves debranching of aromatics to remove groups or dephosphorylation of chlorinated aromatic organophosphates. Its products are mono-aromatic compounds including chlorinebased benzene, chlorophenol, chloroaniline, and chlorobenzoate based derivatives which act as substrates for enzymes in the intermediate stage of biodegradation (middle or intermediate pathway) (Chenprakhon et al. 2019; Arora and Bae 2014).

12.4 Application of Fungi for the Biodegradation of Chlorophenols

Fungi have been known to exhibit the capability to tolerate and breakdown a plethora of hazardous substances (Evans and Hedger 2001). Numerous research on the breakdown capability of fungi has been based on an ecological group known as the white-rot fungi. The spotlight on the degradative capability of white-rot fungi

(WRF) was initiated based on reported findings on the degradative capacity of *Phanerochaete chrysosporium* on a wide assortment of environmental contaminates (Bumpus et al. 1985). WRF are saprophytes that utilize dead organic matter as their carbon source by degrading cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin portion of the wood cell wall (Thwaites et al. 2006). It has been suggested that this cellulolytic and ligninolytic activity exhibited by WRF is the same employed in the degradation of chlorophenols and other pollutants (Ellouze and Sayadi 2016).

Bioremediation and biotransformation are relevant terms observed in biodegradation especially as some chemical agents have shown recalcitrance in the environment. Although the terms involve the restoration of environmental wellness, its proposed approach must be eco-friendly, cost-effective, and application of traditional alternatives in remediation techniques. Fungi are a group of microbial strains that have shown potential for the dilapidation of recalcitrant compounds such as CBACs and its derivatives. One identified strain of these group of organisms is Tritirachium sp. It has shown high levels production of extracellular catechol 1,2-dioxygenase and its action in an in vitro determinative test, which was recently conducted and reported by Nikolaivits and his colleagues (Nikolaivits et al. 2020). This strain has also produced dechlorinated cleavage or chlorine degraded by-products from a starting CBACs which indicates it's potential for the assimilation of xenobiotics and biodegradation. The study of Mileski and his colleagues also reported extensive biodegradation of pentachlorophenol (PCP) by some white fungus referred to as *Phanerochaete chrysosporium*. The fungus was described to possess a lignin-degrading system that aids decline and mineralization of PCP in nitrogen-limited solid or liquid culture. In addition, enzyme products from the organism (e.g., Ligninase) was used to catalyze the initial oxidation of PCP which suggests that in addition to the lignin-degrading capability of the organism, it also harbors the potential for another degradation system, which may also be applied in PCP biodegradation (Mileski et al. 1988). In another related study, the application of the white fungus with silver nanoparticles in a degradation process yielded maximum degradation of PCP and respective mineralization as the compound was first broken into linear chains with an eventual conversion into CO₂ and H₂O via reductive dechlorination. Other fungi were also used by various investigators including Fusarium sp., P. chrysorhiza, P. sanguine, I. circinatus, P. filamentosa, etc. Some investigators utilized the white-rot fungus (Trametes versicolor) to influence the production of extracellular laccase as well as its relative activity as a biodegradative agent from the mineralization of 2-chlorophenol (2-CP) by fungal mycelia. A relative formation of 2-chloro-1,4-benzoquinone (2-CIBQ) found was connected with extracellular laccase activity. The primary oxidation step of the biodegradation may therefore be partially attributable to extracellular laccase action which indicates cell-bound degradative processes. Although between 1990 and 2020, about 70 articles were published about studies where fungus was used as the microbial biodegradation of chlorophenols or CBACs and derivatives.

12.5 Specific Types of Authors That Have Applied Application Fungi for the Biodegradation of Chlorophenols in the Environment

Yordanova et al. (2013) tested and evaluated the potentials of Trichosporon cutaneum (R57) and Aspergillus awamori (NRRL3112) on the degradation of phenolics and phenol derivatives. It was discovered that when combined together, their effects on the degradation of phenol was up to 1.5 g/L. On the other hand, when combined individually, their free cells and immobilization capacity did not degrade up to 1.0 g/L. The high synergistic activities and potential capacities of the immobilized systems were shown with these processes of combination and solitary influences on the chemicals. Furthermore, the degradation of various phenolics was also studied. These included chlorophen-ChP (2-benzyl-4-chlorophenol), chloroxylenol-ChX (4-chloro-3,5-dimethylphenol), BPA (bisphenol A), 3-MP (3-methoxyphenol), 4-NP (4-n-nonylphenol), 2,4-DCP (2,4-dichlorophenol), 3-CP (3-chlorophenol) and 2-CP (2-chlorophenol). From the study, it was observed that the use of phenol 2,4-DCP and BPA was very swift at 16 h. 3-MP, CP, 4-CP, 3-CP, and 2-CP utilization was very swift at 40 h between the range of 44-72% and the utilization of ChP and NP were able to degrade very gradually up to 30% in 40 h. Meanwhile, ChX persisted unaffected for 40 h. The investigation of the derivatives was recorded in this order based on the level of the degradation by the microbial strains. The rate of degradation of the phenolics and phenol derivatives at concentrations of 0.3 and 0.1 g/L were also determined. The benefits of the mutual immobilized arrangements for the microbial degradation of the derivatives (phenolics and phenol) when compared to other systems of the two free cells and strains, separated and combined, were also proven to be positive in their degradation actions.

van Leeuwen et al. (1997) tested and isolated the degradation of compounds of Chlorophenolic by Trichoderma harzianum. The biological experiment was assessed for their metabolic potential abilities on compounds of CPs; chloroguaiacols and 2,4,6-trichlorophenol by the isolates. The abilities of the isolates sourced 10 m from the point of discharge were evaluated based on the nature of the substrate media. It was observed that there was a corresponding decrease in the absorbable CPs (organic halogens) of 14 carbon IV oxide from 14 carbon labeled CPs. The process of tetrachloroguaiacol dehalogenation was also observed. The potential abilities of other different isolates were temporally evaluated based on the decrease in the levels of tetrachloroguaiacol spiked in the AOX and corresponding culture medium. It was observed that T. harzianum mineralized a small percentage between 2-3% of the spiked pentachlorophenol as well as temporary dehalogenated tetrachloroguaiacol at 46% in a saline medium. It was found that each isolate was capable of decreasing the tetrachloroguaiacol concentrations in the respective AOX and the mineralized saline medium. The maximum capacities were gotten from regions closed to the waste discharged location to the lake. The findings from their study showed that the occurrence of the fungi in the water may explain the reduction of the chlorophenolics found therein.

Globally, for about 20 years the amount of pesticide in the environment has dramatically increased. Diez (2010) in a review looked at the biological degradation of some organic pollutants used for pesticide production. The author stated that the residues and by-products transformation of pesticides are found frequently on the surface and ground waters. Special information about CPs (chlorophenols), PCBs (polychlorinated biphenyls), and PAHs (polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons) on the roles in pesticides, impacts on the environment, and the breakdown action of microbes were highlighted and discussed. Details on the influxes of these chemicals in different aquifer levels in Chile and some foreign nations were also reported. The author recounted that the fungi breakdown of organic xenobiotics is well-thoughtout effective technique in the decontamination of the pollutants from the surroundings as a biotechnology procedure called bioremediation. Details on the white-rot fungi degradation of pesticides containing CPs were also discussed. Finally, an effective and simple biobed system was suggested to reduce the environmental impact as well as the manipulation of pesticides when used to fill the spraying device, which is a characteristic point source of contamination. In addition, a traditional fungi consortium and Actinomycetes are needed to protect the technology in order to develop and protect the depletion of the microflora autochthonous inocula.

Kumar et al. (2018) tested and evaluated the biological degradation of free radicals of phenol using strain NPD1401 (*Candida tropicalis*) immobilizer. The result of the biological study showed that the strain was able to break down about 98% concentration of phenol compounds (s1000 mg/L). However, the free cells were able to break down about 63% of a similar concentration in a 9-day incubation period. When the stored beads were reprocessed after about 15 days, it was observed that they were able to break down about 62.1% of the phenol in the saline medium.

Reddy et al. (1997) tested the degrading potential of *Phanerochaete* chrysosporium and Dichornitus squalens on chlorophenoxyacetic acids. The influence of Mn²⁺ on the breakdown of CPs by both *Phanerochaete* chrysosporium and Dichornitus squalens on chlorophenoxyacetic acids revealed that the strains of fungi were able to catalyzed by mechanistic self-regulating the side-chain cleavage of the chemical. The broken-down of the aromatic ring, relied on the lignin from the fungi via utilizing un-labeled substrates in an alleyway for the breakdown of the chlorophenoxyacetic acids, explains the degrading potential of Dichornitus squalens. This also demonstrated that the first product formed was chlorophenol, which was later xylosylated to chlorophenolxyloside. In line with this process, the chlorophenolxyloside was later regenerated to chlrophenol via hydrolysis using intracellular cleavage of p-xylosidase. This was later dechlorinated to 2-chloro-pbenzoquinone byxylosidase and undergoes subsequent ring-opening and dichlorination reactions by the action of P. chrysosporium.

Fritsche and Hofrichter (2005) demonstrated that microfungi with mycorrhiza are also microbial species involved in the environmental biodegradation of pollutants. The authors reported that unlike bacterial, fungi can survive in a very low pH, and moisture environment due to the presence of robust extracellular multi-enzyme complex utilized in breaking down toxicants. Again yeast such as *Trichosporon* cutaneum, Candida lipolytica, Rhodoturularubra, C. tropicalis, P. anomala, C. methanosorbosa BP-6 Aureobasidion(Trichosporon) pullulans, Cyberlindnera fabianii, Wickerhamomyces anomalus, S. cerevisiae, Rhodotorula pilimanae, Hansenula polymorpha, P. guilliermondi, Yarrowiali polytica, Schizosaccharomyces pombe, and C. ernobii may use aromatic compounds like phenol to grow due to the presence of specific energy-dependent uptake systems.

Abruscia et al. (2007) revealed that filamentous fungi like *Cladophialophora*, *Leptodontium, Exophiala, Pseudeurotium zonatum, Amorphoteca, Talaromyces, Neosartorya Cunninghamella, Fusarium, Penicillinum, Alternaria alternate, Trichoderma longibrachiatum, Cephalosporium, Mucor Racemosus, Rhiloprzs arrhizus, Aspergillus* are good biodegraders due to their ability to produce extracellular degradative enzymes referred to as oxido-reductive enzymes when compared to some bacterial species. The authors revealed that the physiological mechanism utilized by these filamentous fungi is of two types, the exo-cellular lignin-degradation made up of lactases, peroxidases, and intracellular cytochromes P450 system.

CPs are environmentally concerned chemicals that have noxious effects on humans, such as cytotoxicity, mutagenotoxicity, and carcinogenotoxicity, as well as the deleterious impact on the environment. However, to curb this menace, several green, eco-friendly, and cheap method of decontaminating these xenobiotic compounds has been recommended for effective ecorestoration as when compared to the long traditional methods. Consequent to this, Hou et al. (2016) tested and evaluated the degradation efficiency of a strain of aniline degrading *Rhodococcus* rhodochrous (DSM6263) on different aqueous phases of chlorophenols. The results of the study revealed that DSM6263 strain was able to decontaminate chlorophenols by hydroxylation at the ortho-region of the chlorophenolic chains. It was observed that when the cells were immobilized with k-carrageenan alongside nanoparticles of Fe_3O_4 (9 g/L), they could successfully break down different chlorophenol mixtures, 2,3-dichlorophenol, 4-chlorophenol, and 2-chlorophenol correspondingly that were much higher than the free cells. They recommended the six nanoparticles and the immobilized cells for the degradation of six cycle chlorophenol compounds. It will also serve as a promising tool for the bioremediation of chlorophenols in waste effluents.

One of the major contaminants in the pharmaceutical industrial wastes is a phenol. Of recent, several traditional methods were used to decontaminate this chemical in the effluent, which have proven to be ineffective, expensive, and releases more harmful toxins into the environment, thus resulting in health and environmental harms. Currently, the utilization of microorganisms in the decontamination of the recalcitrant nature of phenol has been proven to effective, cheap, eco-friendly, and green. In line with this, Bernats and Juhna (2015) tested and evaluated the biodegradation of chlorophenols in pharmaceutical waste effluent using white-rot fungi. They used four monocultures of fungi (*Irpex lacteus, Gloeophyllum trabeum, Phanerochaete chrysosporium* and *Trametes versicolor*). The outcome of the study indicated that *Trametes versicolor* was the most operative strain. The outcome from the optimization of the temperature, pH, and concentration of the biomass, showed that the optimum situations were 25 °C, 5–6, and 10% (v/v)

correspondingly. In optimum situations, the concentration of the CPs was decreased by 93% from 420 \pm 12 to 29 \pm 1 mg/L with 7 days by *Trametes versicolor*. The findings of this study indicated that the tested biological strain *T. versicolor*, was able to effectively reduce, treat, and remove the concentration of phenol in the pharmaceutical wastewater before improving it with the traditional methods.

Mileski et al. (1988) studied pentachlorophenol biodegradation by the WRF; *Phanerochaete chrysosporium*. The study revealed the complete mineralization of pentachlorophenol by the WRF incubated under nitrogen limiting conditions for 30 days. Toxicity studies of pentachlorophenol on the fungus revealed that the lethal effects of the pollutant could be avoided if the cultures had formed a mycelial mat prior to the addition of the chlorinated phenol. With this procedure, the fungus degraded 500 mg/L of pentachlorophenol during a 24 h incubation period.

Yum and Peirce (1998) demonstrated the 4-chlorophenol and 2,4-dichlorophenol degradation using *Phanerochaete chrysosporium* in immobilized cell reactors with birchwood chips as a carbon source under different growth conditions. The study revealed that the fungus degraded the pollutant at 71% in the course of a 20 day incubation time with no additives. The addition of a nitrogen source increased 4-chlorophenol and 2,4-dichlorophenol degradation rate to 83% over the same incubation period. Based on these results, the authors opined that a more effective treatment system could be developed using the white-rot fungus to degrade chlorophenol under certain nutrient conditions. Valli and Gold (1991) investigated 2,4-dichlorophenol mineralization by *P. chrysosporium* using 2% glucose and 1.2 mM ammonium tartrate as carbon and nitrogen source, respectively, over a 6 day incubation period. The study revealed that under nitrogen limiting settings, *P. chrysosporium* was able to completely mineralize 2,4-dichlorophenol.

Lamar et al. (1993) conducted field studies that evaluated the ability of three ligninolytic fungi: P. chrysosporium, P. sordida, and Trametes hirsuta to remediate the pentachlorophenol (672µg/g) and creosote (4017µg/g) component from soil contaminated with these pollutants. The fungi were applied as pure or mixed cultures to the polluted soils at several inoculum loads. Results of the study revealed an 89% decrease in pentachlorophenol concentration by P. sordida (10%). At the same inoculum level, P. chrysoporium and T. hirsuta (55%) also degraded the organochlorine at (67-72%) and (55%) respectively within the 56 day incubation period. The mixed cultures of the three fungi did not degrade the pollutant efficiently as did the axenic pure cultures. Based on the previous study, further investigation into the biodegradation capacity of P. sordida on pentachlorophenol and Poly-nuclear aromatic creosote in the field was investigated by Lamar et al. (1994). This time, the soil was contaminated with 1058 mg/kg of pentachlorophenol and 1210 mg/kg of creosote. Results indicated a 64% decrease in the concentration of the chlorinated phenol after a 20 week incubation period. Another WRF; Lentinula edodes was observed to exhibit significant degradation ability with respect to soil-borne pentachorophenol (Okeke et al. 1997). The authors indicated a 99% depletion rate of the chlorinated phenol in 10 weeks with the monocultures of the fungus. They also reported the production of oxidative enzymes phenol oxidase and manganese peroxidase within 2 weeks of inhibition. Wen et al. (2006) investigated the biodegradation

of 4-chlorophenol under anaerobic conditions with 10% Candida albicans PDY-07 cultured from activated sludge. The authors observed that the fungi completely degraded 4-chlorophenol concentrations (200-300 mg/L) within 244 h. Nakagawa et al. (2006) studied 2,4-dichlorophenol metabolism by soil-borne Mortierella sp. The fungi reduced 250µM 2,4-dichlorophenol by 55% within 48 h compared with the non-fungal culture, which showed a 26% decrease of the chlorinated phenol within the same period. Rubilar et al. (2011) compared pentachlorophenol metabolism by free cells and immobilized cells of Anthacophyllum discolor and P. chrysoporium respectively. The cells immobilized with wheat grains showed a higher pentachlorophenol removal rate (64.1-80.4%) compared to that measured with both fungi strains as free mycelium (47.1–50.5%). Wang et al. (2012) examined the prospective of *Candida tropicalis* derived from sludge to degrade phenol and 4-chlorophenol using high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) procedure. The authors revealed that the fungi degraded 150 ppm of 4-chlorophenol in 20 h with phenol serving as a carbon source. The authors also opined on the possibility of phenol serving as an inducer of chlorophenol degrading enzymes in fungi with the compound also utilized as a source of carbon. Yordanova et al. (2013) studied the biodegradation of phenol and some of its phenol derivatives using polyamide beaded immobilized cells of Trichosporon cutaneum and Aspergillus awamori. The observation showed that a combination of the two immobilized organisms degraded 0.1 g/ L of each pollutant in the following order: phenol > bisphenol-A > 2,4dichlorophenol > 3-methoxyphenol > 3-chlorphenol > 2-chlorophenol > 4chlorophenol > 2-benzyl-4-chlorophenol > chloroxylenol. The rate of degradation of the pollutants except chloroxylenol ranged from 100% to 30% within a 40 h incubation period.

12.6 Mechanism of Fungi Degradation of Chlorophenol

The degradative attribute of most fungi with regards to chlorophenol and other environmental pollutants may be attributed to its expressed ligninolytic activity. The Lignin chemical structure of lignin is similar to the chemical structures of many persistent environmental organic pollutants (Yum and Peirce 1998). Ellouze and Sayadi (2016) suggested that the ligninolytic fungi generally degraded xenobiotic substances via an extracellular ligninolytic system, which encompass lignin peroxidase, H₂O₂-producing enzymes, manganese peroxidase, and laccase veratryl alcohol (3,4-dimethoxybenzyl alcohol), respectively. It is important to note that both enzyme expression and function is wholly dependent on the fungal species. Some fungal species are known to elicit lignin peroxidase, manganese peroxidase, and laccase together while some species elaborate just one or two enzymes that act simultaneously or separately on the available xenobiotic. Several researchers have reported the degradative activity of these enzymes against xenobiotic and recalcitrant compounds (Cameron et al. 2000; Blanquez and Guieysse 2008).

12.7 Usage of Immobilized Fungi Cells over Free Cell System in the Degradation of Chlorophenols

Some authors have demonstrated the degradation potential of chlorophenols by free fungi cells (Field and Sierra-Alvarez 2008; Rubilar et al. 2011). However, usage or application of immobilized fungal cells has proven to have more advantageous than the conventional free cell system as it can enhance the stability of the biocatalyst. Dwyer et al. (1986) opined that the immobilized cells had higher resistance potential to variations in the concentration of the environmental pollutants. Sofer et al. (1990) suggested the option of modifying or adjusting the fungal density in immobilized cell reactors with the aim of generating increased biodegradation output in comparison to free fungal cells.

12.8 Application of Actinomycetes for the Biodegradation of Chlorophenols

One of the group members said to be prokaryotes which are simple unicellular but complexly organized organisms. They are grouped into ten major divisions which comprise gram-positive bacteria to which actinobacterial belong. The phylum and the application of 16S rRNA gene analysis have showed that the group which consists of 221 genera is made of 6 classes, 19 orders, and 50 families, with newer taxa continually been revealed (Goodfellow et al. 2012). They are mainly filamentous, gram-positive cocci, and facultative anaerobes or aerobes. In some cases, the gram reaction may appear variable, because of their cellular rigidity and the presence of muramic acid in their cell wall (Goodfellow et al. 2012). They exhibit great diversity in lifestyles and are saprophytically free-living in marine/aquatic environments. Specifically, in soil, they mediate the formation of soil organic matter by enhancing plant-associated commensals and nitrogen-fixing symbionts. They are also gastrointestinal tract inhabitants in animals and pathogens of plants (Goodfellow et al. 2012). Today, the extremobiosphere is covered and colonized by members of the Actinobacteria, which contradicts the traditional perception about the phyla as autochthonous soil and a freshwater group of organisms (Goodfellow et al. 2012). In fact, the Streptomyces genus, a member of the Actinomycetales order, is still the richest source of useful microbial metabolites, including clinical antibacterial agents, bioactive metabolites, protein, and tumor inhibiting agents (Olano et al. 2009). Among all 23,000 known bioactive molecules, 45% are known to be secondary metabolites gotten from Actinomycetes, and 80% of them are produced by the actinomycetes and/or Streptomyces genus. This diversity in bioactive metabolite manufacture makes them imperative tools for environmental remediation, biomedical companies, medicine, and biotechnological companies who apply them as bio-remediating agents, antibiotic-producing agents, enzymeproducing agents, anticancer agents, and other applications including agro-medicals. Among the existing known bioactive agents isolated, over 90% are produced by terrestrial actinobacterial species. The marine members resident in the marine environment among the actinobacterial is underexplored as potential sources of novel biological compounds and novel microbial products used for medicine and other commercial purposes. Actinobacteria are an example of a major and most diverse phylum within the bacteria domain, based on 16S rRNA gene studies (Hentschel et al. 2012). They are mainly filamentous, gram-positive cocci, and facultative anaerobes or aerobes. Their cell wall contains muramic acid, with a majority of its members belonging to chemo-organotrophs and high G + C content (Goodfellow et al. 2012).

Recently, attention was given to the members from a multidisciplinary point of view due to the relevance of their bioactive metabolites and chemo-structural characteristics especially in healthcare and remediation of waste or biodegradation (Kalaitzis et al. 2009). CBACs and its derivatives have been observed to be degraded in recent times by these groups of microbes, which possess multiple biosynthetic gene clusters. The various gene clusters can be accessed by genome mining using the antiSMASH software designed for novel biosynthetic pathways. In assessing the novelty of a biosynthetic gene cluster, the gene sequence or a whole genome sequence is obtained from a proficient biodegrading organism and deposited in the Genbank. The deposited sequence is then annotated to obtain a Genbank reference number or reference sequence accession number. With the Genbank reference number, antiSMASH can generate a two-dimensional structure of the various biosynthetic genes and clusters, which is compared with the gene structure of all known similar genes of biodegradation. A novel gene can further be studied for its mechanism of activity and its components while similar gene structures are arranged for the level of similarity and phylogenesis (Tilmann et al. 2015; Blin et al. 2013). Although this group of organisms is not commonly employed in the biodegradation of CBACs and its derivatives, the application has shown promise for future biotransformation or biodegradation of various chloro-aromatic compounds. A mixed culture of actinobacterial members have been observed to biodegrade CBACs as the enzymes applied in the degradation and the intermediate products of biodegradation were observed to be present or produced. In addition, complete biodegradation was indicated as there was a release of chloride from 5-chloro-2-hydroxymuconic semialdehyde after further degradation of such intermediates.

12.9 Application of Bacteria for the Biodegradation of Chlorophenols

Globally, more than 400 published articles have reported the application of bacteria in the biodegradation of CBACs between 1990 and 2020 with a majority of the studies in China, the United States, and India. Other countries have applied the use of bacteria but researchers of China appear to have exhaustively applied bacteria and more reports of their usage or their enzymes are currently in the pipeline. Bacterial have shown diversity in degradative potential due to their natural ubiquity and diversity in natural existence. They have been seen to exist in a diverse environment while they develop and advance in the generation of metabolic pathways as well as in their nutrients/energy/feeding. The degradation of CBACs occur both via aerobic and anaerobic processes making use of the diverse biochemical breaking down potential of bacteria. Some CBACs that have been seen to be degraded by bacteria are monochlorophenols (MCP), polychlorophenols (PCP), chloronitophenols (CNP), chloroaminophenols (CAP), and chloromethylphenols (CMP), etc. Under aerobic condition, CBACs and its derivatives are degraded extensively by bacteria as the organism used the aromatic chlorides as a major carbon source and energy generation. These aforementioned bacteria strains have been applied in various degradation studies with specific attention of CBACs and its derivatives, which has also revealed significant biodegradation of the aromatic compounds. The total number of global published documents on biodegradation of CBACs and its derivatives is shown in Fig. 12.2.

Researchers revealed the degrading ability of some species of *Rhodococcus* and *flavobacterium* utilizing pentachlorophens (Xun et al. 1992; Lee and Xun 1997). *Streptomyces rhochei* strain was found by Golovleva et al. (1992) to degrade the complete spectrum of polychlorinated phenol. The polychlorinated phenol (CPs) is an organochlorine compound used as pesticides and used also as a wood preservative. *Pseudomonas* and *Azotobacter* sp. were found to degrade 2,4,6-trichlorophenol (Takizawa et al. 1995; Li et al. 1991; Wieser et al. 1997; Kiyohara et al. 1992). The initial phases of chlorophenol degradation usually bear three to four composition starting with hydroxylation in substituting position chloroquinol. To achieve great success in the degradation, it is important to know the degrading ability of the microorganisms. Gram-positive and gram-negative bacterial isolates were found to breakdown chlorophenols, while some utilize mono and other dechlorinated phenols.

Apajalahti and Salkinoja-Salonen (1986) together with Golovleva et al. (1992) revealed that Rhodococcus chlorophenolicus and Strochei 303 degraded a wide range of chlorophenols, from complexes of mono to penta chlorinated phenols. Few strains had not the capabilities of growing on halophenols thereby catalyzing the imputation of hydroxyl group in ortho-end of mono-di- and trihlophenols and producing appropriate halocatechols (Häggblom 1992; Boersma et al. 2001). Hydroxylation, which is known to be a chemical process, that incorporates hydroxyl group into organic complexes is the first stage that aerobic microorganisms utilized during the degradation of chlorophenols (Fetzner and Lingens 1994). Phenol hydroxylases are enzymes that stir up the incorporation of hydroxyl groups into substrates in the direction of single O_2 in the cyclic ring, and the next stage is by reduction of water (Hayaishi 1969). Pseudomonas putida G131 strain was found to degrade 3-methyl- and 3-chlorocatechol through meta-pathway in the presence of catechol 2,3-dioxgenase as a complex protein (enzyme) (Kaschabek et al. 1998). Initially, some Pseudomonas sp. were primarily known for the degradation of 3-chlorobenzoate by first catalyzing the formation of 2-chloromucanate via Chlorocatechol 1,2-dioxygenase this process is possible by using 3-chlorocatechol (Schlömann 1994).

The crystalline element of dienelactone hydrolase synthesized by *Pseudomonas* sp. was collected and the catalytic mode of action was assessed (Pathak and Ollis





1990; Cheah et al. 1993; Beveridge and Ollis 1995). The degradation of chloroaromatic complexes begins through 4-chlorocatechol branch in the situation where 4C cat serves as a precursor of alteration of the growth substratum and also in the degradation of 3- and/or 4-chlorophenol usually by *Rhodococcus* sp. (Janke et al. 1988a; Janke et al. 1988b).

Field and Sierra-Alvarez (2008) identified various bacteria that were able to breakdown chlorophenols and also discovered techniques in which this could bring about a successful degradation process. Using a method of incorporating mono hydroxyl group into substrates during the process at the *ortho*-ends of the chlorophenols rings thereby producing chlorocatechols, which could be degraded more to produce other complexes (Solyanikova and Golovleva 2011; Mars et al. 1997). They also explained further that the hydroxyl group could be attached to the *para*-ends of the rings bringing about the formation of a benzenediolic compound that comprises hydroquinone containing a mono chloro component. This complex could also be digested by introducing hydroxy group into biological compounds or the removal of the carbon-halogen bond from the complex (Nordin et al. 2005; Xun et al. 1992).

Bacteria degradation of chlorophenols could as well be done by the elimination of ammonium ions via deaminase thereafter, cleavage of the ring (Arora et al. 2013, 2014). The following complexes were gotten from the microbial digestion of chlorophenols they are; 2,3,4-chlorophenols, 2,3,4-chlorocatechol, and chlorosalicylate (Nikodem et al. 2003; Weisshaar et al. 1987; Arensdorf and Focht 1994). Knackmuss and Hellwig (1978); Menke and Rehm (1992) identified and isolated *Pseudomonas knackmussii*, *Alcaligenes xylosxidans* and *Herbasipirillum chlorophenolicum* as microorganism that has the capacity to degrade cholophenols (Konovalova et al. 2009).

12.10 Specific Authors That Have Utilized Bacteria for the Biodegradation of Chlorophenols

Diez (2010) briefly reported that across the globe, there has been a drastic increase in the utilization of pesticides in the last decades, thus many of the pesticide residues or by-products are found at an alarming rate in the environment causing unprecedented health challenges. The authors reported that microorganisms are thus necessary and important for the generation of biosurfactants which are eco-friendly and less expensive methods to degrade many of these toxicants. The metabolic machinery and the ability to survive in harsh environments of many microorganisms enables them to be able to biodegrade, although the effectiveness is dependent on several factors such as concentration of the toxicants, nature, microorganisms presence, and physiochemical properties. Thus the authors suggested that these factors can be grouped into biological and environmental characteristics.

Basfar et al. (2017) revealed that generally, chlorophenols (CPs) are environmental contaminant that has been reported to be very toxic, carcinogenic with low biodegradability. Many different compounds or approaches have been identified to be utilized for the biodegradation of chlorophenols such as gamma radiation, microorganisms. Arora et al. (2014) reported that many examples of CPs and their derivatives such as chloroaminophenols, monochlorophenols, chloronitrophenols, chloromethylphenols, plus polychlorophenols have toxic properties on human health, hence must be effectively removed from the environments through biological and chemical means. The authors revealed that the bacterial method of biodegradation appears to be the most reliable method due to its eco-friendly plus cost-effective approach through the utilization of these CPs as energy and carbon sources. Several pathways have been reported to be involved with the formation of chlorocatechols or (chloro) hydroquinone by the bacteria genes.

Nawaz et al. (2011) highlighted the potential of microorganisms such as rhizospheric bacteria, actinomycetes, or plant-linked endophytic as biological agents in the biodegradation of environmental contaminate as a superior approach compared to chemical or physical methods. Bae et al. (2002) revealed that anaerobic degradation is involved in many microorganism's ways of biodegradation. The main approach recognized to be effective for the removal of xenobiotics has been established through the process which entails biotransformation and biodegradation through the cleavage of the halogen-carbon linkage, reductive dechlorination, *O*-demethylation plus *O*-methylation. Núñez-Gaytán et al. (2010) and Itoh et al. (2000) demonstrated that extracellular laccase of *Coriolus versicolor* is capable of bio-transforming chlorophenols into 2,4,6-trichlorophenol, 2,4-dichlorophenol, 2,6-dichlorophenol, 2,2-dichlorophenol. The authors revealed that sinapinic acid derived from sources is capable of biotransforming different chlorophenols but *p*-coumaric and ferulic acids are known to inhibit the process.

Mohanty and Jena (2017) showed that Pseudomonas sp. Strain NBM11 and Acinetobacter calcoaceticus (NCIM 2286) demonstrated potential capability to biodegrade large phenol entirely in a pH range of 6.8–7.2. It was observed that the degradation capacity increased in many folds within the immobilized cells. Liu et al. (2007) revealed that *Stenotrophomonas* sp. strain can utilize as a source of energy, carbon plus nitrogen p-nitrophenol thus degrading 4-chlorophenol through the hydroquinone pathway stimulated through a wide range of temperature in the environment. The authors described the benefit of utilizing microbial biodegradation as a more cost-effective, efficient, and impactful means than the traditional methods. Veenagayathri and Vasudevan (2013) revealed that halophilic bacterial called halophiles can successfully degrade 4-chlorophenol in a minerals salts media and subsequently, the analysis was done utilizing gas chromatography. The authors described the halophiles as microorganisms that thrive and grow well in salinity (high salt) environment referred to as the extremophiles with tremendous potential for biotechnological utilization or applications. They revealed that in the past different bacteria and fungi have been utilized for the biodegradation of chlorophenols such as Alcaligenes, Burkholderia plus Ralstoni, Arthrobacter ureafaciens CPR706, Arthrobacter chlorophenolicus A6, and Arthrobacter.

Durruty et al. (2011) revealed that a study was undertaken to evaluate the rate at which some microorganisms such as *Achromobacter* sp. nov and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* can rapidly degrade some notable xenobiotics like 2,4,6-trichlorophenol,

2,3,5,6-tetrachlorophenol plus pentachlorophenol. The authors revealed that during the process, 2,4,6-trichlorophenol demonstrated early degradation and effective biodegradation of these environmental toxicants. Kumar et al. (2008) reported that microorganisms are involved in the generation of biosurfactants which are utilized for the biodegradation of toxicants in the environment with severe health effects. The process of biodegradation is usually activated by surfactants secreted by the microbes through the stimulation by the pollutants. Some of the suggested bacterial are *P. putida, Rhodococcus erythropolis, P. chlororaphis and Pseudomonas aeruginosa* that are known to produce glycolipid biosurfactants acting as an emulsifier, thus reducing the surface tension and formation of micelles.

Kim et al. (2002) reported that the combination of *P. solanacearum* TCP114 plus *P. testosteroni* CPW301 in a mixture to achieve a higher rate of biodegradation was evaluated in an experiment to degrade 4-chlorophenol and phenol. It was revealed that the microorganisms were able to achieve an excellent rate of degradation. Olaniran and Igbinosa (2011) reported that chlorophenols are found in many pesticides as chlorinated aromatic constituents forming recalcitrant to many agents of biodegradation very toxic and carcinogenic to many living organisms. Thus one of the highlighted means of elimination is through the utilization of microbial biosurfactants with mono, dioxygenases, and oxygenases as notable enzymes involved in the physiochemical process. Many strains of bacteria have been reported to degrade chlorophenols through aerobic conditions such as *Bacillus, Norcadia, Pseudomonas*, plus *Mycobacterium Coeliacum*.

Jame et al. (2010) briefly described the importance of chlorophenols in many industrial productions and their biodegradation utilizing isolated bacterial with mixture Pseudomonas species culture. The authors revealed that the mixed culture showed a significant increase in biodegradation as compared with the single culture. Sandhibigraha et al. (2019) reported that bacterial strain Bacillus subtilis significantly degraded 4-chlorophenol in an experiment conducted by the authors in India. They applied different unstructured models to elucidate the kinetics of cell growth or the intrinsic kinetic factors. Thus it was reported that B. subtilis MF447840.1 was a potential candidate to be considered for biodegradation of 4-chlorophenol. Kopytko et al. (2002) revealed that the activity and nature of some herbicides can be altered or degraded utilizing bacteria, thus it was evaluated by considering the action of Pseudomonas putida on 1,1'-dimethyl-4,4'-bipyridylium and 2,4-dichlorophenoxiacetic acid. The experiment confirmed the possibility of the application of naturally occurring microorganisms in the process of biodegradation of many toxicants in the environments particularly chlorophenols.

Dong et al. (2011a) revealed that *Rhodopseudomonas palustris* PSB-1D bacterial strain could be utilized for the biodegradation of *o*-chlorophenol through a specific enzyme. Pramila et al. (2012) revealed that many bacterial are reported to be useful for the biodegradation of pollutants in the environments due to the fact that many of these bacteria feed on these chemicals as a source of energy, carbon, and nitrogen. The authors reported that these processes can occur in two ways anaerobic or aerobic conditions. *Brevibacillus* sp. and *Pseudomonas* sp. uses anaerobic biodegradation to eliminate pollutants in the environment. In other studies, several bacteria strains have

been utilized for bioderagation process with excellent results obtained such as *Bacillus, Corynebacterium, Shigella, Alcaligenes, Staphylococcus, Streptococcus, Acinetobacter, Klebsiella, Escherichia, Enterobacter, Pseudomonas, Mycobacterium, Rhodococcus, and Aeromonas.*

Studies have shown that biodegradation process involves groups of bacteria as single bacteria may not possess the entire capability to biodegrade all the toxicants in the environment. Aerobic pathways for the biodegradation process in bacteria use several catabolic enzymes like dihydrodiol dehydrogenase (BphB), biphenyl dioxygenase (BphA), hydrolase (BphD), and 2,3-dihydroxybihenyl dioxygenase (DHBD) (BphC). Seeger et al. (2010) reported that several pollutants have been degraded by bacteria such as *Providencia stuartii*, *Alcaligenes faecalis*, *Stenotrophomonas*, *Acidithiobacillus ferrooxidans*, *Bacillus*, and *Staphylococcus*. The authors revealed that bacterial possess a reduction mechanism, methylation, or utilizes metals as terminal electron acceptors known to impair metal resistance in aerobic or anaerobic conditions against several pollutants.

Cases and de Lorenzo (2005) reported that biostimulation, bioaugmentation, and biodegradation are approaches utilized to eliminate pollutants from the environment. Recently, the authors showed that bacterial genes such as rhizospheric and endophytic bacteria coding for catabolic enzymes could be genetically engineered to address the issue of biodegradation. The authors described these techniques as recombinant DNA technology, through which microorganisms are reconstructed to exhibit increased degrading ability. It was demonstrated that various risk assessment and quality control processes are involved such as amendment of enzyme affinity and specificity, regulation and construction of pathways, control, monitoring, and development of bioprocess plus application of bioreporter and bioaffinity sensor for chemical sensing, end-point evaluation with toxicity elimination.

Walker et al. (1975) reported that protozoa and algae are very essential members of the microbial family concerning the process of biodegradation. Some isolated algae by the authors such as *Prototheca zopfi*, *Chlorella vulgaris*, *S. quadricauda*, *Lyngbyala gerlerimi*, *C. pyrenoidosa*, *S. capricornutum*, *Scenedesmus platydiscus*, *Oscillatoria rubescens*, *Nostoc lincki*, *Volvox aureus*, *Synechoccus*, *Chlorella*, *S. incrassatulus*, *Westiellopsis prolifica*, *Anabaena inacqualis*, *Stigeoclonium lenue*, *C. sorokiniana* and *Elkatothrix viridis* possess strong biodegradation mechanism like uptake and biotransformation against many environmental toxicants.

Patel and Kumar (2016) demonstrated in their study the potential role of microbial consortium biodegradation ability against chlorophenols as compared to the individual microbes. Spectrophotometric analysis was utilized to evaluate the secondary metabolites during the biodegradation process. It was revealed that the microbial consortium gave a maximum removal rate. Manjarrez Paba et al. (2021) reported that removal of environmental toxicants azo dyes containing chlorophenols utilizing bacterial through biodegradation process. The authors used different bacterial such as *Marinobacter* sp., *Enterococcus faecalis*, *Sphingobacterium* sp., *Enterococcus casseliflavus*, and the findings revealed that all of them displayed a great efficiency for the elimination of the toxicants. Farrell and Quilty (2002) reported that the physiochemical properties of microbial biosurfactants and secondary metabolites make them useful candidates in biotechnological and industrial applications. Thus, one such biotechnological applications involves the use in the elimination of environmental toxicants through the biodegradation process. Arthrobacter chlorophenolicus A6 strain was evaluated by the authors against 4-chlorophenol biodegradation, in the experiment, luc and gfp biomarker genes were monitored to generate useful information concerning the growth, toxicity, substrate depletion in intermediate. The authors concluded the metabolic that Arthrobacter chlorophenolicus A6 possesses the unique ability to degrade effectively 4-chlorophenol in several metabolic pathways.

12.11 Application of Actinomycetes for the Biodegradation of Chlorophenols

Chrolophenols are a group of compounds that belong to a group of persistent and toxic chemicals that are also known to be resistant to attack by environmental microorganisms. These compounds are widely employed in the production of various disinfectants and pesticides such as fungicides, herbicides, and insecticides. This has resulted in their conspicuous presence in the environment. They are found in soil, water, and some volatile components in the atmosphere (Olaniran and Igbinosa 2011). These compounds have been reported to be highly carcinogenic and toxic, hence, the United State Environmental Agency (USEPA) identified various chlorophenols as contaminants that are of immense concern (ATSDR 2007). The formation of these compounds occur during various processes such as the chlorination of wastewater, the use of chlorine for the bleaching of pulp during paper production, as well as the breakdown of herbicides containing phenoxy compounds (Bjerketorp et al. 2018).

Various approaches have been put forward for the decontamination of areas polluted by xenobiotics such as chlorophenols, however, most of the approaches are not widely used due to their cost of implementation and technical difficulties associated with them (Conesa et al. 2012). After the fulfillment of their role, chlorinated phenolic compounds usually accumulate in sewage, soil, and water and are resistant to microbial-based degradation. These compounds have also been known to be lethal to different groups of organisms. Numerous industries are associated with the production of chlorophenols. These include industrial activities such as drug production, wood preservation, pesticides, iron integration, and paper production. This compound has been positioned as the 166th most toxic compounds out of 1467 outlined as priority contaminants by USEPA. Guyton et al. (2016) has also documented that these compounds are teratogenic. Compounds of chlorophenols and related compounds derived from them are known to be persistent in the environment and are largely used in the production of dyes and other industrial products. Typical examples of derivatives of chlorophenols that are of serious health concern include chloromethylphenols, polychlorophenols, and chloroaminophenols amongst others. Various chemical and biological means have been utilized for the decontamination of these compounds from the environment. The use of microorganisms such as bacteria is known as an approach that is relatively economical and environmentally treasured. Different groups of bacteria including other microorganisms such as actinomycetes have been utilized in this regard. The mechanisms for the degradation have been widely explored by different researchers, and documentation have also been made with regards to the enzymes associated with the process of degradation (Arora and Bae 2014).

Bioremediation technology involves the utilization of natural potentials of microbes in the degradation and mineralization of environmental contaminants for the derivation of nutrients and energy. It is a promising alternative in the removal of toxic substances from the environment. The use of actinomycetes for the breakdown of chlorophenols is a sustainable alternative. Some microorganisms commonly employed in the process of remediation of chlorophenols have developed the ability to utilize chlorophenols as their primary carbon and energy source. Degradation through the influence of microorganism is a vital approach for the bioremediation of pesticides and the use of actinomycytes is highly (Fuentes et al. 2010).

12.12 Application of Yeast for the Biodegradation of Chlorophenols

Yeast are groups of microorganisms that are rarely used in the biodegradation of CBACs or its derivatives. Recent scientific advancement and development have shown that this group of microorganisms has shown potential for the degradation of diverse chemical agents including chlorine fortified aromatic compounds as their enzymes have shown multidegradative capabilities.

Various investigators have also affirmed the relevance of various enzymes sourced from yeast been applied in the breakdown of diverse chemical compounds including CBACs or other halogenated phenols. According to Katayama-Hirayama and his colleagues, a yeast strain (Rhodotorula glutinis) was employed in the biodegradation of Phenol, monochlorophenol, and other CBACs. It was reported that the strain biodegraded 5 mM concentration of phenols while utilizing the substrate as its major source of carbon (Katayama-Hirayama et al. 1994). The biodegradation activity that occurs via the ortho cleavage or ring fission was observed to produce muconolactone into the liquid culture or media where the organism was grown. Other derivatives of CBACs such as 3-Chlorophenol (3-CP) and 4-chlorophenol (4-CP) were completely degraded with a stoichiometric release of chloride ions. However, it was reported that low biodegradation of some monochlorophenol members (2-chlorophenol) was observed with a simultaneous low chloride ion quantity indicating that some low molecular derivatives of CBACs are poorly biodegradaed by yeasts strains. High biodegradation was observed both in 3-CP and 4-CP with an addition of phenol to the culture media indicating enhancement. Other intermediate products such as 4-chlorocatechol and maleylacetic acid were also reported as intermediate metabolites of 3-CP and 4-CP biodegradation using GC/MS analysis. The biodegradation of phenol, monochlorophenols, or CBACs derivatives by yeast strain (*Rhodotorula glutinis*) would release some

chloride ion (dechlorination) at the step between 4-chlorocatechol and maleylacetic acid formation (Katayama-Hirayama et al. 1994).

In another related study, another yeast strain was used by Jiang and his group to biodegrade phenol and 4-chlorophenol (4-CP). Following their study a CTM 2 mutant strain of Candida tropicalis was obtained by He-Ne laser irradiation from a wild-type Candida tropicalis strain. Their reports revealed that there is high degradability potential among the CTM 2 mutant strain Candida tropicalis in biodegrading 4-CP as up to 400 mg/L amount of substrate were degraded within 59.5 h. They further embarked on a dual-substrate biodegradation determination accessing both speed or velocity and capacity to degrade in the presence of phenol using the wide-type and the CTM 2 mutant strain. It was observed that high substrate 4-CP in a total of 4 mg/L was completely degraded within 50.5 h when 300 mg/L of phenol was added to the medium. Their laboratory also described the kinetics using a kinetic model which was proposed by their laboratory (Jiang et al. 2008). In addition to the multiple degradative potentials of yeast strains, its members have been applied in the expression of recombinant enzymes over the years, which investigators and researchers have employed for sustainable environmental protection. Apart from using the whole organism for bioremediation or biotransformation or biodegradation, the bio-products and genes from these groups of microbes are engineered into expression organisms and used for the degradation process. One notable organism that has been applied as an enzyme or gene expressing organism is the methylotrophic yeast, Pichia pastoris, which is classified under the family of Saccharomycetaceae. The organism was previously used by Philips Petroleum Company in the production of single-cell protein (SCP) from low-cost carbon sources (e.g., methanol) in animal feeds. Philips Petroleum Company and the Salk Institute of Biotechnology collaborated to prepare a heterologous gene expressing strain for industrial and academic or research purposes (Cos et al. 2006). The produced strain was then used for the expression and production of functional heterologous protein. P. pastoris is observed to possess several advantages as it is suitable for expressing from milligrams to grams of protein per liter of fermentation broth. Other capabilities of P. pastoris include noncomplexity of growth media, friendly culture conditions, ease in genetic manipulation or engineering, ease in controlling laboratory and industrial fermentation process such as aeration, pH, supplied carbon source amount and induction of protein production (Kyzeková et al. 2020).

12.13 Mechanism of Degradation of Chlorophenols by Actinomycetes

Several anaerobic bacteria have been reported to be associated with the breakdown of chlorophenols typical of such include pseudomonas sp. and actinomycetes. There are numerous and varying routes for the use of chlorophenolic compounds and their derivatives by various strains of bacteria including actinomycetes. Other groups involved in the process of microbial degradation include azotobacter spp. and alcaligenes sp. The mechanism of degradation involving actinomycetes has been explored. Basically, the enzymes that are concerned with the breakdown of chlorophenols are the same as those responsible for the conversion of related chloro aromatic compounds (Solyanikova and Golovleva 2004). Meta- and ortho routes modified have been shown to be involved in the catabolic degradation route of chlorophenols derivatives. Based on the mechanism of the reaction through this pathway, the chlorophenol undergoes hydroxylation during which chlorocatechol is formed, which is then subjected to a cleavage involving intradiol before the removal of the chlorine substituent. Some researchers have also reported the breakdown of polychorophenols through the pathway of chlorohydroquinone, however, the chlorosubstiuents have not shown to be removed before the fission reaction of the ring (Bae et al. 1996). One of the most remarkable pathways in the degradation of chlorophenols are the hydroxylquinol route. This pathway has been reported in various groups of microorganisms including actinomycetes, chlorophenolicus, pentachlrophenols, and flavobacterium (Xun et al. 1992). The major enzyme that is responsible for the opening of the ring of the aromatic chlorohydroxylquinol compound in this route is the hydroxyquinol1,2-dioxygenase. During this process, the enzyme brings about the catalysis of the splitting reaction of the aromatic ring resulting in a malevlacetate formation (Li et al. 1991).

Degradation of chlorinated contaminants such as chlorophenols by actinomycetes proceeds through the removal of the chloro group, which is the first major step. However, the conditions of the process are the major determining factor affecting the reaction mechanism. If the condition of the system is aerobic in nature, the degradation process was observed to initiate through the oxygenation of chlorocatechols and then the dechlorination processed only after the breakage of the ring of the chlorocatechols. The degradation of polychlorinated phenols commenced with a hydrolytic step of parahydroxylation giving rise to the formation parahydroquinone containing chlorine substitutes. The degradation process involving anaerobic conditions proceeds through dechlorination in a reduction step, during which chlorine groups are substituted with hydrogen (Wu et al. 2004).

Different studies have attempted to explore other pathways for the degradation of chlorophenols through the action of actinomycetes. Researchers have made significant progress in the investigation of other strains of bacteria or microorganisms that are capable of degrading these compounds apart from actinomycetes. Webb et al. (2001) reported that there are two major routes in the breakdown process. They identify the breakage of the ring resulting in the removal of the chlorine from the aliphatic intermediates. In the second step for the pathway, the metabolite, as well as the initial compound undergoes the process of dechlorination prior to the cleavage of the ring. Nakagawa et al. (2006) reported the use of two possible pathways of degradation by some other microorganisms such as Mortierella sp. The first pathways involve oxidation at the ortho position, which brings about the formation of two dichloroguaiacols compounds; in the next pathway chlorine removal occurs. The degradation of the compounds through a meta cleavage route has been established while some other study using different microorganisms for the degradation of chlorobenzene has been validated (Dong et al. 2011b).

One of the most investigated strains that use pentachlorophenol is of the genus sphingomonas and mycobacterium. Two major patterns have been reported to be used by aerobic bacteria in the biodegradation process of chlorophenols. Monooxygenases, an associated enzyme first attacks the lesser chlorinated phenols giving rise to the formation of chrolocatechols as the first intermediates (Field and Sierra-Alvarez 2008).

Various intermediates are known to be associated with the route of degradation of chlorophenols. The first intermediate in the actinomycetes degradation of is 2,4-DCP. There are different groups of bacteria that make use of 2,4-DCP as their major source of energy and carbon including *Pseudomonas* spp., *Rhodococucus* spp. among others. In a related study, Goswami et al. (2002) showed the possible removal of dichlorophenols using bacillus spp. cells that have been immobilized. The findings from their work showed that lower concentrations of the 2,4-DCP degraded faster, while the suspended and immobilized cells removed the higher contents of the 2,4-DCP at the same rate. The degradation of 2,4 dichlorophenols proceeds via the formation of the intermediate by the enzyme, 2,4-DCP acetate ketoglutarate. The mechanisms for the microbial degradation chlorophenols and their derivative compounds have been reported by various researchers. Some of the microorganism that has been reported includes *Candida* spp., Actinomycetes among others.

Investigated the degradation processes of bromophenol alongside chlorophenols in a batch process using actinomycetes strains. A mixed substrate system was employed in performing testing the process of biodegradation. The findings from the study showed that inhibition of the biodegradation process was not caused by the presence of chlorophenols in low contents. The degradation of bromophenol by actinomycetes was faster than that of chlorophenols. The kinetics studies reveal a strong negative association of chlorophenol biodegradation with that of bromophenol by the organism.

In a study, Bjerketorp et al. (2018) worked on the remediation of soil samples contaminated with dichlorophenols to remove this contaminant through the use of chlorophenolius. They target at formulating a product based on this investigation which could be produced subsequently on a larger scale. They investigated the microbial degrading capacity in both controlled and open environment.

Nowak and Mrozik (2018) carried out a study aimed at the microbial degradation of chlorophenols. They assessed the effect of soil bioaugumentation with *Pseudomonas* spp. and *Stenotrophomonas* spp. with the addition of other sources of carbons such as sodium benzoate. Determination of functional and morphological diversity of various communities of the soil was carried out. It was observed that inoculation with single *Pseudomonas* spp. was most efficient in aiding the biodegradation process. Their results also showed that soil augmentation also enhanced the functionality and diversity of the soil microbial community.

Fuentes et al. (2010) in their study carried out an examination of chlorophenol and organochlorine pesticides in contaminated soil. They did isolation of actinomycetes that were indigenous to the affected soil and carried out an evaluation of the growth of bacteria and the removal of the pesticide. The findings showed that most of the strains of microorganisms were of the group of *Streptomyces* spp. while one of them was of the group known as micromonospora. The growth of the bacteria was observed to be dependent on the different microorganisms present as well as the nature of the various pesticides (such as lindane and methoxychlor) that were also present. From the microbial remediation of the pesticide using the bacteria, it was observed that the uppermost development and removal efficiency was detected with chlordane. Out of the various strains assessed, a majority (12 from a total of 18) produced chloride, which was released into the supernatants of the culture. These percentages were higher with chlordane than methoxychlor as a source of carbon.

12.14 Health Implications of Chlorophenols

Various studies have highlighted the negative health impact of chlorophenols and their by-products such as dioxins in the environment. Generally, there are many industrial applications of chlorophenols, particularly in the manufacturing industries. Igbinosa et al. (2013) revealed that chlorophenols are utilized by many agro, pharmaceutical industries for the manufacturing of biocides, dyes, and vanishes, and found ways into the environment causing harmful effects, thus must be rapidly eliminated from the environments. Many of the chemical and thermal methods utilized are not so effective in the biodegradation of these toxicants resulting in the formation of toxic compounds. The authors demonstrated that these compounds can be mutagenic, genotoxic plus carcinogenic. Adeola (2018) revealed that chlorophenols are ubiquitous toxic compounds released into the environment from different industrial systems. In humans, it is known to cause detrimental effects through its secondary metabolites such as histopathological changes, mutagenicity, genotoxicity, plus carcinogenicity.

Wang et al. (2000a, b) revealed that chlorophenols can generate dilibeterous effects through the production of electrophilic secondary metabolites with pathogenic effects on the genes or DNA resulting in DNA base oxidation or single/doublestrand breaks, reduction in antioxidant defense system with increased generation of reactive oxygen species through Fenton reaction. The neurotoxic, teratogenic, immunosuppressive, hepatotoxic plus cytotoxic effects have also been reported. Ge et al. (2017) briefly commented on the role of chlorophenols from various industrial and agro industries on aquatic organisms. It was reported that these compounds are difficult to degrade thus could accumulate in the system causing chronic or acute toxicity in any individual that consumes such aquatic organisms. The authors demonstrated the effects on fish and the potential toxic pathways through reactive oxygen species and DNA damage via lipid peroxidation and suppression of the host antioxidant defense system. Physiologically, it is revealed that the immune system is altered through a couple of macrophages and B cell suppression and downregulating the phagocytotic functions. Other physiological mechanisms involve hormone disruption, alteration in gene expression, downregulation of receptor/hormone system, cell proliferation, mutations, apoptosis induction, epigenetic DNA methylation, and genotoxicity.

12.15 Conclusion and Future Recommendations

From the foregoing, microbial degradation of CBACs and its derivatives has shown a particular template of action with little deviation associated with the attached groups (alkyl, amino, nitro, etc.). The specie specific or target specific usage of the bio-products in the form of immobilized enzymes or immobilized biocatalyst has shown few reports probably due to the poor or inappropriate understanding of their mechanism of action and poor applicability. This may be attributed to the activity of some of the enzymes, which are active at either aerobic condition or anaerobic condition. The need for further studies as regards the anaerobic application of the microorganisms and their enzymes in biodegradation is apt. In addition, the application of nanotechnology with whole microbial cells and nano-enzymology remains an under-explored area in global research.

References

- Abruscia C, Marquinaa D, Del Amob A, Catalina F (2007) Biodegradation of cinematographic gelatin emulsion by bacteria and filamentous fungi using indirect impedance technique. Int Biodeterior Biodegrad 60:137–114
- Adeola AO (2018) Fate and toxicity of chlorinated phenols of environmental implications: a review. Med Anal Chem Int J 2(4):1–8. https://doi.org/10.23880/macij-16000126
- Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry (ATSDR) (1999) Toxicological profile for chlorophenols. U.S Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, Atlanta, GA
- Apajalahti JHA, Salkinoja-Salonen MS (1986) Degradation of polychlorinated phenols by Rhodococcus chlorophenolicus. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 25:62–67
- Arensdorf JJ, Focht DD (1994) Formation of chlorocatechol meta cleavage products by a pseudomonad during metabolism of monochlorobiphenyls. Appl Environ Microbiol 60(8):2884–2889
- Armenante PM, Kafkewitz D, Lewandowski GA, Jou CJ (1999) Anaerobic–aerobic treatment of halogenated phenolic compounds. Water Res 33:681–692
- Arora PK, Bae H (2014) Bacterial degradation of chlorophenols and their derivatives. Microb Cell Factories 13:31. http://www.microbialcellfactories.com/content/13/1/31. https://doi.org/10. 1186/1475-2859-13-31
- Arora PK, Sharma A, Mehta R, Shenoy BD, Srivastava A, Singh VP (2012) Metabolism of 4-chloro-2-nitrophenol in a gram-positive bacterium, Exiguobacterium sp. PMA. Microb Cell Fact 11:150
- Arora PK, Srivastava A, Singh VP (2013) Novel degradation pathway of 4-chloro-2-aminophenol via 4-chlorocatechol in *Burkholderia* sp. RKJ 800. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int 21:2298. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s11356-013-2167-y
- Arora PK, Srivastava A, Singh V (2014) Novel degradation pathway of 2-chloro-4-aminophenol in Arthrobacter sp. SPG. PeerJ PrePrints 2:e194v1. https://doi.org/10.7287/peerj.preprints.194v1
- ATSDR (2007) CERCLA priority list of hazardous substances. https://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/spl/ previous/07list.html. Accessed 4 Dec 2017
- Bae HS, Lee JM, Lee S-T (1996) Biodegradation of 4-chlorophenol via a hydroquinone pathway by Arthrobacter ureafaciens CPR706. FEMS Microbiol Lett 145:125–129
- Bae H-S, Yamagishi T, Suwa Y (2002) Evidence for degradation of 2-chlorophenol by enrichment cultures under denitrifying conditions. Microbiology 148:221–227

- Basfar AA, Muneer M, Alsager OA (2017) Degradation and detoxification of 2-chlorophenol aqueous solutions using ionizing gamma radiation. Nukleonika 62(1):61–68. https://doi.org/ 10.1515/nuka-2017-0008
- Bernats M, Juhna T (2015) Factors governing degradation of phenol in pharmaceutical wastewater by white-rot fungi: a batch study. Open Biotechnol J 9(Suppl 1-M10):93–99
- Beveridge AJ, Ollis DL (1995) A theoretical study of substrate-induced activation of dienelactone hydrolase. Protein Eng 8:135–142
- Bjerketorp J, Röling WFM, Feng X et al (2018) Formulation and stabilization of an Arthrobacter strain with good storage stability and 4-chlorophenol-degradation activity for bioremediation. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 102:2031–2040. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-017-8706-6
- Blanquez P, Guieysse B (2008) Continuous biogradation of 17-estradiol and 17-ethynylestradiol by Trametes versicolor. J Hazard Mater 150:459–462
- Blin K, Medema MH, Kazempour D, Fischbach MA, Breitling R, Takano E et al (2013) antiSMASH 2.0—A versatile platform for genome mining of secondary metabolite producers. Nucleic Acids Res 41:W204–W212
- Boersma MG, Solyanikova IP, van Berkel WJH, Vervoort J, Golovleva LA, Rietjens IMCMFNMR (2001) Metabolomics for the elucidation of microbial degradation pathways of fluorophenols. A review of previously and newly identified resonances and intermediates. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 26:22–34
- Boyd SA, Shelton DR (1984) Anaerobic biodegradation of chlorophenols in fresh and acclimated sludge. Appl Environ Microbiol 47:272–277
- Buitron G, Gonzalez A, Lopen-Marin LM (1998) Biodegradation of phenolic compounds by an acclimated activated sludge and isolated bacteria. Water Sci Technol 37:371–378
- Bumpus JA, Tien M, Wright D, Aust SD (1985) Oxidation of persistent environmental pollutants by a white rot fungus. Science 228:1434–1436
- Cameron M, Timofeevski S, Aust S (2000) Enzymology of *Phanerochaete chrysosporium* with respect to the degradation of recalcitrant compounds and xenobiotics. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 54:751–758
- Cases I, de Lorenzo V (2005) Genetically modified organisms for the environment: stories of success and failure and what we have learned from them. Int Microbiol 8:213–222
- Cheah E, Austin C, Ashley GW, Ollis D (1993) Substrate-induced activation of dienelactone hydrolase: an enzyme with a naturally occurring Cys-His-Asp triad. Protein Eng 6:575–583
- Chenprakhon P, Wongnate T, Chaiyen P (2019) Monooxygenation of aromatic compounds by flavin-dependent monooxygenases. Protein Sci 28:8–29
- Christiansen N, Hendriksen HV, Jarvinen KT, Ahring BK (1995) Degradation of chlorinated aromatic compounds in UASB reactors. Water Sci Technol 31:249–259
- Conesa HM, Evangelou MVH, Robinson BH, Schulin R (2012) A critical view of current state of phytotechnologies to remediate soils: still a promising tool? ScientificWorldJournal 2012:173829
- Cos O, Ramón R, Montesinos JL et al (2006) Operational strategies, monitoring and control of heterologous protein production in the methylotrophic yeast *Pichia pastoris* under different promoters: a review. Microb Cell Factories 5:17. https://doi.org/10.1186/1475-2859-5-17
- Degradation Mechanism of 2,4-Dichlorophenol by Fungi Isolated from Marine Invertebrates. International journal of molecular sciences, 21(9), 3317. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21093317
- Diez MC (2010) Biological aspects of organic pollutants degradation. Biological aspects involved in the degradation of organic pollutants. J Soil Sci Plant Nutr 10(3):244–267
- Dong Y, Hu X, He Y, Li L (2011a) Biodegradation of O-chlorophenol by Rhodopseudomonas Palustris PSB-1D and optimization of cometabolism substrates. In: International conference on computer distributed control and intelligent environmental monitoring, pp 408–412. https://doi. org/10.1109/CDCIEM.2011.441
- Dong YH, Hu XM, He YD, Li L (2011b) [Biodegradation of o-chlorophenol by photosynthetic bacteria under co-metabolism]. Ying Yong Sheng Tai Xue Bao 22:1280–1286

- Durruty I, Okada E, González JF, Murialdo SE (2011) Degradation of chlorophenol mixtures in a fed-batch system by two soil bacteria. Water SA 37(4). https://doi.org/10.4314/wsa.v37i4.13
- Dwyer DF, Krumme ML, Boyd SA, Tiedje JM (1986) Kinetics of phenol biodegradation by an immobilized methanogenic consortium. Appl Environ Microbiol 52:345–351
- Ellouze M, Sayadi S (2016) White-rot fungi and their enzymes as a biotechnological tool for xenobiotic bioremediation. https://doi.org/10.5772/64145. Available at: https://www. intechopen.com/books/management-of-hazardous-wastes/white-rot-fungiand-theirenzymes-as-a-biotechnological-tool-forxenobiotic-bioremediation
- Evan CS, Hedger JN (2001) Degradation of plant cell wall polymers. In: Gadd GM (ed) Fungi in bioremediation, vol 23. Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, pp 1–26
- Farrell A, Quilty B (2002) Substrate-dependent autoaggregation of *Pseudomonas putida* CP1 during the degradation of mono-chlorophenols and phenol. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 28:316–324
- Fetzner S, Lingens F (1994) Bacterial dehalogenases: biochemistry, genetics, and biotechnological applications. Microbiol Rev 58:641–685
- Field JA, Sierra-Alvarez R (2008) Microbial degradation of chlorinated phenols. Rev Environ Sci Biotechnol 7:211–241.
- Fritsche W, Hofrichter M (2005) Aerobic degradation of recalcitrant organic compounds by microorganisms. In: Jördening H-J, Winter J (eds) Environmental biotechnology: concepts and applications. Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA, Weinheim, FRG. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/3527604286.ch7
- Fuentes MS, Benimeli CS, Cuozzo SA, Amoroso MJ (2010) Isolation of pesticide-degrading actinomycetes from a contaminated site: bacterial growth, removal and dechlorination of organochlorine pesticides. Int Biodeterior Biodegradation 64(6):434–441. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.ibiod.2010.05.001
- Furukawa K (2006) Oxygenases and dehalogenases: molecular approaches to efficient degradation of chlorinated environmental pollutants. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem 70:2335–2348
- Ge T, Han J, Qi Y, Gu X, Ma L, Zhang C, Naeem S, Huang D (2017) The toxic effects of chlorophenols and associated mechanisms in fish. Aquat Toxicol 184:78–93
- Goodfellow M, Kampfer P, Busse HJ, Trujillo ME, Suzuki K, Ludwig W et al (2012) Bergey's manual of systematic bacteriology. In: The actinobacteria, part A and B, vol 5, 2nd edn. Springer, New York
- Golovleva LA, Zaborina O, Pertsova R, Baskunov B, Schurukhin Y, Kuzmin S (1992) Degradation of polychlorinated phenols by Streptomyces rochei 303. Biodegradation 2:201–208
- Goswami M, Shivaraman N, Singh RP (2002) Kinetics of chlorophenol degradation by benzoateinduced culture of Rhodococcus erythropolis M1. World J Microbiol Biotechnol 18:779–783
- Guo R, Liang X, Chen J, Wu W, Zhang Q, Martens D, Kettrup A (2004) Prediction of soil organic carbon partition coefficients by soil column liquid chromatography. J Chromatogr A 1035:31–36
- Guyton KZ, Loomis D, Grosse Y, El Ghissassi F, Bouvard V, Benbrahim-Tallaa L, Guha N, Mattock H, Straif K (2016) Carcinogenicity of pentachlorophenol and some related compounds. Lancet Oncol 17:1637–1638
- Häggblom M (1990) Mechanisms of bacterial degradation and transformation of chlorinated monoaromatic compounds. J Basic Microbiol 30(2):115–141
- Häggblom MM (1992) Microbial breakdown of halogenated aromatic pesticides and related compounds. FEMS Microbiol Rev 103:28–72
- Harwood CS, Parales RE (1996) The beta-ketoadipate pathway and the biology of self-identity. Annu Rev Microbiol 50:553–590
- Hayaishi O (1969) Nature and mechanism of oxygenases. Science 164:389-396
- Hentschel U, Piel J, Degnan SM, Taylor MW (2012) Genomic insights into the marine sponge microbiome. Nat Rev Microbiol 10:641–654. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro2839
- Horowitz A, Suflita JM, Tiedje JM (1983) Reductive dehalogenations of halobenzoates by anaerobic lake sediment microorganisms. Appl Environ Microbiol 45:1459–1465

- Hou J, Liu F, Wu N, Ju J, Yu B (2016) Efficient biodegradation of chlorophenols in aqueous phase by magnetically immobilized aniline-degrading Rhodococcus rhodochrous strain. J Nanobiotechnol 14:5. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12951-016-0158-0
- Igbinosa EO, Odjadjare EE, Chigor VN, Igbinosa IH, Emoghene AO, Ekhaise FO, Igiehon NO, Idemudia OG (2013) Toxicological profile of chlorophenols and their derivatives in the environment: the public health perspective. Sci World J 2013:460215, 11 p. https://doi.org/10.1155/ 2013/460215
- Igbinosa EO, Odjadjare EE, Chigor VN, Igbinosa IH, Emoghene AO, Ekhaise FO, Igiehon NO, Idemudia OG (2013) Toxicological profile of chlorophenols and their derivatives in the environment: the public health perspective. Sci World J 2013:460215. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/ 460215. PMID: 23690744; PMCID: PMC3649668
- Itoh K, Fujita M, Kumano K, Suyama K, Yamamoto H (2000) Phenolic acids affect transformations of chlorophenols by a Coriolus versicolor laccase. Soil Biol Biochem 32:85–91
- Ivanciuc T, Ivanciuc O, Douglas JK (2006) Prediction of environmental properties for chlorophenols with posetic quantitative super-structure/property relationships (QSSPR). Int J Mol Sci 7:358–374
- Jame SA, Rashidul Alam AKM, Fakhruddin ANM, Alam MK (2010) Degradation of phenol by mixed culture of locally isolated *Pseudomonas* species. J Bioremed Biodegr 1:102. https://doi. org/10.4172/2155-6199.1000102
- Janke D, Al-Mofarji T, Schukat B (1988a) Critical steps in degradation of chloroaromatics by rhodococci. II. Whole-cell turnover of different monochloroaromatic nongrowth substrates by Rhodococcus sp. An 117 and An 213 in the absence/presence of glucose. J Basic Microbiol 28:519–528
- Janke D, Al-Mofarji T, Straube G, Schumann P, Prauser H (1988b) Critical steps in degradation of chloroaromatics by rhodococci. I. Initial enzyme reactions involved in catabolism of aniline, phenol and benzoate by Rhodococcus sp. An 117 and An 213. J Basic Microbiol 28:509–518
- Jannat MAH, Lee J, Shin SG, Hwang S (2021) Long-term enrichment of anaerobic propionateoxidizing consortia: syntrophic culture development and growth optimization. J Hazard Mater 401(2021):123230. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2020.123230
- Jiang Y, Ren NQ, Cai X, Wu D, Qiao LY, Lin S (2008) Biodegradation of phenol and 4-chlorophenol by the mutant strain CTM 2. Chin J Chem Eng 16:796
- Kalaitzis JA, Lauro FM, Neilan BA (2009) Mining cyanobacterial genomes for genes encoding complex biosynthetic pathways. Nat Prod Rep 26:1447–1465
- Kaschabek SR, Kasberg T, Müller D, Mars AE, Janssen DB, Reineke W (1998) Degradation of chloroaromatics: purification and characterization of a novel type of chlorocatechol 2,3-dioxygenase of *Pseudomonas putida* GJ31. J Bacteriol 180:296–302
- Kasai D, Fujinami T, Abe T, Mase K, Katayama Y, Fukuda M et al (2009) Uncovering the protocatechuate 2,3-cleavage pathway genes. J Bacteriol 191:6758–6768
- Katayama-Hirayama K, Tobita S, Hirayama K (1994) Biodegradation of phenol and monochlorophenols by yeast Rhodotorula glutinis. Water Sci Technol 30:59
- Kennes C, Wu WM, Bhatnagar L, Zeikus JG (1996) Anaerobic dechlorination and mineralization of pentachlorophenol and 2,4,6-trichlorophenol by methanogenic pentachlorophenol-degrading granules. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 44(6):801–806
- Kim J-H, Kyung-Keun O, Lee S-T, Kim S-W, Hong S-I (2002) Biodegradation of phenol and chlorophenols with defined mixed culture in shake-flasks and a packed bed reactor. Process Biochem 37:1367–1373
- Kiyohara H, Hatta T, Ogawa Y, Kakuta T, Yokoyama H, Takizava N (1992) Isolation of Pseudomonas pickettii strains that degrade 2,4,6-trichlorophenol and their dechlorination of chlorophenols. Appl Environ Microbiol 58:1276–1283
- Knackmuss HJ, Hellwig M (1978) Utilization and cooxidation of chlorinated phenols by Pseudomonas sp B-13. Arch Microbiol 117:1–7
- Konovalova EI, Solyanikova IP, Golovleva LA (2009) Degradation of 4-chlorophenol by the bacterium *Rhodococcus opacus* 6a. Microbiol (Moscow, Engl Transl) 78(6):805–807

- Kopytko M, Chalela G, Zauscher F (2002) Biodegradation of two commercial herbicides (Gramoxone and Matancha) by the bacteria *Pseudomonas putida*. EJB Electron J Biotechnol 5(2):182–195
- Kumar M, León V, De Sisto Materano A, Ilzins OA, Luis L (2008) Biosurfactant production and hydrocarbon degradation by halotolerant and thermotolerant *Pseudomonas* sp. World J Microbiol Biotechnol 24(7):1047–1057
- Kumar S, Neeraj, Mishra VK, Karn SK (2018) Biodegradation of phenol by free and immobilized Candida tropicalis NPD1401. Afr J Biotechnol 17(3):57–64. https://doi.org/10.5897/AJB2017. 15906
- Kyzeková T, Krasňan V, Rebroš M (2020) Pichia pastoris—recombinant enzyme producent for environment treatment—review. Acta Chim Slov 13(1):108–118. https://doi.org/10.2478/acs-2020-0016
- Lamar RT, Evans JW, Glaser JA (1993) Solid-phase treatment of a pentachlorophenolcontaminated soil using lignin-degrading fungi. Environ Sci Technol 27:2566–2571
- Lamar RT, Davis MW, Dietrich DM, Glaser JA (1994) Treatment of a pentachlorophenol- and creosote-contaminated soil using the lignin-degrading fungus *Phanerochaete sordida*: a field demonstration. Soil Biol Biochem 26:1603–1611
- Lee J-Y, Xun L (1997) Purification and characterization of 2,6-dichlorop-hydroquinone chlorohydrolase from Flavobacterium sp. strain ATCC 39723. J Bacteriol 179:1521–1524
- Li DY, Eberspächer J, Wagner B, Kuntzer J, Lingens F (1991) Degradation of 2,4,6-trichlorophenol by Azotobacter sp. strain GP1. Appl Environ Microbiol 57:1920–1928
- Liu Z, Yang C, Qiao C (2007) Biodegradation of p-nitrophenol and 4-chlorophenol by Stenotrophomonas sp. FEMS Microbiol Lett 277:150–156
- Manjarrez Paba G, Baldiris Ávila R, Baena Baldiris D (2021) Application of environmental bacteria as potential methods of azo dye degradation systems. Glob J Environ Sci Manag 7(1):1–24. https://doi.org/10.22034/gjesm.2021.01.0
- Mars AE, Kasberg T, Kaschabek SR, van Agteren MH, Janssen DB, Reineke W (1997) Microbial degradation of chloroaromatics: use of the meta-cleavage pathway for mineralization of chlorobenzene. J Bacteriol 179:4530–4537
- Menke B, Rehm HJ (1992) Degradation of mixtures of monochlorophenols and phenol as substrates for free and immobilized cells of Alcaligenes sp. A7–2. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 37:655–661
- Mileski GJ, Bumpus JA, Jurek MA, Aust SD (1988) Biodegradation of pentachlorophenol by white rot fungus *Phanerochaete chrysosporium*. Appl Environ Microbiol 54(12):2885–2889
- Mohanty SS, Jena HM (2017) Biodegradation of phenol by free and immobilized cells of a novel *Pseudomonas* sp. NBM11. Braz J Chem Eng 34(1):75–84. https://doi.org/10.1590/0104-6632. 20170341s20150388
- Muller F, Caillard L (2011) Chlorophenols. In: Ullmann's encyclopedia of industrial chemistry. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., Weinheim. https://doi.org/10.1002/14356007.a07_001.pub2
- Murialdo SE, Fenoglio R, Haure PM, González JF (2003) Degradation of phenol and chlorophenols by mixed and pure cultures. Water SA 29(4):457–464
- Murthy NBK, Kaufman DD, Fries GF (2008) Degradation of pentachlorophenol (PCP) in aerobic and anaerobic soil. J Environ Sci Health B 14:1–14. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 03601237909372110
- Nakagawa A, Osawa S, Hirata T, Yamagishi Y, Hosoda J, Horikoshi T (2006) 2,4-Dichlorophenol degradation by the soil fungus *Mortierella* sp. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem 70:525–527
- Nawaz K, Hussain K, Choudary N, Majeed A, Ilyas U, Ghani A, Lin F, Ali K, Afghan S, Raza G, Lashari MI (2011) Eco-friendly role of biodegradation against agricultural pesticides hazards. Afr J Microbiol Res 5(3):177–183. http://www.academicjournals.org/ajmr. https://doi.org/10. 5897/AJMR10.375
- Nikodem P, Hecht V, Schlömann M, Pieper DH (2003) New bacterial pathway for 4- and 5-chlorosalicylate degradation via 4-chlorocatechol and maleylacetate in *Pseudomonas* sp. strain MT1. J Bacteriol 185(23):6790–6800

- Nikolaivits E, Agrafiotis A, Baira E, Le Goff G, Tsafantakis N, Chavanich SA, Benayahu Y, Ouazzani J, Fokialakis N, Topakas E (2020) Degradation mechanism of 2,4-dichlorophenol by fungi isolated from marine invertebrates. Int J Mol Sci 21(9):3317. https://doi.org/10.3390/ ijms21093317
- Nordin K, Unell M, Jansson JK (2005) Novel 4-chlorophenol degradation gene cluster and degradation route via hydroxyquinol in Arthrobacter chlorophenolicus A6. Appl Environ Microbiol 71(11):6538–6544
- Nowak A, Mrozik A (2018) Degradation of 4-chlorophenol and microbial diversity in soil inoculated with single Pseudomonas sp. CF600 and Stenotrophomonas maltophilia KB2. J Environ Manag 215:216–229. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2018.03.052
- Núñez-Gaytán AM, Vera-Avila LE, De Llasera MG, Covarrubias-Herrera R (2010) Speciation and transformation pathways of chlorophenols formed from chlorination of phenol at trace level concentration. J Environ Sci Health A Toxic Hazard Subst Environ Eng 45(10):1217–1226. https://doi.org/10.1080/10934529.2010.493785
- Okeke BC, Paterson A, Smith JE, Watson-Craik IA (1997) Comparative biotransformation of pentachlorophenol in soils by solid substrate cultures of *Lentinula edodes*. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 48:563–569
- Olaniran AO, Igbinosa EO (2011) Chlorophenols and other related derivatives of environmental concern: properties, distribution and microbial degradation processes. Chemosphere 83 (10):1297–1306. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2011.04.009. Epub 2011 Apr 30. PMID: 21531434
- Olano C, Méndez C, Salas JA (2009) Antitumor compounds from marine actinomycetes. Mar Drugs 7(2):210–248. https://doi.org/10.3390/md7020210
- Patel RN, Mazumdar S, Ornston LN (1975) Beta-ketoadipate enol-lactone hydrolases I and II from *Acinetobacter calcoaceticus*. J Biol Chem 250:6567
- Patel BP, Kumar A (2016) Multi-substrate biodegradation of chlorophenols by defined microbial consortium. 3 Biotech 6:191. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13205-016-0511-x
- Pathak D, Ollis D (1990) Refined structure of dienelactone hydrolase at 18 Å. J Mol Biol 214:497–525
- Pera-Titus M, García-Molina V, Baños MA, Giménez J, Esplugas S (2004) Degradation of chlorophenols by means of advanced oxidation processes: a general review. Appl Catal B Environ 47(4):219–256
- Pimviriyakul P, Wongnate T, Tinikul R, Chaiyen P (2020) Microbial degradation of halogenated aromatics: molecular mechanisms and enzymatic reactions. Microb Biotechnol 13(1):67–86. https://doi.org/10.1111/1751-7915.13488
- Pornsuwan S, Maenpuen S, Kamutira P, Watthaisong P, Thotsaporn K, Tongsook C et al (2017) 3,4-dihydroxyphenylacetate 2,3-dioxygenase from *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*: an Fe(II)containing enzyme with fast turnover. PLoS One 12:e0171135
- Pramila R, Padmavathy K, Ramesh KV, Mahalakshmi K (2012) Brevibacillus parabrevis, Acinetobacter baumannii and Pseudomonas citronellolis—potential candidates for biodegradation of low density polyethylene (LDPE). J Bacteriol Res 4(1):9–14
- Pritchard PH, O'Neill EJ, Spain CM, Ahern DJ (1987) Physical and biological parameters that determine the fate of p-chlorophenol in laboratory test systems. Appl Environ Microbiol 53:1833–1838
- Reddy GVB, Joshi DK, Gold MH (1997) Degradation of chlorophenoxyacetic acids by the lignindegrading fungus Dichornitus squalens. Microbiology 143:2353–2360
- Rubilar O, Tortella G, Cea M, Acevedo F, Bustamante M, Gianfreda L, Diez MC (2011) Bioremediation of a Chilean Andisol contaminated with pentachlorophenol (PCP) by solid substrate cultures of white rot fungi. Biodegradation 22:31–41
- Ruzgas T, Emneus J, Gorton L, Marko VG (1995) The development of a peroxidase biosensor for monitoring phenol and related aromatic compounds. Anal Chem Acta 31:245–253

- Sandhibigraha S, Chakraborty S, Bandyopadhyay T, Bhunia B (2019) A kinetic study of 4-chlorophenol biodegradation by the novel isolated *Bacillus subtilis* in batch shake flask. Environ Eng Res 25(1):62–70
- Schlömann M (1994) Evolution of chlorocatechol catabolic pathways. Biodegradation 5:301-321
- Seeger M, Hernández M, Méndez V, Ponce B, Córdova M, González M (2010) Bacterial degradation and bioremediation of chlorinated herbicides and biphenyls. J Soil Sci Plant Nutr 10 (3):320–332
- Seo JK, Ki-Joon J, Young-Kwon P, Sangmin J, Heon L, Sang-Chul J (2017) Improving removal of 4-chlorophenol using a TiO2 photocatalytic system with microwave and ultraviolet tradition. Catal Today 293–294:15–22
- Smith JA, Novak JT (1987) Biodegradation of chlorinated phenols in subsurface soils. Water Air Soil Pollut 33:29–42
- Sofer SS, Lewandowski GA, Lodaya MP, Lakhwala FS, Yang KC, Singh M (1990) Biodegradation of 2-chlorophenol using immobilized activated sludge. Res J Water Pollut Control Fed 62:73–80
- Solyanikova IP, Golovleva LA (2004) Bacterial degradation of chlorophenols: pathways, biochemica, and genetic aspects. J Environ Sci Health B 39(3):333–351. https://doi.org/10. 1081/PFC-120035921
- Solyanikova I, Golovleva L (2011) Biochemical features of the degradation of pollutants by Rhodococcus as a basis for contaminated wastewater and soil cleanup. Mikrobiologiia 80 (5):579–594
- Takizawa N, Yokoyama H, Yanagihara K, Hatta T, Kiyohara H (1995) A locus of Pseudomonas pickettii DTP0602, had, that encodes 2,4,6-trichlorophenol 4-dechlorinase with hydroxylase activity, and hydroxylation of various chlorophenols by the enzyme. J Ferment Bioeng 80:318–326
- Thwaites JM, Farrell RL, Duncan SD, Lamar RT, White RB (2006) Fungal based remediation: treatment of PCP contaminated soil in New Zealand. In: Singh SN (ed) Environmental bioremediation technologies. Springer, New York, pp 465–479
- Timothy GL, Suflita JM, James MT (1989) Characterization of the acclimation period before anaerobic dehalogenation of halobenzoates. Appl Environ Microbiol 55:2773–2778
- Tum PK, Kariuki DK (2020) Photocatalytic degradation of 4-chlorophenol by titanium dioxide: role of annealing temperature and morphology. J Appl Sci Environ Manage 24(1):5–12
- Vallecillo A, Garcia-Encina PA, Pena M (1999) Anaerobic biodegradability and toxicity of chlorophenols. Water Sci Technol 40:161–168
- Valli K, Gold MH (1991) Degradation of 2,4-dichlorophenol by the lignin-degrading fungus *Phanerochaete chrysosponum*. J Bacteriol 173:345–352
- van Leeuwen JA, Nicholson BC, Hayes KP, Mulcahy DE (1997) Degradation of chlorophenolic compounds by *Trichoderma harzianum* isolated from Lake Bonney, south-eastern South Australia. Environ Toxicol Water Qual 12:335–342
- Veenagayathri K, Vasudevan N (2013) Degradation of 4-Chlorophenol by a moderately halophilic bacterial consortium under saline conditions. Br Microbiol Res J 3(4):513–524
- Walker JD, Colwell RR, Vaituzis Z, Meyer SA (1975) Petroleum-degrading achlorophyllous alga Protothecazopfi. Nature (London) 254:423–424
- Wang CC, Lee CM, Kuan CH (2000a) Removal of 2,4-dichlorophenol by suspended and immobilized Bacillus insolitus. Chemosphere 41(3):447–452
- Wang YJ, Ho YS, Jeng JH, Su HJ, Lee CC (2000b) Different cell death mechanisms and gene expression in human cells induced by pentachlorophenol and its major metabolite, tetrachlorohydroquinone. Chem Biol Interact 128(3):173–188
- Wang J, Ma X, Liu S, Sun P, Fan P, Xia C (2012) Biodegradation of phenol and 4-chlorophenol by Candida tropicalis W1. Procedia Environ Sci 16:299–303
- Webb MD, Ewbank G, Perkins J, McCarthy AJ (2001) Metabolism of pentachlorophenol by *Saccharomonospora viridis* strains isolated from mushroom compost. Soil Biol Biochem 33:1903–1914

- Weisshaar MP, Franklin FC, Reineke W (1987) Molecular cloning and expression of the 3-chlorobenzoate-degrading genes from *Pseudomonas* sp. strain B13. J Bacteriol 169 (1):394–402
- Wen JP, Li HM, Bai J, Jiang Y (2006) Biodegradation of 4-chlorophenol by *Candida albicans* PDY-07 under anaerobic conditions. Chinese J Chem Eng 14:790–795
- Wieser M, Wagner B, Eberspächer J, Lingens F (1997) Purification and characterization of 2,4,6trichlorophenol-4-monooxygenase, a dehalogenating enzyme from Azotobacter sp. strain GP1. J Bacteriol 179:202–208
- Wiggings BA, Jones SH, Alexander MA (1987) Explanations for the acclimation period preceding the mineralization of organic chemicals in aquatic environments. Appl Environ Microbiol 53:791–796
- Westmeier F, Rehm H-J (1987) Degradation of 4-chlorophenol in municipal wastewater by adsorptive immobilized *Alcaligenes* sp. A7–2. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 26:78–83
- Wu G, Xu H, Jiang M (2004) Biodegradation of chlorophenols: a review. Chem J Internet 6 (10):60–67
- Xun L, Topp E, Orser CS (1992) Purification and characterization of a tetrachloro-p-hydroquinone reductive dehalogenase from a *Flavobacterium* sp. J Bacteriol 174:8003–8007
- Ye F-X, Shen D-S (2004) Acclimation of anaerobic sludge degrading chlorophenols and the biodegradation kinetics during acclimation period. Chemosphere 54:1573–1580
- Yordanova G, Godjevargova T, Nenkova R, Ivanova D (2013) Biodegradation of phenol and phenolic derivatives by a mixture of immobilized cells of Aspergillus Awamori and Trichosporon Cutaneum. Biotechnol Biotechnol Equip 27(2):3681–3688. https://doi.org/10. 5504/BBEQ.2013.0003
- Yum KJ, Peirce JJ (1998) Biodegradation kinetics of chlorophenols in immobilized-cell reactors using a white-rot fungus on wood chips. Water Environ Res 70:205–213



Microbial Degradation of Proteins

13

Moises Bustamante-Torres, David Romero-Fierro, Jocelyne Estrella-Nuñez, and Emilio Bucio

Abstract

Proteins are biomolecules fundamental for the life. The 20 amino acid essentials build the essential proteins that encode the genes from the DNA. The peptide bond is formed between the carboxylic acid and amine groups. In contrast, the process by which the proteins are degraded is known as proteolysis by enzymes called peptidases, ubiquitin, and lysosomes. Proteolysis is an irreversible change that affects the functionality of the protein. Specifically, bacteria and fungi have reported a huge source of proteolytic enzymes. Likewise, external factors as pH, temperature, carbon and nitrogen sources and metal ions play important roles during proteolysis. These factors could either enhance or reduce the enzymatic rate (kinetics) and their enzyme yield. This chapter describes the degradation of proteins related to several species of microorganisms as a source of proteolytic enzymes as well as a wide range of applications approached into industrial and biotechnological like pharmaceuticals and bioremediation.

M. Bustamante-Torres (🖂)

D. Romero-Fierro · J. Estrella-Nuñez

E. Bucio

Biomedical Engineering Department, School of Biological and Engineering, Yachay Tech University, Urcuqui City, Ecuador

Department of Radiation Chemistry and Radiochemistry, Institute of Nuclear Sciences, National Autonomous University of Mexico, Mexico City, Mexico e-mail: moises.bustamante@yachaytech.edu.ec

Chemistry Department, School of Chemical and Engineering, Yachay Tech University, Urcuqui City, Ecuador

Department of Radiation Chemistry and Radiochemistry, Institute of Nuclear Sciences, National Autonomous University of Mexico, Mexico City, Mexico

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 Inamuddin et al. (eds.), *Recent Advances in Microbial Degradation*, Environmental and Microbial Biotechnology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-0518-5_13

Keywords

Proteins · Biomolecules · Amino acid · Degradation · Proteolysis

13.1 Introduction

13.1.1 Overview of Proteins

Proteins are made up of a very long chain of amino acids. Proteins play a fundamental function for life in the whole nature. They are the most abundant organic compounds in vertebrates, accounting for approximately 50% of their tissue dry weight (Blanco and Blanco 2017). Proteins are the ultimate players in the processes that allow an organism to function and reproduce (Stephenson 2016). The latest advances have helped to understand the function of several parts of living beings and the process of evolution. Proteins are synthesized according to the information present in the DNA fragment (gene) but for the synthesis of DNA (replication), proteins (DNA polymerase) are required (Saraswathy and Ramalingam 2011).

In 1838, Gerardus Mulder, a Dutch chemist, introduced the term "protein" to scientific literature in his publication "On the composition of some animal substances" where he described the presence of a common complex substance in blood fibrin, serum, egg albumin, gelatin, and the gluten of wheat (Hartley 1951; Vickery 1950; Murray et al. 2017).

The total number of proteins expressed in a cell at a particular time is known as a proteome (Saraswathy and Ramalingam 2011). Proteomics encompasses the study of the proteins expressed in any cell. The human body expresses 25,000–30,000 protein-coding genes approximately. Proteins perform a variety of functions, including enzymatic catalysis, transporting ions and molecules from one organ to another, nutrients, contractile system of muscles, tendons, cartilage, antibodies, and regulating cellular and physiological activities (Gromiha 2009). Besides, proteins can interact with many types of molecules, including with other proteins, with lipids, with carbohydrates, and with DNA (Ardejani et al. 2017; Branden and Tooze 1999; Murray et al. 2006; Mathews and Van Holde 1996).

The proteolytic activity of microbial enzymes has been studied a long time ago. There are a wide variety of species as bacteria and fungi producing proteolytic activity. However, different external factors such as pH, temperatures, substrate, and metallic ions play an important role during the isolation of these enzymes as well as the sources. The long chain of amino acids is released from the proteins as they break down. Free amino acids can be used to form new proteins or to generate energy. Each amino acid is broken down in turn, through a series of chain reactions forming metabolic pathways, so that each amino acid has its own way to form and break down into energy (Goldberg 2013).

13.1.2 Amino Acids

There are 20 essential amino acids known. The essential amino acids are as follows: valine, leucine, isoleucine, phenylalanine, tryptophan, threonine, methionine, lysine, arginine, and histidine. Arginine and histidine are essential in certain cases (Litwack 2018). The rest are nonessential because they can be synthesized by the body. Essential amino acids, which generally have a longer half-life than the nonessential ones, are those that are required in the diet since the body cannot synthesize them in adequate amounts to maintain protein biosynthesis (Engelking 2015).

Amino acids are compounds that have an acid or carboxyl (–COOH), and a basic or amine $(-NH_2)$ groups (Blanco and Blanco 2017). Amino acids can form covalent bonds between the carboxyl and amine groups, which is known as peptide bond (accompanied by the loss of water) as Fig. 13.1 shows. The R groups of amino acids determine their unique biochemical functions. Of the biochemical reactions of amino acids, the most important is the formation of peptide bonds (Murray et al. 2006).

13.2 The Process of Protein Degradation

The process by which amino acids occur from the proteins' breakdown is called proteolysis. The molecules responsible for developing proteolysis are proteolytic enzymes or peptidases, which are present in both bacteria and plants, but mostly in animals (Ehrmann and Clausen 2004).

13.2.1 Proteases

Proteases, also known as peptidases, are enzymes that break the peptide bonds of proteins and for this purpose use a molecule of water. Peptidases are found naturally in living organisms, where they are used for molecular digestion and the reduction of



unwanted proteins. Peptidases can break both specific peptide bonds, depending on the amino acid sequence of the protein, and reduce a complete peptide to amino acids (López-Otín and Bond 2008).

Peptidases are present in all organisms and constitute 1-5% of the genome content. These enzymes are involved in a multitude of physiological reactions from the simple digestion of food proteins to highly regulated cascades (López-Otín and Bond 2008).

13.2.2 Proteolysis

Proteolysis is a key process in the control of intracellular and extracellular signaling. This control is produced through irreversible changes in the protein structure, which will affect its functionality (Kaiser et al. 2013). Protein levels within cells are determined by the synthesis rate and also by its degradation rate. The average half-life of proteins within cells is in the range of minutes to several days, with degradation rates being an important factor for cell regulation. Degraded proteins can function as regulatory molecules for cellular processes (Pham et al. 2014). In the same sense, the renewal of these proteins is a fundamental aspect for their levels to change in response to external stimuli. On the other hand, there are proteins that degrade in response to specific signals, defining a new mechanism for the regulation of intracellular enzyme activity (Kaiser et al. 2013). Lastly, proteins that show any abnormality or defect are recognized and rapidly degraded within cells. Proteolysis has several functions for the cell, among which are:

- Elimination of methionine at the N-terminus after translation.
- Elimination of signal sequences of peptides after their transport through the membrane.
- Separation of viral proteins that are translated from a monocistronic messenger RNA (mRNA).
- Food protein digestion as a source of amino acids.
- Conversion of inactive proteins into their final functional forms.
- Degradation of cyclins and other proteins required for progression in the cell cycle (Goldberg 2013).

In eukaryotic cells, two main catabolic processes that regulate protein degradation can be distinguished: ubiquitin-proteasome pathway and lysosomal proteolysis (Pham et al. 2014).

13.2.2.1 Ubiquitin-Proteasome Pathway

The ubiquitin-proteasome pathway is involved in the intracellular turnover of proteins and plays an important role in the degradation of short-lived regulatory proteins, involved in a wide range of cellular processes such as regulation of the cell cycle, modulation of surface receptors and ion channels, antigen processing and presentation, and activation of transcription factors (Lecker et al. 2006).



Fig. 13.2 The ubiquitin-proteasome pathway for degradation of proteins into peptides

Ubiquitin is a small protein found in all organisms and is made up of 76 amino acids. When several ubiquitin molecules in a given conformation bind to the protein that has to be removed, the proteasome (large multiprotein complex responsible for degradation) identifies it as "disposable" and initiates a chain of reactions that end in the destruction of the same (Myung et al. 2001). Ubiquitin is discarded in the process so that it can be used in another. In this sense, it is important to note that both for the binding of ubiquitin and the cleavage of labeled proteins, it requires energy in the form of ATP (Lecker et al. 2006). Labeling of proteins with ubiquitin is, therefore, one of the mechanisms that the cell uses to eliminate molecules (Klein et al. 2018).

As shown in Fig. 13.2, the process begins with the activation of Ubiquitin by the E1 enzyme, a step that requires energy to be carried out. The E1 enzyme activates the carboxyl group of the C-terminus residue (Gly 76), forming a thioester bond between Gly 76 and a Cys residue of the E1 enzyme. Activated ubiquitin is transferred to one of several ubiquitin-conjugating enzymes (E2). E2 accepts ubiquitin bound to the E1 enzyme, forming a thioester bond between Gly 76 and a Cys residue of the enzyme. In most cases, ubiquitin is transferred to a ubiquitin ligase enzyme (E3). This enzyme is capable of recognizing the substrate protein and transfers ubiquitin from the E2 enzyme to the NH₃ (amino epsilon) group of the protein to be degraded. In this way, ubiquitinated proteins are formed. The binding of a single ubiquitin to the target protein is not sufficient for the cell to identify it as a protein that needs to degrade. Normally, the binding of 3 or 4 ubiquitins is necessary for the degradation process to take place. This is the reason why the above process is repeated several times, creating a chain of ubiquitins in the target protein. This also prevents the breakdown of some ubiquitin from preventing the labeling of the target protein. Enzyme E3 then releases the already labeled protein (Goldberg 2013; Lecker et al. 2006; Myung et al. 2001).
Once the ubiquitin chain is formed, it supplies a signal to the cell for the removal of the protein, which is handled by the proteasome. It will only recognize proteins that need to be broken down if they are attached to the ubiquitin chain. Protein degradation is an irreversible process. The proteasome will break down proteins to the level of small peptides of 7–9 amino acids and these will be hydrolyzed to amino acids by nonspecific cytosolic proteases (Kaiser et al. 2013).

13.2.2.2 Lysosomal Proteolysis

Lysosomes are membrane-bound cellular organelles that contain digestive enzymes. Lysosomes are involved in various cellular processes. They are responsible for collecting cellular waste remains (Knop et al. 1993). Lysosomal degradation or proteolysis serves to remove intracellular organelles, proteins, or materials to the outside by endocytosis, the peptide fragments that arise from protein maturation of the secretory pathway, and apoptosis (Aits and Jaattela 2013).

Among the many proteins that can be degraded in lysosomes are cell membrane proteins and extracellular proteins. These proteins, once internalized by endosomes, undergo complete degradation after the fusion of these organelles with lysosomes in a process of heterophagy (Zhang et al. 2010). A similar fusion occurs between the lysosomes and the secretory vesicles, which contain proteins synthesized inside the cell and whose ultimate destination resides in the extracellular medium. This degrading process of crinophagy is responsible for regulating the levels of cellular secretion of proteins. The other broad group of lysosomal substrates is cytosolic proteins (Ciechanover 2005). They use various transport mechanisms to reach the interior of the lysosomes. For example, lysosomes encompass portions of cytosol, sometimes whole organs, in a process of macroautophagy or microautophagy, depending on the size of the cytosolic portion encompassed (Ciechanover 2005).

Lysosomal autophagy is characterized mainly by its lack of selectivity. Once inside the lysosome, the embedded proteins are torn together. It is the responsibility of the microautography to maintain the basal levels of intracellular proteolysis (Boya and Kroemer 2008). In addition to these two nonselective processes of degradation of cytosolic proteins in lysosomes, the existence of a direct transport of certain cytosolic proteins through the lysosomal membrane has been confirmed. This process is very similar to the transport of proteins to other cellular organelles (mitochondria, endoplasmic reticles, vacuoles, etc.), cytosolic factors, membrane components, and intralisosomal proteins (Knop et al. 1993).

Although the stimulus that activates this direct degradative pathway has not yet been identified, the existence of a marker signal in the amino acid sequence of the substrate protein (the pentapeptide Lys–Phe–Glu–Arg–Gln or KFERQ) is known, responsible for the interaction with the cytosolic factor involved in this pathway, the 73 kDa heat shock protein (Hsc73) (Agarraberes et al. 1997). This shock protein maintains the substrate protein in a suitable conformation to favor its binding with the lysosomal membrane and its subsequent transport through it.

The first component of this transport system has been identified, a 96 kDa integral lysosomal membrane glycoprotein (lgp96), whose C-terminus region appears exposed on the surface of the lysosome and serves as an anchor point for the

substrate proteins. After binding to the lysosome membrane, the proteins travel to the interior in a transport process that requires the presence in the lysosomal matrix of a 73 kDa heat shock protein, a variant of the cytosolic form (Knop et al. 1993). By comparison with other cellular transporters, lysosomal Hsc73 could act as a driving force, which after anchoring itself to the portion of a protein, that initially reaches the lysosomal matrix, would push the rest of the protein inwards. Once in the matrix and after dissociating from the lysosomal Hsc73, the protein would undergo its complete degradation (Lee et al. 2010).

The description of these selective lysosomal degradative pathways has made it possible to attribute regulatory functions in various physiological processes to lysosomes. On the other hand, it is revealed the existence of a dynamic equilibrium between the different intracellular degradative systems, regulated by their multiple interactions, thus ensuring strict control of this fundamental process, which is protein degradation.

13.2.2.3 Signs for Proteolysis

On all occasions, cells must recognize those proteins that for one reason or another must be degraded. Different proteolytic signals have been found:

- *The amino N-end rule*: Eukaryotic proteins when synthesized always have a methionine residue at their amino end. Later this initial methionine can be removed leaving another amino acid as the head of the amino end. In yeasts, it has been verified that there are a series of destabilizing amino acids (mainly the basic, acidic, and hydrophobic ones) and other stabilizing amino acids. Furthermore, it appears that most mature cytosolic proteins carry the amino terminus blocked by acetylation (Dougan et al. 2012).
- *PEST sequences*: Proteins with a half-life of less than 2 h are rich in regions containing the amino acids proline, glutamate, serine, and threonine (P, E, S, and T, respectively). These regions, between 12 and 60 residues in length, are known as PEST sequences. Very few long-lived proteins are contained in these regions. It seems likely that PEST regions are part of a recognition scheme for enzyme systems that degrade short half-life proteins, possibly including the ubiquitin labeling system (Rechsteiner and Rogers 1996).
- *Cyclins and boxes of destruction*: Cyclins are proteins with control of the eukaryotic cell cycle, which have to be broken down for the cell to continue from metaphase to anaphase. It is a very controlled degradation, dependent on a previous step of labeling cyclin with ubiquitin. In almost all cyclins a signal sequence (destruction box) consisting of nine amino acids (RAALGNISN) has been located that is present between residues 13 and 66 of the protein sequence (Yamano et al. 1998).
- *Pentapeptide KFERQ*: They are peptide sequences that mark cytosolic proteins for their lysosomal proteolysis, being KFERQ one of the signals for proteins to enter lysosomes. This protein signaling is not related to ubiquitin, but there are other heat shock cognate proteins (cytosolic and intralisosomal hsc73) that recognize ubiquitin sequences (Kaiser et al. 2013).

13.3 Microorganisms with Proteolytic Activity

Proteolytic enzymes are commonly founded on numerous living organisms and have an important role in cell growth and differentiation (Gupta et al. 2002). Proteolytic enzymes obtained from microorganisms has been given importance by their numerous practical applications, especially in the industry. The proteolytic function is based on the hydrolysis of peptide bonds in proteins, where long chains of proteins are broken into small parts. Bacteria and fungi are been reported as good sources of diverse types of proteases such as alkaline, cysteine, aspartate, and metalloproteases (Banerjee and Ray 2017). The microbial proteases produced could be intracellular or extracellular, and these differ in their properties and applications.

13.3.1 Species

13.3.1.1 Bacterial Species

Bacteria are known as the most dominant group of alkaline protease producers. Many studies report the *Bacillus* genera as an important protease producer, which is commonly used in the industry. The interest is based on the possibility of cultivated these enzymes under extreme temperatures and pH (Han and Damodaran 1997). Other bacteria genera with potential use are *Streptomyces* and *Pseudomonas*. Table 13.1 summarized some examples of bacterial species and their sources.

13.3.1.2 Fungi Species

Fungal species have great potential by their versatility in enzyme production. Enzymes with the proteolytic activity of fungal origin have several advantages such as cost, faster production, secrete a large number of enzymes, and easy modification (De Souza et al. 2015). Moreover, they are active over a wide pH range and have a broad substrate specificity (Rao et al. 1998). Table 13.2 shows some examples of fungal species and their sources.

13.3.2 Sources

The most common microbial proteolytic enzymes used to come from bacterial and fungal sources. These species have been isolated from various sources like sediments (Kanekar et al. 2002; Venugopal and Saramma 2006), seawater (Joshi et al. 2008), offshore oil fields, contaminated soils (Patil and Chaudhari 2013; Shafee et al. 2005), dairy products (Caldera 2016), poultry compost (Rieger et al. 2017), manufacture of fish meat/oil (Kumaran et al. 2013), and industrial effluents (Boominadhan et al. 2009; Wu et al. 2006; Dhillon et al. 2017). The selection of microorganisms with proteolytic enzymes plays an important role in the activity yield. There is a wide area of sources with prominent applications. Oceanic waters and their derived enzymes have been studied by their novel chemical and stereo-chemical properties (Homaei et al. 2016; Rosso and Azam 1987). Soils and

Genera	Specie	Source	
Micrococcus	Micrococcus luteus	Soil (Bach et al. 2002)	
merococcus	Micrococcus sp	Sediments (Kanekar et al. 2002)	
Streptomyces	Streptomyces anulatus	Soil (Bach et al. 2002)	
Bacillus	Bacillus subtilis	Soil (Bach et al. 2002) Soil (Bach et al. 2002: Das and Prasad 2010)	
Bucillus	bacinus subinis	Waste and industry effluents (Boominadhan et al. 2009)	
	Bacillus licheniformis	Soil (Han and Damodaran 1997; Bach et al. 2002 Marine sediments (Manachini and Fortina 1998) Waste and industry effluents (Boominadhan et al. 2009) Saline soda lakes (Ibrahim et al. 2015)	
	Bacillus macerans	Coffee fruit (Pereira Rodarte et al. 2011)	
	Bacillus amyloliquefaciens	Waste and industry effluents (Boominadhan et al. 2009)	
	Bacillus brevis	Soil (Han and Damodaran 1997)	
	Bacillus sp.	Sediments (Kanekar et al. 2002) Soil (Telagi 2012) Poultry processing (Rieger et al. 2017) Saline soda lakes (Ibrahim et al. 2015)	
		Sea water (Joshi et al. 2008)	
	Bacillus pumilus	Soil (Han and Damodaran 1997) Saline soda lakes (Ibrahim et al. 2015)	
	Bacillus circulans	Contaminated soil (Patil and Chaudhari 2013)	
	Bacillus cereus	Coffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009) Soils (Bach et al. 2002) Contaminated soil of wood factory (Shafee et al. 2005)	
	Bacillus cluasii	Saline soda lakes (Ibrahim et al. 2015)	
Staphylococcus	Staphylococcus sp.	Sediments (Kanekar et al. 2002)	
1 2	Staphylococcus sciuri	Soil (Han and Damodaran 1997)	
	Staphylococcus intermedius	Soil (Han and Damodaran 1997)	
	Staphylococcus aureus	Skin (Williams et al. 2017)	
Acinetobacter	Acinetobacter sp.	Coffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)	
Arharobacter	Arhrobacter sp.	Coffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009) Sediments (Kanekar et al. 2002)	
Enterobacter	Enterobacter sakazakii	Coffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)	
	Enterobacter cloacae	Coffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)	
Proteus	Proteus mirabiliz	Coffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)	
Pseudomonas	Pseudomonas sp.	Sediments (Kanekar et al. 2002) Soil (Baraniya et al. 2016) Dairy products (Caldera 2016)	
	Pseudomonas paucimobilis	Coffee fruit (Pereira Rodarte et al. 2011)	
	Pseudomonas moraviencis	Soil (Baraniya et al. 2016)	

 Table 13.1
 Bacterial species with proteolytic activity

(continued)

Genera	Specie	Source	
	Pseudomonas aeruginosa	Vermicompost pit soil (Zambare et al. 2010)	
	Pseudomonas fluorescens	Soil (Bach et al. 2002; Baraniya et al. 2016) Meat waste contaminated soil (Kalaiarasi and Sunitha 2009)	
	Pseudomonas putrefaciens	Coffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)	
	Pseudomonas brassicacearum	Soil (Baraniya et al. 2016)	
Serratia	Serratia plymutica	Coffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)	
	Serratia rubidea	Coffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)	
	Serratia marcescens	Soil (Bach et al. 2002)	

Table 13.1 (continued)

 Table 13.2
 Fungi species with proteolytic activity

AspergillusAspergillus fumigatusCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Aspergillus sp.Coffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Oil seed (Rajmalwar and Dabholkar 2009)Aspergillus parasiticusSediments (Venugopal and Saramma 2006)Aspergillus awamoriCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Aspergillus terreusPalm oil mill effluent (Wu et al. 2006)Soil (Sharma et al. 2017)Soil (Sharma et al. 2017)Aspergillus flavusCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Oil seed (Kranthi et al. 2012)Soil (Sharma et al. 2012)Soil (Sharma et al. 2017)Aspergillus nigerSoil (Sharma et al. 2017)Soil (Sharma et al. 2002)Aspergillus nigerSoil (Bach et al. 2002)Aspergillus ochraceusCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)EngyodontiumEngyodontium albumFusariumMarine sediment (Chellappan et al. 2009)FusariumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Fusarium moniliformeCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Penicillium sp.Soil (Agrawal et al. 2004)Penicillium aurantiogriseumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Penicillium brevicopactumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Penicillium citrinumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Penicillium expansumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)	Genera	Specie	Sources	
Aspergillus sp.Coffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009) Oil seed (Rajmalwar and Dabholkar 2009)Aspergillus parasiticusSediments (Venugopal and Saramma 2006) Aspergillus awamoriAspergillus awamoriCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Aspergillus terreusPalm oil mill effluent (Wu et al. 2006) Soil (Sharma et al. 2017)Aspergillus flavusCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009) Oil seed (Kranthi et al. 2012) Soil (Sharma et al. 2017)Aspergillus nigerSoil (Bach et al. 2002) Aspergillus nigerAspergillus ochraceusCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)EngyodontiumEngyodontium albumFusarium illudensCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)FusariumFusarium illudensCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Penicillium sp.Soil (Agrawal et al. 2004)Penicillium aurantiogriseumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Penicillium brevicopactumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Penicillium citrinumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Penicillium aurantiogriseumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Penicillium aurantiogriseumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Penicillium citrinumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Penicillium expansumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Penicillium citrinumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Penicillium expansumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)	Aspergillus	Aspergillus fumigatus	Coffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)	
Aspergillus parasiticusSediments (Venugopal and Saramma 2006)Aspergillus awamoriCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Aspergillus terreusPalm oil mill effluent (Wu et al. 2006) Soil (Sharma et al. 2017)Aspergillus flavusCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009) Oil seed (Kranthi et al. 2012) Soil (Sharma et al. 2017)Aspergillus nigerSoil (Bach et al. 2002) Aspergillus ochraceusEngyodontiumEngyodontium albumFusariumFusarium illudensFusarium lateritiumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Fusarium noniliformeCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Penicillium sp.Soil (Agrawal et al. 2004)Penicillium brevicopactumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Penicillium citrinumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Penicillium citrinumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Penicillium avantiogriseumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Penicillium citrinumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Penicillium expansumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)		Aspergillus sp.	Coffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009) Oil seed (Rajmalwar and Dabholkar 2009)	
Aspergillus awamoriCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Aspergillus terreusPalm oil mill effluent (Wu et al. 2006) Soil (Sharma et al. 2017)Aspergillus flavusCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009) Oil seed (Kranthi et al. 2012) Soil (Sharma et al. 2017)Aspergillus nigerSoil (Sharma et al. 2017)Aspergillus nigerSoil (Bach et al. 2002) Aspergillus ochraceusEngyodontiumEngyodontium albumFusariumFusarium illudensFusarium lateritiumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Fusarium noniliformeCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Penicillium sp.Soil (Agrawal et al. 2004)Penicillium brevicopactumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Penicillium citrinumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Penicillium brevicopactumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Penicillium aurantiogriseumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Penicillium brevicopactumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Penicillium citrinumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)		Aspergillus parasiticus	Sediments (Venugopal and Saramma 2006)	
Aspergillus terreusPalm oil mill effluent (Wu et al. 2006) Soil (Sharma et al. 2017)Aspergillus flavusCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009) Oil seed (Kranthi et al. 2012) Soil (Sharma et al. 2017)Aspergillus nigerSoil (Bach et al. 2002)Aspergillus ochraceusCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)EngyodontiumEngyodontium albumFusariumFusarium illudensFusarium lateritiumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Fusarium noniliformeCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Penicillium sp.Soil (Agrawal et al. 2004)Penicillium brevicopactumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Penicillium citrinumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)		Aspergillus awamori	Coffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)	
Aspergillus flavusCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009) Oil seed (Kranthi et al. 2012) Soil (Sharma et al. 2017)Aspergillus nigerSoil (Bach et al. 2002)Aspergillus ochraceusCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)EngyodontiumEngyodontium albumFusariumFusarium illudensFusarium lateritiumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Fusarium noniliformeCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Penicillium sp.Soil (Agrawal et al. 2004)Penicillium brevicopactumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Penicillium brevicopactumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Penicillium brevicopactumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Penicillium citrinumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)		Aspergillus terreus	Palm oil mill effluent (Wu et al. 2006) Soil (Sharma et al. 2017)	
Aspergillus nigerSoil (Bach et al. 2002)Aspergillus ochraceusCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)EngyodontiumEngyodontium albumMarine sediment (Chellappan et al. 2006)FusariumFusarium illudensCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Fusarium lateritiumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Fusarium moniliformeCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Penicillium sp.Soil (Agrawal et al. 2004)Penicillium aurantiogriseumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Penicillium brevicopactumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Penicillium citrinumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Penicillium citrinumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Penicillium expansumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)		Aspergillus flavus	Coffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009) Oil seed (Kranthi et al. 2012) Soil (Sharma et al. 2017)	
Aspergillus ochraceusCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)EngyodontiumEngyodontium albumMarine sediment (Chellappan et al. 2006)FusariumFusarium illudensCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Fusarium lateritiumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Fusarium moniliformeCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Penicillium sp.Soil (Agrawal et al. 2004)Penicillium brevicopactumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Penicillium brevicopactumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Penicillium citrinumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Penicillium citrinumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Penicillium expansumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)		Aspergillus niger	Soil (Bach et al. 2002)	
EngyodontiumEngyodontium albumMarine sediment (Chellappan et al. 2006)FusariumFusarium illudensCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Fusarium lateritiumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Fusarium moniliformeCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)PenicilliumPenicillium sp.Soil (Agrawal et al. 2004)Penicillium aurantiogriseumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Penicillium brevicopactumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Penicillium citrinumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Penicillium citrinumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Penicillium expansumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)		Aspergillus ochraceus	Coffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)	
FusariumFusarium illudensCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Fusarium lateritiumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Fusarium moniliformeCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)PenicilliumPenicillium sp.Soil (Agrawal et al. 2004)Penicillium aurantiogriseumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Penicillium brevicopactumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Penicillium citrinumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Penicillium expansumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)	Engyodontium	Engyodontium album	Marine sediment (Chellappan et al. 2006)	
Fusarium lateritium Coffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009) Fusarium moniliforme Coffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009) Penicillium sp. Soil (Agrawal et al. 2004) Penicillium aurantiogriseum Coffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009) Penicillium brevicopactum Coffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009) Penicillium citrinum Coffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009) Penicillium citrinum Coffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009) Penicillium expansum Coffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)	Fusarium	Fusarium illudens	Coffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)	
Fusarium moniliforme Coffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009) Penicillium sp. Soil (Agrawal et al. 2004) Penicillium aurantiogriseum Coffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009) Penicillium brevicopactum Coffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009) Penicillium citrinum Coffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009) Penicillium citrinum Coffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009) Penicillium expansum Coffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)		Fusarium lateritium	Coffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)	
Penicillium Penicillium sp. Soil (Agrawal et al. 2004) Penicillium aurantiogriseum Coffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009) Penicillium brevicopactum Coffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009) Penicillium citrinum Coffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009) Penicillium expansum Coffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)		Fusarium moniliforme	Coffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)	
Penicilium aurantiogriseumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Penicilium brevicopactumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Penicililum citrinumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Penicililum expansumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)	Penicillium	Penicillium sp.	Soil (Agrawal et al. 2004)	
Penicilium brevicopactumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Penicililum citrinumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Penicililium expansumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)		Peniciliium aurantiogriseum	Coffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)	
Penicililum citrinumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)Penicililium expansumCoffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)		Penicilium brevicopactum	Coffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)	
Penicililium expansum Coffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)		Penicililum citrinum	Coffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)	
		Penicililium expansum	Coffee fruit (Boominadhan et al. 2009)	

sediments are also studied by their diversity of proteolytic genes (Han and Damodaran 1997; Bach et al. 2002; Kanekar et al. 2002; Das and Prasad 2010; Vishwanatha et al. 2010).

13.4 Factors Influencing Proteolytic Degradation

13.4.1 pH

The proteolytic activity of enzymes is dependent on the pH of the medium used, which is specific to each isolate (Pereira Rodarte et al. 2011). According to pH, the proteolytic enzymes could be classified as neutral, acidic, or alkaline. It was reported that there is a better protease production in the alkaline range as is reported for the species *Bacillus licheniformis* (Boominadhan et al. 2009; Patil and Chaudhari 2013). The change of pH affects directly the reaction rate through changes in the ionic form of the active sites of the enzymes (Bhunia et al. 2013). The pH influences directly metabolic reactions, regulatory mechanisms, and products, which are related to protease production (Patil and Chaudhari 2013). The main proteases used in the industry are neutral and alkaline. The activity of each one depends on an optimum pH which is between 5 and 8 for neutral and around 10 for alkaline (Kuddus and Ramteke 2012).

13.4.2 Temperature

Temperature affects directly the reaction kinetics, specifically the hydrolysis rate. By monitoring proteolytic activity based on temperature change, thermal stability at an optimal temperature has been sought (Bhunia et al. 2013). A critical parameter is related to the incubation temperature, which is a determinant of the synthesis and secretion of proteases by microbial species (Patil and Chaudhari 2013).

13.4.3 Carbon and Nitrogen Sources

To improve microbial growth, different sources of carbon and nitrogen have been studied. Glucose, galactose, fructose, maltose, lactose, sucrose, xylose, starch, glycogen, mannose, and citric acid are common sources of carbon, which are added to the media (Ibrahim et al. 2015; Joshi et al. 2008). On the other hand, nitrogen sources could be organic or inorganic. The sources reported include peptone, yeast extract, tryptone, casein, insoluble casein, skim milk, gelatin, ammonium nitrate, ammonium sulfate, sodium nitrate, traders protein, and urea (Boominadhan et al. 2009; Ibrahim et al. 2015). Based on previous studies, the results indicate that different carbon sources have different impacts on protease production taken into account factors as the concentration and the organism of origin.

13.4.4 Metals lons

Previous investigations have studied the effect of the addition of mono and divalent metal cations on the proteolytic activity of enzymes obtained from various microorganisms. Among the metal ions studied are Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺, Mn²⁺, Zn²⁺, and Cu^{2+} (Rieger et al. 2017; Bhunia et al. 2013), which are directly related to their concentration (Ibrahim et al. 2015). Depending on the test could be some ions capable of enhancing protease production while other ions inhibit its growth and reduce the enzyme yield. Metal ions have another important role, which is related to the protection of the enzyme against thermal denaturation and keeping its active conformation (Joshi et al. 2008; Mienda et al. 2014). Through a study focused on the proteolytic activity of the *Bacillus mojavensis*, it was evidenced how the addition of divalent cation of Ca^{2+} improves in 56.62% of the protease activity (Hammami et al. 2018). While in other reports, the addition of Ca^{2+} and Mg^{2+} for Actinomadura keratinilytica improves the enzyme activity by 120% and 111%, respectively (Habbeche et al. 2014). The same ions were tested at temperatures higher than 50 °C for the species *Bacillus pumilus*, which was obtained at an activity improvement by up to 156% and their thermostability was enhanced (Jaouadi et al. 2008).

13.5 Applications

13.5.1 Beneficial Properties

In nature, there is a diversity of enzymes with potential proteolytic activity. The production of proteases with bioactive and functional characteristics has had a boom in research, especially for its potential industrial use. The interest in its use has been based on its rapid growth and easy genetic manipulation (Telagi 2012). Within biotechnological processes, the use of enzymes has had a relevant role in the synthesis of products, has several advantages such as higher purity, lower energy consumption, lower production of secondary waste, and high selectivity (Bhunia et al. 2013; Rozzell 1999).

13.5.2 Industrial Applications

The use of proteases constitutes two-thirds of the total enzymes in industry and the increasing industrial use has led to obtaining proteolytic enzymes with higher specificity (Pereira Rodarte et al. 2011). Proteases are considered environment-friendly and with a great potential to replace or reduce hazardous chemicals used in industrial processes (Singh and Kumar Bajaj 2017). The use of industrial applications is also influenced by parameters like temperature, incubation period, pH, salt concentration, and high enzymatic production (Bizuye et al. 2014).

The main application of enzymes is concentrated on the detergent industry with approximately 30% of the total world enzyme production (Ibrahim et al. 2015).

Alkaline proteolytic enzymes are particularly used in detergent production with high stability at extreme conditions of temperature and pH. One of the main objectives has been to develop new formulations with energy considerations that are environmentally friendly (Manachini and Fortina 1998). In previous studies, the use of crude enzymes has exhibited high stability and efficiency in removing different strains (Hammami et al. 2018). The enzymes used in detergents are mainly serine proteases which come from the *Bacillus* strain (Mienda et al. 2014). Newer enzymes have to keep the activity and stability under washing conditions and be compatible with detergent ingredients as surfactants and oxidizing agents (Venugopal and Saramma 2006).

In the food industry, microbial proteases are usually exploited during preparation, processing, storage, and consumption. Through previous researchers, it has been sought to enhance functional properties like viscosity, solubility, dispersibility, emulsifying, among others (Benítez et al. 2008). A prominent genus is a *Bacillus*, which has been studied by its high yield to obtain active peptides and process different foods. A significant property is related to the coagulation of proteins by proteases, which is commonly used in dairy products like cheese (Alagarsamy et al. 2006). *Pseudomonas* and *Bacillus* species have been reported by their relation as debittering and ripening agents (Rao et al. 1998), which is even enhanced in combination with lipases (Koka and Weimer 2000; Oscan and Kurdal 2012). Proteases play a relevant role in fermented foods. The application of proteases was observed in cured meat and sausages, having an effect of an increase in nitrogen fraction (Contesini et al. 2017). Another interesting use is related to cold-active microbial proteases, which have high specificity, the low enzyme needed, less undesirable reactions, and easy to inactivate (Kuddus and Ramteke 2012). Microbial proteases, especially alkaline are used for their high nutritional value (Najafi et al. 2005). The hydrolysis of proteins is taken by a nitrogen source, which is used in nutritional supplements. This property is associated with the hydrolysis of polypeptides into smaller peptides and amino acids, which are easily absorbed by the cell (Rao et al. 1998).

There is a wide application in the textile industry, mainly in production, finishing, and washing methods. It has been used to remove sericin from silk, modify the surface of wool and silk, or obtain finishes (Najafi et al. 2005). Pseudomona aeruginosa has been studied for its ability to remove proteins and fabric stains, and having great potential without combining them in detergents (Najafi et al. 2005). Another field of application is associated with the modification of fiber in finishing treatment (Riessen and Antranikian 2001).

13.5.3 Biotechnological Application

There is a great potential in the use of microorganisms in the area of biotechnology due to their applicability at a large scale, ease of handling, short time of cultivation, and microbial diversity for enzyme production (Da Silva 2017).

13.5.3.1 Pharmaceuticals

In medicine, proteases are involved in different aspects of physiological processes (Fig. 13.3), and have been related to the production of therapeutic agents against deadly diseases (Rawlings 2004).

Microbial enzymes are used in medicine to treatments against diseases such as thrombosis or cancer, and also are used as digestive aids (Ward et al. 2009). The great diversity and high specificity have been characteristic of microbial proteases, which is why they are commonly used for therapeutic or diagnostic purposes (Singh et al. 2016). Enzymes produced by *Serratia* species are the most effective protease used for anti-inflammatory, anti-endemic, and analgesic purposes (Bhagat et al. 2013; Tiwari 2017). The species *Baciulls subtilis* was reported as effective agents against blood clotting and lipids associated with cardiovascular diseases (Hsia et al. 2009). *Aspergillus oryzae* and *Aspergillus melleus* were reported as an alternative to anti-inflammatory or immune support and as dietary supplements for cardiovascular diseases (Chanalia et al. 2011). *Bacillus pumilus* was investigated for its anti-inflammatory potential, which probes that it can inhibit heat and hypotonicity-induced hemolysis (Sangeetha and Arulpandi 2019).

Different proteolytic species have been used in the cosmetology industry. Streptomyces and Bacillus were studied for their effect on keratin degradation, which could be applied in healthcare by its capacity on epithelial regeneration of skin (De Souza et al. 2015; Chao et al. 2017). This advantage is related to the capacity of proteases to hydrolyze peptide bonds of keratin, collagen, and elastin of the skin (De Souza et al. 2015).

13.5.3.2 Bioremediation

The use of proteolytic enzymes in bioremediation has been an emerging technology, which has an economic and environmental impact, being able to degrade different pollutants, organic and inorganic contaminants. One of the main fields of enzymatic application is related to waste generated by poultry processing industries. The generation of tons of feathers constitutes a considerable source of protein for food additives. *Bacillus subtilis* has been studied as a keratinolytic protease producer, which is used to degrade waste keratinous material (Gupta et al. 2002; Dalev 1994). In another study, the keratinases were used as a potential source for biofuel or fertilizer production (Verma et al. 2017). *Bacillus subtilis* has also been studied in combination with *Bacillus amiloliquefaciens* and *Streptomyces* sp., where the proteolytic degrading capacity is improved (Jacobson et al. 1985). The applicability of *Subtilis* has also been demonstrated in processes that require long incubation periods (Dedavid e Silva et al. 2014). Other functional enzymes are the cold-adapted protease enzymes, which have been studied for wastewater treatment and bioremediation in cold environments contaminated with proteins (Kuddus and Ramteke



Fig. 13.3 Microbial proteases and their physiological processes related



Fig. 13.4 Hydrolysis for the release of silver from X-ray films

2012). They have been found to have high catalytic efficiency and specificity at low temperatures (Margesin and Schinner 1999). Silver recovery processes usually imply chemical procedures, which are not environmentally friendly. Based on that precedent, the use of proteases plays a degradant role mainly for the silver recovery from X-ray or photographic films. This recovery treatment is based on an enzymatic method (Nakiboglu et al. 2001), which is shown in Fig. 13.4.

It has been reported the high yield of proteases from species as *Bacillus* sp. Obtained from the soil and fish waste (Kumaran et al. 2013; Masui et al. 1999), *Conidioboulus coronatus* (Laxman et al. 2010), *Bacillus sphaericus* from alkaline soils in the Himalaya (Singh et al. 1999), *Bacillus subtilis* from food industry waste (Vanitha et al. 2014), and *Bacillus firmus* from samples from industrial soils (Rao and Narasu 2007).

13.6 Conclusions

In summary, proteins are fundamental biomolecules. These biomolecules are undoubtedly a vast interest of biologists to understand life. Protein formation has reach based on the join of amino acids through carboxyl and amine groups, forming the peptide bond.

According to what has been reviewed in the literature, protein breakdown occurs by proteolysis, which uses a proteolytic enzyme known as peptidases. These enzymes are involved in multiple physiological reactions. Also, lysosomes are organelles that contain digestive enzymes and expulse material to the exterior through endocytosis. These proteolytic enzymes are commonly found in different living organisms.

The proteolytic activity can be found on microorganisms like bacteria (alkaline protease producers), and fungi. Besides, external factors play an important role, enhancing or reducing the activity yield during proteolytic degradation like pH, temperature, carbon and nitrogen sources, and metal ions. Moreover, these enzymes have shown important applications in the industry and biotechnological fields. The main application field of these enzymes is an approach to the detergent industry because of the stability in extreme conditions, as well as the fight against different microorganism strains. The bioremediation field has reached news studies because proteolytic enzymes are based on the economic and environmental impact against organic and inorganic pollutants. Likewise, peptidases have been studied in some diseases, showing great diversity and specificity. The understanding of the enzymes,

will determine many functions of the health and the environment. The applications could be almost endless due to the great number of microorganisms that have not been found yet.

References

- Agarraberes FA, Terlecky SR, Dice JF (1997) An intralysosomal hsp70 is required for a selective pathway of lysosomal protein degradation. J Cell Biol 137(4):825–834. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.137.4.825
- Agrawal D, Patidar P, Banerjee T, Patil S (2004) Production of alkaline protease by Penicillium sp. under SSF conditions and its application to soy protein hydrolysis. Process Biochem Int 39:977–981. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0032-9592(03)00212-7
- Aits S, Jaattela M (2013) Lysosomal cell death at a glance. J Cell Sci 126:1905. https://doi.org/10. 1242/jcs.091181
- Alagarsamy S, Larroche C, Pandey A (2006) Microbiology and industrial biotechnology of foodgrade proteases: a perspective. Food Technol Biotechnol 44:211–220. http://ir.niist.res.in:8080/ jspui/handle/123456789/2171. Retrieved from 3 Mar 2021
- Ardejani MS, Powers ET, Kelly W (2017) Using cooperatively folded peptides to measure interaction energies and conformational propensities. Acc Chem Res 50(8):1875–1882. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.accounts.7b00195
- Bach HJ, Tomanova J, Schloter M, Munch J (2002) Enumeration of total bacteria and bacteria with genes for proteolytic activity in pure cultures and in environmental samples by quantitative PCR mediated amplification. J Microbiol Methods 49:235–245. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0167-7012 (01)00370-0
- Banerjee G, Ray AK (2017) Impact of microbial proteases on biotechnological industries. Biotechnol Genet Eng Rev 33:119–143. https://doi.org/10.1080/02648725.2017.1408256
- Baraniya D, Puglisi E, Ceccherini MT, Pietramellara G, Giagnoni L, Arenella M, Renella G (2016) Protease encoding microbial communities and protease activity of the rhizosphere and bulk soils of two maize lines with different N uptake efficiency. Soil Biol Biochem 96:176–179. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2016.02.001
- Benítez R, Ibarz A, Pagan J (2008) Hidrolizados de proteína: procesos y aplicaciones. Acta Bioquím Clín Latinoam 42:227–237. http://hdl.handle.net/10459.1/49268
- Bhagat S, Agarwal M, Roy V (2013) Serratiopeptidase: a systematic review of the existing evidence. Int J Surg 11:209–217. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijsu.2013.0110
- Bhunia B, Basak B, Mandal T, Bhattacharya P, Dey A (2013) Effect of pH and temperature on stability and kinetics of novel extracellular serine alkaline protease (70kDa). Int J Biol Macromol 54:1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2012.11.024
- Bizuye A, Sago A, Admasu G, Getachew H, Kassa P, Amsaya M (2014) Isolation, optimization and characterization of protease producing bacteria from soil and water in Gondar town, North West Ethiopia. Int J Bacteriol Virol Immunol 1:20–24
- Blanco A, Blanco G (2017) Proteins are macromolecules formed by amino acids. In: Medical biochemistry. Elsevier Inc., Amsterdam, pp 21–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-803550-4/00003-3
- Boominadhan U, Rajakumar R, Vinayaga Sivakumaar PK, Melvin Joe M (2009) Optimization of protease enzyme production using Bacillus sp. isolated from different wastes. Bot Res Int 2:83–87. ISSN: 2221-3635. http://www.idosi.org/bri/2(2)09/5.pdf
- Boya P, Kroemer G (2008) Lysosomal membrane permeabilization in cell death. Oncogene 27:6434. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2008.310
- Branden C, Tooze J (1999) The building blocks. In: Introduction to protein structure. Garland Science, Taylor and Francis Group, New York, pp 1–10

- Caldera LF (2016) Identification, enzymatic spoilage characterization and proteolytic activity quantification of Pseudomonas spp. isolated from different foods. Food Microbiol 54:142–153. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fm.2015.10.004
- Chanalia P, Gandhi D, Jodha D, Singh J (2011) Applications of microbial proteases in pharmaceutical industry. Rev Med Microbiol 22:96–101. https://doi.org/10.1097/MRM. 0b013e3283494749
- Chao Y, Xie F, Yang J, Lu J, Qian S (2017) Screening for a new Streptomyces strain capable of efficient keratin degradation. J Environ Sci 19:1125–1128. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1001-0742 (07)60183-1
- Chellappan S, Jasmin C, Basheer SM, Elyas KK, Bhat SG, Chandrasekaran M (2006) Production, purification and partial characterization of a novel protease from marine Engyodontium album BTMFS10 under solid state fermentation. Process Biochem 41:956–961. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.procbio.2005.10.017
- Ciechanover A (2005) Proteolysis: from the lysosome to ubiquitin and the proteasome. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 6(1):79–87. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm1552
- Contesini FJ, Melo RR, Sato HH (2017) An overview of Bacillus proteases: from production to application. Crit Rev Biotechnol 38:321–334. https://doi.org/10.1080/07388551.2017.1354354
- Da Silva RR (2017) Bacterial and fungal proteolytic enzymes: production, catalysis and potential applications. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 183:1–19. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12010-017-2427-2
- Dalev P (1994) Utilization of waste feathers from poultry slaughter for production of a protein concentrate. Bioresour Technol 48:265–267. https://doi.org/10.1016/0960-8524(94)90156-2
- Das G, Prasad MP (2010) Isolation, purification & mass production of protease enzyme from bacillus subtilis. Int Res J Microbiol 1(2):26–31. http://www.interesjournals.org/IRJM
- De Souza PD, Bittencourt ML, Caprara CC, de Freitas M, de Almeida RP, Silveira D, Magalhães PO (2015) A biotechnology perspective of fungal proteases. Braz J Microbiol 46:337–346. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1517-838246220140359
- Dedavid e Silva LA, Macedo AJ, Termignoni C (2014) Production of keratinase by Bacillus subtilis S14. Ann Microbiol 64:1725–1733. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13213-014-0816-0
- Dhillon A, Sharma K, Rajulapati V, Goyal A (2017) Proteolytic enzymes. Curr Dev Biotechnol Bioeng 149–173. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-63662-1.00007-5
- Dougan DA, Micevski D, Truscott KN (2012) The N-end rule pathway: from recognition by N-recognins, to destruction by AAA+proteases. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Cell Res 1823 (1):83–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamcr.2011.07.002
- Ehrmann M, Clausen T (2004) Proteolysis as a regulatory mechanism. Annu Rev Genet 38:709–724. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.genet.38.072902.093416
- Engelking LR (2015) Amino acid modifications. In: Textbook of veterinary physiological chemistry. Elsevier Inc., London, pp 12–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-391909-0.50003-7
- Goldberg AL (2013) Protein degradation. In: Lennarz WJ, Lane MD (eds) Encyclopedia of biological chemistry, 2nd edn. Academic Press, Waltham, pp 617–624. https://doi.org/10. 1016/B978-0-12-378630-2.00063-3
- Gromiha MM (2009) Protein. In: Protein bioinformatics. Elsevier, pp 1–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/ B978-8-1312-2297-3.50001-1
- Gupta R, Beg QK, Lorenz P (2002) Bacterial alkaline proteases: molecular approaches and industrial applications. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 59:15–32. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-002-0975-y
- Habbeche A, Saoudi B, Jaouadi B, Haberra S, Kerouaz B, Boudelaa M, Ladjama A (2014) Purification and biochemical characterization of a detergent-stable keratinase from a newly thermophilic actinomycete Actinomadura keratinilytica strain Cpt29 isolated from poultry compost. J Biosci 117(4):413–421. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiosc.2013.09.006
- Hammani A, Fakhfakh N, Abdelhedi O, Nasri M, Bayoudh A (2018) Proteolytic and amylolytic enzymes from a newly isolated Bacillus mojavensis SA: characterization and applications as laundry detergent additive and in leather processing. Int J Biol Macromol 108:56–68. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2017.11.148

- Han XQ, Damodaran S (1997) Isolation, identification, and fermentation of a Bacillus species producing a detergent-stable endopeptidase. J Agric Food Chem 45:4191–4195. https://doi.org/ 10.1021/jf970727f
- Hartley H (1951) Origin of the word 'protein'. Nature 168(244). https://doi.org/10.1038/168244a0
- Homaei A, Lavajoo F, Sariri R (2016) Development of marine biotechnology as a resource for novel proteases and their role in modern biotechnology. Int J Biol Macromol 88:542–552. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2016.04.023
- Hsia C, Shen M, Lin J, Wen Y, Hwang K, Cham T, Yang N (2009) Nattokinase decreases plasma levels of fibrinogen, factor VII, and factor VIII in human subjects. Nutr Res Rev 29:190–196. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nutres.2009.01.009
- Ibrahim AS, Al-Salamah AA, Elbadawi YB, El-Tayeb MA, Shebl Ibrahim SS (2015) Production of extracellular alkaline protease by new halotolerant alkaliphilic Bacillus sp. NPST-AK15 isolated from hyper saline soda lakes. Electron J Biotechnol 18:236–243. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.ejbt.2015.04.001
- Jacobson J, Glick J, Madello K (1985) Composition for cleaning drains clogged with deposits containing hairs. US Patent 4540506
- Jaouadi B, Ellouz-Chaabouni S, Rhimi M, Bejar S (2008) Biochemical and molecular characterization of a detergent-stable serine alkaline protease from Bacillus pumilus CBS with high catalytic efficiency. Biochimie 90(9):1291–1305
- Joshi RH, Dodia MS, Singh SP (2008) Production and optimization of a commercially viable alkaline protease from a haloalkaliphilic bacterium. Biotechnol Bioprocess Eng 13:552–559. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12257-007-0211-9
- Kaiser M, Huber R, Ehrmann M (2013) Proteolysis. In: Maloy S, Hughes K (eds) Brenner's encyclopedia of genetics, 2nd edn. Academic Press, San Diego, pp 501–503. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/B978-0-12-374984-0.01229-8
- Kalaiarasi K, Sunitha PU (2009) Optimization of alkaline protease production from Pseudomonas fluorescens isolated from meat waste contaminated soil. Braz J Microbiol 8:7035–7041. https:// doi.org/10.5897/AJB2009.000-9547
- Kanekar P, Nilegaonkar S, Sarnaik S, Kelkar A (2002) Optimization of protease activity of alkaliphilic bacteria isolated from an alkaline lake in India. Bioresour Technol 85:87–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0960-8524(02)00018-4
- Klein T, Eckhard U, Dufour A, Solis N, Overall CM (2018) Proteolytic cleavage—mechanisms, function, and "omic" approaches for a near-ubiquitous posttranslational modification. Chem Rev 118(3):1137–1168. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.chemrev.7b00120
- Knop M, Schiffer HH, Rupp S, Wolf DH (1993) Vacuolar/lysosomal proteolysis: proteases, substrates mechanisms. Curr Opin Cell Biol 5(6):990–996. https://doi.org/10.1016/0955-0674 (93)90082-2
- Koka R, Weimer BC (2000) Investigation of the ability of a purified protease from Pseudomonas fluorescens RO98 to hydrolyze bitter peptides from cheeseInt. Dairy J 10:75–79. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S0958-6946(00)00023-6
- Kranthi V, Rao D, Jaganmohan P (2012) Production of protease by Aspergillus flavus through solid state fermentation using different oil seed cakes. Int J Microbiol Res 3:12–15. https://doi.org/10. 5829/idosi.ijmr.2012.3.1.613
- Kuddus M, Ramteke PW (2012) Recent developments in production and biotechnological applications of cold-active microbial proteases. Crit Rev Microbiol 38:330–338. https://doi. org/10.3109/1040841X.2012.678477
- Kumaran E, Mahalakshmipriya A, Rajan S (2013) Effect of fish waste based bacillus protease in silver recovery from waste X-ray films. Int J Curr Microbiol Appl Sci 2:49–56. https://www. ijcmas.com/Archives/vol-2-3/E.%20Kumaran%20etal.pdf
- Laxman RS, Shankar S, More S (2010) Recovery of silver from waste X-ray film by alkaline protease from Conidiobolus coronatus. Kathmandu Univ J Sci Eng Technol 6(1):60–69

- Lecker SH, Goldberg AL, Mitch WE (2006) Protein degradation by the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway in normal and disease states. J Am Soc Nephrol 17(7):1807–1819. https://doi.org/10. 1681/ASN.2006010083
- Lee J-H, Yu WH, Kumar A, Lee S, Mohan PS, Peterhoff CM, Wolfe DM, Martinez-Vicente M, Massey AC, Sovak G et al (2010) Lysosomal proteolysis and autophagy require Presenilin 1 and are disrupted by Alzheimer-related PS1 mutations. Cell 141(7):1146–1158. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.cell.2010.05.008
- Litwack G (2018) Proteins. In: Human biochemistry. Elsevier Inc., London, pp 63–94. https://doi. org/10.1016/B978-0-12-383864-3.00004-1
- López-Otín C, Bond JS (2008) Proteases: multifunctional enzymes in life and disease. J Biol Chem 283(45):30433–30437. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.R800035200
- Manachini PL, Fortina MG (1998) Production in sea-water of thermostable alkaline proteases by a halotolerantstrain of Bacillus licheniformis. Biotechnol Lett 20:565–568. https://doi.org/10. 1023/A:1005349728182
- Margesin R, Schinner F (1999) Biotechnological applications of cold-adapted organisms. In: Biotechnological applications of cold-adapted organisms. Berlin, Springer, pp 271–289
- Masui A, Fujiwara N, Takagi M, Imanaka T (1999) Feasibility study for decomposition of gelatin layers on X-ray films by thermostable alkaline protease from alkaliphilic Bacillus sp. Biotechnol Tech 13:813–815. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1008960803221
- Mathews CK, Van Holde KE (1996) Biochemistry. Benjamin/Cummings Pub. Co., Menlo Park, CA
- Mienda BS, Adiba Y, Galadima IA, Shamsir MS (2014) An overview of microbial proteases for industrial applications. Res J Pharm Biol Chem Sci 5:388–396. ISSN: 0975-8585. https://www. rjpbcs.com/pdf/2014_5(1)/[45].pdf
- Murray RK, Granner DK, Davis JC, Mayes PA, Rodwell VW (2006) Harper's illustrated biochemistry. Lange Medical Books/McGraw-Hill, New York
- Murray JE, Laurieri N, Delgoda R (2017) Proteins. Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-802104-0.00024-X
- Myung J, Kim KB, Crews CM (2001) The ubiquitin-proteasome pathway and proteasome inhibitors. Med Res Rev 21(4):245–273. https://doi.org/10.1002/med.1009
- Najafi MF, Deobagkar D, Deobagkar D (2005) Potential application of protease isolated from Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Electron J Biotechnol 8:197. https://doi.org/10.2225/vol8-issue2fulltext-5
- Nakiboglu N, Toscali D, Yasa I (2001) Silver recovery from waste photographic films. Turk J Chem 25:349–353. http://journals.tubitak.gov.tr/chem/issues/kim-01-25-3/kim-25-3-12-0010-51.pdf
- Oscan T, Kurdal E (2012) The effects of using a starter culture, lipase, and protease enzymes on ripening of Mihalic cheese. Int J Dairy Technol 65(4):585–593
- Patil U, Chaudhari A (2013) Production of alkaline protease by solvent-tolerant alkaliphilic Bacillus circulans MTCC 7942 isolated from hydrocarbon contaminated habitat: process parameters optimization. ISRN Biochem 2013:1–10. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/942590
- Pereira Rodarte M, Ribeiro Dias D, Marques Vilela D, Freitas Schwan R (2011) Proteolytic activities of bacteria, yeasts and filamentous fungi isolated from coffee fruit (Coffea arabica L.). Acta Sci Agron 33:1807–8621. https://doi.org/10.4025/actasciagron.v33i3.6734
- Pham VC, Anania VG, Phung QT, Lill JR (2014) Chapter 14: Complementary methods for the identification of substrates of proteolysis. In: Ashkenazi A, Yuan J, Wells J (eds) Regulated cell death part A: apoptotic mechanisms, Methods in enzymology, vol 544. Academic Press, San Diego, pp 359–380. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-417158-9.00014-5
- Rajmalwar S, Dabholkar P (2009) Production of protease by Aspergillus sp. using solid- state fermentation. Afr J Biotechnol 8:4197–4198. ISSN: 1684-5315. http://www.academicjournals. org/AJB
- Rao K, Narasu ML (2007) Alkaline protease from Bacillus firmus 7728. Afr J Biotechnol 6:2493–2496. https://doi.org/10.5897/AJB2007.000-2395

- Rao MB, Tanksale AM, Ghatge MS, Deshpande VV (1998) Molecular and biotechnological aspects of microbial proteases. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 62:597–635. https://doi.org/10.1128/ MMBR.62.3.597-635.1998
- Rawlings ND (2004) MEROPS: the peptidase database. Nucleic Acids Res 32:160-164
- Rechsteiner M, Rogers SW (1996) PEST sequences and regulation by proteolysis. Trends Biochem Sci 21(7):267–271
- Rieger TJ, de Oliveira CT, Pereira JQ, Brandelli A, Daroit DJ (2017) Proteolytic system of Bacillus sp. CL18 is capable of extensive feather degradation and hydrolysis of diverse protein substrates. Br Poult Sci 58:329–335. https://doi.org/10.1080/00071668.2017.1293229
- Riessen S, Antranikian G (2001) Isolation of Thermoanaerobacter keratinophilus sp. nov., a novel thermophilic, anaerobic bacterium with keratinolytic activity. Extremophiles 5:399–408. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s007920100209
- Rosso AL, Azam F (1987) Proteolytic activity in coastal oceanic waters: depth distribution and relationship to bacterial populations. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 41:231–240. https://doi.org/10.2307/24827432
- Rozzell JD (1999) Commercial scale biocatalysis: myths and realities. Bioorg Med Chem 7:2253–2261. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0968-0896(99)00159-5
- Sangeetha R, Arulpandi I (2019) Anti-inflammatory activity of a serine protease produced from bacillus pumilus SG2. Biocatal Agric Biotechnol 19:101162. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcab. 2019.101162
- Saraswathy N, Ramalingam P (2011) Introduction to proteomics. In: Concepts and techniques in genomics and proteomics. Woodhead Publishing Limited, Oxford, pp 147–158. https://doi.org/ 10.1533/9781908818058.147
- Shafee N, Aris S, Zaliha R, Rahman R, Basri M, Salleh A, Aris A (2005) Optimization of environmental and nutritional conditions for the production of alkaline protease by a newly isolated bacterium Bacillus cereus strain 146 J. Appl Sci Res 1:1–8. ISSN: 1816-157X. http:// www.aensiweb.com/old/jasr/jasr_august_2005.html
- Sharma KM, Kumar R, Panwar S, Kumar A (2017) Microbial alkaline proteases: optimization of production parameters and their properties. J Genet Eng Biotechnol 15:115–126. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jgeb.2017.02.001
- Singh S, Kumar Bajaj B (2017) Potential application spectrum of microbial proteases for clean and green industrial production. Energy Ecol Environ 2:370–386. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40974-017-0076-5
- Singh J, Vohra RM, Sahoo DK (1999) Alkaline protease from a new obligate alkalophilic isolate of Bacillus sphaericus. Biotechnol Lett 21:921–924. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1005502824637
- Singh R, Mittal A, Manoj K, Kumar Mehta P (2016) Microbial proteases in commercial applications. J Pharm Chem Biol Sci 4:365–374. ISSN: 2348-7658. https://www.jpcbs.info/ 2016_4_3_06_Rajendra.pdf
- Stephenson FH (2016) Protein. In: Calculations for molecular biology and biotechnology. Elsevier Inc., San Diego, pp 375–429. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-802211-5.00011-4
- Telagi V (2012) Isolation production and characterization of protease from Bacillus Sp isolated from soil sample. J Microbiol Biotechnol Res 2:163–168. ISSN: 2231-3168. http://scholarsresearchlibrary.com/archive.html
- Tiwari M (2017) The role of serratiopeptidase in the resolution of inflammation. Asian J Pharm Sci 12:209–215. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajps.2017.01.003
- Vanitha N, Rajan S, Murugesan AG (2014) Optimization and production of alkaline protease enzyme from Bacillus subtilis 168 isolated from food industry waste. Int J Curr Microbiol Appl Sci 3:36–44. ISSN: 2319-7706. https://www.ijcmas.com/vol-3-6/N.Vanitha,%20et%20al. pdf
- Venugopal M, Saramma AV (2006) Characterization of alkaline protease from Vibrio fluvialis strain VM10 isolated from a mangrove sediment sample and its application as a laundry detergent additive. Process Biochem 41:1239–1243. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procbio.2005. 12.025

- Verma A, Singh H, Anwar S, Chattopadhyay A, Tiwari KK, Kaur S, Dhilon GS (2017) Microbial keratinases: industrial enzymes with waste management potential. Crit Rev Biotechnol 37:476–491. https://doi.org/10.1080/07388551.2016.1185388
- Vickery HB (1950) The origin of the word protein. Yale J Biol Med 22(5):387-393
- Vishwanatha T, Spoorthi NJ, Reena V, Divyashree B, Siddalingeshwara KG, Karthic J, Sudipta KM (2010) Screening of substrates for protease production from Bacillus Licheniformis. Int J Eng Res Sci Technol 2:6550–6554
- Ward OP, Rao MB, Kulkarni A (2009) Proteases, production. In: Encyclopedia of microbiology, pp 495–511. https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/8888/951089c6476370af045f2828b6e27530fae8. pdf
- Williams MR, Nakatsuji T, Sanford JA, Vrbanac AF, Gallo RL (2017) Staphylococcus aureus induces increased serine protease activity in keratinocytes. J Invest Dermatol 137:377–384. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jid.2016.10.008
- Wu TY, Mohammad AW, Jahim JM, Anuar N (2006) Investigations on protease production by a wild-type Aspergillus terreus strain using diluted retentate of pre-filtered palm oil mill effluent (POME) as substrate. Enzyme Microb Technol 39:1223–1229. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. enzmictec.2006.03.007
- Yamano H, Tsurumi C, Gannon J, Hunt T (1998) The role of the destruction box and its neighbouring lysine residues in cyclin B for anaphase ubiquitin-dependent proteolysis in fission yeast: defining the D-box receptor. EMBO J 17(19):5670–5678. https://doi.org/10.1093/emboj/ 17.19.5670
- Zambare V, Nilegaonkar S, Kanekar P (2010) A novel extracellular protease from Pseudomonas aeruginosa MCM B-327: enzyme production and its partial characterization. New Biotechnol 28:173–181. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbt.u.10.002
- Zhang Y, Mikhael M, Xu D, Li Y, Soe-Lin S, Ning B, Li W, Nie G, Zhao Y, Ponka P (2010) Lysosomal proteolysis is the primary degradation pathway for cytosolic ferritin and cytosolic ferritin degradation is necessary for iron exit. Antioxid Redox Signal 13(7):999–1009. https:// doi.org/10.1089/ars.2010.3129



Microbial Degradation of Microplastics

Agnieszka Dąbrowska

Abstract

The increasing plastics production and consumption, mainly in the form of disposable products, consists one of the major environmental threats transforming the Blue Planet into the Plastic One. The synthetic materials introduced to the biosphere ends in the global ocean system and gradually degrade. Their constantly growing surface, called Plastisphere, is already considered one of the most important ecological niches. The biofilm on the polymers substrate is investigated. Various bacteria, but also insects and fungus, can decompose those resistant and durable materials. This chapter describes briefly the marine microplastics phenomena, their role and fate in the environment, uniqueness of the Plastisphere and presents the selected recent research on microbial degradation of polymers. Finally, future perspectives and directions are comprehensively outlined.

Keywords

 $\label{eq:main} \begin{array}{l} \text{Marine microplastic} \cdot \text{Microplastics} \cdot \text{Nanoplastic} \cdot \text{Plastisphere} \cdot \text{Biofilm} \cdot \\ \text{Biodegradation of polymers} \end{array}$

A. Dąbrowska (🖂)

Laboratory of Spectroscopy and Intermolecular Interactions, Faculty of Chemistry, University of Warsaw, Warsaw, Poland

University of Warsaw Biological and Chemical Research Centre, Warsaw, Poland e-mail: adabrowska@chem.uw.edu.pl

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 Inamuddin et al. (eds.), *Recent Advances in Microbial Degradation*, Environmental and Microbial Biotechnology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-0518-5_14

14.1 Introduction to Microplastics

Although the issue of microplastics in the environment, especially marine microplastic, is nowadays one of the most popular topics addressed by specialists, NGOs, media, and citizen scientists, it is worth defining it. Plastic production increased dramatically from 0.5 million tonnes per year in 1960 up to almost 300 in 2013 (Avio et al. 2017). By term microplastic, one intends all fragments of synthetic materials <5 mm. Even if the upper limit seems arbitrary and somehow artificial, the size is crucial due to the increasing relative surface, in particular surface to volume ratio, during the fragmentation of material and its numerous consequences. One can underline the area, increasing in time, available for a biofilm.

Although the role of polymer debris as a new ecological niche is still not fully understood and currently investigated, the impact on biota does not present any doubts. Microplastics affect all of the trophic chains and bioaccumulate at higher levels of a pyramid. Although nobody has calculated yet the number of microplastics in the oceans, its mass is estimated to be between 90–150 million tonnes with approximately ~5 trillion pieces floating. However, the sustainability threshold is still unknown and the cascade of effects changing significantly the ecosystem's equilibrium can be triggered easily and develop fast. This risk is often neglected or underrated, one should bear in mind.

Regarding the various and complex impacts of microplastics on the environment, this type of pollution should be included within the list of planetary boundaries (Villarrubia-Gómez et al. 2018). It meets the three requirements being poorly reversible, visible on the global scale and potentially having a disruptive effect on the natural processes. Moreover, the situation changes dynamically as no item stays stable once introduced to the environment. Bing ubiquitous influences all parts of a planet, even pristine and remote regions or the Marine Protected Areas (Barnes et al. 2018). Plastics are already a common part of landscapes, near the urbanized area and densely populated agglomerations, as well as in remote reserves (Fig. 14.1).

Debris can be transferred by wind, water, human activities, fragmented, weathered, float, sink, etc. In consequence, the microplastics localization, physical and chemical properties (roughness, composition, shape, size, etc.), behavior, and changes in time. Finally, this relatively new component of the biosphere is not invisible to the smallest inhabitants of our planet. Bacteria, viruses, fungi, and insects, as well as the phito- and zooplankton in the oceans evolve more rapidly in comparison to the vertebrates and improve their ability to utilize synthetic materials. Among diverse primary and secondary sources of microplastics, one can point out the worn and abandoned fishing nets (the so-called ghost nets) that are densely colonized by different groups of animals and plastered by organic matter (Fig. 14.2).

Within the following paragraphs, that sort of interaction will be described, mainly regarding the various microbial activities, from degradation to the complex Plastisphere system.



Fig. 14.1 The synthetic materials discarded on a beach: (a) in Gdynia (Poland) and (b) Mykines (Faroe Islands)



Fig. 14.2 The fishing nets (a) in the harbour and (b) in the laboratory and their changes during weathering under the UV radiation

14.2 Degradation of Polymer Materials

Microplastics in the environment one can divide into the primary ones, already new being <5 mm, or secondary when pristine synthetic materials weather and fragment in time. This gradual fragmentation of microplastics is caused by the weathering triggered both by biological and abiotic conditions. The polymer debris in the marine environment, on one hand, interacts with sea currents, abrasive rocks and sand grinding, UV radiation, chemical compounds, and on the other hand, can be biologically degraded by biofilm growing on its surface. Although the first group of natural conditions is well defined and parametrized, the microbial degradation of apparently durable and no-comestible materials is the domain of recent investigations. The influence of physical and chemical conditions on the biofilm further complicates the modeling of those processes. In particular, the size, concentration, and surface morphology or functionalization (by e.g., -COOH, -OH, $-NH_2$ groups) of the microplastics and nanoplastics determine the potential biofilm on it as it was shown in laboratory research (Miao et al. 2019). The bacterial community will be different on floating debris in respect to the one in sediments.

Regarding the usefulness of synthetic materials, one should care about their durability. The resistance and neglectable degradation over time was also a main goal of the polymer inventors 150 years ago. However, till that time production of nearly half of them switched to single-use items. From that new perspective, easily degraded materials will be more sustainable and green. The concentration on fast production-consumption-wast-recycling is a kind of a vicious circle, but will not be discussed here. One concludes shortly, that to enhance the circular economy the durable but easily biodegradable material will be the aim for the future. Interestingly, not only the bacteria are in the grade of degradation. One can focus also on some species of fungus or insects.

In general, regardless of the species, the microbial degradation of polymers can be divided into the following steps:

- the biofilm formation on the surface in a biodeterioration process
- · depolymerization with hydrolysis or oxidation causing fragmentation of chains
- · the catabolism of the depolymerization byproducts via bioassimilation
- biomineralization of organic matter and release to the environment of basic compounds and elements (H₂O, CO₂, CH₄, N₂).

At each step various parameters control the process, such as type of polymer and species in biofilm, physical and chemical conditions of the surface and surroundings of the debris, oxygen availability, temperature, and time. During degradation, a sequence of chemical changes, mostly photooxidation, thermal oxidation, hydrolysis, biodegradation, causes the reduction of the molecular weight and mechanical integrity of the polymer. All processes change the buoyancy of the material and its transport paths. Moreover, the leaching of additives, being frequently the strong contaminants, is observed. One can list as particularly toxic polybrominated diphenyl ethers (which extend resistance to heat), nonylphenol (enhancing oxidative)

damage resistance), or triclosan (antimicrobial), phthalates, bisphenol A, alkylphenols. Some of them are strong endocrine-disrupting chemicals. Floating on the surface particles behave differently in respect to those in sea, snow, or sediments. In general, plastics are both the substrate and source of carbon for bacteria. They need to have enzymes dedicated to the decomposition of a particular chemical bond, and the most interesting research can be done by the detailed characterization of the debris partially decomposed. However, it is sometimes not possible due to numerous cracks and irregularities of pristine material, e.g., PS or PET (Fig. 14.3).

One of the most significant problems to initiate the degradation is the hydrophobicity of the surface that makes colonization difficult, if not impossible. Owing to that, the organism can secrete dedicated substances, such as the extracellular enzymes making PE more hydrophilic, biosurfactants, or use the functional groups or already adsorbed compounds, which makes the attachment easier for bacteria. Few examples of laccases or lignin peroxidases can oxidase or/and hydro-lyze HDPE. Enzymes take part in terminal oxidation, cleavage of chains, or help the fatty acids metabolization.

Finally, polymer type is crucial in the degradation process as the synthetic materials are numerous and differ significantly. For instance, PET contains aromatic and ester groups, whereas PE is built by stable short carbon chains and PS has a considerable molecular weight. *Marinomonas*, found on PET, were able to degrade cyclic hydrocarbons (phenanthrene, chrysene). Ideonella sakaiensis biomineralizes effectively PET, Pseudomonas putida PVC, Rhodococcus ruber and Pseudomonas PS, Staphylococcus sp., Pseudomonas sp., Bacillus sp. decompose PE. The saturated $-CH_2-CH_2$ chains in PE are resistant to the majority of natural degradations. However, fungi Aspergillus, Acremonium, Fusarium, Penicillium, *Phanerochaete* are capable of that. The so-called bioplastics or green plastics are also degraded by biofilm. Microorganism, bacteria, and fungi responsible for the decomposition of PLA are Actinomadura sp. T16-1, Bacillus smithii strain PL21, Alcaligenes sp., Tritirachium album ATCC 22563 and Penicillium oxalicum, Pseudomonas sp., Candia antarctica, Fusrium solani, Pseudomonas cepacia, Rhizopus delmer, Rhizopus arrhizus for PCL. Polilactids are durable in a marine environment, whereas the poly(ε -caprolactone) are easily fragmented and decomposed in the Baltic Sea. That is why understanding and proper modeling of the microbial polymer degradation is so crucial in establishing the policies about materials used in a maritime industry or any other particular conditions.

Insects are other animals capable of decomposing polymers due to the presence of microbes in their guts, which can be the resource in biodegradation. For instance, the *Bacillus* sp. YP1 and *Enterobacter asburiae* YT1 isolated from the larvae of the Indian meal moth (*Plodia interpunctella*), were capable of PE biodegradation. Similarly, the wax moth chew PE plastic bags due to the presence of *Enterobacter* sp. strain D1 in their guts.



Fig. 14.3 The microscopic picture (a, b) of the surface of pristine polystyrene

14.3 Plastisphere: The Eight Continent

The constantly increasing surface of the polymer debris found in the environment is called a Plastisphere. This special term indicates all the phenomena of the new biological niche available for biota in the Anthropocene Era. As microplastics are ubiquitous, but with different concentrations (for instance 38-234 particles m⁻³ in the Arctic Ocean) (Jiang 2018), so is the Plastisphere. Although nobody knows exactly how this "new eight continent" will change the Earth's self-regulating capacity, for instance, the carbon cycle or the biogeochemical cycling of other elements (phosphorus, nitrogen, etc.), its presence and importance are certain. The substrates from synthetic materials float in the vast and desert oceans and are colonized by bacteria and other species. Usually, the roughness and porosity are favorable in increasing the relative surface and amplifying the available space (Fig. 14.4). As a collateral effect that enhances the proliferation and persistence also of hazardous species (e.g., *Vibrio parahaemolyticus*). Due to that, microplastics should be filtered in wastewater treatment plants (Eckert et al. 2018).

Life on Plastisphere is prolific and abundant, however, it fosters the weathering and decomposition of synthetic material that may cause the leakage of added compounds. As plasticizers, flame retardants, pigments and dyes, pastes, lubricants, etc., are usually present in composite materials and are toxic, the risk of contamination increases. Furthermore, the free surface space is a potential adsorbent for persistent organic pollutants (POPs), heavy metals or viruses and pathogens. That locally compounds their concentration even in a few orders of magnitude.

In many cases, for the inhabitants of a Plastisphere the external conditions, such as the temperature, pressure, concentration of organic and inorganic matter, etc., are less important than the type and fracture level of the microplastic. On the other hand, the environmental conditions and geography, season, time also influences the formation of biofilm on the debris. Moreover, the environmental parameters influence the biofilm itself by changing its density, area, spatial heterogeneity, quorum sensing capability, to name just a few. On the other hand, the microbial communities decompose plastic surfaces, increase the relative gravity thus changing the physical and chemical properties and so the interaction of biofilm-debris is mutual and dynamic (Arias-Andres et al. 2019). Finally, using the transport on the floating debris the previously local bacteria become globally dispersed.

It is confirmed that the species found on the polymer debris, forming Plastisphere, are different (in type or number) than typical representants of the environment around them. They also form islands of pathogenicity, form diverse metabolic pathways, exhibit enhanced horizontal gen transfer and antibiotic resistance.

For instance, at the Mediterranean Sea the *Alcanivorax*, *Marinobacter*, *Arenibacter* are hydrocarbon-degrading bacteria densely populating the polymer debris (PE) or bottles in seawater (polyethylene terephthalate, PET). The *Leptolyngbya* sp., *Pleurocapsa* sp., *Rivularia* sp. are observed in the North Pacific Gyre, and debris from Baltic and the North Sea contained the accumulation of *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* and overall *Vibrio* sp. (e.g., *V. harveyi*, *V. pectinicida*,

Fig. 14.4 The SEM microscopic picture (a–c) presenting the developed surface of microplastics found in the fish guts. (Pictures were done by Marianna Gniadek and plastic debris from MIR Gdynia, Poland thanks to the Barbara Urban-Malinga Research Group)



V. xiamenensis, *V. anguillarum*) are seven times more numerous on the polymer surface than in a water column.

Furthermore, the total weight of the bacterial population influences the flotage of the debris. For those with a specific gravity lower than saltwater (PP ~ 0.84, PE ~ 0.92–0.96, in respect to the seawater 1.025), the increasing mass could make them end in sediment (as PVC, having 1.38, do naturally).

Plastisphere is not limited to the substrate, with metals and POPs absorbed, for biofilm and vector for viruses and pollutants. Many taxa inhabit the artificial surface: mainly diatoms, coccolithophores, dinoflagellates, hydroids, polychaetes, barnacles, isopod, fungi, bryozoans, and salps. Some usually individual species become the colonial ones.

Finally, one should focus on nanoplastics as a similar phenomenon but with a more intense impact on the environment. For instance, the PS nanoparticles (<100 nm) causes a change in microbial function, carbon and nitrogen cycling, influence the alga growth and photosynthesis or disrupt functional enzyme activities, exhibit toxic effect and induce oxidative stress. Their properties and behavior (e.g., aggregation) depends mainly on the size, buoyancy, morphology, porosity, hydrophobicity and the presence of the surface functional groups or adsorbed organic and inorganic matter (Song et al. 2019).

14.4 On the Edge of Science: Selected Recent Studies

The microbial degradation of synthetic materials is currently among the most investigated topics of the 21st century. Among the numerous research, one can distinguish the following directions of studies, the physical and chemical parameters of the Plastisphere, the surface morphology and its detailed qualitative and quantitative characteristics, bacterial species that are particular for microplastics and their geographical distribution, horizontal gen transfer, antibiotic resistance, microbial degradation of the synthetic materials, ecotoxicology and consequences of the debris degradation and their additives leakage, and the global model of phenomena. The methods for analyzing microbial aspects of plastics pollution are diverse, all with their advantages and drawbacks. One can focus on fluorescence electron microscopy, culture-based methods, fluorescence in situ hybridization, illumine amplicon sequencing, fluorescence-activated cell sorting, metagenomes, metatranscriptomes, metaproteome, mesocosm experiments, laboratory incubations, and chemostats. The creation of the operational taxonomic unit (OUT) matrix is a crucial step in all studies.

One of the first evidence of the Plastisphere being an ecological niche for biofilm was obtained during the Tara-Mediterranean expedition (Dussud et al. 2018) that revealed the tree distinguished bacterial communities in the water column, attached to the naturally occurring organic debris and on the microplastics. As particle-attached bacteria play a key role in the degradation of material and its circulation forming phycospheres and deteriospheres, their settlement on the plastic surface may bias the cycle of nitrogen and carbon circulation. Biofilm on the plastisphere differs

from the free-living and sediment communities in many aspects such as cell abundance, morphology, and metabolism. The patchy covering of the microplastic surface dominates. However, the authors state that the question of the existence of specific bacteria typical for plastic debris and different from attached to other particles is still open for discussion. Some preliminary studies show that *Cyanobacteria* might be the predominant residents of the synthetic materials, for instance, the *Calothrix* sp. were found in a mass of *Pleurocapsa* sp. cells. The majority of *Cyanobacteria* found on the Plastisphere belongs to one of the following orders: Oscillatoriales, Chroococcales, Nostocales, Pleurocapsales. The most numerous species are Synechococcus sp., Calothrix sp., Scytonema sp., Pleurocapsa sp. Apart from the Cyanobacteria, the Alphaproteobacteria (mainly Erythrobacter sp.), Gammaproteobacteria (mainly Alteromonas sp.), and Flavobacteria are also popular. Hydrocarbon degradation occurs. Finally, the authors report that several hydrocarbonoclastic bacteria were overrepresented and noticed on almost all specimens. They belong to the *Erythrobacteraceae* order and are represented by for instance Erythrobacter sp., Croceicoccus naphtovorans, Hyphomonas sp.

Recent study confirmed that plastics from the Mediterranea Sea host distinctive bacterial communities. *Alcanivorax borkumensis*, having an alkane hydroxylase, seems to be capable of degradation of low-density polyethylene (LDPE) (Delacuvellerie et al. 2019) and exhibits affinity to hydrophobic plastics. Moreover, they contain polyesterases degrading polyesters, both natural and synthetic. Biomineralization of the solid alkane-based structures and their mechanism need to be further studied. In contrast to the surrounding sediments dominated by the *Proteobacteria* (*Gamma-*, *Alpha-*, *Deltaproteobacteria*), plastic-associated communities were composed mainly by *Bacteroidetes* and from *Proteobacteria Alpha-* and *Gamma-* and *Epsilonproteobacteria* or *Vibrio* on floating debris.

In a Bay of Brest, the *Vibrio splendidus* were detected on the microplastics (Frère et al. 2018). Mainly the PE, PP, and PS fragments were detected. The size of particles does not influence the type of biofilm, contrary to the type of polymer. *Pseudomonadales, Oceanospirillales, Propionispira* were the PE biomarkers, whereas *Alphaproteobacteria* class for PP, *Roseovarius*, and *Nitrosomonas* for PS.

Also in benthic sediments of estuaries typical for a Vitoria Bay (Brasil) the microplastics, predominantly (77%) fibers from fishing nets, were colonized by bacteria and served as a habitat for microorganisms and invertebrates forming the Plastisphere (Baptista Neto et al. 2019).

In research of soil microplastics in Guangdong Province, China (Chai et al. 2020), the family *Hyphomonadaceae* were found responsible for the hydrocarbons degradation and potentially able to reduce the levels of toxic compounds and heavy metals. On the polymer surface, the *Desulfovibrio* and *Lachnospiraceae* were detected, which are not present usually in all soil specimens.

Among interesting directions of research, one can find the considerations about possibly enhanced gen exchange in the biofilms on the Plastisphere (Arias-Andres et al. 2018). According to the recent research, the horizontal gen transfer and the antibiotic resistance are higher in the biofilm on plastics comparing to the free-living communities or natural aggregates. The permissiveness toward plasmids with

antibiotic-resistant genes (*E. coli*) facilitates evolutionary changes at population levels as the microplastics transfer makes them available at the global scale. According to another study, one can claim the microplastics the "reservoirs for antibiotic and metal resistance genes" (ARGs and MRGs) (Yang et al. 2019). The metagenomics analysis was first used to investigate ARGs and MRGs. The size of particles in the North Pacific Gyre does not influence the type of biofilm. ARGs and MRGs abundances, in range 7.07×10^{-4} – 1.21×10^{-2} and 5.51×10^{-3} – 4.82×10^{-2} copies per 16S rRNA, were estimated as ARGs and MRGs are both linked on plasmids thus can be co-transferred. The resistance to aminoglycoside, multidrug, bacitracin, tetracycline, and MLS was confirmed for instance in *Flavobacteriaceae*, which are resistant to antibiotics and heavy metals.

Unfortunately, plastics triggering the development of antibiotic-resistant bacteria are ubiquitous and found also in a pristine and remote area of Earth, such as the Antarctic. A study carried out on polystyrene pieces retrieved in a King George Island (part of a South Shetlands archipelago) (Laganà et al. 2019) isolated 27 bacteria and 7 selected strains were checked for their antibiotic susceptibility profiles. The resistance to cefuroxime and cefazolin, cinoxacin, ampicillin, amoxicillin, clavulanic acid, carbenicillin, mezlocillin was confirmed. Antarctic bacteria were claimed the potential reservoirs for AR gens.

As it was already mentioned, it is not only due to the bacteria biomineralization that the plastics are decomposed. In a recent study (Zhang et al. 2020), the fungus *Aspergillus flavus* (from wax moth *Galleria mellonella*) are capable of PE bio-oxidation and consecutive decomposition due to the presence of strain PEDX3. Hydroxyl groups ($3100-3500 \text{ cm}^{-1}$), carbonyl groups ($1647-1716 \text{ cm}^{-1}$), and ether groups (1113 cm^{-1}) are present on the FTIR spectra what confirmes the degradation of PE. The laccases exhibit high potential in bio-oxidation.

Although marine microplastics are extensively studied, the terrestrial ecosystems are still poorly understood in terms of the polymer impact on their equilibria. The agricultural soils constitute probably similar sinks for debris as the oceans. In a recent paper (Oliveira et al. 2019) authors focus on the crucial role of insects, being the most diverse and numerous group, in the degradation of deposited on the land synthetic materials. They are famous as bioindicators and some are capable of plastics ingestion and digestion. For instance, termites are the major contributors to synthetic litter decomposition. Larvae of *Tenebrio molitor* eat styrofoam and *Culex pipiensis* larvae of mosquitoes consume microplastics which could be transferred to the adult life stage. However, it probably affects their microbiota.

The same effect of the changes in gut microbiota was observed in mice (Li et al. 2020). Animals subjected to high concentrations of microplastics have increased the number of microbial species (*Staphylococcus*), bacterial abundance, and diversity. On the other hand, one has noted a significant decrease in *Parabacteroides*. Moreover, polyethylene microplastics cause intestinal dysbacteriosis inflammation. The most common in the mice fecal samples are *Bacteroidetes, Firmicutes, Proteobacteria, Melainabacteria, Actinobacteria, Deferribacteres, Tenericutes, Verrucomicrobia*, and *Chloroflexi*. Exposure to the MMs caused statistically

significant change in the number of the most common *Deferribacteres*, *Firmicutes*, *Actinobacteria*. Changes in the gut microbiota influences the natural homeostasis, mainly the immunity system. Regarding all this, the question of human food and health security also remains an important issue to be addressed carefully (Barboza et al. 2018).

14.5 Future Perspectives

In the case of a biofilm on the plastics and the phenomena of the Plastisphere the "today's picture is just a past story". Changes and adaptive evolution acts rapidly. The research strategy should focus on the verification of good theoretical models predicting the future state. Among the main questions posed currently, topics to be considered, and interesting area of research, one can find crucial the following ones:

- What are the microbial degradation mechanisms in the case of the polymer materials, especially marine microplastics and nanoplastics?
- What is the theoretical model of the Plastisphere formation and colonization?
- Which parameters are crucial for the development of the biofilm on marine microplastic and how to measure or estimate them?
- Bacteria metabolism in detail.
- Carbon metabolism of microbial communities.
- Functional aspects of biodisintegration of polymers.
- Is there any facilitated gene exchange or increased speciation rate on the polymer debris?
- Creating the global atlas of the microbial species inhabiting the Plastisphere.
- Synthetic material as a vector for bacterial communities' global distribution.
- Horizontal genes transfer in biofilms on polymer particles.
- Complex interdisciplinary studies on ghost netting.
- Are there any new phenomena particular for the Plastisphere?
- Floating debris as a dynamically changing island.
- Quorum sensing in a Plastisphere World.
- Global transport of the biofilm on the polymer particles and creating the invasive species.
- Plastisphere as a reservoir of the antibiotic-resistance,
- The influence of oxidative stress induced by microplastics on the organism's microbiota.

Probably the answers to a few of them and discoveries are just about to be found. It is one's main concern if this knowledge will be used for sustainable development and well-being of the Blue Planet.

References

- Arias-Andres M et al (2018) Microplastic pollution increases gene exchange in aquatic ecosystems. Environ Pollut 237:253–261. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2018.02.058
- Arias-Andres M, Rojas-Jimenez K, Grossart HP (2019) Collateral effects of microplastic pollution on aquatic microorganisms: an ecological perspective. TrAC Trends Anal Chem 112:234–240. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trac.2018.11.041
- Avio CG, Gorbi S, Regoli F (2017) Plastics and microplastics in the oceans: from emerging pollutants to emerged threat. Mar Environ Res 128:2–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marenvres. 2016.05.012
- Baptista Neto JA et al (2019) Microplastics and attached microorganisms in sediments of the Vitória bay estuarine system in SE Brazil. Ocean Coast Manag 169:247–253. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.ocecoaman.2018.12.030
- Barboza LGA et al (2018) Marine microplastic debris: an emerging issue for food security, food safety and human health. Mar Pollut Bull 133:336–348. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul. 2018.05.047
- Barnes DKA et al (2018) Marine plastics threaten giant Atlantic marine protected areas. Curr Biol 28(19):R1137–R1138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2018.08.064
- Chai B et al (2020) Bacterial communities on soil microplastic at Guiyu, an E-waste dismantling zone of China. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 195:110521. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2020. 110521
- Delacuvellerie A et al (2019) The plastisphere in marine ecosystem hosts potential specific microbial degraders including Alcanivorax borkumensis as a key player for the low-density polyethylene degradation. J Hazard Mater 380:120899. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2019. 120899
- Dussud C et al (2018) Evidence of niche partitioning among bacteria living on plastics, organic particles and surrounding seawaters. Environ Pollut 236:807–816. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. envpol.2017.12.027
- Eckert EM et al (2018) Microplastics increase impact of treated wastewater on freshwater microbial community. Environ Pollut 234:495–502. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2017.11.070
- Frère L et al (2018) Microplastic bacterial communities in the Bay of Brest: influence of polymer type and size. Environ Pollut 242:614–625. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2018.07.023
- Jiang JQ (2018) Occurrence of microplastics and its pollution in the environment: a review. Sustain Prod Consump 13:16–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.spc.2017.11.003
- Laganà P et al (2019) Do plastics serve as a possible vector for the spread of antibiotic resistance? First insights from bacteria associated to a polystyrene piece from King George Island (Antarctica). Int J Hyg Environ Health 222(1):89–100. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2018. 08.009
- Li B et al (2020) Polyethylene microplastics affect the distribution of gut microbiota and inflammation development in mice. Chemosphere 244:125492. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chemosphere.2019.125492
- Miao L et al (2019) Acute effects of nanoplastics and microplastics on periphytic biofilms depending on particle size, concentration and surface modification. Environ Pollut 255:113300. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2019.113300
- Oliveira M, Ameixa OMCC, Soares AMVM (2019) Are ecosystem services provided by insects "bugged" by micro (nano)plastics? TrAC Trends Anal Chem 113:317–320. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.trac.2019.02.018
- Song Z et al (2019) Fate and transport of nanoplastics in complex natural aquifer media: effect of particle size and surface functionalization. Sci Total Environ 669:120–128. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.scitotenv.2019.03.102
- Villarrubia-Gómez P, Cornell SE, Fabres J (2018) Marine plastic pollution as a planetary boundary threat—the drifting piece in the sustainability puzzle. Mar Policy 96:213–220. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.marpol.2017.11.035

- Yang Y et al (2019) Plastics in the marine environment are reservoirs for antibiotic and metal resistance genes. Environ Int 123(1):79–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2018.11.061
- Zhang J et al (2020) Biodegradation of polyethylene microplastic particles by the fungus Aspergillus flavus from the guts of wax moth Galleria mellonella. Sci Total Environ 704:1–8. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.135931



15

Microbial Degradation of Antibiotics from Effluents

Aditi Singh 💿 and Sirjan Saluja

Abstract

Antibiotics are the pharmaceutically active compounds, which kill the microbes present in the host bodies and many of these compounds are many times used as nonprescription drugs and after the intake excreted out through urine or feces either as active substances or metabolites. As these antibiotics are biologically active, they may harm the ecosystem as they collect and accumulate in different sites such as groundwater, sewage system, effluents, etc. The antibiotics which are released in the wastewater cannot be removed by conventional wastewater treatment. Worldwide consumption of various active compounds is estimated to be amounting to some 100,000 tons or more per annum. The concentration of antibiotics in wastewater is found to be in the range of less than $1-150 \mu g/L$, which may further increase by nonmedical use of antibiotics, namely in agriculture, animal feeding operations, etc. The antibiotics are broken down into other compounds or transformation products, which are the by-products that are more active than the main compounds. Due to their high polarity, they are less biodegradable and cannot be eliminated efficiently. Since these transformation products are more stable and toxic, they remain in many ecological niches for a longer period of time, when reached in the environment such as groundwater, drinking water, and soil. The prolonged presence of these products in the environment can cause antibiotic-resistant bacteria and antibiotic-resistance genes. Although the resistance genes can occur naturally, but they mostly occur through mutation and resistance from other forms. Various studies in recent times have reported that antibiotics can be degraded by bacteria or by sorption in the sludge

A. Singh $(\boxtimes) \cdot S$. Saluja

e-mail: asingh3@lko.amity.edu

Amity Institute of Biotechnology, Amity University Uttar Pradesh, Lucknow Campus, Lucknow, India

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 Inamuddin et al. (eds.), *Recent Advances in Microbial Degradation*, Environmental and Microbial Biotechnology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-0518-5_15

in wastewater treatment plants. The chapter summarizes the antibiotic contamination in effluents and various approaches for their removal, including bioconversion approaches using microbes.

Keywords

 $\label{eq:antibiotics} \begin{array}{l} Antibiotic \ contaminants \ \cdot \ Antibiotic \ resistance \ \cdot \ Bioconversion \ \cdot \\ Bioremediation \ \cdot \ Effluents \ \cdot \ Metabolites \ \cdot \ Multidrug \ resistance \ \cdot \ Pharmaceuticals \ \cdot \\ Pharmaceutically \ active \ compounds \ \cdot \ PhACs \ \cdot \ Sewage \ effluents \ \cdot \ Wastewater \ treatment \\ treatment \end{array}$

15.1 Introduction

The use of different molds or plant extracts to treat infections has been one of the earliest approaches of mankind. Then with the discovery of compounds like Penicillin by Alexander Fleming has brought a huge change in therapeutics for many dreaded infectious diseases. The word, Antibiotics, for these active metabolites of various fungi having a potential toxic effect on bacteria, was first used by Selman Waksman, a Ukrainian-American microbiologist, who went on to isolate and discover as many as 20 antibiotics. By Second World War, Penicillin became the "wonder drug," saving more lives than ever. Since then antibiotics are one of the most popular types of pharmaceutical product which are being used extensively in medicine, farming, and veterinary clinics. Pharmaceutical companies have had an enormous growth and are developing every day. These pharmaceutically active compounds (PhACs) include all those substances that are used in agriculture, medicine, and biotechnology, in the form of antibiotics, drugs, and hormones. Table 15.1 describes some common antibiotic compounds, their target pathogen, and their mode of action. However, within a span of seven to eight decades, these antibiotics have become one of the biggest challenges for healthcare professionals. The rampant use of antibiotics has resulted in the occurrence of these PhACs in the environment. The chemical substances have lately been detected ubiquitously in various water environments, like surface water (rivers, lakes, stream, sea), groundwater, and water distribution systems as well as in sludge, effluents, and influents of wastewater treatment plants. In the past three decades, antibiotics have been detected as contaminants in all geographical niches, including the pristine polar regions. The reason for this is thought to be their high persistence and low adsorption properties. For example, carbamazepine is detected in groundwaters and diclofenac has been found in tap water. It is now well established that PhACs occurring in the environment constitute a health risk for humans as well as terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems, because of fast-developing antimicrobial resistance (AMR). The overuse and misuse of antibiotics have caused widespread problem of AMR and it is estimated that more than 500,000 people die every year due to AMR complications and this figure is expected to reach as high as 10 million deaths by 2050, causing a worldwide economic burden of \$100 trillion. As per a long-term and multicentric study by

		Degradation of	
S. no.	Antibiotic class	microorganisms	Chemical mechanism
1.	Aminoglycosides— Gentamicin (Garamycin), Tobramycin	Gram-negative bacteria (Pseudomonas aeruginosa, E. coli)	Inhibit protein synthesis
2.	Cephalosporins— Cefaclor, Cefamandole	Staphylococcus aureus, Streptococcus pneumoniae, E. coli; Bacteroides fragilis, H. influenzae, N. meningitidis	Inhibit cell wall synthesis
3.	Chloramphenicol	Staphylococcus aureus, Streptococcus. Eye ointment to treat conjunctivitis	Inhibit protein synthesis
4.	Nitrofurantoin	Citrobacter, Enterococcus, Serratia, Acinetobacter.	Inactivate essential cell components
5.	Metronidazole— nitroimidazoles	<i>B. fragilis, C. difficile,</i> Bacterial vaginosis and Pelvic inflammatory disease	Inhibits protein synthesis
6.	Tetracyclines— Chlortetracycline, Oxytetracycline, Doxycycline	Hemophilus influenzae, Streptococcus pneumoniae, Mycoplasma pneumoniae, Chlamydiae, Rickettsiae	Inhibit protein synthesis
7.	Beta Lactams— Amoxicillin, Ampicillin, Aztreonam Carbenicillin, Cloxacillin, Penicillin, Methicillin, Cephalexin, Cefprozil, Cefuroxime	Most consumed class of the antibiotics; given for a wide range of infections, <i>Staphylococci</i> , <i>Streptococci</i> , <i>Pseudomonas aeruginosa</i> , and other gram-negative pathogens—aztreonam	Inhibit cell wall synthesis
8.	Piperacillin (Penicillin group of antibiotics) and Tazobactam (β-lactamase inhibitor)	Gram +ve and –ve bacteria including pathogen producing bacteria like beta- lactamases.	Inhibit cell wall synthesis
9.	Macrolides— Erythromycin, Roxithromycin, Azithromycin, Clarithromycin	Bacteriostatic and are particularly effective against gram-positive bacteria and also efficient against anaerobic microorganisms	Inhibit bacterial protein synthesis
10.	Sulfonamides— Sulfamethoxazole, Sulfamethazine, Sulfapyridine,	Synthetic broad-spectrum antibiotics to treat bacterial and some fungal infections. Also urinary	Inhibiting the conversion of <i>p</i> -aminobenzoic to dihydropteroate needed by

 Table 15.1
 Some common antibiotics, their target organisms, and their mechanism of action

(continued)

S. no.	Antibiotic class	Degradation of microorganisms	Chemical mechanism
	Sulfadiazine, Sulfanilamide, Sulfamethizole	tract infections and against Streptococcus, Staphylococcus aureus, E. coli, Haemophilus influenza, and oral anaerobes	bacteria for folic acid synthesis
11.	Quinolones—Nalidixic acid Ciprofloxacin, Trimethoprim, Thiamphenicol, Chloramphenicol, Lincomycin, Clindamycin	Used for both gram- negative like <i>Salmonella</i> spp., <i>E. coli</i> , <i>P. aeruginosa</i> . As well as gram-positive bacteria.	Bactericidal activity by deactivating of DNA gyrase and topoisomerase
12.	Fluoroquinolones— Norfloxacin	Enterococcus faecalis, Staphylococcus epidermis, Citrobacter freundii	Interfere with DNA synthesis

Table 15.1 (continued)

Klein et al. (2018), the usage of antibiotics has increased by 65% from the year 2000 to 2015, along with an alarming rise from 21 billion to almost 35 billion defined daily doses.

Apart from the high use of antibiotics for medical purposes, there are many nonmedical uses of antibiotics, which also become a significant contributor to AMR. As animal feed supplements and other veterinary use—mixing of antibiotics in animal food to promote growth was started by some countries like United States and China. This was subsequently adapted by most countries because this gave a big boost in the animal industry, in terms of increased size of animals, accelerated growth, and reduced loss due to diseases. However, there was no regulation or check on dosage and this leads to suboptimal doses of antibiotics in those animals and thereby reaching the human body or in environment. With the emergence of antibiotic resistance, many countries have reduced their use in animal feed. A large amount of antibiotics produced every year are being used in animal and poultry industry, mainly as growth promoter and not for treating infections. The antibiotics are used as supplements and premixes of animal feed industry. As per a report, as much as 25 million pounds of antibiotics were being used in animal industry in the United States alone till the last decade.

Penicillin and tetracycline are used in poultry feed to improve egg production. Chlortetracycline and sulfamethazine are used in bovine feed to reduce respiratory disease and mortality. However, emergence of antibiotic resistance due to overuse of these substances in animal feed has been reported continuously. Alarming trends have been noticed, like the feed additive Avoparcin which is otherwise not used in humans, but the avoparcin-resistant strains have been found to be resistant to Vancomycin also. European Union has banned all those antibiotic compounds as growth-promoting substances, which have the potential to develop cross-resistance in antibiotics of human health. Denmark has put a complete ban on such growth-promoting antibiotics in animal feed. But many countries like China and India continue to use it. Also, one antibiotic may be banned in one country; but may still be used widely in another, e.g., vancomycin is banned in Germany, but is still being used in United States (Kumar et al. 2019). Antibiotics are also used many a times as veterinary medicine to treat animals. Some frequently used antibiotics in veterinary practices are tetracyclines, oxytetracyclines, sulfamethazine, penicillin G, lincomycin, etc. Sometimes, suboptimal levels increase the risk of the development of antibiotic-resistant bacteria.

Fish farming is a big industry globally and the use of antibiotics in aquaculture is prevalent. It is given as part of the feed to minimize infections in fish. In aquaculture, commonly used antibiotics are oxytetracycline, florefenicol, sarafloxacin, trimethoprim, ciprofloxacin, and ofloxacin. All these compounds have been detected in water bodies at variable concentrations. In apiculture, antibiotics like Oxytetracycline are sometimes used to inhibit bacterial infection of bee larvae. However, honeybees cannot metabolize these substances, and oxytetracycline is found to be present at very high levels in honey (Meek et al. 2015). In plant and food preservations, antibiotics like streptomycin are used in apple and pear orchard to protect from fire blight infection. Presence of antibiotics has been reported in few vegetables like cabbage, carrot, radish, corn, etc. Bacteriocins are commonly used in canned food and dairy products to limit the growth of *Listeria monocytogenes*. Antibiotics are used in fermentation process during ethanol production to inhibit bacterial infections. Many common domestic products like shampoo, soap, or children's toys contain antibacterial agent, Triclosan. Resistance development toward triclosan in many bacteria has been reported. Similarly, resistance genes for quaternary ammonium compounds (QACs) have also been identified and studied in many bacterial strains; thereby increasing concerns on the prevalent use of these QACs in a variety of common personal care and domestic products.

15.2 Presence of Antibiotic Contaminant in Environment and Water Bodies

Antibiotics form one of the highest selling pharmaceutical agents and their production is increasing day by day all over the world. The global consumption of Antibiotics ranges from 10,000 to 20,000 tonnes and thus there has been a tremendous growth of pharma and biotech companies, which have become market leaders in terms of revenue with the sector's annual sales recorded around US \$875 billion globally for the year 2010 itself. India is home to a wide range of both large and small pharmaceutical companies, for example, Aurobindo, Alkem, Cipla, or Sun Pharma are some such leading pharmaceutical companies in India. Hindustan Antibiotics (HAL) based in Pimpri, India is a government-run company of India producing recombinant DNA products. The company's main objective was to produce drugs for the healthcare industry, but now it has diversified into different sectors such as veterinary and agriculture as well. India and China together manufacture 90% of the world's antibiotics, which puts them in a top position as a
contributor in spreading AMR. The large production of these compounds has resulted in high concentration of antibiotics or related compounds in pharmaceutical industrial effluents, which reach wastewater treatment plants. During the manufacture of antibiotics, different residues, chemical materials, and ingredients may percolate into the water, which is then discharged into the surrounding water bodies. As per one report, concentrations of the antibiotic moxifloxacin found outside manufacturing units were more than 10,000 times higher than the Indian Government's proposed new limit of $0.05 \,\mu$ g/L. The presence of antibiotics in rivers and potable water in Baghdad City, Iraq was studied by analyzing the potable water from two treatment plants and authors have shown that PhACs like ciprofloxacin, levofloxacin, and amoxicillin were detected in significant amounts in raw water with ciprofloxacin at highest concentration of 1.270 µg/L in the raw water; while ciprofloxacin and levofloxacin were detected in the finished water as well (Mahmood et al. 2019). Such incidents may become a significant contributor to the emergence and spread of AMR, putting these pharmaceutical industries, especially antibiotic manufacturers and related global healthcare industries into regulatory focus. The extensive use of these pharmaceutical compounds is constantly increasing and as per a report in British Medical Journal, one in every seven persons have received antibiotic without any reason at least once in 1-year time span (Chua et al. 2019). The antibiotics or their metabolites are excreted out in urine and feces and thus they are present in significant amounts in household wastewater and then in municipal sewage. Because of their rampant use, PhACs are being released in environment on a regular basis and thus are present in various wastewater sources. Hospital waste and hospital dumps of expired medicines are also another major source of antibiotics reaching in influents and effluents of water treatment plants. Reports have shown that the hospitals in India had many antibiotics like metronidazole, ofloxacin, ceftriaxone in the hospital effluents. The range of these products was from 1.4 to 236.6 UG. Antibiotics like ofloxacin, ciprofloxacin, azithromycin, sulfamethoxazole. Tetracycline and sulfonamide have been found in raw wastewater in China. Many studies have now reported that wastewater treatment that is done presently to remove contaminants is not completely effective in eliminating and removing antibiotics or their related compounds. Therefore, these molecules have been found in hospital effluents, wastewater treatment plant effluents, its solids, soil, and groundwaters. The antibiotics and their metabolites present in surface water get discharged in drains and ultimately reach rivers and seas. This causes further contamination and serious implications on people's health and the environment. Figure 15.1 gives some major sources of PhACs in environment and other water bodies.

15.3 Other Environmental Impacts

Apart from that, antibiotics and metabolites are also excreted out by farm and poultry animals, for which these compounds are used as feed supplements. In a report (Pina et al. 2018), it is described that how large volumes of antibiotics which are being used in various agriculture practices are leaching out in the surrounding



Fig. 15.1 Major sources of PhACs in environment and other water bodies

groundwaters. The cattle manure is also being frequently used in fields and this may contain significant amounts of antibiotics thus reaching the soil, then in the runoff water, and may also leach to groundwaters. The presence of water-soluble molecules especially less than 1000 Da molecular weight is more frequent in different water bodies and higher concentrations of beta-lactams, aminoglycosides, rifamycins, tetracyclines, quinolones, and fluoroquinolones have been reported (Kumar et al. 2019). It is noted that these chemical compounds are present in highest amounts in wastewater treatment plants and sewage treatment plants; therefore, their effluents frequently contain antibiotics and their derivatives. It becomes thus highly important to be seen where these effluents are mixing in environment. However, the presence of both broad and narrow-spectrum antibiotics is reported from various environmental samples, e.g., hospital effluents are frequently reported to be containing high concentration of common antibiotics, namely fluoroquinolones, trimethoprim, betalactams, macrolids, sulfamethoxazole, sulfonamides, lincomycin, etc. (Meena et al. 2015). Another important point to note is that the breakdown rate of one antibiotic may be different from other and that will also have resultant effect on the amount being present in effluents, e.g., Cyclosporin A is a very slow degrading molecule.

The antibiotics erythromycin, roxithromycin, sulfamethoxazole, clarithromycin have been found in seashore water samples from different sea around many countries like Italy, Greece, Germany, Turkey, Belgium, China, and the United States (Nodler et al. 2014). Also, the different category of antibiotics has different breakdown mechanisms; because of their variable physical and chemical properties. Thus, fluoroquinolones and sulfonamides persist longer in environment as compared to macrolides; while aminoglycosides and beta-lactams are reported to persist for shortest time periods. Tetracyclines are degraded in sunlight; but if present in biofilms and in recalcitrant forms, they may persist longer in the environment. Antibiotics found in various ecological niches, get constantly mixed in fresh water and other water bodies through runoff, rainwater, and soil erosion; and thus, interact with microbial communities in various ways. The soil and water microbiota may get severely affected by antibiotic contaminants.

The antibiotics are not only degraded and made present in the environment by feces and urine, but the expired drugs play a role as well. The expired drugs are discarded and drained into the toilet. As the antibiotics are also used in fish farms, some antibiotics such as chloramphenicol and oxytetracycline have been detected in aquaculture ponds and poultry industry. The vegetables taken up by these contaminates also have antibiotics in them. A particular antibiotic may act differently in different places based on their biological and chemical properties. The use of antibiotics in veterinary and poultry industry causes recalcitrant mechanism to survive under the stress of antibiotic which leads to multidrug-resistant bacteria. Several compounds have been shown responsible for disruption of endocrine system of humans as well as animals. These are called endocrine disrupters (EDCs). There are also natural estrogens and contraceptives which relate to diseases of decreased male fertility, testicular and prostate cancer, apart from many other long-term effects.

15.4 Impact of Antibiotics in Effluents on Bacterial Communities

Bacteria population gets effected by antibiotics on a large scale which includes not only the targeted bacteria but also the non-targeted populations. Antibiotics act as bactericidal and as mentioned above cause the development of resistance in bacteria even on the nontarget population as a long-term effect, e.g., Fluoroquinolones found in hospital which targets prokaryotes and is toxic to them more than eukaryotes. Antibiotic resistance is the biggest resultant effect of this constant exposure of antibiotics with different microbial communities. Lot of misuse and overuse has led to development of newer and multiple resistant mechanisms among bacteria. As the antibiotics are released with incomplete metabolism in humans and animals, it shows effects against many environmental microorganisms. The increase in the antibiotic's degradation has caused resistance in bacterial species which has irreversible long-term effects. It can survive and multiply by several mechanisms and is resistant to the effectiveness of drugs against particular diseases. Many bacteria such as *Escherichia coli, Clostridium, Enterococcus,* and *Lactobacillus* show great effect in their structural composition and biological activity. *Clostridium* showed a reduced growth rate due to toxic effects of sulfamethoxazole, penicillin, erythromycin, ciprofloxacin, and amoxicillin. The *Vibrio fischeri* is also negatively affected by penicillin G, tetracycline.

The survival of bacteria even with antibiotics in sight can cause further harm in nature. The frequent outburst of Cyanobacteria blooms is an all-over phenomenon in freshwater leading to poor water quality, hypoxia, off-flavor in water bodies, and release of cyanotoxins from cyanobacteria strains. Cyanobacteria blooms are also caused naturally by phosphorus to nitrogen ratio, temperature, pH, light intensity; but it has been shown that industrial contaminants can also trigger Cyanobacteria thus producing cyanotoxins. As cyanobacteria are closely related to bacteria, they are more sensitive to antibiotics as compared to algal species. *Microcystis aeruginosa* is a widely distributed toxic Cyanobacteria strains which is affected by antibody contaminants causing an effect on growth and photosynthesis efficiency. The mechanism of interactions remains unclear between antibiotic contaminants and *Microcystis aeruginosa*. It is shown that the two antibiotic of microcystins from algae.

15.5 Bacterial Strategies for Antibiotics and Resistance

The antibiotic-resistant mechanisms employed by bacteria have been extensively studied and understood and it is described than any bacteria may exhibit antibiotic resistant by any of these mechanisms—enzymatic inactivation, decreased permeability, efflux mechanism, alteration of target site, or overproduction of target. The capacity to generate these mechanisms may be developed by acquiring the resistant gene. The genetic basis of this resistance can be either chromosomal mutation, which means chromosomally mediated inducible enzymes, and if this is present in any bacteria, then the resistance will be present as an inherent property of that genus. Apart from that, more frequent mechanism is where the resistance gene can also be acquired as plasmid-encoded genetic fragment. In this common genetic basis of resistance, the genetic determinants spread laterally through a population without cell division. All three modes-transformation, transduction, and conjugation can transfer these plasmids encoded new genetic determinants in the bacterial cell. Different antibiotic-resistant genes get activated in an antibiotic-stressed environment and reach normal bacterial populations and finally become part of the normal genome (Cruz-Loya et al. 2019; Kumar et al. 2019). Bacterial species are interchangeable and acquire resistance even with a little overuse, underuse, or misuse. This is mainly caused due to them being in an exposure for a really long time with the antibiotics in low concentration. Antibiotic resistance generally states that a bacterium can survive under stress conditions with the antibiotics present. This occurs due to increased MIC of antibiotics toward the microbe. The microbes escape the drug-target interaction, efflux of antibiotics from cell, or by modification of antibiotics. The antibiotic modified enzymes when added with co-substrates can modify the antibiotics by adenylation, phosphorylation, glycosylation, etc. This can

lead to change in cell surface receptor, redox mechanisms, and hydrolysis. Under heavy antibiotic stress, several bacteria will become resistant even with controlled conditions. The antibiotics resistance is produced mainly due to long-term environmental exposure to low concentration of antibiotics, e.g., the hospital sewage tends to have more resistant bacteria to *oxytetracycline* than the pharmaceutical sewage. Many bacteria like *Pseudomonas fluorescence*, *Staphylococcus* sp. are found to be multiresistant. Natural water also detects antibiotic-resistant bacteria.

High level of density and minimal sensing of microbial consortium leads to formation of biofilm. It prevents the antibiotics from entering the bacteria because the matrix acts as a barrier. Positively charged aminoglycosides antibiotics are prevented to enter into negatively charged biofilm matrix. The high density of bacteria in biofilm consortium increases the chances of selection of resistant bacteria because of antibiotic pressure by increasing the frequency of mutation and rate of horizontal rate transfers. Antibiotics like tetracycline and fosfomycin latter which are used to treat infections against bacteria like E. coli, Staphylococcus aureus, etc. are used for a long time, and due to mutation in the *gipT* and *UhpT* transporters many strains of bacteria have acquired resistance against them. The resistance acquired by many of these microorganisms demands for the synthesis of artificial antibiotics which are chemically synthesized because AMR is now a global threat and needs urgent attention from regulatory bodies. Centre for Disease Control, United States is constantly monitoring incidents of resistant infections in the community, and other risk factors, which may make spread more difficult to identify and contain. The periodic report from CDC gives out the emergence and spread of new forms of resistance and as per their latest report, there are 18 such AMR pathogens at different levels of concern to human health, namely urgent, serious, and concerning organisms (CDC 2019). Figure 15.2 gives the list of different categories of AMR bacteria or fungi based on the 2019 CDC report.

Detection of antibiotics in environmental samples—many antibiotics, which are mixed in the wastewater, have been extracted by different methods. Tetracycline extraction has been proven difficult as it absorbs strongly in the sludge particles. Ultrasonic assisted extraction method is being used successfully to extract different antibiotics. Other methods such as microwave assisted extraction method, detection of antibiotics by liquid chromatography have also been employed. The structural and functional properties of antibiotics help in identifying them from the environment. Virginiamycin is an antibiotic similar to dalfopristin and is extracted from soil samples by HPLC chromatography technique. The identification of tetracycline is done by adding base such as sodium hydroxide which detects fluorescence on reacting with magnesium ions.

15.6 Biodegradation of Antibiotic Contaminants in Effluents

Major sources of PhACs in water bodies are human and veterinary applications and then their excretion and discharge in the environment through sewage treatment plants. More than 3000 different types of PhACs have been detected till now, but it is



https://www.cdc.gov/drugresistance/pdf/threats-report/2019-ar-threats-report-508.pdf)

Fig. 15.2 The bacteria and fungi listed as potential antimicrobial threat (CDC's AR Threats Report, 2019, https://www.cdc.gov/drugresistance/pdf/threats-report/2019-ar-threats-report-508. pdf)

the older ones which are more regularly detected, majorly due to extensive use as prescription medicine and generic or over the counter drug (Kookana et al. 2014), e.g., clofibric acid and carbamazepine are two such drugs with high consumption and widespread occurrence in wastewater treatment plants (Marco-Urrea et al. 2009). The removal of PhACs can be done by biotic and antibiotic methods both, of which photodegradation and biodegradation respectively of PhACs, have been identified as the two major sinks; however, conventional treatment of domestic sewage water is usually insufficient for removing PhACs and very low, if any, reduction of antibiotics is achieved. The remaining substances usually bypass treatments and tend to accumulate in water sediments.

15.6.1 Biodegradation of Antibiotics by Biotic Methods

The biotic method also called bioremediation or biodegradation is defined as the use of microorganisms to degrade or destroy complex chemical substances present in water or soil sediments into smaller and simpler molecules. Microorganisms from different ecophysiological niches have been reported to degrade and thus detoxify a variety of PhACs like paracetamols, anti-inflammatory drug Ibuprofen as well as antibiotics. Many simple and complex metabolic pathways have been recognized and described which can metabolize a variety of environmental pollutants namely petroleum products and polyaromatic hydrocarbons, pesticides, and insecticides like DDT, endosulfans, carbofuran, etc., plastic contaminants like polyurethane, polycaprolactone, polystyrene, polyhydroxybutyrate, etc., and heavy metals. Many environmental microbial strains utilize these natural or synthetic polymers as their sole source of energy and carbon. The presence of antimicrobial-resistant gene and capacity for antimicrobial degradation is correlated frequently; however, it is not always true; e.g., presence of antimicrobial-resistant gene had no correlation with the degradation of doxycycline in Candida and E. coli. The biodegradation of ten PhACs, namely clofibric acid, gemfibrozil, ibuprofen, fenoprofen, ketoprofen, naproxen, diclofenac, indomethacin, propyphenazone, and carbamazepine by nitrifier culture supplemented with ammonia and organic substrates, has been found to be more effective than activated sludge (Tran et al. 2009). Marco-Urrea et al. (2009) have described effective degradation of different PhACs, like ibuprofen, clofibric acid, and carbamazepine by four white-rot fungi, namely Trametes versicolor, Irpex lacteus, Ganoderma lucidum, and Phanerochaete chrysosporium. The removal of toxic azodyes, Acid red 183, Direct blue 15, and Direct red 75 was successfully done using Penicillium oxalicum SAR-3 isolated from contaminated soil (Saroj et al. 2014). Another frequent contaminant of the environment aquifer is paracetamol, a very common PHACs being highly used consumers and as hospital waste. Regular removal of paracetamols from wastewater is done by electrochemical process, ozonation, UV oxidation, titanium photocatalysis, etc. However, few effective biodegradation processes for paracetamol are also described (Wu et al. 2012). Molds like Penicillium and bacterial species like Pseudomonas sp., Stenotrophomonas sp., Burrkholderia sp. have been isolated and identified for the purpose, either individually or as a bacterial consortium. Thus, an exhaustive knowledge on "indigenous microbial communities," frequency to carry antibioticresistant genes, redox mechanisms, biodegradation potential, nutritional and carbon requirements, will help in finding out or designing an environment-friendly microbial consortium, which can effectively reduce antibiotics and related contaminants. Many reports have also described that the biodegradation and removal of xenobiotics are effective by augmentation of organic substances as nutrients, especially carbon, nitrogen, and phosphorus sources. Table 15.2 gives out the list of isolated and studied microbial strains characterized by the degradation of PhACs, including antibiotics.

Despite many promising studies on biodegradation of antibiotic PhACs, they have not been found to be effectively removed by biodegradatory processes, may be because of (1) inhibitory nature of antibiotics may hamper microbial metabolic processes which are important for removal; (2) characteristics of antibiotics, operational conditions of wastewater treatment plants, (3) at times relatively low concentration of antibiotics does not initiate enzyme production; (4) sometimes, the breakdown product of an antibiotic is more toxic and persistent than the parent compound, e.g., sulfamethoxazole. Thus different antibiotics may be active against various microbial groups present in wastewater systems and the toxic effects of these antibiotics may limit the growth potential of various microbial community, thereby effectively decreasing the population density in wastewater treatment bioreactors, therefore, toxicity inhibition tests must be conducted for each process (Cetecioglu and Atasoy 2018).

S. no.	Antibiotics	Microbes degrading antibiotics	Mechanisms/isolated from
1.	Nofralaxcin	Bacillus subtilis	Bioreactor scale
2.	Sulfonamides	Castellaniella sp., Brevibacterium epidermidis.	Artificial coculture
3.	Penicillin G, Penicillin V	β-lactamase enzyme producing bacteria or by chemical hydrolysis	Aerobic and anaerobic processes
4.	Tetracyclines— chlortetracycline, oxytetracycline, and Doxycycline	No effective biodegradation during the wastewater treatment; partially under methanogenic conditions	Removed through adsorption
5.	Paracetamols	Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Pseudomonas sp., Stenotrophomonas sp., Delftia tsuruhatensis, Cupriavidus necator	Aerobic aggregate, membrane bioreactor biomass, Activated sludge samples

 Table 15.2 Pharmaceutically active compounds, including antibiotics in effluents may be degraded by microbes

15.6.2 Biodegradation of Antibiotics by Abiotic Methods

The many abiotic mechanisms are equally effective in removing PhACs from wastewater effluents. The sunlight degradation or photolysis of these complex compounds is very much described. The photolytic degradation and photo transformation of ciprofloxacin, penicillin G, meropenem, sulfamethoxazole, have been studied by Lin et al. (2018). Other light-sensitive antibiotics being tetracyclines, quinolones, sulfonamides, nitrofuran, oxolinic acid can undergo sunlight degradation in contrast to monensin, which is resistant to breakdown by direct light. Whereas, fluoroquinolones will be degraded in ultraviolet light. Oxidation is also another frequent chemical process for breakdown of these complex molecules in aerobic environmental niches. Oxytetracyclines and sulfamethoxazole breakdown by ozonation is reported. In soil contaminants, the recalcitration and adsorption of these compounds may limit the degradation process. Metal ions and activated metals have also been utilized for promoting degradation. Cephalosporin and penicillin degradation and using mercury, copper, zinc, cadmium, cobalt metal ions have been reported (Saitoh and Shibayama 2016). Acidic or alkaline conditions also sometimes promote PhACs degradation, namely alkaline degradation of ampicillin. Using microbial enzymes directly for biodegradation is also another approach which has given promising results in some cases e.g. beta-lactamases, cytochrome, P_{450} enzymes.

15.7 Conclusion

Though antibiotics have short half-life, but their highly lipophilic, hydrophobic, and nonpolar nature makes them a long persisting substance. Thus, the high concentration of antibiotics in environment is not only responsible for causing severe toxic and carcinogenic effects on human and other terrestrial or aquatic animals; but also aiding in the development of antimicrobial resistance. The actual impact of PhACs contamination may still be not known because the data from developing countries are not always exhaustive. Much less studies are available from resource deficient nations as compared to developed nations. And the alarmingly high AMR is feared to be giving rise to multidrug resistance and superbugs. This has put AMR in a priority position in global agendas. In 2016, United Nations General Assembly came together with WHO to make a very stringent Global Action Plan (GAP) to fight AMR (WHO 2015). It also brings into focus strict legal norms for antibiotic use for medical and nonmedical purposes both, and the need for a constant monitoring. Acting on similar level, Indian Department of Pharmaceuticals has advised pharmaceutical manufacturers to be more cautious about the presence of antibiotics in effluents. Recently, Indian Union Ministry of Environment, Forest and Climate Change is in the process of bringing out new regulatory guidelines for acceptable limits of contamination of all 121 common antibiotics in effluents of wastewater treatment plants (https://www.theweek.in/news/health/2020/02/29/India-leadingthe-way-in-averting-antibiotic-apoclypse.html). These regulations will be applied to all pharmaceutical companies in India. With this, India will become one of the first nation to recognize the urgent need of legal regulations for antibiotic use and their effective removal from environment.

Most of the antibiotics are unable to metabolize and thus a large amount is added to the environment by feces and urine which mixes with the receiving water. The hospital effluents play a major role in the contributory source of antibiotics in the environment. The concentration of PhACs in domestic effluents may range between 0.3 and $150 \mu g/L$; whereas effluents from pharmaceutical plants, hospitals, animal feed operations, etc. may be much higher and in the range of 100-500 mg/L. In an exhaustive review by Patel et al. (2019), the emerging concerns of PhACs contamination in aquifers for the past three decades (1990-2018) and their remedial strategies are elaborated. Overall, it is reported that the antibiotics and analgesics top the chart as most frequently detected PhACs in water, out of the eight broad categories of PhACs (Patel et al. 2019). Removal efficiencies of PhACs during wastewater and drinking water treatments are dependent on their physical and chemical properties. It is important to note that removal of pharmaceuticals from water is still not considered to be included in the list of treatments while designing a drinkingwater treatment plant. In India, most of the wastewater treatment plants are based on conventional schemes consisting of aeration, chemical coagulation, flocculation, sedimentation, filtration, and disinfection and all these methods may not be sufficient to remove the PhACs from the effluents. Although it is difficult to completely remove antibiotics from these sites, the removal of PhACs in water and wastewater treatment is essential to prevent environmental contamination and possible adverse effects, for which bioremediation technique becomes one of the most promising clean technology and this should be explored more.

Conflict of Interest The authors declare that there is no conflict of interest.

References

- CDC (2019) AR threats report. https://www.cdc.gov/drugresistance/pdf/threats-report/2019-arthreats-report-508.pdf
- Cetecioglu Z, Atasoy M (2018) Biodegradation and inhibitory effects of antibiotics on biological wastewater treatment systems. In: Bidoia ED, Montagnolli RN (eds) Toxicity and biodegradation testing, Methods in pharmacology and toxicology. Springer Science, New York, pp 29–55. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-7425-2_2
- Chua KP, Fischer MA, Linder JA (2019) Appropriateness of outpatient antibiotic prescribing among privately insured US patients: ICD-10-CM based cross sectional study. Br Med J 364: k5092
- Cruz-Loya M, Kang TM, Lozano NA, Watanabe R, Tekin E, Damoiseaux R et al (2019) Stressor interaction networks suggest antibiotic resistance co-opted from stress responses to temperature. ISME J 13:12–23
- Klein E, Van Boeckel T, Martinez E, Pant S, Gandra S et al (2018) Global increase and geographic convergence in antibiotic consumption between 2000 and 2015. Proc Natl Acad Sci 115(15): E3463–E3470. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1717295115
- Kookana RS, Williams M, Boxall AB, Larsson DJ, Gaw S, Choi K, Yamamoto H, Thatikonda S, Zhu Y-G, Carriquiriborde P (2014) Potential ecological footprints of active pharmaceutical ingredients: an examination of risk factors in low-, middle- and high-income countries. Philos Trans R Soc B 369:20130586. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2013.0586
- Kumar M, Jaiswal S, Sodhi KK, Shree P, Singh DK, Agrawal PK, Shukla P (2019) Antibiotics bioremediation: perspectives on its ecotoxicity and resistance. Environ Int 124:448–461. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2018.12.065
- Lin YC, Hsiao KW, Lin AYC (2018) Photolytic degradation of ciprofloxacin in solid and aqueous environments: kinetics, phototransformation pathways, and byproducts. Environ Sci Pollut Res 25(3):2303–2312
- Mahmood AR, Al-Haidari HH, Hassan FM (2019) Detection of antibiotics in drinking water in treatment plants in Baghdad city, Iraq. Adv Pub Health 2019:7851354. https://doi.org/10.1155/ 2019/7851354
- Marco-Urrea E, Pérez-Trujillo M, Vicent T, Caminal G (2009) Ability of white-rot fungi to remove selected pharmaceuticals and identification of degradation products of ibuprofen by Trametes versicolor. Chemosphere 74(6):765–772. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2008.10.040
- Meek RW, Vyas H, Piddock LJV (2015) Nonmedical uses of antibiotics: time to restrict their use? PLoS Biol 13(10):e1002266. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.1002266
- Meena VD, Dotaniya ML, Saha JK, Patra AK (2015) Antibiotics and antibiotic resistant bacteria in wastewater: Impact on environment, soil microbial activity and human health. Afr J Microbiol Res 9(14):965–978
- Nodler K, Voutsa D, Licha T (2014) Polar organic micropollutants in the coastal environment of different marine systems. Mar Pollut Bull 85(1):50–59
- Patel M, Kumar R, Kishor K, MIsna T, Pittman CU, Mohan D (2019) Pharmaceuticals of emerging concern in aquatic systems: chemistry, occurrence, effects, and removal methods. Chem Rev 119(6):3510–3673. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.chemrev.8b00299
- Pina B, Bayona JM, Christou A, Fatta-Kassinos D, Guillon E, Lambropoulou D et al (2018) On the contribution of reclaimed wastewater irrigation to the potential exposure of humans to

antibiotics, antibiotic resistant bacteria and antibiotic resistance genes—NEREUS COST action ES1403 position paper. J Environ Chem Eng. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jece.2018.01.011

- Saitoh T, Shibayama T (2016) Removal and degradation of β-lactam antibiotics in water using didodecyldimethylammonium bromide-modified montmorillonite organoclay. J Hazard Mater 317:677–685
- Saroj S, Kumar K, Pareek N, Prasad R, Singh RP (2014) Biodegradation of azo dyes Acid Red 183, Direct Blue 15 and Direct Red 75 by the isolate Penicillium oxalicum SAR-3. Chemosphere 107:240–248. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2013.12.049
- Tran NH, Urase T, Kusakabe O (2009) The characteristics of enriched nitrifier culture in the degradation of selected pharmaceutically active compounds. J Hazard Mater 171 (1–3):1051–1057. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2009.06.114
- WHO (2015) Global action plan on antimicrobial resistance. World Health Organization, Geneva. www.who.int/antimicrobial-resistance/publications/global-action-plan/en/
- Wu S, Zhang L, Chen J (2012) Paracetamol in the environment and its degradation by microorganisms. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 96:875–884. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-012-4414-4414



Microbial Degradation of Oils

16

Emmanuel Kweinor Tetteh , Mark Opoku-Amankwa, and Sudesh Rathilal

Abstract

The recent use of oil as a driving force of the world's economy is being associated with organic pollutants in most of the petrochemical wastes. Notwithstanding, hydrocarbons in oils form part of the widely distributed and most occurring contaminants in the environment, posing serious threats to human health and the ecosystem. Owing to that, a broad spectrum of studies and experiments have been conducted in utilizing oil-degrading microbes for environmental remediation, which has become core to petroleum microbiology and bioremediation. This chapter reviewed crude oil/hydrocarbon compositions and their toxicity in the environment, highlighting microbial degradation of hydrocarbon-contaminated soil and water. It further explored the advancement of different types of microbial community and their dynamics for bioremediation technologies and microbial degradation of oil and hydrocarbons in their contaminated ecosystem. Also, the biological and physiochemical factors affecting microbial degradation of oils are expounded in this chapter. The prospects of genetic engineering of microorganisms for microbial degradation of oils and other applications are presented.

Keywords

 $Bioremediation \cdot Biodegradation \cdot Hydrocarbons \cdot Oily \ waste \cdot Microbial \ degradation$

E. K. Tetteh $(\boxtimes) \cdot S$. Rathilal

M. Opoku-Amankwa Punjabi University, Patiala, India

Green Engineering and Sustainability Research Group, Department of Chemical Engineering, Faculty of Engineering and the Built Environment, Durban University of Technology, Durban, South Africa

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 Inamuddin et al. (eds.), *Recent Advances in Microbial Degradation*, Environmental and Microbial Biotechnology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-0518-5_16

16.1 Introduction

Petroleum hydrocarbons (PHC), chiefly petroleum products (such as diesel fuel, gasoline, and oil) are complex substances formed as a result of hydrogen and carbon molecule materializations (Cozzarelli and Baehr 2003; Aminzadeh and Dasgupta 2013). Besides this, it also contains other impurities like nitrogen, sulfur, and carbon, which form part of the widely distributed and most occurring contaminants in the environment (Aminzadeh and Dasgupta 2013). However, crude oil is an essential raw material and energy source for several industries (Varjani et al. 2015; Varjani and Upasani 2016). Thus, the rapid economic growth rate in several economies around the globe has been attributed to the increase in the global consumption of petroleum products (Variani and Upasani 2016; Ghazali et al. 2004). The rise in consumption level is attributed to the fact that it serves as a raw material for refineries, as a most indispensable energy source, and petrochemical industries for myriad products like petrochemicals, synthetic polymers, and fuel (Varjani et al. 2015). Phylogeny activities like municipal and industrial runoffs, accidental spills, onshore and offshore petroleum industry activities effluent release causes) pollution (Varjani 2017). In effect, it poses both environmental and health risks (directly and indirectly) to all forms of life on the earth (Sajna et al. 2015; Souza et al. 2014; Deppe et al. 2005). PHC pollutants are classified as priority pollutants and recalcitrant compounds, therefore their remediation comes in handy (Costa et al. 2012).

Recently, among the significant wellspring of discharging or releasing dangerous synthetic compounds into the atmosphere and environment has been from the oil refinery industry (Varjani and Upasani 2017) Some of these dangerous chemicals including polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) are noted to be highly stable in the environment (Varjani 2017; Lamichhane et al. 2016; Abdel-Shafy and Mansour 2016; Zhang et al. 2011). There has been a growing concern about the environmental and human health risk caused by oil industry activities connected with the exploration of crude oil (both intentional and accidental discharge of oil) during the production, transportation, and refining stages (Lamichhane et al. 2016; Zhang et al. 2011), as a result of the continuous pollution of water bodies including streams, rivers, groundwater, and surface water, among others (Abdel-Shafy and Mansour 2016). The marine is said to be the highest and ultimate sink of these pollutants, which is lethal to the marine ecosystem (Costa et al. 2012; Abdel-Shafy and Mansour 2016). In effect, a broad spectrum of experiments and studies have focused on bioremediation, biodegradation, and biotransformation of PHCs (Costa et al. 2012; Lamichhane et al. 2016; Abdel-Shafy and Mansour 2016; McClay et al. 2000).

The concern for applying oil-degrading organisms for remediation of the oil-contaminated environment has become core to petroleum microbiology. Therefore, with a desktop approach, the recent advances in microbial degradation of oils are presented in this chapter. This chapter discusses the composition of crude oil, the toxicity of oil hydrocarbons, the fate of PHCs in the environment, microbial degradation of oil, bioremediation technologies, factors affecting microbial degradation, future works in microbial degradation, which provides conclusion.

16.2 Composition of Crude Oil

Crude oil is naturally occurring, extricated from the subsurface, which is conveyed to the refinery for the purpose of distillation to produce diverse products (Varjani 2014; Speight 2014). Petroleum which occurs as a vicious, sticky, and dark liquid is from the Latin word "petra-oleum", which means "rock oil" (Vieira et al. 2007). They contain hydrocarbons, oxygen, sulfur, and nitrogen in varying proportions (Varjani et al. 2015; Chandra et al. 2013). Depending on the quantity of heavy molecular weight components present, oil could be categorized into heavy, medium, or light oils (Varjani 2014). It can also vary depending on the depth, age, and location of the oil well. Therefore, in most cases, constituents of all kinds of oil can be categorized as mixed, paraffin, and asphalt base (Varjani 2014). Furthermore, it is classified into four main fractions which include asphaltenes, resins, aromatics (ringed hydrocarbons), and saturates (aliphatics) (Speight 2014; Chandra et al. 2013).

16.2.1 Aliphatic Hydrocarbons

These hydrocarbons do not have double-bonds and constitute the highest proportion of the constituents of petroleum oils in the world. They are classified based on their chemical structures which are cycloalkenes and alkenes (paraffin) (Abbasian et al. 2015). Furthermore, they are branched or linear, unsaturated or saturated open-chain structures including steranes, terpenes, cyclo-alkanes (naphthenes), iso-alkanes, and *n*-alkanes (Rahman et al. 2003). *N*-alkenes are classified into four molecular weight (MW) categories of aliphatic hydrocarbons which include gaseous alkenes, C_8-C_{16} (lower), $C_{17}-C_{28}$ (average) and more than C_{28} (high) (Abbasian et al. 2015).

16.2.2 Aromatic Hydrocarbons (ARH)

These have either one or a myriad of aromatic rings mostly replaced with diverse alkyl groups (Meckenstock et al. 2016). They are also categorized into two main groups which include polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) (Chandra et al. 2013) and monocyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (MAHs), namely benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene, and xylenes (BTEX) (Costa et al. 2012). PAHs have atleast one benzene ring, and those PAHs with two or three cyclic rings make various hexagon chains with double bonds like anthracene and phenanthrene (three-ringed) and naphthalene (two-ringed), which are also known as light or low molecular weight PAHs (Wilkes et al. 2016). However, PAHs with more than four rings like benzo[a]pyrene and fluoranthene (five-ringed), chrysenes and pyrene (four-ringed) are also known as heavy or high molecular weight PAHs (Costa et al. 2012; Farhadian et al. 2008).

16.2.3 Resins

These have several polar functional groups made up of metal traces (Fe, V, and Ni) and N, S, O. They are unstructured solids dissolved in oil (Speight 2014) which are capable of disintegrating in *n*-pentane and *n*-heptane and has aromatic compounds with prolonged alkyl chains (Chandra et al. 2013). More so, resins act as peptizing agents and are similarly structured in oil as surfactant molecules (Chandra et al. 2013).

16.2.4 Asphaltenes

These have various polar functional groups like resins and are mostly brown in color, colossal and intricate molecules (Speight 2014). Furthermore, asphaltenes are capable of disintegrating in light ARHs like toluene and benzene (Parra-Barraza et al. 2003). They are also high, and viscous MW compounds made up of polycyclic groups, unsteadily exchanged with alkyl groupings that help to resist biodegradation (Chandra et al. 2013). Resins that are peptizing agents help suspend asphaltenes, thereby aiding crude oil to be stable (Chandra et al. 2013; Parra-Barraza et al. 2003). Asphaltenes and resins have non-hydrocarbon polar compounds as opposed to saturated and aromatic fractions. Furthermore, asphaltenes and resins have more intricate and mostly carbon structures with a lot of oxygen, sulfur, and nitrogen atoms (Chandra et al. 2013). Thus, each constituent has a special synthetic behavior that influences their debasement (Costa et al. 2012). Whereas asphaltenes being a greater molar mass constituent make the central part of oil, saturates constitute the utmost layer in the structural arrangement of the four broad components of hydrocarbons of crude oil (Varjani and Upasani 2017; Speight 2014).

16.3 Toxicity of Oil in the Environment

PHC toxins are one of the tenacious natural toxins. They cause permanent and/or extensive damage to the ecosystem due to their bio-magnification (Chandra et al. 2013). Far-reaching release of PHC toxins via leakage and spillages from an abandoned oil refinery, unplugging of oil wells, underground tanks cause contamination of the ocean, groundwater and surface soil (Souza et al. 2014; Prince et al. 2013; Janbandhu and Fulekar 2011; Saeki et al. 2009). Many components of oils are highly toxic and recalcitrant due to the existence of teratogenic, carcinogenic, and hemotoxic constituents like PAHs and BTEX (Souza et al. 2014; Costa et al. 2012; Zhang et al. 2011; Chandra et al. 2013; Meckenstock et al. 2016).

Chronic or acute as well as indirect or direct impact of petroleum pollutants was earlier reported (Chandra et al. 2013; Meckenstock et al. 2016). Hormone imbalance, metabolic reaction disturbances, stunted growth, anoxia, and suffocation in life forms is recognized as indirect or direct effects (Souza et al. 2014; Walker 2012). Short-term effects of PHC pollutants during preening include ingestion, drowning,

smothering, hypothermia, and acute necrosis mortality (Varjani 2014; Desforges et al. 2016). Also, the PHC pollutants have long-term effects that include developmental abnormalities of marine animals like unfused skulls, lack of pigmentation, and jaw reductions (Varjani 2014; Alonso-Alvarez et al. 2007; Van Meter et al. 2006). These impacts create changes in a species community/population, and in this manner, creates changes in the whole ecosystem (Walker 2012). The components of PAHs have the ability to create malevolent tumors, which basically impact other epithelial tissues and skin, as they have a high affinity for the nucleophilic center of macromolecules such as DNA, protein and RNA (Costa et al. 2012; Desforges et al. 2016).

PHCs are further classified into defined scopes of identical carbon fraction(s) or numbers to assess environmental and human health risk. These fraction(s) can further be described and subcategorized to their toxicological, chemical and physical features. First fraction of identical carbon number from C₆ to C₁₀, represents the most volatile fraction of hydrocarbon mixtures. The second fraction also has a spectrum of an identical number of carbons (C) greater than 10 but less than or equal to 16. The third fraction has a spectrum of an identical number of carbons (C) greater than 16 but less than or equal to 34, and the fourth fraction is more than 35. The fourth fraction of compounds is considered to have the lowest solubility and volatility (Varjani and Upasani 2016).

Furthermore, PHCs pollutants have a negative repercussion on human lives and the ecosystem, and therefore, it is important to extensively discuss the fate of hydrocarbons in the environment which can help combat and control pollution (Walker 2012). Crude is exposed to copious weathering processes like biodegradation, tarball formation, resurfacing, photooxidation, emulsification, dissolution, sinking, dispersion, evaporation, and spreading, which tends to degrade hydrocarbon constituents (Souza et al. 2014). Among all these processes, the biodegradation process is considered to be the most important of all (Varjani and Upasani 2016). For example, the impact of photooxidation in removing the pollutants from the atmosphere is limited because it occurs only in sunlight exposed oil (Widdel and Rabus 2001). Nonetheless, the biodegradation process has intermediate to long-term changes in reducing the pollutants in the environment over a period of time. Regardless of the role of biodegradation in removing PHC from the environment, its microbial degradation also has its limitation as resistant PHCs pollutants in either water or soil would generally increase the number of rings, molecular weight as well as the type in cases of PAHs.

16.3.1 Remediation of PHC Pollutants

Many traditional engineering-based physical-chemical cleansing techniques are costly due to the transportation of enormous quantities and cost of excavation of sullied substances synthetic inactivation (utilization of hydrogen peroxide or potassium permanganate as a chemical oxidant to mineralize nonaqueous pollutants such as oil) vis-à-vis ex-situ treatment, incineration and soil washing (Varjani et al. 2015;

Farhadian et al. 2008; Chaudhry et al. 2005). Also, some other physical-cumchemical methods serve the same purpose as abiotic transformations, volatilization, sorption, dilution and dispersion, among others (Varjani and Upasani 2016; Chandra et al. 2013). The limited efficiency and increasing costs of these conventional physical-chemical treatments have prodded the advancement of other innovative techniques for in situ applications, especially based on the capabilities of microbial degradation of microbes (Farhadian et al. 2008). Microbial degradation is considered to be one of the most auspicious methods, as it utilizes the capacity of microbes for the expulsion of toxins from polluted sites including rivers, marine, soil, etc., in a most environmentally friendly, least hazardous and most effective way (Bhatt et al. 2019; Porto et al. 2011).

16.4 Microbial Community Dynamics

hydrocarbon-metabolizing microbes are generally disseminated. Naturally, Problems that arise during attempts to describe natural communities of microbes affected by oil hydrocarbons are aggravated by a bunch of single substrate and metabolic interactions. Notwithstanding the complexities, mechanisms are being created in a bid to readily acknowledge microbial distribution and abundance in a natural system with expectations of linking the structures in the community with their functions in the ecosystem. The justification for tackling this analysis entails depicting the function of microbes at the beginning of oil over geologic time (Magot et al. 2000), assessing the long-lasting impacts of oil pollution, evaluating and developing approaches to waste remediation (Ka et al. 2001; Siciliano et al. 2003), tracing the improvement of pathogenic microbes in the course of remediation, and controlling harmful activities of microbes in the course of producing oil. Perspectives to cataloging communities of microbes and diversifying roles can be extensively categorized into culture-independent and culture-dependent techniques. Both the culture-independent and culture-dependent techniques may involve genetic characterization methods. Conventional culture-based techniques are ultimately natural and depend on distinctive physiologic, metabolic and morphological properties (Van Hamme et al. 2003). They comprise Biolog substrate utilization plates, liquid assays of the most probable number (MPN)-approach and cultivation and isolation on solid media. Culture-independent techniques for analyzing communities started with a first-hand assessment of metabolically dynamic microorganisms with differential stains, for example, phospholipid unsaturated fatty acid analysis, voluminous analysis of aggregated protein banding, fluorescence in situ hybridization, (INT)-formazin, and CTC and 4',6'-diamidino-2-phenylindole. Table 16.1 shows the utility and limitation of some microbial community techniques for culture-dependent and culture-independent techniques.

Туре	Example	Utility	Limitations
Culture- dependent	Biolog	Overall metabolic activity rapid, detected, and easy to utilize	Sensitive to incubation effects and inoculum size, may not include substrates of interest, selective media may limit the proportion of community detected, no isolates obtained for further studies
	MPN	Metabolic function of interest detected	Selective media may limit the proportion of community detected, no isolates obtained for further studies
	Plating	Isolates obtained for further studies	Isolates not necessarily, reflective of a specific metabolic function, only a small proportion of the community is detected
Culture- independent	Promoter-reporter systems	Monitoring of treatment effects on total cell function	Monitors only those strains with reporter genes inserted, easier to apply when whole genome sequences are available, nature of the promoter must be known
	Probes for specific metabolic genes	mRNA detection can reveal information about expression, detect genes with functions of interest	Activity cannot be inferred from the presence of genes alone, limited to known genes
	PCR followed by gel electrophoresis	Bulk changes in community structure detected, can identify microorganisms by sequencing resolved bands, no bias from culture media	No isolates for study, no information on activity, differential amplification during PCR, differential RNA or DNA extraction from diverse cells
	Reverse sample genome probing (RSGP)	No bias from culture media, quantitative analysis of specific microorganisms in environmental samples	Limited to those microorganisms included in the screen
	Staining for active microbes	No bias from culture media, enumerate live microorganisms	Does not differentiate microorganisms with a catabolic activity of interest
	Fluorescence in situ hybridization	No bias from culture media, spatially visualize specific microorganism in an environment	Laborious method, not necessarily detecting active microorganisms

 Table 16.1
 Limitations and utility of some community analysis techniques (Van Hamme et al. 2003)

(continued)

Туре	Example	Utility	Limitations
	Protein banding	No selection pressure if extracted directly	Difficult to link fingerprints to specific microbial groups, no measurement of community function
	Phospholipids fatty acid analysis	Changes in fingerprint can show changes in community structure	No isolates were obtained for further study.

Table 16.1 (continued)

16.4.1 Microbial Degradation of Oil

As earlier mentioned, microbial degradation is considered to be one of the most auspicious methods, as it utilizes the capacity of microbes for the expulsion of toxins from polluted sites including rivers, marine, soil, etc., in a most environmentally friendly, least hazardous, and most effective way (Bhatt et al. 2019; Porto et al. 2011). Over the years, it has shown that its accomplishment in debasing xenobiotic compounds differs from physical-cum-chemical methods is ceaselessly advancing due to cost adequacy, simple application, high efficiency, effortlessness, and energy efficiency (Guarino et al. 2017; Khan et al. 2016). In microbial degradation of oil, biodegradation and bioremediation processes could be adopted where biodegradation involves the use of natural microbes for removing pollutants while bioremediation involves the use of laboratory engineered microbes for removing pollutants. The instrumental component for a successful process in bioremediation is the fitting microbial choice which could debase toxins without competing for other autochthonous microorganisms and losing the microbial viability (Mahmoud and Bagy 2018). Xyl (toluene), nah (naphthalene), alk (C5-C12) n-alkanes were seen as the most destructive pathways of microbes in degrading oil hydrocarbon (Mahmoud and Bagy 2018). Solitary living things can process only a compelled extent of hydrocarbon materials, to such an extent that aggregating of diverse populaces possessing a broad chemical limit is needed to dispose of an intricate blend of hydrocarbons such as oils in marine, freshwater, and soil environments (Priya et al. 2015; Dellagnezze et al. 2014; Tyagi et al. 2011; Cappello et al. 2007).

Microbes are everywhere in the aquatic and terrestrial networks; the most heterotrophic faction involved was fungi and bacteria utilizing-hydrocarbons, which is seen to be widespread and a task of the ecosystem in every single environmental condition, with comprehensive frequencies ranging from 0.003% to 100% of bacterial communities in the marine, 0.13–50% for bacterial communities in soil and from 6% to 82% for soil mycobiota (Foght 2008; Yakimov et al. 2007). Figure 16.1 shows microorganisms in polymer degradation.

The community of bacteria are the predominant potent organisms in degrading oil and is scrutinized as the most elevated petroleum-spillage (can solely degrade hydrocarbons) debasers in the ecosystem (Mahmoud and Bagy 2018). Its particular genes regarding hydrocarbon breakdown assume a fundamental portion in the



Fig. 16.1 Microorganisms in polymer degradation (Bhatt et al. 2019)

Table	16.2	Enzymes	used	in	degrading	pollutants	in	petroleum	hydrocarbon.	Adapted	from
Abbasi	an et a	al. (2015)									

Enzyme	Petroleum hydrocarbon compound	Name of microorganism
Dioxygenases	C ₁₀ –C ₃₀ alkanes	Acinetobacter sp.
Bacterial P450 oxygenase system (CY153)	Cycloalkanes, C ₅ –C ₁₆ alkanes	Mycobacterium, Caulobacter, Acinetobacter
Eukaryotic P450 (CYP52)	Fatty acids, C ₁₀ –C ₁₆ alkanes	Yarrowia lipolytica, Candida tropicalis, Candida maltose
AlkB-related alkane hydroxylases	Fatty acids, cycloalkanes, alkyl benzenes, C ₅ –C ₁₆ alkanes	Mycobacterium, Rhodococcus, Burkholderia, Pseudomonas
Soluble/particulate methane monooxygenases	Cycloalkanes, alkenes, C_1-C_5 (halogenated) alkanes, C_1-C_8 alkanes	Methylomirabilis oxyfera, Geobacillus hermodenitrificans, Methylobacter, Methylococcus, Methylocella, Methylomonas, Methylocystis

debasement process of oil pollutants (Yakimov et al. 2007). The associations between the oil-contaminated environment and bacterial cultures are hitched; the bacterial response to oil hydrocarbons makes ground-breaking procedures for improving the degradation capacity (Mahmoud and Bagy 2018). Some of the enzymes used in degrading pollutants in oil hydrocarbons are shown in Table 16.2.

There are copious sequences of genomes in bacteria that can degrade hydrocarbons, for example, Pseudomonas aeruginosa N002, Polymorphum gilvum SL003B-26A1T, Desulfatibacillum alkenivorans, Geobacillus thermodenitrificans, and Alcanivorax borkumensis (Mahmoud and Bagy 2018). Possible pathways and gene qualities associated with the debasement of hydrocarbons are mostly differentiated by the information from the whole sequencing of the bacterial genome (Hong et al. 2016; Dias et al. 2012; Nie et al. 2014; Callaghan et al. 2012). A handful of bacteria recovered from diverse oil-polluted sites showed their capacity to discard the oil pollutants, e.g., Vibrio sp., P. aeruginosa, P. putrefaciens, P. putida, Pseudomonas alcaligenes, Proteus vulgaris, Flavobacterium sp., Mycobacterium sp., Micrococcus sp., Moraxella sp., Klebsiella aerogenes, Klebsiella pneumonia, Corynebacterium sp., Bacillus marcescens, Bacillus licheniformis, Alcaligenes faecalis, Arthrobacter sp., Aeromonas hydrophila and Acinetobacter lwoffii (Ghazali et al. 2004; Jesubunmi 2014; Varjani Sunita et al. 2013; Geetha et al. 2013; Thenmozhi et al. 2011; Khashayar and Mahsa 2010; Hamzah et al. 2010; Mittal and Singh 2009). Olajire and Essien (2014) claim in several ecosystems, there already exists enough indigenous microbial community able to extensively degrade oil hydrocarbons, given that the environmental conditions are favorable. There are diverse merits of relying on autochthonous microbes instead of introducing microbes to debase hydrocarbons. To begin with, the natural populace of microorganisms must have evolved after several years. These microbes can adapt through proliferation and survival in that environment. Furthermore, the capability to use hydrocarbons is spread across several microbial communities. This population occurs in the environment either synergistically or independently and feeds on different hydrocarbons. Commonly, if microbes are adequate in the debased ecosystem, seeding microbes might not be needed. Microbes (fungi and bacteria) have various proportions of utilizing and debasing hydrocarbons in water or soil which is shown in the duplication and colony forming units (cfu) of the segregated microbes. Numerous oil hydrocarbon debasing microbes have been segregated from both marine and soil sources, which are two significant conditions influenced by oil hydrocarbon contamination. Microbes are outfitted with metabolic machinery to utilize products of oils as an energy or carbon source. The metabolic pathways that can be utilized by hydrocarbon-degrading heterotrophs are either anaerobic (uses sulfate and nitrate as a proxy electron acceptor) or aerobic (central electron acceptor like oxygen is utilized) (Olajire and Essien 2014). Aerobic debasement or degradation is considered to be more effective as it occurs more rapidly than anaerobic degradation due to the energy yield per reaction and the less free energy required for commencement. Table 16.3 shows the oil degradation rates under several conditions.

16.4.2 Bioremediation Technologies

Bioremediation of soil can be accomplished on-site, over enormous regions (Tomei and Daugulis 2013) without soil disturbance (in situ methods), or can be applied

Bacteria involved	Kind of oil	Experimental conditions	Summary of results
Selected mixed cultures of oil oxidizing organisms	Louisiana crude	Cultivated with oil oxidizing microbes. Ambient temperature of 8–15 °C. Seawater enriched with (NH ₄)SO ₂ 50–100 mL of crude included. Additionally, simulated field studies of enormous tanks (900.1). Around 70 mh oil was added to 200 mL medium, 20 and 30 °C. Shaken flasks with ocean water improved nitrogen, phosphates and inorganic yeast.	In the enormous tanks, the bacteria quickened the loss of oil and changed its physical character. No proof of usage of aromatics was found. Up to around 50% of the crude was lost. The underlying rate was followed by a decrease and afterward another increase. Initial oxidation attributed to breakdown of n-alkenes.
Natural marine populations	Atmospheric residue of Kuwait oil	Sands were heavily or lightly oiled at 10 °C. Ocean water permeated through sections of seashore sand (median grain size 250µ) with microfauna and natural environment.	The remaining 90% decayed "immeasurably slowly." Preliminary gas chromatograms proposed the primary loss was of the alkene fraction. These rates applied for several months and accounted for 10% of the oil. Utilizing a "B.O.D." estimation of 5.0, the author calculates a loss of oil from 0.09 g oil/m ³ .day relying on dosing. Oxygen uptake is utilized as a sign of debasement.
Natural seawater population	Crude and several refined products	Batch culture 18 °C, seawater medium reinforced with phosphate and NH_4CI .	The impact of temperature is likewise shown. The presence of effectively debased material "saved" the oil. The presence of phosphate and nitrogen appeared to increase the breakdown of diesel oil in about 2 months. The impact of different chemical and physical factors on oil debasement is illustrated.
Mixed culture of oil oxidizing bacteria	American crudes	Oil dispersed on ignited asbestos. About 1 g placed in 100 mL medium. Seawater medium reinforced with 0.01% (NH ₄) ₂ HPO ₂ . Batch	Average around 45%. Between 17.8% and 98.8% by weight of oil removed in 90 days.

 Table 16.3
 Oil degradation rates under various conditions. Source: Floodgate (1972)

(continued)

Bacteria involved	Kind of oil	Experimental conditions	Summary of results
		culture aerated by shaking 25 °C.	
Enriched culture consisting predominantly of marine Pseudomonas	Clear refined mineral oil	Aged seawater plus 0.5% KNO ₃ , probably batch culture 25 °C.	The oxidation of the mineral oil was demonstrated by bacterial growth, CO ₂ yield, and O ₂ uptake. The Q ₁₀ is given as about 3.0 for temperatures in the range of 0 and 40 °C. The average amount of oil debased at 25 °C is given as 1.2×10^{-30} mg/day per bacterial cell. Hence it is calculated that if the oil is uniformly distributed in the water and the population is constant at 8×10^6 organism/mL then the rate of oil degradation will be about 350 g/m ³ . year at 25 °C.
Soil aerobes	Emba crude and lubricating oils	23 °C Nitrate or ammonia in mineral salts media. Batch culture.	1.2 g/m ² .day for crude oil (45% of added oil) 0.4 g/m ² .day lubricating oil
Garden soil aerobes of several genera	Hydrocarbon mixtures in common use	Several temperatures range between 20 and 37 °C. Mineral salts media. Batch culture.	0.4–0.75 g/m ² .day of some materials measured at 28 °C

Table 16.3 (continued)

off-site following the transfer of sullied material post-excavation (ex-situ methods). As a result of reduced site disturbance and lower costs, in situ methods are generally more desirable contrasted with ex-situ methods (Antizar-Ladislao et al. 2007; Lalevic et al. 2016). The primary in situ bioremediation methods are bioaugmentation, biostimulation, and natural attenuation (Perelo 2010; Suja et al. 2014). Natural attenuation essentially depends on the activity of autochthonous microbial communities to gradually remediate a site, with the main user input being contaminant monitoring (Khade and Srivastava 2017). If contaminant debasement cannot be accomplished due to restrictions in the biochemical capacity of the autochthonous microbial populaces to the soil is sometimes conceivable (Simarro et al. 2013). Generally, the best method to improve and accelerate bioremediation processes is to utilize biostimulation, the control of soil characteristics through the addition of restricting nutrients or supplements or electron acceptors (Hamdi et al. 2007; Kauppi et al. 2011). Ex-situ methods include biopile, composting, and landfarming (Dzionek et al.

Microorganism	Plant	Microbial characteristic
Pseudomonas putida	Pisum sativum	Naphthalene degradation
Burkholderia cepacia	Triticum sp.	Toluene degradation
Pseudomonas putida	Populus sp.	TCE degradation
Pseudomonas sp.	Triticum spp.	Hydrocarbon degradation
Acinetobacteria sp.	Oryza sativa	Hydrocarbon degradation
Sinorhizobium meliloti	Sorghum bicolor	Hydrocarbon degradation
Acinetobacter sp.	Lolium multiflorum	Hydrocarbon degradation
Rhizobium meliloti	Medicago sativa	Hydrocarbon degradation
Pseudomonas sp.	Zea mays	Hydrocarbon degradation

Table 16.4 Successful remediation process using bacteria-plant interaction (Lalevic et al. 2016)

2016: Georgieva et al. 2010). Landfarming depends on the incitement of microbial activity by aeration and the addition of restricting supplements in open fields of excavated contaminated soil (Khade and Srivastava 2017). This technique is appropriate for the debasement of toxins present at low concentrations (Silva-Castro et al. 2015; Paudyn et al. 2008). Composting is the natural treatment of municipal and agricultural waste, for example, sewage sludge (Tomei and Daugulis 2013) and is suggested for large volumes of waste (Perelo 2010; Suja et al. 2014). Biopile technique has generally been utilized for treating oil hydrocarbon-contaminated soils (Golodyaev et al. 2009), where aerated composted piles are equipped with suitable systems for controlling dissolved oxygen and moisture (Dzionek et al. 2016). Recent advances have been made into phytoremediation as it is considered to be the most cost-effective way of removing hydrocarbons from water and soil. Phytoremediation entails the utilization of plants (and their associated microbial communities) to remove contaminants from air, water and soil (Rezania et al. 2015). The process requires low maintenance and monitoring and capital investments as plants can utilize CO_2 , water and sunlight for their development (Khan et al. 2016), and improve the soil health and structure as they develop root systems (Nesterenko-Malkovskaya et al. 2012). Table 16.4 shows some successful remediation processes using bacteria-plant interaction. Choosing a bioremediation method generally relies on rate, depth, and pollutant characteristics of contamination, and site characteristics, for example, temperature and soil properties. Table 16.5 then shows the bioremediation technologies in microbial degradation of oils.

16.4.3 Factors Affecting Microbial Degradation

Microbial degradation is seen as cost-effective and environmentally friendly as contrasted with other forms of degrading oils. Owing to the capacity of the microbial to adapt to inhospitable environments and their metabolic machinery, they can degrade several organic pollutants in both water and soil. Thus, they play a significant role in site remediation. However, the process is constrained by several factors, including physical and biological factors, among others. Weathering is one of the

Technology	Comment
Phytoremediation	Presumably cost-effective, potency to remove oil contaminants being evaluated, utilizes rhizopheric microorganisms and plants in treating contaminated soil
Bioaugmentation/ biostimulation	Application of microorganisms and/or mineral surfactants/nutrients to supplement or stimulate natural microbial population at a polluted site.
Bioventing	A combination of biodegradation and advective soil venting for in situ treatment of soil, most of the lighter hydrocarbons are volatilized.
Biopiling	Uses air, supplemented nutrients and microbial population, year-round operation difficult, slow degradation rates, potentially contaminated surface and groundwater.
Landfarming	Cost-effective, uses supplements of mineral nutrients and microbial population, year-round operation difficult, slow degradation rates, potential to contaminate surface and groundwater.
Bioreactor	Cost-effective, on-site operation, nonhazardous residues, accommodates a variety of sludges, high biodegradation rates, application of specialized and natural microorganisms in controlled nutritional and environmental conditions.

 Table 16.5
 Bioremediation technologies (Van Hamme et al. 2003)

factors that can inhibit or speed up microbial degradation in oils. The process consists of emulsion, sedimentation, dispersion, and spreading (Khade and Srivastava 2017). The unpredictable segments of low molecular weight from the hydrocarbons are promptly dissipated like *n*-alkanes and benzene; this helps microorganisms to degrade efficiently (Venosa and Zhu 2003). The oil-in-water emulsion is generally good, which provides bioavailability of hydrocarbons to the microorganisms. Water-in-oil emulsions formation diminishes the surface territory of oil droplets, which for sure reduces bioremediation of oil (Khade and Srivastava 2017). The size of droplets of oil is additionally one of the fundamental components. The smaller droplets of oil are promptly inclined to be debased because of their huge accessibility of the surface area.

More so, microbial degradation on the aromatic and aliphatic hydrocarbons is dependent on oxygen availability. Hydrocarbon pollutants in oil reduce microbial growth by reducing soil air permeability (Meckenstock et al. 2016). Microbial degradation mostly involves aerobic bacteria because oxygenase is the principal enzyme produced during the microbial degradation process by the action of microorganisms which, in most cases, is oxygen-dependent (Das and Chandran 2011). It behaves as an electron acceptor and raises microbial activities hence enhancing the aerobic process of degradation (Abbasian et al. 2015). Notwithstanding, the provision of a sufficient supply of oxygen to empower mineralization of the oil hydrocarbon toxins to occur totally in the soil is costly and challenging (Boopathy 2000). The depletion of oxygen at the subsurface is the restricting factor for microbial degradation of spilt hydrocarbons. In degrading oil hydrocarbon toxins through the anaerobic process, microbes use proxy electron acceptors like carbon dioxide, manganese, iron, nitrate, and sulfate (Meckenstock et al. 2016; Wilkes et al.

2016; Weelink et al. 2009; Boll et al. 2014). Also, numerous microorganisms debase BTEX compounds efficiently under anaerobic conditions (Khade and Srivastava 2017).

Bioavailability is also considered to be a factor that can impact the activities of microorganisms during microbial degradation. Microbial cell rates that could metamorphose toxins during the degradation process are legitimately relative to the pace of contaminant metabolism and uptake, and the rate of transfer or mass exchange to the cell (Singh and Chandra 2014). Thus, increased microbial conversion capacity does not inure to higher biotransformation rates when the mass exchange is a restricting component (Boopathy 2000; Pieper and Reineke 2000).

Temperature also plays an integral role in microbial degradation (Varjani et al. 2014). It affects both the microbes consuming them and the physical condition of the hydrocarbons present in the polluted site (Chandra et al. 2013). It affects the chemical and physical condition of contaminants, metabolism in microbes, soil matrix, gas solubility, and microbial growth rate (Megharaj et al. 2011). There have also been reports that an increase in temperatures augment transferring and diffusing *n*-alkanes of long-chains from the solid state to the liquid state, decreasing viscosity and increasing the solubility of hydrophobic pollutants (Aislabie et al. 2006). Nevertheless, at low temperatures, water solubility is decreased, votalization of noxious alkanes which is short-chain in nature is minimized and viscosity of oil increases which delays the onset of microbial degradation (Varjani and Upasani 2016). Furthermore, on exposure to temperatures that are extremely low, for example, the polar regions, biosurfactants, or bioemulsifiers are significant because they tend to decrease water solubility or increase viscosity of oil hydrocarbons at lower temperatures (Kauppi et al. 2011; Aislabie et al. 2006). Studies again show that 80% of microbial degradation occurred in oil in 27 days when Bacillus thuringiensis was utilized (Thamer and Al-Kubaisi 2013). The studies then inferred that this could be because of the production of emulsion materials and environmental factors of availability of ideal temperature or bacterial enzyme, which raised the effectiveness of microorganisms in degrading the oil components.

High temperatures and salinity hinder microbial growth and their products (Chandra et al. 2013). Pressure and salinity have been reported to be specific characteristics of particular ecosystems like deep seas or saline lakes, which constitutes a specific environment that may be hydrocarbon polluted (Varjani and Upasani 2016). Minai-Tehrani et al. (2006) had observed 41% oil debasement (4 months incubation) in soil tests bereft NaCl option, though 12% oil debasement (4 months incubation) was obtained from the same test soil sample with 50 g/L NaCl. Evaluation for microbial degradation mixed hydrocarbon, hexadecane, and tetradecane utilizing blended deep sediment of cultured microscopic organisms was conducted at atmospheric temperature (1 atm) and elevated pressure (495 or 500 atm) (Varjani and Upasani 2016). They presumed that when hydrocarbon toxins reach the deep ocean condition; some oil constituents may contaminate profound benthic areas of the ocean. These toxins in benthic zones of the seas are biodegraded gradually because of the obstinate fragment of oil which could persevere for a long period, might be years or even decades.

Again, oil hydrocarbon mineralization can be influenced by its concentration. With the expanded oil concentration lag stage reduces, while maximum debasing rates and the total degree of mineralization increases (Towell et al. 2011). Oil hydrocarbon degradability likewise relies on its structure. Microbial degradation of oils could occur in descending order which are asphaltenes, polyaromatics, cyclic alkenes, monoaromatics, low-molecular-weight alkyl aromatics, branched alkanes, and linear alkanes (Varjani 2017). Surprisingly, high complete oil hydrocarbon concentrations have demonstrated deadly microbial actions, consequently restricting their biodegradation potential (Varjani and Upasani 2016). Extremely low concentrations of hydrocarbon in oils can also restrict debasement as the supply of carbon might be extremely moderate in aiding microbial growth. Normally, microbial degradation rate rises with decreasing chemical structure complexity and molecular weight of hydrocarbon (Varjani 2014). Same compound(s) in diverse oil are debased to diverse proportions by other or same consortium or organisms, which could be due to the bioavailability of the compound(s) (Varjani 2017). Polluted sites and physical-cum-chemical characteristics of oil are important for successful microbial degradation (Varjani Sunita et al. 2013). These components have unmediated impact on the metabolic activities, type, and number of microflora of any ecosystem (Ghazali et al. 2004). The degraders of hydrocarbons prefer the constituent of the pollutants naturally determines the utilization of less complex compounds (Varjani and Upasani 2016) and their biodegradability. Under appropriate ambience, biodegradation could occur in paraffin as it comprises of alkenes which are medium-chain in nature. In any case, biodegradation can also occur in unrefined oil having significant components as saturates or potentially aromatics, nevertheless, biodegradation might occur in hefty oils having asphaltic-naphthenic components of around 11% within a suitable timespan under ideal growth conditions for microbes (Cai et al. 2007; Ghazali et al. 2004).

Significant microbial community groups, namely viruses, protozoa, algae, fungi, and bacteria are accounted for to have been utilized in hydrocarbon pollutant bioremediation (Varjani and Upasani 2016; Ubani 2016; Waigi et al. 2015; Ishak et al. 2012; Zhao et al. 2011). Microorganisms are the most bountiful groups among which Rhodococcus and Pseudomonas assume a critical role in biodegradation (Varjani Sunita et al. 2013; Zhao et al. 2011; Brooijmans et al. 2009). Towell et al. (2011) examined the impact on the amount of Inoculum on hydrocarbon contaminants and detailed that the ideal absorption of microorganisms in oil hydrocarbon debasement is 106 CFU/g in soil. As microbial communities rise intrinsically, Inoculum degrades and hydrocarbon additions are being utilized, the slack stage also rises. So far, a slack stage of around 170 h at 50 ppm of absorption in oil has been documented for utilizing Inoculum of 107 CFU/g soil (Towell et al. 2011). Also, Varjani et al. (2014) have detailed improvement in the study of hydrocarbon using a bacterial consortium of which they found the following as ideal ambience for microbial growth, 37 °C incubation of microbes with 2% v/v Inoculum at 18 rpm; pH of 7.2; 3% v/v oil. Moreover, lastly, Bacillus sp. from animal manures and compost of oil sludge could also be utilized as an agent of bioremediation for cleaning up oil-polluted environments (Ubani 2016).

Nutrients availability assumes a significant role in microbial activities (Boopathy 2000; Varjani et al. 2014). Concentration and type of nitrogen and carbon source utilized in culture medium assume a crucial role in microbial growth (Varjani and Upasani 2016; Dias et al. 2012; Varjani et al. 2014; Zhao et al. 2011). Microbes need phosphorous and nitrogen for amalgamation into biomass, the accessibility of these supplements in similar territory as hydrocarbons is basic. More so, as oxygen is of necessity during the process, nitrogen is also significant in debasing hydrocarbons. Hydrocarbons in oils do not have a noteworthy quantity of some nutrients, for example, phosphorous and nitrogen which are needed for microbial growth. Nevertheless, ammonium, NPK composts, phosphate and urea could be utilized to alter proportions of carbon or nitrogen or phosphorous or potassium (CNPK) (Varjani 2017). Thus, the sufficient proportions of carbon, nitrogen and phosphorous to advance the growth of microbial communities is 100, 10 and 1, respectively (Dias et al. 2012; Zhao et al. 2011; Beškoski et al. 2011). Cultivating with oil debasers has not been proven to be viable; however, adding nitrogenous composts shows expanded rates of degrading oil hydrocarbon. Nitrate is noted to be the principal wellspring of biosurfactant production and nitrogen for microbial growth (Toda and Itoh 2012).

Interestingly, Varjani et al. (2014) reported that no huge impact in degrading oil hydrocarbon was seen in nitrogen source addition. Treating oil-contaminated sites with nitrogen raises the rate of growth in cells and hydrocarbon debasement by maintaining the population of microbes at an increased level of their activities and diminishing their growth at their slack phase (Walworth et al. 2005). Notwithstanding, studies show that an uncontrolled amount of nitrogen could lead to microbial restraint in the soil and therefore nitrogen under 1800 mg N/kg H₂O is ideal hydrocarbon debasement of contaminants (Walworth et al. 2007). Excessive concentration of nutrients, especially increased NPK concentrations represses the debasement of these pollutants (Varjani 2017; Souza et al. 2014; Boopathy 2000). More so, increased levels of toxins concentrations disturb the CNP proportion in polluted sites and limit the functions of oxygen during the process (Sihag et al. 2014). Table 16.6 shows the factors affecting microbial degradation in oil and their conditions for microbial degradation.

16.5 Future Works in Microbial Degradation Technologies

At the site of spilt oil, the local microbial community can debase the hydrocarbons, although the rate of microbial degradation can be prolonged. Because of this, oil and hydrocarbons get to the shoreline before being converted or removed in their simpler form, and once they reach the shoreline, the beaches and seashores are severely impacted. In this way, the idea of bioaugmentation is being used. Nevertheless, to accomplish complete bioremediation by bioaugmentation, the microorganisms ought to be capable of adjusting to the high salinity water by debasing numerous hydrocarbons with the production of biosurfactants within a short span. Likewise, the microorganisms must be able to withstand the harmful synthetic chemicals in the

Factor	Condition
Pressure	Degradation of hydrocarbon substrate by a mixed-culture of deep sea-sediment bacteria was monitored at 10 atm and 495 or 500 atm
Salinity	The metabolism rate of hydrocarbons reduced with increasing salinity between the range of 3.3–28.4% and the results were attributed to the general reduction in the rates of microbial metabolism.
Bioavailability	Several investigations have been conducted for bio-surfactant and bio-surfactant producing bacterial due to their abilities to increase bioavailability. Application of surfactant in areas with contaminated oil may have a neutral, inhibitory, or stimulatory impact on degrading oil compounds by bacteria. The application of external oil spill dispersants or nonsurfactant impacts the rate of alkane degradation.
Soil moisture, alkalinity, and acidity (pH)	Water potential of aquatic environment can range from -0.98 and soils from 0.0 to 0.99. Biodegradation of oil sludge in the soil can occur at the optimal rate of 30–90% of saturated water. High variability of pH in soil: alkaline desert -11.0 , mine soil -2.5. A pH neutral is favored by most heterotrophic fungi and bacteria.
Nutrients	The biodegradation of oil pollution is enhanced by additional nutrients. Several reports have been made on the negative repercussion of excessive use of NPK in the biodegradation of hydrocarbons. Organic fertilizers such as poultry manure have been found to enhance the rate of biodegradation of contaminated soil. Photooxidation expanded the biodegradability of oil hydrocarbons by increasing their bioavailability and consequently improving their microbial activities.
Oxygen	The availability of oxygen is dependent on the presence of utilizable substrates, the type of soil, and the rate of O_2 consumption by microbes. Oxygen concentration is considered as a rate-limiting variable in the soil during biodegradation of petroleum products. Catabolism of aromatic, cyclic, and aliphatic hydrocarbon by fungi and bacteria in the first stages involves oxidizing substrate by oxygenases, for which molecular oxygen is required.
Temperature	Outstanding biodegradation of hydrocarbon was reported in temperate regions in a psychrophilic environment. Highest rate of degradation happens in the range of 15–20 °C in marine, 20–30 °C in freshwater, and 30–40 °C in soil. Reduced temperature decreases enzymatic activities which also decreases the biodegradation rate. A low temperature increases the viscosity of oil and reduces the volatility of toxic low molecular weight hydrocarbons, which in turn, decreases the rate of biodegradation.

 Table 16.6
 Factors affecting microbial degradation in oil (Singh and Chandra 2014; Okoh 2006)

(continued)

Factor	Condition
Structure and composition of hydrocarbon	Hydrocarbon susceptibility due to microbial attack has been the order of biodegradation rate: Saturates-light aromatics-high molecular weight aromatic-polar compounds or in order of <i>n</i> -alkanes-branched alkane-low molecular weight aromatics–cyclic alkanes.
Weathering	Photooxidation, evaporation
Microorganisms	PHC degraders may be absent or low in numbers

Table	16.6	(continu	(ued
-------	------	----------	------

hydrocarbons. To have such microorganisms that can debase various types of hydrocarbons, biosurfactants producer, and salt resistants, the microorganisms could be genetically changed by utilizing genetically engineering methods of genetic engineered microorganisms (GEM) (Khade and Srivastava 2017). It is the method of control of genetic sequences to improve the adequacy, efficiency, and efficacy of bioremediation. Genetic engineering permits humans to isolate genes from specific organisms and put them into other organisms. A few genetic ways have been created and utilized to improve the organisms, metabolic pathways and enzymes concerning biodegradation (Pieper and Reineke 2000). The fundamental strategy of utilizing genetically engineered organisms in bioremediation is to design such novel strains that have the capacity of debasing high molecular weight polyaromatic compounds. Pseudomonas fluorescence HK44 is the principal GEM sanctioned for conducting experiments in the US during bioremediation (Khade and Srivastava 2017). Strain HK44 as a reporter gene contains lux amalgamated in a degradative pathway of naphthalene, which consequently permits recombinant microorganisms to exhibit bioluminescence as it is based on special polyaromatic hydrocarbons, for example, naphthalene. The cycle could thus be seen through light detection. Anand Mohan Chakrabarty, an Indian-born American microbiologist, was the pioneer for developing an oil-eating "superbug" that used four strains of Pseudomonas containing the plasmid. Since the isolation of the plasmid from each strain led to the degrading of naphthalene, xylene, camphor, and octane, he combined them to form one strain of Pseudomonas putida known as "superbug" that was able to degrade naphthalene, xylene, camphor and octane as depicted in Fig. 16.2 (Renneberg and Berkling 2016). The degradative effectiveness of PAHs can also be upgraded via the GEM. For instance, the rate-restricting steps in already established metabolic pathways could be genetically controlled to produce increased rates of degradation, or new metabolic pathways can be consolidated into strains of bacteria for the debasement of already intractable compounds (Renneberg and Berkling 2016). Also, different strategies utilizing engineered microorganisms can be used for controlling and monitoring stress response assessment, toxicity, and lastly cleaning up hydrocarbons completely (Khade and Srivastava 2017).



Fig. 16.2 Genetically modified *Pseudomonas putida* KT2442 (Khade and Srivastava 2017)

16.6 Conclusion

In this chapter, microbial degradation of oil wastes is seen as very promising among the bioremediation technologies, which are simultaneously used for environmental conservation and treatment of different waste streams. Despite the growing acceptance of microbial degradation as means to treat aromatic and aliphatic fractions of spilled oils in the marine environment, large-scale application of the process under field conditions and the microbes' stability continue to be a major setback. Therefore, environmental factors such as biological and physiochemical factors need to be examined to enhance the microbial degradation of the oils. Also, microbial degradation is associated with the contaminated environment and their microbial community dynamics. The prospect of genetically engineered microbes emerges a very promising microorganism for microbial degradation of oils and bioremediation technologies for the removal of recalcitrant pollutants and contaminatedhydrocarbons from water and soils, and therefore, requires much attention.

Acknowledgments The authors wish to thank the Durban University of Technology, South Africa, and Punjabi University, Banda, India for their support.

References

Abbasian F, Lockington R, Mallavarapu M, Naidu R (2015) A comprehensive review of aliphatic hydrocarbon biodegradation by bacteria. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 176(3):670–699

- Abdel-Shafy HI, Mansour MS (2016) A review on polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons: source, environmental impact, effect on human health and remediation. Egypt J Pet 25(1):107–123
- Aislabie J, Saul DJ, Foght JM (2006) Bioremediation of hydrocarbon-contaminated polar soils. Extremophiles 10(3):171–179
- Alonso-Alvarez C, Munilla I, López-Alonso M, Velando A (2007) Sublethal toxicity of the Prestige oil spill on yellow-legged gulls. Environ Int 33(6):773–781
- Aminzadeh F, Dasgupta SN (2013) Chapter 3: Fundamentals of petroleum geophysics. In: Geophysics for petroleum engineers. Elsevier Inc., Oxford
- Antizar-Ladislao B, Beck AJ, Spanova K, Lopez-Real J, Russell NJ (2007) The influence of different temperature programmes on the bioremediation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) in a coal-tar contaminated soil by in-vessel composting. J Hazard Mater 144 (1–2):340–347
- Beškoski VP, Gojgić-Cvijović G, Milić J, Ilić M, Miletić S, Šolević T, Vrvić MM (2011) Ex situ bioremediation of a soil contaminated by mazut (heavy residual fuel oil)—a field experiment. Chemosphere 83(1):34–40
- Bhatt P, Pathak VM, Joshi S, Bisht TS, Singh K, Chandra D (2019) Major metabolites after degradation of xenobiotics and enzymes involved in these pathways. In: Smart bioremediation technologies. Academic Press, London, pp 205–215
- Boll M, Löffler C, Morris BE, Kung JW (2014) Anaerobic degradation of homocyclic aromatic compounds via arylcarboxyl-coenzyme A esters: organisms, strategies and key enzymes. Environ Microbiol 16(3):612–627
- Boopathy R (2000) Factors limiting bioremediation technologies. Bioresour Technol 74(1):63-67
- Brooijmans RJ, Pastink MI, Siezen RJ (2009) Hydrocarbon-degrading bacteria: the oil-spill cleanup crew. Microb Biotechnol 2(6):587
- Cai QY, Mo CH, Wu QT, Zeng QY, Katsoyiannis A, Ferard JF (2007) Bioremediation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs)-contaminated sewage sludge by different composting processes. J Hazard Mater 142(1–2):535–542
- Callaghan AV, Morris BE, Pereira IA, McInerney MJ, Austin RN, Groves JT, Kukor JJ, Suflita JM, Young LY, Zylstra GJ, Wawrik B (2012) The genome sequence of Desulfatibacillum alkenivorans AK-01: a blueprint for anaerobic alkane oxidation. Environ Microbiol 14 (1):101–113
- Cappello S, Denaro R, Genovese M, Giuliano L, Yakimov MM (2007) Predominant growth of Alcanivorax during experiments on "oil spill bioremediation" in mesocosms. Microbiol Res 162 (2):185–190
- Chandra S, Sharma R, Singh K, Sharma A (2013) Application of bioremediation technology in the environment contaminated with petroleum hydrocarbon. Ann Microbiol 63(2):417–431
- Chaudhry Q, Blom-Zandstra M, Gupta SK, Joner E (2005) Utilizing the synergy between plants and rhizosphere microorganisms to enhance breakdown of organic pollutants in the environment. Environ Sci Pollut Res 12(1):34–48. (15 pp.)
- Costa AS, Romão LP, Araújo BR, Lucas SC, Maciel ST, Wisniewski A Jr, Alexandre MD (2012) Environmental strategies to remove volatile aromatic fractions (BTEX) from petroleum industry wastewater using biomass. Bioresour Technol 105:31–39
- Cozzarelli IM, Baehr AL (2003) Volatile fuel hydrocarbons and MTBE in the environment. In: Treatise on geochemistry, vol 9. Elsevier, San Diego, p 612
- Das N, Chandran P (2011) Microbial degradation of petroleum hydrocarbon contaminants: an overview. Biotechnol Res Int 2011:1
- Dellagnezze BM, de Sousa GV, Martins LL, Domingos DF, Limache EE, de Vasconcellos SP, da Cruz GF, de Oliveira VM (2014) Bioremediation potential of microorganisms derived from petroleum reservoirs. Mar Pollut Bull 89(1–2):191–200
- Deppe U, Richnow HH, Michaelis W, Antranikian G (2005) Degradation of crude oil by an arctic microbial consortium. Extremophiles 9(6):461–470
- Desforges JP, Sonne C, Levin M, Siebert U, De Guise S, Dietz R (2016) Immunotoxic effects of environmental pollutants in marine mammals. Environ Int 86:126–139

- Dias RL, Ruberto L, Hernández E, Vázquez SC, Balbo AL, Del Panno MT, Mac Cormack WP (2012) Bioremediation of an aged diesel oil-contaminated Antarctic soil: evaluation of the "on site" biostimulation strategy using different nutrient sources. Int Biodeterior Biodegradation 75:96–103
- Dzionek A, Wojcieszyńska D, Guzik U (2016) Natural carriers in bioremediation: a review. Electron J Biotechnol 19(5):28–36
- Farhadian M, Vachelard C, Duchez D, Larroche C (2008) In situ bioremediation of monoaromatic pollutants in groundwater: a review. Bioresour Technol 99(13):5296–5308
- Floodgate GD (1972) Microbial degradation of oil. Mar Pollut Bull 3(3):41-43
- Foght J (2008) Anaerobic biodegradation of aromatic hydrocarbons: pathways and prospects. J Mol Microbiol Biotechnol 15(2–3):93–120
- Geetha SJ, Joshi SJ, Kathrotiya S (2013) Isolation and characterization of hydrocarbon degrading bacterial isolate from oil contaminated sites. APCBEE Procedia 5:237–241
- Georgieva S, Godjevargova T, Mita DG, Diano N, Menale C, Nicolucci C, Carratelli CR, Mita L, Golovinsky E (2010) Non-isothermal bioremediation of waters polluted by phenol and some of its derivatives by laccase covalently immobilized on polypropylene membranes. J Mol Catal B Enzym 66(1–2):210–218
- Ghazali FM, Rahman RN, Salleh AB, Basri M (2004) Biodegradation of hydrocarbons in soil by microbial consortium. Int Biodeterior Biodegradation 54(1):61–67
- Golodyaev GP, Kostenkov NM, Oznobikhin VI (2009) Bioremediation of oil-contaminated soils by composting. Eurasian Soil Sci 42(8):926–935
- Guarino C, Spada V, Sciarrillo R (2017) Assessment of three approaches of bioremediation (natural attenuation, landfarming and bioagumentation–assistited landfarming) for a petroleum hydrocarbons contaminated soil. Chemosphere 170:10–16
- Hamdi H, Benzarti S, Manusadžianas L, Aoyama I, Jedidi N (2007) Bioaugmentation and biostimulation effects on PAH dissipation and soil ecotoxicity under controlled conditions. Soil Biol Biochem 39(8):1926–1935
- Hamzah A, Rabu A, Azmy RF, Yussoff NA (2010) Isolation and characterization of bacteria degrading Sumandak and South Angsi oils. Sains Malay 39(2):161–168
- Hong YH, Deng MC, Xu XM, Wu CF, Xiao X, Zhu Q, Sun XX, Zhou QZ, Peng J, Yuan JP, Wang JH (2016) Characterization of the transcriptome of Achromobacter sp. HZ01 with the outstanding hydrocarbon-degrading ability. Gene 584(2):185–194
- Ishak S, Malakahmad A, Isa MH (2012) Refinery wastewater biological treatment: a short review. http://nopr.niscair.res.in/handle/123456789/13753
- Janbandhu A, Fulekar MH (2011) Biodegradation of phenanthrene using adapted microbial consortium isolated from petrochemical contaminated environment. J Hazard Mater 187 (1–3):333–340
- Jesubunmi CO (2014) Isolation of oil-degrading microorganisms in spent engine oil-contaminated soil. J Biol Agric Healthcare 4(25):191–195
- Ka JO, Yu Z, Mohn WW (2001) Monitoring the size and metabolic activity of the bacterial community during biostimulation of fuel-contaminated soil using competitive PCR and RT-PCR. Microb Ecol 42(3):267–273
- Kauppi S, Sinkkonen A, Romantschuk M (2011) Enhancing bioremediation of diesel-fuelcontaminated soil in a boreal climate: comparison of biostimulation and bioaugmentation. Int Biodeterior Biodegradation 65(2):359–368
- Khade SM, Srivastava SK (2017) Genetically modified microbes for bioremediation of oil spills in marine environment
- Khan AH, Tanveer S, Anees M, Muhammad YS, Iqbal M, Yousaf S (2016) Role of nutrients and illuminance in predicting the fate of fungal mediated petroleum hydrocarbon degradation and biomass production. J Environ Manag 176:54–60
- Khashayar T, Mahsa T (2010) Biodegradation potential of petroleum hydrocarbons by bacterial diversity in soil. World Appl Sci J 8(6):750–755

- Lalevic B, Raicevic V, Kikovic D, Talaiekhozani A, Hamidovic S, Gkorezis P, Van Hamme J (2016) Exploiting microorganisms for the removal of organic pollutants: an environmental perspective. In: International conference of applications, 29 Dec 2016
- Lamichhane S, Krishna KB, Sarukkalige R (2016) Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) removal by sorption: a review. Chemosphere 148:336–353
- Magot M, Ollivier B, Patel BK (2000) Microbiology of petroleum reservoirs. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek 77(2):103–116
- Mahmoud GA, Bagy MM (2018) Microbial degradation of petroleum hydrocarbons. In: Microbial action on hydrocarbons. Springer, Singapore, pp 299–320
- McClay K, Fox BG, Steffan RJ (2000) Toluene monooxygenase-catalyzed epoxidation of alkenes. Appl Environ Microbiol 66(5):1877–1882
- Meckenstock RU, Boll M, Mouttaki H, Koelschbach JS, Tarouco PC, Weyrauch P, Dong X, Himmelberg AM (2016) Anaerobic degradation of benzene and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. J Mol Microbiol Biotechnol 26(1–3):92–118
- Megharaj M, Ramakrishnan B, Venkateswarlu K, Sethunathan N, Naidu R (2011) Bioremediation approaches for organic pollutants: a critical perspective. Environ Int 37(8):1362–1375
- Minai-Tehrani D, Herfatmanesh A, Azari-Dehkordi F, Minuoi S (2006) Effect of salinity on biodegradation of aliphatic fractions of crude oil in soil. Pak J Biol Sci 9(8):1531–1535
- Mittal A, Singh P (2009) Isolation of hydrocarbon degrading bacteria from soils contaminated with crude oil spills
- Nesterenko-Malkovskaya A, Kirzhner F, Zimmels Y, Armon R (2012) Eichhornia crassipes capability to remove naphthalene from wastewater in the absence of bacteria. Chemosphere 87(10):1186–1191
- Nie Y, Chi CQ, Fang H, Liang JL, Lu SL, Lai GL, Tang YQ, Wu XL (2014) Diverse alkane hydroxylase genes in microorganisms and environments. Sci Rep 4:4968
- Okoh AI (2006) Biodegradation alternative in the cleanup of petroleum hydrocarbon pollutants. Biotechnol Mol Biol Rev 1(2):38–50
- Olajire AA, Essien JP (2014) Aerobic degradation of petroleum components by microbial consortia. J Pet Environ Biotechnol 5(5):1
- Parra-Barraza H, Hernández-Montiel D, Lizardi J, Hernández J, Urbina RH, Valdez MA (2003) The zeta potential and surface properties of asphaltenes obtained with different crude oil/n-heptane proportions. Fuel 82(8):869–874
- Paudyn K, Rutter A, Rowe RK, Poland JS (2008) Remediation of hydrocarbon contaminated soils in the Canadian Arctic by landfarming. Cold Reg Sci Technol 53(1):102–114
- Perelo LW (2010) In situ and bioremediation of organic pollutants in aquatic sediments. J Hazard Mater 177(1-3):81-89
- Pieper DH, Reineke W (2000) Engineering bacteria for bioremediation. Curr Opin Biotechnol 11 (3):262–270
- Porto AL, Melgar GZ, Kasemodel MC, Nitschke M (2011) Biodegradation of pesticides. In: Stoytcheva M (ed) Pesticides in the modern world—pesticides use and management, vol 1. InTech, London, pp 407–438
- Prince RC, McFarlin KM, Butler JD, Febbo EJ, Wang FC, Nedwed TJ (2013) The primary biodegradation of dispersed crude oil in the sea. Chemosphere 90(2):521–526
- Priya A, Mandal AK, Ball AS, Manefield M, Lal B, Sarma PM (2015) Mass culture strategy for bacterial yeast co-culture for degradation of petroleum hydrocarbons in marine environment. Mar Pollut Bull 100(1):191–199
- Rahman KS, Rahman TJ, Kourkoutas Y, Petsas I, Marchant R, Banat IM (2003) Enhanced bioremediation of n-alkane in petroleum sludge using bacterial consortium amended with rhamnolipid and micronutrients. Bioresour Technol 90(2):159–168
- Renneberg R, Berkling V, Loroch V (2016) Biotechnology for beginners. Academic Press, Amsterdam

- Rezania S, Ponraj M, Talaiekhozani A, Mohamad SE, Din MF, Taib SM, Sabbagh F, Sairan FM (2015) Perspectives of phytoremediation using water hyacinth for removal of heavy metals, organic and inorganic pollutants in wastewater. J Environ Manag 163:125–133
- Saeki H, Sasaki M, Komatsu K, Miura A, Matsuda H (2009) Oil spill remediation by using the remediation agent JE1058BS that contains a biosurfactant produced by Gordonia sp. strain JE-1058. Bioresour Technol 100(2):572–577
- Sajna KV, Sukumaran RK, Gottumukkala LD, Pandey A (2015) Crude oil biodegradation aided by biosurfactants from Pseudozyma sp. NII 08165 or its culture broth. Bioresour Technol 191:133–139
- Siciliano SD, Germida JJ, Banks K, Greer CW (2003) Changes in microbial community composition and function during a polyaromatic hydrocarbon phytoremediation field trial. Appl Environ Microbiol 69(1):483–489
- Sihag S, Pathak H, Jaroli DP (2014) Factors affecting the rate of biodegradation of polyaromatic hydrocarbons. Int J Pure Appl Biosci 2(3):185–202
- Silva-Castro GA, Uad I, Rodríguez-Calvo A, González-López J, Calvo C (2015) Response of autochthonous microbiota of diesel polluted soils to land-farming treatments. Environ Res 137:49–58
- Simarro R, González N, Bautista LF, Molina MC (2013) Assessment of the efficiency of in situ bioremediation techniques in a creosote polluted soil: change in bacterial community. J Hazard Mater 262:158–167
- Singh K, Chandra S (2014) Treatment of petroleum hydrocarbon polluted environment through bioremediation: a review. Pak J Biotechnol 17(1):1–8
- Souza EC, Vessoni-Penna TC, de Souza Oliveira RP (2014) Biosurfactant-enhanced hydrocarbon bioremediation: an overview. Int Biodeterior Biodegradation 89:88–94
- Speight JG (2014) The chemistry and technology of petroleum. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL
- Suja F, Rahim F, Taha MR, Hambali N, Razali MR, Khalid A, Hamzah A (2014) Effects of local microbial bioaugmentation and biostimulation on the bioremediation of total petroleum hydrocarbons (TPH) in crude oil contaminated soil based on laboratory and field observations. Int Biodeterior Biodegradation 90:115–122
- Thamer M, Al-Kubaisi AR, Zahraw Z, Abdullah HA, Hindy I, Abd Khadium A (2013) Biodegradation of Kirkuk light crude oil by Bacillus thuringiensis, Northern of Iraq. Nat Sci 5:34122
- Thenmozhi R, Nagasathya A, Thajuddin N (2011 May) Studies on biodegradation of used engine oil by consortium cultures. Adv Environ Biol 1:1051–1058
- Toda H, Itoh N (2012) Isolation and characterization of styrene metabolism genes from styreneassimilating soil bacteria Rhodococcus sp. ST-5 and ST-10. J Biosci Bioeng 113(1):12–19
- Tomei MC, Daugulis AJ (2013) Ex situ bioremediation of contaminated soils: an overview of conventional and innovative technologies. Crit Rev Environ Sci Technol 43(20):2107–2139
- Towell MG, Paton GI, Semple KT (2011) The biodegradation of cable oil components: impact of oil concentration, nutrient addition and bioaugmentation. Environ Pollut 159(12):3777–3783
- Tyagi M, da Fonseca MM, de Carvalho CC (2011) Bioaugmentation and biostimulation strategies to improve the effectiveness of bioremediation processes. Biodegradation 22(2):231–241
- Ubani O, Atagana HI, Thantsha MS, Adeleke R (2016) Characterisation of oil degrading bacteria from tailored compost containing crude oil sludge. https://repository.up.ac.za/handle/2263/ 59102
- Van Hamme JD, Singh A, Ward OP (2003) Recent advances in petroleum microbiology. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 67(4):503–549
- Van Meter RJ, Spotila JR, Avery HW (2006) Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons affect survival and development of common snapping turtle (Chelydra serpentina) embryos and hatchlings. Environ Pollut 142(3):466–475
- Varjani SJ (2014) Hydrocarbon degrading and biosurfactants (bioemulsifiers) producing bacteria from petroleum oil wells. Doctoral dissertation, PhD thesis, Kadi Sarva Vishwavidyalaya
- Varjani SJ (2017) Microbial degradation of petroleum hydrocarbons. Bioresour Technol 223:277–286

- Varjani Sunita J, Rana Dolly P, Bateja S, Upasani VN (2013) Original research article isolation and screening for hydrocarbon utilizing bacteria (HUB) from petroleum samples. Int J Curr Microbiol App Sci 2(4):48–60
- Varjani SJ, Upasani VN (2016) Carbon spectrum utilization by an indigenous strain of Pseudomonas aeruginosa NCIM 5514: production, characterization and surface active properties of biosurfactant. Bioresour Technol 221:510–516
- Varjani SJ, Upasani VN (2017) A new look on factors affecting microbial degradation of petroleum hydrocarbon pollutants. Int Biodeterior Biodegradation 120:71–83
- Varjani SJ, Rana DP, Bateja S, Sharma MC, Upasani VN (2014) Screening and identification of biosurfactant (bioemulsifier) producing bacteria from crude oil contaminated sites of Gujarat, India. Int J Innov Res Sci Eng Technol 3(2):9205–9213
- Varjani SJ, Rana DP, Jain AK, Bateja S, Upasani VN (2015) Synergistic ex-situ biodegradation of crude oil by halotolerant bacterial consortium of indigenous strains isolated from on shore sites of Gujarat, India. Int Biodeterior Biodegradation 103:116–124
- Venosa AD, Zhu X (2003) Biodegradation of crude oil contaminating marine shorelines and freshwater wetlands. Spill Sci Technol Bull 8(2):163–178
- Vieira PA, Vieira RB, De França FP, Cardoso VL (2007) Biodegradation of effluent contaminated with diesel fuel and gasoline. J Hazard Mater 140(1–2):52–59
- Waigi MG, Kang F, Goikavi C, Ling W, Gao Y (2015) Phenanthrene biodegradation by sphingomonads and its application in the contaminated soils and sediments: a review. Int Biodeterior Biodegradation 104:333–349
- Walker CH, Sibly RM, Hopkin SP, Peakall DB (2012) Principles of ecotoxicology. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL
- Walworth J, Pond A, Snape I, Rayner J, Ferguson S, Harvey P (2005) Fine tuning soil nitrogen to maximize petroleum bioremediation. In: Assessment and remediation contaminated sites in Arctic and cold climates (ARCSACC), 8 May 2005, pp 251–257
- Walworth J, Pond A, Snape I, Rayner J, Ferguson S, Harvey P (2007) Nitrogen requirements for maximizing petroleum bioremediation in a sub-Antarctic soil. Cold Reg Sci Technol 48 (2):84–91
- Weelink SA, Van Doesburg W, Saia FT, Rijpstra WI, Röling WF, Smidt H, Stams AJ (2009) A strictly anaerobic betaproteobacterium Georgfuchsia toluolica gen. nov., sp. nov. degrades aromatic compounds with Fe (III), Mn (IV) or nitrate as an electron acceptor. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 70(3):575–585
- Widdel F, Rabus R (2001) Anaerobic biodegradation of saturated and aromatic hydrocarbons. Curr Opin Biotechnol 12(3):259–276
- Wilkes H, Buckel W, Golding BT, Rabus R (2016) Metabolism of hydrocarbons in n-alkaneutilizing anaerobic bacteria. J Mol Microbiol Biotechnol 26(1–3):138–151
- Yakimov MM, Timmis KN, Golyshin PN (2007) Obligate oil-degrading marine bacteria. Curr Opin Biotechnol 18(3):257–266
- Zhang Z, Hou Z, Yang C, Ma C, Tao F, Xu P (2011) Degradation of n-alkanes and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in petroleum by a newly isolated Pseudomonas aeruginosa DQ8. Bioresour Technol 102(5):4111–4116
- Zhao D, Liu C, Liu L, Zhang Y, Liu Q, Wu WM (2011) Selection of functional consortium for crude oil-contaminated soil remediation. Int Biodeterior Biodegradation 65(8):1244–1248


Microbial Degradation of Biowaste for Hydrogen Production

17

Ouahid El Asri, Soufiane Fadlaoui, Mohamed Ramdani, and Sanae Errochdi

Abstract

More than half of municipal waste is biowaste, consisting of the kitchen, food, and garden waste. This type of waste is continuously growing. The biowaste poses a threat to the environment, public health, and the economy of each country if it has not been treated effectively. In order to reduce their daily volumes and their impacts, the microbiological degradation of these wastes using certain wellselected microbes that produce hydrogen is a new global trend that helps achieve previous goals. This chapter presents the different types of microbes and their roles in the conversion of biowaste into hydrogen, as well as the biological and biochemical mechanisms that ensure this conversion. We have also gathered in this chapter a comparison between the three current methods of hydrogen production by microbial degradation (microbial photofermentation, microbial dark fermentation, and two-stage fermentation) and the new discoveries, which make it possible to improve this trend.

Keywords

Biowaste \cdot Bioresource \cdot Dark fermentation \cdot Energy \cdot Photofermentation \cdot Microbes

S. Fadlaoui · M. Ramdani Ecology, Water and Environment Laboratory, Mohamed First University, Oujda, Morocco

S. Errochdi

O. El Asri (🖂)

Plant Biotechnology Laboratory, Ibn Zohr University, Agadir, Morocco

Laboratory of Ecology, Systematics and Conservation of Biodiversity, University Abdelmalek Essaâdi, Tetouan, Morocco

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 Inamuddin et al. (eds.), *Recent Advances in Microbial Degradation*, Environmental and Microbial Biotechnology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-0518-5_17

17.1 Introduction

Waste is residual, and is undemanded and unnecessary; it has lost its price and value in the eyes of its proprietor. Urbanization and the consumer economy led to an increase in the amount of waste. This generation of wastes continued to increase without stopping. In 2004, China produced 190 million tons, but in 2030 its production will reach 480 million tons (2030) (Minghua et al. 2009). The European Union generates more than 2000 million tons of nonhazardous and hazardous waste, respectively (Scarlat et al. 2019). Hanc et al. (2011) declared that half of this municipal solid waste is biowaste. Thus, biowaste constitutes one of the types of waste most represented in municipal landfills. In some countries such as the United States and Japan, biowaste production reaches 26 and 20 million tons, respectively (Wang et al. 2018). Some researchers have described the biowaste volume as an alarming and continuous biowaste situation by per capita and municipality (Zorpas and Lasaridi 2013). Garcia-Garcia et al. (2017) declared that one-third of the aliment intentionally grown for citizen's consumption is never consumed, so it is wasted. Currently, several countries worldwide have adopted policies advocating a transition to an economy to reduce, upgrade the volume of biowaste, and minimize dependence on fossil fuels to ensure sustainable economic and eco-friendly.

Biowaste is considered a priority goal for the global transition to a circular economy (Zeller et al. 2020). Among the circular economy, policies are adopted for the microbiological degradation of biowaste. Microbial degradation is the biological decomposition of complicated organic matter into smaller compounds by the microorganisms' community (Tahri et al. 2013). The microbes transform biowaste constituents by enzymatic reactions into suitable products such as methane, compost, hydrogen, and biodiesel. This conversion relies on the microbe's growth on the biowaste as carbon, nitrogen, and energy. Balachandar et al. (2016) declared that biowaste is one of the best favorable organic substrates for hydrogen production because it includes 90% organic matter, promoting microbial degradation. Also, Dugmore et al. (2017) have described that the biowaste is an excellent feedstock for bacterial cultures for several current fermentation processes. Hydrogen-producing fermentation is currently gaining momentum over other fermentations because hydrogen is the dream fuel in the coming years. The microbial degradation for producing hydrogen is the sustainable technology that exploits biowastes as feeds (Arumugam et al. 2014; Nissilä et al. 2014).

Several researchers have confirmed that biowaste is an excellent substrate for hydrogen production (Ghimire et al. 2015; Lay et al. 2003; Ntaikou et al. 2010). The hydrogen (H₂) product by microbial degradation of biowaste is a nonpolluting and cleanest fuel renewable fuel. It can produce a high level of energy than any known combustible; it has a critical lower heating value (142 kJ/g) (Møller et al. 2017). On combustion, this gas does not generate any greenhouse gases (Hay et al. 2013). Currently, several works have integrated diverse biotechnologies by using microorganisms' ability to degrade organic components in biowaste with various metabolic ways for performing hydrogen production processes. So, it is an

opportunity to treat the biowaste in order to reduce its impact and produce the gas most of the planet search.

This chapter is a great tool to show the several microbial degradations of biowaste for hydrogen production. This chapter aims to provide recent news concerning hydrogen production using microbial degradation for the past few decades. This chapter is divided into two axes, (a) Firstly, we discussed the definition, world production, and characteristics of biowaste to show the importance of converting this waste into hydrogen, and (b) The Second axis consists of showing the different microbial degradation of biowaste and presenting new microbial applications for hydrogen production.

17.2 Biowaste: Definition, Composition, and Production

17.2.1 What Is Biowaste?

The definition of biowaste is not easy because it is different for each country. So, there is a wide range of definitions. The biowaste definition can affect the composition, sorting behavior, and treatment process (Boelens et al. 1996). We will study some definitions to choose the most suitable. Bhatia et al. (2018) have described that biowaste is produced in several origins, such as municipal solid waste, forest and agricultural activities, and in the food industry. This definition is extensive; thus, it contains almost all organic waste. The biowaste is collected selectively in some European countries. In Belgium, the biowaste is constituted principally by the kitchen, fruit, and garden waste (Gellens et al. 1995). Boelens et al. (1996) have proposed a straiten definition of biowaste, and it is only biogenic organic waste such as cooking and park waste. Schüch et al. (2016) have described that the biowaste collected according to the European Waste Catalogue is particularly the kitchen, food, and garden waste. Also, Kranert et al. (2020) have confirmed the last definition, and they excluded some organic wastes (manure, agricultural residues, sewage sludge, paper, and processed wood) from the biowaste nomination. Finally, we can define biowaste as biogenic organic material generated by daily household activities such as cooking, kitchen, food, or garden waste.

17.2.2 World Production of Biowaste

Austria generated 2 million tons of biowaste per year (Raninger 1996). China generated more than 30 million tons of biowastes every year. In 2014, Germany collected 4.6 million tons of biowaste; out of which, 3.9 million tons of this amount are treated by anaerobic degradation and the rest goes to the composting unit (Fricke et al. 2017). The production of biowaste in the European Union is an estimated 138 million tons per year, as well as each European citizen generates 170 kg of biowaste per year (Razza et al. 2018). Currently, in Lyon of French, the city generated 17,000 tons per year of gardens wastes, the restaurants, and schools

produced between 2500 and 6000 tons per year, biowaste generated by kitchens achieved 45,000 tons per year, and the food biowaste from supermarkets is more than 6000 tons per year (Moretti et al. 2020). Several researchers have confirmed that biowaste's world production increases annually (Zhao et al. 2020). Hanc et al. (2011) declared that the biowaste represented nearly half of the municipal solid waste party. So, the more we produce biowaste, the increasing the rate of municipal waste. This increase of biowaste quantity in each country is linked to several socio-economic and cultural factors of each nation, such as economic growth, the rapid expansion of the cities, and massive migration of population from rural to urban centers (Awasthi et al. 2014; Mian et al. 2017).

17.2.3 Biowaste Composition

The composition of biowaste is decisive for choosing a suitable microbial treatment. According to the previous definition, the biowaste is mainly composed of the biodegradable organic fraction (Fig. 17.1). The manual sorting of the biowaste in some European countries showed a mixture of different organic components such as meals, fish, meat, bread, and vegetables (Mahro and Timm 2007).



Fig. 17.1 Different organic components of biowaste

When we compare the composition of biowaste from three countries (UK, Portugal, and Italy), we found that fruits and vegetable debris are the majority (59–69%) (Fig. 17.2). The United Kingdom and Portugal possess waste meals as second components of biowaste, but Italy has pasta and cereals. In Greece, fruit and vegetable constructed 62% of biowaste (Malamis et al. 2015). Hanc et al. (2011) have shown that biowaste's composition is mainly 58.2% of fruit and vegetable debris in the Czech Republic. In the urban municipality, the composition of biowaste is invariable, but in houses, it is influenced by seasonal yard activity (Hanc et al. 2011). Therefore, the biowaste consists mainly of the organic fraction of vegetable origin.

The biowaste is principally composed of cellulose, hemicelluloses, and lignin that are significant plant material components (Ruggeri et al. 2015). The woody and garden waste comprises 70% cellulose and hemicellulose, and 30% lignin, these polysaccharides that are substrate convertible by microbes (Take et al. 2006). In general, this organic vegetable fraction holds two types of fractions, namely, the easily biodegradable organic fraction (starch, simple sugars, lipids, and proteins) and recalcitrant fraction such as lingo-cellulosic polymers (Moretti et al. 2020). Comparing the chemical composition of biowaste between certain countries shows a significant amount of volatile solid that exceeds 90% and a considerable quantity of carbon that can reach 50% (Table 17.1). This carbonic fraction next to the small amount of nitrogen constitutes the necessary nutrient substrate of microbes.

17.3 Production of Hydrogen by Microbial Degradation of Biowaste

The appropriate feedstock for hydrogen (H_2) production is the biowaste because it is are rich in complex and simple carbohydrates with good biodegradability (Ntaikou et al. 2010). The hydrogen production from biowaste varied between 0.68 and 2.7 mol H_2 by hexose molecules (Show et al. 2011). The production of H_2 by biowaste-rich carbohydrates, for example, potato and rice are 20 times bigger than the waste contain a large quantity of fat or protein such as egg, fat meat, and chicken skin (Lay et al. 2003). Ghimire et al. (2015) declared that fruit and vegetable wastes are useful feedstocks for H_2 production. H_2 can be produced by different microbial ways such as direct biophotolysis, indirect biophotolysis, photofermentation, dark fermentation, or microbial electrolysis cells (Nissilä et al. 2014). Among these biotechnologies, dark fermentation and photofermentation are the most suitable methods for producing green hydrogen from biowaste. These biological techniques serve to decrease biowaste volume, greenhouse gas emissions, and nonpolluting energy production like clean hydrogen (Patil et al. 2017).





	Dry matter (%)	Volatile solids (%)	Carbone (%)	Nitrogen (%)	References
French	19.1-66.2	71.7–95.0	40.3–52.6	1.3-4.1	Moretti et al. (2020)
Czech Republic	2.3–35.4	60–86	27.4–55.5	1.38–1.78	Hanc et al. (2011)
Greek	19.3–23.8	86.3-88.9	53.5–54.5	1.88–2.11	Malamis et al. (2015)
Germany	34.8–44.7	59.5-83.0	30.6-42.0	1.4–1.8	Mayer et al. (2020)
China	14.9–29.0	80.2–92.6	46.11	3.19	Li et al. (2016)
United Kingdom	21.7–26.8	91.1–94.1	48.7–51.0	2.9–3.12	Malamis et al. (2015)

 Table 17.1
 Chemical composition of biowaste in some countries

17.3.1 Microbial Photofermentation

Microbial photofermentation is assured by the purple non-sulfur photosynthetic bacterium (PNS) such as Rhodobacter sphaeroides, Rhodobium marinum, Rhodospirillum rubrum, Rhodobacter sphaeroides, Rhodopseudomonas palustris, Rhodobacter sulfidophilus, and Rhodobacter capsulatus (Adessi et al. 2017; Anam et al. 2012; Han et al. 2013). Under anaerobic conditions, light energy source, and the presence of organic acids, these bacteria catalyzed the generation of H_2 by an enzyme called nitrogenase. In general, during this process, the nitrogenase of Rhodobacter sp. can reduce protons to hydrogen and nitrogen to ammonia with electrons and ATP molecules (Ma et al. 2012). We know that biowaste presents an essential fraction of cellulose, lignin, and hemicellulose. It must choose one physical-chemical pretreatment for biowaste to change the intrinsic characteristics of organic matter and convert the carbohydrate polymers such as into fermentable substrates like simple sugar and organic acids (Ruggeri et al. 2015). These simple organic compounds enter the PNS bacterium, and then they are submitted to several catabolism processes such as glycolysis and tricarboxylic acid cycle to reduce NAD⁺ to NADH (Oh et al. 2013). The electron of NADH produced is transferred to oxidized ferredoxin by a series of membrane-bound in PNS bacteria. So, biowaste's organic acid acts as an electron donor under oxygen-deficient conditions (McKinlay and Harwood 2010). Under the light, the PNS bacterium fixes nitrogen from the atmosphere (Patil et al. 2017). The ATP is also produced by cyclic photophosphorylation with the light source (Adessi et al. 2017). We have the four elements (nitrogenase enzyme, nitrogen fixation, ATP energy, and carbon sources catabolism). Now, the nitrogenase can use three elements to produce H_2 . Hallenbeck and Liu (2016a) have proposed a global reaction:

$$N_2 + 8H^+ + 8e^- + 16ATP \rightarrow 2NH_3 + H_2 + 16ADP + P_i$$

Under absence or deficient of nitrogen source, nitrogenase can use the proton and ATP directly to produce hydrogen, according to another reaction (Stephen et al. 2017):

$$8\mathrm{H}^+ + 8\mathrm{e}^- + 16\mathrm{ATP} \rightarrow 4\mathrm{H}_2 + 16\mathrm{ADP} + \mathrm{P_i}$$

The *Rhodobacter* species are the most popular microbe in photofermentation, but other microbes used nitrogenase enzymelike Thiocapsa roseopersicina, Allochromatium vinosum, Chlorobium vibrioforme, Desulfuromonas acetoxidans, and Chloroflexus aurantiacus (Osman et al. 2020). Some researchers have described a global degradation model of microbial photofermentation process from several carbon sources by PNS bacteria that the predicted hydrogen quantity, the specific growth rate of microbes, and measured metabolic fluxes. We cited the model of Gadhamshetty et al. (2008) that was based on 6 of the 17 parameters, then the model made by Golomysova et al. (2010) that is constituted with 287 compounds and 314 biochemical reactions, the model of Hädicke et al. (2011) produced by 143 biochemical reactions, and mathematical models of Akbari and Mahmoodzadeh Vaziri (2017). The models previously can be used as an excellent start-up point to describe biowaste degradation, microbial growth, and hydrogen conversion to accomplish experimental and industrial units.

Bianchi et al. (2010) have used *Rhodopseudomonas palustris* for the degradation of vegetable waste to produce $50.7 \pm 2.6 \text{ mL H}_2/\text{L/h}$. Kapdan et al. (2009) successfully converted wheat starch to hydrogen (46 mL H₂/L/h) using *Rhodobacter sphaeroides*. Anam et al. (2012) have recommended using *Rhodobium marinum* for converting sugarcane bagasse and soy sauce waste to 41 and 200 mL H₂/L/h, respectively. Photofermentation of the biodiesel industry waste such as glycerol can be achieved to 6.9 mol H₂ per molecule of glycerol, which is equivalent to 96% of the theoretical yield (Ghosh et al. 2012).

So, the photofermentation (PF) of biowaste by PNS bacteria has many benefits, (a) These microbes types use a vast diversity of simple molecules issued biowaste pretreatments such as glucose, lactate, malate, acetate, glycerol, succinate, glutamate, propionate, and butyrate, (b) PF can transform these molecules into higher hydrogen output than the dark fermentation process, (c) PNS bacteria have different metabolic ways such as photo-autotrophism, photo-heterotrophism, and chemoheterotrophism, and (d) PF uses low energy consumption; that is, it uses solar energy directly.

17.3.2 Microbial Dark Fermentation

Hydrogen production from biowaste by dark fermentation is the best promising method for commercialization between chemical and biological treatment technologies (Rafieenia et al. 2018a). Dark fermentation (DF) is the simplest biotechnology for the production of H_2 ; simultaneously, it generates high ranking yields. It is performed through two groups of microbes, strictly and facultative anaerobic bacteria. The first group is dominated by *Clostridium* species such as Clostridium beijerinckii, C. butyricum, C. thermolacticum, C. tyrobutyricum, C. thermocellum, C. paraputrificum, C. acetobutylicum, C. saccharobutylicum, and C. reinhardtiiand (Chandrasekhar et al. 2015; Oh et al. 2013). Followed by thermophilic bacteria, let's quote Caldicellulosiruptor saccharolyticus. Thermoanaerobacterium thermosaccharolyticum, Thermotoga maritime (Ntaikou et al. 2010). We can also add to this group rumen bacteria, principally *Firmicutes* sp. like Ruminococcus albus (Ntaikou et al. 2009). The second group consists of bacteria optional for oxygen like Escherichia coli, Enterobacter aerogenes, E. cloacae, Citrobater amalonaticus, C. intermedius, and Shewanella oneidensis (Ntaikou et al. 2010; Oh et al. 2013). This last group can grow in a little volume of oxygen but only generate H₂ in anaerobic conditions (Singh and Das 2019).

We have already shown that the organic fraction of biowaste is mainly carbohydrates because it is rich in glucose, sucrose, starch, cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin. These components are considered the most suitable feedstocks for DF because there exists a strong positive correlation between the DF and carbohydrate content of biowaste (Ghimire et al. 2015). The first step of degradation of biowaste for the generation of H_2 is the pretreatments. Among the diverse types of pretreatment, Bundhoo et al. (2015) have concluded that heat and acid pretreatments' technologies are popularly used and effective for food waste destined for the dark fermentation process. The second step is the microbial degradation of biowaste by inoculation. This step is different depending on the bacterial species chosen for treatment (Bundhoo et al. 2015; Rafieenia et al. 2018a). In general, this process is based on using the organic molecules of biowaste by the previous microbe as the only origin of energy and electrons. Rafieenia et al. (2018a) have declared that the theoretical amount of H₂ is between 4 and 2 mol per glucose molecule. But some researchers such as Woodward et al. (2000) reported that the production of H_2 could reach 12 mol H_2 per mol glucose. To facilitate the understanding of this biotechnology, we will present for each bacterial group its degradation mechanism:

The first group of strictly anaerobic bacteria mainly the genus of *Clostridium*. These last microorganisms are the predominant microbes in hydrogen production from biomass waste treatment (Chou et al. 2008). Some *Clostridium* sp. can degrade cellulose and plant biomass by cellulosome (it is the multienzyme complex) (Hirano et al. 2016). The glucose produced during the first pretreatment step or released by the biowaste transforms into pyruvate through glycolysis (Singh and Das 2019). *Clostridium* sp. using two enzymes, pyruvate/ferredoxin oxidoreductase, and hydrogenase (Jen et al. 2007; Meinecke et al. 1989; Morra et al. 2016). The first enzyme converted the pyruvate to acetyl-CoA by oxidative decarboxylation. This conversation is accompanied by a transfer of electrons to ferredoxin (Mathews and Wang 2009). So, it is the coenzyme that has an electron receiver role. The electrons present in ferredoxin are then transferred by hydrogenase to protons for the production of hydrogen (Hallenbeck 2005; Nath and Das 2004).

$$Pyruvate + CoA + 2Fd_{ox} \rightarrow Acetyl - CoA + CO_2 + 2Fd_{rd}$$

$$2H^+ + 2Fd_{rd} \rightarrow 2Fd_{ox} + H_2$$

Thermophilic bacteria and some *Clostridium* species have two enzymes, hydrogenase and other enzymes called NADH/ferredoxin oxidoreductase (Ntaikou et al. 2010). During the glycolysis process, the glucose of biowaste is converted into pyruvate by producing two NADH molecules (Hallenbeck 2005). This final product gives up these electrons to ferredoxin by NADH/ferredoxin oxidoreductase (Wang et al. 2010). The ferredoxin will give them in turn to protons by hydrogenase for hydrogen generation (Oh et al. 2013).

The second group of facultative anaerobic bacteria, such as *Escherichia coli* and *Enterobacter* species, has another mechanism. This microbe group has two crucial enzymes (pyruvate/formate lyase and formate/hydrogen lyase) (Hallenbeck 2005; Mathews and Wang 2009). After glycolysis, the pyruvate is converted into two molecules, acetyl-CoA and formate by pyruvate/formate lyase, then the formate molecule is transformed to H₂ by formate/hydrogen lyase (Oh et al. 2013).

As we did for the photofermentation, we will present some models for dark fermentation. The microbial degradation models of substrate issued by biowaste in the DK process are useful for estimating hydrogen production, microbial growth, and follow-up of metabolic fluxes. We cited for the strictly anaerobic bacteria, the model of Cai et al. (2010) that allows understanding of the *Clostridium butyricum* degradation of glucose with 34 reactions. The thermophilic bacteria Thermotoga maritima is one of the newly interesting bacteria because it is converted into large polysaccharide types, and it has the highest potential production of H₂ (Chou et al. 2008). Nogales et al. (2012) presented in silico model with 83 reactions of Thermotoga maritima. Escherichia coli can generate hydrogen by Kim's model that contains 66 reactions (Kim et al. 2009). Some researchers such as Rafieenia et al. (2018b) have proposed a metabolic network model of culture mixture (H₂ generation bacteria, methanogens, and homoacetogenic). This model has 46 reactions propose to study DF by any other mixed microbial inoculum with comparable organic components. We can see that these microbial degradation models in the DF process vary depending on the composition of biowaste, the initial organic substrate, pretreatment technology is chosen, and microbial inoculum type.

The DF of biowaste can be assured by pure and mixed cultures or co-culture. For an example of pure culture, *Clostridium beijerinckii* are generated (108 mL H₂/L/h) by converting the food waste (Kim et al. 2008). Perego et al. (1998) have used *Escherichia coli*, and *Enterobacter aerogenes* strains separately for DF of corn starch in order to reproduce respectively 330 and 240 mL H₂/L/h. Potato starch is generated 240 mL H₂/L/h by using *Enterobacter cloacae* (Kumar and Das 2000). Lee et al. (2011) have grouped in their work more than 30 microbial species of pure strain with their specific substrate transformable into hydrogen by DF. Currently, the mixed-culture is emerging and is an interesting technology for converting biowaste to hydrogen. Some work using bacterial consortia or mixed cultures such as it was done by Patel et al. (2015), have used diverse cultures composed of *Enterobacter* aerogenes, Proteus mirabilis, and Bacillus spp. for the production of H₂ by the degradation of pea-shell waste. Chen et al. (2012) used DF of rice straws by mixed culture (Clostridium pasteurianum, Clostridium stercorarium, and Thermoanaerobacterium saccharolyticum) to produce 7.4 mL H₂/g TS. Sharma and Melkania (2017) have used two bacteria, E. coli and Enterobacter aerogenes, for converting the organic fraction of municipal solid waste to hydrogen with production between 2120 to 1930 mL H_2/L of the substrate. In general, the inoculation by mixed cultures in DF of biowaste is an excellent way for industrial applications because it has three reasons, no sterilization process, easy management of the unit, and high conversion of biowaste hydrolysate due to the existence of a large diversity of microbes in the digester unit. Thus, we conclude that a DF of biowaste with a high yield of H_2 can be obtained with either pure culture or mixed consortia; this goal depends on the composition of biowaste and the efficiency of microorganisms in the mixed consortia for conversion to hydrogen.

At the end of this part, we noticed that DF is favorable for degradation and microbial valorization of biowaste thanks to certain advantages, (a) This technology is used for various biowaste including the lignocellulosic waste issued by garden residues as suitable feedstocks, (b) It is a low-cost technology because it can produce H_2 all day long without light energy, (c) It not only leads to energy recovery but also is one of the cost-reducing waste management methods, and (d) At the end of the process, it produces organic acids such as acetic acid, propionic acid, and butyric acid, which can be used by other biotechnology such as photofermentation, microbial electrolysis cell, cell-free enzymatic system, and anaerobic digestion for increasing the hydrogen yield.

17.3.3 Two-Stage Fermentation

The combination of dark fermentation and photofermentation is currently an emerging hybrid technology, and is named a two-stage fermentation. It is based on the significant disadvantage of DF that is the low yield of hydrogen (Das and Basak 2020). This low production in DF is primarily issued due to finals products acetic acid, propionic acid, and butyric acid because the energy is still stored in these products. Photofermentation can use the final organic products of DF to H₂ production in lighting conditions, which leads to high additional yield (Pachapur et al. 2019). Therefore, the link between the two processes (DF and PF) is complementary. Hallenbeck and Liu (2016b) have confirmed that this conjunction allows for the nearly complete conversion of carbohydrates to hydrogen. It can produce 12 mol of H₂ per 1 mol of glucose:

$$C_6H_{12}O_6 + 6H_2O \rightarrow 12H_2 + 6CO_2$$

Some studies have confirmed that integrating DF to PF generates an immense amount of H_2 than separately process from the same quantity of biowaste. Laurinavichene et al. treated the potato waste through three hydrogen production processes; thus, they obtained 1.4, 3.9, and 5.6 H₂ per mol of hexose during DF, PF, and two-stage, respectively. The sugar industry residual, such as beet molasses that contains a high quantity of sucrose (50%), was subject to two-stage fermentation. In the beginning, there was DF by *Caldicellulosiruptor saccharolyticus*, followed by PF with *Rhodobacter capsulates* (Özgür et al. 2010). This technology allows an increase of the production of H₂ from 4.2 mol H₂ in only DF to 13.7 mol H₂ per mol sucrose, which is equivalent to 58% of the theoretical production (Özgür et al. 2010). Yang et al. (2010) described the role of two-stage fermentation in hydrogen generation from corncob. This food waste has undergone an acid pretreatment for the hydrolysis, and then it is transferred to the dark phase that produces 120 mL H₂/g-corncob by converting the reducing sugars and oligosaccharides; when the substrate reaches the second illuminated phase, it is converted to 713 mL H₂/g-COD from acetic acid, butyric acid, butyl alcohol and ethanol issued by the dark phase (Yang et al. 2010). So, the two-stage fermentation is the high microbial degradation of biowaste into hydrogen, which is not reaching by DF or PF alone.

17.4 Conclusion

Every day, the biowaste is produced by daily household activities such as cooking, kitchen, food, or garden waste. Their production continues to increase, leading to the increased risk of destruction of our planet's natural ecosystems. In addition to the lack and exhaustion of sources of energy, the conversion of biowaste into hydrogen by microbial degradation has become a necessity. This chapter has shown three techniques (Microbial photofermentation, Microbial dark fermentation, and Two-stage fermentation) that make it possible to recover this waste by producing clean energy and reducing their volumes and their impact on the environment.

References

- Adessi A, Corneli E, De Philippis R (2017) Photosynthetic purple non sulfur bacteria in hydrogen producing systems: new approaches in the use of well known and innovative substrates. In: Hallenbeck PC (ed) Modern topics in the phototrophic prokaryotes. Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp 321–350. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-46261-5_10
- Akbari L, Mahmoodzadeh Vaziri B (2017) Comprehensive modeling of photo-fermentation process for prediction of hydrogen production. Int J Hydrog Energy 42:14449–14457. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2017.04.119
- Anam K, Habibi MS, Harwati TU, Susilaningsih D (2012) Photofermentative hydrogen production using Rhodobium marinum from bagasse and soy sauce wastewater. Int J Hydrog Energy 37:15436–15442. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2012.06.076
- Arumugam A, Sandhya M, Ponnusami V (2014) Biohydrogen and polyhydroxyalkanoate co-production by Enterobacter aerogenes and Rhodobacter sphaeroides from Calophyllum inophyllum oil cake. Bioresour Technol 164:170–176. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2014. 04.104

- Awasthi MK, Pandey AK, Khan J, Bundela PS, Wong JWC, Selvam A (2014) Evaluation of thermophilic fungal consortium for organic municipal solid waste composting. Bioresour Technol 168:214–221. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2014.01.048
- Balachandar G, Roy S, Das D (2016) Production process via fermentation. In: Stolten D, Emonts B (eds) Hydrogen science and engineering: materials, processes, systems and technology. Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA, Weinheim, pp 417–438. https://doi.org/10.1002/ 9783527674268.ch18
- Bhatia SK, Joo H-S, Yang Y-H (2018) Biowaste-to-bioenergy using biological methods—a minireview. Energy Convers Manag 177:640–660. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2018.09.090
- Bianchi L, Mannelli F, Viti C, Adessi A, De Philippis R (2010) Hydrogen-producing purple non-sulfur bacteria isolated from the trophic lake Averno (Naples, Italy). Int J Hydrog Energy 35:12216–12223. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2010.08.038
- Boelens J, De Wilde B, De Baere L (1996) Comparative study on biowaste definition: effects on biowaste collection. Composting process and compost quality. Compost Sci Util 4:60–72. https://doi.org/10.1080/1065657X.1996.10701819
- Bundhoo MAZ, Mohee R, Hassan MA (2015) Effects of pre-treatment technologies on dark fermentative biohydrogen production: a review. J Environ Manag 157:20–48. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jenvman.2015.04.006
- Cai G, Jin B, Saint C, Monis P (2010) Metabolic flux analysis of hydrogen production network by Clostridium butyricum W5: effect of pH and glucose concentrations. Int J Hydrog Energy 35:6681–6690. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2010.04.097
- Chandrasekhar K, Lee Y-J, Lee D-W (2015) Biohydrogen production: strategies to improve process efficiency through microbial routes. Int J Mol Sci 16:8266–8293. https://doi.org/10.3390/ ijms16048266
- Chen C-C, Chuang Y-S, Lin C-Y, Lay C-H, Sen B (2012) Thermophilic dark fermentation of untreated rice straw using mixed cultures for hydrogen production. Int J Hydrog Energy 37:15540–15546. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2012.01.036
- Chou C-J, Jenney FE, Adams MWW, Kelly RM (2008) Hydrogenesis in hyperthermophilic microorganisms: implications for biofuels. Metab Eng 10:394–404. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ymben.2008.06.007
- Das SR, Basak N (2020) Molecular biohydrogen production by dark and photo fermentation from wastes containing starch: recent advancement and future perspective. Bioprocess Biosyst Eng 44:1. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00449-020-02422-5
- Dugmore TIJ, Clark JH, Bustamante J, Houghton JA, Matharu AS (2017) Valorisation of biowastes for the production of green materials using chemical methods. Top Curr Chem 375:46. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s41061-017-0133-8
- Fricke K, Heußner C, Hüttner A, Turk T (2017) Recycling of biowaste: experience with collection, digestion, and quality in Germany. In: Maletz R, Dornack C, Ziyang L (eds) Source separation and recycling. Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp 175–175. https://doi.org/10.1007/ 698_2017_34
- Gadhamshetty V, Sukumaran A, Nirmalakhandan N, Theinmyint M (2008) Photofermentation of malate for biohydrogen production—a modeling approach. Int J Hydrog Energy 33:2138–2146. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2008.02.046
- Garcia-Garcia G, Woolley E, Rahimifard S, Colwill J, White R, Needham L (2017) A methodology for sustainable management of food waste. Waste Biomass Valoriz 8:2209–2227. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12649-016-9720-0
- Gellens V, Boelens J, Verstraete W (1995) Source separation, selective collection and in reactor digestion of biowaste. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek 67:79–89. https://doi.org/10.1007/ BF00872196
- Ghimire A, Frunzo L, Pontoni L, d'Antonio G, Lens PNL, Esposito G, Pirozzi F (2015) Dark fermentation of complex waste biomass for biohydrogen production by pretreated thermophilic anaerobic digestate. J Environ Manag 152:43–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2014.12. 049

- Ghosh D, Sobro IF, Hallenbeck PC (2012) Stoichiometric conversion of biodiesel derived crude glycerol to hydrogen: response surface methodology study of the effects of light intensity and crude glycerol and glutamate concentration. Bioresour Technol 106:154–160. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.biortech.2011.12.021
- Golomysova A, Gomelsky M, Ivanov PS (2010) Flux balance analysis of photoheterotrophic growth of purple nonsulfur bacteria relevant to biohydrogen production. Int J Hydrog Energy 35:12751–12760. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2010.08.133
- Hädicke O, Grammel H, Klamt S (2011) Metabolic network modeling of redox balancing and biohydrogen production in purple nonsulfur bacteria. BMC Syst Biol 5:150. https://doi.org/10. 1186/1752-0509-5-150
- Hallenbeck PC (2005) Fundamentals of the fermentative production of hydrogen. Water Sci Technol 52:21–29. https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2005.0494
- Hallenbeck PC, Liu Y (2016a) Recent advances in hydrogen production by photosynthetic bacteria. Int J Hydrog Energy 41:4446–4454. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2015.11.090
- Hallenbeck PC, Liu Y (2016b) Recent advances in hydrogen production by photosynthetic bacteria. Int J Hydrog Energy 41:4446–4454. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2015.11.090
- Han H, Jia Q, Liu B, Yang H, Shen J (2013) Fermentative hydrogen production from acetate using Rhodobacter sphaeroides RV. Int J Hydrog Energy 38:10773–10778. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ijhydene.2013.02.134
- Hanc A, Novak P, Dvorak M, Habart J, Svehla P (2011) Composition and parameters of household bio-waste in four seasons. Waste Manag 31:1450–1460. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman. 2011.02.016
- Hay JXW, Wu TY, Juan JC, Jahim JM (2013) Biohydrogen production through photo fermentation or dark fermentation using waste as a substrate: overview, economics, and future prospects of hydrogen usage. Biofuels Bioprod Biorefin 7:334–352. https://doi.org/10.1002/bbb.1403
- Hirano K, Kurosaki M, Nihei S, Hasegawa H, Shinoda S, Haruki M, Hirano N (2016) Enzymatic diversity of the Clostridium thermocellum cellulosome is crucial for the degradation of crystalline cellulose and plant biomass. Sci Rep 6:35709. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep35709
- Jen CJ, Chou C-H, Hsu P-C, Yu S-J, Chen W-E, Lay J-J, Huang C-C, Wen F-S (2007) Flow-FISH analysis and isolation of clostridial strains in an anaerobic semi-solid bio-hydrogen producing system by hydrogenase gene target. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 74:1126–1134. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s00253-006-0740-8
- Kapdan IK, Kargi F, Oztekin R, Argun H (2009) Bio-hydrogen production from acid hydrolyzed wheat starch by photo-fermentation using different Rhodobacter sp. Int J Hydrog Energy 34:2201–2207. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2009.01.017
- Kim JK, Nhat L, Chun YN, Kim SW (2008) Hydrogen production conditions from food waste by dark fermentation with Clostridium beijerinckii KCTC 1785. Biotechnol Bioprocess Eng 13:499–504. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12257-008-0142-0
- Kim S, Seol E, Oh Y-K, Wang GY, Park S (2009) Hydrogen production and metabolic flux analysis of metabolically engineered Escherichia coli strains. Int J Hydrog Energy 34:7417–7427. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2009.05.053
- Kranert M, Cimatoribus C, Quicker P (2020) Waste, 5. Biowaste treatment. In: Ullmann's encyclopedia of industrial chemistry. American Cancer Society, Atlanta, GA, pp 1–32. https://doi. org/10.1002/14356007.o28_006.pub2
- Kumar N, Das D (2000) Enhancement of hydrogen production by Enterobacter cloacae IIT-BT 08. Process Biochem 35:589–593. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0032-9592(99)00109-0
- Lay J-J, Fan K-S, Chang J, Ku C-H (2003) Influence of chemical nature of organic wastes on their conversion to hydrogen by heat-shock digested sludge. Int J Hydrog Energy 28:1361–1367. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0360-3199(03)00027-2
- Lee D-J, Show K-Y, Su A (2011) Dark fermentation on biohydrogen production: pure culture. Bioresour Technol 102:8393–8402. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2011.03.041

- Li Y, Jin Y, Li J, Chen Y, Gong Y, Li Y, Zhang J (2016) Current situation and development of kitchen waste treatment in China. Procedia Environ Sci 31:40–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. proenv.2016.02.006
- Ma C, Wang X, Guo L, Wu X, Yang H (2012) Enhanced photo-fermentative hydrogen production by Rhodobacter capsulatus with pigment content manipulation. Bioresour Technol 118:490–495. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2012.04.105
- Mahro B, Timm M (2007) Potential of biowaste from the food industry as a biomass resource. Eng Life Sci 7:457–468. https://doi.org/10.1002/elsc.200620206
- Malamis D, Moustakas K, Bourka A, Valta K, Papadaskalopoulou C, Panaretou V, Skiadi O, Sotiropoulos A (2015) Compositional analysis of biowaste from study sites in Greek municipalities. Waste Biomass Valoriz 6:637–646. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12649-015-9406-z
- Mathews J, Wang G (2009) Metabolic pathway engineering for enhanced biohydrogen production. Int J Hydrog Energy 34:7404–7416. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2009.05.078
- Mayer F, Bhandari R, G\u00e4th SA, Himanshu H, Stobernack N (2020) Economic and environmental life cycle assessment of organic waste treatment by means of incineration and biogasification. Is source segregation of biowaste justified in Germany? Sci Total Environ 721:137731. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.137731
- McKinlay JB, Harwood CS (2010) Photobiological production of hydrogen gas as a biofuel. Curr Opin Biotechnol 21:244–251. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copbio.2010.02.012
- Meinecke B, Bertram J, Gottschalk G (1989) Purification and characterization of the pyruvateferredoxin oxidoreductase from Clostridium acetobutylicum. Arch Microbiol 152:244–250. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00409658
- Mian MM, Zeng X, Nasry AANB, Al-Hamadani SMZF (2017) Municipal solid waste management in China: a comparative analysis. J Mater Cycles Waste Manag 19:1127–1135. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10163-016-0509-9
- Minghua Z, Xiumin F, Rovetta A, Qichang H, Vicentini F, Bingkai L, Giusti A, Yi L (2009) Municipal solid waste management in pudong new area, China. Waste Manag 29(3):1227– 1233. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2008.07.016
- Møller KT, Jensen TR, Akiba E, Li H (2017) Hydrogen—a sustainable energy carrier. Prog Nat Sci Mater Int 27:34–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnsc.2016.12.014
- Moretti P, Morais de Araujo J, Borges de Castilhos A, Buffière P, Gourdon R, Bayard R (2020) Characterization of municipal biowaste categories for their capacity to be converted into a feedstock aqueous slurry to produce methane by anaerobic digestion. Sci Total Environ 716:137084. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.137084
- Morra S, Mongili B, Maurelli S, Gilardi G, Valetti F (2016) Isolation and characterization of a new [FeFe]-hydrogenase from Clostridium perfringens. Biotechnol Appl Biochem 63:305–311. https://doi.org/10.1002/bab.1382
- Nath K, Das D (2004) Improvement of fermentative hydrogen production: various approaches. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 65. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-004-1644-0
- Nissilä ME, Lay C-H, Puhakka JA (2014) Dark fermentative hydrogen production from lignocellulosic hydrolyzates—a review. Biomass Bioenergy 67:145–159. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biombioe.2014.04.035
- Nogales J, Gudmundsson S, Thiele I (2012) An in silico re-design of the metabolism in Thermotoga maritima for increased biohydrogen production. Int J Hydrog Energy 37:12205–12218. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2012.06.032
- Ntaikou I, Koutros E, Kornaros M (2009) Valorisation of wastepaper using the fibrolytic/hydrogen producing bacterium Ruminococcus albus. Bioresour Technol 100:5928–5933. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.biortech.2009.06.019
- Ntaikou I, Antonopoulou G, Lyberatos G (2010) Biohydrogen production from biomass and wastes via dark fermentation: a review. Waste Biomass Valoriz 1:21–39. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12649-009-9001-2

- Oh Y-K, Raj SM, Jung GY, Park S (2013) Metabolic engineering of microorganisms for biohydrogen production. In: Biohydrogen. Elsevier, San Diego, pp 45–65. https://doi.org/10. 1016/B978-0-444-59555-3.00003-9
- Osman AI, Deka TJ, Baruah DC, Rooney DW (2020) Critical challenges in biohydrogen production processes from the organic feedstocks. Biomass Convers Bioref. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s13399-020-00965-x
- Özgür E, Mars AE, Peksel B, Louwerse A, Yücel M, Gündüz U, Claassen PAM, Eroğlu İ (2010) Biohydrogen production from beet molasses by sequential dark and photofermentation. Int J Hydrog Energy 35:511–517. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2009.10.094
- Pachapur VL, Kutty P, Pachapur P, Brar SK, Le Bihan Y, Galvez-Cloutier R, Buelna G (2019) Seed pretreatment for increased hydrogen production using mixed-culture systems with advantages over pure-culture systems. Energies 12:530. https://doi.org/10.3390/en12030530
- Patel SKS, Kumar P, Singh M, Lee J-K, Kalia VC (2015) Integrative approach to produce hydrogen and polyhydroxybutyrate from biowaste using defined bacterial cultures. Bioresour Technol 176:136–141. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2014.11.029
- Patil R, Vinchurkar S, Jadhav P, Sarkar J, Sharmila M (2017) Hydrogen generation from biowaste & its application as a fuel. IJIREEICE 5:47–50. https://doi.org/10.17148/IJIREEICE.2017.5310
- Perego P, Fabiano B, Ponzano GP, Palazzi E (1998) Experimental study of hydrogen kinetics from agroindustrial by-product: optimal conditions for production and fuel cell feeding. Bioprocess Eng 19:205. https://doi.org/10.1007/s004490050507
- Rafieenia R, Lavagnolo MC, Pivato A (2018a) Pre-treatment technologies for dark fermentative hydrogen production: current advances and future directions. Waste Manag 71:734–748. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2017.05.024
- Rafieenia R, Pivato A, Schievano A, Lavagnolo MC (2018b) Dark fermentation metabolic models to study strategies for hydrogen consumers inhibition. Bioresour Technol 267:445–457. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2018.07.054
- Raninger B (1996) Reconversion of traditional composting plants for a policy of quality. In: de Bertoldi M, Sequi P, Lemmes B, Papi T (eds) The science of composting. Springer, Dordrecht, pp 948–957. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-009-1569-5_91
- Razza F, D'Avino L, L'Abate G, Lazzeri L (2018) The role of compost in bio-waste management and circular economy. In: Benetto E, Gericke K, Guiton M (eds) Designing sustainable technologies, products and policies. Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp 133–143. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-66981-6_16
- Ruggeri B, Tommasi T, Sanfilippo S (2015) Hydrogen production from biowaste. In: BioH2 & BioCH4 through anaerobic digestion. Springer, London, pp 107–135. https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-1-4471-6431-9_6
- Scarlat N, Fahl F, Dallemand J-F (2019) Status and opportunities for energy recovery from municipal solid waste in Europe. Waste Biomass Valoriz 10:2425–2444. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s12649-018-0297-7
- Schüch A, Morscheck G, Lemke A, Nelles M (2016) Bio-waste recycling in Germany—further challenges. Procedia Environ Sci 35:308–318. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.proenv.2016.07.011
- Sharma P, Melkania U (2017) Biosurfactant-enhanced hydrogen production from organic fraction of municipal solid waste using co-culture of E. coli and Enterobacter aerogenes. Bioresour Technol 243:566–572. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.06.182
- Show K-Y, Lee D-J, Zhang Z-P (2011) Production of biohydrogen. In: Pandey A, Larroche C, Ricke SC, Dussap C-G, Gnansounou E (eds) Biofuels. Academic Press, pp 467–479. ISBN: 9780123850997
- Singh V, Das D (2019) Potential of hydrogen production from biomass. In: Science and engineering of hydrogen-based energy technologies. Elsevier, San Diego, pp 123–164. https://doi.org/10. 1016/B978-0-12-814251-6.00003-4
- Stephen AJ, Archer SA, Orozco RL, Macaskie LE (2017) Advances and bottlenecks in microbial hydrogen production. Microb Biotechnol 10:1120–1127. https://doi.org/10.1111/1751-7915. 12790

- Tahri N, Bahafid W, Sayel H, El Ghachtouli N (2013) Biodegradation: involved microorganisms and genetically engineered microorganisms. In: Chamy R (ed) Biodegradation—life of science. InTech, Croatia. https://doi.org/10.5772/56194
- Take H, Andou Y, Nakamura Y, Kobayashi F, Kurimoto Y, Kuwahara M (2006) Production of methane gas from Japanese cedar chips pretreated by various delignification methods. Biochem Eng J 28:30–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bej.2005.08.036
- Wang S, Huang H, Moll J, Thauer RK (2010) NADP+ reduction with reduced ferredoxin and NADP+ reduction with NADH are coupled via an electron-bifurcating enzyme complex in Clostridium kluyveri. J Bacteriol 192:5115–5123. https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.00612-10
- Wang P, Wang H, Qiu Y, Ren L, Jiang B (2018) Microbial characteristics in anaerobic digestion process of food waste for methane production—a review. Bioresour Technol 248:29–36. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.06.152
- Woodward J, Orr M, Cordray K, Greenbaum E (2000) Enzymatic production of biohydrogen. Nature 405:1014–1015. https://doi.org/10.1038/35016633
- Yang H, Guo L, Liu F (2010) Enhanced bio-hydrogen production from corncob by a two-step process: dark- and photo-fermentation. Bioresour Technol 101:2049–2052. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.biortech.2009.10.078
- Zeller V, Lavigne C, D'Ans P, Towa E, Achten WMJ (2020) Assessing the environmental performance for more local and more circular biowaste management options at city-region level. Sci Total Environ 745:140690. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.140690
- Zhao X, Tan W, Peng J, Dang Q, Zhang H, Xi B (2020) Biowaste-source-dependent synthetic pathways of redox functional groups within humic acids favoring pentachlorophenol dechlorination in composting process. Environ Int 135:105380. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2019. 105380
- Zorpas AA, Lasaridi K (2013) Measuring waste prevention. Waste Manag 33:1047–1056. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2012.12.017



Microorganisms and Soil Bioremediation: **18** An Environmental Approach

Anuradha 💿 and Jagvir Singh 💿

Abstract

Organic pollutants, toxic metals, hydrocarbons, such as various sources, have given rise to a serious global problem of soil contamination that has affected human life as well as all the surrounding ecosystems which have created an imbalance in the environment. Our soil, water, air, and forests are all getting polluted. Due to this crisis, floods, droughts, and other natural problems are arising for biodiversity. Now, time is warning that we have to make efforts to maintain the purity of natural sources and their existence.

Microorganisms remediation is a technique that, while being simple, inexpensive, and easy, can prove effective in controlling environmental pollution and saving the life of the earth. Technological and industrial progress has polluted the most agricultural land, which itself is working to take human life towards a great danger. It has inherent capabilities of erosion or alteration of contaminants for hazardous materials. Microorganisms have a major contribution to maintaining the purity of natural sources. The microorganism has been in existence for over 3.5 billion years due to its genetic and physical structure. There are about 10^9-10^{12} per g microorganisms found in the upper surface of the soil. Bioremediation can be a safe, inexpensive, favorable, sustainable, and beneficial technology in the future.

Anuradha

Department of Zoology, Raghuveer Singh Government Degree College, Lalitpur, UP, India

J. Singh (🖂)

Department of Chemistry, ARSD College (University of Delhi), New Delhi, India

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 Inamuddin et al. (eds.), *Recent Advances in Microbial Degradation*, Environmental and Microbial Biotechnology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-0518-5_18 449

Keywords

 $Bioremediation \cdot In \ situ \ remediation \cdot Ex-situ \ remediation \cdot Microorganism \cdot Soil \\ microorganisms \cdot Pollution \ diagnosis \cdot Biodegradation \cdot Land$

18.1 Introduction

Pollution is dangerous for our health as well as our environment which has affected every life be it human or wildlife and plant world also on the earth planet. Environmental pollution is a serious problem facing the world where bioremediation has been a useful technology for many decades to reduce it in an effective and easy way (Timmis and Pieper 1999; Cases and de Lorenzo 2005; de Lorenzo et al. 1998). Bacteria, fungi, algae are some microorganisms used in bioremediation. It is capable of reducing environmental waste. Contamination can be reduced significantly by degrading or stabilizing organic and inorganic hazardous materials. With the use of microorganisms in the treatment of contaminated agricultural land with many techniques, its pollution can be reduced (Haro and de Lorenzo 2001).

These microorganisms are characterized by jumping genes, which make them easily resilient even under various adverse conditions and can be toxic at high temperatures, alkalinity, and acidity. Even under these circumstances, they adapt themselves in such a way that they provide sufficient food (Abhilash et al. 2016; Alexandratos and Bruinsma 2003; Anand et al. 2016). Under this process, they are now divided into small molecules such as less harmful or less toxic. Increasing excess nutrients in the soil increases the rate of biodegradation because the extra nutrients stimulate soil microbes (Araujo et al. 2009). As the mycelia plant spreads, fungi are microorganisms that spread like these plants and can store heavy metals in their cytosol. These microorganisms can naturally treat diseases caused by natural pollutants (Jacob et al. 2018; Lima et al. 2005).

Human-caused pollutants, genetically altered microbes, can be used in soil remediation treatment. In its treatment, various types of physical, chemical, and biological approaches are attempted. Biological approaches can be a means of treatment that does not have limitations such as high cost, inefficiency, and changing the natural ecosystem. The technique uses microorganisms to destroy or decompose harmful chemicals from various industries known as bioremediation techniques. The 2012 Olympic park in London can be understood as one of the best examples of brownfields.

After hundreds of years of industrial activity, bioremediation technology succeeded in cleaning up 1.7 million cubic meters of heavily polluted soil to transform this brownfield site into a playground surrounded by 45 ha of wildlife habitats that are by far the greenest and Olympic and the field marked as the most sustainable for Paralympic sports is possible only with bioremediation techniques.

Petroleum components are becoming a problem for contaminated land that results from its exploration, accidents, transportation, and waste disposal or leakage from storage sites or industrial facilities. Iran is a major oil-producing country. According to one study, around $1,500,000 \text{ m}^3$ of soil from its Tehran oil refinery was found to be contaminated with hazardous chemicals found in its crude oil such as benzene and its substitutes which is fatal for any ecosystem. This chapter mostly covers the agricultural land pollution and microbes are the best solution for this pollution (Dong et al. 2013; Fu 2014).

The fungus is a type of microbe that colonizes a wide range in every heterogeneous environment and has the ability to adapt and live in any conditions. Furthermore, they can easily colonize both organic and abiotic surfaces by decomposing chemical substances (Chowdhury et al. 2008; Cunningham and Philip 2000). Fiberglass fungi show certain characteristics that make them more suitable for soil bioremediation than yeast and bacteria. It has the most important types of growth favorable for soil colonization, translocation of nutrients, and water. Mycoremediation represents this biological tool for reducing, altering, or stabilizing environmental pollution.

Saprotrophic basidiomycetes are microbes that use dead organic matter such as wood-decaying fungi. Among them, white-rot fungi are known to have a leading role in biodegradation. White-rot fungi can efficiently degrade both wood impurities and cellulose biopolymers until complete mineralization (Don and Pemberton 1981). While some white-rot fungi which are most capable of degrading pollutants are *Phanerochaete chrysosporium, Pleurotus ostreatus, Trametes versicolor, Lentina edodes, Irpex lacteus, Agaricus bisporus, Phanerochaete chrysosporium* of these fungi (Ahmad et al. 1997).

Phanerochaete chrysosporium has immense potential compared to other fungi in degrading viruses such as carbon dioxide and insoluble compounds.

Metal pollution whether it is water or land has become a common problem. These hazardous metals and heavy metals are used extensively in many industrial processes such as electroplating, textiles, paints, and lither to meet the needs of our lives. Once it has been observed that this type of wastewater is used in agriculture, besides damaging the ecosystem, entering the food chain, and affecting public life (Evans and Furlong 2003).

Plurotus, Aspergillus, Trichoderma are the types of fungi that have proved decisive in extracting heavy metals like lead, cadmium, nickel, chromium, mercury into the ground wastewater.

In the case of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, fungi are highly effective in highly stable, polycyclic aromatic rings and marine environments, with complex organic compounds fused. Other toxins are able to degrade fungal harmless compounds, including petroleum fuels, phenyl in wastewater, polychlorinated biphenyls in contaminated soils using *Pleurotus ostreatus*, two species of the Ecuadorian fungus Pustolus, such as polyurethane and degenerative conditions (Fetzner and Lingens 1994; Finley et al. 2010). On the other hand, pesticide pollution can be long-term and significantly impact decomposition processes, thus making nutrient rotation and degradation costly and difficult (Bennet et al. 2002; Witte and Pfannkuche 2000).

The most commonly used fungus to aid the erosion of such substances is white rot. From a future perspective, not only the insecticide fungi need to isolate and characterize the newly pesticide mineral but also characterize the chemical, toxicity, and environmental disorders of the metabolites that are generated during the fungicidal biodegradation of the insecticide (Fritsche and Hofrichter 2008). Bioremediation can be a technology used in the future that will help reduce and remove the pollution produced by us to provide clean water, air, and healthy soil for generations to come (Gianfreda and Rao 2008).

18.2 Case Study

Abbas Alemzadeh and some of his researchers (2016) were used to isolate bacteria for bioremediation of petroleum polluted soils. This experiment used five soil samples, three of which were contaminated with crude oil and gas oil, and two that were without any external contamination. They then selected seven strains and created a bacterial standard succinate medium (SSM) in which 2.5% v/v kerosene was cultured using it as a carbon source. Another bacterial standard succinate medium (SSM) which was free of C, N, and S. It now took 20% v/v kerosene to test the potential of isolates for utilizing kerosene as their sole source.

In this experiment, he found that four cultures grew more. The analysis showed that one of the two samples containing crude oil contaminated soil, with no external contamination, took 69% of 5% v/v kerosene to degrade 7 days. Whereas in other similar samples, 48% and 42% of 5% v/v kerosene were degraded, with a degradation efficiency of 38% in 7 days without soil contamination second sample. After analysis of the 16S rRNA gene revealed that the first sample revealed the genome structure of *Citrobacter sedlakii*, while the second sample of both experiments was able to display the contaminated *Enterobacter hormaechei* and unpolluted *Enterobacter cloacae* bacterial genome structure (Mojarad et al. 2016; Aghamiri et al. 2011).

18.3 Land

It refers to the surface, whose constituent soil, vegetation, and landscape shape are characteristic. It is measured in units of area such as acre, hectare, bigha, or drain. Land is one of the three natural resources, the other two being water and air, which are essential for the existence of life on this earth (Compant et al. 2016). Apart from agriculture, the land has many uses such as forests, pastures, recreational facilities, outdoor structures, roads. Land is the most valuable resource for the sustainable livelihood of the farmer. He plows the land and grows food crops, fruits, vegetables, and other crops on it. Depending on the nature and usage, there are many varieties of land such as agricultural land on which seasonal, annual, or multiyear crops like gardens are planted.

The forest land on which it is built. Barren land is not suitable for agriculture due to any bad luck. Anurvar land that is unproductive such as the Usar land. The moist land which is often waterlogged and remains moist most of the time (Ashmarin et al. 1992). The low land which is in the lower area from which no drainage is carried out and the land is usually waterlogged. Fertile land that is on a high place and has good drainage. Irrigated land with assured means for irrigation. Dry land which does not have irrigation and depends on very little rainfall (less than 500 mm).

18.3.1 Soil

The soil keeps the earth covered in a thin cover and, with the appropriate amount of water and air, gives life to the plants. Alluvial soil is found in most (43.4%) area in India and black soil, red soil, and laterite soil are found in other soils. Soil formation is a continuous long natural process. It takes an estimated 3600–6000 years for the construction of surface soil (15 cm deep).

Soil is the upper layer of the earth which provides a natural medium for plant growth. This upper layer of the earth is a conglomerate mixture of mineral particles and organic matter which has been formed in several millions of years and without its life on this earth is impossible to exist. Soil as an integral component of land is a component of the life support system. Soil is a critical resource to support plant growth (Lehmann and Kleber 2015). The soils of different farms may vary in appearance, characteristics, and productivity according to their origin and management, but they all perform equally important tasks in agriculture and food security, forestry, environmental protection, and quality of life (Alloway 1995).

18.3.2 Composition of Soil

The mineral matter, organic matter, including living organisms, water, and air are the component of any soil. Dry matter soils have the highest mineral content of about 95-98% (45% by volume) and organic matter is 2-5% (5% by volume) with living organisms. The rest of the solid particles contain water and air in the foliage (50% volume), whose mutual proportions vary.

18.3.2.1 Minerals

The quantity and composition of mineral matter are variable. There are generally pieces of rocks and different types of minerals, some minerals are of large size, but others like dead particles are so small that they cannot be seen even with ordinary microscopes (Ali Elredaisy 2010).

18.3.2.2 Biopsy

There are two components of organic matter present in the soil.

- (a) Partially decomposed plant and animal remains.
- (b) Stable humus which is black or brown in color and temperate in nature.

Living organisms like microorganisms, earthworms, pests, and others are cultivated with organic matter for their habitat and food. Organism affects the color, physical properties, soil nutrient supply, and adsorption capacity of the soil (Anderson et al. 1993; Armstrong et al. 1992).

The amount of organic matter in most Indian soils is very low, ranging from just 0.2–2% (by weight), but it has a great impact on soil properties and plant growth. Firstly, organic matter acts as a "connector" of mineral material, which develops the fine condition of productive soils. Secondly: organic matter is the major source of two important nutrients: nitrogen and sulfur. Thirdly: Biomass has an important role in maintaining good physical condition of the soil. It holds water capacity and aeration of the soil is controlled. Lastly, the main source of energy for soil microorganisms is bio-organisms, whose activity makes the soil an active organ in the local and global ecosystem (Alexander 1977).

18.3.2.3 Soil Water

Soil water remains in the foliage and is held by solid particles (mineral matter and organic matter) with varying force according to the amount of water. Soil water contains soluble salts which form the so-called soil solution which is important as a means of supplying nutrients to plants. Encourages many physical, chemical, and biological processes in the soil (Atlas 1996).

18.3.2.4 Soil Air

Biological air or oxygen is essential in soil. Its requirement is met with soil air. The gaseous phase of the soil paves the way for oxygen penetration which is absorbed by the roots of microbes or plants in the soil (Backer et al. 1997). At the same time, it also provides a way for the carbon dioxide released by the soil microbes and roots of plants to exit the soil and called soil aeration. Soil aeration becomes critical when the amount of water in the soil is high because air is displaced by water from the pore. The composition of soil air is dynamic (variable) according to the change in activity of soil water and microorganisms (Alexander 1982; Amadi et al. 1996).

18.4 Bioremediation Approaches

This technique is very simple and expensive in which microbes are eliminated from the atmosphere. It is mainly useful in breaking down naturally occurring microenvironmental pollutants. The main objective of this technique is to break down complex harmful chemical compounds into less harmful chemicals and reduce toxins. It is divided into two parts to understand the presented technique easily and its utility. In situ bioremediation and ex-situ bioremediation are its types (Nikolopoulou et al. 2013).

18.4.1 In Situ Bioremediation

In situ bioremediation desired organisms are carefully familiarized with the environment and their progress is tracked until the site is cleaned, or they can use them off-site. Used to describe 'on-site' in situ. It means local or in position. The term is used to describe various processes in many areas, including biological processes. In biology, in situ refers to the examination at the exact location where the species occurs (Zhao et al. 2018; Bedient and Rifai 1993).

18.4.2 Ex-Situ Bioremediation

Ex-situ bioremediation is used to clean contaminated soil and other materials that have been removed and isolated so that they are inert and safe to handle. This technology reduces the buildup of toxins and hazards in landfills and isolation facilities, leaving the earth cleaner for future generations. Examples of ex-situ bioremediation processes including manure, soil bio-piles, landfarming, slurry reactors (Bunge et al. 2003).

In situ bioremediation, participants are broken at the site of origin. Some contaminants are removed from the contamination site. Bioremediation is a biotechnological approach to control environmental pollution. The natural biodegradable potential of biological agents such as bacteria, fungi, plants is discovered in bioremediation (Banerjee and Dey 1992). Some examples of this technique are phytoremediation, bioventing, bioleaching, land-forming, bioreactors, composting, bioaugmentation, and biostimulation (Bashmann and Kinzel 1992).

18.4.3 Principles of Bioremediation

In the process of bioremediation, microorganisms use contaminated substances in nature as their food, which has the potential to pollute any environment. Microorganisms are mainly bacteria-microbes that play a major role in the bioremediation process. The reason for this is due to the specific enzymes found in microorganisms and their micro size which make them compatible with bioremediation. This service has been served by microorganisms for billions of years, without which the earth would literally be buried in garbage. We know that microorganisms have specific and unique roles in the detoxification of polluted soil environments and this process has been known by bioremediation or bio-reclamation.

18.5 Biodegradation

Microorganisms have the ability to destroy the organic materials present in the environment. They are recycled nutrients in the soil. Almost all biochemical cycles are driven by indigenous microbial populations in soil. Microorganisms degrade



Fig. 18.1 In situ and ex-situ are types of biodegradation and have certain characteristic properties that can be easily understood on the basis of variation (Haritash and Kaushik 2009)

organic material for their growth and metabolism. Biodegradation and abiotic degradation are the types of degradation. In biodegradation process, the action of microorganisms such as bacteria and earthworms can break down into nontoxic substances. These substances have the unique ability to change their form and structure over time and change into harmless form. These are substances that do not pollute the environment. For example, spicy food, vegetable peels, tea leaves, wood, grass, paper, leather, cotton, cattle dung may be some examples (Ghazali et al. 2004; Haritash and Kaushik 2009).

In abiotic degradation process, it cannot be broken into harmless substances by any biological processes. Nonbiodegradable substances remain unchanged for a long time. Some of them remain dormant and begin to accumulate in our surroundings, while others cannot easily be made less toxic and therefore continue to pollute the environment like glass bottles, metal cans, polythene bags, synthetic fibers, radioactive wastes, plastics, and pesticides such as DDA. As a result, complex organic

		Impact	
S. no.	Character	Biodegradation	Bioremediation
1.	Biodegradation	Decompose the process of	Waste management technique
	vs	organic material by	where microbes clean on
	bioremediation	microorganisms.	contaminants site
2.	Nature of	Instinctive processed without	An engineered process with
	process	human intervention	human intervention
3.	Motion	Slow	Fast
4.	Management	By nature,	By human
5.	Effect	Both beneficial as well as	Beneficial effect
		narmful	
6.	Duration and	Occurs everywhere in	Occurs at the contaminated site
	place	environment	
7.	Expertise	No need for experts	Required for design and
	required		implement

Table 18.1 The comparative study of their character is tabulated (Ghazali et al. 2004)

materials are converted into carbon dioxide and water. Figure 18.1 and Table 18.1 show the character and impact of biodegradation and bioremediation, respectively.

Soil degradation is a serious environmental problem. Generally, degradation of soil quality due to unscientific management and unnecessary use of soil for agriculture, industry, and urbanization is called soil degradation. Soil is the fundamental natural resource and the basis of all surface life. Therefore, soil degradation is necessary to be disposed of in order to be healthy in life.

18.6 Microorganism

The number of microorganisms living on and inside our body is ten times more than the total cells present in the body. Microorganisms can be divided into five parts as shown Fig. 18.2.

18.6.1 Soil Microorganisms

Retired professor and author of the University of California Veteran Davis is considered a master of this subject. He calls microorganisms "bug sorting." It is the science of classifying different types of microorganisms. The world of microorganisms is very large. Microorganisms include all bacteria and archaea and almost all protozoa, in addition to some fungi, algae, and chakradhar (rotifer). Microorganisms are ubiquitous. These are found in soil, water, air, inside our bodies, and other types of animals and plants where life is not possible, such as deep, thermal chimneys within geysers where the temperature rises to 100 °C, deep in the soil, several meters below the ice layers, and even in places like the highly acidic environment.



Fig. 18.2 Classification of microorganisms as five categories



Fig. 18.3 Different types of soil microbes which are normally found in soil and are useful to plants (Leung 2004; Nies 1999)

Soil is an excellent culture medium for the growth of various types of microorganisms, including bacteria, fungi, algae, protozoa, and viruses, as well as many nematodes and insects are present. The colony of microorganism is usually found in 6-12-in. upper level of soil in the majority which decreases with increasing depth. Number and type of microorganisms depends on the nature of the earth such as depth, humidity, organic matter and temperature. The following types of microorganisms are mainly found in soil (Fig. 18.3):

18.6.1.1 Bacteria

Different types of bacteria are found in soil, some of which are autotrophic. They use Inorganic compounds for their growth and energy. Most bacteria found in soil are heterotrophic which uses organic matters more and more. These bacteria are of the order Eubacteriales and Actinomycetales. The groups of microorganisms found under Actinomycetales are found in general, Streptomyces, Nocardia, and micro monospora. Bacteria perform important functions like nitrogen binding in the soil. Among them is Clostridium, Agetobacter, Rhizobium, Nitrosomonas, Nitrobacter (Garcia et al. 2015; Glick 2012). Some sulfur bacteria oxidize sulfur-containing gases and convert them into sulfates. It is used by plants or expelled from the land by rainwater. In this process, sulfuric acid is also produced, which solubilizes insoluble soil particles (calcium, phosphate, magnesium, carbonate, calcium silicate, tricalcium phosphate) and make them available for plant use. An important example of sulfur bacteria is Theo Bacillus. In this way, minerals found in the soil like phosphorus also convert bacteria into iron (Goswami et al. 2016).

18.6.1.2 Fungi

Under this, molds and large fleshy fungi like mushrooms come. The development of fungi in soil depends mainly on acidic medium and aerobic conditions on the surface. Fungi in the soil are found in innumerable numbers in both mycelium and spores. These fungi are active in the decomposition of cellulose and lignin present in plant tissues. Mold mycelium penetrates the soil to form a network consisting of soil particles as well as the accumulated water structure so that its importance for agriculture is determined. Along with this, fungi develop the physical condition of the soil. Fungi are found predominantly in the soil of vineyards and orchards. In addition, members of the sugary fungus (members of the Phycomycetes) are humus fungi, parasitic fungi living in the soil, predatory fungi, sting fungi, Deuteromycetes. Some yeasts are also found in many species such as Candida, Crypto caucus, Torula fungi decompose complex organic materials into simple substances, which increases the fertility of the soil. Protein-rich substances are also degraded by fungi that increase the amount of ammonia and simple nitrogen in the soil. The fungus helps in building humus in the soil.

18.6.1.3 Algae

These are generally found on the surface of hydrated land where photosynthetic reactions are possible. They are mostly members of green algae like Chlorophyceae and mainly members of Bacillariophyceae in Diatoms. They are found in large numbers in soil. Nostoc, Anabena, algae have nitrogen stabilization capability. They stabilize the nitrogen of the atmosphere. Blue-green algae are used to transform the weeds into fertile lands. Nostoc is the best example of this. Some algae are used in the manufacture of manure.

18.6.1.4 Protozoa

In terms of size and complexity, protozoa come as the next rung, which was formerly considered to be animals. Now, these different types of one-celled organisms are placed in a separate category called the Kingdom of Protista, how they move. On this basis, they are further divided into categories. Some of these more familiar protozoa are—amoeba, Paramecium, Euglena, Trypanosoma, and Plasmodium. Most

protozoa are not harmful. Some are helpful to humans, but some live on pathogens as pathogenic parasites.

18.7 Environmental Application of Microbes

The soil has mainly fungi, which are present and they have an important role in the decomposition of substances. Their main function is to convert harmful substances into nutrients. The best example of this is composting, which is purely an organic process, in which biological decomposition of organic matter in airborne conditions occurs by fungi. Fungi help in making compost by the decomposition of the decomposed substances. He is known as the friend of farmers for keeping his environment pure and making the soil fertile (Leung 2004; Nies 1999). By burning crop residues, the main nutrients present in it are destroyed by burning nitrogen, phosphorus, and potash, and many toxic and poisonous gases like carbon dioxide, mono oxide, methane, benzene, etc. contaminate the environment, causing the crop. The residue should be converted into compost, which leads to the addition of bacterial carbon in the soil (Satyanarayana et al. 2013).

18.7.1 Pollution Diagnosis

Large amounts of water are used for irrigation in agricultural work. Except for the part of the water used in agriculture that evaporates or is absorbed by the land, the rest flows back into the water streams. In this way, this water is poured into the natural or chemical fertilizers including pesticides, organic matter, soil, and its residues, and mixes in the water bodies (Silver and Phung 1996).

18.7.2 Effect on Water Organic Materials

Sewage or similar contaminated water in which organic matter is present in large quantities, combined with clean water, increases their biologic oxygen demand load, i.e., the water found in the waters of organic materials which are biologically degraded. Also, due to the presence of harmful bacteria in the drinking water, there is a risk of many skin diseases including diarrhea, hepatitis, jaundice (Baker and Herson 1994).

18.7.3 Role of Mold

The new idea of making manure after the action of organic decomposition from fungi is very useful in modern agriculture nowadays. For this, the compost culture of lignocellulolytic fungi is made (Gupta et al. 2013). This compost improves the nutrients present in the soil; hence it is used as organic manure.

18.7.4 Benefits of Using Compost

Due to the use of compost, a large amount of organic matter is stored in the soil, which is of great benefit. Constant use of compost increases the soil's ability to absorb air and water inside itself. The use of compost improves soil health significantly (Helga and Sergiu 2012). Minerals and microorganisms can be grown simultaneously to increase the quality of compost. A special feature of this compost is that it increases the water absorption capacity of the soil by consuming water four times more than the unweight weight. To keep the environment healthy, farmers should never destroy or burn agricultural waste (Singh and Tripathi 2004). To protect against pests in crops, farmers spray chemicals, pesticides, which are hazardous to the environment and humans. Along with this, the effect of these pesticides is gradually reduced. In such a situation, farmers can undertake microbial management to prevent harmful pests (Kubicek and Druzhinina 2007; Satyanarayana et al. 2012).

18.8 Conclusion

Biodegradation is a continuous process that describes the ability of microorganisms present in the environment to decompose. Microorganisms such as bacteria and fungi are known decomposers. Most pollutants are completely degraded by oxygen assisted aerobic biodegradation. Anaerobic biodegradation performs its process in oxygen-absent. It uses the biodegradability of microorganisms to speed up the process of environmental cleanup. This can be done in two ways. In situ bioremediation, contaminants are treated at a single site using a biology system. In ex-situ bioremediation, contaminants are treated at another location from the parent site. This is a significant difference between in situ and ex-situ bioremediation. Bioremediation processes are cost-effective, safe, and nature-based methods over chemical and physical methods.

Acknowledgment The author is grateful to Dr. H.S. Bhargav for critical reading of the chapter. *Conflict of interest:* The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

References

- Abhilash PC, Tripathi V, Edrisi SA, Dubey RK, Bakshi M, Dubey PK et al (2016) Sustainability of crop production from polluted lands. Energy Ecol Environ 1(1):54–65. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s40974-016-0007-x
- Aghamiri SF, Kabiri K, Emtiazi G (2011) A novel approach for optimization of crude oil bioremediation in soil by the Taguchi method. J Pet Environ Biotechnol 2:108. https://doi.org/10.4172/2157-7463.1000110
- Ahmad D, Mehmannavaz R, Damaj M (1997) Isolation and characterization of symbiotic N-2fixing Rhizobium meliloti from soils contaminated with aromatic and chloroaromatic hydrocarbons: PAHs and PCBs. Int Biodeterior Biodegrad 39:33–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0964-8305(96)00065-0
- Alexander M (1977) Introduction to soil microbiology. Wiley, New York, pp 50-150

- Alexander M (1982) Most probable number method for microbial populations. In: Methods of soil analysis, part 2. Chemical and microbiological properties-agronomy monograph no. 9, 2nd edn. ASA-SSSA, Madison, WI, pp 815–820. https://doi.org/10.2134/agronmonogr9.2.2ed.c39
- Alexandratos N, Bruinsma J (eds) (2003) World agriculture: towards 2015/2030 an FAO perspective. Earthscan Publications, London, pp 1–28
- Ali Elredaisy SM (2010) Ecological benefits of bioremediation of oil contaminated water in rich Savannah of Palogue, upper nile area-southern Sudan. J Bioremed Biodegr 1:103. https://doi.org/10.4172/2155-6199.1000103
- Alloway BJ (1995) Soil processes and the behaviour of metals. In: Alloway BJ (ed) Heavy metals in soils. Blackie Academic and Professional, New York, pp 11–50. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-011-1344-1_2
- Amadi A, Abbey SD, Nma A (1996) Chronic effect of oil spill on soil properties and microflora of a rainforest ecosystem in Nigeria. Water Air Soil Pollut 86:1–11. https://doi.org/10.1007/ BF00279142
- Anand K, Kumari B, Mallick MA (2016) Phosphate solubilizing microbes: an effective and alternative approach as bio-fertilizers. Int J Pharm Sci 8(2):37–40
- Anderson TA, Guthrie EA, Walton BT (1993) Bioremediation in the rhizosphere. Environ Sci Technol 27:2630–2636. https://doi.org/10.1021/es00049a001
- Araujo ASF, Leite LFC, Santos VB, Carneiro RFV (2009) Soil microbial activity in conventional and organic agricultural system. Sustainability 1:268–276. https://doi.org/10.3390/su1020268
- Armstrong J, Armstrong W, Beckett PM (1992) Phragmites australis: venturi- and humidity induced pressure flows enhance rhizome aeration and rhizosphere oxidation. New Phytol 120:197–207. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.1992.tb05655.x
- Ashmarin et al (1992) Statisticheskiye metody v mikrobiologicheskih issledovaniyah (Statistic methods in microbiological research). Medgiz Publishers, Leningrad, pp 75–78. (in Russian)
- Atlas RM (1996) Media composition (Thiobacillus media). In: Parks LC (ed) Handbook of microbiological media. CRC Press Inc., Boca Raton, FL, pp 1400–1418
- Backer PM, Wand H, Weissbrodt E, Kuschk P, Stottmeister U (1997) Distribution of contaminants and the self-purifying potential for aromatic compounds in a carbonization wastewater deposit. Chemosphere 34:731–748. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0045-6535(97)00001-5
- Baker KH, Herson DS (1994) Bioremediation. McGraw-Hill, New York
- Banerjee MR, Dey BK (1992) Effects of different pesticides on microbial populations, nitrogen mineralisation, and thiosulphate oxidation in the rhizosphere of jute (Corchotus capsularis L. cv.). Biol Fert Soils 14:213–218. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00346063
- Bashmann G, Kinzel H (1992) Physiological and ecological aspects of the interactions between plant roots and rhizosphere soil. Soil Biol Biochem 24:543–552. https://doi.org/10.1016/0038-0717(92)90079-D
- Bedient PB, Rifai HS (1993) Modeling in situ bioremediation. In: Rittman BE (ed) In situ bioremediation. National Academy Press, National Research Council, Washington, DC
- Bennet JW, Wunch KG, Faison BD (2002) Use of fungi for biodegradation. ASM Press, Washington, DC
- Bunge M, Adrian L, Kraus A, Lorenz WG, Andreesen JR, Gorisch H, Lechner U (2003) Reductive dehalogenation of chlorinated dioxins by the anaerobic bacterium Dehalococcoides ethenogenes genes sp. strain CBDBI. Nature 421:357–360. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature01237
- Cases I, de Lorenzo V (2005) Genetically modified organisms for the environment: stories of success and failure and what we have learned from them. Int Microbiol 8:213–222
- Chowdhury A, Pradhan S, Saha M, Sanyal N (2008) Impact of pesticides on soil microbiological parameters and possible bioremediation strategies. J Ind Microbiol 48:114–127. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s12088-008-0011-8
- Compant S, Saikkonen K, Mitter B, Campisano A, Blanco JM (2016) Soil, plants and endophytes. Plant Soil 405:1–11. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-016-2927-9

- Cunningham CJ, Philip JC (2000) Comparison of bioaugmentation and biostimulation in treatment of diesel contaminated soil, land contamination and reclamation. University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh
- de Lorenzo V, Herrero M, Sanchez JM, Timmis KN (1998) Mini-transposons in microbial ecology and environmental biotechnology. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 27:211–224. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1574-6941.1998.tb00538.x. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-6496(98)00064-6
- Don RH, Pemberton JM (1981) Properties of six pesticide degradation plasmids isolated from Alcaligenes paradoxus and Alcaligenes eutrophus. J Bacteriol 145:681–686. https://doi.org/10. 1128/JB.145.2.681-686.1981
- Dong ZY, Huang WH, Xing DF, Zhang HF (2013) Remediation of soil co-contaminated with petroleum and heavy metals by the integration of electrokinetics and biostimulation. J Hazard Mater 260:399–408. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2013.05.003
- Evans GM, Furlong JC (2003) Environmental biotechnology theory and application. Wiley, West Sussex
- Fetzner S, Lingens F (1994) Bacterial dehalogenases: biochemistry, genetics, and biotechnological applications. Microbiol Rev 58(4):641–685. https://doi.org/10.1128/MMBR.58.4.641-685. 1994
- Finley SD, Broadbelt LJ, Hatzimanikatis V (2010) In silico feasibility of novel biodegradation pathways for 1, 2, 4-trichlorobenzene. Bio Med Cent Syst Biol 4:1–14. https://doi.org/10.1186/ 1752-0509-4-7
- Fritsche W, Hofrichter M (2008) Aerobic, degradation, by microorganisms: principles of bacterial degradation. In: Rehm HJ, Reed G, Puhler A, Stadler A (eds) Biotechnology, environmental processes II, vol IIb. Wiley-VCH, Weinheim, pp 145–167. https://doi.org/10.1002/ 9783527620951.ch6
- Fu XW (2014) Characteristic, distribution and source analysis of heavy metals in the oil-polluted alkaline soil. Shandong University
- Garcia FP, Menendez E, Rivas R (2015) Role of bacterial bio fertilizers in agriculture and forestry. AIMS Bioeng 2:183–205. https://doi.org/10.3934/bioeng.2015.3.183
- Ghazali FM, Rahman RNZA, Salleh AB, Basri M (2004) Biodegradation of hydrocarbons in soil by microbial consortium. Int Biodeterior Biodegradation 54:61–67. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibiod. 2004.02.002
- Gianfreda L, Rao MA (2008) Microbe-mediated bioremediation: an eco-friendly sustainable approach for environmental clean-up. Crit Rev Environ Sci Technol 38(4):269–310. https:// doi.org/10.1080/10643380701413526
- Glick BR (2012) Plant growth-promoting bacteria: mechanisms and applications. Scientifica 2012:1–15. https://doi.org/10.6064/2012/963401
- Goswami D, Thakker JN, Dhandhukia PC (2016) Portraying mechanics of plant growth promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR): a review. Cogent Food Agric 2:1–19. https://doi.org/10.1080/23311932. 2015.1127500
- Gupta VK, Schmoll M, Maki M, Tuohy M, Mazutti MA (2013) Applications of microbial engineering. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 504pp, ISBN: 9781466585775. https://doi.org/10. 1201/b15250
- Haritash AK, Kaushik CP (2009) Biodegradation aspects of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs): a review. J Hazard Mater 169:1–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2009.03.137
- Haro MA, de Lorenzo V (2001) Metabolic engineering of bacteria for environmental applications: construction of Pseudomonas strains for biodegradation of 2-chlorotoluene. J Biotechnol 85:103–113. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-1656(00)00367-9
- Helga ST, Sergiu F (eds) (2012) Adaption of microbial life to environmental extremes. Springer, Cham, 284pp, ISBN: 978-3-211-99691-1
- Jacob JM, Karthik C, Saratale RG, Kumar SS, Prabakar D, Kadirvelu K, Pugazhendhi A (2018) Biological approaches to tackle heavy metal pollution: a survey of literature. J Environ Manag 217:56–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2018.03.077

- Kubicek CP, Druzhinina IS (eds) (2007) Environmental and microbial relationships. Springer, Cham., 350pp, ISBN: 978-3-540-71839-0. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-540-71840-6
- Lehmann J, Kleber M (2015) The contentious nature of soil organic matter. Nature 528:60–68. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature16069
- Leung M (2004) Bioremediation: techniques for cleaning up a mess. J Biotechnol 2:18-22
- Lima AL, Farrington JW, Reddy CM (2005) Combustion-derived polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in the environment—a review. Environ Forensic 6:109–131. https://doi.org/10. 1080/15275920590952739
- Mojarad M, Alemzadeh A, Ghoreishi G, Javaheri M (2016) Kerosene biodegradation ability and characterization of bacteria isolated from oil-polluted soil and water. J Environ Chem Eng 4 (4):4323–4329. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jece.2016.09.035
- Nies DH (1999) Microbial heavy metal resistance. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 51:730–750. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s002530051457
- Nikolopoulou M, Pasadakis N, Norf H, Kalogeraki N (2013) Enhanced ex situ bioremediation of crude oil contaminated beach sand by supplementation with nutrients and rhamnolipids. Mar Pollut Bull 77:37–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2013.10.038
- Satyanarayana T, Johri BN, Prakash A (eds) (2012) Microorganisms in environmental management. Springer, Dordrecht, 819pp, ISBN: 978-94-007-2229-3. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-2229-3
- Satyanarayana T, Littlechild J, Kawarabayasi Y (eds) (2013) Thermophilic microbes in environmental and industrial biotechnology. Springer, New York, 954pp, ISBN: 978-94-007-5899-5. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-5899-5
- Silver S, Phung LT (1996) Bacterial heavy metal resistance: new surprises. Annu Rev Microbiol 50:753–789. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.micro.50.1.753
- Singh SN, Tripathi RD (2004) Environmental bioremediation technologies. Springer, Berlin, ISBN: 978-3-540-34793-4
- Timmis KN, Pieper DH (1999) Bacteria designed for bioremediation. Trends Biotechnol 17:200–204. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-7799(98)01295-5
- Witte U, Pfannkuche O (2000) A marine microbial consortium apparently mediating anaerobic oxidation of methane. Nature 407:623–626. https://doi.org/10.1038/35036572
- Zhao GQ, Sheng YQ, Wang CY, Yang J, Wang QN, Chen LX (2018) In-situ microbial remediation of crude oil-soaked marine sediments using zeolite carrier with a polymer coating. Mar Pollut Bull 129:172–178. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2018.02.030



Applications of Microbes in Bioremediation **19** of Water Pollutants

Sinem Diken Gür, Monireh Bakhshpour, and Adil Denizli

Abstract

Bioremediation uses microbial metabolism in the presence of optimum environmental conditions to remove toxic pollutants from the environment. Bioremediation of contaminated groundwater or soil is currently the cheapest and the least harmful method to manage the polluted environment and recover contaminated soil. Also, bioremediation is used as a successful and attractive cleaning technique for a polluted environment. Bioremediation and natural attenuation are also seen as a solution for emerging contaminant problems. Microbes are very helpful to remediate the contaminated environment. The number of microbes including aerobic, anaerobic bacteria, and fungi are involved in the bioremediation process. This chapter describes the bioremediation approaches such as bioattenuation, biostimulation, bioaugmentation as well as techniques such as immobilization of microorganisms to improve the microbial degradation capacity. Additionally, the types of pollutants, the mechanisms maintained by microbes removing pollutants, and the applications realized by using various types of microbes are discussed. We focus on these technologies and efforts are directed toward eventual manipulation of the processes of remediation all geared towards making bioremediation technically and economically viable for comprehensive treatment of petroleum hydrocarbon contaminated water source.

M. Bakhshpour · A. Denizli (🖂) Department of Chemistry, Hacettepe University, Ankara, Turkey e-mail: denizli@hacettepe.edu.tr

S. Diken Gür

Department of Biology, Hacettepe University, Ankara, Turkey

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2021 Inamuddin et al. (eds.), *Recent Advances in Microbial Degradation*, Environmental and Microbial Biotechnology, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-0518-5_19

Keywords

 $Bioremediation \cdot Biostimulation \cdot Bioaugmentation \cdot Combined \ technologies \cdot Microorganisms$

19.1 Introduction

In the past few decades, environmental pollution caused through the release of hazardous organic and inorganic compounds have been occurred, depending on agricultural processes and industrial growth carried out to meet the increasing needs of humanity. These issues were frequently encountered in developing countries due to the rapid industrialization without a regulatory system to prevent pollution (Dangi et al. 2019). The major pollutants released depending on anthropological activities are heavy metals, pesticides, hydrocarbons, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), dyes, pharmaceutical compounds, and industrial solvents such as benzene, toluene, and xylene (Deblonde et al. 2011; Xu et al. 2016). Furthermore, according to technological advances that occurred in recent years, the production processes and the nanomaterials usage for several applications are also constituting a risk for human health and ecosystems by causing a loss of biodiversity (Chen et al. 2017). After the wastes are released to aquatic sources, chemical pollutants are transported to the marine environment via rivers and participate in the water cycle and can affect all parts of the environment (Dangi et al. 2019). Wastewaters produced during industrial processes are harmful for both environment and humans globally. To maintain a clean environment for living systems, the release of toxic compounds from waste streams should be prevented by remediation methods. For several decades, some conventional remediation approaches (solidification, evaporation, reverse osmosis, oxidation-reduction reactions, ion-exchange techniques, and chemical treatment, etc.) have been used despite the limited features of these techniques (Porcelli and Judd 2010; Dasgupta et al. 2015). The main restrictions about these approaches are being expensive, high reagent requirements, and generation of some harmful seconder pollutants during the remediation process. On the other hand, biotechnological processes which utilize microbes (bacteria, fungi, and algae) that have the capability to degrade or neutralize pollutant compounds have been widely applied for treating water pollutants (Zhang et al. 2018; Bouabidi et al. 2019).

19.2 Bioremediation

Bioremediation is a cost-effective, eco-friendly, and effective method for the treatment of water sources contaminated with pollutants by utilizing natural biological mechanisms of microorganisms. The bioremediation process realized with microbes relies on enzymes and metabolic pathways of these microorganisms. Microorganisms can use harmful pollutants as an energy and a nutrient source for their metabolic processes and at the same time convert them into less harmful substances (Abatenh et al. 2017). In effective microbial biodegradation, enzymes belonging to the groups of oxidoreductases, lyases, ligases, isomerases, hydrolases, and transferases which have a wide degradation capacity are involved in removing harmful pollutants or converting them into nonhazardous compounds that are safe for ecosystem (Kumar et al. 2011). However, the success of bioremediation depends on some factors such as the environmental conditions of affected side (pH, temperature, redox potential, O_2 content, and the ability of microorganisms that is used). In most aquatic systems, the efficient bioremediation can occur in the pH range of 6.5–8.5. In addition, degradation processes based upon biological enzymes can carry out most effectively at the optimum temperature, so the temperature changes are affecting the rate of microbial activities (Uqab et al. 2016; Liu et al. 2017). As the O_2 requirements of microorganisms vary, degradation can occur under aerobic or anaerobic conditions depending on the feature of the utilized microorganism. As effective bioremediation can occur only at environmental conditions that are suitable for microbial growth and activity, sometimes manipulations can be realized on environmental parameters to enhance microbial growth and degradation process.

19.2.1 Types of Bioremediation

There are several treatment techniques and technologies applied for achieving bioremediation of toxic compounds. Bioremediation processes are principally performed as in situ or ex situ. While treating the pollutant at the contaminated site is referred to as in situ, ex situ is stated as the transport of polluted material elsewhere before treatment. In the method of in situ bioremediation, pollutants are degraded under natural conditions to CO₂, water, or less harmful compounds. Although, both in situ and ex situ methods are based on the metabolic activity of microorganisms, degradation rate, efficiency, and stability of process outcome of the methods are different from each other (Megharaj et al. 2011; Verma and Kuila 2019). The proper bioremediation method performed in order to achieve pollutant removal from the environment is determined by considering various factors like environmental conditions, the number and type of indigenous microorganism population at the site, lastly quantity and type of pollutants. The basic bioremediation approaches are based on (1) bioattenuation that defines as a natural biodegradation method, (2) biostimulation that depends on the addition of some compounds to stimulate the microbial degradation, (3) bioaugmentation involves preadaption of microbial population by exposure to pollutants, and modified by genetically to enhance their degradation capacity and after that inoculate to the contaminated sites (Madsen 1991). In addition to these methods, immobilized microorganisms can be utilized to overcome the limitations of microbial biodegradation such as low operational stability of microorganisms and separation difficulties after-treatment process. The use of cell immobilization techniques in the water treatment provides advantages when compared with the use of free cell by allowing reuse of cells, high resistance capability to environment conditions and toxic compounds, mechanical


Fig. 19.1 Types of bioremediations performed by microorganisms

strength, and high stability (Partovinia and Rasekh 2018). The types of given bioremediations are demonstrated in Fig. 19.1.

19.2.1.1 Bioattenuation (Natural Attenuation)

During this process, biotransformation of pollutants to less harmful components and immobilization of pollutants are largely carried out by microorganisms. According to environmental conditions at the contaminated site, the required time for bioattenuation can be varied. Bioattenuation is accepted as an effective method for the bioremediation of many contaminated areas that may not require aggressive methods as well as economical (Smets and Pritchard 2003; Mulligan and Yong 2004). Nevertheless, although microorganisms have even capacity for the degradation of complex organic compounds such as hydrocarbons, improvement of kinetics and rate of degradation is required for efficient bioremediation of these pollutants. In such cases, different bioremediation approaches should be preferred to enhance the biodegradation efficiency.

19.2.1.2 Biostimulation

In this method, while using native microbiota, additional nutrients in the forms of fertilizers, oleophilic, and slow release are used for improving the biodegradation. In order to stimulate the growth and metabolic pathway of naturally existing microbes, besides growth supplements and trace minerals, also environmental conditions like pH, temperature, and oxygen should be adjusted to optimal conditions. Also, small amount of pollutants can be used to enhance the biodegradation process by stimulating the operons of microbial enzymes involved in degradation. The used nutrients such as nitrogen, phosphorous, and carbon are basic requirements of microbes to compose cell biomass, enzyme, and energy. As an example of this method, the use of surfactants, which provide dispersion of the oil and increase bioavailability, as an additional material to achieve complex hydrocarbon degradation can be given (Ortega et al. 2018; Oualha et al. 2019).

19.2.1.3 Bioaugmentation

When natural species of contaminated site are not capable enough for the removal of pollutants, the microorganisms which are adapted to pollutant due to the prior exposure or genetically engineered species that show enhanced capacity to degradation of pollutant need to be added to contaminated aquatic systems (EPA 2006). Additionally, in order to enhance the bioaugmentation efficiency, the consortium of microbes which have different degrading abilities can also be applied to the contaminated sites (Bender and Phillips 2004). On the other hand, species genetically modified through DNA manipulation are much faster than native species and highly competitive to degrade pollutants. Utilization of recombinant DNA technology in order to eliminate the hazardous pollutants is yielding increased degradation rates or new pathways for the degradation of complex compounds that can not break down previously. By using biotechnological tools, a single microorganism which has all required degradative enzymes or pathways can be developed for achieving the toxic compound removal (Dangi et al. 2019). For complete degradation of PCBs, enzymes encoded by two different gene groups need to participate in this process. Unfortunately, due to the inhibitory effects of intermediates produced during process, these two groups of genes cannot be found in a single microbe. After gene transport between *Pseudomonas pseudoalcaligenes* KF707 and *Burkholderia cepacia* LB400 bph strains with the use of recombinant DNA technology, enhancement of the breakdown rate of PCBs, and simultaneous degradation of toluene and benzene have been realized (Seeger et al. 2010). Four main approaches are being considered to develop the genetically engineered microorganism that realized complete degradation of the pollutant; (1) improve the specificity and affinity of enzymes, (2) pathway constitution and regulation, (3) bioprocess development, controlling, and also monitoring, (4) the applications of bioaffinity bioreporter sensor for the use of chemical sensing, toxicity reduction, and end point analysis (Abatenh et al. 2017; Verma and Kuila 2019).

19.2.1.4 Microbial Cell Immobilization for the Bioremediation of Water Pollutants

The immobilized cells demonstrate high potential for the degradation of several water pollutants. Several studies showed that the use of immobilized microorganisms in bioremediation processes could increase the removal efficiency of pollutant by more than 60% (Bouabidi et al. 2019). The success of the microbial cell immobilization method performed to overcome the several limitations of microbial degradation process is dependent on the right carrier or support material selection. Firstly, carrier or support materials need to supply an inert environment to allow microorganisms to keep their enzymes in native form in order to prevent biological activity loss (Qing and Shanfeng 2008). Moreover, cell carriers must be resistant to microbial biodegradation, insoluble in aquatic sites, nonhazardous, and cost-effective. Also, it must allow optimum nutrient diffusion and provide high loading capacity for required cell quantity, high mechanical strength (Bouabidi et al. 2019). In the literature, there were various studies that utilized immobilized microorganisms which proved the success of the method (Table 19.1).

Pollutant	Immobilizing matrix	Microorganism	Ref.
Hydrocarbon	Ceramica and cellulose	Rhodococcus sp.	Paje et al. (1998)
PAHs	Lignocellulosic materials	Bjerkandera adusta SM46	Andriani and Tachibana (2016)
Crude oil	Cotton fibers	Vibrio sp. HC-3B, Arthrobacter sp. HSC8	Lin et al. (2014)
Diesel	Bamboo charcoal	Acinetobacter venetianus	Chen et al. (2016)
Phenol	PVA–Na alginate/ PVA-Guar gum	Bacillus sp.	Ismail and Khudhair (2015)
Cr(III)	Alginate gel	Isochrysis galbana	Kadimpati et al. (2012)
Hg	Silica gel	Chlorella vulgaris	Tajes-Martínez et al. (2006)
Uranium	Carboxymethyl cellulose beads	Chlamydomonas reinhardtii	Erkaya et al. (2014)
Phosphourus and amonium	Carrageenan beads	Spirulina maxima	Canizares et al. (1993)
Acid Black 52	Na-alginate beads	Funalia trogi	Park et al. (2006)
Reactive dyes	Na–alginate– polyacrylamide beads	Pseudomonas putida, Bacillus licheniformis	Suganya and Revathi (2016)
Methylene Blue	Ca-alginate beads	Bacillus subtilis	Upendar et al. (2016)

Table 19.1 Application of immobilized microorganisms for removal of several water pollutants

19.3 Mechanism of Microbial Bioremediation

Microbes can play an important role in converting pollutants into nonhazardous forms with different mechanisms. Various systems are maintained by microorganisms to remove the pollutant from contaminated sites such as binding, immobilization, totally break down, transformation with oxidation or reduction. For instance, while removing organic pollutants from aquatic environments, degradative enzymes possessed by microorganisms can be used. On the other hand, to convert heavy metals to nontoxic forms, mechanisms such as biosorption, bioadsorption, and immobilization that are utilized by microorganisms to protect themselves from toxic effects of heavy metal ions should be preferred. In order to resolve the heavy metal pollution problems seen in aquatic systems by biosorption, there are three forms of microbial substances used as a biosorbent; (1) exopolysaccharides of microbes, (2) living microbes, (3) and dead mass. In comparison, the metal adsorption capability of dead cells has been found more than living forms (Verma and Kuila 2019). In addition, filamentous fungi like Aspergillus, Mucor, Rhizopus, and filamentous bacteria such as Actinomycetes and Streptomycetes have shown high metal uptake capacity because of their high surface to volume ratio and involvement of teichoic acids in their cell wall which displayed chemosorption feature (Fosso-Kankeu and Mulaba-Bafubiandi 2014). Especially, the charge density of microbial cells due to their cell wall structure determines the capacity of metal binding. The ion exchange mechanism caused by the charge density is associated with the groups such as carboxylic acids (of proteins, muramic acids, etc.), nitrogen-based groups (proteins, amino, imidazole etc.), phosphodiester, hydroxyl, and sulfate groups (of serine, threonine, and tyrosine), and glucosamine (presented in chitin) appeared in cell wall structure (Tsezos et al. 2006). The components of the cell wall which act as a ligand to bind heavy metal ions are the compounds of a peptidoglycan layer such as glutamic acid, alanine, teichoic acid, and meso-di-aminopimelic acid in Grampositive bacteria cell walls (Ayangbenro and Babalola 2017). Likewise, enzymes, lipopolysaccharides, phospholipids, glycoproteins, and lipoproteins are the main components in the cell wall of Gram-negatives. As a result of these features, bacteria are accepted essential biosorbents for the removal of heavy metals from contaminated environments (Gupta et al. 2015). Additionally some microbes including Bacillus spp., Pseudomonas spp., Acetobacter xylinum, Alcaligenes faecalis, Zygomonas mobilis, Leuconostoc, Agrobacterium spp., and Xanthomonas produce exopolysaccharides (EPS) which are composed campestris of polysaccharides like organic molecules with uronic acid and protein in smaller ratio to protect themselves against environmental stresses such as effects of toxic heavy metals. Biofilm production process which has a crucial role in the biominerilization and biosorption of heavy metal ions is the main source of EPS. EPS is found to be a suitable biosorbent for achieving heavy metal bioremediation (Donot et al. 2012; Yina et al. 2019). When the biosorption capacity of other microbial groups has been evaluated, it was determined that the large biomass of algae gives them the opportunity to remove higher amount of heavy metal. Likewise, fungi can adsorb heavy metals with their mycelium and spores, hence they have the potential for heavy metals bioremediation (Fig. 19.2) (Ayangbenro and Babalola 2017; Yina et al. 2019).

Moreover, some bacterial species have intracellular metal-binding proteins and peptides (metalloproteins) that regulate the number of metal ions inside the cytoplasm by import or export transport of ions. Metal-binding to proteins is site-specific. Hence the occurrence of specific binding sites for the heavy metal that desired to remove from polluted site is the main issue for the higher affinity, selectivity, specificity, and metal-binding capacity. In some situations, for the addition of metal-specific binding sites to microbes, recombinant DNA technology can be utilized (Ma et al. 2009; Ojuederie and Babalola 2017). Also, fungi, yeast, and algae species often consist an example of high ratio of cysteine-consisted metal-binding proteins and low molecular weight which is called as metallothioneins (Mejare and Bulow 2001).

It is also known that bacteria have the capability to convert heavy metal ions to particulate or insoluble forms, which are defined as bioaccumulation. In order to transform heavy metals into nontoxic forms, microbes need energy and they acquire this energy by using heavy metals as an electron acceptor.

Microorganisms also produce extracellular enzymes (laccase, manganese peroxidase, and lignin peroxidase, etc.) that take place in the process of decolorization and degradation of several dyes for the treatment of aquatic systems (Senthilkumar et al.



Fig. 19.2 Proposed detoxification pathways and remediation of microorganisms towards heavy metal ions (Yina et al. 2019)

2014). Some bacteria show capability to oxidize sulfur-based industrial dyes to sulfuric acid. In addition, several bacteria can degrade azo dyes to the colorless amines by their azoreductase enzyme. In this process, amines are consisted of the reduction of azo dyes by the breaking of azo bonds under anaerobic conditions. Then, amines are degraded to nontoxic small molecules under aerobic conditions (Chequer et al. 2011). On the other hand, microbial biomass can be preferred as a biosorbent in order to remove the dyes from wastewaters as with heavy metals (Bhatia et al. 2017).

Microorganisms can utilized as hydrocarbons, which possess highly reduced carbon backbones as an energy source. The first stage of aromatic hydrocarbons and hydrogen-rich alkanes degradation starts with the oxidation of aliphatic hydrocarbons, which results with fatty alcohols formation. Then fatty alcohols are oxidized to form natural lipids compounds such as fatty acids. The final energy gain of this process is based on the hydrocarbon types that degrade, as well as electron acceptors. During the degradation of hydrocarbons and PAHs, increasing bioavail-ability and bioaccessibility to pollutants can be realized by the assist of biosurfactants/surfactants such as rhamnolipid, Tween 80, and Triton X100 (Ławniczak et al. 2020).

19.4 Microbes and Pollutants

19.4.1 Microbial Bioremediation of Heavy Metals

Recently, the studies of bioremediation of heavy metals (HMs) via microorganisms have been improved. These studies focus on the species of microorganisms that are used for bioremediation HMs entering into the environment. The bioremediation of HMs is affected by many factors such as bioavailability of pollutants, the activity of microbes, and the bioavailability of the environmental. HMs can cause innumerable hazards to the ecosystem and human health. A small amount of some heavy metal ions (HMIs) such as Pb(II), Cu(II), Cr(VI), Cd(II), and Zn(II) are necessary to plants, but large amount of these HMs turn out to be hazardous for the environment. HMIs show strong electrostatic attractions. The high binding affinity of HMIs to the sites in the several structures of cells causes biomolecule destabilization. Many studies have been published on bioremediation with microorganisms. Some microbial species such as Pseudomonas, Flavobacterium, Bacillus, Corynebacterium, Arthrobacter, Rhodococcus, Methosinus, Stereum hirsutum, Mycobacterium, Methanogens, Nocardia, Pleurotus ostreatus, Aspergillus niger, Azotobacter, Rhizopus arrhizus, Phormidium valderium, Ganoderma applantus, and Alcaligens play an important role in bioremediation of HMs. Table 19.2 shows a summary of the remediation of HMs pollution using bacteria, yeast, and fungi.

Avcioglu et al. used *Klebsiella pneumoniae* for biodegradation of cyanide and optimized biodegradation conditions. They reported 25 °C, pH = 7 and 150 rpm with 0.5 mM potassium cyanide consisted medium for biodegradation condition. They found 87.5% to degrade sodium ferrocyanide decahydrate and 85% potassium

Microorganisms		Elements	Ref.	
Bacteria	Pseudomonas putida	Cr(VI)	Balamurugan et al. (2014)	
	Bacillus subtilis	Cr(VI)	Balamurugan et al. (2014)	
	Sporosarcina ginsengisoli	As(III)	François et al. (2012)	
	Kocuria flava	Cu	Coelho et al. (2015)	
	Enterobacter cloacae B2-DHA	Cr(VI)	Rahman et al. (2015)	
	Bacillus cereus XMCr-6	Cr(VI)	Dong et al. (2013)	
	Pseudomonas veronii	Zn, Cu, Cd	Vullo et al. (2008)	
	Pseudomonas fluorescens, Pseudomonas aeruginosa	Fe(II), Zn(II), Pb(II), Mn(II), Cu(II)	Farhan and Khadom (2015)	
	Aeromonas sp., Pseudomonas aeruginosa	Ni, Cu, Cr	Paranthaman and Karthikeyan (2015)	
	Aspergillus versicolor, Cladosporium sp., Paecilomyces sp., Microsporum sp., Paecilomyces sp., A. fumigatus, Terichoderma sp.	Cd	Sinha et al. (2011)	
	Rhodopseudomonas palustris, Aerococcus sp.	Pb, Cd, Cr	Soleimani et al. (2015)	
	<i>Microbacterium profundi</i> strain Shh49T	Fe	Sinha and Biswas (2014)	
Yeast	Saccharomyces cerevisiae	Cd, Pb	Wu et al. (2015)	
	Streptomyces noursei	Cd, Ag, Pb, Cr, Cu, Ni, Zn, Co	Mattuschka and Straube (1993)	
Fungi	Gloeophyllum sepiarium	Cr(VI)	Achal et al. (2011)	
	Aspergillus versicolor	Ni	Tastan et al. (2010)	

 Table 19.2
 Remediation of HMs via microorganisms

hexacyanoferrate(II) trihydrate with *K. pneumoniae* strain. They also investigated the effect of magnesium, zinc, cobalt, arsenic, chromium, nickel, and iron ions in potassium cyanide degradation (Avcioglu and Seyis 2016).

19.4.2 Microbial Bioremediation of Crude Oil, Hydrocarbon, and PAHs

The studies of bioremediation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) via microorganisms from the contaminated environments have been improved in the last decanted. PAHs pollution with benzene rings arranged in a linear, cluster, or angular ways can be hazardous. PAHs have carcinogenic, mutagenic, and teratogenic properties. The incomplete combustion of petroleum, coal, and wood can cause PAHs pollution in industries. Microorganisms can turn the hazardous contaminant into harmless forms. Halophilic archaea widely are used for the bioremediation of hydrocarbons. Temperature, salt concentration, pH, and pressure characterization are utilized for hydrocarbon contamination conditions. The studies on these

characterizations showed the role of extremophilic microorganisms in the bioremediation of hydrocarbons (Oren 2019; Krzmarzick et al. 2018).

Halophilic extremophiles play an important role in the oil-polluted salt marshes bioremediation. Halophilic archaea especially are used for aliphatic, aromatic compounds, and crude oil. Ozyurek et al. developed a method for removing the petroleum products from the contaminated sites with the use of Klebsiella pneumoniae ATCC13883 that is isolated from drilling fluid. They also investigated the effect of different physiological conditions and the addition of nitrogen, carbon, and surfactant sources on petroleum biodegradation. They analyzed the hydrocarbon via GC-MS to measure the petroleum biodegradation. They reported a 66.5% biodegradation rate for Klebsiella pneumoniae. The effective conditions were showed 1% (v/v) concentration of petroleum at pH 7.0, and 7-day incubation at 150 rpm, 25 °C in their study. With the added Triton X100, glucose increased approximately 68%, 71% the biodegradation rate, and also, yeast extract increased 72.5%. They reported above 90%, 70%, 40% biodegradation rates for hydrocarbons ranging from C10 and C20, from C21 and C22, and C31 and C32, respectively (Ozyurek and Bilkay 2018). Some studies about the bioremediation of hydrocarbons with extreme halophilic archaea are shown in Table 19.3.

Microorganisms	Degraded	Refs.
Haloferax sp. D1227	Benzoate, cinnamate, phenylpropionate, <i>p</i> - hydroxybenzoate	Fu and Oriel (1999)
Haloarcula st. D1	4-Hydroxybenzoic acid	Fairley et al. (2002)
Haloferax sulfurifontix st. CL47 Haloferax alexandrinus st. B03, B06, AA31, and AA35 Haloferax sp. HSC4 st. MM27 Haloferax sp. SC1–9 st. AA41, MM17, and PR13, B07	Anthracene, naphthalene, pyrene, and/or benz[a] anthracene, Phenanthrene	Bonfá et al. (2011)
Halorubrum ezzemoulense st. C-41 and C-46 Halobacteriaceae st. C-50 and C-52 Halobacterium salinarum st. C-51 Halorubrum sp. st. C-43	Phenanthrene, naphthalene, pyrene, and/or <i>p</i> - hydroxybenzoate	Erdoğmuş et al. (2013)
Halobacterium noricense st. SA1 Haloferax elongans st. WA1, SA3 Halobacterium noricense st. WA2 Haloferax larsenii st. SA2, WA3 Halobacterium salinarum st. WA4	Oil, benzene, alkanes (C9– C40), Anthracene, biphenyl	Al-Mailem et al. (2017)
Haloferax mediterranei st. M-11	Oil	Zvyagintseva et al. (1995)
Haloarcula hispanica Halobacterium salinarum Halobacterium piscisalsi	Naphthalene, <i>p</i> - hydroxybenzoic acid, Phenanthrene, Pyrene	Erdoğmuş et al. (2013)

 Table 19.3
 Remediation of crude oil, hydrocarbon and PAHs via microorganisms

Erdogmus et al. aimed to recognize the halophilic Archaea to degrade the aromatic hydrocarbons. They obtained nine archaeal isolates that used naphthalene, *p*-hydroxybenzoic acid, pyrene, and phenanthrene as energy and sole carbon sources. Identification of the isolates was performed by 16S rRNA gene sequences. The isolates were determined as *Halorubrum ezzemoulense*, *Halobacterium piscisalsi*, *Halobacterium salinarium*, *Halorubrum* sp., *Haloferax* sp., *Halobacterium sp.*, and *Haloarcula hispanica*. They reported the demonstration of *H. ezzemoulense* and *Halorubrum* sp. were able to utilize pyrene, *p*-hydroxybenzoic acid, naphthalene, and phenanthrene as the sole carbon sources at 20% (w/v) NaCl concentration for the first time (Erdoğmuş et al. 2013).

19.4.3 Microbial Bioremediation of Pesticides

Pesticides are the chemical substances that are used to control the amounts of pests at tolerable levels for the environment. But increased agricultural proceedings to acquire the need of human population have caused the accumulation of these harmful chemicals in environmental sources. The toxicity level of pesticides causes a serious threat not only for human being but also for the biodiversity in the ecosystem. Thus, the toxic effects of these xenobiotics on the environment have forced us to implement several methods to remove xenobiotics from the aquatic environments but some of them have side effects on the ecosystem. In comparison, bioremediation among the present methods is an ecofriendly degradation of pesticides using the microbes (Debarati et al. 2005). Bioremediation of pesticides via microbes is usually reported via Bacillus sp., Pandoraea sp., Phanerochaete, Klebsiella Pseudomonas Chrysosporium, sp., sp., and *Mycobacterium* sp. (Table 19.4).

19.4.4 Microbial Bioremediation of Industrial Dyes

Synthetic dyes are widely used in many industries. The large amounts of dyes are released and contaminated in the wastewater during the dying and washing of the industrial textiles. Therefore, dyes in wastewater have become a major environmental menace. Dyes are the chemicals that are consumed highly in several industries such as the textile industry in recent years. The low concentrations of dyes can be seen from their high brilliance and, therefore, undesired in industrial effluents. Dyes are able to generate highly toxic aromatic compounds, which show mutagenic and carcinogenic effects. The solubility of oxygen decreases with dye compounds in the water. Therefore, it can be causing an ecological imbalance for aquatic species. Dyes are classified on the basis of chemical structures, the basis of their origin, and their applications. Dyes widely are anionic, nonionic, and cationic forms (Wang et al. 2017; Rahimi et al. 2016; Xiang et al. 2016).

Many researchers have studied to eliminate these problems in this area. Some of these studies are summarized in Table 19.5.

Pesticides	Microorganisms	Refs.	
Dichloro diphenyl	Cyanobacteria	Megharaj et al. (2002)	
trichloroethane	Pseudomonas sp.	Hay and Focht (2000)	
Chlorpyrifos	Serratia marscecens, Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Klebsiella sp., Bacillus cereus	Lakshmi et al. (2009)	
	Bacterial consortium	Lakshmi et al. (2008)	
	Bacterial consortium	Venkata Mohan et al. (2007)	
	Bacterial consortium	Sasikala et al. (2012)	
Cypermethrin and diazinon	Bacterial consortium	Katie et al. (2007)	
2,4-Dichlorophenoxy acetic acid	Bacterial consortium	Robles Gonzalez et al. (2006)	
Atrazine	Ralstonia sp. M91–3, Agrobacterium radiobacter J14a	Park et al. (2003)	
	Chelatobacter heintzii Citl	Rousseaux et al. (2003)	
Lindane	Mixed Bacterial Consortium	Rajkumar et al. (2004)	
	Ganoderma sp.	Rigas et al. (2007)	
Endosulfan	Mixed Bacterial Consortium	Kumar et al. (2008)	
	Algae	Sethunathan et al. (2004)	

Table 19.4 Remediation of pesticides via microorganisms

Table 19.5 Remediation of industrial dyes via microorganisms

Dyes	Type of Dyes	Microorganisms	Mechanism	Ref.
Direct blue 6	Azo dye	Pseudomonas desmolyticum NCIM 2112	Reduction	Kalme et al. (2007)
Reactive red 2	Sulfonated azo dye	Pseudomonas sp. SUK1	Deamination, reduction, desulfonation	Kalyani et al. (2009)
Acid orange 7	Azo dye	Microbes mixture	Reduction, oxidation	Fernando et al. (2014)
4 dyes including reactive yellow 107	Azo dye	Klebsiella sp. VN-31	Oxidation, reduction	Franciscon et al. (2009)
Indigo blue	Miscellaneous	Cyanobacterium	Hydrolysis, oxidation, and decarboxylation	Dellamatrice et al. (2017)
Malachite green	Triphenyl methane	Micrococcus sp. BD15	OH radical cleavage, hydroxylation	Du et al. (2013)
Malachite green	Triphenyl methane	Pseudomonas pulmonicola YC32	Reduction and demethylation	Chen et al. (2009)

19.4.5 Microbial Bioremediation of Other Pollutants

Aracagok et al. used four fungal strain *Aspergillus niger*, *Trametes trogii*, *Phanerochaete chrysosporium*, and *Yarrowia lipolytica* to the investigation of diclofenac degradation potential. The nonsteroidal drug, diclofenac, has been detected in drinking, surface, and groundwater. They reported the most efficient strain for diclofenac with *Trametes trogii*. They suggest that the degradation of the drug can occur via the laccase activity and cytochrome P450 enzyme system (Aracagök et al. 2017).

In another study, they studied four fungal strains *Funalia trogii*, *Phanerochaete chrysosporium*, *Yarrowia lipolytica*, and *Aspergillus niger* for bioremediation of naproxen. The excessive usage of naproxen can be polluted drinking water. They investigated naproxen removal abilities in this study. Also, they reported a 98% removal rate with using *A. niger* and showed two main by-products of fungal transformation, *O*-desmethylnaproxen and 7-hydroxynaproxen via using LC/MS, ¹H NMR, and ¹³C NMR (Aracagök et al. 2018).

19.5 Future Perspectives and Conclusion

Nowadays, environmental contaminants that depend on anthropogenic activities are a serious trouble for the ecosystem, human health, and biodiversity. The utilization of microbial biomass or metabolic pathways of them for the bioremediation of organic/inorganic pollutants from aquatic environments has many advantages compared with the physicochemical remediation methods. Although there are microbial populations that are environmentally friendly and useful for breaking down most pollutants, there are contaminants that cannot be degraded by previously discovered bacteria. Therefore, enhancing the efficiency of bioremediation processes, novel techniques that improve the degradation capability of microbes to remove toxic compounds safely, should be discovered by genetic engineering (GE), as well as systems biology (SB). SB approaches can be used to obtain valuable information about the biodegradation processes. Then, metabolic engineering (ME) is used to utilize these information for the improvement of metabolic pathways of microbes transforming harmful pollutants into nonhazardous forms. Consequently, it is considered that many detailed and valuable researches have been performed to treat the contaminated aquatic systems with the use of microbes.

References

Achal V, Kumari D, Pan X (2011) Bioremediation of chromium contaminated soil by a brown-rot fungus, *Gloeophyllum sepiarium*. Res J Microbiol 6:166

Abatenh E, Gizaw B, Tsegaye Z, Wassie M (2017) The role of microorganisms in bioremediation a review. OJEB 2(1):030–046

- Al-Mailem DM, Al-Deieg M, Eliyas M, Radwan SS (2017) Biostimulation of indigenous microorganisms for bioremediation of oily hypersaline microcosms from the Arabian gulf Kuwaiti coasts. J Environ Manag 193:576–583
- Andriani A, Tachibana S (2016) Lignocellulosic materials as solid support agents for Bjerkandera adusta SM46 to enhance polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon degradation on sea sand and sea water media. Biocatal Agric Biotechnol 8:310–320
- Aracagök YD, Göker H, Cihangir N (2017) Biodegradation of micropollutant naproxen with a selected fungal strain and identification of metabolites. Zeitschrift f
 ür Naturforschung C 72 (5–6):173–179
- Aracagök YD, Göker H, Cihangir N (2018) Biodegradation of diclofenac with fungal strains. Arch Environ Prot 44(1):55–62
- Avcioglu NH, Seyis BI (2016) Biological treatment of cyanide by using *Klebsiella pneumoniae* species. Food Technol Biotechnol 54(4):450–454
- Ayangbenro AS, Babalola OO (2017) A new strategy for heavy metal polluted environments: a review of microbial biosorbents. Int J Environ Res Public Health 14:94
- Balamurugan D, Udayasooriyan C, Kamaladevi B (2014) Chromium (VI) reduction by *Pseudomo-nas putida* and *Bacillus subtilis* isolated from contaminated soils. Int J Environ Sci 5:522
- Bender J, Phillips P (2004) Microbial mats for multiple applications in aquaculture and bioremediation. Bioresour Technol 94:229–238
- Bhatia D, Sharma NR, Singh J, Kanwar RS (2017) Biological methods for textile dye removal from wastewater: a review. Crit Rev Environ Sci Technol 47(19):1836–1876
- Bonfá MRL, Grossman MJ, Mellado E, Durrant LR (2011) Biodegradation of aromatic hydrocarbons by Haloarchaea and their use for the reduction of the chemical oxygen demand of hypersaline petroleum produced water. Chemosphere 84(11):1671–1676
- Bouabidi ZB, El-Naas MH, Zhang Z (2019) Immobilization of microbial cells for the biotreatment of wastewater: a review. Environ Chem Lett 17(1):241–257
- Canizares RO, Dominguez AR, Rivas L, Montes MC, Travieso L, Benitez F (1993) Free and immobilized cultures of *Spirulina maxima* for swine waste treatment. Biotechnol Lett 15:321–326
- Chen CY, Kuo JT, Cheng CY, Huang YT, Ho IH, Chung YC (2009) Biological decolorization of dye solution containing malachite green by *Pandoraea pulmonicola YC32* using a batch and continuous system. J Hazard Mater 172(2–3):1439–1445
- Chen Y, Yu B, Lin J, Naidu R, Chen Z (2016) Simultaneous adsorption and biodegradation (SAB) of diesel oil using immobilized Acinetobacter venetianus on porous material. Chem Eng J 289:463–470
- Chen M, Zeng G, Xu P, Yan M, Xiong W, Zhou S (2017) Interaction of carbon nanotubes with microbial enzymes: conformational transitions and potential toxicity. Environ Sci Nano 4:1954–1960
- Chequer FMD, Dorta DJ, deOliveira DP (2011) Azo dyes and their metabolites: does the discharge of the azo dye into water bodies represent human and ecological risks? In: Advances in treating textile effluent. InTech, Rijeka, pp 27–49
- Coelho LM, Rezende HC, Coelho LM, de Sousa PA, Melo DF, Coelho NM (2015) Bioremediation of polluted waters using microorganisms. In: Shiomi N (ed) Advances in bioremediation of wastewater and polluted soil. InTech, Shanghai
- Dangi AK, Sharma B, Hill RT, Shukla P (2019) Bioremediation through microbes: systems biology and metabolic engineering approach. Crit Rev Biotechnol 39(1):79–98
- Dasgupta J, Sikder J, Chakraborty S, Curcio S, Drioli E (2015) Remediation of textile effluents by membrane based treatment techniques: a state of the art review. J Environ Manag 147:55–72
- Debarati P, Gunjan P, Janmejay P, Rakesh VJK (2005) Accessing microbial diversity for bioremediation and environmental restoration. Trends Biotechnol 23:135–142
- Deblonde T, Cossu-Leguille C, Hartemann P (2011) Emerging pollutants in wastewater: a review of the literature. Int J Hyg Environ Health 214:442–448

- Dellamatrice PM, Silva Stenico ME, Moraes LABD, Fiore MF, Monteiro RTR (2017) Degradation of textile dyes by cyanobacteria. Braz J Microbiol 48(1):25–31
- Dong G, Wang Y, Gong L, Wang M, Wang H, He N, Zheng Y, Li Q (2013) Formation of soluble Cr (III) end-products and nanoparticles during Cr (VI) reduction by *Bacillus cereus strain XMCr-6*. Biochem Eng J 70:166–172
- Donot F, Fontana A, Baccou J, Schorr-Galindo S (2012) Microbial exopolysaccharides: Main examples of synthesis, excretion, genetics and extraction. Carbohydr Polym 87:951–962
- Du L-N, Zhao M, Li G, Xu F-C, Chen W-H, Zhao Y-H (2013) Biodegradation of malachite green by *Micrococcus sp. strain BD15*: biodegradation pathway and enzyme analysis. Int. Biodeterior. Biodegradation 78:108–116
- EPA (2006) Engineering issue: in situ and ex situ biodegradation technologies for remediation of contaminated sites, vol 62, pp 6–15
- Erdoğmuş SF, Mutlu B, Korcan SE, Güven K, Konuk M (2013) Aromatic hydrocarbon degradation by halophilic Archaea isolated from Çamaltı Saltern, Turkey. Water Air Soil Pollut 224:1449
- Erkaya IA, Yakup Arica M, Akbulut A, Bayramoglu G (2014) Biosorption of uranium (VI) by free and entrapped *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii*: kinetic, equilibrium and thermodynamic studies. J Radioanal Nucl Chem 299:1993–2003
- Fairley DJ, Boyd DR, Sharma ND, Allen CCR, Morgan P, Larkin MJ (2002) Aerobic metabolism of 4-hydroxybenzoic acid in Archaea via an unusual pathway involving an intramolecular migration (NIH shift). Appl Environ Microbiol 68(12):6246–6255
- Farhan SN, Khadom AA (2015) Biosorption of heavy metals from aqueous solutions by Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Int J Ind Chem 6:119–130
- Fernando E, Keshavarz T, Kyazze G (2014) Complete degradation of the azo dye acid Orange-7 and bioelectricity generation in an integrated microbial fuel cell, aerobic two-stage bioreactor system in continuous flow mode at ambient temperature. Bioresour Technol 156:155–162
- Fosso-Kankeu E, Mulaba-Bafubiandi AF (2014) Implication of plants and microbial metalloproteins in the bioremediation of polluted waters: a review. Phys Chem Earth A/B/C 67:242–252
- Franciscon E, Zille A, Fantinatti-Garboggini F, Silva IS, Cavaco Paulo A, Durrant LR (2009) Microaerophilic–aerobic sequential decolourization/biodegradation of textile azo dyes by a facultative *Klebsiella sp. strain VN-31*. Process Biochem 44(4):446–452
- François F, Lombard C, Guigner J-M, Soreau P, Brian-Jaisson F, Martino G, Vandervennet M, Garcia D, Molinier A-L, Pignol D (2012) Isolation and characterization of environmental bacteria capable of extracellular biosorption of mercury. Appl Environ Microbiol 78:1097–1106
- Fu W, Oriel P (1999) Degradation of 3-phenylpropionic acid by *Haloferax sp. D1227*. Extremophiles 3(1):45–53
- Gupta VK, Nayak A, Agarwal S (2015) Bioadsorbents for remediation of heavy metals: current status and their future prospects. Environ Eng Res 20:1–18
- Hay AG, Focht DD (2000) Transformation of 1,1-dichloro-2,2-(4-chlorophenyl) ethane (DDD) by *Ralstonia eutropha strain A5*. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 31:249–253
- Ismail ZZ, Khudhair HA (2015) Recycling of immobilized cells for aerobic biodegradation of phenol in a fluidized bed bioreactor. Syst Cybern Inf 13:81–86
- Kadimpati K, Mondithoka K, Bheemaraju S, Challa V (2012) Entrapment of marine microalga, Isochrysis galbana, for biosorption of Cr (III) from aqueous solution: isotherms and spectroscopic characterization. Appl Water Sci 3:85–92
- Kalme S, Parshetti G, Jadhav S, Govindwar S (2007) Biodegradation of benzidine based dye direct Blue-6 by *Pseudomonas desmolyticum NCIM 2112*. Bioresour Technol 98(7):1405–1410
- Kalyani D, Telke A, Dhanve R, Jadhav J (2009) Ecofriendly biodegradation and detoxification of Reactive Red 2 textile dye by newly isolated *Pseudomonas sp. SUK1*. J Hazard Mater 163 (2):735–742
- Katie A, Fenlon Kevin C, Jones Kirk T, Semple J (2007) Development of microbial degradation of cypermethrin and diazinon in organically and conventionally managed soils. Environ Monit 9:510–515

- Krzmarzick MJ, Taylor DK, Fu X, McCutchan AL (2018) Diversity and niche of archaea in bioremediation. Archaea 1:2018
- Kumar M, Lakshmi CV, Khanna S (2008) Biodegradation and bioremediation of endosulfan contaminated soil. Bioresour Technol 9(8):3116–3122
- Kumar A, Bisht BS, Joshi VD, Dhewa T (2011) Review on bioremediation of polluted environment: a management tool. Int J Environ Sci 1:1079–1093
- Lakshmi CV, Kumar M, Khanna S (2008) Biotransformation of chlorpyrifos and bioremediation of contaminated soil. Int Biodeterior Biodegradation 62(2):204–209
- Lakshmi CV, Kumar M, Khanne S (2009) Biodegradation of chlorpyrifos in soil by enriched cultures. Curr Microbiol 58:35–38
- Ławniczak Ł, Woźniak-Karczewska M, Loibner AP, Heipieper HJ, Chrzanowski Ł (2020) Microbial degradation of hydrocarbons—basic principles for bioremediation: a review. Molecules 25 (4):856
- Lin C, Gan L, Chen Z, Megharaj M, Naidu R (2014) Biodegradation of naphthalene using a functional biomaterial based on immobilized Bacillus fusiformis (BFN). Biochem Eng J 90:1–7
- Liu SH, Zeng GM, Niu QY, Liu Y, Zhou L, Jiang LH, Tan XF, Xu P, Zhang C, Cheng M (2017) Bioremediation mechanisms of combined pollution of PAHs and heavy metals by bacteria and fungi: a mini review. Bioresour Technol 224:25–33
- Ma Z, Jacobsen FE, Giedroc DP (2009) Metal transporters and metal sensors: how coordination chemistry controls bacterial metal homeostasis. Chem Rev 109(10):4644–4681
- Madsen EL (1991) Determining in situ biodegradation: facts and challenges. Environ Sci Technol 25:1663–1673
- Mattuschka B, Straube G (1993) Biosorption of metals by a waste biomass. J Chem Biotechnol 58 (1):57–63
- Megharaj M, Kantachote D, Singleton I, Naidu R (2002) Effects of long-term contamination of DDT on soil microflora with special reference to soil algae and algal transformation of DDT. Environ Pollut 109:35–42
- Megharaj M, Ramakrishnan B, Venkateswarlu K, Sethunathan N, Naidu R (2011) Bioremediation approaches for organic pollutants: a critical perspective. Environ Int 37(8):1362–1375
- Mejare M, Bulow L (2001) Metal-binding proteins and peptides in bioremediation and phytoremediation of heavy metals. Trends Biotechnol 19(2):67–73
- Mulligan CN, Yong RN (2004) Natural attenuation of contaminated soils. Environ Int 30:587-601
- Ojuederie OB, Babalola OO (2017) Microbial and plant-assisted bioremediation of heavy metal polluted environments: a review. Int J Environ Res Public Health 14(12):1504
- Oren A (2019) Aerobic hydrocarbon-degrading Archaea. In: McGenity T (ed) Taxonomy, genomics and ecophysiology of hydrocarbon-degrading microbes, Handbook of hydrocarbon and lipid microbiology. Springer, Cham
- Ortega MF, Guerrero DE, García-Martínez MJ, Bolonio D, Llamas JF, Canoira L, Gallego JLR (2018) Optimization of landfarming amendments based on soil texture and crude oil concentration. Water Air Soil Pollut 229:234
- Oualha M, Al-Kaabi N, Al-Ghouti M, Zouari N (2019) Identification and overcome of limitations of weathered oil hydrocarbons bioremediation by an adapted Bacillus sorensis strain. J Environ Manag 250:109455
- Ozyurek SB, Bilkay IS (2018) Biodegradation of petroleum by *Klebsiella pneumoniae* isolated from drilling fluid. Int J Environ Sci Technol 15(10):2107–2116
- Paje ML, Marks P, Couperwhite I (1998) Degradation of benzene by a Rhodococcus sp. using immobilized cell systems. World J Microb Biotechnol 14:675–680
- Paranthaman SR, Karthikeyan B (2015) Bioremediation of heavy metal in paper mill effl uent using Pseudomonas spp. Int J Microbiol 1:1–5
- Park J-H, Feng Y, Ji P, Voice TC, Boyd SA (2003) Assessment of bioavailability of soil-sorbed atrazine. AEM 69(6):3288–3298
- Park C, Lee B, Han E-J, Lee J, Kim S (2006) Decolorization of acid black 52 by fungal immobilization. Enzym Microb Technol 39:371–374

- Partovinia A, Rasekh B (2018) Review of the immobilized microbial cell systems for bioremediation of petroleum hydrocarbons polluted environments. Crit Rev Environ Sci Technol 48 (1):1–38
- Porcelli N, Judd S (2010) Chemical cleaning of potable water membranes: a review. Sep Purif Technol 71:137–143
- Qing W, Shanfeng Z (2008) The application of immobilized microorganism technology in wastewater treatment. Environ Sci Manag 11:020
- Rahimi S, Poormohammadi A, Salmani B, Ahmadian M, Rezaei M (2016) Comparing the photocatalytic process efficiency using batch and tubular reactors in removal of methylene blue dye and COD from simulated textile wastewater. J Water Reuse Desal 6(4):574
- Rahman A, Nahar N, Nawani NN, Jass J, Hossain K, Saud ZA, Saha AK, Ghosh S, Olsson B, Mandal A (2015) Bioremediation of hexavalent chromium (VI) by a soil-borne bacterium, *Enterobacter cloacae b2-dha*. J Environ Sci Health A 50:1136–1147
- Rajkumar B, Afsar M, Manonmani HK (2004) Bioremediation of HCH-contaminated soil: elimination of inhibitory effects of the insecticide on radish and green gram seed germination. Chemosphere 56:803–811
- Rigas F, Papadopoulou K, Dritsa V, Doulia D (2007) Bioremediation of a soil contaminated by lindane utilizing the fungus *Ganoderma australe* via response surface methodology. J Hazard Mater 140:325–332
- Robles Gonzalez I, Ryos-Leal E, Ferrera-Cerrato R, Esparza Garcy F, Rinderkenecht-Seijas N, Poggi-Varaldo HM (2006) Bioremediation of a mineral soil with high contents of clay and organic matter contaminated with herbicide 2,4-dichlorophenoxyacetic acid using slurry bioreactors: effect of electron acceptor and supplementation with an organic carbon source. Process Biochem 41:1951–1960
- Rousseaux S, Hartmann A, Lagacherie B, Piutti S, Andreux F, Soulas G (2003) Inoculation of an atrazine-degrading strain, *Chelatobacter heintzii Cit1*, in four different soils: effects of different inoculum densities. Chemosphere 51:569–576
- Sasikala C, Jiwal S, Pallabi R, Ramya M (2012) Biodegradation of chlorpyrifos by bacterial consortium isolated from agriculture soil. World J Microbiol Biotechnol 28:1301–1308
- Seeger M, Hernandez M, Mendez V, Ponce B, Cordova M, Gonzalez M (2010) Bacterial degradation and bioremediation of chlorinated herbicides and biphenyls. J Soil Sci Plant Nutr 10:320–332
- Senthilkumar S, Perumalsamy M, Prabhu HJ (2014) Decolourization potential of white-rot fungus *Phanerochaete chrysosporium* on synthetic dye bath effluent containing Amido black 10B. J Saudi Chem Soc 18:845–853
- Sethunathan N, Megharaj M, Chen ZL, Williams BD, Gareth L, Naidu R (2004) Algal degradation of a known endocrine disrupting insecticide, a-endosulfan, and its metabolite, endosulfan sulfate, in liquid medium and soil. J Agric Food Chem 52(10):3030–3035
- Sinha SN, Biswas K (2014) Bioremediation of lead from river water through lead-resistant purplenonsulfur bacteria. World J Microbiol Biotechnol 2:11–18
- Sinha SN, Biswas M, Paul D, Rahaman S (2011) Biodegradation potential of bacterial isolates from tannery effluent with special reference to hexavalent chromium. Biotechnol Bioinformatics Bioeng 1:381–386
- Smets BF, Pritchard PH (2003) Elucidating the microbial component of natural attenuation. Curr Opin Biotechnol 14:283–288
- Soleimani N, Fazli MM, Mehrasbi M, Darabian S, Mohammadi J, Ramazani A (2015) Highly cadmium tolerant fungi: their tolerance and removal potential. J Environ Health Sci Eng 13:1–9
- Suganya K, Revathi K (2016) Decolorization of reactive dyes by immobilized bacterial cells from textile effluents. Int J Curr Microbiol Appl Sci 5:528–532
- Tajes-Martínez P, Beceiro-González E, Muniategui-Lorenzo S, Prada-Rodríguez D (2006) Microcolumns packed with *Chlorella vulgaris* immobilised on silica gel for mercury speciation. Talanta 68:1489–1496

- Tastan BE, Ertugrul S, Dönmez G (2010) Effective bioremoval of reactive dye and heavy metals by *Aspergillus versicolor*. Bioresour Technol 101:870–876
- Tsezos M, Remoundaki E, Hatzikioseyian A (2006) Biosorption-principles and applications for metal immobilization from waste-water streams. In: Proceedings of EU-Asia workshop on clean production and nanotechnologies, 25–26 Oct 2006, Seoul, Korea, pp 23–33
- Upendar G, Dutta S, Chakraborty J, Bhattacharyya P (2016) Removal of methylene blue dye using immobilized bacillus subtilis in batch and column reactor. Mater Today Proc 3:3467–3472
- Uqab B, Mudasir S, Nazir R (2016) Review on bioremediation of pesticides. J Bioremed Biodegr 7 (343):2
- Venkata Mohan S, Sirisha K, Chandrasekhara Rao V, Sarma PN, Jayarama Reddy S (2007) Bioslurry phase remediation of chlorpyrifos contaminated soil: process evaluation and optimization by Taguchi design of experimental (DOE) methodology. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 68:252–262
- Verma S, Kuila A (2019) Bioremediation of heavy metals by microbial process. Environ Technol Innov 14:100369
- Vullo DL, Ceretti HM, Daniel MA, Ramírez SA, Zalts A (2008) Cadmium, zinc and copper biosorption mediated by *Pseudomonas veronii 2e*. Bioresour Technol 99:5574–5581
- Wang H-C, Cui D, Yang L-H, Ding Y-C, Cheng H-Y, Wang A-J (2017) Increasing the bio-electrochemical system performance in azo dye wastewater treatment: reduced electrode spacing for improved hydrodynamics. Bioresour Technol 245:962–969
- Wu YH, Zhou P, Cheng H, Wang CS, Wu M (2015) Draft genome sequence of *Microbacterium* profundi Shh49T, an Actinobacterium isolated from deep-sea sediment of a polymetallic nodule environment. Genome Announc 3:1–2
- Xiang X, Chen X, Dai R, Luo Y, Ma P, Ni S, Ma C (2016) Anaerobic digestion of recalcitrant textile dyeing sludge with alternative pretreatment strategies. Bioresour Technol 222:252–260
- Xu X, Cheng Y, Zhang T, Fangying J, Xuan X (2016) Treatment of pharmaceutical wastewater using interior micro-electrolysis/Fenton oxidation-coagulation and biological degradation. Chemosphere 152:23–30
- Yina K, Wang Q, Lv M, Chen L (2019) Microorganism remediation strategies towards heavy metals. Chem Eng J 360:1553–1563
- Zhang W, Grimi N, Jaffrin MY, Ding L, Tang B, Zhang Z (2018) Optimization of RDM-UF for alfalfa wastewater treatment using RSM. Environ Sci Pollut R 25(2):1439–1447
- Zvyagintseva I, Belyaev S, Borzenkov I, Kostrikina N, Milekhina E, Ivanov M (1995) Halophilic archaebacterial from the Kalamkass oil field. Mikrobiologiya 64(1):83–87